
CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 
Boulder, Colorado 80302 
Tuesday, August 2, 2016 

6 p.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
A. Declaration in support of Boulder Members of the 2016 United States Olympic 

Team 
 

B. Special presentation by Professor Frederick regarding the 2015 Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report and Independent Auditor’s Reports (CAFR) 

 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) 

Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public hearings 
have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address Council.  All speakers 
are limited to three minutes. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 

motion at this time. 
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the June 21, 2016 Regular Meeting 

Minutes  
 

B. Consideration of a motion to accept the June 14, 2016 Study Session Summary 
on the Mid-Year Work Plan Update 

 
C. Consideration of a motion to approve the City Manager’s signature, Jane 

Brautigam, on an Interlocal Agreement for the Edward Byrne Memorial Justice 
Assistance Grant (JAG) Program Award   

 
D. Consideration of a motion to approve the 2016 Agreement Between Boulder 

Valley School District and the City of Boulder for Use of Recreation Fields and 
Facilities and authorize the City Manager to make minor amendments prior to 
or during the term of this agreement in order to ensure operations in a manner that 
are consistent with applicable laws and the policies and regulations of the City of 
Boulder 

 
E. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1187 appointing the firm of 

CliftonLarsonAllen to examine the financial accounts of the City of Boulder for 
the year ended December 31, 2016 

 
F. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1188 accepting the City of 

Boulder’s 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and Independent 
Auditor’s Report (CAFR) 

Packet Page 1



 
G. Consideration of a motion to accept the recommendation of the City Manager 

and City Attorney to use an administrative process informed by Council direction 
to resolve claims arising from water main breaks or in the alternative, second 
reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8116 amending 
Chapter 11-1, “Water Utility,” by adding a new Subsection to Section 11-1-44, 
“Water User Charges,” amending the title of the section, authorizing the city 
manager to pay claims for damage from water main breaks and setting forth related 
details 

 
H. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8122 

amending section 12-2-4, “Written Disclosures Required,” B.R.C. 1981 to update 
the required disclosure by landlords, and setting forth related details 

 
I. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only Ordinance Nos. 8128 and 8129 related to the annexation and initial 
zoning of the city-owned parcels, and rights of way; and Elmer’s Two-Mile 
Park as an enclave 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN  

 Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed 
under 8A. No Action will be taken by Council at this time. 
8A. Potential Call-Ups 

1. 1440 Pine- Concept Plan 
 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any 
City scheduled Public Hearings  
A.     Consideration of Ballot Items: 

1.   Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 
title only two alternative versions of Ordinances, numbered 8130 and 8131, 
submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special 
municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the 
question of authorizing the City Council to impose an excise tax of 2 cents 
per ounce on the distribution of drinks with added sugar, and sweeteners 
used to produce such drinks, one alternative would, if the measure passes, add a 
new chapter 3-16, “Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax,” 
B.R.C. 1981, a second alternative would place both the question of imposing 
the tax and the entire regulatory scheme on the ballot and setting forth related 
details 

 
2. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only two ordinances submitting to the registered electors of the City of 
Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, 
November 8, 2016, the question of amending Section 7 of the Boulder Home 
Rule Charter, relating to council compensation, by:   

Packet Page 2



Ordinance No. 8132, Adding an option for council members to receive 
benefits on the same terms and conditions as city employees, and setting 
forth related details; and  
 
Ordinance No. 8134, Increasing annual council member compensation 
to $10,000 and adding an option for council members to receive benefits 
on the same terms and conditions as city employees, and setting forth 
related details 
 

3. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 8133 setting the ballot title for an 
amendment to Section 128A of the Boulder Charter regarding the blue 
line, and setting forth related details 

 
4. Certification to Council of sufficient valid signatures on a petition to 

place on the ballot a question of limiting the terms of Council Members 
 

B. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No.  1190  in support of 
Indigenous Peoples’ Day 
 

C. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1189 setting forth findings of 
facts and conclusions, on (1) whether annexation of approximately 1.37 acres of 
land generally located at 96 Arapahoe Avenue would meet the applicable 
annexation provision of section 30 of article II of the state constitution and sections 
31-12-104 and 21-12-105, C.R.S., and (2) whether or not additional terms and 
conditions are to be imposed were said property to be annexed 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

  
7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 

 
8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

A. Potential Call-Ups 
1. 1440 Pine- Concept Plan 

 
B. Discussion of Single Subject Study Sessions 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  

Public comment on any motions made under Matters  
 

10. DECISION ON MOTIONS 
Action on motions made under Matters 

 
11. DEBRIEF  

Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted  
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 

Packet Page 3



This agenda and the meeting can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov /City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s website and are re-cablecast 
at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council 
meeting.   
 
Boulder 8 TV (Comcast channels 8 and 880) is now providing Closed Captioning for all 
live meetings that are aired on the channels. The closed captioning service operates in the 
same manner as similar services offered by broadcast channels, allowing viewers to turn the 
closed captioning on or off with the television remote control. Closed captioning also is 
available on the live HD stream on BoulderChannel8.com. In order to activate the 
captioning service for the live stream, the "CC" button (which is located at the bottom of 
the video player) will be illuminated and available whenever the channel is providing 
captioning services. 
 
Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded 
versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at 303-441-4222, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  The Council Chambers is equipped with a T-Coil assisted listening loop 
and portable assisted listening devices.  Individuals with hearing or speech loss may contact 
us using Relay Colorado 711 (711) or 1-(800)-659-3656. Please request special packet 
preparation no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.   
 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, 
please call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita 
interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor 
comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.  
 
Send electronic presentations to email address: CityClerkStaff@bouldercolorado.gov no 
later than 2 p.m. the day of the meeting.  

Packet Page 4

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


Agenda Item 1A     Page 1Packet Page 5



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 
Tuesday, June 21, 2016 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
Mayor Pro Tem Young called the meeting to order at 6:03 p.m.

Roll was called and the following responded:  Mayor Pro Tem Young, Council 
Members Appelbaum, Brockett, Burton, Morzel, Shoemaker and Weaver.  Mayor Jones 
and Council Member Yates were absent. 

Council Member Brockett moved to approve the Amended Agenda by adding item 1A- 
Declaration regarding General Aviation Appreciation Month.  Council Member Burton 
seconded the motion.  The motion carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones and Council Member 
Yates absent at 6:04 p.m. 

A. Declaration regarding General Aviation Appreciation Month 
Council Member Burton read the declaration and presented it to Airport Manager Tim 
Head. 

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
(Please note that public comments are a summary of actual testimony. Full testimony
is available on the web at: https://www.bouldercolorado.gov).

Open comment was opened at 6:09 p.m. and the following spoke: 
1. Kristen Daly spoke regarding the Healthy Boulder Kids Initiative.
2. Darren O’Connor pooled with Dorie Glover and Michael Fitzgerald and showed a

video regarding homeless services.
3. Paula Stephani pooled with Carse Pustmueller and Mirabai Nagle and spoke in

support of preserving prairie dogs.
4. Anne Hockmeyer pooled with Jan Morzel and Ellen Stark and spoke regarding the

difficulties in subdividing her property.
5. Rob Smoke spoke regarding homelessness in Boulder.
6. Ellen Stark spoke regarding the subdivision of Anne Hockmeyer’s property.
7. Susann Sommers spoke in support of preserving prairie dogs.
8. Thomas Asprey spoke in support of the Municipalization Utility.
9. Rick Tazelaar spoke regarding Boulder’s energy future.
10. Allison Smith spoken in support of Healthy Boulder Kids Coalition.
11. Frank Bruno spoke in support of Via Mobility Service and thanked the City of

Boulder.
12. Micki Kaplan spoke regarding Via and public transportation in Boulder.
13. Anna Rivas spoke in support of saving the Armory prairie dogs and preservation

efforts.
14. Eric Harker spoke in support of the Healthy Boulder Kids and initiative to tax

sugary beverages.
15. Allyn Harker spoke regarding the tax on sugary beverages.

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page 6

https://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


There being no further speakers, Open Comment was closed at 6:44 p.m. 

City Manager Jane Brautigam introduced Urban Wildlife Conservation Coordinator 
Val Matheson to speak regarding the prairie dog issue and answer questions. 

3. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Consideration of a motion to approve the May 16, 2016 Special Meeting 

Minutes 

B. Consideration of a motion to approve the May 17, 2016 Regular Meeting 
Minutes  

C. Consideration of a motion to approve the June 6, 2016 Special Meeting 
Minutes 

D. Consideration of a motion to accept the May 24, 2016 Study Session Summary 
regarding the North Trail Study Area (TSA) Draft Plan 

E. Consideration of a motion to accept the May 24, 2016 Study Session Summary 
regarding the Update on Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan - Phase III 
Shaping Choices 

F.  Consideration of a motion authorizing the City Manager to dispose of 
property at 156 Shady Hollow, Nederland, CO 80466   

G. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 
title only Ordinance No. 8123 repealing Chapter 4-16, “Police Alarm 
Systems,” B.R.C. 1981, and replacing it with a new Chapter 4-16, “Police 
Alarm Systems,” to require alarm verification before initiating police 
response and setting forth related details 

H. Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1186 to determine that the 
petition to annex approximately 1.37 acres of land generally located at 96 
Arapahoe Avenue is substantially in compliance with section 31-12-107(1), 
C.R.S. and to establish August 2, 2016 as the date for a public hearing to 
determine compliance of the proposed annexation with annexation 
requirements under state law and Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies 

Council Member Weaver moved to approve the Consent Agenda Items A-H.  Council 
Member Morzel seconded the motion.  The motion carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones and 
Council Member Yates absent at 6:52 p.m. 

POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN 
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item 
listed under 8A. No Action will be taken by Council at this time. 

4. 8A. Potential Call-Ups

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page 7



1. Upland Avenue to West of Broadway -Community and
Environmental Assessment Process (CEAP) Report: Fourmile
Canyon Creek Greenways Improvement Project

2. 3107 Iris Avenue – Emergency Access Vacations
3. 215 30th Street – Public Utility Easement Vacation
4. 3200 Bluff- Concept Plan
5. 904 College Avenue –Nonconforming Use Review
6. 2949 Broadway – Site Review
There was no interest in calling-up these properties. 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS
A. Continued Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order

published by title only Ordinance No. 8119 intended to expand the 
availability of cooperative housing units by amending Title 4, “Licenses and 
Permits,” by adding a new section 4- 20-69, “Cooperative Housing License 
Fee,” amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” by amending table 9-6-1 to make 
cooperative housing an allowed use in certain zone districts, by amending section 
9-6-3, eliminating the requirement of a special use permit for cooperative 
housing, amending Title 10, “Structures,” by adding a new Chapter 11, 
“Cooperative Housing,” establishing requirements for licensing housing 
cooperatives and setting forth related details.  (The Public hearing was held 
and closed on May 17, 2016.  No new testimony will be received.) 

City Attorney Tom Carr reintroduced this item to Council and showed a 
presentation at 6:56 p.m. 

Planning and Community Develop Manager Charles Ferro clarified information 
for Council.  

Motions for Item 5A Co-Op Ordinance #8119 
1. Certification – Council Member Morzel moved to amend the

main motion (not yet made) and go forward with Option B –
Certification by the City Manager to add a new definition to
section 10-1-1 as follows: Legitimate Cooperative Housing
Organization means an organization formed under Colorado
law that has the following: (1) a documented governance
structure; (2) a list of members; and (3) bylaws that provide
for the following: (a) provisions prohibiting discrimination or
harassment; (b) a provision requiring regular meetings of all
members; (c) a democratic decision-making structure; (d)
provisions for discipline or discharge of members; and (e)
provisions for sharing of resources. City Manager’s Office to
create a board, including language regarding Rules drafted by
the City Attorney. Council Member Weaver seconded the
motion.  The motion carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones and
Council Member Yates absent at 7:19 p.m.

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page 8



2. Property right for equity cooperatives – Council Member Brockett moved
to go forward with property rights for equity coops as laid out in
Attachment E subject to modification (City Attorney Tom Carr to
clarify). Council Member Weaver seconded the motion.  The motion
carried 5:2 (Nays: Morzel, Young) with Mayor Jones and Council
Member Yates absent at 7:48 p.m.

3. Occupancy Limits – Council Member Weaver moved to approve an
amendment to have different occupancy limits per square foot within
different zoning districts (City Attorney Tom Carr will determine the
numbers) and to consider caps and floors by zone district (and not by
bedroom).  Mayor Pro Tem Young seconded the motion. The motion
carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones and Council Member Yates absent at 8:09
p.m.

4. License not tied to ownership – Council Member Brockett moved to
approve licenses not tied to ownership as stated previously. Council
Member Weaver seconded the motion.  The motion carried 6:1 (Nay:
Morzel) with Mayor Jones and Council Member Yates absent at 8:23
p.m.

5. Parking regulation – No motion; City Attorney Tom Carr will draft
second reading ordinance to incorporate this discussion

6. Neighborhood notification – Council Member Brockett moved to
approve City Attorney Tom Carr’s proposed amendment and draft new
language to reflect Council discussion of both options. Council Member
Weaver seconded the motion.  The motion carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones
and Council Member Yates absent at 8:56 p.m.

7. Rent regulation – Removed; no action regarding rent regulation

8. Separation – No motion; City Attorney Tom Carr will draft revised
language

9. Other issues
Council Member Brockett moved to accept the first reading of amended
Ordinance No. 8119.  Council Member Burton seconded the motion. The
motion carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones and Council Member Yates absent
at   9:55 p.m.

B. 1.   Second Reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 
8113 amending Chapter 13-1, “Elections," B.R.C. 1981, adopting the 
Municipal Election Code in place of the Uniform Election Code to 
streamline the process for Municipal Non-Partisan Elections, and 
setting forth related details 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page 9



2. Second Reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No.
8114 amending Chapter 13-2, “Campaign Financing Disclosure,”
B.R.C. 1981; Chapter 13-3, “Campaign Activities,” B.R.C. 1981; and
Chapter 13-4, “Complaints Related to Election Procedures and
Regulations,” B.R.C. 1981, to make changes to conform to recent
Supreme Court Cases and changes to State Law, change the
campaign limits for matching funds from formulas to dollars, clarify
issues; and setting forth related details.

Senior Assistant City Attorney Kathy Haddock introduced this item to 
Council with a presentation and answered questions. 

The public hearing was opened at 10:27 p.m. and the following spoke: 
1. Mary Eberle spoke in opposition to Ordinance No. 8113 and urged

Council to develop more language before adopting the ordinance.
2. Neal McBurnett spoke in opposition to adopting the ordinances.

With no further speakers, the public hearing was closed at 10:36 p.m. 

Council discussed and asked further questions of staff.   

Council Member Weaver moved to adopt Emergency Ordinance No 8114 
amending Chapter 13-2, “Campaign Financing Disclosure,” B.R.C. 
1981; Chapter 13-3, “Campaign Activities,” B.R.C. 1981; and Chapter 
13-4, “Complaints Related to Election Procedures and Regulations,” 
B.R.C. 1981, to make changes to conform to recent Supreme Court Cases 
and changes to State Law, change the campaign limits for matching funds 
from formulas to dollars, clarify issues; and setting forth related details, 
including an amendment to add subsection (f) to 13-2-8, 13-2-9 and 13-
2-11, “Copies of documents supporting the contributions and 
expenditures included in any statements required by this section shall be 
maintained by the committee and provided to the city manager in the 
event of an audit.”  Council Member Morzel seconded the motion.  The 
motion carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones and Council Member Yates absent 
at 10:51 p.m. 

Council Member Weaver moved to adopt Ordinance No. 8113 amending 
Chapter 13-1, “Elections," B.R.C. 1981, adopting the Municipal Election 
Code in place of the Uniform Election Code to streamline the process for 
Municipal Non-Partisan Elections, and setting forth related details. 
Council Member Appelbaum seconded the motion.  The motion carried 
7:0 with Mayor Jones and Council Member Yates absent at 10:52 p.m. 

Council Member Appelbaum moved to suspend the rules and continue 
the meeting.  Council Member Shoemaker seconded the motion.  The 
motion carried 6:1 (Nay: Morzel) at 10:56 p.m. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page 10



C. Consideration of the following two items: 
1. Second Reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No.

8121 amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to adopt a 
Form-Based Code (FBC) for the Boulder Junction Phase I through 
two appendices to Title 9: Appendix L designating “Form-Based Code 
Areas,” and Appendix M as the FBC regulations, and adopting a Form 
Based Code Review process, and 

2. Notice of action on proposed amendments to the Transit Village
Area Plan (TVAP) connections plan to be consistent with and to
implement the FBC project

Charles Ferro and Karl Guilder introduced this item to Council with a
slide presentation and answered questions.

Council Member Morzel moved to adopt Ordinance No. 8121
amending Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981, to adopt a Form-
Based Code (FBC) for the Boulder Junction Phase I through two
appendices to Title 9: Appendix L designating “Form-Based Code
Areas,” and Appendix M as the FBC regulations, and adopting a Form
Based Code Review process, and Notice of action on proposed
amendments to the Transit Village Area Plan (TVAP) connections plan
to be consistent with and to implement the FBC project.  Council
Member Young seconded the motion.  The motion carried 7:0 with
Mayor Jones and Council Member Yates absent at 11:39 p.m.

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY

8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
A. Potential Call-Ups

1. Upland Avenue to West of Broadway - Community and Environmental
Assessment Process (CEAP) Report: Fourmile Canyon Creek Greenways
Improvement Project

2. 3107 Iris Avenue – Emergency Access Vacations
3. 215 30th Street – Public Utility Easement Vacation
4. 3200 Bluff- Concept Plan
5. 904 College Avenue –Nonconforming Use Review
6. 2949 Broadway – Site Review

B. Board and Commission Appointments for Downtown Management 
Commission (DMC) and University Hill Commercial Area Management 
Commission (UHCAMC)  

Mayor Pro Tem Young lead the discussion of the applicants. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page 11



Peter Vitale and Adam Knoff were nominated for the DMC vacancy.  Adam Knoff 
received 4 votes from the 7 members present. 

Michael Brown and Robin Luff were nominated for the UHCAM-C vacancy.  
Robin Luff received 4 votes from the 7 members present. 

Council Member Appelbaum moved to ratify the appointments for the new 
members.  Council Member Burton seconded the motion.  The vote was taken 
after Public Comment on Matters.  The motion carried 7:0 with Mayor Jones and 
Council Member Yates absent at 11:52 p.m. 

C. Consideration of a motion to support proposed response to concerns on 
University Hill regarding (beer pong) tables in front yards 

City Manager Jane Brautigam introduced this item to Council and answered 
questions. 

Council approved the “Nod of Five” with Mayor Jones and Council Member 
Yates absent at 11:50 p.m.   

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS

11. DEBRIEF

12. ADJOURNMENT
There being no further business to come before Council at this time, BY
MOTION REGULARLY ADOPTED, THE MEETING WAS ADJOURNED
on June 21, 2016 at 11:52 p.m.

Approved this 2nd day of AUGUST, 2016. 

APPROVED BY: 

__________________________ 
Suzanne Jones, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Lynnette Beck, City Clerk 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 7Packet Page 12



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM  

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this agenda item is to seek council approval of the following summary of 
the June 14 study session where the city leadership presented an update to the 2016 Work 
Plan.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval of the summary of the June 14, 2016 study session regarding 
the 2016 Mid-Year Work Plan.  

BACKGROUND: The background information for this topic can be found in the Study 
Session Memorandum dated June 14, 2016. 

  ATTACHMENT A – June 14, 2016 Study Session Summary 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the June 14, 2016 Study 
Session Summary regarding the 2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update with a focus on 
Planning Housing and Sustainability and Living Wage Options. 

PRESENTERS: 
Jane Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director Planning, Housing and Sustainability 
Karen Rahn, Director Human Services  
Joyce Lira, Director Human Resources 
Joe Castro, Facilities and Fleet Manager  
David Bannon, Purchasing Manager 
Peggy Bunzli, Executive Budget Officer  

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to accept the study session summary of the June 14, 2016 study session, 
included as Attachment A. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page 13



CITY COUNCIL  
Study Session Summary 

June 14, 2016 
Mid-Year Work Plan Update 

PRESENT 

City Council: Mayor Jones and Council Members Appelbaum, Brockett, Burton, Morzel, Shoemaker, 
Weaver, Yates, and Young 

City Staff: Jane Brautigam, City Manager and Tom Carr, City Attorney 

Facilitation: Heather Bergman and Katie Waller 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of the study session was to give Council an overview of highlights from the 2016 Work 
Plan with a focus on Planning, Housing and Sustainability and living wage options. 

INTRODUCTION AND PRESENTATION OVERVIEW 

City Manager, Jane Brautigam, explained that in addition to the more highly visible efforts, City staff 
has been pursuing some interesting work efforts as follows: 

Community Broadband: There has been significant progress made in exploring community 
broadband. The City has hired a consultant to further explore the topic and will use the results of 
the study to identify the best model for providing this service. Community broadband will be 
presented to City Council in July. This effort will give Boulder a chance to be a leader in this field, 
depending on the chosen service model.  

Community Perception Assessment: There is a community perception assessment underway that 
will provide a better understanding of community safety and inclusiveness as it is perceived and 
experienced by residents and others. The project is a joint effort between the City Manager’s 
Office, Human Services and the Boulder Police Department. The City has hired a consultant who has 
completed many stakeholder interviews, and in the next few months, will release a more detailed 
survey.  This effort is intended to benefit the entire community and not just the City. The results of 
the community perception survey will be reported later in 2016, and will include community-wide 
recommendations to ensure that everyone can play a part in making Boulder the safest and most 
welcoming community possible.  

WORK PLAN UPDATE: PLANNING, HOUSING, AND SUSTAINABILITY  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing, and Sustainability, presented a mid-year 
update on the work plan. Below are highlights of the presentation.  

 80 percent of the department’s time and resources are used to provide core services, while
20 percent is used to complete special projects.

 Phase two of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) has been completed, and
phase three scenario development has just started.

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 14



 Work is underway with a Council / Planning Board working group to develop the draft 
Middle Income Housing Strategy. A deputy director has been hired who will oversee this 
and other housing-related work, including work with our partners to create and preserve 
affordable housing units.  

 Palo Park has gone through site review and been approved by the Planning Board. City 
Council call-up opportunity is scheduled for next week.  

 Work is underway related to several key redevelopment opportunities. Consultants have 
been hired for the 30th and Pearl options analysis and for the first phase of planning for the 
Alpine/Balsam site, a vision for city facilities, and defining a community design framework 
for Central Boulder. Study sessions for these projects are scheduled for later this year.  

 Staff is still tracking and working on the Civic Use pad and the University of Colorado 
conference site.  

 Work has been completed on the Downtown Urban Design Guidelines, and the department 
is interviewing candidates for Chief Urban Designer.  

 A key area of focus for the department’s Climate and Sustainability team has been 
implementation of the building performance ordinance as well as on the Universal Zero 
Waste Ordinance. Both are on schedule.  

 A consultant has been hired to work with staff on both near-term energy code updates and 
defining the path to Net Zero codes, with the intent of achieving net zero on all new 
construction by 2031.  

 A citywide Climate Adaptation team representing all departments and key work groups has 
been organized to take on the work of defining deep carbon reduction strategies in various 
aspects of city operations.  

 The department is working on two components of a dashboard project – the citywide 
dashboard and the climate and sustainability dashboard. Both dashboards are scheduled to 
launch later this year.  

 Staff is leading the work with other municipalities in the region to explore a renewable 
diesel pilot program for local fleets.  

 Staff has also completed work on projects that were not on the work plan but which arose 
as near-term needs, including sign code revisions and mobile food trucks.  

 
City Council members asked clarifying questions about the Planning, Housing, and Sustainability 
work plan. Questions are indicated in italics and followed by staff answers.  
 
Is it possible to change the timeline of the Cooperative Housing process? City Council members have 
received community feedback that the process should be progressing at a slower pace and should be 
more inclusive. 
There are many process variations that can be pursued. Changes to the process to provide 
opportunities for community input can be as simple as adding an online tool or as exhaustive as 
implementing comprehensive neighborhood meetings; the choice depends on how Council would 
like to allocate staff time. This issue is scheduled to be discussed at the next City Council meeting, so 
that may be the proper time to have a larger discussion about the future of the project, particularly 
as it relates to altering the process and public engagement.  
Is the use table review part of the site plan criteria review? 
They are different issues, and use tables are not included as part of the site plan criteria review. 
Staff is currently considering whether it is time for a more comprehensive overhaul of the code. 
There are so many necessary changes to make the code consistent with the City’s vision that it may 
be challenging to simply revise it on an incremental bases.  
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 15



Where will there be an opportunity to discuss the definition of community benefit? 
Part of the BVCP is to clarify this at a policy level. After the policy-level definition is clarified, it will 
be used to update the site review process.  
 
Many issues seem to come back to the problem of lack of enforcement. Since this seems to be a 
continuing refrain, regardless of staffing resources, perhaps it would be best if the City approached 
this problem differently. Many of the proposed ordinance changes may not be doable until there is 
closure about enforcement. Are there any plans to address this in the near future? 
This is something that staff has been hearing at lots of meetings.  As part of short-term rentals, staff 
initially allowed an adjustment period but it now ready to begin enforcement. Enforcement is a 
priority for staff, but it may be that the City would be better off approaching this issue differently. 
Staff will continue to work on this and think of new solutions to address City Council and public 
concerns.  
 
Many items came out of the Portland City Council trip. Are there plans to pursue any of these issues, 
such as bike boulevards and tiny home villages to address homelessness? 
Human Services staff has been working to prepare a homeless tour for City Council members to 
better understand the situation and currently-utilized solutions. Behind the scenes, staff has 
discussed using tiny home villages to address homelessness, including possible city-owned sites. 
Staff would need clear direction from City Council to do any more work on this issue, as it is a 
matter of staff time and City Council scheduling. There is a study session on August 30 about 
homelessness, and it is important for staff and City Council to chase the most impactful and efficient 
options that fit into the current homelessness plan, rather than just the newest option. Staff will 
provide City Council with all the currently-available information, including possible site locations, 
before the August 30 study session.  Note – City Council approved staff pursuing tiny home villages to 
address homelessness with a nod of five. Bike boulevards will be assessed as part of the systematic 
approach to bike system planning that is currently scheduled to take place in 2017.  
 
What is the timing for a revision of general transit within the City? 
There will be study session about this in September. Before there can be significant staff 
investment, City Council must offer direction about which logical steps should be taken to update 
and improve transit within Boulder.  
 
Is staff working on the notion of requiring active use on all first floors in the downtown area? 
Staff is preparing this issue for discussion at a later date.  
 
How and when will the idea of creating a housing board be addressed? 
This is being considered as part of the Housing Boulder process and should be addressed by the end 
of the year. If a housing board is created, its scope, function, and relationship with the Planning 
Board will be clearly defined and discussed with City Council. City Council members can ask 
additional questions about this during future Housing Boulder discussions.  
 
Comments 
 

 The use of tiny house villages to address homelessness should be pushed to the 2017 work 
plan to honor the time and resources of City Council and staff.  

 Items added to the work plan should only be pursued if something is taken off of the work 
plan.  

 Eugene, Oregon is different from Boulder; it is important to analyze all options in a Boulder-
specific context to ensure any efforts are appropriate for citizens.  

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 16



WORK PLAN UPDATE: LIVING WAGE OPTIONS 
Karen Rahn, Director of Human Services, explained that staff has prepared presentations on the 
Living Wage program as it relates to employee compensation and outsourcing. Staff has analyzed 
the impacts of raising the living wage to $14.02/hour, $15.67/hour, and $17.97/hour for various 
types of employees. Staff presented the options for implementing a living wage program in Boulder. 
Below are highlights of the presentations.  
 
Employee Compensation 
 

 The City of Boulder is a performance-based organization and uses performance to 
encourage results; this has led to high-quality employees with low turnover. Employees are 
also rewarded with learning opportunities and recognition.  

 The City is a market-based employer and benchmarks full-time, part-time, and seasonal 
employee salaries and raises against other Front Range employers.  

 The City transitioned employee compensation from traditional indexing to market-based in 
2012 to encourage high performance.  

 Living Wage was expanded to 68 employees on February 1, 2016, and with a cost of 
approximately $172,000.  

 There are anywhere from 250 to 800 seasonal employees at any given time; this includes 
summer positions.  

 Increasing seasonal position wages to $14.02/hour would cost an approximate $1 million.  
 Increasing wages to $15.67/hour would cost $81,000 for full-time and part-time standard 

employees, $53,000 for temporary employees, and $1.5 million for seasonal employees.  
 Increasing wages to $17.97/hour would cost approximately $388,000 for full-time and part-

time standard employees, $175,000 for temporary employees, and $2.4 million for seasonal 
employees.  

 
Clarifying Questions 
 
What are seasonal jobs that are not summer jobs, like lifeguards? 
There are many seasonal jobs that are not summer jobs, such as those working on Boulder 
Reservoir maintenance, snow removal, or sports field care. It would be useful for the City to further 
refine this job category to separate summer jobs from truly season positions. The hours of seasonal 
workers often fluctuate based on the time of year, but many are employed over 30 hours a week.  
 
What happens if seasonal workers are sick? 
They do not get paid. Seasonal workers do not have paid family or medical leave.  
 
Please explain the wage compression analysis used to assess the impacts of the living wage program. 
There are a few ways to calculate wage compressions, such as measuring the spread between 
employees and supervisors. In this case, the numbers are very different because it is typically full-
time City employees supervising seasonal employees. An analysis demonstrated many of the 
changes show no compression at all.   
 
What percentages of employees are married versus single? 
The City does not survey employees about their marital status unless they sign up for benefits, but 
most likely less than 50 percent of employees are single.  
 
Why does the Human Resources Department not capture demographic data for all employees? 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 5

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 17



The City only collects demographic data from people who sign up for benefits. Otherwise, it is illegal 
for an employer to ask for this information.  
 
Outsourcing 
 

 In the past, staff has focused on increasing privatization of janitorial staff to make it more 
efficient, flexible and effective; a Blue Ribbon Commission in 2008 recommended that the 
City further pursue outsourcing options. 

 The City modeled the additional costs for in-sourcing using two options, full-time 
centralized and part-time decentralized; the City currently utilizes part-time decentralized.  

 A one-time cost of $195,000 would be necessary to transition to a full-time centralized 
janitorial staff at a living wage with an additional yearly cost of $981,000 at $14.02/hour, 
$1.1 million at $15.67/hour, and $1.3 million at $17.97/hour.  

 A one-time cost of $183,000 would be necessary to transition to a part-time decentralized 
janitorial staff at a living wage with an additional yearly cost of $2 million at 14.02/hour, 
$2.2 million at 15.67/hour, and $2.4 million at 17.97/hour.  

 A one-time cost of $473,000 would be necessary to transition to a full-time, centralized 
landscaping staff at a living wage with an additional yearly cost of $317,000 at $14.02/hour, 
$343,000 at 15.67/hour, and $379,000 at $17.97/hour.  

 
Clarifying Questions 
 
Why is the cost of insourcing janitorial and landscaping employees so high? 
The cost is high because the contractors who are hired to do this type of work are specialized in it 
and therefore can do it more efficiently. For a larger company, the City of Boulder contracts are 
relatively small.  
 
What are these employees being paid now? 
Based on discussions with suppliers, most janitorial employees start out at $9.00/hour with smaller 
companies and $11.00/hour at larger companies. Most employees do not take advantage of 
benefits.  
 
How does the City assign janitorial contracts to small or large companies? 
Most contracts are assigned to larger contractors. The smaller contractors tend to only clean one 
facility. Larger contractors tend to pay their employees more than the smaller companies. There are 
some City facilities that manage their janitorial hiring, and it would be best to bring these facilities 
all under the City’s purview.  
 
What is the turnover of janitorial employees? 
Contractors have stated that the turnover rate is about 70 percent, but it can vary depending on the 
longevity of the contract. The contracted janitorial workforce is fluid. The City has a turnover rate of 
6.8 percent of the few janitorial workers it has in-house.  It was assumed that the full-time in-house 
janitorial employees would be the same and the turnover rate for part-time employees was 
projected to be three times higher. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 6

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 18



 
Contracted Services  

 The City received input from 25 of 27 vendors contacted who provide contracted services to 
the City.  

 The estimated cost impact of janitorial and landscaping living wage increases is $334,000 at 
$14.02/hour, $473,000/hour, and $670,000/hour annually over the current costs. 

 One element of this increase is the compliance process, with which most vendors have said 
that they can comply; the cost of compliance is included in the above calculations.      

 There are unique issues associated with the emergency medical services (EMS) contract 
between the City and AMR, and the Fire Department is recommending that this contract be 
renewed in its current form and renegotiated for 2017.  

 
What is a certified payroll model? 
The contractor would provide a list of all the employees who serviced the contract, how many 
hours they worked, and their rates on a schedule defined by the City. 
   
How do benefits impact these costs? 
Benefit costs are not included in these calculations. Most contractors explained that they have some 
sort of benefit package, but not all employees elect into these programs. There are no benefit costs 
in this analysis. 
 
What is an hourly rate for AMR’s EMTs and paramedics? 
A basic EMT starts a bit above minimum wage, and EMT-Paramedics start at $10.00/hour. They are 
offered benefits, but the extent of these benefits is unclear at the time. There is high turnover for 
these positions. The company has stated that they could make $14.02/hour work, but they would 
have to cut expenses. They also stated that it would be challenging to raise their wages above the 
$14.02/hour rate without a rate increase and/or local subsidy.  AMR is not paid by the City, but 
rather makes money through patient billing and revenue.  
 
Why is staff recommending renewing AMRs contract with these low wages? 
The contract is due to expire at the end of 2016, but can be extended in one-year increments twice, 
so the time to renew the contract is coming up quickly. Giving them a year would allow the 
company time to adjust to this relatively large wage increase or explore other options with regard 
to the delivery of emergency medical care in Boulder.  
 
Why does the City not pay AMR? 
If the City paid AMR, City policy would have to be included in the contract and reflect their scope of 
work. The larger question is if any vendor will be able to operate an EMS company at the increased 
living wage rates without some form of government subsidy.  
 
Have companies indicated that they would still be able to operate within the City with these increased 
wages? 
From an employee resource standpoint, there are many employees who would specifically want to 
work in Boulder for the higher rate. Companies have stated that it will create staffing issues, but the 
impacts and challenges will be manageable.  
 
What benefits do contracted employees typically receive, other than medical and sick leave? 
Skilled employees often have better benefits than unskilled employees because they elect to pay the 
shared cost of the company offered benefit package. On the contracted side, there is a wide range of 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 7

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 19



available benefits. Some larger companies have extensive benefit programs, while smaller ones do 
not. The City of Boulder has  no standards for the benefits contracted employees must be offered.  
 
Can benefits be added to the contracts? 
It would be quite expensive and challenging to enforce.  
 
Could the enforceability of benefits be easier to manage if there were no City contracted employees? 
There would technically be fewer data points to manage and track.  
 
What level of service does AMR guarantee the City? 
Ambulances are pulled from the region to service Boulder. The company is measured by 
performance standards related to response times, rather than the number of EMTs in the City at 
any given time. Because they pull ambulances from the entire region, AMR would have to increase 
the wage of all employees in the region to $14.02 should Boulder renegotiate their contract using 
living wage.  
 
Are there City benefits or incentives regarding AMR service if the wage is increased? 
It is likely that turnover will decrease. It can be assumed that patient care and overall EMS service 
would improve with more tenured employees.  
 
Why does the City of Denver run their EMT services instead of using contractors? 
They have more control over the level of patient care, which is hard to control with contracted 
EMTs. Also, using fire-trained EMTs, like Denver, adds firefighters to the system and decreases 
response time for all hazards, not just emergency medical events. Ambulatory services like AMR 
only offer EMS.  
 
Has the City ever looked at the wages of non-profit employees or County employees who work with the 
City? 
Staff has not completed this level of assessment yet but it is possible. Staff has done a preliminary 
analysis on ready-to-work contracts because they provide community benefit as well as specific city 
services; the results can be found in the Council packets. Another analysis would have to occur for 
non-profit employees who work with the City since they provide different benefits.  
 
What is the payroll for the City? 
The payroll for salaries, not including benefits, is $100 million annually.  
 
Living Wage Staff Recommendations  
The costs presented by staff represent the necessary additional funding, on top of existing costs. 
One-time costs include vehicles, workplaces for new employees, etc.  It also must be noted that 
several non-profits have indicated that they would need to renegotiate contracts should any of the 
living wage options be implemented. Staff recommendations would cost an additional $411,000 in 
2017, including all one-time costs; these annual costs will go up each year as higher wages rates are 
phased in. Below is the summary of staff recommendations.  
 

 Assess all recommendations in the context of the full budget and budget projections.  
 Conduct further analysis to refine seasonal employee classifications.  
 Transition janitorial and landscaping employees to $14.02/hour starting in 2017 and then 

phase in higher wage rates in later years.  
 Bring up standard full-time and part-time employees to $15.67/hour starting in 2018 and 

gradually phase in higher wages rates in later years.   

Agenda Item 3B     Page 8

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 20



 Keep the AMR contract as it is because it is very important; there will be further analysis of 
what any changes would look like, how it would impact services, and future options for 
bringing the service in-house.  

 Exclude government contracts at this time until additional studies can be completed.  
 Conduct further assessment for seasonal, EMS, and other contracts that have yet to be 

assessed.  
 
Clarifying Questions   
What impacts can be expected if contracts were renegotiated immediately? 
Contract amendments could be negotiated as quickly as the City Attorney’s Office can complete it. It 
would take roughly six weeks, but would impact work plan items that require City Attorney 
resources.  
 
Would the index numbers have to go up every year based on federal numbers? 
The City would have to create a new index. Federal numbers are updated yearly and the self-
sufficiency standard is updated periodically.  
 
DISCUSSION 
 
City Council Members Comments 
 
Staff usually has the budget completed in early August. They have asked City Council for direction 
regarding 2017 budget priorities so that they can be prepared for an additional budget discussion 
on August 2, 2016.  Each City Council member was asked for their comments on the staff 
recommendations; below are the highlights of these comments. 
 

 The staff recommendations are good as they are. Staff has been useful in answering 
questions before this meeting, and they are headed in the right direction.   

 All these recommendations sound good, except for the amount of pay for standard 
employees. It would be better to base the pay of employees on the self-sufficiency standard 
rather than the Federal poverty level, as it is more pertinent to the context of Boulder. The 
City of Boulder does a great job managing finances, but the budget should not be balanced 
on the backs of lower-paid individuals. Standard employees should have their pay increased 
to $17.97/hour for the next fiscal year, and temporary employees should have their pay 
raised to $15.67/hour.  

 The City should move to align with the self-sufficiency standard, rather than the Federal 
poverty level because it is more appropriate for the Boulder context. The City is in good 
shape right now so it should be aggressive in increasing compensation. All wages should go 
to $15.67/hour for 2017 and trend towards the self-sufficiency standard. The City should 
explore a certification program for contractors to increase the prevalence of living wages in 
the region. Staff should also assess the EMS contract this year; EMTs are integral to the 
health and safety of citizens. They should be paid more than $9.00/hour.  

 Raising wages to $15.67/hour in 2017 is fine and should certainly be achieved by 2018. 
However, the self-sufficiency standard is developed by one advocacy organization. The 
numbers used are a political choice, not a mathematical choice. Also, before anything is 
implemented, it should be assessed why other progressive cities like San Francisco are not 
increasing wages at the same rate as Boulder, even though they have a higher cost of living. 
It makes sense to not bring janitorial and landscaping services in house since they do not 
typically have a long-term relationship with the City. However, non-profit employees, day 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 9

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 21



care employees, and other contractors with long-term relationships with the City should be 
treated like a Boulder employee. The City should examine workers, not the type of industry 
in which they work or who can afford it.  

 The City should rely on the self-sufficiency standard.  City staff should outline a 
methodology to determine which wage rate we select.  There should be an additional study 
completed to refine seasonal workers, but staff can look at moving contracts and all 
employees to $17.97/hour. Staff should absolutely renegotiate the AMR contract as soon as 
possible due to the importance of the service to the community. After renegotiating, the City 
should evaluate options for bringing this service in house.  

 The self-sufficiency standard should be implemented now, and the floor wage rate should 
be $15.67/hour in 2017. This rate should be expanded to seasonal employees after 
additional analysis and refinement. Summer employees, students, and people who live at 
home should not be excluded from the living wage rates, especially given how expensive 
education is. The goal of this wage change is to ensure that people do not have to live off of 
subsidized services.  Janitorial work should be brought in-house, and there should be 
additional consideration given to bringing some landscaping work in-house, as well. The 
next step should be to investigate expanding self-sufficiency wages to non-profit and day 
care workers. Longmont has had self-sufficiency standards for ten years, and it is time that 
Boulder caught up.  

 The staff recommendations are fine as stated but the city should renegotiate the AMR 
contract this year and the service brought in-house as soon as possible.  

 City Council is responsible for advocating for those who cannot advocate for themselves. If 
it is not feasible to bring janitorial services in-house, they should at least be making 
$17.97/hour. There needs to be more analysis before making a decision regarding seasonal 
employees. The City should consider adopting the philosophy of the self-sufficiency 
standard –all people should be paid to meet basic needs of their families – into the City 
philosophies.  

 Affordability is a top issue in Boulder, and the living wage program is a way to correct a 
broken market and help on the bottom end of the wage scale.  The City needs to double 
efforts with the goal of raising the minimum wage on a state and national level. There also 
must be a better way to provide EMS to citizens; the low pay of AMR EMTs is an indicator of 
a broken healthcare system.  

 City Council would like the AMR contract to be renegotiated for $14.02/hour for 2017, and 
for the Fire Department to investigate additional options for 2018 and beyond.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 10

Attachment A- Summary

Packet Page 22



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to approve the City Manager’s signature, 
Jane Brautigam, on an Interlocal Agreement for the Edward Byrne Memorial Justice 
Assistance Grant (JAG) Program Award  

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager   
Greg Testa, Chief of Police 
Bridget Pankow, Police Finance Manager  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this Interlocal Agreement is to obtain funds applied for through the 
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program Award to be 
distributed to the City of Boulder, the City of Longmont and the County of Boulder.  The 
City of Boulder Police Department will receive $23,608 to purchase equipment that will 
enhance the department’s ability to prevent and reduce crime while maintaining 
community and officer safety. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to authorize the city manager to approve and sign the JAG Program Award. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
This agreement may minimize economic, environmental and social impacts by providing 
a more efficient means to solve crime. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page 23



OTHER IMPACTS  
 Fiscal – $23,608 awarded to the Boulder Police Department
 Staff time is part of the normal work plan.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
None 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
None 

BACKGROUND 
Equipment to be purchased with the JAG Grant is as follows:   

One (1) ScanPro 3000 Microfilm Scanner. This scanner will give the Records 
Department the ability to scan the criminal records/cases to microfilm which will allow 
the documents to be viewed on the computer and saved as PDF files. 

One (1) STUDIOc3 Recruitment video. This recruitment video will help us market the 
police department to officer candidates and show what a career in law enforcement can 
look like.  

One (1) LG TV/Monitor for signage. This television/monitor will be used to 
communicate messages to applicants in the waiting area without the added cost of 
dedicating an employee to that duty. The displayed messages could be tailored for 
specific processes to announce locations, next steps in the process, etc.  

Forty (40) Back Defender uniform suspenders. The suspenders will be worn by the 
officers under their uniform shirt to relieve the weight load of their duty belt from the hip 
area and redistribute it to the shoulder area of their body.  

ANALYSIS 
Staff is recommending council approve the city manager’s signature, Jane Brautigam, on 
the Interlocal Agreement for the City of Boulder’s Police Department to receive funds 
from the JAG Program Award. 

MATRIX OF OPTIONS 
None 

ATTACHMENT 
A.  Interlocal Agreement between the City of Boulder, the City of Longmont and the 
County of Boulder 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page 24



Attachment A - JAG Interlocal Agreement

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page 25



Attachment A - JAG Interlocal Agreement

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page 26



Attachment A - JAG Interlocal Agreement

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page 27



Attachment A - JAG Interlocal Agreement

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page 28



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Consideration of a motion to authorize the 2016 Agreement Between the Boulder 
Valley School District (BVSD) and the City of Boulder (City) for the Use of 
Recreation Fields and Facilities. 

PRESENTER/S  
Yvette Bowden, Director, Parks and Recreation 
Jeff Haley, Manager, Planning, Design and Community Outreach 
Dean Rummel, Manager, Programs and Partnerships 
Sarah DeSouza, Manager, Policy and Information Services 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In 2004, the City of Boulder (City) and the Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) 
entered into a ten-year joint use agreement (JUA) for the mutually beneficial use of 
recreation facilities within the City which are owned and operated by both entities. Since 
2014, the agreement has been extended in one year increments.  The agreement expired 
in December 2015 and the parties, desirous of a continued working relationship, 
committed to exploring negotiation of a new agreement. 

Key elements of the proposed JUA include: 

• The term of the agreement would be five years with a renewal option.

• The BVSD allows the City, and authorized third parties, use of designated school
district recreation facilities such as gymnasiums, playgrounds, blacktop areas and
playing fields during evenings, weekends, holidays and school breaks when they
are not being used by the BVSD.

• The BVSD will provide up to three staffed school buses for the City’s use during
the summer months in connection with transportation of youth participating in the
City’s summer camps.

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page 29



• The BVSD will be allowed scheduled priority use of City pools and Scott
Carpenter Ball Field for District-run competitive sports programs.

• A Joint Use Interagency Team (JUIT) composed of staff representatives from the
BVSD and the City will meet bi-annually to schedule the use of identified
properties, explore mutually beneficial capital planning projects and discuss any
contractual issues.

As a matter of consent, the City Council is being asked to consider a motion to approve 
the proposed JUA (Attachment A) at its August 2nd business meeting. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
Recreation facilities are important building blocks to creating a healthy community. 
Through implementations of the JUA, Boulder community members will benefit from the 
two governmental agencies working collaboratively to achieve the community’s varied 
goals, a fundamental tenet of the City of Boulder’s Parks and Recreation Master Plan 
approved by Council in 2014.   

Economic: Fields and facilities are community assets that support both free and paid 
community programs.  The collaborative effort between the City and the BVSD will help 
identify potential cost savings while making additional recreational opportunities 
available to the community.  In exchange for a reduction in fees traditionally assessed to 
the BVSD for the use of city property, the City and its residents will receive increased 
access to the District’s newly constructed track, field and gymnasiums inventory without 
incurring the capital costs associated with having to build or maintain added facilities.  In 
partnership, the BVSD will continue to enjoy these assets on a priority scheduled basis 
benefitting young people in the community.  

Environmental: All fields and facilities are located in safe and environmentally friendly 
locations.  Both parties agree to maintain their respective fields and facilities throughout 
the term of the agreement.     

Social:  Increased availability of recreational spaces such as artificial turf fields and 
running tracks will provide the Boulder community additional opportunities to actively 
recreate together and improve the community’s overall quality of life. 

OTHER IMPACTS  
Fiscal: It is anticipated that the parties will work in good faith to reduce the exchange of 
cash compensation over time as new BVSD properties are built and made available to the 
City and the general public.  On some occasions, this enhanced inventory may result in 
revenue generation opportunities for the City.  

Staff Time:  The execution of this agreement will reduce staff time managing 
programming and scheduling duties at JUA sites.  If approved, an existing member of 
City staff will manage this agreement.   

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page 30



BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
On April 25, 2016, the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board held a public hearing to 
consider this item. The Board voted unanimously to approve the JUA.  Likewise, the 
BVSD School Board voted unanimously to approve the JUA at their June 14, 2016 
meeting. At both meetings staff answered general questions about the JUA. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
At both the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board and BVSD School Board meetings, 
members of the public were invited to speak, however no comments were received.  

BACKGROUND 
The BVSD and the City are mutually interested in providing educational and recreational 
facilities to serve students and residents. It is agreed by both parties that working together 
to maximize the use of existing and future recreational facilities is mutually beneficial for 
both parties and the broader community. In addition, the 2014 City of Boulder Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan included direction toward the development of enhanced 
relationships with organizations including the BVSD.  Both entities are authorized by law 
to organize, promote and conduct community recreation programs, to establish park 
areas, playgrounds and recreational facilities and to acquire, improve, maintain and 
operate these areas.  The prior joint use agreement between the BVSD and the City, 
executed on January 1, 2004 and subsequently extended, expired on December 31, 2015.  
In addition to the expired agreement, the parties previously held a separate lease 
arrangement concerning the use of Scott Carpenter Ball Field, a city property.  That 
agreement, which stipulated certain BVSD maintenance of the public asset, is also 
expired. 

Recognizing the expiration of the above-referenced agreements and the completion of the 
city’s 2014 Parks and Recreation Master Plan, the City and the BVSD have developed a 
proposed, mutually beneficial JUA that maximizes the efficient use of existing and future 
recreation assets.  The term of the agreement is five years beginning on January 1, 2016 
and expiring on December 31, 2021 at which time it will automatically renew for one 
additional three-year period, if and as desired by both parties.  

ANALYSIS 
Throughout 2015, staff representatives from both parties worked to develop a forward 
looking JUA reflecting the community’s values and enhancing the shared use of 
recreation facilities and assets to benefit the Boulder community, particularly Boulder’s 
youth population.   

Both the BVSD and the City are interested in cost-effectively providing students and 
residents access to community educational and athletic facilities while responsibly 
managing their respective resources.  With that in mind, both entities have negotiated in 
good faith to, over time, minimize the exchange of money for use of the other party’s 
facilities.  In the proposed JUA, over the five-year term of the agreement, the District’s 
payment to the City is reduced from 2015 levels as more BVSD properties and assets are 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page 31



built and/or become available for the City’s use (general public and city-
programmed/coordinated).   

Essentially, the city will be providing the BVSD with continued priority scheduled access 
to indoor swimming pools and an outdoor legion ball field for use by its student athlete 
populations.  The BVSD will provide the City access to bus transportation for summer 
camp programming, limited gymnasium access, and, as their construction is completed, 
running track and artificial rectangular field usage for programs, third party reservations 
and community use. 

The proposed JUA also calls for the establishment of a working group composed of City 
and BVSD staff who will seek to identify new or existing properties that have the greatest 
potential to meet the recreation needs of the two organizations and the Boulder 
community.  Additionally, on a bi-annual basis, staff representatives from both parties 
will meet to review and discuss property use and evaluate facility conditions.  An annual 
review of the exchange of benefits will focus on hours of use, costs, fees and charges and 
potential future capital investments.   

NEXT STEPS 
The City Manager requests that City Council support the BVSD School Board and Parks 
and Recreation Advisory Board’s recommendation to approve the proposed JUA. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the City Council approve the 2016 Joint Use Agreement Between the 
Boulder Valley School District and the City of Boulder for Use of Recreation Fields and 
Facilities. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A:  2016 Agreement Between the Boulder Valley School District and the 
City of Boulder for Use of Recreation Fields and Facilities. 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests the City Council’s consideration of this matter and action in the form 
of the following motions: 

Motion to approve the 2016 Agreement Between Boulder Valley School District and 
the City of Boulder for Use of Recreation Fields and Facilities and authorize the City 
Manager to make minor amendments prior to or during the term of this agreement in 
order to ensure operations in a manner that are consistent with applicable laws and 
the policies and regulations of the City of Boulder.  

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page 32



Joint Use Agreement 

Joint Use Agreement Executive Summary 

This joint use agreement is between the Boulder Valley School District (District) and the City of 
Boulder (City).  The District agrees to allow the local government to open for community use 
designated school district recreation facilities, such as gymnasiums, playgrounds, blacktop areas, 
and playing fields during time such as evening, weekends, holidays, and school breaks when the 
District is not using the facilities.  

In turn, the City allows for third parties, authorized by the City such as youth organizations or 
youth sports leagues, to operate recreation programs using school facilities.  The City will also 
open designated City facilities for District use. 

The attached agreement will designate the specific recreation facilities to be opened for use and 
address access, security, supervision, maintenance, custodial services, and repairs or restitution.  
In addition, the Agreement contains a procedure for resolving disputes, a mechanism for 
scheduling use of the facilities, and an allocation of costs, risks, and insurance. 

The agreement requires that third-party users comply with the District's existing policies and 
procedures and with City of Boulder’s Park and Facility Rules. 

1 of 36 Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page 33

DeSoS1
Typewritten Text
Attachment A



AGREEMENT BETWEEN BOULDER VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND THE CITY 
OF BOULDER FOR USE OF  

RECREATION FIELDS AND FACILITIES 

This intergovernmental agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 1st day of 
January, 2016 by and between Boulder Valley School District (“District” or “BVSD”) and 
the City of Boulder, a Colorado home rule municipality (“City” or “COB”) (collectively 
"the Parties").  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Parties are authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to the 
C.R.S. § 29-1-203 et. seq.: 

WHEREAS, C.R.S. §29-1-203 authorizes/encourages school districts and cities to 
organize, promote, and conduct community recreation programs and activities to promote the 
health and general welfare of the community; and  

WHEREAS, the District is the owner of real property in the City, including facilities and 
active use areas that are capable of being used by the City for community recreational purposes; 
and  

WHEREAS, the City is the owner of real property in the City, including facilities and 
active use areas that are capable of being used by the District for school recreational purposes; 
and  

WHEREAS, under appropriate circumstances, these publicly held lands and facilities 
should be used most efficiently to maximize use and increase recreational opportunities for the 
community;  

WHEREAS, 

NOW, THEREFORE, the District and the City agree to cooperate with each other as 
follows: 

1. Term
This Agreement will begin on January 1, 2016 and will continue for a period of 5
(five) years, and then shall be automatically renewed for one subsequent three-year
term unless sooner terminated as provided in Section 19.

2. Effective Date
This agreement shall be effective upon signature of designated officials and upon
inspection of affected property as described in Section 3 by District and City officials.

3. Cooperative Agreement
As provided herein, the District and the City agree to cooperate in coordinating
programs and activities conducted on all their respective facilities listed on
Attachment A ("District Property") and Attachment B ("City Property") The District

2 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page 34



and the City shall have the right to add or exclude properties during the term of this 
Agreement, provided that any such change shall be in writing and approved by both 
the District and the City.  Reference to District Property or City Property in this 
Agreement shall include the facilities and the property upon which the facilities are 
located.  As used in this Agreement, "Owner" shall mean the party to this Agreement 
that owns a particular property and /or facility covered by this Agreement, and "User” 
shall mean the other party using the Owner's property and /or facility under the terms 
of this Agreement.  

4. Permitted Uses

a. District Property

i. District Use
"District Use" shall be defined for this Agreement as the dates and times   
that schools in the School District are normally in session. (School is typically in 
session from the second week in August through May.) District Use also   
includes such times as District Property is being used for District or school- 

  sponsored activities, including activities prescheduled by individual schools, at 
their own school site or at other sites covered by this Agreement, that take place 
after school hours, on weekends, and on school holidays and vacations. 

ii. City Use
When not in use by the District and subject to the schedule developed by the 
District and the City, the City, and Third Parties authorized by the City, will be        
entitled to use, without charge, District Property as listed in Attachment A, for 
community recreational and educational purposes for the benefit of District 
students, the District, and the City at large.  The City's obligations under this 
Agreement shall apply to Third Parties using the District Property.  The City shall 
be responsible for ensuring that Third Parties comply with all obligations under 
this Agreement when using District Property.  The City shall observe/ensure 
BVSD Board Policy KF/KF-R (Attachment E District rules, regulations, and 
policies) while coordinating community recreational activities on the District 
Property.  In planning programs and scheduling activities on District Property, the 
safety, academic, athletic, and recreational needs and opportunities of school-aged 
children will be the highest priority and be adequately protected. 

iii. Third-Party Use
The term “Third Party” as used in this Agreement shall mean any contractors 
hired by the City for City recreation programs.  The City and the District agree 
that in providing access to District Property for use other than by the District or 
the City, the following priorities for use shall be established: 

Category 1:  Activities for youth 
Category 2:  Activities for adults 

3 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Packet Page 35



b. City Property
i. City Use
The City shall be entitled to priority use over District use of City Property for the 
regular conduct of parks, recreation, and community service activities and/or 
programs. 

ii. District Use
When not in use by the City and subject to the schedule developed by the City and 
the District, the City will permit the District use of City Property as listed in 
Attachment B and as outlined in Attachment C, for District educational and 
recreational activities and/or programs, provided such use by the District is in 
accordance with all City rules, regulations, policies, and city code provisions. 

5. Compliance with Law
All use of District and City Property shall be in accordance with state and local law, C. R. S. 
§29-1-203.  In the case of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the requirements of
state law, state law shall govern.  Any actions taken by the District or the City that are required 
by state law, but are inconsistent with the terms of the Agreement, shall not be construed to be a 
breach or default of this Agreement. 

6. Communication

a. Designation of Employees
The District and the City shall respectively designate an employee with whom the other 
party, or any authorized agent of the party, may confer regarding the terms of this 
Agreement. 

b. Joint Use Interagency Team
The District and the City shall establish a Joint Use Interagency Team (“JUIT”), 
composed of staff representatives of the District and the City, to develop the schedule for 
use of  District and City Property, to recommend rules and regulations for the District 
and City to adopt, to implement this Agreement, to monitor and evaluate the joint use 
project and Agreement, and to confer to discuss interim problems during the term of the 
Agreement.  

i. The JUIT shall hold conference calls or meetings bi-annually to review the
performance of the joint use project and to confer to discuss interim problems 
during the term of the Agreement.  If the JUIT is unable to reach a solution on a 
particular matter, it will be referred to BVSD Assistant Superintendent of 
Operations, and COB Parks and Recreation Director, or their designees, for   
resolution.  

ii. The JUIT shall review the Agreement once each year to evaluate the joint use
project, determine changes to the schedule, and to propose amendments to this 
Agreement. 

4 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Packet Page 36



iii. The hours and time of facility use shall be reviewed and adjusted as needed
every six 6 months at the JUIT meeting. 

7. Scheduling Use of City Property

a. Master Schedule
The District and the City shall develop a schedule for joint use of District and City 
Property to allocate property use by the District, City, and Third Parties.  The City will 
give the District priority scheduling for the facilities outlined in Attachment A. The 
District will give the City priority scheduling for facilities outlined in Attachment B.  The 
JUIT shall discuss the schedule, reviews and evaluate the status and condition of jointly 
used properties and modify or confirm the upcoming season's schedule at the regular bi-
annual meetings or at such other times as mutually agreed upon by the District and City. 

b. Scheduling of City Property
The City shall have the responsibility of scheduling the use of City Property when the 
City and the District are not using the Property. 

c. Scheduling of District Property
The City shall be responsible for scheduling Third Party use of District Property using the 
priorities established in section 4 (a) (iii) and shall be entitled to revenues generated 
through said Third Party use pursuant to Section 9 (a) below.  The use of District 
facilities shall be in accordance with the most recent regular procedures of the District for 
granting permits for the use of school facilities, as set forth in the District’s policy KF-R, 
attached hereto as Attachment D and incorporated herein by reference, as it may be 
amended from time to time, or as otherwise provided by the Agreement. 

8. Documentation and Allocation of Operational Costs

a. Tracking Use of Facilities
The District and the City shall each track use of their respective Properties under this 
Agreement. 

b. Documentation of Costs
The District and the City shall maintain records of costs associated with the Agreement. 

c. Payment of Overtime
Each party shall bear the cost of any overtime incurred by their employees in carrying out 
this Agreement.  Each party shall provide to the other party an accounting on an annual 
basis of all overtime costs incurred as a result of overtime duties carried out by their 
respective employees. 

d. The District and the City will firm-up schedules and facility use at the JUIT meeting
for the coming 6 months.  Adjustments to costs will be determined and applied towards 
exchange of benefits. 

5 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Packet Page 37



9. Fees and Charge

a. Fees
According to the agreed upon use schedule, the City may charge reasonable and 
nondiscriminatory user fees to Third Party users for use of District property.  The City 
and District will establish a fee schedule for Third Party users determined by and 
communicated by both parties at the JUIT meeting. The City fee schedule shall not 
exceed user fees established by the District.  

b. Documentation of Fees
The District and City shall maintain records of costs associated with the Agreement. 

c. Annual Review of Benefits
The District and City’s JUIT shall annually review the exchange of benefits based upon 
hours of use, costs, fees, and charges, or capital investments; including the review of 
available Service Expansion Fee (SEF) dollars. It is anticipated that the Parties will work 
in good faith to reduce exchange of cash compensation over time as new District 
Properties referenced herein become available for the general public’s use.  Scheduled 
exchange of compensation shall be set forth in Attachment C. 

The Parties long term goal is for the District to be able to provide additional properties 
for the City’s use rather than making payments.  If additional properties become available 
at a later date the parties agree to discuss changes to payment arrangements.  However, if 
the District fails to make timely payments under the current terms, the City will have the 
discretion to exercise its right to termination.   

District payment shall be made to the City no later than January 1 each year during the 
Term of this Agreement and as set forth in Attachment C.  No money shall be exchanged 
as compensation for any single year’s imbalance past 2018.  The JUIT shall determine an 
alternate plan for more than one year, but less than three years of imbalances. 

10. Improvements

a. The District shall obtain prior written consent of the City to make any alterations,
additions, repairs or improvements to City Property; the City shall obtain prior written 
consent of the District to make any alterations, additions, repairs or improvements to 
District Property. 

b. Any such alterations, additions, repairs or improvements will be at the expense of the
requesting party, unless otherwise agreed. 

c. Each party may, for good cause, require the demolition or removal of any
temporary/permanent alterations, additions, repairs or improvements made by the other 
party at the expense of the Party that made such alteration, addition, repairs or 
improvement. 

6 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Packet Page 38



d. The Owner retains title and possession of all land and facilities covered by the
Agreement.  Capital improvements become the property of the Owner regardless of 
which party made and/or paid for the improvements. 

11. Interagency Training
The District and the City shall operate a joint training and orientation program for key personnel 
implementing this agreement.  Monitors for both parties and supervisors at the District and the 
City would go over procedures relating to the use of such things as keys, opening buildings, 
emergency procedures.  This shall be an agenda item at the interagency bi-annual meeting.  The 
District and the City shall be responsible for ensuring their employees attend the training. 

12. Supervision, Security, and Inspections

a. Supervision and Enforcement
The City shall train and provide an adequate number of competent personnel to supervise 
all activities on District Property.  The City shall observe/ensure BVSD Board Policy 
KF/KF-R (Attachment E) is followed while coordinating activities or programs on 
District property. 

The City shall provide a City employee on site for all indoor programs on the District 
property.  Outside programs shall be under the management of the City but may not have 
an on-site supervisor.  

For pool access, the City will provide a City employee to open and close the Recreation 
Centers if used before or after hours for District Use. City will also supply an appropriate 
number of lifeguards based on City Policy.  

For Scott Carpenter Park access, the City shall provide a City employee to open and close 
the facility when used by the District.  

Neither party shall bill for monitors or supervision of their facilities. 

b. Security
The District shall provide only City employees with access to District Property.  The 
District will provide keys, security cards, and training as needed to the City's identified 
employee(s) responsible for opening and locking District property while supervising 
activities or programs.  District keys and security training will not be allowed to Third 
Party users.   

c. Inspections and Notification
The User shall inspect the Owner's Property after use to ensure sites are returned in the 
condition they were received.  The User shall ensure the Owner is notified within 48 
hours in the event that the owner's Property suffers damage during User's use. 

7 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 11Packet Page 39



13. Supplies & Equipment
The User shall furnish and supply all expendable materials and recreational equipment necessary 
to carry out its programs while using the Owner's Property. An inventory of existing equipment 
will be noted by the JUIT and reviewed and updated on an annual basis. 

14. Maintenance, Custodial Services, and Toilet Facilities

a. Maintenance
The User agrees to exercise due care in the use of the Owner's Property.  The User shall 
during the time of its use, keep the Owner's Property in neat order. 

The District retains responsibility for maintenance of District property unless otherwise 
stated in Attachment A.  The City retains responsibility for maintenance of City Property 
including as stated in paragraph 14(c) “Toilet Facilities”. 

The Owner will be responsible for normal maintenance of all Properties at basic level of 
service subject to normal wear and tear.  The Owner shall notify the User of any known 
change in condition of these Properties. 

i. The Parties agree that their respective properties under this Agreement will be
maintained as clean, safe and in general good repair throughout the Term or any 
extension thereof.  Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement, each Owner shall 
be solely responsible for the repair, maintenance and reasonable safe operation of 
their properties, including and not limited to, existing or improved infrastructure 
on those properties such as sprinkler heads, irrigation lines, turf, fencing, 
backstops, goal posts, water fountains, lighting, waste receptacles, restrooms, net 
and flooring. 

ii. Maintenance by the City as set forth in Attachment A and below under 14(c)
Toilet Facilities, on any District property covered by this Agreement shall be 
performed during weekday daytime hours as agreed upon by the parties.   

iii. Each of the parties is responsible for continued operation of utilities servicing
their respective properties under this agreement regardless of use or maintenance 
herein.  

b. Custodial
The Owner shall make its trash receptacles available during the User's use of Owner's 
Property.  The User shall encourage community users to dispose of trash in the trash 
receptacles during its use. 

c. Toilet Facilities
The City may place temporary, portable, restroom facilities at the District's outdoor 
Properties at the discretion of the District.  It shall be the responsibility of the City to 
maintain these facilities. 

8 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 12Packet Page 40



15. Parking
Motor vehicle and bicycle parking shall be permitted in adjacent owner parking lots by 
community users during City use or District use of a site on a first come, first served basis. 

16. Restitution and Repair
Unless otherwise mutually agreed, the User shall be wholly responsible to fund the repair or 
replacement of any and all damage or vandalism to the Owner's Property occurring during the 
User's use of that Property. 

a. Reimbursement Procedure
The Owner shall provide notice by sending an invoice to the User's designated employee 
within thirty (30) days of completion of repairs or replacement of damaged Property.  
The invoice shall itemize all work hours, equipment, and materials with cost rates as 
applied to the repair work.  If the repair is completed by a contractor, a copy of the 
contactor's itemized statement shall be attached.  Actual costs shall be reimbursed if less 
than estimated and/or fixed costs.  The User shall reimburse the Owner within ninety (90) 
days from receipt of such invoice.  

b. Disagreements
The User shall retain the right to disagree with any and all items of damage to buildings 
or equipment as identified by the Owner, provided this objection is made within 10 days 
of User receiving notice from Owner.  

i. The User shall notify the Owner of any objection in writing by letter, or email to
the Owner's designated employee.  The User shall clearly identify the reasons for 
refusing responsibility for the damages.  Failure to file the objection within the 
prescribed time period shall be considered an acceptance of responsibility by the 
User. 

ii. After proper notification, members of the JUIT, or other designated
employees of the City and District, shall make an on-site investigation and 
attempt a settlement of the disagreement. 

iii. In the event an agreement cannot be reached, the matter shall be referred to the
City’s Parks and Recreation Director and BVSD Assistant Superintendent of 
Operations, or their designees, for resolution. 

iv. The Owner shall have the right to make immediate emergency repairs or
replacements of Property without voiding the User's right to disagree. 

17. Liability and Indemnification
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall constitute any waiver by the City or the District of the 
provisions of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act or any other immunity or defense 
provided by statute or common law. 

a. To the extent permitted by law, the City shall defend, indemnify, and hold the District,
its officers, employees and agents, harmless from and against any and all liability, loss, 
expense, attorneys' fees or claims for injury or damages, arising out of the performance of 

9 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 13Packet Page 41



this Agreement, but only in proportion to and to the extent such liability, loss, expense, 
attorneys' fees, for claims for injury are caused by or result from the negligent or 
intentional acts or omissions of the City, its officers, agents, or employees. 

b. To the extent permitted by law, the District shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City,
its officers, employees and agents, harmless from and against any and all liability, loss, 
expense, attorneys; fees or claims for injury or damages, arising out of the performance 
of this Agreement, but only in proportion to and to the extent such liability, loss, expense, 
attorneys' fees, or claims for injury are caused by or result from the negligent or 
intentional acts or omissions of the District, its officers, agents, or employees. 

18. Insurance
The District and the City agree to provide the following insurance in connection with this 
Agreement. 

a. Commercial General Liability for bodily injury and property damage, including
Personal Injury and Blanket contractual, with limits of $1,000, 000 per occurrence and 
$2,000,000 aggregate. 

b. Workers' Compensation coverage, as required by Colorado law.

c. Documentation of Insurance. The District and the City shall provide to each other a
certificate of insurance each year this Agreement is in effect showing proof of the above 
coverage.  In the event the District or the City is self-insured for the property and general 
liability coverage, the entity hereby certifies that it shall maintain coverage adequate to 
meet its liabilities and up to the limits set forth in the Colorado Governmental Immunity 
Act. 

19. Termination
This Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party with 90 days’ written notice. 

20. General Provisions

a. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the parties with respect
to the subject matter and nothing in this Agreement shall affect any other agreement 
between the City and the District now in effect.  This Agreement shall replace, void, and 
supersede any and all existing or former joint use or lease agreements between the Parties 
which shall come under the governance of this Agreement. 

b. Neither party shall extend the faith or credit of the other to any third person or entity.

c. This Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties and their successors in interest.

d. Any notice required by this Agreement shall be in writing, made by hand-delivery or
certified mail, return receipt requested, or by email to a valid email address as stated 
below or as updated in the future and addressed to the following: 

10 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 14Packet Page 42



Assistant Superintendent of Operations 
Boulder Valley School District 

P. O. Box 9011 
Boulder, Colorado 80301 

Email address: don.orr@bvsd.org 

Parks and Recreation Director 
City of Boulder Parks and Recreation Director 

3198 Broadway-IRIS Center 
Boulder, CO 80304-2644 

Email address: bowdeny@bouldercolorado.gov 

e. Notice given by hand-delivery shall be effective immediately and notice by all other
means shall be effective three (3) days after it is deposited in the United States mail 
depository correctly addressed with sufficient postage for delivery or emailed to a valid 
email address and to the authorized representative of the party as indicated above. 

f. The rights and obligations of the parties under this Agreement shall be interpreted and
construed in accordance with Colorado law. 

g. The parties represent that the individuals signing this Agreement on their behalf
possess full power and authority from their respective governing body or board in 
compliance with Colorado law. 

h. Waiver of any right under this Agreement shall not operate as, or be construed to be, a
waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other provision of this Agreement. 

i. No provision of this Agreement shall be assigned by either party without prior written
consent of the non-assigning party. 

j. Each party agrees to perform all other acts and execute and deliver all other documents
as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out and purposes of this Agreement. 

k. Each provision of this Agreement shall be severable.  If any provision is held invalid,
contrary to, or in conflict with any law or regulation by a tribunal with competent 
jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in effect.  

l. Whenever the term “day” or “days” appears in this Agreement, it shall be construed as
business day(s) not including holidays or weekends. 

21. Amendments
This Agreement may not be modified, nor may compliance with any of its terms be waived, 
except by written instrument executed and approved in the same manner as this Agreement. 

22. Any Additional Provisions Required by Colorado State or Local Law.

11 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 15Packet Page 43



23. Fund Availability
Financial obligations of the District or the City payable after the current fiscal year are 
contingent upon funds for that purpose being appropriated, budgeted, and otherwise made 
available. 

24. No Third Party Rights
This Agreement is for the benefit of the District and the City and creates no rights in third 
parties. 

25. Negligence:
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, no term or condition of 
this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, express or implied, of any of the 
immunities, rights, benefits, protection, or other provisions of the Colorado Governmental 
Immunity Act, Section 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S., as now or hereafter amended.  The parties 
understand and agree that liability for claims for injuries to persons or property arising out of 
negligence of the City or BVSD, its departments, institutions, agencies, boards, officials and 
employees is controlled and limited by the provisions of Section 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S., as 
now or hereafter amended. 

12 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 16Packet Page 44



DATED this _____________ day of ___________________, 2016 

THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

________________________________________________________ 
City Manager 
1777 Broadway 
Boulder, CO  80302 

ATTEST: 

_____________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________ 
City and County Clerk 

BOULDER VALLEY SCHOOL DISTRICT 

_____________________________________________________________ 
Sam Fuqua 
President, Board of Education 

______________________________________________________________ 
Legal Counsel for Boulder Valley School District 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________________________________ 
Board Secretary, Boulder Valley School District 

13 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 17Packet Page 45



ATTACHMENT A 
City use of District Facilities 

Facilities not listed in this agreement are not applicable to this Agreement and may be rented by 
BVSD under other terms. 

City Use: 
Centennial Middle School - Track and Artificial Rectangular Field 

 Anticipated build/use – August 2016
 School year (August – May)
 Monday - Friday, 6:00 – 8:00 p.m. (90 days)
 Saturday & Sunday, 10:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. (50 days)

Centennial Middle School - Gymnasium 

 Anticipated build/use – August 2018
 August – May usage/access (60 days)
 Tue/Wed, 6:30 – 11:00 p.m.

Centennial Middle School - Tennis Courts 

 Year-round
 Open access
 Scheduled/Programmed/Maintained by COB
 BHS Tennis scheduling has priority

Manhattan Middle School - Track and Artificial Rectangular Field 

 Anticipated build/use – August 2016
 School year (August – May)
 Monday - Friday, 6:00 – 8:00 p.m. (90 days)
 Saturday & Sunday, 8:00 a.m. – 8:00 p.m. (50 days)

Manhattan Middle School - Gymnasium 

 Anticipated build/use – August 2018
 August – May usage/access (120 days)
 Mon-Thurs, 6:30 – 11:00 p.m.

Eisenhower Elementary School - Arapahoe Ridge Park Diamond Fields and Tennis Courts 

 March – November usage/access
 Monday – Friday, 4:00 – 8:00 p.m.
 Scheduled/Programmed/Maintained by COB

District Bussing Services – Summer Camp 

 June to August
 1 staffed 70-passenger school buss
 1 day/week for 12 weeks
 10:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m.

14 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 18Packet Page 46



ATTACHMENT B 
District Use of City Facilities 

Facilities not listed in this agreement are not applicable to this Agreement and may be rented by 
COB under other terms. 

BVSD USE: 
South Boulder Recreation Center Lap Pool 

 Practice (24 weeks)
 60 hours/week between the hours of 3:45-5:45 p.m. (6 lanes)
 15 hours/week between the hours of 7:00-9:00 a.m. (4 lanes)

 Meets (up to 4 meets)
 12 hours (6 lanes)

 North Boulder Recreation Center Lap Pool 

 Practice (24 weeks)
 34 hours/week between the hours of 3:45-5:45 p.m. (5 Lanes)

 Meets (up to 4 meets)
 12 hours (8 lanes)

Scott Carpenter Field 

 Spring (March-June)
 BHS Baseball scheduling has priority
 32 hours/week for practice and games

 Summer (June-August)
 BHS Baseball scheduling has priority
 10 hours/week in 2016
 15 hours/week in 2017
 24 hours /week 2018 and beyond

 Fall (August-November)
 BHS Baseball scheduling has priority
 24 hours/week

15 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 19Packet Page 47



ATTACHMENT C 
Payment Schedule for Anticipated Joint and Reciprocal Use* 

 Year   City Usage   BVSD Usage  Difference  Payment to City 
2016 $27,980 $83,236 ($55,256) $50,000 

2017 $52,460 $88,356 ($35,896) $35,000 

2018  67,460 $97,536 ($30,076) $30,000 

  2019 $82,460 $97,536 ($15,076) $0 
        2020   $82,460   $97,536    ($15,076)  $0 

(*) Subject to amendment based on availability of District Property-New builds are 
projected to be complete by 8/18.  In the case of delayed construction, the City and the District 
shall re-negotiate this payment scheduled for 2019 and beyond.  

Payments made by District to City as follows: 
December 31, 2016:  $50,000 
June 30, 2017:  $17,500 
December 31, 2017:  $17,500 
June 30, 2018:  $15,000 
June 31, 2018:  $15,000 

No money shall be exchanged as compensation for any single year’s imbalance past 2018.  

16 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 20Packet Page 48



ATTACHMENT D 
Explanation of Benefits 

17 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 21Packet Page 49



N
a

m
e o

f Sch
o

o
l

Fa
cility 

u
sed

D
a

ys u
sed

H
o

u
rs o

f U
se

H
o

u
rly 

co
st

To
ta

l C
o

st

Y
ea

r/D
a

te- 

O
p

en
C

O
B

 u
se o

f B
V

SD
 P

ro
p

erty

C
e

n
te

n
ial M

id
d

le
 

Sch
o

o
l

Track/Fie
ld

A
u

g-M
ay (M

-F)=
 9

0
 d

ays

6
-8

 P
M

 2
 h

o
u

rs X
 9

0
 

d
ays=1

8
0

 h
o

u
rs

$
5

1
.0

0
1

8
0

X
5

1
=$

9
,1

8
0

Fall 2
0

1
6

Track/Fie
ld

A
u

g-M
ay(Sat/Su

n
)= 5

0
 d

ays

1
0

 am
-4

p
m

X
 5

0
 d

ays=
 

3
0

0
 h

o
u

rs
$

5
1

.0
0

3
0

0
X

5
1

=$
1

5
,3

0
0

Fall 2
0

1
6

N
e

w
 G

ym
A

u
g-M

ay 2
 d

ays a w
ee

k =6
0

 d
ays

6
:3

0
 p

m
-1

1
p

m
 X

 6
0

 

d
ays= 2

7
9

 h
o

u
rs

$
3

7
.0

0
2

7
0

X
3

7
=1

0
,0

0
0

Fall 2
0

1
8

To
tal: $

3
4

,4
8

0

M
an

h
attan

 M
id

d
le

 

Sch
o

o
l

Track/Fie
ld

A
u

g-M
ay (M

-F)=
 9

0
 d

ays

6
-8

 P
M

 2
 h

o
u

rs X
 9

0
 

d
ays=1

8
0

 h
rs

$
5

1
.0

0
1

8
0

X
5

1
=9

,1
8

0
Fall 2

0
1

6

Track/Fie
ld

A
u

g-M
ay(Sat/Su

n
)= 5

0
 d

ays

1
0

 am
-4

p
m

X
 5

0
 d

ays=
 

3
0

0
 h

o
u

rs
$

5
1

.0
0

3
0

0
X

5
1

=$
1

5
,3

0
0

Fall 2
0

1
6

N
e

w
 G

ym
A

u
g-M

ay(M
-T)=

1
2

0
 d

ays

6
:3

0
-1

1
p

m
X

1
2

0
 

d
ays=5

4
0

 h
o

u
rs

$
3

7
5

4
0

X
3

7
=$

1
9

,9
8

0
Fall 2

0
1

8

To
tal: $

4
4

,4
6

0

B
u

sse
s

1
 Staffed

 7
0

 

p
e

rso
n

 
1

 d
ay/w

e
ek fo

r 1
2

 w
ee

ks 
1

0
:0

0
 am

-4
:0

0
 p

m
$

3
,5

0
0

Su
m

m
er 2

0
1

6

G
ran

d
 T

o
tal: 

G
ran

d
 

To
tal:

$
8

2
,4

4
0

A
T

T
A

C
H

M
E

N
T

 D

E
x

p
lan

atio
n
 o

f B
en

efits

18 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 22Packet Page 50



B
V

SD
 u

se
 o

f C
O

B
 P

ro
p

erty

Sco
tt C

arp
en

te
r

P
ractice

A
u

g-A
p

ril 3
h

rs d
ay/5

d
ays 

w
e

ek- 3
2

 w
ee

ks
A

fte
r sch

o
o

l/w
e

eken
d

s
$

5
1

$
2

4
,4

8
0

G
am

e
s

6
.5

 h
rs- 3

2
 gam

es (A
u

g-

A
p

ril)
A

fer Sch
o

o
l/w

e
eken

d
s

$
5

1
$

1
0

,6
0

8

Su
m

m
e

r 

2
0

1
6

Ju
n

e-A
u

g* 1
0

 h
rs/w

e
ek- 2

0
 

w
e

eks/2
0

0
h

rs
Tu

e-Su
n

$
5

1
$

1
0

,2
0

0

Su
m

m
e

r 

2
0

1
7

Ju
n

e-A
u

g* 1
5

 h
rs/w

e
ek- 2

0
 

w
e

eks/3
0

0
h

rs
Tu

e-Su
n

$
5

1
$

1
5

,3
0

0

Su
m

m
e

r 

2
0

1
8

 o
n

 

b
e

yo
n

d

Ju
n

e-A
u

g* 2
4

 h
rs/w

e
ek- 2

0
 

w
e

eks/4
8

0
h

rs
Tu

e-Su
n

$
5

1
$

2
4

,4
8

0

To
tal 2

0
1

6
: 

$
4

5
,2

8
8

To
tal 2

0
1

7
: 

$
5

0
,3

8
8

To
tal 2

0
1

8
 &

 

b
eyo

n
d

: 

$
5

9
,5

6
8

P
o

o
ls

N
B

R
C

2
4

 w
ks/3

4
h

rsw
k/5

 lan
es

B
etw

e
en

 3
:4

5
-5

:4
5

p
m

$
1

4
$

1
1

,4
2

4

SB
R

C
2

4
 w

ks/6
0

h
rsw

k/6
 lan

es
B

etw
e

en
 3

:4
5

-5
:4

5
p

m
$

1
4

$
2

0
,1

6
0

2
4

 w
ks/1

5
h

rsw
k/3

 lan
es

B
etw

e
en

 7
-9

am
$

1
4

$
5

,0
4

0

M
e

e
ts N

B
R

C
4

 m
ee

ts/1
2

 h
rs each

 m
ee

t
M

-Sat
$

1
4

$
6

7
2

M
e

e
ts SB

R
C

4
 m

ee
ts/1

2
 h

rs each
 m

ee
t

M
-Sat

$
1

4
$

6
7

2

To
tal: $

3
7

,9
6

8

G
ran

d
 T

o
tal:

G
ra

n
d

 

To
ta

l:
8

3
,2

5
6

$
 

$
8

8
,3

5
6

$
9

7
,5

3
6

19 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 23Packet Page 51



ATTACHMENT E 
BVSD Board Policy KF 

BVSD Board Policy KF-R 

20 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 24Packet Page 52



Boulder Valley School District   
File: KF 
Adopted: 
Revised: September 26, 1991; June 26, 2001; January 14, 2014 

COMMUNITY USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES 

The Boulder Valley School District is an integral part of each community it serves. School 
buildings are centrally located in most neighborhoods and are a logical focal point for 
community activities. The Boulder Valley School District desires to nurture community 
involvement in the schools and encourage the use of the schools as community centers. 

The fee structure for community use ensures that the School District will spend its 
money directly on the education of youth while at the same time promoting community 
use of the buildings and community involvement in the schools. 

The Board of Education delegates to the Superintendent the authority to develop 
regulations and guidelines for regulating the use of school facilities and to set fees for 
that use and for other related costs. 

Board of Education policies and regulations that govern school use of facilities shall, 
when applicable, also govern community use of school facilities. 

The applicant, by signing the building use request form, agrees to indemnify the District 
and any person whose property may be within the building for loss or damage to 
property caused by any person or persons attending any activity of the applicant or any 
damage or injury arising by reason of the applicant's use of the building. The District 
reserves the right to require a performance bond, proof of satisfactory liability insurance 
protection, or a deposit for protection of the building facility and equipment, and to 
guarantee the payment of rent or expenses. 

The School District reserves the right to refuse approval or to cancel any and all permits 
issued for the use of a school building or District facilities when it is deemed by the 
Superintendent or designee that such action is necessary for the best interests of the 
District. 

Permission for use of District facilities does not constitute District endorsement of any 
organization, the beliefs of an organization or group, nor the expression of any opinion 
regarding the nomination, retention, election, or defeat of any candidate, nor the 
expression of any opinion as to the passage or defeat of any ballot issue. 

21 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 25Packet Page 53



LEGAL REF.:  
C.R.S. 22-32-110(1)(f) 

CROSS REFS.: 
EDC, Authorized Use of School-Owned Materials 
KFA, Public Conduct on District Property 
KFB, Use of School Buildings as Child-Care Centers 

End of File: KF 

22 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 26Packet Page 54



Boulder Valley School District   
File: KF-R 
Adopted: July 1, 1997 
Revised: June 26, 2001; May 18, 2005, September 28, 2005, August 14, 
2012; January 15, 2014 

Community Use of School Facilities 

INTRODUCTION 

It is the policy of the Board of Education to make school facilities available to the 
community when not in use for school programs or activities.  These administrative 
regulations and procedures for providing community use are intended to promote safe, 
lawful, and fair use and enjoyment of District facilities consistent with the need to 
establish priorities that recognize the educational purpose of the facilities and the need 
to be financially responsible for the expenses associated with such use. 

These regulations and procedures shall govern the use of school facilities for purposes 
not directly related to the School District's implementation of its educational programs 
and shall apply to all buildings and grounds owned and/or operated by the District. 

RESPONSIBILITY 

The Community School Program is responsible for the administration of this policy and 
regulation as it relates to the specific building and for implementation of the Board 
policy to encourage community use of school facilities. 

The Community School Program will facilitate the administration of this policy and 
regulation in collaboration with building administration, and will provide technical 
assistance when appropriate, including the responsibility to negotiate facility use 
permits with community users. 

SCHEDULING 

All schools are required to maintain a daily current master schedule of activities on the 
Event Management System (EMS).  After all school activities have been scheduled, 
space will be available outside the regular school day to the community with attention 
to broad and equitable use of facilities.  The regular school day is generally one-half 
hour before classes commence in the morning to one hour after all classes have ended 
in the afternoon.  The Community School Program will have the responsibility and 
authority for facility scheduling, subject to final approval by the building administration.  
Alternate locations will be offered when feasible if a particular building cannot 
accommodate all requests.  All use is subject to the availability of Boulder Valley School 

23 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 27Packet Page 55



District custodial and/or building monitoring staff.  The Community School Program will 
inform each school about all facility use permits issued. 

FIELD USE 

Fields may be made available to rent for limited and approved community use.  This use 
is subject to cancellation or adjustment, due to weather, field conditions, maintenance, 
or other circumstances deemed necessary and in the best interests of the District. 

APPLICATION FOR USE 

The Community School Program will be responsible for the facility use permit process. A 
facility use request form must be signed and submitted, along with a certificate of 
liability insurance, to start the permit process.  If a request for use is approved, the 
activity will be added to BVSD’s scheduling software and a Facility Use Permit will be 
completed and distributed as follows: (One copy each) 

School contact 
Renter 
Community School Program/Facility Use 

CANCELLATION, REVOCATION, AND MODIFICATION 

The Community School Program will notify the appropriate building staff person if the 
scheduled facility use is canceled or adjusted.  Building use can be denied or a Facility 
Use Permit may be revoked for: repeated or material violation of the regulations or 
Permit, repeated short notification of cancellations, failure to pay rental fees, 
inappropriate behavior, and other good cause as determined by the Community School 
Program.  The Community School Program will notify all involved parties of the 
cancellation or change of the permit. 

The Community School Program reserves the right to cancel building Facility Use 
Permits should the space be needed for school, or school-related activities, or district 
activities.  This action will be used only when necessary due to unavoidable 
circumstances, and attempts will be made to offer alternative space. 

Notwithstanding the above, the School District may cancel or revoke a permit at any 
time when, in the judgment of the building administration or the Community School 
Program, it is in the best interests of the School District to do so.  When this occurs, 
appropriate financial adjustments will be made. 

CANCELLATION/CHANGE FEES 

When a user requests to cancel or modify a signed permit, the following fees will be 
assessed: 

1. rental fees of less than $25.00 - no refund;

24 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 28Packet Page 56



2. rental fees of less than $100.00 - $25.00 cancellation/change fee;
3. rental fees of $100.00 or more - cancellation/change fee of 25 percent of fee charged.

AUTHORIZED USE OF SCHOOL-OWNED EQUIPMENT 

Areas are rented as furnished.  School equipment is usually not loaned or leased to 
community groups.  If a request for use of school equipment is approved by the building 
administration, additional fees will be charged.  Examples of equipment for which extra 
fees may be charged are: 

Stage scenery and flats 
Projectors and stage lighting equipment, sound systems 
Music stands and pianos 
Gym equipment: e.g., score boards, mats 

Stage lighting equipment and projectors must be operated by school (or school-
approved) personnel.  School operators shall be paid by the School District, and 
reimbursed by the user, at a rate or at a flat fee established by the District. 

GENERAL REGULATIONS 

1. Permit.  A written permit shall be required for use of a school building or grounds by
any group that is not a part of the District.  Such permits may be granted for a single 
use, or a limited, recurring use, not to exceed one year. 

2. Supervision.  Permits shall be issued upon satisfactory assurance that the use of the
school facility will be under the direct supervision of an adult who is responsible and 
competent to supervise the proposed program or activity.  The supervision provided by 
each renting group must be adequate to ensure that the members of the group remain 
in the assigned portion of the facility.  If necessary, in the judgment of the Community 
School Program, a monitor may be hired to supervise the group with the cost incurred 
by the user.  If required by school officials, guards or uniformed police must also be 
provided at the expense of the user. 

3. Processing.  Should it be difficult to define or process a request for the use of school
facilities within the scope of this regulation, the Community School Program Director 
will evaluate the situation and will consult the appropriate central administrator if 
necessary before issuing or refusing to issue a Facility Use Permit. 

4. Interpretations.  All permits will be reviewed and signed by the Community School
Program Director or designee for the purpose of determining uniformity with 
interpretation and application of fees and policy. 

5. No Assignment.  No permit shall be transferred or assigned to any person or group.

6. Safety.  All applicable fire and safety laws/regulations governing use of school
facilities must be observed at all times, including without limitation: 

25 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 29Packet Page 57



a. Auditorium exit lights must be used.
b. Open flame (including candles) is prohibited.
c. Room capacity is not to be exceeded.
d. Use of tobacco products is prohibited in all areas of the building and grounds.
e. Temporary electrical or mechanical modifications are prohibited.
f. Flammable holiday or other decorations are prohibited.
g. Stairways, corridors, and entrances/exits must be kept free of obstruction at all

times.
h. No equipment, scenery, or decorations of any type shall be used within the

building or on the premises except as specifically provided in the permit.  Such
equipment, scenery, or decorations shall be of a slow burning nature and shall
conform to all local and state regulations governing such equipment and shall
not be attached to the walls, floors, or ceilings (except to anchors presently
provided).

i. No possession or use of weapons or participation in any other dangerous
activities except as specifically provided in the permit, covered by a Certificate of
Insurance and with proper waivers approved by the District.

7. Alcohol and Drugs.  Use or possession of alcohol and controlled substances is
prohibited in buildings and on grounds.  Controlled substances are drugs specifically 
identified and regulated under Federal law and include, but are not limited to, opiates, 
narcotics, cocaine, amphetamine, and other stimulants, depressants, hallucinogenic 
substances, and marijuana. Failure to comply will be dealt with by local law 
enforcement agencies and may result in revocation of the Facility Use Permit. 

8. Illegal Activities.  All disruptive or illegal activity in buildings and on grounds is
prohibited and may result in revocation of the Facility Use Permit. 

9. Gambling.  Unlicensed gambling is prohibited on any school property.

10. Indemnification.  The holder of a permit shall be responsible to the Board of
Education of the Boulder Valley School District for any and all damages and losses 
whatsoever to the building and/or the contents, and shall indemnify and hold harmless 
the Board and its employees from any claim resulting from or arising out of the use of 
the school facilities named in the permit or any part of the facilities covered in the 
permit. 

11. Personal Property.  The Board of Education shall not be held responsible for any
damage or loss that may occur to non-school property brought on the premises.  Such 
property (as well as rubbish) must be removed from the facility immediately after the 
use or before such time as the materials will interfere with school activities. 

12. Insurance.  School District insurance coverage does not extend to community or
other groups using school facilities.  The District may require a certificate of insurance 
from the user, naming the District as an additional insured, covering injury to persons or 

26 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 30Packet Page 58



damage to property.  Entities which can establish coverage under the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act must provide certification of proof of insurance at least to 
the limitations provided in the Act.  All other entities must provide a certificate of 
insurance in the amount of at least $500,000. 

13. Locations.  All permits will be issued for specific rooms or fields.  It shall be the
responsibility of the permit holder to restrict the activities of the group to that specific 
area except for necessary hallways and restrooms.  Noncompliance could result in 
revocation of the permit.  The approved party is responsible for not allowing 
unauthorized individuals into the approved area or activity. 

14. Times.  Facility use times will be specified in the permit.  All groups are expected to
vacate the premises by the time specified in the permit.  An additional hour rental may 
be charged for early arrival or late exit.  All Facility Use Permits will terminate by 9:00 
p.m.  Exceptions to this requirement may be approved by the building administration. 

15. Days.  Facilities may be rented Mondays through Fridays as space is available and as
such rental does not interrupt or disturb regular school activities.  Saturday and Sunday 
use of school facilities may be permitted and will be subject to staff availability where 
applicable. 

16. Equipment Storage.  Users may make arrangements with the building principal to
temporarily store regularly used equipment, if space is available, and may be charged on 
a monthly basis.  The School District assumes no liability for damage or theft of such 
equipment. 

17. Promotional Materials.  The posting or distribution of advertising and promotional
materials of building users are subject to Board policy. 

GUIDELINES FOR DENIAL OF USE 

The School District reserves the right to deny a permit for any reason.  Approval will be 
denied if, in the judgment of the Community School Program: 

1. No appropriate District employees are available to be on the premises during the
intended use. 

2. Insufficient time is available between the request and the intended use.

3. The proposed activities would:

● Jeopardize the equipment and/or facilities of the building.
● Conflict with school activities.
● Be incompatible with the school neighborhood.
● Violate any District policy or local, state, or federal law.

4. The user's past history of rental has been negative.

27 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 31Packet Page 59



5. The program and/or activities are not age appropriate for students who would
ordinarily attend that school. 

6. It is in the best interest of the School District to deny the use.

GUIDELINES FOR APPEAL 

The applicant may file a written appeal to the appropriate central administrator if a 
Facility Use Permit has been denied, cancelled, or revoked by the Community School 
Program.  Further appeal, if necessary, may be made to the Superintendent and then to 
the Board of Education. 

GUIDELINES FOR RELIGIOUS USE 

Facilities may be used for religious activities under the following conditions: 

1. Church services and religious activities must be conducted at times when school is not
in session. 

2. Religious objects and symbols must be removed after each use.

NONDISCRIMINATION 

All users shall comply with federal, state, and local laws and regulations applicable to 
their activities, including those related to discrimination. 

USE CATEGORIES 

Category 1: 

No use fee will be charged at any time to the following: 

1. Users who are considered to be a part of the regular school curriculum or curriculum-
related groups. 

2. Users who are participants in school-sponsored student activities, such as athletic and
music groups, curriculum-related student clubs, plays, student council activities, or 
social events. 

3. School-affiliated users such as parent-teacher organizations, school-related parent
and community groups, or recognized employee associations of the Boulder Valley 
School District. 

4. Governmental entities using facilities as a polling place.

5. Precinct caucuses.

28 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 32Packet Page 60



6. Forums for candidates for the Board of Education, where such forums are open to the
public without charge, and all candidates are invited to participate. 

Category 1 users may be charged for any personnel overtime when applicable. 

Category 1 status shall not be extended to any group other than these stated. 

All Category 1 activities must be recorded on the Event Management System. 

Category 2: 

A nominal hourly fee for facility use during the week will be charged to youth 
community groups that do not charge a fee, or charge only a nominal fee, for 
participation.  The hourly fee will cover only small meetings in classrooms.  Non-
classroom use will be charged the Category 3 youth rate fees.  For purposes of this 
regulation, youth are to be defined as students attending grade 12 or below. 

Category 3: 
A fee will be charged to youth community groups using facilities not otherwise covered 
by Categories 1 and 2.  When multiple small groups (qualified for the Category 2 status) 
convene for functions, these will be charged at the Category 3 youth rate fees. 

A nonrefundable permit fee will be assessed for each Facility Use Permit.  In addition to 
use fees, fees for custodial, monitor, and cafeteria personnel will apply if such are 
required. 

Category 4: 
A fee will be charged to adult community groups using facilities not otherwise covered 
by Category 1. 

A nonrefundable permit fee will be assessed for each Facility Use Permit.  In addition to 
use fees, fees for custodial, monitor, and cafeteria personnel overtime will apply if such 
are required. 

Category 5: 
Other for profit users (youth and adult) may fall under commercial rates when 
applicable as determined by the Community Schools program. 

A nonrefundable permit fee will be assessed for each Facility Use Permit.  In addition to 
use fees, fees for custodial, monitor, and cafeteria personnel overtime will apply if such 
are required. 

FEES 

1. Custodial/Monitor

29 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 33Packet Page 61



Any organization or individual, regardless of classification, will be required to pay the 
cost of custodial/monitoring services if its use of the facility would result in direct costs 
to the School District. 

2. Kitchen

A school cafeteria manager or other designated cafeteria employee(s) must be present 
for general supervision of the kitchen, and all persons working in the kitchen (preparing 
food and/or handling kitchen equipment) must meet state and county requirements for 
school food handlers.  The user shall pay the District in accordance with the fee 
schedule for all cafeteria personnel. 

3. Payment of Fees

All users will be expected to pay permit fees in advance unless prior arrangements have 
been made with the Community School Program.  Failure to pay as per agreement may 
result in denial of access to the facility and denial of future requests. 

Checks should be made out to Boulder Valley School District/Facility Use and submitted 
to the Community School Program/Facility Use Department.  The Community School 
Program is responsible for depositing all fees and forwarding the appropriate 
information to the respective departments. 

4. Fee Revision

Fees are listed in Exhibit E-1 and are designed to reflect the guidelines of this regulation.  
These fees are subject to review and revision by the Superintendent. 
End of File: KF-R 

30 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 34Packet Page 62



ATTACHMENT F 
Site Maps and Ownership 

31 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 35Packet Page 63



CITY OF
BOULDER

BOULDER
VALLEY SCHOOL
DISTRICT RE-2J

CITY OF
BOULDER

COB Owns / Maintains / Schedules

BVSD Owns / Maintains / Schedules

BVSD using water from
COB tap, not metered
kj

Aurora7 Park

38
th 

St

39
th 

St

Gi
lpi

n D
r

E Aurora Av

O 12/7/2015, by Christina Spielman, Boulder Parks & Recreation

0 40 80 Yards1: Aurora 7 / BCSIS

Parcel Boundaries & Ownership

COB Owns / Maintains

COB Maintains / BVSD Owns

BVSD Owns / Maintains

BVSD Maintains / COB Owns

32 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 36Packet Page 64



BOULDER
VALLEY SCHOOL
DISTRICT RE-2J

BVSD Owns
COB Maintains
COB Schedules

BVSD Owns / 
Maintains / Schedules

When Built 
BVSD Owns / Maintains

COB Schedules
Track & Infield
M-F, 5-8:30pm

Sat., 8am-8:30pm

BVSD Owns / Maintains / Schedules

Orchard
Av

Poplar Av

Premier Pl

Norwood Av

CentennialTennis
Courts

O 12/7/2015, by Christina Spielman, Boulder Parks & Recreation

0 40 80 Yards2: Centennial Courts / School

Parcel Boundaries & Ownership

COB Owns / Maintains

COB Maintains / BVSD Owns

BVSD Owns / Maintains

BVSD Maintains / COB Owns

33 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 37Packet Page 65



CITY OF
BOULDER

BOULDER
VALLEY SCHOOL
DISTRICT RE-2J

COB Owns / Maintains / Schedules

BVSD Owns / Maintains / Schedules

BVSD Owns / Maintains
COB Schedules

ColumbinePark

Glenwood Dr

Floral Dr

20
th 

St

Forest Av

21
st 

St

22
nd

 St

O 12/7/2015, by Christina Spielman, Boulder Parks & Recreation

0 40 80 Yards3: Columbine Park / School

Parcel Boundaries & Ownership

COB Owns / Maintains

COB Maintains / BVSD Owns

BVSD Owns / Maintains

BVSD Maintains / COB Owns

34 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 38Packet Page 66



CITY OF
BOULDER

BOULDER
VALLEY SCHOOL
DISTRICT RE-2J

COB Owns / Maintains / Schedules

BVSD Owns
COB Maintains / Schedules

BVSD Owns / Maintains / Schedules

ArapahoeRidge Park

Holmes
Pl

Forsythe
Pl

Kellogg Cr

Jackson
Cr

Harrison Av

Hancock
Dr Ellsworth Pl

Gallatin Pl

Eis
en

ho
we

r D
r

O 12/7/2015, by Christina Spielman, Boulder Parks & Recreation

0 40 80 Yards4: Arapahoe Ridge / Eisenhower

Parcel Boundaries & Ownership

COB Owns / Maintains

COB Maintains / BVSD Owns

BVSD Owns / Maintains

BVSD Maintains / COB Owns

35 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 39Packet Page 67



CITY OF
BOULDER

COB Owns / Maintains / Schedules

ScottCarpenterPark

30
th 

St

Arapahoe
Av

Marine
St Marine St

29
th 

St
O 12/7/2015, by Christina Spielman, Boulder Parks & Recreation

0 40 80 Yards8: Scott Carpenter

Parcel Boundaries & Ownership

COB Owns / Maintains

COB Maintains / BVSD Owns

BVSD Owns / Maintains

BVSD Maintains / COB Owns

36 of 36

Attachment A

Agenda Item 3D     Page 40Packet Page 68



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1187 appointing 
the firm of CliftonLarsonAllen to examine the financial accounts of the City of Boulder 
for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Ron Gilbert, Assistant Controller 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Under Colorado law, the City Charter and various ordinances of the city of Boulder, the 
City Council is required to appoint an auditor to make a thorough and complete annual 
examination and audit of all the financial accounts of the city, as summarized in the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  This “Independent Auditor” also 
reports and makes recommendations regarding the results of that examination, as 
communicated in an audit management letter. 

During 2015, audit services were rebid for the five-year period beginning with the 2015 
audit and ending with the 2019 audit.  At the conclusion of the selection process in 2015, 
the City Audit Committee recommended appointment of the firm of CliftonLarsonAllen 
as the city’s auditor for the next five years subject to annual appropriation and approval. 

During the 2015 audit, CliftonLarsonAllen proved that they were well qualified as 
governmental accountants and auditors, exercising due care and diligence in the 
execution of their duties in an effective and efficient manner. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page 69



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 

The 2016 City Audit Committee recommends that City Council officially appoint the 
firm of CliftonLarsonAllen as the city’s independent auditors for fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2016 in the form of the following motion: 

Motion to adopt Resolution No. 1187 appointing the Firm of CliftonLarsonAllen to 
examine the financial accounts of the city of Boulder for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2016. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: The city is required by the city’s bond ordinances and many different
governmental agencies to have annual audits of the city’s financial statements and its
various grant programs.  The proposed audits are planned as a combined “single audit”
designed to satisfy all of those requirements.  Failure to have an audit would be a
violation of the bond requirements and could also negatively impact future grant
eligibility of the city.

 Environmental: CliftonLarsonAllen, a national firm with offices in many
locations.  The office that is servicing the city audit is out of the Denver area and
the staff and partners are all from local offices.  This reduces the carbon footprint
because it uses local resources.

 Social: There are no direct social implications of accepting the firm of
CliftonLarsonAllen as the city’s auditors.

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal – The proposed fee by CliftonLarsonAllen for the 2016 audit is $72,853

and has already been factored into the city budget.
 Staff time – Staff time for this process is included within the Finance

Department’s regular annual work plan.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

In 2015, after discussion and consideration of the proposals and input from the auditor 
interview committee, CliftonLarsonAllen was recommended as the city’s independent 
auditors for the five year engagement ending December 31, 2019, subject to annual 
appropriation and approval. 

The City Council Audit Committee for 2016 consists of Andrew Shoemaker, Sam 
Weaver, Bob Yates and University of Colorado Professor David Frederick.  The Council 
Audit Committee met with the auditors July 26, 2016 to review and discuss the 2015 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page 70



audit for the year ended December 31, 2015. Andrew Shoemaker met with City staff and 
CliftonLarsonAllen on July 19, 2016, to discuss the 2015 audit and results. The City 
Council Audit Committee unanimously recommended the appointment of 
CliftonLarsonAllen as the city’s independent auditors for the year ended December 31, 
2016. 

ANALYSIS 

CliftonLarsonAllen has performed the city’s audit for the fiscal year ending December 
31, 2015.  During performance of those services, the audit firm has demonstrated a 
thorough understanding of governmental accounting and auditing standards.  They have 
sought and provided appropriate communication with the City Council Audit Committee 
and have executed their duties in a responsible and professional manner. 

During the July 26, 2016 City Council Audit Committee meeting and after considerable 
discussion, the City Council Audit Committee unanimously agreed to recommend that 
City Council officially appoint the firm of CliftonLarsonAllen as the city’s independent 
auditors for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016, the second year of the five-year 
audit services engagement ending December 31, 2019. 

ATTACHMENT A Proposed Resolution 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page 71



ATTACHMENT A 

RESOLUTION  NO.  1187 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING THE FIRM OF 

CLIFTONLARSONALLEN TO EXAMINE THE 

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016. 

WHEREAS,  Sections 12 and 105 of the Charter and Chapter 2-2-7 B.R.C., 1981, require 

the City Council, by resolution, to appoint an auditor, who is a certified public accountant 

licensed to practice in the State of Colorado and is well informed regarding governmental 

accounting and auditing; and 

WHEREAS, the auditor is required to make a thorough and complete examination and 

audit of all the financial accounts of the city and report and make recommendations regarding the 

results of that examination; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council Audit Committee has recommended the firm of 

CliftonLarsonAllen. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, HEREBY APPOINTS THE FIRM 

CLIFTONLARSONALLEN TO PERFORM THE ANNUAL AUDIT OF THE 

CITY RECORDS FOR THE 2016 FISCAL YEAR. 

 APPROVED this 2nd day of August 2016. 

_______________________________ 

   Mayor 
ATTEST: 

City Clerk 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page 72



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1188 
accepting the City of Boulder’s 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
and Independent Auditor’s Report 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Ron Gilbert, Assistant Controller 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item provides council the ability to consider a motion to adopt a resolution 
(Attachment A) accepting the City of Boulder’s 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report (CAFR) and Independent Auditor’s Report.  As described below, the auditors 
expressed a clean opinion on the CAFR indicating that the financial statements accurately 
reported the financial position and operations of the city for the year ended December 31, 
2015.  In addition, City Council’s Audit Committee met with the Auditors on July 26, 2016 
and forwarded the CAFR on to the full City Council for consideration.  For ease of review 
of auditor comments, a single document has been compiled listing the entire comments and 
managements responses.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
The 2016 City Council Audit Committee recommended that the 2015 CAFR be 
forwarded to the full City Council for official consideration and acceptance in the form 
of the following motion: 

Motion to adopt Resolution No. 1188 accepting the City of Boulder’s 2015 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and Independent Auditor’s Report. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page 73



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: The city is required by Sections 12 and 105 of the City Charter and Chapter
2-2-7 B.R.C., 1981, the city’s bond ordinances and many different governmental
agencies to have an annual audit of the city’s financial statements and various grant
programs.  This audit is a combined “single audit” designed to satisfy all of those
requirements.  Failure to have an audit would be a violation of these requirements
and can negatively impact future interest rates on city borrowings, as well as grant
eligibility of the city.

 Environmental: Each year, the Finance Department encourages individuals and
entities to access the CAFR through the city’s web site and provides hard copies of
the report only as needed.  Over the last few years, this effort has succeeded in
reducing the number of hard copy reports printed, saving thousands of sheets of
paper.  In addition, the actual bound financial report is prepared using recycled
paper to help minimize the impact on the environment.  There are no other direct
environmental implications of accepting the CAFR and the auditor’s reports.

 Social: The users of the financial statements of the city have a variety of purposes
and needs.  These users include the public, legislative and oversight bodies, grantor
agencies, investors and creditors, and management.  Because of the specialized
needs of these report users, the financial statements include a variety of financial
information and extensive note disclosures.  This detailed information is provided
to increase transparency of the use and stewardship of the financial resources of the
city.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal:  The CliftonLarsonAllen fee for the 2015 audit was $70,945.  The
appropriation for these costs is included within the annual operating budget of the
Finance Department.

 Staff time: Staff time for this process is included within the Finance Department’s
regular annual work plan.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

The auditors met with the City Council Audit Committee on July 26, 2016.  Present were 
committee members Sam Weaver, Bob Yates and University of Colorado Professor David 
Frederick. Andrew Shoemaker met individually with City staff and CliftonLarsonAllen on 
July 19th, 2016 to discuss the 2015 audit and results. The committee recommended that the 
2015 audit be forwarded to full council. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page 74



BACKGROUND 

Based on the city charter the City Council is required to appoint an independent auditor to 
make a thorough and complete annual examination and audit of all the financial accounts 
of the city, as summarized in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  This 
independent auditor also reports and makes recommendations regarding the results of that 
examination, as communicated in the “Compliance Section” of the CAFR.  The 2015 audit 
has been completed and the City Council Audit Committee met with the city’s independent 
auditors, CliftonLarsonAllen and city staff to discuss the CAFR. 

This is the first year that CliftonLarsonAllen has performed the audit of the city. 
CliftonLarsonAllen was appointed by the City Council on October 20, 2015, after a lengthy 
and detailed selection process, to perform the annual audit of the city records for the year 
ended December 31, 2015, with four optional renewals for subsequent years.  The auditors 
expressed a clean opinion on the comprehensive annual financial report, indicating that the 
financial statements accurately reported the financial position and operations of the city for 
the year ended December 31, 2015.  The auditors also issued reports on internal controls 
and compliance with laws and regulations as required by various grant programs, laws and 
regulations.  These reports are found in the “Compliance Section” of the CAFR, starting 
on page 273.  

ANALYSIS 

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) is prepared annually to meet certain 
legal and regulatory requirements including the City Charter and various State Statutes.  In 
order to satisfy these requirements, the document becomes rather long and very detailed.   

The CAFR for fiscal year ending December 31, 2015 is 284 pages long and broken into 
five distinct sections.  With such a large document, it can be difficult to know where to 
start.  The following provides a brief overview of the sections and identifies areas of 
particular interest within each section the user may wish to review. 

Introductory Section: 

The Introductory Section includes the Letter of Transmittal starting on page 
5 which is a very useful document to read.  This letter provides general 
information on the city as well as information useful in assessing the current 
and future financial position of the city.   

Financial Section: 

The Financial Section includes the audit opinion, management’s discussion 
and analysis of the financial statements, the basic financial statements for 
the city, and the notes to the financial statements.   

The Auditor’s Opinion found on pages 17 to 19 is a “clean” opinion, 
indicating that the financial statements included in the 2015 CAFR are 
properly and fairly presented in all material respects. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page 75



Management’s Discussion and Analysis, pages 21 to 35, provides a broad 
analysis of the city’s finances.  It includes discussion and analysis of 
changes from 2014 to 2015 for the government wide financial statements, 
as well as General Fund budgetary highlights, changes in capital assets and 
the debt of the city, and various other significant matters.  

The basic financial statements, pages 39 to 69, provide information on 
specific funds or groups of funds.  Budget to actual reports for the four 
largest governmental funds (General Fund, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Fund, Transportation Fund and the Boulder Municipal Property Authority) 
are presented on pages 48 to 52.  Budget to actual reports for the other 
governmental funds are included in a subsequent section.   

The Enterprise Fund financial statements, including the utility funds, 
Downtown Commercial District (formerly CAGID), and other non-major 
enterprise funds are presented on pages 54 to 65. 

The Pension Trust Fund financial statements which include the “Old Hire” 
Police Defined Benefit Plan and the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan 
are presented on pages 68 to 69.  Details by individual plan are included in 
Note U in the Notes to the Financial Statements, pages 73 to 156. 
Additional information is included as required supplementary information 
on pages 158 to 167. 

The Notes to the Financial Statements, pages 73 to 156, contain detailed 
information on the various accounts, activities, and policies of the city.  Of 
particular interest is Note A – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.  
This note includes a wealth of information about the city’s reporting entity, 
why some organizations are included within the financial statements and 
others are not, various policies and practices used to account for city 
operations, and definitions for some of the accounting terms used within the 
report.  The other notes provide additional disclosures about specific 
accounts or occurrences during the year.  A table of contents for the notes 
is provided on page 72 for ease of reference. 

Combining and Individual Statements: 

This section provides detailed financial statements for funds not separately 
included within the Basic Financial Statements in the previous section. 
Balance sheets, operating statements and budget to actual statements are  
included on a fund by fund basis.  Also included on pages 232 and 233 is a 
detailed schedule of the outstanding long term debt of the city by 
governmental or business type activity. 

Statistical Section: 

The statistical section provides information on how the city’s financial 
position has changed over time, the city’s ability to generate its own 
revenues, the current debt burden and the ability to issue additional debt, 
various demographic and economic information and operating information 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page 76



to help assess the size of city operations.  A detailed table of contents on 
page 237 further explains the schedules included in this section. 

Compliance Section: 

The final section of the CAFR starting on page 271 presents information on 
the city’s federal grants and awards and the state highway finance report.  
Included within this section are the auditors’ reports on internal controls and 
compliance with the various grant requirements. 

By reading the Letter of Transmittal, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, and Note A 
of the Notes to the Financial Statements, the user will have a good overview of city 
operations for 2015 and a basic understanding of the statements.  The user can then delve 
more deeply into specific funds or operations as desired. 

As part of the year end process, an audit is performed on the CAFR and city financial 
operations.  The 2015 audit has been completed and the City Council Audit Committee has 
met with the city’s independent auditor CliftonLarsonAllen, and city staff to discuss the 
CAFR, including the auditor compliance reports and management responses.   

When findings or other recommendations are made by the auditors, management is given 
the opportunity to respond to each finding or recommendation.  The findings and 
recommendations of the 2015 audit, found within the compliance reports, is about 
compliance with specific grant requirements, internal controls (processing controls that 
safeguard the assets of the city or help maintain compliance with laws or regulations) and 
the adequacy of the controls.  A primary attribute of any control is that the cost of the 
control should not exceed the benefit of the control.  Therefore, management always takes 
into consideration the extent of the risk of the internal control not doing what it should and 
the cost of implementing more stringent controls.  

Representatives of CliftonLarsonAllen presented their audit results to the City Council 
Audit Committee.  The compliance and internal control findings, recommendations, and 
city responses thereto are included as Attachment B to this memorandum.  These will be 
evaluated again during the 2016 audit for any continuing concerns or problems.  

After due discussion and consideration, the City Council Audit Committee forwarded the 
CAFR, including the compliance reports to the full City Council for consideration at the 
August 2, 2016 council meeting. 

Attachments:  
ATTACHMENT A Proposed Resolution  
ATTACHMENT B Independent Auditor’s 2015 Schedule of Findings  
ATTACHMENT C 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

(Available in City Council Office, Central Records,  
Central Library Reference Desk, and online at 
www.bouldercolorado.gov under Finance Department, 
Financial Reporting) 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page 77

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


RESOLUTION NO. 1188 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE CITY OF 
BOULDER’S 2015 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL REPORT AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORTS  

WHEREAS,  Sections 12 and 105 of the Charter and Chapter 2-2-7 B.R.C., 1981, require 

the City Council, by resolution, to appoint an auditor, who is a certified public accountant 

licensed to practice in the State of Colorado and is well informed regarding governmental 

accounting and auditing; and 

WHEREAS, the auditor is required to make a thorough and complete examination and 

audit of all the financial accounts of the City, report thereon and make recommendations 

regarding the results of that examination; and 

WHEREAS, based upon review of the 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, 

Independent Auditor’s Reports and discussions with city staff and CliftonLarsonAllen,  the City’s 

Independent Auditor, the City Council Audit Committee recommends that City Council officially 

accept the: 

 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, and
 2015 Independent Auditor’s Reports

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, HEREBY ACCEPTS THE 2015 COMPREHENSIVE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT AND INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTS. 

 APPROVED this 2nd  day of August, 2016. 

_______________________________ 
       Mayor 

ATTEST: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page 78



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page 79



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page 80



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page 81



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page 82



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 11Packet Page 83



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 12Packet Page 84



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 13Packet Page 85



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 14Packet Page 86



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 15Packet Page 87



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 16Packet Page 88



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 17Packet Page 89



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 18Packet Page 90



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 19Packet Page 91



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 20Packet Page 92



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 21Packet Page 93



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 22Packet Page 94



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 23Packet Page 95



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 24Packet Page 96



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 25Packet Page 97



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 26Packet Page 98



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 27Packet Page 99



Attachment B: Independent Auditor’s Schedule of Findings

Agenda Item 3F     Page 28Packet Page 100



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

For the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2015 

Prepared by the Finance Department 

Contents printed on recycled paper. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 29Packet Page 101



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 30Packet Page 102



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

December 31, 2015 

Table of Contents 

Page 
INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

Table of Contents 1 
Letter of Transmittal 5  
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 13 
Principal Elected and Administrative Officials 14 
Organizational Chart 15 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
Independent Auditors’ Report 17 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 21 
Basic Financial Statements: 

Government-wide Financial Statements: 
Statement of Net Position 39 
Statement of Activities 40 

Fund Financial Statements: 
Governmental Funds: 

   Balance Sheet 42 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the 
 Government-wide Statement of Net Position 44 

   Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 45 
   Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-wide 
Statement of Activities 46 

   Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 

General Fund 48 
Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund 50 
Transportation Fund 51 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority 52 

Proprietary Funds: 
Statement of Net Position 54 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 58 
Statement of Cash Flows 60 

Pension Trust Funds: 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 68 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 69 

 Notes to the Financial Statements 71 
Required Supplementary Information: 

Schedule of Funding Progress – Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan 158 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 31Packet Page 103



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

Table of Contents 
(continued) 

       Page 
  Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related  
   Ratios – Police Pension Fund  159 
  Schedule of Employer Contributions – Police Pension Fund  160 
  Schedule of Investment Returns – Police Pension Fund  161 
  Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related 
   Ratios – Fire Pension Fund  162 
  Schedule of Employer Contributions – Fire Pension Fund  163 
  Schedule of Investment Returns – Fire Pension Fund  164 
  Notes to Required Supplementary Information – Actuarial Assumptions 165 
  Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Colorado PERA Net Pension Liability 166 
  Schedule of the Contributions and Ratios of the Colorado PERA Net Pension Liability 167 

Other Schedules: 
 Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules: 
  Combining General Fund Statements  
   Combining Balance Sheet 170 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 173 

    Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 

     Core General Fund 174 
     Library Fund 176 
     CHAP Fund 177 
  Nonmajor Governmental Funds: 
   Combining Balance Sheet 181 
   Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 183 

   Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds: 
    Combining Balance Sheet 184 
    Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 187 
    Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 
      Capital Development Fund 190  
      Lottery Fund 191 
      Planning & Development Services Fund 192 
      Affordable Housing Fund 193 
      .25 Cent Sales Tax Fund 194 
      Recreation Activity Fund 195  
      Climate Action Plan Tax Fund 196 
      Airport Fund 197 
      Transportation Development Fund 198 
      Transit Pass General Improvement District 199 
      Boulder Junction Access GID-TDM 200 
      Community Development Fund 201 
      HOME Fund 202  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 32Packet Page 104



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

Table of Contents 
(continued) 

       Page 
   Nonmajor Capital Project Funds: 
    Combining Balance Sheet 203 
    Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 204 
    Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances –  
     Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis): 
      Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund 205  
      Boulder Junction Improvement Fund 206 
      2011 Capital Improvement Fund 207 
      Capital Improvement CCS 208 
   Nonmajor Enterprise Funds:  
    Combining Statement of Net Position 212 

 Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 215 
 Combining Statement of Cash Flows 216 

   Internal Service Funds: 
    Combining Statement of Net Position 220 
    Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position 224 
    Combining Statement of Cash Flows 226 

 Supplementary Schedule: 
    Combined Schedule of Long-Term Debt Payable 232 

 
STATISTICAL SECTION 
 Index - Statistical Section 237 

Financial Trends: 
 Net Position by Component 238 
 Changes in Net Position 240 
 Fund Balances – Governmental Funds 244 
 Changes in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds 246 
Revenue Capacity: 
 Taxable Sales by Market Sector 248 
 Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates 250 
 Largest Sales Tax Remitters by Market Sector 253  
Debt Capacity: 
 Ratios of Net Outstanding Debt by Type 254 
 Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 256 
 Direct and Overlapping Debt 257 
 Legal Debt Margin Information 258 
 Pledged Revenue Coverage 260 
Demographic and Economic Information: 
 Demographic and Economic Statistics 262 
 Principal Employers 263 
Operating Information: 
 Full Time Equivalent City Employees by Functions/Programs 264 
 Operating Indicators by Function/Program 266 
 Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program 268 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 33Packet Page 105



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

Table of Contents 
(continued) 

        Page 
COMPLIANCE SECTION 

Single Audit Reports: 
 Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 271 
 Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 272 
 Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
   and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial  
  Statements Performed in Accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards 273 
 Independent Auditors’ Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program, Report on  
      Internal Control Over Compliance required by the Uniform Guidance  275  
 Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 277 
Local Highway Finance Report 282 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 34Packet Page 106



City of Boulder 
Finance Department 

1777 Broadway 
Boulder CO 80301 

303-441-3057 

July 11, 2016 

To: Members of the City Council, 
City Manager Jane Brautigam and the Residents of the City of Boulder 

Both the City of Boulder Charter and State law require that an audit of city financial records be 
conducted each year by an independent certified public accountant.  Such an audit has been 
performed and this report is being published as part of the requirement for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2015.  

Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information 
contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal controls that has been 
established for this purpose.  Because the cost of internal controls should not exceed anticipated 
benefits, the objective is to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial 
statements are free from any material misstatements. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the City of Boulder’s 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015.  The independent auditors’ report is 
located at the front of the financial section of this report. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditors’ 
report and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial 
statements.  The MD&A complements this letter and should be read in conjunction with it.   

PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT 

The City of Boulder is located in north central Colorado, approximately 25 miles northwest of 
Denver via the Denver-Boulder Turnpike (U.S. 36).  The city is located at the base of the 
foothills of the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains at an altitude of 5,354 feet.  Nestled at the 
foot of the Rockies, Boulder has a special beauty that is complemented by its diverse culture. 
Boulder has a diverse economy that is supported by computer, aerospace, scientific and research 
firms, the University of Colorado, and several federal laboratories.  

Superior educational and cultural resources make Boulder a fulfilling place to live, work, and 
play.  The city encompasses approximately 25.8 square miles and is the county seat of Boulder 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 35Packet Page 107



 
 

County.  The population of the city according to the 2015 City of Boulder Community Profile is 
104,810.  
 
The City of Boulder is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the 
State of Colorado.  In particular, the city is a home rule city and adopted a charter pursuant to 
Article XX of the Constitution of the State of Colorado by vote of the electorate on October 30, 
1917. 
 
The council/manager form of government was adopted in the city's charter and has been in 
operation since January 1918.  The City Council, an elected body of nine members, is the policy-
making arm of the government.  Eight of the members of the City Council are elected for 
staggered four-year terms and one is elected for a two-year term, with five council members 
elected in November of each odd-numbered year.  A City Manager, appointed by the City 
Council, serves as the city's chief administrative officer. 
 
The city provides a full range of services.  These services include police and fire protection; 
cultural and recreational facilities and events; open space and mountain parks acquisition and 
maintenance; environmental services; housing and human services; construction and 
maintenance of highways, streets and infrastructure; water, wastewater, and stormwater/flood 
control utilities; and parking facilities and services.   
 
Certain parking facilities and transportation management services are provided through legally 
separate entities, Downtown Commercial District, University Hill Commercial District, Boulder 
Junction Authority General Improvement District-Transportation Demand Management, and the 
Boulder Junction Improvement District.  In addition, acquisition and construction of certain city 
properties and facilities is provided by Boulder Municipal Property Authority.  These separate 
entities function, in essence, as separate departments of the City of Boulder, are governed by the 
City Council acting as the Board of Directors, and have therefore been included as blended 
components of the City of Boulder’s financial statements. 
 
Budgetary Process 
 
The City Charter includes provisions for proper budgeting, fiscal control, and auditing.  It 
requires the establishment and maintenance of a budgetary control system for general operations.  
The objective of budgetary control is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the 
annual appropriated budget, approved by the City Council, which serves as the foundation of the 
city’s financial planning and control.  The level of budgetary control (that is, the level at which 
expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount) is established at the fund level.  
The city budgets revenues and expenditures/expenses for all funds except the two Old Hire 
Pension Trust Fiduciary Funds and the Gifts and Contributions Fund.   
 
The city has implemented an annual budget process and adopts the coming year’s budget by 
December 1, as provided by state law.  The City of Boulder Charter established the time limits 
pertaining to the adoption of the budget.  The budget process and schedule of development is 
designed to fit within the Charter mandate and to allow for active and early participation by the 
City Council, with an emphasis on public input.  The city’s budget is developed throughout the 
year, but the bulk of the effort occurs during a nine month period beginning in February and 
ending in October.   The budget and annual Appropriation Ordinances for the ensuing term are 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 36Packet Page 108



 
 

generally adopted in October during public hearings. 
 
Any budget revisions affecting fund totals are adopted in a supplemental appropriation ordinance 
approved by the City Council.  The City Council may make additional appropriations or 
budgetary transfers during the fiscal year for unanticipated revenues received by the city.  City 
management, with the approval of the Central Budget Office, may also transfer budgeted 
amounts within a fund without City Council approval.  All appropriations lapse at year end.   
 
Detailed budget to actual comparisons are provided in this report for the General Fund and all 
annually budgeted special revenue and capital project funds.   

 
FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 
Pursuant to a vote in November of 2014, the sales and use tax rate changed on January 1st, 2015 
from 3.56% to 3.86%. The additional 0.30% tax was approved for a three year period and is 
earmarked for “Community Culture and Facilities.” Original projections for sales and use tax 
revenues for 2015 expected a 3.13% increase from 2014. Actual sales and use tax revenues for 
the City increased by 4.57% over 2014.  During 2015, Retail Sales Tax was up 4.59%, 
Business/Consumer Use Tax was down by 2.87%, Construction Use Tax was up by 12.27%, and 
Motor Vehicle Use Tax was up 9.55%.  Recreational marijuana was a new revenue source in 
2014. Excluding the revenues from recreational marijuana and normalizing for the 0.30% 
increase, retail Sales Tax Revenue would have had a more modest increase of 3.80%.  The 
increase in the Construction Use Tax is primarily due to a number of large one-time projects in 
2015 compared to 2014. The Motor Vehicle Use Tax continued to trend higher as the City 
continued to recover from the 2007-2009 Great Recession.  The Business Use Tax ended 2015 
downward due to the amount and timing of the purchase of capital assets by businesses in the 
City.  
 
Sales and use tax revenues in 2015 made up approximately 47% of the General Fund, 97% of the 
Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund and 76% of the Transportation Fund total revenues.   
 
The property tax base for 2015 was appraised at the 2014 actual value.  The assessed valuation 
for property within the City of Boulder increased from $2.599 billion in 2014 to $3.160 billion in 
2015, or 21.6%. Taxes levied against the 2015 assessed valuation will be collected in 2016.  In 
November 2008, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question which removed 
the remaining TABOR restriction on property tax revenues for 2009 and beyond.  This increase 
in retained taxes was limited to .5 mills per year until the full amount of the existing tax levy of 
11.981 mills was restored and retained.  During 2012, the remaining TABOR limitation was 
fully eliminated.  
 
Projections for the Future 
 
According to The Colorado Outlook Report, released March 18, 2016, economic growth in 
Colorado exhibited slower growth over the course of 2015. Much of the moderation in activity 
can be attributed to the sharp contraction in oil and gas activity. A strong dollar is also impacting 
some of the economic activity in the State, most notably in the tourism and agriculture industries.  
A very tight labor market is making it more difficult for employers to find workers for 
expansion. Despite these negative factors, there continues to be enough positive ingredients for 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 37Packet Page 109



 
 

Colorado’s economy to post stronger growth than the nation overall. The Northern Front Range 
section of Colorado (which includes the City of Boulder) accounts for nearly three-quarters of 
Colorado’s economy, continues to bolster overall indicators for the state. The region remains a 
center of innovation and entrepreneurship, population growth, a highly skilled workforce, and 
diverse industries producing higher valued products that are in demand in today’s economy. 
  
The national economy continued to post mostly modest growth. A stronger labor market and 
sustained consumer spending growth continued to propel the nation’s economy forward. Despite 
slower job growth over the past year, Colorado’s statewide unemployment rate continued to 
drop, registering 3.2 percent in January, the lowest since 2001. Job growth for the state is 
forecasted to be 2.6 percent in 2016, following growth of 3.5 percent and 3.1 percent in 2014 and 
2015, respectively. 

  
The change in March 2016 year-to-date sales and use tax revenue, including use tax compared to 
March 2015 is as follows: 
 

 
TAX CATEGORY 

% CHANGE IN REVENUE
Increase/(Decrease) 

 
% OF TOTAL

Sales Tax (0.35%) 72.97% 
Business/Consumer Use Tax 26.92% 12.79% 
Construction Use Tax 1.50% 11.32% 
Motor Vehicle Use Tax 7.92% 2.92% 
Total Sales & Use Tax 2.92% 100.00% 

 
The following information analyzes the results of the above sales and use tax chart: 
  

 Retail Sales Tax – Actual retail receipts were down 0.35% from that received in 2015. 
Retail sales tax started trending downward during the last half of 2015 and is being 
watched closely. The city has adequate reserves that provide time for staff to determine if 
this trend is short term in nature, or if it is longer term and revenue projections will need 
to be revised.  

 Business/Consumer Use Tax – Revenues are up by 26.92% from 2015.  This category 
can be volatile as it is associated primarily with the amount and timing of purchase of 
capital assets by businesses in the city and the amount and timing of audit revenue. A 
significant portion of this amount is one time in nature and is not expected to reoccur in 
future months.  

 Construction Use Tax – This category is up a modest 1.50% year to date.  This is another 
volatile tax category as it depends upon the number and timing of construction projects in 
any given period. Revenue in this category assumes “base” number of projects will 
continue indefinitely, plus revenue from large projects in the “pipeline” (based upon a 
review of information from the City Planning Department and the Colorado University 
Capital Improvement Plan). 

 Motor Vehicle Use Tax is up by 7.92% year to date.  Vehicles purchased by Boulder 
citizens, regardless of where in the state the vehicle is purchased, generate use tax 
revenues for the city.  As individuals and businesses became more confident about jobs 
and the economy, they have replaced their vehicles and thus reduced the agerage age of 
their fleet. 

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 38Packet Page 110



 
 

In the future, as revenues continue to recover, any proposed increases in expenditures will be 
evaluated based on Priority Based Budgeting, a decision making tool which helps the city make 
strategic recommendations regarding priorities for current and future funding changes.   By using  
the Priority Based Budgeting process, existing financial policies and the six-year planning model 
for operations, the city will  be able to maintain targeted fund balances, redirect any funding 
increases to the highest priority areas and ensure that operating revenues exceed ongoing 
operating expenditures each year. 
 
The actual percentages for 2014 and 2015, along with the 2016 sales tax projections for the City 
of Boulder and statewide forecasts from the Colorado Office of State Planning and Budgeting are 
as follows: 
 

Forecast 2014 
Actual 

2015 
Actual 

2016 
Projected

Base Sales/Use Tax - City of Boulder 6.24% 4.57% 2.65% 
Denver-Boulder-Greeley Consumer Price Index 2.80% 1.20% 1.80% 
Statewide Retail Sales Trade Growth 6.80% 3.90% 4.30% 
Statewide Personal Income Growth 5.80% 4.90% 4.90% 

  
 

THE IMPORTANCE OF SOUND STRATEGIC PLANNING 
 
The following narrative was extracted from the City Manager’s message found in the 2016 
Annual Budget, Volume I: 
 
Over the last three years, City Council has adopted a number of Master and Strategic Plans that 
reflect extensive public input in support of community priorities. This has helped to provide the 
road map for strategic investments. Based on those strategic plans, as well as a number of other 
studies and plan work in progress – such as the Fire Community Risk Assessment and flood 
mapping studies and mitigation plans – the city is moving forward to implement strategic 
investments in staffing and infrastructure, which will make the community more resilient in the 
face of economic challenges and environmental impacts.  
 
I am proud to say that the city’s leadership team has worked extensively this year on aligning 
resources with achieving community priorities, and working toward a long-term, citywide 
strategic plan, guided by the sustainability framework and in conjunction with the update to the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  
 
During 2015, the city continued to implement the financial policy of using one-time revenue 
only for one-time expenditures, which has served the city well during and since the last 
recession.  

 
MAJOR INITIATIVES 

 
Current economic conditions and long-term structural budget problems require that the City of 
Boulder conduct business in a new way, evaluate what services and programs can be provided, 
continue to focus on being as efficient as possible, and refine processes and systems to work with 
staffing levels that can be sustained over time.  In order to address these economic and structural 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 39Packet Page 111



 
 

realities, a Priority Based Budgeting approach was implemented as part of the 2011 budget 
process and was continued in 2012 and 2013.  Starting in 2014, Priority Based Budgeting was 
the sole framework used in all decisions to determine the set of services and programs that were 
provided to the community and continued in 2015. 
 
The 2016 Capital Improvements Program (CIP) includes proposed funding of $74.4 million for 
115 projects. The entire six-year (2015-20) CIP includes proposed funding of $407.5 million for 
163 projects. The city is spending the majority, over 82% of its 2016 capital funds on capital 
maintenance and enhancement of its existing assets. CIP funding varies year to year depending 
on the type and cost of projects recommended for funding in that year and the amount of external 
funding received. Highlights of the six-year plan include $126.5 million for Water Utility related 
projects, $61.4 for Storm Water and Flood Utility related projects, $58.0 million for Wastewater 
Utility related projects, $56.3 million for Transportation related projects and $49.1 million for 
Open Space related projects.    
 
In November 2014, Boulder voters approved the Community, Culture and Safety tax, a three-
year 0.3 percent sales and use tax increase. The ballot language projected that the revenue from 
this temporary tax increase will yield $27.6 million for specific projects to improve community 
spaces, bolster cultural projects and organizations, and enhance safety. The ballot language 
established the temporary tax increase for the periods January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017. 
Highlights of the selected projects include: a) $8.7 million for capital improvements for the 
Boulder Civic Area to create a more vibrant and active urban park and civic area, b) $5.13 
million for capital improvements to Boulder Creek Path, c) $3.85 million to improve the Dairy 
Center for the Arts, d) $4.0 million for capital improvements at the Museum of Boulder 
conditional to certain conditions being met, e) $3.27 million for capital improvements in the 
University Hill District. In total, 13 projects will be implemented with the sales and use tax 
funds. More information on these projects can be found at the City’s website 
(https://bouldercolorado.gov/city-manager/community-culture-safety).   
  
 
Planned capital expenditures will be financed using revenues from current rates and charges, 
plant investment and connection fees, bond proceeds from a $49.0 million bond sale in March 
2012, and future rate and fee increases. 
 
 
The City of Boulder capital improvement program is available online on the city’s website 
(www.bouldercolorago.gov) under the Finance Department budget page.   
 
 

 
OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 
Debt Ratings 
 
During 2014, the city’s general obligation credit ratings were established as Aa1 by Moody’s 
Investors Service and AAA by Standard & Poor’s.  The primary reasons cited in the past for 
these high rating levels have been the general strength of the Boulder economy, its 
distinctiveness from the general Denver metropolitan economy, and the lesser reliance of the 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 40Packet Page 112



 
 

city’s General Fund on sales taxes when compared with other Colorado municipalities. 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT 

 
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the city for its 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.  
This was the twenty-sixth consecutive year that the city has achieved this prestigious award and 
the thirty-fourth year in total.  In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a 
government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR.  This report must 
satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.  We believe our current 
CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we are 
submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. 
 
In addition, the city also received the GFOA’s Distinguished Budget Presentation Award for its 
2015 budget document.  In order to qualify for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award, the 
government’s budget document had to be judged proficient as a policy document, a financial 
plan, an operations guide, and a communications device. 
 
Another important accomplishment for the City of Boulder is the Award for Outstanding 
Achievement for producing a Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR) for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2014. This is again only valid for a period of one year and is awarded by the 
GFOA.  This report is a useful tool for residents to obtain a greater understanding of the role of 
the city’s government. The intent is to provide a report that is informative and easy to 
understand.   
 
We are proud of this continuing commitment to provide complete and reliable information to the 
residents of the City of Boulder. 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
 
The preparation of this report could not be accomplished without the efficient and dedicated 
services of the entire Finance Department staff.  We would like to express our appreciation to all 
members of the department who assisted and contributed in its preparation.  We also thank the 
Mayor, City Council Members, City Council Audit Committee Members, and the City Manager 
for their interest and support in planning and conducting the financial operations of the city in a 
responsible and progressive manner.   
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Ronnie Gilbert 
Assistant Controller 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 41Packet Page 113



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 42Packet Page 114



Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 43Packet Page 115



Mayor: Suzanne Jones

Mayor Pro Tem Mary Young

Council Members: Matthew Appelbaum
Aaron Brockett
Jan Burton
Lisa Morzel
Andrew Shoemaker
Sam Weaver
Bob Yates

City Manager: Jane Brautigam

Deputy City Manager: Mary Ann Weideman

Chief Financial Officer: Bob Eichem

Director of Finance: Cheryl Pattelli

Controller: Duane Hudson

 

Administrative

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Principal Elected and Administrative Officials

At December 31, 2015

Mayor and City Council

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 44Packet Page 116



Community

City Council

Assistant City Manager
Mary Ann Weideman

City Attorney
Tom Carr

Municipal Judge
Linda Cooke

City Manager
Jane S. Brautigam

Finance
Cheryl Pattelli

Fire/Rescue
Michael Calderazzo

Police 
Greg Testa

Human Resources
Joyce Lira

Downtown-Univ. Hill 
Mgmt. and Parking Svcs.

Molly Winter

Dev. and Support 
Services

Maureen Rait

Transportation
Tracy Winfree

Utilities
Jeffrey Arthur

Communications
Patrick Von 
Keyserling

Open Space/Mt. Parks
Tracy Winfree

(Interim)

Housing
David Driskell

(Interim)

Information 
Technology
Don Ingle

Human Services
Karen Rahn

Municipal Court
James Cho
(Interim)

Library and Arts
David Farnan

City Clerk
Alisa Lewis

Parks & Recreation
Jeff Dillon
(Interim)

Chief Financial Officer
Bob Eichem

Executive Director of 
Community Planning and 

Sustainability

Executive Director of 
Public Works
Maureen Rait

Resilience 
Greg Guibert

Policy Advisor
Carl Castillo

Exec. Dir. of Energy Strat. 
& Elec. Utility Dev.

Heather Bailey

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 45Packet Page 117



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 46Packet Page 118



Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Government Auditing Standards

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

An independent member of Nexia International

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 47Packet Page 119



Opinions

Emphasis of Matters 
Implementation of GASB Statement Nos. 68 and 71 

Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Pensions Pension Transition for Contributions Made 
Subsequent to the Measurement Date

Corrections of an error 

Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 48Packet Page 120



Other Information 

Code of Federal Regulations
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 

Awards

Government Auditing Standards
Government Auditing Standards

Government Auditing Standards

a 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 49Packet Page 121



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 50Packet Page 122



City of Boulder, Colorado 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

December 31, 2015 

This section of the City of Boulder’s (the city) financial statements provides a narrative overview 
and analysis of its financial activities for the year ended December 31, 2015.  We encourage 
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information 
that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal at the front of this report and the city’s 
financial statements, which follow this section.  All amounts within this comprehensive annual 
financial report are expressed in thousands of dollars unless otherwise indicated.  

Financial Highlights 

 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the city exceeded its liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources at the close of 2015 by $1,044.6 million ($632.7 million in
governmental activities net position and $411.9 million in business-type activities net
position).  Of the governmental activities net position total, $38.2 million, or 6%, is
unrestricted and may be used to meet the city’s ongoing obligations to the public and
creditors. Similarly, $68.1 million, or 17%, of business-type activities net position is
unrestricted.

 Total net position of the city decreased $41.8 million, or 4%, compared to 2014. Net
position of the city’s governmental activities decreased $35.6 million, which represents a
decrease of 5% from 2014. Net position of the city’s business-type activities decreased
$6.3 million, or 2%, from 2014. These changes do not incorporate the restated beginning
2015 balances. See Note A15 for further details.

 Total revenues, excluding transfers and extraordinary items, increased $20.1 million, or
7%, to $324.4 million compared to 2014. Governmental activities revenues increased
$15.6 million, or 7%, to $249.3 million, while revenues of business-type activities
increased $4.5 million, or 6%, to $75.1 million compared to 2014.

 The total expenses of all the city’s programs, excluding transfers and extraordinary items,
increased $14.3 million, or 6%, to $260.0 million compared to 2014. The expenses of
governmental activities programs increased $15.6 million, or 8%, to $209.8 million,
while the expenses of business-type activities decreased $1.3 million, or 3%, from 2014
to $50.2 million.

 As of December 31, 2015, the city’s governmental funds reported a combined ending
fund balance of $162.4 million. Approximately 56%, or $91.5 million, is unrestricted
fund balance and, therefore, available for spending at the city’s discretion within the
purposes specified for the city’s funds.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 51Packet Page 123



  

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the city’s basic financial 
statements. The city’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: (1) 
government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements and (3) notes to the financial 
statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic 
financial statements. 
 
Government-wide financial statements – The government-wide financial statements are designed 
to provide readers with a broad overview of the city’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-
sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the city’s assets and deferred 
outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference 
between the four reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the city is improving or 
deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the city’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the 
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in 
cash flows in future fiscal periods (for example, uncollected taxes and earned, but unused 
vacation leave). 
 
Both the statement of net position and statement of activities distinguish functions of the city that 
are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) 
from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through 
user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the city include 
general government, administrative services, public safety, public works including streets and 
transportation, planning and development services, culture and recreation, open space and 
mountain parks, housing and human services, interest on long-term debt and the Boulder 
Municipal Property Authority’s acquisition of open space and parks property. The business-type 
activities of the city include water utility, wastewater utility, storm water and flood management 
and parking facilities and services. 
 
Fund financial statements – A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The city, 
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the city can be divided 
into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary (Pension Trust) funds. 
 
Governmental funds.  Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, 
unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus 
on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable 
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the 
city’s near-term financing requirements. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 52Packet Page 124



  

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the city’s near-term financial 
decisions. Both the governmental funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of 
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 
Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are generally used to account for services for which the city 
charges customers – either outside customers or internal units or departments of the city. 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as shown in the government-wide 
financial statements, only in more detail. The city maintains the following two types of 
proprietary funds: 
 

 Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. The city uses enterprise funds to 
account for the operations of the Water Utility, Wastewater Utility, Storm Water and 
Flood Management and Downtown Commercial District funds.  These are considered to 
be major funds of the city. In addition, the University Hill Commercial District and 
Boulder Junction GID are accounted for as non-major enterprise funds. 

 
 Internal Service funds are used by the city to account for the costs of acquiring, 

operating and maintaining certain types of equipment and facilities, costs for city-wide 
insurance programs and funding for certain governmental fund compensated absences 
liabilities. Because these services predominantly benefit governmental rather than 
business-type functions, the assets and liabilities of the internal service funds have been 
included within governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. 
Internal service funds are combined into a single, aggregated memo presentation in the 
proprietary fund financial statements. The internal service funds consist of 
Telecommunications, Property and Casualty Insurance, Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance, Compensated Absences, Fleet, Computer Replacement, Equipment 
Replacement and Facility Renovation and Replacement.   Individual fund data for the 
internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements in the “Combining 
and Individual Statements” section. 
 

Fiduciary funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement 
annuity payments at appropriate amounts and times in the future.  Resources are contributed by 
employees and the city at amounts determined by biennial actuarial studies and by State law. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other information – In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this 
report also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the city’s progress in 
funding its obligation to provide pension benefits to its police and firefighters and provide 
healthcare benefits for retirees. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 53Packet Page 125



  

The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds 
and internal service funds are presented immediately following the required supplementary 
information on pensions.  Included are budgetary comparison schedules for all annually 
budgeted non-major special revenue and capital project funds.   
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the city’s financial 
position. Our analysis below focuses on the net position and changes in net position of the city’s 
governmental and business-type activities. 
 
Table 1 - Net Position (dollars in thousands)

2015 2014* 2015 2014* 2015 2014*

Current and other assets 278,366$  264,189$  124,675$  78,644$    403,041$      342,833$     
Capital assets 642,275    571,112    407,475    427,152    1,049,750     998,264       
    Total assets 920,641    835,301    532,150    505,796    1,452,791     1,341,097    

Deferred outflows of resources 14,084      250           5,094        3,143        19,178          3,393           

Noncurrent liabilities 147,979    113,256    101,939    85,882      249,918        199,138       
Other liabilities 116,499    23,025      22,052      3,656        138,551        26,681         
    Total liabilities 264,478    136,281    123,991    89,538      388,469        225,819       

Deferred inflows of resources 37,590      31,014      1,325        1,213        38,915          32,227         

Net position:
    Net investment in capital assets 521,402    494,209    343,555    345,149    864,957        839,358       
    Restricted 65,690      61,410      273           269           65,963          61,679         
    Unrestricted 45,565      112,637    68,100      72,770      113,665        185,407       
Total net position 632,657$  668,256$  411,928$  418,188$  1,044,585$   1,086,444$  

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Primary Government

 
* 2014 amounts were not restated for MD&A purposes due to information not being available 
for all components. See Note A15 for further details. 
 
Table 1 presents an analysis of the city’s net position as of December 31, 2015.  The city’s assets 
exceeded its liabilities by $1,044.6 million at the close of the current fiscal year. By far the 
largest portion of the city’s net position (83%) reflects its investment of $865.0 million in capital 
assets (for example, land, buildings, transportation infrastructure, machinery and equipment, 
utility plant in service and underground drainage facilities), less any related debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding. The city uses these capital assets to provide services to the 
public; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the city’s 
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources 
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 54Packet Page 126



  

An additional portion of the city’s net position, $66.0 million (6%), represents resources that are 
subject to restrictions as to how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net 
position, $113.7 million (11%), may be used to meet the city’s on-going obligations to the public 
and creditors. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the city reported positive balances in all three categories of 
net position, both for the government as a whole as well as for its separate governmental and 
business-type activities. Net investment in capital assets increased $25.6 million, or 3%, 
compared to 2014. This increase is due to new bonds issued in 2015 as well as capital project 
costs related to repairs from the September 2013 flood, including a large utility project, 
additional funding in Transportation and the installation of parking garage access equipment. 
Restricted net position increased $4.3 million, or 7%, compared to 2014. This was largely due to 
the new capital improvement fund.  The $71.7 million, or 39%, decrease in unrestricted net 
position during 2015 was due in large part to new defined benefit plan reporting requirements for 
GASB 68. 
 
It is important to note that approximately $48.0 million in governmental unrestricted net position 
arises from the net position of the city’s internal service funds, discussed above in “Overview of 
the Financial Statements – Proprietary Funds.” Although it is highly unlikely that these funds 
will be liquidated, in the event that they are, the distribution of the net position of these funds 
would result in a portion of these unrestricted net positions being liquidated to unrestricted net 
position of governmental activities and unrestricted net position of business-type activities. 
 
Analysis of Changes in Net Position 
 
As can be seen from Table 2, the city’s net position increased by $64.4 million during 2015. This 
increase is explained in the governmental and business-type activities discussion below.   
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Net position of governmental activities increased by $36.8 million during 2015, accounting for 
57% of the total increase in the city’s net position. This increase was $3.7 million less than the 
$40.4 million increase in net position in 2014. 
 
Revenues during 2015 increased by $15.6 million compared to 2014.  The continuing strength of 
the economy, a 0.03 sales and use tax rate increase beginning in 2015 and recreational marijuana 
revenue contributed to a $15.0 million rise in sales and use taxes.  Other taxes increased by $2.5 
million primarily due to a full year of recreational marijuana excise taxes and increased 
development. Charges for services decreased $0.8 million. Operating and capital grant revenue 
decreased by $0.8 million and $2.7 million, respectively, compared to 2014 primarily due to 
increased FEMA reimbursements for 2013 flood damage received in 2014.  
 
Expenses increased $15.6 million in 2015 compared to 2014.  Administrative Services expenses 
fell $1.0 million because of additional salary and computer software costs partially due to large 
software replacement projects that were no longer needed in 2015. A $3.6 million increase in 
Housing and Human Services expenses was related to development or improvement of 
permanently affordable housing units in 2015 as compared to 2014. Public Works expenses 
increased $1.7 million primarily due to increase in general fund transportation expense. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 55Packet Page 127



  

Charts 1 and 2 illustrate the city’s governmental expenses and revenues by function and its 
revenues by source. As can be seen in Chart 1, Public Safety is the largest function based on 
expenses (24%), followed by Public Works (19%) and Culture and Recreation (15%).  General 
revenues such as sales and use taxes, property and other taxes are not shown in Chart 1 by 
program, but are used to support program activities citywide and included in Chart 2. For 
governmental activities overall, without regard to program, sales and use taxes are the largest 
single source (53%), followed by charges for services (16%) and property taxes (12%).  
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 56Packet Page 128



  

Table 2 - Changes in Net Position (dollars in thousands)

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Program revenues:

Charges for services 38,788$   39,616$   65,142$   50,132$   103,930$     89,748$        
Operating grants and contributions 11,400     12,213     1,931       -               13,331         12,213          
Capital grants and contributions 6,175       8,906       5,665       17,983     11,840         26,889          

General revenue:   
Sales and use taxes 131,323   116,316   -               -               131,323       116,316        
Property taxes 30,846     30,353     1,178       2,013       32,024         32,366          
Other taxes 26,358     23,858     69            66            26,427         23,924          
Interest and investment earnings 1,097       906          486          324          1,583           1,230            
Miscellaneous revenue 1,008       1,437       45            65            1,053           1,502            
Gain on sale of capital assets 2,313       99            562          -               2,875           99                 
     Total revenues 249,308   233,704   75,078     70,583     324,386       304,287        

Program expenses (includes indirect expenses allocation):
Governmental activities:

General Government 13,436     22,406     -               -               13,436         22,406          
Administrative Services 6,742       7,655       -               -               6,742           7,655            
Public Safety 50,190     50,662     -               -               50,190         50,662          
Public Works 39,117     37,406     -               -               39,117         37,406          
Planning and Development Services 14,033     6,041       -               -               14,033         6,041            
Culture and Recreation 32,247     30,819     -               -               32,247         30,819          
Open Space and Mountain Parks 20,922     16,774     -               -               20,922         16,774          
Housing and Human Services 23,400     19,795     -               -               23,400         19,795          
Interest on long-term debt 9,750       2,679       -               -               9,750           2,679            

Business-type activities:
Water Utility -               -               22,546     22,644     22,546         22,644          
Wastewater Utility -               -               13,550     14,703     13,550         14,703          
Stormwater and Flood Management -               -               6,873       6,812       6,873           6,812            
Parking Services -               -               6,583       6,892       6,583           6,892            
Property and Facility Acquisition -               -               618          463          618              463               
     Total expenses 209,837   194,237   50,170     51,514     260,007       245,751        

Excess before extraordinary items and  transfers 39,471     39,467     24,908     19,069     64,379         58,536          
Extraordinary items -               956          -               -               -                   956               
Transfers (2,711)      (11)           2,711       11            -                   -                   

Increase in net position 36,760     40,412     27,619     19,080     64,379         59,492          
Net position, beginning of year 595,897   627,844   384,309   399,108   980,206       1,026,952     
Restatement, see Note A15 -           (72,359)    -           (33,879)    -               (106,238)      
Net position, beginning of year, as restated 595,897   555,485   384,309   365,229   980,206       920,714        

Net position, end of year 632,657$ 595,897$ 411,928$ 384,309$ 1,044,585$  980,206$      

Governmental Business-type Total Primary Government

 
  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 57Packet Page 129



  

 
 
 
 

 
  

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

in
 M

ill
io
n
s

Chart 1:  2015 Expenses and Program Revenues ‐ Governmental 
Activities

Expenses

Program Revenues

Sales and use taxes
53%

Property taxes
12%

Other taxes
11%

Interest and 
invest. earnings

0%

Miscellaneous 
revenue

0%

Gain on sale of 
capital assets

1%

Charges for 
services
16%

Operating grants and 
contributions

5%

Capital grants and 
contributions

2%

Chart 2:  2015 Revenues by Source ‐ Governmental Activities

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 58Packet Page 130



  

Business-type Activities 
 
Net position in business-type activities increased $27.6 million in 2015. This increase was $8.5 
million more than the $19.1 million increase in net position in 2014. 
 
Total business-type revenues increased $4.5 million, or 6%, compared to 2014. Capital grants 
and contributions decreased by $12.3 million in 2015 mainly due to FEMA reimbursements for 
2013 flood damage.   
 
Expenses of business-type activities decreased by $1.3 million, or 3% compared to 2014, mainly 
because of flood recovery work. 
 
As can be seen from Charts 3 and 4, the city’s water utility and wastewater utility activities 
account for the majority of its business-type activities, representing 73% of total business-type 
activities expenses. Charges for services provide the largest share of revenues (87%), followed 
by capital grants and contributions (8%) and property taxes (3%). 

 

$0

$5,000

$10,000

$15,000

$20,000

$25,000

$30,000

$35,000

Water Utility Wastewater Utility Stormwater and
Flood Mgmt

Parking Services Property and
Facility Acquisition

Chart 3: 2015 Expenses and Program Revenues ‐ Business‐type Activities

Expenses

Program Revenuesin
 M

il
li
o
n
s

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 59Packet Page 131



  

 
 

 
Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds 

 
As noted earlier, the city uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the city’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows and balances of resources that are available for spending. Such information is useful in 
assessing the city’s financing requirements. In particular, unrestricted fund balance may serve as 
a useful measure of the city’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
Types of governmental funds reported by the city include the General Fund, Special Revenue 
Funds, Debt Service Funds and Capital Project Funds. 
 
As of December 31, 2015, the city’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund 
balances of $162.4 million, an increase of $7.2 million, or 5%, from the prior year. The fund 
balance of the General Fund increased $3.5 million to $54.6 million at December 31, 2015. 
General Fund revenues grew by $4.7 million, primarily because of overall improvements in the 
economy.  Increased consumer spending, a 0.03 sales tax rate increase and recreational 
marijuana tax led to a $2.6 million rise in sales and use taxes. Fund expenditures increased by 
$6.1 million due to expansion of services.  Administrative Services increased $1.7 million also 
due to staffing increase in HR, Finance and the City Manager’s Office.  Housing and Human 

Sales and use taxes
0%

Property taxes
1%

Other taxes
0%

Interest and invest. 
earnings

1%

Charges for services
87%

Miscellaneous 
revenue

0%

Operating grants and 
contributions

3%
Capital grants and 
contributions

8%

Chart 4:  2015 Revenue by Source ‐ Business‐type 
Activities

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 60Packet Page 132



  

Services increased $2.0 million mainly due to development, redevelopment or improvement of 
affordable housing units and the position of Housing Director being filled.  Public Safety 
expenditures increased $2.6 million mainly due to increased personnel costs and the purchase of 
materials and equipment. 
 
The Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund’s fund balance increased $5.8 million in 2015.  
Revenues grew by $1.3 million due to an increase in sales and use taxes from increased 
economic activity.  Expenditures decreased by $0.7 due to decreased debt service payments.  
 
The fund balance of the Transportation Fund fell by $1.1 million in 2015.  Revenues decreased 
by $1.4 million while expenditures increased by $5.3 million.  Transportation receives funding 
from CDOT for infrastructure projects as they are completed.  The increase in expenditures is 
due to the implementation of a pavement management program and capital projects. 
 
Other governmental fund balances fell by $1.9 million. This decrease was primarily due 
inclusion of the 2011 Capital Improvement Fund with increased spending.  
 
Approximately $91.5 million or 56% of the combined ending fund balance in the governmental 
funds constitutes unrestricted fund balance available for spending at the city’s discretion within 
the purposes specified for each of the funds. The remainder of fund balance is either non-
spendable or restricted to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already 
been committed for specific purposes. This non-spendable or restricted fund balance is 
comprised of: (1) fund balance not in spendable form such as prepaid expenses, inventory for 
consumption, and permanent endowments - $0.2 million; (2) limitations imposed on use of funds 
by external laws and regulations - $10.8 million; (3) restrictions for capital projects - $13.7 
million; (4) restrictions for future development - $43.1 million; (5) restricted for expenditure on 
lottery authorized parks and recreation projects - $2.5 million and (6) restrictions placed on the 
funds by donors - $0.7 million. 
 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the city.  At the end of 2015 the unrestricted 
fund balance of the General Fund was $52.1 million, while total fund balance was $54.6 million.  
Unrestricted fund balance includes fund balance committed by city council, assigned by city 
management, and unassigned fund balance as disclosed in the Governmental Funds Balance 
Sheet.  As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it is useful to compare unassigned fund 
balance to total fund expenditures and transfers out.  In 2015, unassigned fund balance of $42.7 
million represents 35% of total general fund expenditures and transfers out of $120.3 million. 
General Fund unassigned fund balance as a percentage of total expenditures and transfers out 
was 35% in 2014.  
 
The Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund and the Transportation Fund are special revenue 
funds, with 100% of their fund balance either restricted or assigned.  With the exception of 
negative fund balances which must be reported as unassigned, special revenue funds do not have 
unassigned fund balances since the act of accounting for the revenues within a special revenue 
fund assigns them to that fund’s purpose.  The Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund revenues 
are derived from sales taxes approved by the voters and other restricted revenue sources. 100% 
of the fund balance for Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund is restricted for acquisition and 
maintenance of the city’s open space.  The total fund balance of the Open Space and Mountain 
Parks Fund was $35.8 million at December 31, 2015, an increase of $5.8 million from 2014.  The 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 61Packet Page 133



  

Transportation Fund’s revenue sources are generally restricted except for investment income.  As 
of December 31, 2015, the Transportation Fund’s restricted fund balance was $4.4 million and 
$10.9 million was assigned for special purposes.  The total Transportation fund balance was 
$15.3 million at December 31, 2015, a $1.1 million decrease from 2014.  
 
In the 2015 budget year, the City Council maintained a minimum target for unassigned General 
Fund balance of 15% of expenditures and transfers out, excluding expenditures funded by grants. 
This minimum undesignated fund balance is available for emergency purposes, stabilization of 
funding of programs during periods of temporary revenue declines or temporary funding of 
programs to allow for controlled reductions in expenditures in periods of extended or permanent 
revenue reductions. The target amount of 15% was met in 2015. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
As already discussed, the city’s proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information 
found in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
As of December 31, 2015, the unrestricted net position of the Water Utility Fund was $27.6 
million, the Wastewater Utility Fund was $11.4 million, the Storm Water and Flood 
Management Fund was $16.7 million, the Downtown Commercial District Fund was $6.7 
million and the non-major enterprise funds was $.9 million. The total decrease in net position for 
the proprietary funds was $6.7 million. Factors concerning the changes in these funds have 
already been addressed in the discussion of the city’s business-type activities. 
 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
The city’s final budget differs from the original budget in that it contains carry-forward 
appropriations for various programs and projects and supplemental appropriations approved 
during the fiscal year. The final budget for General Fund appropriations including transfers out 
for 2015 was $17.8 million greater than the original budget. The primary reasons for this 
difference are related to the following increases: 
 

 $2.0 million for recreational marijuana education and enforcement 
 $1.0 million for project and grant carryover 
 $5.0 million for operating carryover in significant initiative investment areas 
 $2.0 million for unanticipated grant revenue including FEMA reimbursements 
 $0.5 million for outdated Fire Alerting system 

 
On a basis consistent with the adopted budget, actual revenues and transfers in were $2.7 million, 
or 2%, less than the final budget. Actual expenditures and transfers out were $25.3 million, or 
20%, less than the final budget. The net effect of these differences along with the extraordinary 
item was a favorable variance in actual revenues and expenditures to the fiscal year-end 
budgeted fund balance of $22.7 million. The primary factors contributing to this favorable 
variance include the following: 
 

 $0.6 million less in sales and use tax revenues 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 62Packet Page 134



  

 $3.0 million reimbursement that was budgeted as revenue was accounted for as a 
reduction of expenses 

 $3.0 million less in expenditures for the downpayment on the purchase of the Boulder 
Community Hospital site but was reimbursed by Certificates Of Participation proceeds 

 $6.0 million less in expenditures related to potential municipation of the electric utility 
being carried into 2016 

 $1.0 million less in expenditures related to public safety  
 $1.0 million less in expenditures related to community vitality 
 $0.5 million less in expenditures related to finance 
 $1.5 million less in expenditures related to timing of several capital projects in public 

safety 
 $1.6 million less in expenditures related to the space renovation of the Boulder 

Community Hospital site  
 Various smaller variances in and expenditures 

 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets   
 
As can be seen from Table 3, the city’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and 
business-type activities as of December 31, 2015 amounts to $1,049.8 million (net of 
accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, 
improvements, park facilities, transportation infrastructure, utility plant in service and 
undergrounds, water rights, underground drainage facilities, machinery, equipment and vehicles. 
The net increase in the city’s investment in capital assets was $51.5million (5%) from 2014. Net 
capital assets of governmental activities increased $71.2 million (12%) and those of business-
type activities decreased $19.7 million (4.6%). 
 
Table 3 - Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation (dollars in thousands)

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Land and easements 307,000$     282,810$     43,347$       62,676$       350,347$     345,486$     
Buildings 61,120         54,808         21,777         25,889         82,897         80,697         
Improvements other than buildings 50,320         42,431         3,215           3,446           53,535         45,877         
Infrastructure 108,822       108,615       5                  -                   108,827       108,615       
Utility plant in service and  undergrounds -                   -                   313,570       315,895       313,570       315,895       
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 21,048         21,855         4,940           5,751           25,988         27,606         
Construction in progress 93,965         60,593         20,621         13,495         114,586       74,088         
     Total 642,275$     571,112$     407,475$     427,152$     1,049,750$  998,264$     

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Primary Government

 
Some of the major capital asset activities during 2015 included the following:  
 

Governmental activities: 
 Construction in progress of several transportation infrastructure projects, 

including: Broadway reconstruction (Violet to US 36), Diagonal 28th-30th 
reconstruction and Pearl Parkway Multi use path - $4.8 million 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 63Packet Page 135



  

 Acquired the Boulder Community Health hospital campus with the issuance 
of Certificates of Participation (COP’s) - $40 million 

 Construction began on Dairy Center renovation - $1.3 million 
 Main Library Renovation project completed - $ 4.8 million 
 Completion and replacement of Substandard bridges, Structures, and Signs - 

$2.4  million 
 Completion of Transportation Transit system and pedestrian enhancements -  

$1.8 million 
 Several land acquisitions by OSMP – $2.8 million and Transportation - $ 1.5 

million  
 New radio frequency identification (RFID)  equipment installed February 

2015 at Main Library - $0.380 million 
 Completion of park shelter replacements and improvements -  $2.3 million 
 Boulder Reservoir Infrastructure Improvements - $ 3.3 million  
 Completion of Flatirons Golf Course Irrigation replacement - $3.5 million 
 New vehicle purchases - $2.0 million 
 Recognition of $17.0 million in depreciation expense 

 
 Business-type activities: 

 Land acquisition - $1.5 million 
 Wastewater  utility construction projects in progress including: WWTF 

Nitrogen Upgrade project and IBM Lift station improvements - $ 1.0 million    
 Water Utility construction projects in progress including: Betasso WTF 

project, the city’s distribution waterline replacement and the Sunshine 
transmission pipeline replacements - $ 5.8 million    

 Flood mitigation projects have begun for Wonderland Creek and Fourmile 
Canyon Creek - $1.2 million 

 Kossler Reservoir Concrete Facing rehabilitation - $ 1.0 million 
 CAGID Garage Improvements - $0.3 million 
 Recognition of $10.0 million in depreciation expense 

 
Additional information on the city’s capital assets can be found in Note I to the Financial 
Statements. 
 
Debt Administration 
 
Table 4 summarizes the city’s bonded debt as of the end of 2015 and 2014. At December 31, 
2015, the city had total bonded debt (including certificates of participation) of $178.7 million. Of 
this amount, $79.9 million consisted of general obligation debt backed by the full faith and credit 
of the city. Another $91.3 million represents bonds secured solely by specified revenue sources 
(revenue bonds and certificates of participation).  The remaining $7.4 million relates to pension 
obligation bonds.  The pension obligation bonds are not backed by either specified revenue 
sources or taxes.  The decreases in the bonds this year are directly related to payments that the 
city makes on a semi-annual basis.  During 2015, the city issued $22 million Storm Water and 
Flood Management Revenue Bonds Series 2015, $10 million Water and Sewer Revenue Bond 
Series 2015, and $41 million Boulder Municipal Property Authority Taxable Certificates of 
Participation Series 2015.  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 64Packet Page 136



  

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
General obligation bonds 70,793$         79,610$         9,133$           10,778$         79,926$         90,388$         
Revenue bonds -                     -                     91,294           66,341           91,294           66,341           
Pension obligation bonds 7,443             7,812             -                     -                     7,443             7,812             

     Total bonded debt 78,236$         89,436$         100,427$       77,119$         178,663$       166,555$       

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Primary Government

Table 4 - General Obligation Bonds, Revenue Bonds and Certificates of Participation Outstanding (dollars in thousands)

  
 
The city’s general obligation credit rating is Aa1 by Moody’s Investor Services, Inc. and AA+ by 
Standard & Poor’s Corporation. Under the City Charter, the city’s general obligation debt 
issuances are subject to a legal limitation based on 3% of the total assessed value of real and 
personal property. The city’s general obligation debt is issued as sales tax revenue bonds 
enhanced by a general obligation pledge of the full faith and credit of the city.  The city does not 
currently levy an ad valorem property tax for debt service even though authorized to do so.  As a 
result, all bonded debt is considered to be self-supporting and the ratio of net bonded debt 
supported solely by property taxes to assessed valuation is zero. 
 
Additional information on the city’s bonded debt can be found in Note O to the Financial 
Statements. 
 
Other Significant Matters 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
The city suffered from severe flood conditions in September 2013.  The current damage estimate 
to the city’s infrastructure is $28 million.  The city received $1.0 million in insurance 
reimbursements during 2014 and this is included in the extraordinary item line of the financial 
statements.  In 2014 and 2015, in governmental activities only, the city incurred $6.4 million of 
flood related expenditures. The city expects to be reimbursed for 87.5% (75% FEMA, 12.5% 
State) of FEMA eligible expenses. Not all of the $28 million will be eligible for FEMA 
reimbursement.  
 
Business-type Activities 
 
As described above, the city suffered from severe flood conditions in September 2013.  In 2014 
and 2015, in business-type activities only, the city incurred $7.7 million of flood related 
expenditures. The city expects to be reimbursed for 87.5% (75% FEMA, 12.5% State) of FEMA 
eligible expenses. Not all of the flood repair costs will be eligible for FEMA reimbursement. 
  
 
Contacting the City’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide the public, taxpayers, customers, investors and 
creditors with a general overview of the city’s finances and to show the city’s accountability for 
the funds and assets it receives. If you have questions about this report, or need additional 
financial information, contact the Assistant Controller of the City of Boulder Finance 
Department at 1777 Broadway, Boulder, CO 80302. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 65Packet Page 137



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 66Packet Page 138



 
 
 
 
 
 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 67Packet Page 139



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 68Packet Page 140



Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents $ 17,527        $ 9,360          $ 26,887          
Investments 187,628      66,654        254,282        
General property tax receivable 37,572        1,321          38,893          
Sales tax receivable 15,028        -                 15,028          
Notes receivable 153             -                 153               
Other receivables (See Note H) 10,589        8,334          18,923          
Restricted investments 9,487          38,751        48,238          
Inventory of materials and supplies 67               255             322               
Other assets 315             -                 315               
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation):
    Land and easements 307,000      43,347        350,347        
    Buildings 61,120        21,777        82,897          
    Improvements other than buildings 50,320        3,215          53,535          
    Infrastructure 108,822      5                 108,827        
    Utility plant in service and undergrounds -                 313,570      313,570        
    Machinery, equipment and vehicles 21,048        4,940          25,988          
    Construction in progress 93,965        20,621        114,586        
        Total assets 920,641      532,150      1,452,791     

Deferred outflows of resources 14,084        5,094          19,178          

Liabilities:
Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable 8,688        2,828        11,516         

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

V p y , , ,
    Contracts and retainage payable 1,308          517             1,825            
    Accrued liabilities 5,287          3,484          8,771            
Intergovernmental 668             -                 668               
Internal balances 5,353          (5,353)        -                   
Other liabilities 2,781          1,147          3,928            
Unearned revenue 413             -                 413               
Water rights liability -                 1,127          1,127            
Noncurrent liabilities:
    Due within one year 11,855        10,514        22,369          
    Due in more than one year 136,124      91,425        227,549        
Net pension liability 92,001        18,302        110,303        
        Total liabilities 264,478      123,991      388,469        

Deferred inflows of resources: 37,590        1,325          38,915          

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 521,402      343,555      864,957        
Restricted for:
    Legally restricted 13,033        173             13,206          
    Capital projects 10,876        100             10,976          
    Development 38,473        -                 38,473          
    Lottery funds 2,497          -                 2,497            
    Donor restrictions 711             -                 711               
    Endowment 100             -                 100               
Unrestricted 45,565        68,100        113,665        
        Total net position $ 632,657      $ 411,928      $ 1,044,585     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 69Packet Page 141



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Activities

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

Governmental activities:
General Government $ 13,436        $ 9,563          5,737$         $ -                    
Administrative Services 6,742          1,039          -                    -                    
Public Safety 50,190        675             375               -                    
Public Works 39,117        1,658          2,545            6,175            
Planning & Development Services 14,033        8,654          138               -                    
Culture and Recreation 32,247        11,576        1,526            -                    
Open Space and Mountain Parks 20,922        798             (302)             -                    
Housing and Human Services 23,400        4,825          1,381            -                    
Interest on long-term debt 9,750          -                  -                    -                    

Total governmental activities 209,837      38,788        11,400         6,175            
Business-type activities:

Water utility 22,546        28,813        396               2,756            
Wastewater utility 13,550        19,583        115               1,943            
Stormwater and flood management 6,873          10,530        1,420            966               
Parking facilities and services 6,583          6,216          -                    -                    
Property and facility acquisition 618             -                  -                    -                    

Total business-type activities 50,170        65,142        1,931            5,665            
Total government $ 260,007      $ 103,930      $ 13,331         $ 11,840          

General revenues:

Program Revenues

    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes
        General property taxes
        Accomodation taxes
        Franchise taxes
        Specific Ownership & Tobacco taxes
        Excise taxes
    Interest and investment earnings
    Miscellaneous
    Gain on Sale of Capital Assets
Transfers
    Total general revenues,
        transfers and extraordinary item
            Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year, as restated
Net position, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 70Packet Page 142



Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ 1,864          $ -                  $ 1,864             
(5,703)         -                  (5,703)           

(49,140)       -                  (49,140)         
(28,739)       -                  (28,739)         

(5,241)         -                  (5,241)           
(19,145)       -                  (19,145)         
(20,426)       -                  (20,426)         
(17,194)       -                  (17,194)         

(9,750)         -                  (9,750)           
(153,474)     -                  (153,474)       

-                  9,419          9,419             
-                  8,091          8,091             
-                  6,043          6,043             
-                  (367)            (367)              
-                  (618)            (618)              
-                  22,568        22,568           

(153,474)     22,568        (130,906)       

Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

131,323      -                  131,323         
30,846        1,178          32,024           

7,019          -                  7,019             
12,777        -                  12,777           

2,109          69               2,178             
4,453          -                  4,453             
1,097          486             1,583             
1,008          45               1,053             
2,313          562             2,875             

(2,711)         2,711          -                     

190,234      5,051          195,285         
36,760        27,619        64,379           

595,897      384,309      980,206         
$ 632,657      $ 411,928      $ 1,044,585      

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 71Packet Page 143



Open Space Boulder
& Mountain Trans- Municipal Other Total

General Parks portation Property Governmental Governmental
Assets Fund Fund Fund Authority Funds Funds

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 1,332       $ 1,121             $ 618           $ 301                 $ 6,897               $ 10,269             
Investments 50,082     27,819           16,365      -                     48,112             142,378           
Receivables:
    General property taxes 34,671     -                    -               -                     2,901               37,572             
    Sales and use taxes 7,587       3,004             2,560        -                     1,877               15,028             
    Accounts 1,499       56                  59            -                     145                  1,759               
    Notes -              -                    -               153                 -                       153                  
    Accrued interest 112          65                  40            4                     121                  342                  
    Intergovernmental 1,468       106                6,444        -                     157                  8,175               
    Other 9              -                    -               -                     -                       9                      
        Total receivables 45,346     3,231             9,103        157                 5,201               63,038             
Advances to other funds 210          -                    -               -                     -                       210                  
Inventory of materials and supplies 15            -                    1              -                     51                    67                    
Restricted assets:
    Investments for special purposes 1,232       4,604             -               -                     851                  6,687               
    Investments for capital  projects -              -               798                 2,002               2,800               
        Total restricted assets 1,232       4,604             -               798                 2,853               9,487               
Other assets -              -                    -               -                     11                    11                    

$ 98,217     $ 36,775           $ 26,087      $ 1,256              $ 63,125             $ 225,460           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

December 31, 2015

         Total assets 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 72Packet Page 144



Open Space Boulder
& Mountain Trans- Municipal Other Total

General Parks portation Property Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Authority Funds Funds

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 2,707       $ 468                $ 2,117        $ -                     $ 2,309               $ 7,601               
        Contracts and retainage payable -              12                  541           -                     680                  1,233               
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts -                     
            withheld from employees 2,862       376                236           -                     671                  4,145               
    Intergovernmental 668          -                    -               -                       668                  
    Advances from other funds 1,442       -                    -               -                     210                  1,652               
    Other liabilities 154          -                    1,881        -                     501                  2,536               
    Unearned revenue 381          -                    -               -                     32                    413                  
            Total liabilities 8,214       856                4,775        -                     4,403               18,248             
  
Deferred inflows of resources:
    Property tax 34,671     -                    -               -                     2,901               37,572             
    Grants and other deferrals 778          131                5,998        153                 146                  7,206               
Deferred inflows of resources 35,449     131                5,998        153                 3,047               44,778             

Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
        Prepaid -              -                    -               -                     11                    11                    
        Inventory 15            -                    1              -                     51                    67                    
        Endowment 100          -                    -               -                     -                       100                  
    Restricted for:
        Legally restricted 992          -                    4,437        1,103              4,294               10,826             
        Capital projects 1,186       -                    -               -                     12,490             13,676             
        Development -              35,745           -               -                     7,305               43,050             
        Lottery funds -              -                    -               -                     2,497               2,497               
        Donor restrictions 137          35                  -               -                     539                  711                  
    Committed to:
       Affordable housing -              -                    -               -                     7,468               7,468               
       Transportation projects -              -                    -               -                     2,884               2,884               
    Assigned to:
        Special purposes 9,238       8                    10,876      -                     18,136             38,258             
        Contractual obligations 212          -                    -               -                     -                       212                  
    Unassigned 42,674     -                    -               -                     -                       42,674             
            Total fund balances 54,554     35,788           15,314      1,103              55,675             162,434           

$ 98,217     $ 36,775           $ 26,087      $ 1,256              $ 63,125             $ 225,460           
 Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 

 resources and fund balances 

 Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and 
Fund Balances 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 73Packet Page 145



Total governmental fund balances $ 162,434       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and are not
reported in the funds.

Capital assets - governmental funds 930,531       
Accumulated depreciation - governmental funds (346,632)      
Net book value of capital assets in governmental funds 583,899       

Deferred inflows and deferred outflows of resources related to pensions are applicable to future periods
and therefore, are not reported in the funds.  
Also, some liabilities including net pension obligations, are not due and payable in the current period
and therefore, are not reported in the funds.

PERA net pension liability (86,382)        
Police net pension liability (2,140)          
Fire net pension liability (862)             
Deferred inflows related to pensions: PERA (18)               
Deferred outflows related to pensions:
     PERA 11,799         
     P"Old Hire"  Police Defined Benefit Plan 978              
     P"Old Hire" Fire Defined Benefit Plan 779              (75,846)        

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
to the Government-wide Statement of Net Position

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of insurance, capital asset
replacement and other activities to individual funds.  The majority of the assets and liabilities of 
the internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the statement of net position. 92,794         

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable and bonds interest payable, are not due and
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds. (137,829)      

Because the focus of governmental funds is on short-term financing, some assets will
not be available to pay for current-period expenditures.  Those assets (for example,
receivables) are offset by unearned revenues in the governmental funds and thus are
not included in fund balance.

Intergovernmental revenues 7,205           7,205           

Net position of governmental activities $ 632,657      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 74Packet Page 146



Open Space Boulder
 & Mountain Trans- Municipal Other Total

General Parks portation Property Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Authority Funds Funds

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 58,108     $ 29,512    $ 25,147      $ -                  $ 18,556          $ 131,323     
General property taxes 28,394     -             -               -                  2,452            30,846       
Accomodation taxes 7,019       -             -               -                  -                    7,019         
Franchise taxes 10,959     -             -               -                  1,813            12,772       
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 2,109       -             -               -                  -                    2,109         
Excise taxes 1,382       -             -               -                  3,071            4,453         

Charges for services 4,743       152         -               -                  15,985          20,880       
 Sale of goods 83            -             34             -                  1,152            1,269         

Licenses, permits and fines 6,002       186         -               -                  6,817            13,005       
Intergovernmental 2,951       112         7,087        152             2,045            12,347       
Leases, rents and royalties 290          249         160           1,597          1,844            4,140         
Interest and investment earnings 288          167         101           8                 263               827            
Other 1,284       200         529           -                  583               2,596         

    Total revenues 123,612   30,578    33,058      1,757          54,581          243,586     

Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 12,265     -             -               40,710        102               53,077       
Administrative Services 8,480       -             -               -                  -                    8,480         
Public Safety 52,789     126         -               -                  -                    52,915       
Public Works 5,901       -             35,225      -                  4,988            46,114       
Planning & Development Services 2,701       -             -               -                  11,562          14,263       
Culture and Recreation 13,462     -             -               -                  19,503          32,965       
Open Space and Mountain Parks 189          20,645    -               -                  165               20,999       
Housing and Human Services 9,517       -             -               -                  13,762          23,279       

Capital outlay -               -             -               -                  9,750            9,750         
Debt service payments:  

Principal 2,995       3,530      -               1,451          2,166            10,142       
Interest 2,171       850         -               180             65                 3,266         
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal
    Property Authority -               1,701      -               -                  -                    1,701         
        Total expenditures 110,470   26,852    35,225      42,341        62,063          276,951     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 13,142     3,726      (2,167)      (40,584)       (7,482)           (33,365)      

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets -               756         1,214        -                  -                    1,970         
Premium on bonds issued -               -             -               561             -                    561            
Long-term loans issued -               -             -               41,000        -                    41,000       
Transfers in 152          1,282      150           174             5,575            7,333         
Transfers out (9,812)      (12)         (279)         (161)            (32)                (10,296)      

Total other financing  
sources (uses) (9,660)      2,026      1,085        41,574        5,543            40,568       

Net change in fund balances 3,482       5,752      (1,082)      990             (1,939)           7,203         

Fund balances, beginning of year, as restated 51,072     30,036    16,396      113             57,614          155,231     

Fund balances, end of year $ 54,554   $ 35,788  $ 15,314    $ 1,103        $ 55,675          $ 162,434   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 75Packet Page 147



Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 7,203           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported
as depreciation expense.

Governmental Activities capital asset additions 70,681         
Governmental Activities capital asset deletions (3,299)          
Internal Service Funds capital asset additions (4,043)          
Internal Service Funds capital asset deletions 2,015           
Governmental Activities depreciation retirement 21                
Governmental Activities capital asset depreciation expense (10,816)        54,559         

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt
increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.  Repayment of debt principal
is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities
in the statement of net position.  This amount is the net effect of these differences in the 
treatment of long-term debt, net pension liabilities and pension related items. (30,672)        

Some revenues reported in the statement of activities are not available as current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as revenues in governmental funds.
Negative amounts indicate a decrease in accruals between fiscal years.

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-wide Statement of Activities

Negat ve a ou ts d cate a dec ease acc ua s betwee sca yea s.
Examples are revenues from special assessments, property taxes and notes receivable.

Intergovernmental revenue 4,023           4,023           
 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of insurance, capital
asset replacement and other activities to individual funds.  A portion of the net revenue
of the internal service funds is reported with governmental activities.

Allocation of net profit 1,647           

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 36,760       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 76Packet Page 148



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 77Packet Page 149



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 54,634        $ 56,134         $ 58,108       $ 1,974         
General property taxes 29,162        29,162         28,394       (768)           
Accomodations taxes 6,355          6,355           7,019         664            
Franchise taxes 10,915        10,988         10,959       (29)             
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1,734          1,734           2,109         375            
Excise taxes 150             150              1,382         1,232         

Charges for services 4,854          5,029           4,743         (286)           
 Sale of goods 92               108              83              (25)             

Licenses, permits and fines 6,106          6,106           6,002         (104)           
Intergovernmental 1,129          1,990           2,951         961            
Leases, rents and royalties 177             258              290            32              
Interest and investment earnings 398             398              418            20              
Other 108             501              1,688         1,187         

    Total revenues 115,814      118,913       124,146     5,233         
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 23,253        27,218         9,587         17,631       
Administrative Services 12,216        14,124         12,618       1,506         
Public Safety 52,106        54,318         51,828       2,490         
Public Works 5,836          6,706           6,128         578            
Planning & Development Services 2,341          4,263           2,757         1,506         
Culture and Recreation 12,869        14,493         13,473       1,020         
Open Space and Mountain Parks 149             149              149            -                 
Housing and Human Services 9,129          14,052         8,993         5,059         

Debt service payments:
Principal 2,995          2,995           2,995         -                 
Interest 2,110          2,284           2,110         174            
        Total expenditures 123,004      140,602       110,638     29,964       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (7,190)         (21,689)       13,508       35,197       

(continued)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 
in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

(Budgetary Basis)

General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2015

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 78Packet Page 150



Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 14,775        14,729         6,763         (7,966)        
Transfers out (15,513)       (15,726)       (15,693)      33              

Total other financing sources (uses) (738)            (997)            (8,930)        (7,933)        

Net change in fund balance $ (7,928)       $ (22,686)     4,578        $ 27,264     

Encumbrances, end of year 1,495         
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 52,676       
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 58,749       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (68)             
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (2,894)        
Advances to other funds 210            
Advances from other funds (1,443)        

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 54,554      

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 79Packet Page 151



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
T

(Amounts in 000's)

 Taxes:
Sales and use taxes $ 28,468        $ 28,468       $ 29,512       $ 1,044         

Charges for services 129             129            152            23              
Licenses, permits and fines 148             148            186            38              
Intergovernmental -                  85              112            27              
Leases, rents and royalties 105             105            249            144            
Interest and investment earnings 101             101            240            139            
Other 28               28              200            172            

    Total revenues 28,979        29,064       30,651       1,587         
Expenditures:Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Safety 87               87              126            (39)             
Open Space and Mountain Parks 22,785        42,360       21,627       20,733       

Debt service payments:
Principal 3,160          3,530         3,530         -                 
Interest 637             850            850            -                 
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal Property
    Authority Debt Service Fund 1,701          1,701         1,701         -                 

Total expenditures 28 370 48 528 27 834 20 694        Total expenditures 28,370      48,528     27,834      20,694      
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures 609             (19,464)      2,817         22,281       
Other financing sources (uses):

Sale of capital assets -                  -                 756            756            
Transfers in 1,302          1,282         1,282         -                 
Transfers out (1,349)         (1,360)        (12)             1,348         

Total other financing sources (uses) (47)              (78)             2,026         2,104         

Net change in fund balance $ 562             $ (19,542)      4,843         $ 24,385       

Encumbrances, end of year 1,145         
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 30,215       
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 36,203       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (39)             
Accrued salaries, wages and amountsAccrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (376)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 35,788       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 80Packet Page 152



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Transportation Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 23,934        $ 23,934       $ 25,147       $ 1,213         
 Sale of goods -                  -                 34              34              

Intergovernmental 4,839          23,895       7,087         (16,808)      
Leases, rents and royalties 103             103            160            57              
Interest and investment earnings 28               28              144            116            
Other 423             423            529            106            

Total revenues 29 327 48 383 33 101 (15 282)    Total revenues 29,327      48,383     33,101      (15,282)    
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 28,723        59,587       46,505       13,082       
        Total expenditures 28,723        59,587       46,505       13,082       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 604             (11,204)      (13,404)      (2,200)        

Other financing sources (uses):
Sales of capital assets 1,430          1,430         1,214         (216)           
Transfers in -                  150            150            -                 
Transfers out (1,938)         (1,938)        (279)           1,659         

Total other financing sources (uses) (508)            (358)           1,085         1,443         

Net change in fund balance $ 96             $ (11,562)    (12,319)     $ (757)         

Encumbrances, end of year 11,316       

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 16,574       
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 15,571       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (21)             
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (236)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 15,314      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 81Packet Page 153



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Boulder Municipal Property Authority

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 161             $ 161              $ 161            $ -                 
Leases, rents and royalties 1,701          1,701           1,701         -                 
Interest and investment earnings -                  -                  4                4                

    Total revenues 1,862          1,862           1,866         4                
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government -                  41,561         40,710       851            
Debt service payments:p y

Principal 1,451          1,451           1,451         -                 
Interest 250             424              180            244            
        Total expenditures 1,701          43,436         42,341       1,095         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 161             (41,574)       (40,475)      1,099         

Other financing uses:
Long-term refunding bonds issued -                  -                  41,000       41,000       
Premium on long-term refunding bonds issued -                  -                  561            561            
T f i 174 174Transfers in -                174            174            -               
Transfers out (161)            (161)            (161)           -                 

Total other financing sources (uses) (161)            13                41,574       41,561       

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ (41,561)     1,099         $ 42,660     

Encumbrances, end of year -                 
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting -                 
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,099Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,099         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Interest receivable on notes 4                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,103         

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 82Packet Page 154



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 83Packet Page 155



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Assets:
Current assets:

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 631              $ 2,324         $ 3,722          
Investments 34,598         13,832       11,001        
Receivables:
    General property taxes -                  -                -                 
    Accounts 555              401            13               
    Charges for services 1,482           1,484         920             
    Accrued interest 84               29              28               
    Intergovernmental 566              285            2,456          
        Total receivables 2,687           2,199         3,417          
Advances to other funds 64               -                -                 
Inventory of materials and supplies 250              4                1                 
Other assets - prepaid expenses -                  -                -                 

Total current assets 38,230         18,359       18,141        

Noncurrent assets:
Advances to other funds 530              -                -                 
Restricted assets:
    Investments for bond reserves 2,102           680            2,316          
    Investments for capital projects 101              10,142       23,098        
        Total restricted assets 2,203           10,822       25,414        
Capital assets:Capital assets:
    Land and easements 21,723         2,009         16,838        
    Buildings 1,399           2,339         775             
    Improvements other than buildings 179              417            990             
    Infrastructure -                  -                -                 
    Utility plant in service -                 
    Undergrounds - drainage facilities 286,307       144,018     69,634        
    Vehicles 2,394           2,128         1,208          
    Machinery and equipment 2,340           1,259         345             

314,342       152,170     89,790        
        Less accumulated depreciation (112,724)     (59,305)      (22,749)      

201,618       92,865       67,041        
    Construction in progress 7,596           3,110         9,887          
Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 209,214       95,975       76,928        

Total noncurrent assets 211,947       106,797     102,342      

Total assets 250,177       125,156     120,483      

Deferred outflows of resources
    Deferred outflows 1,490           2,774         387             
        Total deferred outflow of resources 1,490           2,774         387             

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 251,667       $ 127,930     $ 120,870      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 84Packet Page 156



Governmental
Downtown Nonmajor Total Activities -

Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Internal
District Funds Funds Service Funds

$ 1,776            $ 907           $ 9,360         $ 7,258        
6,868            355           66,654       45,250      

1,152            169           1,321         -               
8                   -                977            64            
-                    -                3,886         -               

16                 2               159            113           
5                   -                3,312         127           

1,181            171           9,655         304           
2                   -                66              149           
-                    -                255            -               
-                    -                -                 304           

9,827            1,433        85,990       53,265      

10                 -                540            699           

312               -                5,410         -               
-                    -                33,341       -               

312               -                38,751       -               

2,333            444           43,347       117           
38,848          -                43,361       89,250      

5,956            58             7,600         8,621        
-                    -                -                 468           
6                   -                6                -               
-                    -                499,959     -               

102               90             5,922         31,830      
1,404            247           5,595         10,883      

48,649          839           605,790     141,169    
(23,866)         (292)          (218,936)    (83,959)    
24,783          547           386,854     57,210      

28                 -                20,621       1,166        
24,811          547           407,475     58,376      
25,133          547           446,766     59,075      

34,960          1,980        532,756     112,340    

400               43             5,094         460           
400               43             5,094         460           

$ 35,360          $ 2,023        $ 537,850     $ 112,800    

(continued)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 85Packet Page 157



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Net Position,
continued

Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable $ 1,227           $ 997            $ 517             
    Contracts and retainage payable 310              184            23               
    Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
        withheld from employees 275              195            97               
    Accrued interest 67               144            61               
Accrued claims liability -                  -                -                 
Advances from other funds -                  -                -                 
Other liabilities 688              105            280             
General obligation bonds payable -                  -                -                 
Revenue bonds payable 4,655           2,835         1,245          
Capitalized lease obligations -                  -                -                 
Compensated absences payable 60               77              11               

Total current liabilities 7,282           4,537         2,234          

Noncurrent liabilities:
Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Accrued landfill cleanup liability -                  2,474         -                 
    Accrued claims liability -                  -                -                 
Future water rights 1,127           -                -                 
Advances from other funds - - -Advances from other funds                                                
General obligation bonds payable
    (net of premium) -                  -                -                 
Revenue bonds payable
    (net of premium) 15,581         44,146       22,832        
Capitalized lease obligations -                  -                -                 
Compensated absences payable 473              321            99               
Net pension liability 8,090           5,375         2,784          
Retiree health care benefit 125              96              35               

Total noncurrent liabilities 25,396         52,412       25,750        

Total liabilities 32,678         56,949       27,984        
 
Deferred inflows of resources 2                 1                1                 

 
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 191,319       59,539       76,165        
Restricted for:
    Legally restricted - emergency reserve -                  -                -                 
    Capital projects 100              -                -                 
Unrestricted 27,568         11,441       16,720        

Total net position $ 218,987     $ 70,980     $ 92,885        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 86Packet Page 158



Governmental
Downtown Nonmajor Total Activities -

Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Internal
District Funds Funds Service Funds

$ 74                 $ 13             $ 2,828         $ 1,087        
-                    -                517            75            

  
55                 13             635            91            

103               -                375            -               
-                    -                -                 1,047        
-                    2               2                -               

64                 10             1,147         245           
1,590            -                1,590         -               

-                    -                8,735         -               
-                    -                -                 585           

10                 -                158            31            
1,896            38             15,987       3,161        

 

-                    -                2,474         -               
-                    -                -                 1,134        
-                    -                1,127         -               
- 10 10 -                    10           10                         

7,544            -                7,544         -               

-                    -                82,559       -               
-                    -                -                 8,242        

128               7               1,028         60            
1,742            311           18,302       2,617        

62                 6               324            34            
9,476            334           113,368     12,087      

11,372          372           129,355     15,248      

1,152            169           1,325         -               
 
 

15,986          546           343,555     49,550      

167               6               173            -               
-                    -                100            -               

6,683            930           63,342       48,002      

$ 22,836          $ 1,482      407,170   $ 97,552    

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation
    of internal service fund activities
    related to enterprise funds 4,758         
Net position of 
    business-type activities $ 411,928   

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 87Packet Page 159



 
Stormwater

Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Operating revenues:
    Charges for services $ 28,747         $ 19,304     $ 10,227        
    Sale of goods 7                  -               -                  
        Total operating revenues 28,754         19,304     10,227        

Operating expenses:
    Personnel 7,407           4,794       2,539          
    Non-personnel 8,333           4,997       3,373          
    Depreciation 4,544           2,867       1,019          
        Total operating expenses 20,284         12,658     6,931          

            Operating income (loss) 8,470           6,646       3,296          

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):  
    Interest and investment earnings 223              78            143             
    Leases, rents and royalties 59                -               -                  
    Intergovernmental revenue 396              115          1,420          
    General property taxes -                   -               -                  
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -                   -               -                  
    Interest expense (786)             (1,120)      (48)              

Contribution expense - future water rights (1 686) - -

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

    Contribution expense  future water rights (1,686)                                       
    Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets 562              279          303             
    Other, net 21                -               16               
        Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (1,211)          (648)         1,834          

        Income before capital 
        Income before capital contributions and transfers 7,259           5,998       5,130          

Capital contributions 2,756           1,944       966             
Transfers in 971              -               -                  
Transfers out (279)             (240)         (152)            

        Changes in net position 10,707         7,702       5,944          

Total net position, beginning of year, as restated 208,280       63,278     86,941        

Total net position, end of year $ 218,987       $ 70,980     $ 92,885        

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 88Packet Page 160



Governmental
Downtown Nonmajor Total Activities -
Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Internal

District Funds Funds Service Funds

$ 5,798          $ 157             $ 64,233        $ 18,536        
-                 -                 7                 113             

5,798          157             64,240        18,649        

1,515          257             16,512        2,361          
3,202          331             20,236        9,102          
1,531          30               9,991          6,260          
6,248          618             46,739        17,723        

(450)           (461)           17,501        926             

38               4                 486             270             
261             -                 320             140             

-                 -                 1,931          35               
1,100          78               1,178          -                  

65               4                 69               -                  
(233)           -                 (2,187)        (276)            

- - (1 686) -                                (1,686)                       
-                 -                 1,144          343             
8                 -                 45               274             

1,239          86               1,300          786             

789             (375)           18,801        1,712          

-                 -                 5,666          124             
1,661          749             3,381          372             

-                 -                 (671)           (119)            

2,450          374             27,177        2,089          

20,386        1,108          95,463        

$ 22,836        $ 1,482          $ 97,552        

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation
    of internal service fund activities
    related to enterprise funds 442             
Change in net position of 
    business-type activities $ 27,619      

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 89Packet Page 161



Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Cash flows from operating activities:
    Receipts from customers and users $ 28,311        $ 18,696         $ 10,040          
    Receipts from interfund services provided -                  -                   -                   
    Other receipts 26               16                
    Other payments -                  (18)               -                   
    Refundable deposits receipts (payments) -                  -                   -                   
    Payments to suppliers (7,805)         (4,409)          (2,926)          
    Payments to employees (7,236)         (4,688)          (2,378)          
    Payment for interfund services used -                  -                   -                   
Net cash provided by
    operating activities 13,296        9,581           4,752           

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
    Payments from other funds 

on due from (due to) balances 177             46                -                   
    Payments to other funds 

on due from (due to) balances -                   (30)               
    Payments from other funds on advances -                   -                   
    Payments to other funds on advances 61               -                   -                   
    Leases, rents and royalties 59               -                   -                   

Intergovernmental revenue 396 115 1 420

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

    Intergovernmental revenue 396           115            1,420          
    General property taxes -                  -                   -                   
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes -                  -                   -                   
    Transfers in 971             -                   -                   
    Transfers out (279)            (239)             (152)             
Net cash provided (used) by
    noncapital financing activities 1,385          (78)               1,238           

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
    Acquisition and construction of capital assets (8,817)         (3,025)          (2,692)          
     Proceeds from sale or transfer
       of property and equipment 609             279              303              
    Contractual payment - future water rights (2,250)         -                   -                   
    Long-term bonds issued -                  10,075         22,845          
    Principal paid on notes payable, bonds payable
        and capitalized lease obligations (4,291)         (2,565)          
    Interest paid on notes payable, bonds payable,
        and capitalized lease obligations (1,165)         (1,421)          (495)             
    Other -                  -                   
    Capital contributions 2,693          1,626           2,675           
Net cash (used) for capital
    related financing activities (13,221)       4,969           22,636          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 90Packet Page 162



Governmental
Activities

Downtown Nonmajor Total Internal
Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Service

District Funds Funds Funds

$ 5,790           $ 157          $ 62,994            $ 11,599            
-                   -              -                      6,893              

44                -              86                   377                 
-                   2              (16)                  -                      
-                   -              -                      (3)                    

(3,198)          (318)        (18,656)           (9,661)             
(1,621)          (277)        (16,200)           (1,793)             

-              -                      (1)                    

1,015           (436)        28,208            7,411              

3                  -              226                 (384)                

-                   -              (30)                  (19)                  
2                  -              2                     293                 
-                   (3)            58                   -                      

261              -              320                 140                 
- - 1 931 (66)-                   -            1,931            (66)                 

1,100           79            1,179              -                      
65                4              69                   -                      

1,661           749          3,381              372                 
-                   -              (670)                (95)                  

  
3,092           829          6,466              241                 

(435)             (7)            (14,976)           (3,479)             

-                   -              1,191              649                 
-                   -              (2,250)             -                      

-              32,920            -                      

(1,181)          -              (8,037)             (547)                

(508)             -              (3,589)             (330)                
-              -                      10                   

-                   -              6,994              124                 
  

(2,124)          (7)            12,253            (3,573)             

 (continued)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 91Packet Page 163



Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Cash flows from investing activities:
    Purchase of investment securities $ (3,473)         $ (15,649)        $ (27,261)        
    Proceeds from sale and maturities of

investment securities 833             2,853           1,678           
    Interest on investments 208             73                138              
Net cash provided (used) in
   investing activities (2,432)         (12,723)        (25,445)        

Net increase (decrease) in cash
    and cash equivalents (972)            1,749           3,181           

Cash and cash equivalents,
    January 1 1,603          575              541              

Cash and cash equivalents, 
    December 31 $ 631             $ 2,324           $ 3,722           

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Statement of Cash Flows,
continued

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 92Packet Page 164



Governmental
Activities

Downtown Nonmajor Total Internal
Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Service

District Funds Funds Funds

 
$ (2,639)          $ (151)        $ (49,173)           $ (16,632)           

2,069           626          8,059              17,200            
35                4              458                 250                 

  
(535)             479          (40,656)           818                 

  
  

1,448           865          6,271              4,897              
  
  

328              42            3,089              2,361              
  
  

$ 1,776           $ 907          $ 9,360              $ 7,258              

(continued)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 93Packet Page 165



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Cash Flows,
continued

Proprietary Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood
Utility Utility Management
Fund Fund Fund

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
    provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ 8,470          $ 6,646           $ 3,296           
Adjustments to reconcile net operating
    income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities:

Depreciation 4,544          2,867           1,019           
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) 21               (18)               16                
Change in assets and liabilities:
    (Increase) decrease in assets:

Accounts receivable -                  -                   -                   
Charges for services receivable (436)            (608)             (187)             
Intergovernmental receivables -                  -                   -                   
Inventory of materials and supplies (26)              -                   
Other assets - prepaid expenses -                  -                   -                   

    Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Vouchers and accounts payable 554             588              424              
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees - 31 30    withheld from employees -                31               30               
Accrued claims liability -                  -                   -                   
Other liabilities (2)                -                   -                   
Other liabilities - refundable deposits -                  -                   -                   
Pension Liability 213             141              74                
Contracts and retainage payable -                  -                   23                
Compensated absences (60)              (79)               52                
Retiree health care benefit 18               13                5                  
        Total adjustments 4,826          2,935           1,456           

Net cash provided by 
    operating activities $ 13,296        $ 9,581           $ 4,752           

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities:
    Assets acquired through:
        Capital contributions:
            From governmental funds $ -                  $ -                   $ -                   
            Other 491             523              131              
        Financed through accounts, contracts and
          retainage payable 476             164              108              
    Amortization of bond premium -                  -                   -                   
    Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments (83)              -                   -                   

$ 884             $ 687              $ 239              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 94Packet Page 166



Governmental
Activities

Downtown Nonmajor Total Internal
Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Service

District Funds Funds Funds

$ (450)             $ (461)        $ 17,501            $ 926                 

1,531           30            9,991              6,260              
-                   2              21                   171                 

-                   -              -                      (59)                  
-                   -              (1,231)             -                      
-                   -              -                      15                   
-                   -              (26)                  -                      
-                   -              -                      (260)                

4                  5              1,575              (236)                

8 6 75 -8                  6            75                 -                     
-                   -              -                      95                   

36                -              34                   44                   
-                   -              -                      430                 

(116)             8              320                 (3)                    
-                   -              23                   -                      

(8)                 (27)          (122)                22                   
10                1              47                   6                     

1,465           25            10,707            6,485              

$ 1,015           $ (436)        $ 28,208            $ 7,411              

$ -                   $ -              $ -                      $ 124                 
-                   -              1,145              -                      

-                   -              748                 -                      
-                   -              -                      569                 
-                   -              (83)                  (109)                

$ -                   $ -              $ 1,810              $ 584                 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 95Packet Page 167



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 96Packet Page 168



 
 
 

 
 
 

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
 
 

Pension Trust Funds account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement annuity payments at 
appropriate amounts and times in the future.  Resources are contributed by employees and the City at amounts 
determined by biennial actuarial studies and by State law. 
 
The City of Boulder has the following pension trust funds: 
 
 Police Pension Fund – to account for retirement annuity payments for the City’s police officers. 
 
 Fire Pension Fund – to account for retirement annuity payments for the City’s fire fighters. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 97Packet Page 169



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Pension Trust Funds

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Assets:
    Equity in pooled cash and
        cash equivalents $ 102          
    Investments:
        U.S. Treasuries 303          
        U.S. Agencies & Instrumentalities 530          

 Time Deposits 9,521       
        Mutual Funds 5,523       
        Equity Securities 4,294       
        Local Government Investment Pools 244          
        Money Market Funds 310          
        Real Estate Investment Trust 749          
        Corporate Bonds 101          
        Other 672          
    Receivables:
        Accrued interest 12            
Total assets 22,361     

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable 2              
        Accrued pensions payable 87            

Net position restricted for
    pensions $ 22,272    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 98Packet Page 170



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Pension Trust Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Additions:  
    Pension contributions:
        City of Boulder $ 368          
            Total contributions 368          

    Investment earnings (loss) (338)        
    Less investment expense (74)          
        Net investment earnings (412)        

            Total additions (44)          
  
Deductions:  
    Benefits 2,551       
    Administrative 27            
            Total deductions 2,578       ,

Net (decrease) in net position (2,622)     
 
Net position restricted for
    pensions:
        Beginning of year 24,894     
        End of year $ 22,272     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 99Packet Page 171



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 100Packet Page 172



 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 101Packet Page 173



 
City of Boulder, Colorado 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
December 31, 2015 

 
Index 

 Page  
Note A  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  73 
Note B  Reconciliation of Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 89  
Note C  Legal Compliance - Budgets  92 
Note D  Legal Compliance - TABOR  93 
Note E  Deposits and Investments  95 
Note F  Property Taxes Receivable  103 
Note G  Notes Receivable  103 
Note H  Other Receivables  103 
Note I  Capital Assets  104 
Note J  Risk Management  106 
Note K  Accrued Liabilities  108 
Note L  Property Tax Over Collection Liability  108 
Note M  Accrued Liability - Landfill Cleanup  109 
Note N  Future Water Rights  110 
Note O  Long-Term Debt  111 
Note P  Interfund Receivables/Payables, and Transactions  120 
Note Q  Related Party Transactions  122 
Note R  Revolving Loan Program  122 
Note S  Restricted Net Position and Similar Fund Balance Limitations 122 
Note T  Commitments and Contingencies  123 
Note U  Pension and Retirement Plans  125 
Note V  Deferred Compensation Plans  146 
Note W  Other Post Employment Benefit Plans (OPEB) Than Pensions 147 
Note X  Pledged Revenues  151 
Note Y  Security for Certificates of Participation  153 
Note Z  Change in Accounting Principles  154 
Note AA Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources  155 
Note AB Subsequent events  156 

 
 Required Supplementary Information: 
  Schedule of Funding Progress – Boulder Retiree 
   Health Care Benefit Plan  158 
  Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related  
   Ratios – Police Pension Fund  159 
  Schedule of Employer Contributions – Police Pension Fund  160 
  Schedule of Investment Returns – Police Pension Fund  161 
  Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related 
   Ratios – Fire Pension Fund  162 
  Schedule of Employer Contributions – Fire Pension Fund  163 
  Schedule of Investment Returns – Fire Pension Fund  164 
  Notes to Required Supplementary Information – Actuarial Assumptions 165 
  Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the PERA Net Pension Liability 166 
  Schedule of the Contributions and Ratios PERA Net Pension Liability 167  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 102Packet Page 174



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the City of Boulder, Colorado (the City) have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  A summary of the City’s 
significant accounting policies follows: 
 
1. Reporting Entity 
 
The City is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Colorado.  
It is a home rule City and adopted a charter pursuant to Article XX of the Constitution of the State of 
Colorado by vote of the electorate on October 30, 1917.  The council/manager form of government was 
adopted in the City’s charter and has been in operation since January 1918.  The City Council, an elected 
body of nine members, is the policy-making arm of the government.  Eight of the members of the Council 
are elected for staggered four-year terms and one is elected for a two-year term, with five council 
members elected in November of each odd-numbered year.  A City Manager, appointed by the Council, 
serves as the City’s Chief Administrative Officer. 
 
In accordance with the Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, the 
basic financial statements include all funds, organizations, agencies, boards, commissions and authorities 
for which the City is financially accountable. The City has also considered all other potential 
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationships with the City are such that 
exclusion would cause the City’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial 
accountability. These criteria include appointing a majority of an organization’s governing body, and 1) 
the ability of the City to impose its will on that organization or 2) the potential for that organization to 
provide specific benefits to or impose specific financial burdens on the City.   
 
Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are in substance part of the City’s operations 
and so data from these units are combined with data of the primary government.  Each discretely 
presented component unit, on the other hand, is reported in a separate column in the government-wide 
financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from the City and the primary government. 
 
Based upon the application of these criteria the City has identified five blended component units and no 
discretely presented component units.  Each of these component units has a December 31 year-end and is 
included in the accompanying financial statements. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 103Packet Page 175



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 
 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Reporting Entity (Continued) 
 
Blended Component Units 
 
Downtown Commercial District and University Hill Commercial District (the Districts) – These Districts 
provide parking facilities and services to citizens and are public subdivisions of the State of Colorado, 
administered by the City Council of the City of Boulder in an ex-officio capaCity as its Board of 
Directors.  The Districts operate under a formal budget adopted in conjunction with the budget of the 
City.  The Districts are reported as blended component unit Enterprise Funds (proprietary funds); no 
separate financial statements are issued.  In 2007, the Central Area General Improvement District was 
renamed the Downtown Commercial District and the University Hill General Improvement District was 
renamed the University Hill Commercial District.  The funds were renamed to more appropriately reflect 
the broad purpose that the operations had come to serve over the last few years.   
 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority (the Authority) – The Authority is responsible for the acquisition 
and construction of certain City properties and facilities and is a nonprofit corporation and instrumentality 
of the City, administered by the City Council of the City of Boulder in an ex-officio capaCity as its Board 
of Directors.  The Authority operates under a formal budget adopted in conjunction with the budget of the 
City.  The Authority’s activities are reported as a blended component unit Special Revenue Fund (a 
Governmental fund); no separate financial statements are issued. 
 
Boulder Junction Access GIDs – In November 2010, two Access General Improvement Districts (GID) 
were established in the phase one area of Boulder Junction in order to implement the transit-oriented 
development goals of the City of Boulder.  The two GID’s are administered by the City Council of the 
City of Boulder in an ex-officio capaCity as its Board of Directors.  These services will be provided 
entirely to the primary government of the City and City management has operational responsibility for the 
GIDs .  The two access districts were created to provide for shared, unbundled parking and for travel 
demand management programs.  The Boulder Junction Access GID – Travel Demand Management 
(TDM) fund is accounted for as a special revenue fund while the Boulder Junction Access GID – Parking 
is accounted for as an enterprise fund.  These are both reported as blended component units and do not 
issue separate financial statements. 
 
Related Organizations 
 
A related organization is an organization for which the City appoints a voting majority of the board but 
for which the City is not financially accountable, either because the City does not impose its will upon the 
organization or a financial benefit or burden relationship does not exist.  These related organizations are 
not included within the City’s financial reporting entity. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 104Packet Page 176



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Reporting Entity (Continued) 
 
Related Organizations (Continued) 
 
The following two organizations have been identified as related organizations. 
 

Boulder Housing Partners is a separate related organization whose primary purpose is to develop, 
acquire, subsidize and manage housing units for low to moderate income families and elderly persons 
and to provide tenant support services.   
 
Downtown Boulder Business Improvement District is a separate related organization whose primary 
purpose is to provide promotion, marketing, enhanced maintenance and management functions for the 
district.   

 
2. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City and its blended component 
units.  For the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are 
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for 
support. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or 
segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment, including administrative department allocations of expenses based upon a 
formal cost allocation plan.  Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, 
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements.  Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 105Packet Page 177



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
The government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements 
are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recorded as revenues in the year for which they are 
levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed 
by the provider have been met. 
 
The fiduciary funds recognize plan member contributions in the period in which the contributions are due.  
Employer contributions to each plan are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal 
commitment to provide the contributions.  Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the terms of each plan. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collected within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal 
period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims 
and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.  
 
Sales and use taxes, property taxes when budgeted for, other taxes, charges for services, 
intergovernmental revenues when eligibility requirements are met, and interest and investment earnings 
associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been 
recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

General Fund – The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial 
resources of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
Open Space and Mountain Parks Fund – This special revenue fund accounts for the acquisition and 
maintenance of greenbelt land and parks.  Financing is provided by sales taxes and the issuance of 
long-term bonds and notes payable. 

 
  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 106Packet Page 178



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued) 
 

Transportation Fund – This special revenue fund accounts for the construction, operation and 
maintenance of all major thoroughfares, local streets, bikeways, walkways and City-owned parking.  
Financing is provided by sales taxes, the City’s share of the County Road and Bridge tax, State 
Highway Users’ tax, State Auto Registration fees and Federal and State reimbursements through the 
Colorado Department of Transportation. 
 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority Fund – This special revenue fund accounts for the acquisition 
and construction of certain City properties and facilities.  Funding is derived from the issuance of 
lease purchase revenue debt.  Debt service is paid with income received from the City in the form of 
base rentals that are derived from the acquired or constructed assets. 
 

The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 
 

Water Utility Fund – This enterprise fund was established to finance and account for the acquisition, 
operation and maintenance of water facilities and services.  It is predominately self-supported by user 
charges but also receives revenues from hydroelectric sales and plant investment and connection fees. 
 
Wastewater Utility Fund – This enterprise fund was established to finance and account for the 
acquisition, operation and maintenance of wastewater facilities and services.  It is predominately self-
supported by user charges but also receives revenues from surcharge fees, cogeneration sales, and 
plant investment and connection fees. 
 
Stormwater and Flood Management Fund – This enterprise fund was established to finance and 
account for the acquisition, operation and maintenance of stormwater and flood management facilities 
and services.  It is predominately self-supported by user charges but also receives revenues from the 
Urban Drainage District and plant investment fees. 
 
Downtown Commercial District – This district provides parking facilities and services to citizens in 
the downtown Boulder area.  It is predominately self-supported by user charges but also receives 
general property and other tax revenues. 

 
Additionally, the City reports the following fund types: 
 

Internal service funds are established to finance and account for services and/or commodities required 
by other funds, on a cost reimbursement basis.  The City has funds that account for the costs of 
acquiring, operating and maintaining certain types of equipment and facilities, costs for City-wide 
insurance programs and funding for certain governmental fund compensated absences liabilities. 
 
Pension trust funds account for the accumulation of resources to be used for retirement annuity 
payments for the City’s police officers and fire fighters. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 107Packet Page 179



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation (Continued) 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, 
or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, 
including special assessments.  Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than 
as program revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes, interest and investment earnings, and 
miscellaneous revenues. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of 
the Water Utility Fund, Wastewater Utility Fund, Stormwater and Flood Management Fund and 
Downtown Commercial District are charges to customers for sales and services.  The Water Utility Fund 
also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting 
new customers to the system.  Operating expenses for enterprise and internal service funds include the 
cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
4. Budgets 
 
Budgets are adopted on a budgetary basis as described in Note C.  The City budgets revenues and 
expenditures/expenses for all funds except Fiduciary Funds and the Gifts and Contributions Fund.  
Pension Trust Fiduciary Funds each have an independent board, which review all expense, refund, 
disability and investment transactions.  The Gifts and Contributions Fund does not have an adopted 
budget as control over expenditures is provided by the Library Foundation.  All annual appropriations 
lapse at year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
The budget of the City is a detailed operating plan, which identifies estimated costs and results in relation 
to estimated revenues and represents a process through which policy decisions are made, implemented 
and controlled.  The City Charter requires that the City establish a budgetary system for general 
operations and prohibits expending funds for which there is no legal appropriation. 
 
Local City code states that total expenditures for each fund cannot exceed the amount appropriated.  The 
fund is, therefore, the level of control on which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations.  In 
the Enterprise Funds, budgeting at the operating, capital and debt service expense level provides further 
control. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 108Packet Page 180



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Budgets (Continued) 
 
Although appropriations lapse at year-end, subsequent year’s appropriations provide authority to 
complete transactions involving encumbrances outstanding at year-end.  The City Charter stipulates that, 
at any time after the adoption of the annual appropriation ordinance and after at least one week’s public 
notice, the City Council may transfer unused fund balances appropriated for one purpose to another 
purpose and may by ordinance appropriate available revenues not included in the annual budget.  This 
provision does not apply to the Water Utility Fund, Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund or Library 
Fund.  Available fund balances not required for operations and capital improvements during the year are 
included in the annual appropriations ordinance.  This is done to ensure that excess funds are available for 
use if the need arises after the adoption of that ordinance.  Council approval is still required to transfer 
unallocated amounts to active operating or capital improvement budgets. 
 
5. Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents/Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The City utilizes the pooled cash concept whereby cash balances of each of the City’s funds are pooled 
and invested by the City in short-term certificates of deposit, money market deposit accounts, mutual 
funds, local government investment pools and United States Treasury obligations. 
 
The investment pool is used to maximize interest income while protecting principal.  Securities are 
selected according to their risk, marketability and diversification.  Income earnings or losses arising from 
the investment of pooled cash are allocated to the various funds based on their respective daily average 
equity in pooled cash. 
 
At year-end, cash in bank accounts, cash on hand, cash held by trustees, certificates of deposit (with an 
original maturity date less than 90 days) and money market deposit accounts, but not to include restricted 
cash, are classified as Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents.  All other securities within pooled 
cash are reclassified for reporting purposes to investments. 
 
6. Investments 
 
In addition to the cash and cash equivalents mentioned in Note A5, the City authorizes investments in the 
securities below for the general pooled investments.  The Fire and Police Pension Boards adopt and 
establish separate investment policies for each of the Pension Trust Funds.  The City’s authorization for 
general pooled investments is more restrictive than Colorado State statutes and allows the following types 
of investments:  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 109Packet Page 181



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
6. Investments (continued) 
 

 Bonds or other interest-bearing obligations of the United States of America or its agencies thereof 
and Local Government Investment Pools that invest therein. 

 Repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements. 
 Obligations secured by first liens on real estate or by pledge of specific income or revenue and 

issued, insured, or guaranteed by an agency or instrumentality of the United States government or 
State of Colorado. 

 Commercial paper (with a rating at the time of purchase in its highest rating categories by one or 
more nationally recognized rating organizations). 

 Eligible bankers acceptances. 
 Money market mutual funds (with a rating at the time of purchase of at least AAAm by Standard 

and Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s). 
 Corporate Bonds, rated at least AA by Standard & Poor’s or Aa2 by Moody’s.  Authorized 

corporates shall be limited to corporations organized and operated within the United States with a 
net worth in excess of $250,000,000. 

 
The City records long-term investments at fair value in accordance with GASB Statement No. 31 using 
quoted market prices. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value.  
Pension fund real estate investments are stated at an estimated market value using an annual external 
appraisal service hired by the real estate company’s management team.  Other pension fund investments 
for which market quotations are not readily available are valued at their fair values as determined by the 
custodian with the assistance of a valuation service.  The City authorizes the purchase and sale of 
investments, except for those held in the Pension Trust funds, which are controlled by the Fire and Police 
Pension Boards as trustees.  
 
Since many of the City monies are designated for specific uses, maturities are selected to coincide with 
the periods these monies will be spent.  For those securities sold prior to maturity, the specific 
identification method is used in determining gain or loss.  Investment earnings are recorded when earned 
since they are measurable and available. 
 
The City invests in two external local government investment pools, COLOTRUST and CSAFE, which 
are not SEC-registered.  These pools are short-term money market funds organized in conformity with 
Part 7 of Article 75 of Title 24, Colorado Revised Statutes, subject to enforcement by the Colorado 
Securities Commissioner.  The fair value of the position in the pools is the same as the value of the pool 
shares. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 110Packet Page 182



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
7. Interfund Receivables/Payables 
 
Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “interfund receivables/payables” (i.e., short term interfund 
loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., long term interfund loans).  Any residual balances 
outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.” 
 
Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 34 in regards to interfund 
activities, payables and receivables.  All internal balances in the Statement of Net Position have been 
eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental activities and the business-type 
activities, which are presented as internal balances and eliminated in the total primary government 
column.  In the Statement of Activities, internal service fund transactions have been eliminated; however, 
those transactions between governmental and business-type activities have not been eliminated. 
 
8. Inventories 
 
Inventories of a material amount are maintained in the General Fund for postage, the Transportation Fund 
for material supply, the Recreation Activity Fund for golf course clubhouse merchandise and the Water 
Utility Fund for materials supply.  These inventories are valued at lower of cost or market, using the first-
in, first-out (FIFO) method.  The costs of these inventories are recorded as expenditures when consumed 
rather than when purchased.  All other inventories in the City are considered immaterial and are expensed 
when purchased. 
 
9. Restricted Assets 
 
Pooled and nonpooled investments restricted for specified uses by gift, fee, grant and retainage 
requirements are classified as “restricted assets” in the General and Special Revenue Funds.  Pooled 
investments and cash held by paying agents have been restricted in the Capital Project and Enterprise 
Funds for future capital improvements in compliance with bond ordinances.  Additional pooled 
investments in the Open Space & Mountain Parks and Enterprise Funds have been restricted for debt 
service bond reserves in compliance with bond ordinances. 
 
10. Capital Assets 
 
All capital assets, including “Public Domain” infrastructure capital assets such as bridges, streets and 
sidewalks are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.  Capital assets are defined as assets with an 
initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 ($50,000 for infrastructure) and an estimated useful life in 
excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Donated assets 
are valued at fair value on the date donated.  The City does not capitalize historical treasure or works of 
art.  Costs incurred for the purchase or construction of capital assets for governmental activities are 
recorded as capital outlay expenditures in the governmental funds. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 111Packet Page 183



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
10. Capital Assets (Continued) 
 
Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  Interest 
incurred during the construction phase of capital assets, net of any related interest income, is included as 
part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed for business-type activities.  Interest capitalized in 
2015 totaled $563,977. 
 
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is charged as an expense against operations.  Accumulated 
depreciation is reported on the government-wide financial statements.  Depreciation has been provided 
over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.   
 
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
 Buildings 10-50 years 
 Improvements other than buildings 20 years 
 Infrastructure 20-75 years 
 Utility plant in service 30-40 years 
 Undergrounds 30-75 years 
 Machinery, equipment and vehicles 3-20 years 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the capital asset or materially 
extend the asset’s life are not capitalized.  Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the 
remaining life of the capital asset, as applicable. 
 
Upon sale or retirement of a capital asset, the cost and related accumulated depreciation, if applicable, are 
eliminated from the respective accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in the results of 
operations. 
 
11. Compensated Absences 
 
Upon termination or retirement, all unused vacation pay, unused sick pay based on certain service 
requirements, an appreciation bonus dependent upon employee length of service, and compensation time 
per the police employees contract, must be paid to the employee.  These compensated absences are 
recognized when earned in proprietary fund types and when due in governmental fund types.  A liability 
for these amounts is reported in the government-wide financial statements when earned. 
 
12. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net position by the City that is applicable to a future 
reporting period and a deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net position by the City that is 
applicable to a future reporting period.  Both deferred inflows and outflows are reported in the statement 
of net position but are not recognized in the fund financial statements as revenues and expenditures until 
the period(s) to which they relate. 
12 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 112Packet Page 184



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
12. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (Continued) 

 
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues and other fund financial resources are 
recognized in the period in which they become both measurable and available.  Assets recorded in the 
fund financial statements for which the revenues are not available are reported as a deferred inflow of 
resources.   
 
Deferred outflows of the entity consist of a deferred charge on refunding in the government-wide 
statement of net position.  A deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value 
of refunded debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the 
life of the refunded or refunding debt.  Deferred inflows of resources consist of property taxes receivable 
and reimbursement based grants, as applicable in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
The City also records in the category of deferred outflows and deferred inflows certain items related to its 
PERA defined benefit pension plan and its “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and “Old Hire” Fire 
Defined Benefit Plan. See Note AA and U for additional information. 
 
13. Long-Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and 
discounts are amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest rate method.  
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, losses 
on refunding, as well as bond issuance costs in the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is 
reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing 
sources while discounts on debt issuances and losses on debt refunding are reported as other financing 
uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, and debt principal 
payments are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
Debt service for the major utility funds is paid from monies provided by those funds.  The blended 
component unit Boulder Municipal Property Authority pays debt service from revenues received from the 
City in the form of base rentals on open space and parks property. 
 
The City reports a net pension liability for its proportionate share of PERA’s unfunded pension liability 
and the City’s unfunded pension liability of its “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and “Old Hire” 
Fire Defined Benefit Plan. See Note U for additional information.  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 113Packet Page 185



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
14. Fund Balances and Net Position 
 
In the governmental funds financial fund statements, there are five categories of fund balances that  have 
been used.  These include nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and unassigned. 

 
Nonspendable – this category pertains to any fund equity that has permanent limitations on it.  This 
includes prepaid expenditures, inventory, and endowments.  These items cannot be converted to cash 
and, therefore, are not an available resource for the City.  
 
Restricted – funds are reported as restricted when constraints are imposed by creditors, grantors, laws 
or regulations of other governments, or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation.  Any constraint imposed by an outside entity on the use of funds for a specific purpose 
results in the fund balance being shown as restricted. 
 
Committed – Any formal action, ordinance or resolution, of City Council, the highest level of 
decision making authority, which places constraints on the use of funds to a specific purpose is 
categorized as committed fund equity.  Actions to remove the constraints, regardless if they were 
imposed by an ordinance or a resolution, would require the same level of difficulty needed to place 
constraints on the use of funds to a specific purpose.    
  
Assigned – This category is used when the intent of the City is to use the funds for a specific purpose. 
The City Manager or Chief Financial Officer of the City may assign fund balance to specific purposes 
pursuant to the general authority granted within the City Charter Articles V & VI.  

 
Unassigned – This classification is for fund balance that does not meet the criteria for inclusion in one 
of the other four classifications. 

 
Order of spending:  When expenditures are incurred that can use funds from more than one classification, 
the City will generally determine the order which the funds are used on a case-by-case basis, taking into 
account any applicable requirements of grant agreements, contracts, business circumstances, or other 
constraints.  If no other constraints exist, the order of spending of resources will be restricted, committed, 
assigned and lastly, unassigned.  
 
The fund balance of certain special revenue and capital project funds have been restricted where the fund 
was created through legislation that includes a legally enforceable restriction on the use of revenues 
(Note S).   
 
In the government-wide and proprietary funds financial statements, there are three categories of net 
position used.  These include net investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted. 
 
Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the 
outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 114Packet Page 186



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
 those assets.  Net investment in capital assets, excludes unspent bond proceeds.  Unspent bond proceeds 
as of December 31, 2015 totaled $40,617,191 consisting of $10,141,839 for the Wastewater Utility Fund, 
$23,097,971 for the Stormwater and Flood Management Fund, $4,576,818 for Open Space Acquisition,  
$2,002,576 for Capital Bond Proceeds and $797,987 from Certificates of Participation. 
 
 
15. Restatement of Net Position 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 (GASB No. 
68) and the related GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to 
the Measurement Date an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68, which are effective for financial 
statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2014. GASB No. 68 revises and establishes new financial 
reporting requirements for most governments that provide their employees with pension benefits. GASB 
No. 68 requires cost-sharing employers participating in the PERA program to record their proportionate 
share, as defined in GASB No. 68, of PERA’s unfunded liability. Single employer plans, such as the City 
of Boulder Old Hire Police Defined Benefit Plan and the City of Boulder Old Hire Fire Defined Benefit 
Plan, GASB No. 68 requires the full unfunded liability to be recognized. 
 
For the City, the effect of implementing this standard was to change how it accounts and reports the net 
pension liability. Implementation of the standard resulted in a restatement of the prior period net position 
as shown in the table below. 
 
The City also restated beginning net position as a result of classifying the Boulder Municipal Property 
Authority (BMPA) component unit as a Special Revenue Fund and as a governmental activity as of 
January 1, 2015. The BMPA fund was previously reported as a non-major business- type activity. During 
2015, further analysis was performed by the City  and the final conclusion was to apply GASB Statement 
No. 61 which goes into greater detail on the correct reporting requirements of a component unit. 
Statement No. 61 modified certain requirements for inclusion of component units in the financial 
reporting entity. This restated the beginning governmental activities net position by increasing the amount 
as of January 1, 2015, by $17,354,000 and decreased the business activities net position by the same 
amount.  
 
12 
  
 
 
 
 
12 
 
12 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 115Packet Page 187



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
15. Restatement of Net Position (Continued) 
 
In addition, the City during 2015 made the determination certain construction in progress assets reported 
in 2014 should have been classified as repairs and maintenance which is an expense and not a capital 
asset. This restated the beginning net position of governmental activities by decreasing the amount as of 
January 1, 2015, by $5,033. This also restated the beginning net position of business-type activities by 
decreasing the amount as of January 1, 2015, by $1,203.  The details of these adjustments are as follows 
(amounts in 000’s): 
 

Government-Wide Statements
Governmental 

Activities 
 Business-type 

Activities 

Beginning Net Position, as previously reported
at January 1, 2015 668,256$       418,188$         

    Business-type activities now presented as 
      governmental activities 17,354           (17,354)            

GASB Statement No. 68 & 71 Implementation:
          Deferred Outflows of Resources - City contributions related to PERA
          made January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 6,923             1,418               

          Eliminate net prepaid pension obligation for the Old Hire Police -                       
         and Old Hire Fire plans (8,839)            
      PERA - Net pension liability, at December 31, 2014

 (measurement date) (81,629)          (16,740)            

      Old Hire Fire - Net pension liability, at December 31, 2014
 (measurement date) (9)                   -                       

      Old Hire Police - Net pension liability, at December 31, 2014
 (measurement date) (1,126)            -                       

       Construction in progress correction (5,033)            (1,203)              

Net Position, January 1, 2015, as restated 595,897$       384,309$         

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 116Packet Page 188



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
15. Restatement of Net Position (Continued) 
 
The impact of the restatements on the Fund Balance / Net Position of the individual funds have been 
restated as noted below: 

Boulder
Municipal Total
Property Governmental

Governmental Fund Statements Authority Funds

Beginning Fund Balance, as previously reported
at January 1, 2015 -$                   155,118$         

    Business-type activities now presented as a
      governmental fund 113                113                  

Fund Balance, January 1, 2015, as restated 113$              155,231$         

Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood Downtown
Utility Utility Management Commercial

Enterprise Fund Statements Fund Fund Fund District

Beginning Net Position, as previously reported
at January 1, 2015 216,033$   67,888$      89,385$       21,844$       

Business-type activities now presented as 
      governmental activities -             -              -               -              

GASB Statement No. 68 & 71 Implementation:
         Deferred Outflows of Resources - City contributions related
           to PERA made January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 627            416             216              135              

      PERA - Net pension liability, at December 31, 2014
 (measurement date) (7,401)        (4,916)         (2,546)          (1,593)         

 Construction in progress correction (979)           (110)            (114)             -              

Net Position, January 1, 2015, as restated 208,280$  63,278$     86,941$       20,386$      

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 117Packet Page 189



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
 NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
15. Restatement of Net Position (Continued) 
 

Boulder University Boulder
Municipal Hill Junction Total
Property Commercial Access GID - Enterprise

Enterprise Fund Statements (continued) Authority District Parking Funds

Beginning Net Position, as previously reported
at January 1, 2015 17,354$     1,334$        34$              413,872$     

Business-type activities now presented as 
      governmental activities (17,354)      -              -               (17,354)       

GASB Statement No. 68 & 71 Implementation:

         Deferred Outflows of Resources - City contributions related
          to PERA made January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 -             24               -               1,418           

      PERA - Net pension liability, at December 31, 2014
 (measurement date) -             (284)            -               (16,740)       

 Construction in progress correction -             -              -               (1,203)         

Net Position, January 1, 2015, as restated -$          1,074$       34$              379,993$    

 
 

Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Internal Service Fund Statements Fund Fund Fund Fund

Beginning Net Position, as previously reported
at January 1, 2015 2,868$       5,666$        1,722$         1,545$         

GASB Statement No. 68 & 71 Implementation:

         Deferred Outflows of Resources - City contributions related
          to PERA made January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 14              38               6                  48                

      PERA - Net pension liability, at December 31, 2014
 (measurement date) (158)           (446)            (74)               (563)            

Net Position, January 1, 2015, as restated 2,724$      5,258$       1,654$         1,030$        

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 118Packet Page 190



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
 NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
15. Restatement of Net Position (Continued) 
 

Facility Total
Computer Equipment Renovation & Internal 

Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement Service
Internal Service Fund Statements (continued) Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds

Beginning Net Position, as previously reported
at January 1, 2015 31,059$     8,767$        5,587$         40,436$       97,650$    

GASB Statement No. 68 & 71 Implementation:

         Deferred Outflows of Resources - City contributions related
           to PERA made January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014 88              1                 2                  6                  203           

      PERA - Net pension liability, at December 31, 2014
 (measurement date) (1,044)        (8)                (26)               (71)              (2,390)      

Net Position, January 1, 2015, as restated 30,103$    8,760$       5,563$         40,371$      95,463$   

 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
    STATEMENTS 
 
1. Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Position 
 
The City includes a reconciliation between fund balance-total governmental funds and net position-
governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position.   
 
One element of that reconciliation explains that “capital assets used in governmental activities are not 
financial resources and are not reported within the funds.”  The details of this difference are as follows 
(amounts in 000’s):   
 

Governmental Fund 
Capital Assets

Internal Service Fund 
Capital Assets

Total Capital Assets - 
Governmental Activities

Land and easements 306,883$                117$                         307,000$                         
Buildings 38,666                    89,250                      127,916$                         
Improvements other than buildings 75,727                    8,621                        84,348$                           
Infrastructure 410,254                  468                           410,722$                         
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 6,202                      42,713                      48,915$                           
Construction-in-progress 92,799                    1,166                        93,965$                           

Total capital assets 930,531                  142,335                    1,072,866                        
Less accumulated depreciation (346,632)                (83,959)                     (430,591)                         

Capital assets, net 583,899$               58,376$                   642,275$                        

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 119Packet Page 191



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
    STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet and the 

Government-wide Statement of Net Position (Continued) 
 
 
Another reconciling item explains that “long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and 
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.”  The details of this difference 
are as follows (amounts in 000’s):  
 

General obligation bonds 70,793$            
Taxable obligation bonds 7,443                
Certificates of participation - COPs 41,561              
Lease Purchase revenue notes 5,727                
Capital Lease, excluding internal service funds 10                     
Compensated absences, excluding internal service funds of resources 9,185                
Deferred Outflows of resources related to losses on refundings (68)                   
Retiree health care benefits payable, excluding internal service funds 2,127                
Interest payable, excluding internal service funds 1,051               
Governmental fund long-term liabilities 137,829$          

 
 
 

2. Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and the Government-wide Statement of Activities 

 
The City includes a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances-total governmental funds and 
changes in net  position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of 
activities.  One element of that reconciliation states that “debt proceeds provide current financial 
resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net 
position.  Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment 
reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net  position.  This amount is the net effect of these 
differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items.”   

 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 120Packet Page 192



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE B – RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL 
    STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
2. Explanation of Certain Differences Between the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and the Government-wide Statement of Activities 
(Continued) 

 
The details of the $30,672 decrease from changes in the treatment of long-term debt and related items are 
as follow (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Debt issued or incurred:
Issuance of Certificates of Participation (COPs) (41,000)$ 
Premiums received on new issuances (561)        
Increase in compensated absences (8,249)     
Increase in retiree health care benefit (580)        
Increase in net pension liability:
  PERA (2,277)     
  "Old Hire" Police Defined Benefit Plan (36)          
  "Old Hire" Fire Defined Benefit Plan (74)          

       Total debt issued or incurred (52,777)   

Principal repayments or reductions
Repayments 10,142     
Amortization of debt premium 532          

  Bond Payments 10,674     

Decrease in compensated absences, 
excluding Internal Service Funds 11,472     

Decrease in retiree health care benefit,
excluding Internal Service Funds 273          
Total principal repayments or reductions 22,419     

Other long term liabilities
Change in accrued interest payable (252)        
Amortization of deferred loss on refunding (62)          

        Total other related items (314)        

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances – 
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position
of governmental activities – debt and related items (30,672)$ 

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 121Packet Page 193



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE C – LEGAL COMPLIANCE – BUDGETS 
 
City management, with the approval of the Budget Office, may transfer budgeted amounts within a fund 
without City Council approval.  Excluded are transfers between operating, capital and debt service 
budgets in the Enterprise Funds.  The City Manager must approve increases and decreases to 
appropriations and estimated revenues in the Internal Service Funds. 
 
The amended budget appropriations changed from the original appropriations adopted by the City 
Council.  Some of the more significant changes are summarized below: 
 

1) $13,484,653 increase from fund balance and additional revenue in the Affordable Housing Fund 
for opportunity funds for the City to enter into funding agreements with community partners for 
the development of affordable housing units. 
 

2) $1,000,000 increase from additional revenue  in the Transportation Fund to appropriate 
Transportation Improvement Program  Funds for the Broadway Reconstruction: Violet to US 36 
project that reconnects the existing roadway. 

 
 

The City’s basis of budgeting differs from GAAP in several ways: 
 

GAAP expenditures not treated as expenditures using the basis of budgeting: 
 All fund types – adjustment to accrued salaries, wages and amounts withheld from 

employees, adjustment to compensated absences, adjustment to accrued interest payable 
(certain debt). 

 
Expenditures using the basis of budgeting not treated as GAAP expenditures: 

 All fund types – encumbrances, payments on advances from other funds, intrafund transfers, 
adjustments to accrued interest payable (certain debt). 

 
GAAP revenues not treated as revenues using the basis of budgeting: 

 All fund types – fair market value adjustment to investments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12 
12 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 122Packet Page 194



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE D – LEGAL COMPLIANCE – TABOR 
 
The voters of Colorado at the general election held in the State on November 3, 1992 approved an 
amendment to the Colorado Constitution (Article X, Section 20 “The Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights” or 
TABOR).  The language of TABOR applies to the State and all local governments, including the City. 
 
TABOR generally requires that the voters of the City approve any new tax, increase of an existing tax, 
property tax mill levy increase, assessed valuation ratio increase, tax extension or tax policy change of the 
City that results in an increase in taxes.  TABOR also limits increases in the City’s property tax revenue 
over the prior year to the rate of inflation plus the net percentage change in the actual value of all real 
property in the City from construction of improvements and additions to taxable real property, unless 
otherwise approved by the voters.  In addition to revenue limits, TABOR also limits increases in the 
City’s spending over the prior year to the rate of inflation plus the net percentage change in the actual 
value for all real property in the City from construction of improvements and additions to taxable real 
property, unless otherwise approved by the voters.  The initial base years for this limit on spending 
increases by the City are the 1992 fiscal year of the City and 1991 property taxes collected in 1992.  Any 
revenues collected in excess of these limits on spending and property tax revenue are required to be 
refunded during the next fiscal year. 
 
On November 2, 1993, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question which authorizes 
the City to collect, retain and expend the full proceeds of the City’s sales and use tax, admissions tax, 
accommodations tax and nonfederal grants notwithstanding any TABOR restrictions.   
 
At the November 8, 1994 election, the voters approved an increase in the City’s trash tax and also 
approved an education excise tax.  Both of these ballot issues included language which allowed the City 
to collect and spend the full proceeds of the tax and any interest earnings thereon. 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 123Packet Page 195



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
 
NOTE D – LEGAL COMPLIANCE – TABOR (CONTINUED) 
 
On November 5, 1996, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question by a vote of 
21,832 to 16,170 which removed the TABOR restriction on all revenues (except property tax) and 
expenditures of the City, eliminated the emergency reserve requirements, and authorized the collection, 
retention and expenditure of all revenues of the City free from current revenue and expenditure 
limitations and from any limitations that may be enacted in the future without the amendment of the City 
Charter by the electors of the City. 
 
On November 4, 2008, the voters within the City of Boulder approved a ballot question which removed 
the remaining TABOR restriction on property tax revenues collected in 2009 and beyond.  The increase in 
retained taxes starting in tax collection year 2009 will be limited to 1/2 mill per year until the full amount 
of the existing City property tax levy of 11.981 mills is restored and retained, which occurred in 2012.  
 
TABOR remains in full effect for the blended component units Downtown Commercial District and 
University Hill Commercial District. 
 
TABOR is very complex and open to interpretation.  However, at December 31, 2015, the City believes it 
was in compliance with TABOR (see Note L).   
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 124Packet Page 196



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At December 31, 2015, the City had the following in cash and investments (in 000’s): 
 

Cash and deposits 26,989$    
Investments 324,767    

Total 351,756$  

 
 

Cash and investments are reported in the financial statements as follows (in 000’s): 
 

Citywide Investments
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 26,887$   
Investments 254,282  
Restricted investments 48,238    

329,407  
Fiduciary Fund Investments

Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 102         
Investments 22,247    

22,349    

Total 351,756$ 

 
Deposits 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits.  For deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the 
City’s deposits may not be returned.  Title 2, Chapter 10 of the Boulder Revised Code (1981) requires 
that depositories belong to the FDIC and qualify as a depository of public funds in the state under the 
Colorado Public Deposit Protection Act (PDPA) as defined in 24-75-603, C.R.S. As of December 31, 
2015, all financial institutions holding deposits for the City of Boulder have been identified as eligible 
public depositories under PDPA by the State of Colorado Division of Banking.  PDPA requires that any 
amounts on deposit in excess of federal insurance levels must be collateralized by eligible collateral as 
determined by the PDPA.  PDPA allows the financial institution to create a single collateral pool for all 
public funds held.  The pool is to be maintained by another institution, or held in trust for all the 
uninsured public deposits as a group.  The market value of the collateral must be at least equal to 102% of 
the uninsured deposits.  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 125Packet Page 197



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
At December 31, 2015, the City had cash on hand of $25,543.  In addition, at December 31, 2015, the 
carrying amount of the City’s deposits at JPMorgan Chase was $26,925,308 while the bank statement 
balance was $28,909,861.  On November 9, 2010, the FDIC issued a final rule to implement Section 343 
of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act that provided temporary unlimited 
deposit insurance coverage for noninterest-bearing transaction accounts at all FDIC insured depository 
institutions.  The insurance coverage went into effect on December 31, 2010, and expired on December 
31, 2012,  leaving $250,000 of the City’s operating accounts under FDIC coverage and $28,659,861 
properly collateralized under the Public Deposit Protection Act.   
 
Investments – Citywide (excludes Fiduciary Funds) 
 
As of December 31, 2015, the City had the following investments: 

Investment Type
 Fair Value

(000's) 

Local Government
Investment Pools 24,596$      

U.S. Treasuries 85,671        
U.S. Instrumentalities 183,166      
Time Deposits 9,087          

Total 302,520$    

 
Credit Risk – Investments.  Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will 
not fulfill its obligations.  Title 2, Chapter 10 of the Boulder Revised Code (1981) limits the City’s 
investment activity to specific types of investments as disclosed in Note A6.  Rating requirements for  
Federal Instrumentality securities are not addressed within the code but it does limit investments in 
commercial paper to issues with a credit rating of at least A-1 by Standard and Poor’s or P-1 by Moody’s.  
Credit rating requirements for eligible banker’s acceptances are not addressed.  Local government 
investment pools and money market mutual funds must have a rating at the time of purchase of at least 
AAAm by Standard and Poor’s or Aaa by Moody’s.  Corporate bonds must have a credit rating of at least 
AA by Standard & Poor’s or Aa2 by Moody’s.  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 126Packet Page 198



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Citywide (excludes Fiduciary Funds) (Continued) 
 
As of December 31, 2015, the City held investments with the following credit ratings: 

Issuer
Fair Value

(000's) 
Standard & 

Poors Moody's

U.S. Instrumentalities
FHLB 55,798$   AA+ Aaa
FNMA 49,494     AA+ Aaa
FFCB 25,348     AA+ Aaa
FHLMC 52,526     AA+ Aaa

Local Government Investment Pools 24,596     AAAm N/A

Ratings

 
Interest Rate Risk – Investments.  For investments, this is the risk that changes in interest rates will 
adversely affect fair market values.  In accordance with Title 2, Chapter 10 of the Boulder Revised Code 
(1981) the weighted average maturity of the City’s portfolio shall at no time exceed five years.  As of 
December 31, 2015, the weighted average maturity of the City’s pooled investment portfolio was 1.50 
years as detailed in the following chart: 
 

Investment Type
Fair Value

(000's) 
Weighted Average

Maturity (years)

U.S. Treasuries 85,671$       1.69
FHLB 55,798         1.48
FNMA 49,494         2.10
FFCB 25,348         1.20
FHLMC 52,526         1.69
Time Deposits 9,087           0.32
Local Government Investment Pools 24,596         0.00
Total fair value 302,520$     
Portfolio weighted average maturity 1.50

 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments.  This is the risk that, in the event of the counterparty’s failure, the 
City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the 
possession of an outside party.  In accordance with the Boulder Revised Code, the City utilizes a third-
party safekeeping arrangement with JP Morgan Chase, N.A. to minimize custodial credit risk.   

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 127Packet Page 199



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Citywide (excludes Fiduciary Funds) (Continued) 
 
 
As of December 31, 2015, the City is invested in Colorado Government Liquid Asset Trust Plus 
(COLOTRUST Plus), Colorado Government Liquid Asset Trust Prime (COLOTRUST Prime) and the 
Colorado Surplus Asset Fund Trust (CSAFE), investment vehicles established for local government 
entities in Colorado to pool surplus funds.  The pools are regulated by the Colorado Securities 
Commissioner.  These pools operate similar to a money market fund and each share is equal in value to 
$1.00.  Investments of the pools consist of U.S. Treasury bills, notes and note strips, commercial paper 
allowed by state statute and repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities and or U.S. 
Instrumentalities.  A designated custodial bank provides safekeeping and depository services to the pools 
in connection with the direct investment and withdrawal functions of the pools.  Securities owned by the 
pools are held by the Federal Reserve Bank in the account maintained for the custodial bank.  The 
custodian’s internal records identify the investments owned by the specific pool. 
 
The above investment pools and money market mutual funds are not exposed to custodial credit risk 
because their existence is not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk – Investments.  Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to 
the concentration of the City’s investment in a single issuer.  The Boulder Revised Code does not 
specifically address concentration of credit risk.  5% or more of the City’s investments were held by the 
following issuers as of December 31, 2015: 
 

Issuer

Fair Market
Value

(in 000's) 

Percentage
of Total
Portfolio

Federal Home Loan Bank 55,798$         18%
Federal Farm Credit Bureau 25,348           8%
Federal National Mortgage Association 49,494           16%
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 52,526           17%   

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 128Packet Page 200



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds 
 
As of December 31, 2015, the Police and Fire Pension Funds had the following investments: 

Investment Type
Fair Value
(in 000's) <1 1-2 3-5 5-10 >10

Local Government
Investment Pools 2$            2$       -$           -$           -$           -$           

U.S. Treasuries 283          5         8             7             99           164         
U.S. Instrumentalities and Agencies 547          15       16           314         202         -             
Time Deposits 3              3         -             -             -             -             
Corporate Bonds 101          101     -             -             -             -             
Subtotal 936$       126$  24$        321$      301$       164$      

Money Market Funds 553          
Mutual Funds 15,044     
Equities 4,293       
Real Estate Investment Trust 749          
Other 672        

Total 22,247$   

Maturities in Years

 
 
Credit Risk – Pension Investments.  This is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment 
will not fulfill its obligation.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension Fund investment policy was revised on 
October 9, 2012 and adopted on December 10, 2012. The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund investment 
policy was revised on September 2013, and formally adopted on November 18, 2013.  The “Old Hire” 
Police Pension Fund has a risk tolerance of no more than a 16.5% annual loss, with a statistical 
confidence level of 95%.  The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund has a risk tolerance of no more than a 19.9% 
annual loss, with a statistical confidence level of 95%.   
 
At December 31, 2015 the pension funds held investments with credit ratings as follows: 

 

Issuer
 Fair Value

(000's) 
Standard & 

Poors Moody's

Local Government
Investment Pools 2$                 AAAm N/A

U.S. Instrumentalities and Agencies 547              AA+ Aaa
Time Deposits 2                  AA+ Aaa
Corporate Bond – JPMorgan Chase 101              A A3

Ratings

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 129Packet Page 201



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds (Continued) 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk – Pension Investments.  Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss 
attributed to the concentration of the City’s investment in a single issuer.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension 
Fund investment policy states that equity holdings in any one company should not exceed more than 15% 
of the fair value of the Fund’s assets and that not more than 25% should be invested in any one industry. 
Fixed Income Portfolio Securities, other than U.S. government or agency securities, cannot exceed 10% 
by any one issuer.  At December 31, 2015, no single issuer held more than 10% of either pension fund’s 
portfolio.   
 
In the revised investment policy, which was effective November 2014, the “Old Hire” Police Pension 
Fund, Long-Term Account, has a specified risk tolerance not to exceed a 16.5% loss in any year.  To 
maintain a 95% confidence level that this performance level is met, the board selected the following asset 
classes and allocations for each class: 

Asset Allocation Lower Limit
Strategic 

Allocation Upper Limit

Domestic Large Cap 19% 31% 35%
Domestic Small Cap Core 1% 4% 7%
International Equity 9% 12% 15%
Emerging Markets 0% 4% 6%
Domestic Fixed Income 24% 27% 30%
Floating Rate Corporate Loans 6% 9% 12%
High Yield 0% 3% 6%
Real Estate 2% 5% 8%
Commodities 2% 5% 8%

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 130Packet Page 202



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds (Continued) 
 
In the revised investment policy, which was adopted on November 18, 2013 , the “Old Hire” Fire Pension 
Fund, Long-Term Account, has a specified risk tolerance not to exceed a 19.9% loss in any year.  To 
maintain a 95% confidence level that this performance level is met, the board selected the following asset 
classes and allocations for each class: 

Asset Allocation Lower Limit
Strategic 

Allocation Upper Limit

Domestic Large Cap 25% 28% 31%
Domestic Mid Cap 2.5% 5.5% 8.5%
Domestic Small Cap 2.5% 5.5% 8.5%
International Equity 10% 13% 16%
Emerging Markets 1% 4% 7%
Domestic Fixed Income 24% 27% 30%
Floating Rate Corporate Loans 5% 8% 11%
High Yield 1% 4% 7%
Commodities 2% 5% 8%

 
At December 31, 2015 the asset class allocations were within the maximum limits. 
 
Investment concentrations in one organization that represent over 5% of each “Old Hire” pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position are as follows:  
 

Issuer

Fair Market
Value

(in 000's) 

Percentage
of Total
Portfolio

Eaton Vance Floating Mutual Fund 1,051$           8%
Fidelity Total Bond Fund 944                8%
Artisan International Fund 750                6%
Brandes International Equity Fund 705                6%
Principal US Property Separate Account real estate 749                6%

"Old Hire" Police Pension Fund

 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 131Packet Page 203



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE E – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
Investments – Fiduciary Funds (Continued) 
 

Issuer

Fair Market
Value

(in 000's) 

Percentage
of Total
Portfolio

Eaton Vance Floating Mutual Fund 843$              9%
Fidelity Total Bond Fund 1,338             14%
Metropolitan West Mutual Fund 1,352             14%
Artisan International Fund 693                7%
Artisan Mid Cap Equity Fund 492                5%
Brandes International Equity Fund 643                7%
Diamond Hill Small Cap Mutual Fund 470                5%
Dodge & Cox Stock Fund 812                8%
Harbor Cap Appreciation Fund 842                9%
Vanguard 500 Index Fund 836                9%

"Old Hire" Fire Pension Fund

 
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Pension Investments.  This is the risk that, in the event of a counterparty’s failure, 
the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension Fund 
investment policy states that a custodian bank will maintain possession of securities owned by the Fund. 
The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund’s investment policy was revised to require a custodian bank to 
maintain possession of securities in September 2008.  All of the pension securities, with the exception of 
the Principal RESA account, are held by the Fund’s third party custodian, Charles Schwab Institution, in 
the pension’s name.   
 
Interest Rate Risk – Pension Investments.  This is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely 
affect the portfolio’s fair market value.  The “Old Hire” Police Pension Fund investment policy specifies 
a targeted rate of return of 7.5%, for its long-term account.  The “Old Hire” Fire Pension Fund investment 
policy specifies a targeted rate of return of 7.5% for its long-term account.   
 
Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds.  In order to allow the City to establish more predictable pension 
obligation payment schedules for firefighters and police officers hired before April 8, 1978, taxable 
pension obligation bonds were issued on October 26, 2010.  Proceeds of $5,469,000 and $3,531,000 were 
deposited into money market mutual funds for the “Old Hire Police” and “Old Hire Fire” pension fund 
accounts, respectively.  These deposits are held by a third-party custodian, Charles Schwab Institutional, 
in each pension’s name.   

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 132Packet Page 204



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE F – PROPERTY TAXES RECEIVABLE 
 
Property taxes for the City are levied by the City Council and certified to Boulder County for collection 
by December 15 of each year.  These taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1 of the 
succeeding year and are payable in full by April 30 or in two installments by June 15 in the year of 
collection. 
 
Property taxes levied in 2015 for collection in 2016 of $34,671,000 in the General Fund, $85,000 in the 
Special Revenue Funds, $2,816,000 in the Capital Projects Funds and $1,321,000 in the Enterprise Funds, 
are included in receivables and deferred inflows at December 31, 2015.  These taxes are classified as 
deferred inflows since they are not normally available to the City until mid-2016 and are budgeted for in 
2016. 
 
NOTE G – NOTES RECEIVABLE 
 
The December 31, 2015 balance in “notes receivable” includes one short-term note receivable. The 
following summarizes the notes receivable and the amounts due within one year (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Type of note receivable Current  Noncurrent Current  Noncurrent 

Land Sale to Boulder County 153$         -$              -$          -$           

 Governmental
Activities 

 Business-type
Activities 

 
 
NOTE H – OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
The City of Boulder recognizes various receivables when earned.  Revenues are recognized as appropriate 
based on the measurement focus and basis of accounting as discussed in Note A.  An allowance for 
doubtful accounts is recognized as appropriate based upon management’s estimate of the collectability of 
the various receivables.  No allowance is provided for utility service charges since delinquent amounts are 
certified as a lien against the property billed and are expected to be fully collectible.  As of December 31, 
2015, no allowance for doubtful accounts was recognized.   

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 133Packet Page 205



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE H – OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 
The December 31, 2015, balance in “other receivables” contains the following detail (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Type of Note Receivable
Governmental

Activities 
Business-type

Activities Total

Accounts 1,823$              977$                 2,800$              
Charges for services -                       3,886 3,886                
Accrued interest 455 159 614                   
Intergovernmental 8,302 3,312 11,614              
Other 9 -                       9                       

10,589$            8,334$              18,923$            
 

NOTE I – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2015, was as follows (amounts in 000’s):  
 
Governmental Activities:

Beginning
Balance * Increases Transfers Decreases

Ending 
Balance 

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and easements 303,818$  4,373$        -$           (1,191)$     307,000$  
Construction in progress 55,561     57,920       (19,408) (108)         93,965      

Total capital assets, not being
depreciated, net 359,379   62,293       (19,408) (1,299)      400,965    

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 121,031   2,442         4,487    (44)           127,916    
Improvements other than buildings 73,088     1,128         10,180  (48)           84,348      
Infrastructure 404,248   2,109         4,365    -               410,722    
Machinery and equipment 47,738     2,709         376       (1,908)      48,915      

Total capital assets, being depreciated 646,105   8,388         19,408  (2,000)      671,901    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 63,007     3,791         -            (2)             66,796      
Improvements other than buildings 30,657     3,389         -            (18)           34,028      
Infrastructure 295,634   6,266         -            -               301,900    
Machinery and equipment 25,883     3,628         -            (1,644)      27,867      

Total accumulated depreciation 415,181   17,074       -            (1,664)      430,591    

Total capital assets, being
depreciated, net 230,924   (8,686)        19,408  (336)         241,310    

Governmental activities
capital assets, net 590,303$  53,607$      -$           (1,635)$     642,275$  

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 134Packet Page 206



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE I – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
During 2015, the City had intangible assets of $14.46 million that are included in land and easements in 
governmental activities above. 
 
Business-type Activities:

Beginning
Balance * Increases Transfers Decreases

Ending 
Balance 

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and easements 41,668$    1,679$        -$           -$              43,347$    
Construction in progress 12,292     10,811       (2,482)   -               20,621      
Total capital assets, 

not being depreciated  53,960     12,490       (2,482)   -               63,968      

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 42,973     388            -            -               43,361      
Improvements other than buildings 7,459       114            27         -               7,600        
Utility plant in service

and undergrounds 494,861   2,649         2,455    -               499,965    
Machinery and equipment 11,981     171            -            (635)         11,517      

Total capital assets, being depreciated 557,274   3,322         2,482    (635)         562,443    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 20,300     1,284         -            -               21,584      
Improvements other than buildings 4,013       372            -            -               4,385        
Utility plant in service

and undergrounds 178,966   7,424         -            -               186,390    
Machinery and equipment 6,230       911            -            (564)         6,577        

Total accumulated depreciation 209,509   9,991         -            (564)         218,936    

Total capital assets,
being depreciated, net 347,765   (6,669)        2,482    (71)           343,507    

Business-type activities
capital assets, net 401,725$   5,821$         -$            (71)$          407,475$   

 
 
 
 (*) Beginning balances have been restated to include capital assets previously reported 
as Business-Type Activities and a correction of 2014 construction in progress (see Note 
15). 
 

In 2015, the City capitalized $563,977  of eligible interest costs in the business-type activities capital 
assets. 
12 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 135Packet Page 207



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE I – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Governmental Activities:
General Government 18$                   
Administrative Services 750                   
Public Safety 373                   
Public Works 12,300              
Culture and Recreation 3,074                
Open Space and Mountain Parks 401                   
Housing & Human Services 59                     
Community Sustainability 99                     
Total depreciation expense –

Governmental Activities 17,074$            

Business-type Activities:
Water Utility 4,544$              
Wastewater Utility 2,867                
Stormwater and Flood Management 1,019                
Parking Facilities and Services 1,561                
Total depreciation expense –

Business-type Activities 9,991$              
 

 
NOTE J – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Property and Casualty Insurance – The City has structured its property and casualty insurance as a 
self-insurance program since April 15, 1986.  The Plan included an Annual Aggregate and Specific Stop 
Loss coverage through April 15, 1990.  Under the current structure, the City pays the first $100,000 of 
each loss on property claims with an annual aggregate of $200,000.  Except for those which are flood or 
earthquake which have a $200,000 deductible and utility facilities which have a $500,000 deductible.  
The City pays $500,000 each claim on third-party liability claims; and $10,000 each loss on crime.  
According to Colorado State law, the City has the protection of governmental immunity above $150,000 
per person, $600,000 per occurrence.  Excess insurance coverage over this maximum has been purchased 
through a private insurance carrier in the amount of $10,000,000 per liability claim with an annual 
aggregate policy limit of $10,000,000, except for public officials, which is on a claims-made basis.  
Settled claims have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  
 
The City Council has established a reserve policy for the Property and Casualty Fund with a goal of fully 
funding an actuarially calculated liability as of the end of the prior year at the 80% confidence level.  An 
actuarial study will be completed every two years in order to determine the appropriate reserve levels.  
The next actuarial was performed in the first quarter of 2015 and addressed claims as of December 31, 
2014. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 136Packet Page 208



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE J – RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
In 1997, an internal service fund was established to account for the Property and Casualty funds.  Claims 
paid during the year and estimated to be paid at year-end are charged to this fund.  The estimated year-end 
claims payable is based on the results of an actuarial study.  
 
Changes in the estimated claims payable for the Property and Casualty Insurance Fund during the years 
ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, were as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

2014 2015

Estimated claims payable January 1 720$             833$              
Current year claims and changes in estimates 312              193                
Claim payments (199)             (452)               
Estimated claims payable December 31 833$             574$              

Claims payable due within one year 171$             202$              

 
 
Workers’ Compensation Insurance – Through December 31, 1992, the City purchased Workers’ 
Compensation Insurance through the Colorado Compensation Insurance Authority. The City received 
authorization to become self-insured effective January 1, 1993.  In 1993, an Internal Service Fund was 
established to account for these insurance activities.  The City hired a third-party administrator to handle 
claims and estimate reserves.  Under the current structure, the City pays the first $450,000 of each 
workers’ compensation claim.  The estimated reserves at December 31, 2015, have been established 
through the completion of an actuarial study and recorded as a liability in the Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance Fund.  Benefits are mandated by State Statute.  Settled claims have not exceeded commercial 
insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.   
 
The City Council has established a reserve policy for the Workers’ Compensation Insurance Fund with a 
goal of fully funding an actuarially calculated liability as of the end of the prior year at the 80% 
confidence level.  An actuarial study will be completed every two years in order to determine the 
appropriate reserve levels.  The latest actuarial study was performed in April of 2015 and addresed claims 
as of December 31, 2014. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 137Packet Page 209



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE J – RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in the estimated claims payable for the Workers’ Compensation Insurance Fund during the years 
ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, were as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

2014 2015

Estimated claims payable January 1 1,183$           1,249$           
Current year claims and changes in estimates 936                1,758             
Claim payments (870)               (1,400)            
Estimated claims payable December 31 1,249$           1,607$           

Claims payable due within one year 775$              845$              
 

 
NOTE K – ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 
The December 31, 2015, balance in “accrued liabilities” contains the following detail (amounts in 000’s):  

Type of Accrued Liability
 Governmental

Activities 
 Business-type

Activities Total

Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
withheld from employees 4,236$          635$             4,871$           

Accrued interest 1,051           375 1,426             
Accrued liability –

landfill cleanup -                   2,474 2,474             

5,287$           3,484$           8,771$           

 
NOTE L – PROPERTY TAX OVERCOLLECTION LIABILITY 
 
The 2014 mill levy for the City of Boulder for taxes collected in 2015 resulted in an excess of the 
TABOR (see Note D) allowable property tax revenues by $61,945.  The 2015 mill levy for taxes collected 
in 2016 was voluntarily reduced to compensate for this overcollection.  
 
The balance of remaining overcollections are recorded as an “other liability” in the following funds 
(amounts in 000’s): 

Fund
Net 

Overcollection

Downtown Commerical District 54$                      
University Hill Commercial District 8                          

62$                      

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 138Packet Page 210



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE M – ACCRUED LIABILITY – LANDFILL CLEANUP 
 
Until the late 1980s the City operated the Marshall Landfill.  Around the time of the landfill’s closure, the 
City was threatened by a lawsuit by the Department of Justice (DOJ) and the US Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) concerning the cleanup of Marshall Landfill, which is a designated Superfund 
site.  The City was designated a potentially responsible party (PRP) pursuant to the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund 
Amendment and Reauthorization Act of 1986.  The City and certain other PRPs negotiated a proposed 
consent decree with the DOJ and the EPA, and on May 17, 1988, City Council approved that decree. 
 
The EPA, City and other PRPs subsequently signed the consent decree, which required the settling parties 
to implement remedial measures at Marshall Landfill for the purpose of cleaning up contaminated 
groundwater.  This included the construction, operation and maintenance of a treatment facility and 
monitoring system. 
 
The total cost of the cleanup was estimated to be approximately $5.0 million for capital construction and 
$0.8 million for engineering costs.  Under the PRP agreement, which set forth the cost-sharing 
arrangements for the cleanup, the City’s share was estimated at 30% or approximately $1,740,000.  This 
amount, plus $210,000 for project management, contingency, legal and miscellaneous costs, was recorded 
in the Wastewater Utility Fund.  Bonds were issued in 1992, and the proceeds restricted to pay these 
costs.   
 
This judgment payable was satisfied in 1993 and an additional estimated liability equal to the net present 
value of average annual expenses of $250,000, or $2,926,595, was recorded for the City’s estimated share 
of operating the treatment facility over the subsequent 20 years.  The reasonableness of the average 
annual expense level is reviewed annually by City engineers and is based on typical operation, 
maintenance, analytical, and engineering costs of the Marshall Landfill site with adjustments made for 
inflation and equipment replacement. 
 
The EPA and the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE) approved a 
shutdown plan for the Marshall Landfill on November 30, 2004.  The shutdown involves mothballing the 
current treatment facility for three years while the groundwater quality is monitored.  The treatment 
facility must be maintained for the three-year period in a manner that allows start up, if deemed 
necessary.   
 
The plan provided that if, at the end of three years, no concentrations of contaminants above the shutdown 
standards occur in the wells and surface water sites that are approved as points of compliance, the 
treatment plant can be removed.  After the treatment facility is removed, an approved long-term 
monitoring plan will be implemented.  The demolition plan would require continued monitoring for the 
foreseeable future, but at a reduced frequency than was currently in effect.  In addition to long-term water 
sampling and analysis at the points of compliance, the landfill cover or cap would have to be maintained 
indefinitely. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 139Packet Page 211



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE M – ACCRUED LIABILITY – LANDFILL CLEANUP (CONTINUED) 
 
The 2005 Marshall Landfill budget of $240,000 was sufficient for all 2005 shutdown, mothballing, 
sampling and analysis, cap maintenance, and abandonment/encasement of obsolete monitoring wells.  
Annual costs during the three years (2005-2007) of the three-year shutdown period did not exceed 
$150,000. 
 
The final shutdown and demolition plan was submitted to EPA and CDPHE in 2008 and the City is 
awaiting a final determination about the removal of the treatment facility.  If the EPA and CDPHE agree 
to demolition of the facility and long-term monitoring, the annual costs should be less than $100,000.  
However, the actual annual costs will not be determined until EPA and CDPHE approve the final plan.   
 
Funds to pay any future costs associated with this will be allocated through the collection of wastewater 
user charges.  The December 31, 2015, balance in the “accrued landfill cleanup liability” is $2,474,000. 
 
 
NOTE N – FUTURE WATER RIGHTS 
 
Under a water allotment contract with the Municipal Subdistrict, Northern Colorado Water Conservancy 
District (Subdistrict), the City has available 37/480 of the water units available through the Windy Gap 
Project (a water diversion project on the Colorado River).  In 1991, the City sold 43 of its original 80 
units to the City of Broomfield for a total of $23,724,500. Under the sales agreement, the City received its 
final annual payment in 1993.  The Raw Water Master Plan recommended that Windy Gap Project 
supplies be sold due to the high incremental cost of maintaining this portion of the raw water supply.  
When voting to approve the sales agreement, the City Council also moved that the proceeds be used for 
the acquisition of replacement water supplies capable of meeting multiple objectives, including 
diversification of municipal water supply sources, drought protection and maintaining instream flows. 
 
Bonds issued by the Subdistrict in connection with construction of the project totaled $119,280,000 after 
refunding in 1993.  The bonds are not liabilities of the City since the City has an option annually to elect 
to either pay its share of the debt service and operating costs of the Subdistrict or to request the 
Subdistrict levy taxes directly through the County Assessor against property owners within the 
boundaries of the City to pay such costs and expenses. Under its contract, the City will never have 
ownership of the project, including the water rights. 
 
The City’s commitment to pay the annual costs and expenses associated with the acquisition and 
maintenance of its future water rights continues to be for the original 80 units as follows: 
 

2016 1,697,958$    
2017 1,700,125      

 
 
12 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 140Packet Page 212



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE N –FUTURE WATER RIGHTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Unearned revenue in the original amount of $10,504,192 at 7% interest was recorded in 1992 in the Water 
Utility Fund to cover the principal portion of the debt service costs for the 43 units sold to the City of 
Broomfield.  The December 31, 2015 balance was $1,127,062. 
 
 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following balances and changes in long-term debt are for the year ended December 31, 2015 
(amounts in 000’s): 

 Beginning
Balance Additions Reductions

 Ending
Balance 

 Due Within
One Year 

Governmental activities:
Bonds payable:

General obligation bonds 79,610$      -$            (8,817)$           70,793$     6,440$       
Taxable pension obligation bonds 7,812          -              (369)                7,443         370            

Total bonds payable 87,422        -              (9,186)             78,236       6,810         
Certificates of participation -                  41,561     -                      41,561       1,340         
Capital lease purchase agreements 9,420          -              (583)                8,837         594            
Lease purchase revenue notes 7,178          -              (1,451)             5,727         1,401         
Compensated absences 12,477        8,371       (11,572)           9,276         663            
Estimated claims payable (Note J) 2,082          1,951       (1,852)             2,181         1,047         
Retiree health care benefit 1,855          580          (274)                2,161         -                 
Governmental activities long-term debt 120,434$   52,463$  (24,918)$        147,979$   11,855$    

 Beginning
Balance Additions Reductions

 Ending
Balance 

 Due Within
One Year 

Business-type activities:
Bonds payable:

General obligation bonds 10,778$      -$            (1,645)$           9,133$       1,590$       
Revenue bonds 66,341        33,575     (8,622)             91,294       8,735         

Total bonds payable 77,119        33,575     (10,267)           100,427     10,325       
Compensated absences 1,308          1,167       (1,287)             1,188         189            
Retiree health care benefit 277             135          (88)                  324            -                 
Business-type activities long-term debt 78,704$     34,877$  (11,642)$        101,939$   10,514$    

 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 141Packet Page 213



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
General Obligation Bonds 
 
The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major 
capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued for both general government and proprietary 
activities. These bonds, therefore, are reported in the proprietary funds if they are expected to be repaid 
from proprietary revenues.  In addition, general obligation bonds have been issued to refund other general 
obligation bonds.  General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of 
the City.  In addition, many of the general obligation bonds of the City have a pledge of specific revenues.  
See Note X for pledged revenue information. 
 
General obligation bonds outstanding at December 31, 2015, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

 Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Governmental activities 2.00% - 5.50% 61,650$         85,115$         
Governmental activities – refunding 3.50% - 4.00% 4,930             12,435           

Business-type activities – refunding 2.00% - 4.00% 8,775             15,005           
75,355$        112,555$       

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as follows (amounts in 
000’s): 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal Interest Principal Interest to Maturity

2016 6,440$       2,442$      1,590$      311$         10,783$                
2017 6,660         2,221       1,645       272          10,798                  
2018 6,235         1,991       1,705       221          10,152                  
2019 4,665         1,771       720          169          7,325                    
2020 2,815         1,592       740          115          5,262                    
2021-2025 15,690       6,332       2,375       238          24,635                  
2026-2030 18,455       3,151       -               -                21,606                  
2031-2035 5,620         312          -               -                5,932                    

Total liability 66,580       19,812     8,775       1,326       96,493                  
Plus bond premium 4,213         -               358          -                4,571                    
Net liability 70,793$     19,812$     9,133$       1,326$       101,064$               

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 142Packet Page 214



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds 
 
The City also issues bonds where the City does not pledge any revenues nor has any obligation to levy 
any new or increased tax for the payment of debt service.  These bonds are issued for the purpose of 
funding ongoing required pension obligations.   
 
 
Taxable pension obligation bonds outstanding at December 31, 2015, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Governmental activities 2.00% - 5.00% 7,360$             9,070$              

 
 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds are as follows 
(amounts in 000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal  Interest to Maturity

2016 370$             316$             686$                  
2017 380              305              685                    
2018 395              292              687                    
2019 410              278              688                    
2020 425              262              687                    
2021-2025 2,400           1,036           3,436                 
2026-2030 2,980           452              3,432                 

Total liability 7,360             2,941             10,301               
Plus bond premium 83                -                   83                      
Total liability 7,443$           2,941$           10,384$             

Governmental Activities

 
 
Revenue Bonds 
 
The City also issues bonds where the City pledges income derived from the acquired or constructed assets 
to pay debt service.  See Note X for pledged revenue information.  In addition, revenue bonds have been 
issued to refund other revenue bonds.   
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 143Packet Page 215



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Revenue Bonds (Continued) 
 
Revenue bonds outstanding at December 31, 2015, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

 Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Business-type activities 2.00% - 5.00% 40,555$        42,900$         
Business-type activities – refunding 2.00% - 4.125% 45,330           79,660           

85,885$         122,560$       

 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for revenue bonds are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements

Year ending December 31  Principal Interest to Maturity

2016 8,735$  3,254$    11,989$              
2017 8,185   2,931     11,116               
2018 8,490   2,605     11,095               
2019 7,300   2,267     9,567                 
2020 6,195   1,974     8,169                 
2021-2025 25,950 6,429     32,379               
2026-2030 12,095 2,599     14,694               
2031-2035 8,935   807        9,742                 

Total liability 85,885 22,866   108,751             
Plus bond premium 5,409     -               5,409                  
Total liability 91,294$ 22,866$   114,160$            

Business-type Activities

 
Lease Purchase Revenue Notes 
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) has issued notes where BMPA pledges income, 
received from the City of Boulder and derived from base rentals of open space and parks property, to pay 
debt service.  These notes are a debt of BMPA, not of the City of Boulder, but are included as a blended 
component unit of the City (Note A.1).  Lease purchase revenue notes outstanding at December 31, 2015, 
are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 144Packet Page 216



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Lease Purchase Revenue Notes (continued) 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

 Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Government-type activity 3.25 - 7.00% 5,727$       13,559$    

 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for lease purchase revenue notes are as follows (amounts in 
000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal Interest to Maturity

2016 1,401$          217$             1,618$                       
2017 848              153              1,001                        
2018 650              118              768                          
2019 569              93                662                          
2020 588              77                665                          
2021-2023 1,671           110              1,781                        

Total Liability 5,727$           768$              6,495$                       

Government-type Activities

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 145Packet Page 217



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Certificates of Participation 
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) has issued Certificates of Participation where BMPA 
pledges income, received from the City of Boulder and derived from base rentals of leased properties by 
the City.  These notes are a debt of BMPA, not of the City of Boulder, but are included as a blended 
component unit of the City (Note A.1).  Certificates of Participation outstanding at December 31, 2015, 
are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 
 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

 Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Government-type activity 3.00 - 4.00% 41,000$     41,000$    

 
 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for Certificates of Participation are as follows (amounts in 
000’s): 
 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal Interest to Maturity

2016 1,340$          1,358$          2,698$                                
2017 1,445            1,382           2,827                                 
2018 1,485            1,338           2,823                                 
2019 1,530            1,293           2,823                                 
2020 1,575            1,247           2,822                                 
2021-2025 8,640            5,471           14,111                               
2026-2030 10,150          3,967           14,117                               
2031-2035 12,120          1,998           14,118                               
2036 2,715            108              2,823                                 

Total Liability 41,000           18,162           59,162                                
Plus bond premium 561               -                   -                                       
Total liability 41,561$         18,162$         59,162$                              

Government-type Activities

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 146Packet Page 218



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Capital Lease Purchase Agreements 
 
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC – On September 27, 2010, the City entered into a lease 
purchase agreement with Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC.  Proceeds of $1,500,000 are being 
used for capital lease improvements, which include installing solar photovoltaic systems.   
 
All American Investment Group, LLC - On October 25, 2010, the City entered into a capital lease 
agreement with All American Investment Group, LLC.  On January 25, 2012, the City refinanced this 
lease which included a total of  $6,401,534 and an additional $3,241,230 borrowed for a total lease 
obligation of $9,642,764. The interest rate on this lease is fixed at 2.65%. The refinanced lease extended 
the life to 2027 with payments continuing to occur in January, April, July, and October.   
 
Bank of the West – on February 5, 2013, the City entered into a capital lease agreement with Bank of the 
West.  Exercise equipment was purchased at a cost of $105,783, to be used by Parks and Recreation 
customers  for overall wellness purposes.  
 
Capital lease purchase agreement obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2015 are as follows 
(amounts in 000’s): 

Purpose
Interest Rates
Outstanding

 Amount
Outstanding 

 Original
Amount 

Governmental activities 2.65 - 4.93% 8,837$              10,857$             
 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for capital lease payments are as follows (amounts in  
000’s): 

Debt Requirements
Year Ending December 31  Principal Interest to Maturity

2016 594$             293$             887$                          
2017 632              272              904                           
2018 684              249              933                           
2019 739              225              964                           
2020 798              198              996                           
2021-2025 4,662           530              5,192                         
2026-2030 728              19                747                           

Total liability 8,837$           1,786$           10,623$                      

Governmental Activities

 
 

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 147Packet Page 219



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
The City has accrued, as a liability to current employees, the following amounts of accumulated unused 
vacation and sick pay, appreciation bonus and compensation time at December 31, 2015 (amounts in 
000’s):  

 Governmental
Activities 

 Business-type
Activities 

Accrued vacation 6,305$          740$              
Accrued sick pay 1,070           138
Accrued appreciation bonus 1,614           306
Accrued compensation time 287              4                   

9,276$           1,188$           

 
 
The liability attributable to the governmental funds is recorded as a governmental activities noncurrent 
liability.  It is estimated that $663 of governmental activities’ and $190 of business-type activities’ 
liabilities will be paid in 2016.  Governmental liabilities relating to General, Library, Recreation Activity, 
Community Development and HOME Fund employees are liquidated out of the Compensated Absences 
Internal Service Fund.  Liabilities relating to employees of all other governmental funds are liquidated out 
of the associated fund. 
 
Arbitrage Liability 
 
Kutak Rock Arbitrage Consulting LLC made calculations for the City to determine if any of the bond 
issues dated since January 1, 1986, had a liability for rebatable arbitrage at December 31, 2014.  These 
calculations were made taking into consideration the investment instructions, the no arbitrage certificate 
and the relevant portions of the trust indenture for each of the bond issues.  As of December 31, 2015, 
there is no arbitrage liability. 
 
Refunded Bonds 
 
The City has, at various times in prior years, entered into advance refunding transactions whereby a 
portion of the proceeds of the refunding bonds were placed in irrevocable escrow accounts and invested 
in direct, noncallable governmental obligations that, together with the interest earned thereon, will 
provide amounts sufficient for future payment of all interest and principal on the old bonds.  The 
likelihood of the earnings and principal maturities of the governmental obligations not being sufficient to 
pay the defeased bond issue appears remote.  Accordingly, the escrow accounts and outstanding defeased 
bonds are not included in the accompanying financial statements.  At December 31, 2015, there is 
$27,055,000 of principal outstanding on defeased bonds.   

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 148Packet Page 220



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE O – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Lease of Criminal Justice Center 
 
During prior years, the City used $1,035,000 of Revenue Sharing Funds towards the cost of construction 
of the Criminal Justice Center built by Boulder County.  The City negotiated an agreement with Boulder 
County on July 17, 1975, whereby the City leased, for an initial period of 30 (thirty) years, a 20,000 
square foot portion of the Center at no additional cost to the City. 
 
This lease was replaced on January 1, 1990, with an agreement whereby the County purchased 15,000 
square feet of the City’s leasehold interest in the Center and whereby the City, for a one-time payment of 
$139,538, will lease an additional 2,000 square feet from the County for a period ending at the same time 
as the original 30 year lease.  On March 30, 2005, the City exercised the option to renew its leasehold 
interest at the Criminal Justice Center for an additional 30 years. 
 
Lease of Public Library Space at the Meadows on the Parkway 
 
The City entered into a lease dated as of September 21, 1988, with Foothills Associates, Inc. for 7,812 
square feet to house the Meadows branch of the Boulder Public Library at the Meadows on the Parkway 
shopping center.  The lease agreement was renewed according to the terms of the original agreement 
which provided the City with the option to extend the lease upon the same conditions for an additional 
period of time equal to the total period of time that Safeway or the comparable anchor tenant is a tenant at 
the shopping center.  The City pays no rent to Foothills Associates, Inc. but does pay its pro rata share of 
various common expenses as set forth in the lease agreement. 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 149Packet Page 221



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE P – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, AND TRANSACTIONS 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of certain information concerning individual 
funds. 
 
Advances To/From Other Funds 
 
The composition of interfund advances receivable and payable balances as of December 31, 2015, is as 
follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

General Fund Airport Fund 210$          
Water Utility Fund ( proprietary fund) General Fund 594            
Fleet Fund (internal service fund) General Fund 848            
Downtown Commercial District Boulder Junction Access GID - Parking
  (proprietary Fund)   (non-major special revenue fund) 12              

1,664$       

 
 

 
The Airport Fund owes the General Fund $210,000 at December 31, 2015.  This advance will be repaid 
over 6 years with annual payments beginning in 2014. 
 
The General Fund owes the Water Utility Fund $594,155 at December 31, 2015, for funding the purchase 
of land from the Water Utility Fund for development of a new fire training center in 2009.  This advance 
will be repaid over 15 years with 60 equal quarterly payments including 5% interest beginning in 2009. 
 
The General Fund owes the Fleet Fund $53,650 for funding assistance in the implementation of new 
parking technology and $794,402 for the Valmont Butte Remediation at December 31, 2015.  The 
parking technology advance will be repaid over 10 years with 40 equal quarterly payments including 5% 
interest beginning in 2008.  The Valmont Butte Remediation advance will be repaid over 10 years with 40 
equal quarterly payments beginning in 2012 with an interest rate of 0.75%. 
 
The Boulder Junction Access GID - Parking owes the Downtown Commercial District $12,612 at 
December 31, 2015.  This advance will repaid over 10 years with 10 equal annual payments beginning 
2012.  The interest rate is 2.50%.  
 
Interfund Transactions 
 
There are various types of interfund transactions which occur between funds.  The following information 
describes the City’s 2015 transfers (amounts in 000’s).  All funds made quarterly payments to the General 
Fund for indirect expenses, primarily administrative, such as legal, human resources, finance and 
information technologies. 
12 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 150Packet Page 222



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE P – INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, AND TRANSACTIONS 
  (CONTINUED) 
 
Interfund Transactions (Continued) 
 
 

TRANSFERS IN
General 

Fund
Open 
Space

Transpor-
tation BMPA

Nonmajor 
Govern-
mental

Water 
Utility

Wastewater 
Utility

General Fund -$         -$         28$            -$            -$            60$          20$                 
Open Space &

Mountain Parks 1,121       -           -             161              -              -           -                  
Transportation 136          -           -             -              14               -           -                  
BMPA 174          -           -             -              -              -           -                  
Nonmajor Governmental 4,628       12            251            -              18               219          220                 
Water Utility 971          -           -             -              -              -           -                  
Downtown Commercial District 1,661       -           -             -              -              -           -                  
Nonmajor Business-type 749          -           -             -              -              -           -                  
Internal Service Funds 372          -           -             -              -              -           -                  

Total transfers 9,812$     12$          279$          161$            32$             279$        240$               

TRANSFERS OUT

 
 
 

TRANSFERS IN

Stormwater & 
Flood 

Management

Downtown 
Commercial 

District

Nonmajor 
Business-

type

Internal 
Service 
Funds TOTAL

General Fund 20$                     -$                   -$            24$            152$          
Open Space &

Mountain Parks -                     -                     -              -            1,282         
Transportation -                     -                     -              -            150            
BMPA -                     -                     -              -            174            
Nonmajor Governmental 132                     -                     -              95              5,575         
Water Utility -                     -                     -              -            971            
Downtown Commercial District -                     -                     -              -            1,661         
Nonmajor Business-type -                     -                     -              -            749            
Internal Service Funds -                     -                     -              -            372            

Total transfers 152$                  -$                   -$            119$          11,086$     

TRANSFERS OUT (Continued)

 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 151Packet Page 223



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE Q – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Boulder Housing Partners is a separate related organization as explained in Note A1.  During 2015, 
Boulder Housing Partners received grant funding of $3,000,000 from the City.  These grants were 
awarded to Boulder Housing Partners in a competitive application process.  In addition to the grant 
funding above, Boulder Housing Partners received other operating assistance and support in 2015 totaling 
$19,423. 
 
During 2015, Boulder Housing Partners participated in the City’s employee benefit plans including health 
care, dental, life, and vision insurance options, etc. for the benefit of its employees.  Boulder Housing 
Partners reimbursed the City for the full cost of these benefits.  There was no receivable from Boulder 
Housing Partners at December 31, 2015. 
 
 
NOTE R – REVOLVING LOAN PROGRAM 
 
During 2000, the City entered into an agreement with Funding Partners for Housing Solutions, Inc. (FP) 
for operation of a revolving loan fund to assist home buyers’ purchases of homes located in the City of 
Boulder.  Under this agreement, the City approves the loan applications and FP administers the revolving 
loan program by providing all legal documents, coordination with Fannie Mae and FHA programs, 
monitoring and servicing of the outstanding loans, and revolving the loan funds back into new loans.  The 
City provided a total of $709,654 in 2000, 2001, and 2009 as the seed funding for this revolving loan 
program.  Beginning in 2011, the agreement with FP is subject to annual renewal.  If the agreement for 
the revolving loan program is terminated, FP will assign and return all outstanding loans and program 
balances over to the City.   
 
 
NOTE S – RESTRICTED NET POSITION AND SIMILAR FUND BALANCE 

LIMITATIONS 
 
TABOR Emergency Reserves:  At December 31, 2015, net position for Business-type Activities of 
$167,069 and $6,234, respectively, were restricted in the Downtown Commercial District and University 
Hill Commercial District for TABOR emergency reserves.   
 
Restricted Net Position and Similar Fund Balance Restrictions:  Restricted net position and fund balances 
have been classified into the following broad categories. Net position identified as Legally Restricted are 
restricted by external sources such as grantors and tax ballot language.  Net position identified as Debt 
Service are restricted by bond ordinances for future debt service.  Net position restricted for Capital 
Projects includes revenues restricted for capital acquisition projects. Development restrictions are largely 
revenues, such as impact fees or special tax proceeds limited to specific operations or purposes, such as 
acquisition, development and maintenance of parks and open space lands and trails.  Lottery Funds are 
restricted by state statute for specific projects as defined within the Colorado Constitution Article XXVII 
for parks, recreation and open space projects.  Donor Restrictions are limitations placed upon the use of 
proceeds by the original donor. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 152Packet Page 224



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE T – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
1. Litigation 
 
A number of claims against the City are pending for injuries received, tax and assessment appeals, water 
applications and rights, and other miscellaneous cases.  In the opinion of management and legal counsel, 
the final settlement of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements of 
the City. 
 
Valmont Butte Allied Piles Site Voluntary Cleanup Agreement (VCUP) – The City presented a voluntary 
cleanup plan to the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (CDPHE).  This plan was 
approved under the Colorado Voluntary Cleanup Program.  As required by CDPHE, site remediation 
actions in the VCUP started by August 31, 2011 with an extended completion date of December 31, 2013.  
As of December 31, 2013, the City has expended a total of $2.5 million on Valmont Butte cleanup with 
no additional liablility remaining for continued cleanup responsibilities.  The City will have ongoing 
monitoring responsibilities for a few more years but no expected cleanup costs.  
 
 
2. Single Audit 
 
The City follows the single audit concept under the provisions of the 2 CFR Part 200, Uniform Guidance.  
A single audit appendix is a part of the comprehensive annual financial report.  Under the single audit 
concept, one audit is performed which satisfies the requirements of all Federal agencies.  The City has 
received State and Federal grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by the grantor 
agencies.  Such audits could lead to a request for reimbursement to grantor agencies for expenditures 
disallowed under the terms of the grant.  The City’s management believes disallowances, if any, will be 
immaterial. 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 153Packet Page 225



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE T – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
3. Construction Commitments 
 
At December 31, 2015, City funds were obligated under contractual commitments for various operational, 
construction or equipment acquisition projects as follows (000’s):   
 

Fund
Contractual 

Commitments 

General 1,495$             
Open Space 1,159              
Transportation 11,316            
Total Major Funds 13,970            

Total Non- Major Governmental Funds 5,600              

Total Governmental Funds 19,570$           

Water Utility 2,199$             
Wastewater Utility 8,291              
Stormwater & Flood Management 24,034            
CAGID 273                  
Total Major Enterprise Funds 34,797            

Non-Major Enterprise Funds 15                    

Total Enterprise Funds 34,812$           

Total Internal Service Funds 1,783$             

  
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 154Packet Page 226



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS 
 
The City’s employees are covered under five separate retirement plans and two deferred compensation 
plans (Note V).   Regular contributions (not including disciplinary pay contributions) to the various plans, 
shown both in dollars and percent of covered payroll, are as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Plan Dollars Percentage Dollars Percentage

1,305          PERA 5,462$    8.000% 9,350$      13.700%
0 Old Hire Police -             2.000% 304           
0 Old Hire Fire -             7.833% 64             

177             
Police and Fire Money Purchase – 
      Police employees 857         6.200% 1,907        13.800%

108             

Police and Fire Money Purchase – 
      Fire employees – International
      Association of Firefighters 756         8.000% 1,228        13.000%

4                 ICMA 401(a) 58           8.000% 100           13.700%
7                 ICMA 457 16           8.000% 3               13.700%

Totals 7,149$   12,956$   

Employee
Contributions City Contributions

Number of
Active

Full-time
Employees

 
 
 
Covered employees should refer to pension plan documents and legislation for detail plan descriptions 
and benefits. 
 
City Administered Pension Plans 
 
Of the above pension plans, the City administers two defined benefit single employer pension plans, the 
“Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan.  Although a small 
amount of the assets of these two plans are pooled for investment purposes, each of these two plan’s 
assets may be used only for the payment of benefits to the members of that plan, in accordance with the 
terms of the plan. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 155Packet Page 227



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Membership of each plan consisted of the following at January 1, 2015, the date of the latest actuarial 
valuation: 

"Old Hire"
Police Defined

Benefit Plan 

 "Old Hire"
Fire Defined
Benefit Plan 

Retirees & Beneficiaries receiving benefits 42                       41                  
Terminated plan members entitled

but not yet receiving benefits 7                         5                    
Active plan members -                          -                     
Total 49                     46                  

 
 
The “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan financial 
statements as of December 31, 2015, are included in the City of Boulder Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report under the heading of Fiduciary Fund Types; no separate financial statements are issued.  
This information by plan follows. 
 
Plan net position as of December 31, 2015, is as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

"Old Hire"
Police Defined

Benefit Plan 

 "Old Hire"
Fire Defined
Benefit Plan 

Assets:
Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents 50$                         52$                         
Investments

U.S. Treasuries 259                         44                           
U.S. Instrumentalities 529                         1                             
Time Deposits 1                             9,520                      
Mutual Funds 5,523                      -                              
Equity Securities 4,293                      1                             
Local Government Investment Pools 1                             243                         
Money Market Funds 310                         -                              
Real Estate Investment Trust 749                         -                              
Corporate Bonds 101                         -                              
Other 672                         -                              

Accrued Interest 12 -                              
Total assets                     12,500                        9,861 

Liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable 1                             1                             

Accrued pensions payable 49 38
Total liabilities 50                         39                          

Net position restricted for pensions 12,450$                 9,822$                   
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 156Packet Page 228



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
The changes in plan net position for December 31, 2015, were as follows (amounts in 000’s): 
 

"Old Hire"
Police Defined

Benefit Plan 

 "Old Hire"
Fire Defined
Benefit Plan 

Additions:
Pension contributions:

City of Boulder 304$                     64$                       
Total contributions 304                       64                         

Investment earnings (loss) (191)                      (147)                      
Less investment expense (37)                        (37)                        

Net investment income (228)                      (184)                      
Total additions 76                         (120)                      

Deductions:
Benefits 1,443                    1,108                    
Administrative 13                         14                         

Total deductions 1,456                    1,122                    

Net (decrease) in net position (1,380)                   (1,242)                   

Net position restricted for pensions:
Beginning of year 13,830                  11,064                  
End of year 12,450$               9,822$                  

 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan 
 
Plan Description – Full-time police officers hired prior to April 8, 1978, are members of the City of 
Boulder “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Plan), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan. 
The Plan is closed to any new participants.  The Plan covers two groups – “Employees” and “Former 
Members”. 
 
Former Members – This group includes employees whose employment with the employer terminated 
prior to January 1, 1987.  They are covered by the retirement benefits provided under Colorado Revised 
Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981.  
However, the Trust Fund established by the Plan Document is obligated to pay all benefits to these 
employees. 
 
Employees – The City of Boulder “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan and Trust Agreement (Plan 
Document) was established by the City Council on November 3, 1987 by Ordinance 5086.  This Plan 
Document was effective retroactive to January 1, 1987, and superseded and replaced the retirement 
benefits that had previously been provided under Colorado Revised Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 157Packet Page 229



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981.  The provisions of this Plan Document 
apply solely to employees whose employment with the employer terminates on or after January 1, 1987. 
 
Board of Trustees -   Management of the plan is vested in the five member Board, which consists of one 
citizen at large, the Mayor and the Chief Financial Officer of the City, and two retired beneficiaries of the 
plan (retired police officers).   
 
Benefits – For members retiring or terminating after March 10, 1999, the retirement pension is equal to 
2.60% of final salary times full years of participation up to 25 years, plus .5% of final salary for each full 
year of participation service over 25 years up to 27 years, providing a maximum pension of 65%.  The 
Plan permits early retirement after 10 years of credited service with reduced benefits.  Members may elect 
to receive their pension benefits in the form of joint, survivor annuities, or a lump-sum payment 
calculated on the basis of the UP-1984 Mortality table.  This election can be made prior to retirement in 
order to provide a pension payable to the surviving spouse or beneficiary if the member dies after 
reaching normal retirement age and before retirement.  On termination, members may receive a refund of 
their contributions without interest.  This refund of contributions paid waives future rights to any benefits. 
 
The minimum monthly benefits for Former Members are: $875.50 for those receiving a disability 
retirement and $515.00 for those receiving a beneficiary retirement. 
 
The Board of Trustees can make benefit change recommendations to the City Manager who must then 
present the changes to the City Council for ultimate approval.  City policy dictates that no pension benefit 
increase can be given if there is an unfunded liability in the plan.   
 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Program – During 1999, a DROP provision, retroactive to 
January 1, 1998, was added to the Plan.  This enables an active member, who is eligible to retire, to elect 
to have their employee contributions, annual pension benefits and interest thereon, directed to a separate 
account for up to five years prior to retirement.  The City’s share of pension contributions is excluded 
from the employee’s DROP account but continues to be allocated to the Plan.  The annual pension benefit 
is initially calculated as of the date of the election of the DROP.   
 
The pension benefit in subsequent years will include any benefit increases granted by the Board to 
retirees and widows.  Upon retirement, the member begins to receive pension payments in the form of an 
annuity and the cumulative assets in the DROP account are paid to him in a lump-sum.  As of December 
31, 2015, there are no current police employees who have elected the DROP and all DROP balances have 
been disbursed. 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 158Packet Page 230



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
 
Death and Disability Benefits – Employees and Former Members - Effective January 1, 2007, the 
widow of a participant who commenced employment prior to January 1, 1980, is eligible for a benefit of 
the greater of (a) one-third of the monthly salary paid by the City to a first class firefighter at the date of 
the participant’s death; (b) one-third of the monthly salary paid by the City to a first class firefighter at the 
date of the participant’s termination or (c) one-half of the Normal Retirement Pension received by the 
participant at the date of such participant’s death.  In no event shall the amount be less than the Board 
established minimum widow benefit which is currently $515.00 per month.  Benefits for disability retirees 
who retired prior to January 1, 1987, are eligible for a minimum benefit of $875.50 per month.   
 
Dependent children of the employee are eligible for $30 per month, if there is no surviving spouse. 
Benefit payments to beneficiaries continue if the widow of a deceased member remarries. 
 
When any member dies, regardless of whether active, retired or terminated, the surviving spouse or the 
estate of the deceased member shall receive a one-time death benefit of $100. 
 
Contributions and Funding Policy – The Plan is a joint-contributory retirement plan operating on an 
actuarial reserve basis.  Per the Plan Document, the contribution requirements of the plan members and 
the City are established and may be amended by the Boulder Police Officers Association collective 
bargaining agreement in effect for the payroll period concerned.  Contributions of 2.0% of covered 
payroll are currently required from both the City and employees.  The City must also contribute an 
additional annual payment necessary to make the plan actuarially sound as defined by Section 3.02 of the 
plan document with no maximum specified.  In 2015, the City contributed $304,977 to meet the 
actuarially calculated contribution requirement which exceeded the state mandated requirement.  
Administrative expenditures are recorded when incurred and are financed by the Plan.  
 
Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits – Accumulated Plan benefits are those future 
periodic payments, including lump-sum distributions, that are attributable under the Plan’s provisions the 
service members have rendered.  Accumulated plan benefits include benefits expected to be paid to (a) 
retired or terminated members or their beneficiaries, (b) beneficiaries of members who have died, and (c) 
present members or their beneficiaries.  Benefits under the Plan are based on members’ compensation.  
Benefits payable under all circumstances - retirement, death, disability, and termination of employment – 
are included, to the extent they are deemed attributable to employee service rendered to the valuation 
date. 
 
An actuarial study was prepared at January 1, 2014 and rolled forward to December 31, 2015. It is the 
“Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan Board of Trustees’ policy to have an actuarial study prepared 
every two years or whenever a benefit change is being considered. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 159Packet Page 231



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation as of January 1, 2014, included the following: 
 

 Actuarial Cost Method – entry age normal actuarial cost method.   
 Amortization Method and Remaining Period – Closed, level dollar amortization of unfunded 

actuarial liability over the remaining amortization period which is 16 years. 
 Actuarial Valuation Method – Determined by calculating an expected value equal to the prior 

year’s market value of assets, plus cash flows of contributions and benefit payments for the year 
and assuming a 7.50% interest return.  The difference between this expected value and the 
actuarial market value is recognized over three years.  The resulting value is limited to between 
80% and 120% of the market value of assets.   

 Investment Rate of Return– 7.5% compounded annually, net of expenses. 
 Inflation Rate – 2.75% compounded annually. 
 Salary Increases – None assumed. 
 Retirement Age – Not applicable.  All participants are retired or are on the DROP list. 
 Retiree Mortality – Sex-distinct RP-2000 mortality for annuitants projected by Scale AA to 2017. 
 Minimum Death Benefit – A minimum death benefit of $515 per pay period is used. 
 First Class Firefighter Salary – The highest negotiated First Class Firefighter Salary is used to 

calculate death benefits.  For 2014, this is projected to be $2,886 per pay period. 
 Marriage Rates – 90% active participants are assumed to be married.  Male spouses are assumed 

to be three years older than their female spouses.  Actual marital status is used for retirees. 
 Form of Payment – All active participants are assumed to elect the normal form of payment.   

 
The significant changes in actuarial assumptions and methods as of January 1, 2014 included the 
following: 
 

 First Class Firefighter Salary was increased from $2,802 to $2,886 per pay period to reflect the 
current highest negotiated rate. 

 
Historical Trend Information – The schedules of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information (RSI) following the notes to the financial statements, present multiyear trend information 
about whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the 
AALs for benefits. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 160Packet Page 232



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Pension Plan Investments – The investment policies and fair value determination policies are disclosed 
above in Notes A and E.  For the year ended December 31, 2015, the annual money-weighted rate of 
return on pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was a loss of 1.72%.  The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for 
the changing amounts actually invested.  The plan’s investment policies, including fair value 
determination, concentration of credit risk information, and asset allocation is included in Note E – 
Deposits and Investments. 
 
Long Term Expected Rate of Return – The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of 
return is determined by adding expected inflation to expected long-term real returns and reflecting 
expected volatility and correlation.  The capital market assumptions are per the actuary’s investment 
consulting practice as of December 31, 2015. 
 

Long-Term Expected
Geometric Real Rate

Asset Class Of Return
Domestic Large Cap 3.9%
Domestic Small Cap 4.3%
International Equity 4.3%
Emerging Markets 4.8%
Domestic Fixed Income 2.1%
Floating Rate Corporate Loans 3.0%
High Yield 3.9%
Real Estate 3.3%
Commodities 1.7%  

 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%.  The plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension 
liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 161Packet Page 233



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
1. “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions. 

 
Net Pension Liability – The components of the net pension liability of the City at December 31, 2015 
were as follows: 
 

Total Pension Liability 14,590,221$            
Fiduciary Net Position 12,450,000              

Net Pension Liability 2,140,221$              

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a 
Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 85.33%  

 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan recognized pension 
expense of  $340,449.  The City of Boulder reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to this plan from the following sources: 
 
    “Old Hire” Police Defined Benefit Plan: 
 

 Deferred Outflows of 
Resources 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 
 

 $978,265 
 

 
      Total 

 
           $978,265 

 
 
12 
12 
12 
12 
12 
12 
12 
12 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 162Packet Page 234



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Sensitivity Analysis – The following presents the net pension liability of the City of Boulder, calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the City of Boulder’s net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.5%) or 1 percentage point higher 
(8.5%) than the current rate. 

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase

(6.5%) (7.5%) (8.5%)

Net Pension Liability 3,364,595$       2,140,221$       1,081,000$       

 
 

2. “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan 
 
Plan Description - The City’s full-time firefighters hired prior to April 8, 1978, are members of the City 
of Boulder “Old Hire” Fire Pension Benefit Plan (Plan), a single employer defined benefit pension plan.   
The Plan is closed to any new participants.  The Plan covers two groups:  “Employees” and “Former 
Members”. 
 
Employees – The City established The City of Boulder “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan and Trust 
Agreement (Plan Document) in 2002.  This Plan Document was effective retroactive to January 1, 2000, 
and superseded and replaced the retirement benefits that had previously been provided under Colorado 
Revised Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 
1981.  The provisions of this Plan Document apply solely to employees whose employment with the 
employer terminates on or after January 1, 2000. 
 
Former Members – This group includes employees whose employment with the employer terminated 
prior to January 1, 2000.  They are covered by the retirement benefits provided under Colorado Revised 
Statutes, Title 31, Article 30.5 as modified by Chapter 9, Title 2 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981. 
 
However, the Trust Fund established by the Plan Document is obligated to pay all benefits to these 
employees.   
 
Board of Trustees -   Management of the plan is vested in the six member Board, which consists of one 
citizen at large, the Mayor and the Chief Financial Officer of the City, and three retired beneficiaries of 
the plan (retired firefighters).   
 
Benefits – Members aged 50 with 20 years of credited service are entitled to annual pension benefits 
equivalent to 50% of monthly compensation at the date of retirement.  The Plan Document provides for 
an additional retirement benefit of 2% per year for each additional year of service after 20 years of 
service, credited after September 1, 1987, and attainment of age 50, up to a maximum of 10% prior to 
January 1, 2000.  Beginning January 1, 2000, and on each successive January 1, all actives, who are 
eligible for normal retirement (age 50 and 20 years of service) are to receive a 3% increase of final  
12 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 163Packet Page 235



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
salary, up to a maximum of 65% of final salary.  On termination, members may receive a refund of their 
contributions without interest.  This refund of contributions paid waives future rights to any benefits. 
 
The minimum benefits for Former Members are: $875.50 per month for those receiving a normal or 
disability retirement and $515.00 per month for those receiving a beneficiary retirement. 
 
The Board of Trustees can make benefit change recommendations to the City Manager who must then 
present the changes to the City Council for ultimate approval.  City policy dictates that no pension benefit 
increase can be given if there is an unfunded liability in the plan.   
 
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Program – During 2000, a DROP provision was added to 
the Plan.  This enables an active member, who is eligible to retire, to elect to have their employee 
contributions, annual pension benefits and interest thereon, directed to a separate account for up to five 
years prior to retirement.  The City share of pension contributions is excluded from the employee’s DROP 
account but continues to be allocated to the Plan.  The annual pension benefit is initially calculated as of 
the date of the election of the DROP.   
 
The pension benefit in subsequent years will include any benefit increases granted by the Board to 
retirees and widows.  Upon retirement, the member begins to receive pension payments in the form of an 
annuity and the cumulative assets in the DROP account are paid to him in a lump-sum.  As of December 
31, 2015, there are no current Fire employees who have elected the DROP and all DROP balances have 
been disbursed. 
 
Death and Disability Benefits 
 
Employees and Former Members – Effective January 1, 2007, the widow of a retiree who retired prior to 
January 1, 1990, is eligible for a benefit of the lessor of  one-third of the monthly salary paid by the City 
to a first class firefighter at the date of the member’s death or earlier retirement or the Board established 
minimum widow benefit which is currently $515.00 per month.  Benefits for normal or disability retirees 
who retired prior to January 1, 2000, are eligible for a minimum benefit of $875.50 per month.  
Dependent children of the employee are eligible for $30.00 per month, if there is no surviving spouse. 
Benefit payments to beneficiaries continue if the widow of a deceased member remarries. 
 
Employees – The benefits of active employees as of January 1, 1990, include a widow’s benefit equal to 
100% of the active employees retirement benefit.  This benefit change was approved during 1990 and is 
fully-funded by employee contributions. 
 
When any member dies, regardless of whether active, retired or terminated, the surviving spouse or the 
estate of the deceased member shall receive a one-time death benefit of $100. 
12 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 164Packet Page 236



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Contributions and Funding Policy – The Plan is a joint-contributory retirement plan operating on an 
actuarial reserve basis. Per the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Pension Plan, the contribution 
requirements of the plan members and the City are established and may be amended by the International  
Association of Fire Fighters, Local #900 collective bargaining agreement in effect for the payroll period 
concerned.  Contribution rates during 2015 were 2.451% and 7.833% of covered payroll for the City and 
employees, respectively.  City contributions must be at least equal to employee contributions.  The City 
must also contribute an additional annual payment necessary to make the plan actuarially sound as 
defined by Section 3.02 of the plan document with no maximum specified.  In 2015, the City contributed 
$64,207 to meet the actuarially calculated contribution requirement which exceeded the state-mandated 
requirement.  Administrative expenditures are recorded when incurred and are financed by the Plan.  
 
Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits - An actuarial study was prepared at January 1, 
2015 and rolled forward to December 31, 2015.  It is the Fire Pension Board policy to have an actuarial 
study prepared every two years or whenever a benefit change is being considered.   
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation as of January 1, 2015 included the following: 
 

 Actuarial Cost Method – Entry age normal actuarial cost method.   
 Amortization Method and Remaining Period – Closed, level dollar amortization of unfunded 

actuarial liability over the remaining amortization period which is 12 years. 
 Asset Valuation Method – The market value of assets. 
 Investment Rate of Return – 7.5% compounded annually, net of expenses. 
 Inflation rate – 2.75% compounded annually. 
 Salary Increases – None assumed. 
 Retirement Age – Not Applicable – All participants are retired. 
 Retiree Mortality – Sex-distinct RP-2000 mortality for annuitants projected by Scale AA to 2017. 
 Minimum Death Benefit – A minimum death benefit of $515 per pay period is used. 
 First Class Firefighter Salary – The highest negotiated First Class Firefighter Salary is used to 

calculate death benefits.  For 2014, this is projected to be $2,886 per pay period. 
 Marriage Rates – Male spouses are assumed to be three years older than their female spouses.  

Actual marital status is used for retirees. 
 Form of Payment – All active participants are assumed to elect the normal form of payment.   

 
The significant changes in actuarial assumptions and methods as of January 1, 2014 included the 
following: 
 

 First Class Firefighter Salary was increased from $2,802 to $2,886 to reflect the current highest 
negotiated rate. 
12 
 

 
12 
12 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 165Packet Page 237



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
Funded Status and Funding Progress – As of January 1, 2014, the most recent actuarial valuation date, 
the plan was 103.3% funded.  The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $11,831,797 and the 
actuarial value of assets was $12,218,000, resulting in an overfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) 
of $386,203.  The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $0 and 
the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was not applicable since all participants were retired as of  
January 1, 2014.  In October 2010, City of Boulder Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds were issued and 
$3,531,000 of additional funding was deposited into the plan to decrease the UAAL for the future. 
 
Historical Trend Information – The schedules of funding progress, presented as required supplementary 
information (RSI) following the notes to the financial statements, present multi-year trend information 
about whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to the 
AALs for benefits.   
 
Pension Plan Investments – The investment policies and fair value determination policies are disclosed 
above in Notes A and E.  For the year ended December 31, 2015, the annual money-weighted rate of 
return on pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was a loss of 1.74%.  The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for 
the changing amounts actually invested. The plan’s investment policies, including fair value 
determination, concentration of credit risk information, and asset allocation is included in Note E – 
Deposits and Investments. 
 
Long Term Expected Rate of Return – The best-estimate range for the long-term expected rate of 
return is determined by adding expected inflation to expected long-term real returns and reflecting 
expected volatility and correlation.  The capital market assumptions are per the actuary’s investment 
consulting practice as of December 31, 2015.  
 
 

Long-Term Expected
Geometric Real Rate

Asset Class Of Return
Domestic Large Cap 3.9%
Domestic Mid Cap 4.0%
Domestic Small Cap 4.3%
International Equity 4.3%
Emerging Markets 4.8%
Domestic Fixed Income 2.1%
Floating Rate Corporate Loans 3.0%
High Yield 3.9%
Commodities 1.7%  

 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 166Packet Page 238



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
12 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%.  The plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension 
liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return.2 
 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions. 
 
Net Pension Liability – The components of the net pension liability of the City at December 31, 2015 
were as follows: 
 

Total Pension Liability 10,684,184$            
Fiduciary Net Position 9,822,000                

Net Pension Liability 862,184$                 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a 
Percentage of the Total Pension Liability 91.93%  
 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan recognized pension 
expense of $137,948.  The City of Boulder reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to this plan from the following sources: 
 
    “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan: 
 

 Deferred Outflows of 
Resources 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 
 

 $779,014 
 

 
      Total 

 
           $779,014 

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 167Packet Page 239



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
12 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
2. “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
Sensitivity Analysis – The following present the net pension liability of the City of Boulder, calculated 
using the discount rate or 7.5%, as well as what the City of Boulder’s net pension liability would be if it 
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.5%) or 1 percentage point higher 
(8.5%) than the current rate. 

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase

(6.5%) (7.5%) (8.5%)

Net Pension Liability 1,689,666$       862,184$          141,536$          

 
 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) 
 
Plan Description – Eligible employees of the City of Boulder are provided with pensions through the 
Local Government Division Trust Fund (LGDTF)—a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit 
pension plan administered by PERA. Plan benefits are specified in Title 24, Article 51 of the Colorado 
Revised Statutes (C.R.S.), administrative rules set forth at 8 C.C.R. 1502-1, and applicable provisions of 
the federal Internal Revenue Code. Colorado State law provisions may be amended from time to time by 
the Colorado General Assembly. PERA issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report 
that can be obtained at www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports. 
 
Benefits Provided - PERA provides retirement, disability, and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are 
determined by the amount of service credit earned and/or purchased, highest average salary, the benefit 
structure(s) under which the member retires, the benefit option selected at retirement, and age at 
retirement. Retirement eligibility is specified in tables set forth at C.R.S. § 24-51-602, 604, 1713, and 
1714. 
 
The lifetime retirement benefit for all eligible retiring employees under the PERA Benefit Structure is the 
greater of the: 
 

 Highest average salary multiplied by 2.5 percent and then multiplied by years of service credit  
 

 The value of the retiring employee’s member contribution account plus a 100 percent match on 
eligible amounts as of the retirement date. This amount is then annuitized into a monthly benefit 
based on life expectancy and other actuarial factors.  
 

 Highest average salary multiplied by 2.5 percent and then multiplied by years of service credit  
2 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 168Packet Page 240



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
12 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) (Continued) 
 
 

 $15 times the first 10 years of service credit plus $20 times service credit over 10 years plus a 
monthly amount equal to the annuitized member contribution account balance based on life 
expectancy and other actuarial factors.  

 
In all cases the service retirement benefit is limited to 100 percent of highest average salary and also 
cannot exceed the maximum benefit allowed by federal Internal Revenue Code. 
 
Members may elect to withdraw their member contribution accounts upon termination of employment 
with all PERA employers; waiving rights to any lifetime retirement benefits earned. If eligible, the 
member may receive a match of either 50 percent or 100 percent on eligible amounts depending on when 
contributions were remitted to PERA, the date employment was terminated, whether 5 years of service 
credit has been obtained and the benefit structure under which contributions were made. 
 
Benefit recipients who elect to receive a lifetime retirement benefit are generally eligible to receive post-
retirement cost-of-living adjustments (COLAs), referred to as annual increases in the C.R.S. Benefit 
recipients under the PERA benefit structure who began eligible employment before January 1, 2007 and 
all benefit recipients of the DPS benefit structure receive an annual increase of 2 percent, unless PERA 
has a negative investment year, in which case the annual increase for the next three years is the lesser of 2 
percent or the average of the Consumer Price Index for Urban Wage Earners and Clerical Workers (CPI-
W) for the prior calendar year. Benefit recipients under the PERA benefit structure who began eligible 
employment after January 1, 2007 receive an annual increase of the lesser of 2 percent or the average 
CPI-W for the prior calendar year, not to exceed 10 percent of PERA’s Annual Increase Reserve for the 
LGDTF. 
 
Disability benefits are available for eligible employees once they reach five years of earned service credit 
and are determined to meet the definition of disability. The disability benefit amount is based on the 
retirement benefit formula shown above considering a minimum 20 years of service credit, if deemed 
disabled. 
 
Survivor benefits are determined by several factors, which include the amount of earned service credit, 
highest average salary of the deceased, the benefit structure(s) under which service credit was obtained, 
and the qualified survivor(s) who will receive the benefits. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 169Packet Page 241



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) (Continued) 
 
 
Contribution - Eligible employees and the City of Boulder are required to contribute to the LGDTF at a 
rate set by Colorado statute. The contribution requirements are established under C.R.S. § 24-51-401, et 
seq. Eligible employees are required to contribute 8 percent of their PERA-includable salary. The 
employer contribution requirements are summarized in the table below: 
 
 

 Rate 
Employer Contribution Rate1 10.00% 
Amount of Employer Contribution apportioned 
to the Health Care Trust Fund as specified in 
C.R.S. § 24-51-208(1)(f) 1 

(1.02)% 

Amount Apportioned to the LGDTF1 8.98%  
Amortization Equalization Disbursement (AED) 
as specified in C.R.S. § 24-51-411 1 

2.20% 

Supplemental Amortization Equalization 
Disbursement (SAED) as specified in C.R.S. § 
24-51-411 1 

1.50% 

Total Employer Contribution Rate to the 
LGDTF1 

12.68% 

  
1Rates are expressed as a percentage of salary as defined in C.R.S. § 24-51-101(42). 
 
Employer contributions are recognized by the LGDTF in the period in which the compensation becomes 
payable to the member and the City of Boulder is statutorily committed to pay the contributions to the 
LGDTF. Employer contributions recognized by the LGDTF from the City of Boulder were $8,635,000 
for the year ended 12/31/2015. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At December 31, 2015, the City of Boulder reported a liability of $107,299,000 for its proportionate share 
of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2013. Standard update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability to 
December 31, 2014. The City of Boulder’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on City of 
Boulder contributions to the LGDTF for the calendar year 2014 relative to the total contributions of 
participating employers to the LGDTF. 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 170Packet Page 242



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) (Continued) 
 
At December 31, 2014, the City of Boulder’s proportion was 11.9715197388 percent, which was an 
increase of 0.0438445456 from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2013.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City of Boulder recognized pension expense of approximately  
$11,463,000.  The City of Boulder reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 
 Governmental Activities: 
 

 Deferred Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources 

Difference between expected and 
actual experience 
 

- 
 

$18,000 
 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 
 

 $4,684,644 
 

- 
 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between contributions recognized and 
proportionate share of contributions 

     162,622 
 

- 
 

 
Contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

  7,308,734 
 N/A 

 
      Total 

 
        $12,156,000 

 

 
$18,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 171Packet Page 243



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
 
Business-type Activities: 

 
 Deferred Outflows of 

Resources 
Deferred Inflows of 

Resources 
Difference between expected and 
actual experience 
 

- 
 

$4,000 
 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 
 

$1,134,356 
 

- 
 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between contributions recognized and 
proportionate share of contributions 

      39,378 
 

- 
 

 
Contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

 1,326,266 
 N/A 

 
      Total 

 
         $2,500,000 

 

 
$4,000 

 
 
 
 
$8,635,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, resulting from contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the 
year ended December 31, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended 12/31: Governmental   
Activities 

Business-type 
Activities 

2016  $1,238,090    $299,910 
2017    1,238,090      299,910 
2018    1,185,836      287,164 
2019    1,167,250      282,750 
2020       -0-      -0- 
Thereafter      -0-      -0- 

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 172Packet Page 244



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) (Continued) 
 
 
Actuarial assumptions - The total pension liability in the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs: 
 

Price inflation  2.80 percent 
Real wage growth  1.10 percent 
Wage inflation  3.90 percent 
Salary increases, including wage inflation  3.90 – 10.85 percent 
Long-term investment Rate of Return, net of pension 
 plan investment expenses, including price inflation  7.50 percent 
Future post-retirement benefit increases: 
 PERA Benefit Structure hired prior to 1/1/07; 
  and DPS Benefit Structure (automatic) 2.00 percent 
 PERA Benefit Structure hired after 12/31/06  
      (ad hoc, substantively automatic) Financed by the  
   Annual Increase Reserve 

 
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table for Males or Females, as 
appropriate, with adjustments for mortality improvements based on a projection of Scale AA to 2020 with 
Males set back 1 year, and Females set back 2 years.  
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2013 valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2011, adopted by 
PERA’s Board on November 13, 2012, and an economic assumption study, adopted by PERA’s Board on 
November 15, 2013 and January 17, 2014. 
 
The LGDTF’s long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-
normal distribution analysis in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
return, net of investment expense and inflation) were developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
were combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real 
rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then adding expected inflation. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 173Packet Page 245



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) (Continued) 
 
 
As of the most recent analysis of the long-term expected rate of return, presented to the PERA Board on 
November 15, 2013, the target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each 
major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation 10 Year Expected Geometric 
Real Rate of Return 

U.S. Equity – Large Cap 26.76% 5.00% 
U.S. Equity – Small Cap 4.40% 5.19% 
Non U.S. Equity – Developed 22.06% 5.29% 
Non U.S. Equity – Emerging 6.24% 6.76% 
Core Fixed Income 24.05% 0.98% 
High Yield 1.53% 2.64% 
Long Duration Gov’t/Credit 0.53% 1.57% 
Emerging Market Bonds 0.43% 3.04% 
Real Estate 7.00% 5.09% 
Private Equity 7.00% 7.15% 
             Total 100.00%  

 
* In setting the long-term expected rate of return, projections employed to model future returns provide a 
range of expected long-term returns that, including expected inflation, ultimately support a long-term 
expected rate of return assumption of 7.50%.  
 
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50 percent. The 
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be 
made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the 
fixed statutory rates specified in law, including current and future AED and SAED, until the Actuarial 
Value Funding Ratio reaches 103 percent, at which point, the AED and SAED will each drop 0.50 
percent every year until they are zero. Based on those assumptions, the LGDTF’s fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The discount rate determination does 
not use the Municipal Bond Index Rate. There was no change in the discount rate from the prior 
measurement date. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 174Packet Page 246



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
3. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) (Continued) 
 
 
Sensitivity of the City of Boulder’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the 
discount rate. The following presents the proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using 
the discount rate of 7.50 percent, as well as what the proportionate share of the net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.50 percent) or 1-
percentage-point higher (8.50 percent) than the current rate (in thousands): 
 

 1% Decrease 
(6.50%) 

Current 
Discount Rate 
(7.50%) 

1% Increase 
(8.50%) 

Proportionate share of the net pension 
liability 

175,213 107,299 50,658 

 
If the City of Boulder rehires a PERA retiree as an employee or under any other work arrangement, it is 
required to report and pay the employer contribution rate on the amounts paid for the retiree.  As of 
January 1, 2011, the employee is also required to pay the 8.0% contribution rate on any wages earned.   
 
For the years ending December 31, 2015, 2014,  and 2013, the City of Boulder’s contributions to the 
LGDTF, were $8,635,000, $8,316,000, and $8,068,000, respectively, equal to their required contributions 
for each year. 
 
4. Police and Fire Money Purchase Pension Plan 
 
The City’s full-time police officers and firefighters hired on or after April 8, 1978, are covered by the 
Police and Fire Money Purchase Plan (Plan), an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) plan.  This Plan is 
a single-employer defined contribution plan that was established by the City Council effective January 1, 
1983.  The Plan is administered by a Board of Trustees comprised of two elected Boulder Police 
Department employees, two elected Boulder Fire Department employees and one appointed member who 
is not an employee of either the Police or Fire departments and has business and/or investment experience 
within the community.  The contribution levels are established at the time of labor negotiations and are 
detailed in the bargaining unit agreements for information only. 
 
The Boulder Police Benevolent Association negotiated an economic agreement with the City which is in 
effect through December 31, 2015.  The City’s contribution requirement for the year ended December 31, 
2015, was 13.8%,of covered payroll.  The dollar amount of the City’s contributions was $1,906,787 in 
2015.  The employee contributions were 6.2%, or $856,669, of covered payroll. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 175Packet Page 247



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
 NOTE U – PENSION AND RETIREMENT PLANS (CONTINUED) 
 
4. Police and Fire Money Purchase Pension Plan (continued) 
 
The International Association of Firefighters, Local #900, negotiated an economic agreement with the 
City, which was in effect through December 31, 2016.  The City’s contribution requirement for the year 
ended December 31, 2015, was 13% of covered payroll, or $1,228,008.  The employee contributions were 
8% of covered payroll, or $755,692. 
 
City contributions and interest forfeited by employees who leave employment before five years of service 
are first used for administrative charges and second to reduce the City’s current period contribution 
requirement.  All participants may make additional contributions of up to 25% of their salary or $30,000, 
whichever is less. 
 
Benefits – An employee is eligible to receive benefits upon death, disability or normal retirement.  
Benefits are paid out of the employee’s individual account.  This account is made up of: 100% of the 
employee’s contributions; 100% of the employer contributions if the employee terminates because of 
death, disability or normal retirement, or a lesser percent based on the vesting schedule in the plan 
document if the employee terminates for another reason; and the interest earnings either positive or 
negative, over the term of the employee’s employment with the City.  Benefits are distributed at the 
discretion of the administration committee either in a lump-sum or over the employee’s life expectancy or 
10 years, whichever is less. 
 
Death and Disability Benefits – If an active member dies or becomes disabled (but is not eligible for an 
age and service retirement) while employed, the member’s spouse and dependent children will receive 
survivor benefits or the member will receive benefits under the State Fire and Police Pension Association 
(FPPA).  See description under Fire and Police Pension Association below. 
 
The Police and Fire Money Purchase Plan issues a publicly available annual financial report that includes 
financial statements and required supplementary information.  That report may be obtained by writing to 
City of Boulder Fire and Police Money Purchase Plan, 1805 33rd Street, Boulder, Colorado, 80301.  
 
 
NOTE V – DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS 
 
The Colorado Revised Statutes allow any City to exempt the City Manager and key management staff 
who report directly to the City Manager or the City Council from membership in the Public Employees 
Retirement Association, provided each such person has executed a trust agreement and deferred 
compensation employment agreement with the International City Management Association Retirement 
Corporation (ICMA-RC), an Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a) plan.  The assets of these two plans 
are held in a trust account and therefore are not reflected on the City of Boulder financial statements. 
 
 
 
  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 176Packet Page 248



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE V – DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS (Continued) 
 
In addition to ICMA-RC, City Council authorized the establishment of a deferred compensation program 
for City employees.  T. Rowe Price, through a bid process, was selected as administrator of the program. 
Deferred compensation is not available for withdrawal by employees until termination, retirement, death 
or unforeseeable emergency.  The assets of this plan are held in a trust account and therefore are not 
reflected on the City of Boulder financial statements. 
 
In the opinion of the City’s legal counsel, the City has no liability for losses under the plans but does have 
the duty of due care that would be required of an ordinary prudent investor.  
 
 
NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 

  THAN PENSIONS 
 
1. Public Employees Retirement Association (PERA) Health Care Trust Fund 
 
Plan Description – The City of Boulder contributes to the Health Care Trust Fund (HCTF), a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer healthcare trust administered by PERA.  The HCTF provides a health care premium 
subsidy and health care programs (known as PERACare) to PERA participating benefit recipients and 
their eligible beneficiaries.  Title 24, Article 51, Part 12 of the CRS, as amended, establishes the HCTF 
and sets forther a framework that grants authority to the PERA Board to contract, self-insure and 
authorize disbursements necessary in order to carry out the purposes of the PERACare program, including 
the administration of health care subsidies.  PERA issues a publicly available Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the 
HCTF.  That report may be obtained online at www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports.  
 
Funding Policy – The City of Boulder is required to contribute at a rate of 1.02%, of PERA-includable  
salary for all PERA members as set by statute.  No member contributions are required.  The contribution 
requirements for the City of Boulder are established under Title 24, Article 51, Part 4 of the CRS, as 
amended.  The apportionment of the contribution to the HCTF is established under Title 24, Article 51, 
Section 208(1)(f) of the CRS, as amended.  
 
The City of Boulder’s contributions to HCTF for the years ending December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 
were $ 674,933, $667,228 and $647,219, respectively, equal to their required contributions for each year. 
 
2. Fire and Police Pension Association (FPPA) Death and Disability Plan 
 
All full-time police officers and firefighters are covered by the Fire and Police Pension Association 
(FPPA), a multiple-employer cost-sharing plan for pre-retirement death and disability.  To date 
contributions to the plan have been determined and budgeted by the State legislature.  State law provided 
that these contributions would continue in diminishing amounts until 1994.  The State requires employees 
hired on or after January 1, 1997, to contribute 2.6% of salary.  The City pays the 2.6% for all affected 
police officers and firefighters.  In 2015, 2014, and 2013, the City paid $354,659, $355,887 and 
$320,527, respectively, equal to their required contributions for each year. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 177Packet Page 249



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 

  THAN PENSIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
 
2. Fire and Police Pension Association (FPPA) Death and Disability Plan (Continued) 
 
FPPA issues a publicly available annual financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information.  That report may be obtained online at www.fppaco.org or by writing to Fire 
and Police Pension Association of Colorado, 5290 DTC Parkway, Suite 100, Greenwood Village, 
Colorado, 80111-2721 or by calling FPPA at (303) 770-3772 or 1-800-332-3772. 
 
 
3. City of Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan 
 
Plan Description – The City of Boulder administers a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan (the 
Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan).  The City provides health care insurance coverage to current and future 
retirees of the City who retire with a PERA or City provided pension and have 12 years of service with 
the City.  Employees who terminate or retire prior to meeting the eligibility requirements for retiree 
healthcare benefits are not eligible to participate in the program.  The Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan is 
not covered within a trust fund and does not issue a publicly available financial report. 
 
Funding Policy – The Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis with retirees 
paying 100% of the blended health insurance premium for the retiree and dependents.  Benefit provisions 
are established by City management.  The benefit provided by the Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan is 
made up entirely of the implicit rate subsidy which results from both the retirees and the active employees 
paying the same insurance premiums.   
 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation – The City’s annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) 
cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount 
actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45.  The ARC represents a 
level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize 
any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30 years.   
 
The following table shows the components of the City’s annual OPEB cost for the year, the amount 
actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the City’s net OPEB obligation (amounts in 000’s): 
 

Annual required contribution (ARC) 493$                 
Interest on prior year net OPEB obligation 87                     
Adjustment to ARC 130                   

Annual OPEB cost 710                   
Contributions made 337                   

Increase in net OPEB obligation 373                   
Net OPEB obligation – beginning of year 2,132                
Net OPEB obligation – end of year 2,505$              

 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 178Packet Page 250



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 

  THAN PENSIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
3. City of Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan (Continued) 

 
The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net 
OPEB obligation for 2015 and the two preceding years were as follows: 
 

Fiscal
Year

Annual
OPEB Cost

Percentage of
Annual OPEB

Cost Contributed

Net
OPEB

Obligation

2013 603$                          73.0% 1,794$                                
2014 778$                          56.6% 2,132$                                
2015 710$                          47.5% 2,505$                                 

 
Funded Status and Funding Progress – As of January 1, 2015, the most recent actuarial evaluation date, 
the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $4,939,361 all of which was unfunded.  The covered 
payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $74,056,002, and the ratio of the 
unfunded actuarial accrued liability to the covered payroll was 6.7%. 
 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  Amounts determined 
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made 
about the future.  The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information 
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year trend information about whether the 
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued 
liabilities for benefits. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions – Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based 
on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the 
types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit 
costs between the employer and plan members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used 
include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.   
 
An actuarial study was prepared at January 1, 2015. It is the plan’s policy to have an actuarial study 
prepared every two years. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 179Packet Page 251



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE W – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS (OPEB) 

  THAN PENSIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
3. City of Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan (Continued) 
 
The significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation as of January 1, 2013, included the following: 
 

 Actuarial Cost Method – Projected Unit Credit cost method. 
 Amortization Method – Open, level percent of pay over 30 years 
 Discount Rate – 3.75% per annum. 
 Inflation – 2.5% per annum. 
 Wage Growth – 3.0% per annum. 
 Administrative Expense – Claims expense is included in the premiums charged by the City’s 

health insurance carrier.  No other OPEB program expenses are included in this valuation. 
 Retirement – Age and service eligibility requirements for PERA (Management and BMEA 

employees) and City provided pensions (Fire and Police).   
 Mortality –  

o Healthy Lives –Pre-retirement - RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 
2030 using Scale BB. 

o Healthy Lives –Post-retirement - RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table projected to 
2022 using Scale BB 

o Disabled Lives – RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table. 
 Election of Retirement Coverage – All current retired participants are assumed to continue health 

care coverage. 25% of future eligible retired participants are assumed to participate upon 
retirement. 

 Probability of Spouse Coverage – 50% of future retirees who elect coverage are assumed to elect 
spousal coverage upon retirement. 

 Lapse Assumption – it is assumed that 67% of all current and future retirees will cease 
participation int heplan upon the attainment of age 65. 

 Health Care Cost Trend – Using the Milliman Adjusted Getzen Model, the trend rate starts at 
3.8% for 2016 and varies to a rate of 4.5% in 2071. 

 Amortization Period – The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is amortized over 30 years using 
an open level percent of pay method. 

 
The significant changes in actuarial assumptions and methods as of January 1, 2015 included the 
following: 
 

 Updated claims and premiums to experience and plan changes.  
 The trend assumption was updated using the Getzen Trend Model. 
 The mortality assumption was updated to better reflect anticipated plan experience. 

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 180Packet Page 252



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE X – PLEDGED REVENUES 
 
Water and Sewer Revenues Pledged 
 
The City has pledged future water and sewer customer revenues, net of specified operating expenses, to 
repay $62,280,000 in outstanding water and sewer system revenue bonds.  Proceeds from the bonds 
provided financing for the construction of capital assets or refunded other revenue bonds issued for that 
purpose.  The bonds are payable solely from water and sewer customer net revenues and are payable 
through 2035.  Annual principal and interest payments on the bonds are expected to require 
approximately 50% of net revenues (as defined by the bond ordinances).  The total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2015 is $77,390,881.  Principal and interest paid for 
the current year and total customer net revenues were $9,627,000 and $29,996,000, respectively. 
 
Stormwater and Flood Management Revenues Pledged 
 
The City has pledged future stormwater and flood management fund revenues, net of specified operating 
expenses, to repay $23,605,000 in outstanding stormwater and flood management revenue bonds.  
Proceeds from the bonds provided financing for the construction of capital assets or refunded other 
revenue bonds issued for that purpose.  The bonds are payable solely from stormwater and flood 
management fund revenues and are payable through 2034.  Annual principal and interest payments on the 
bonds are expected to require less than 42% of net revenues (as defined by the bond ordinances).  The 
total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2015 is $31,360,363.  
Principal and interest paid for the current year and total customer net revenues were $788,000 and 
$6,188,000, respectively. 
 
Open Space Sales Tax Revenues Pledged 
 
The City has pledged future sales and use tax revenues generated by the .88% sales and use tax levies of 
the Open Space Fund to repay $21,880,000 in outstanding open space bonds.  Proceeds from the bonds 
provided financing for the acquisition of open space land or refunded other bonds issued for that purpose.  
The $21,880,000 of bonds are payable from the Open Space Fund sales tax revenues and are also backed 
with a pledge of the full faith and credit of the City.  These bonds mature through 2034. In 2019, .48% of 
the total .88% sales tax levy will expire, which will materially decrease pledged revenues.  Annual 
principal and interest payments on the bonds are expected to require less than 39% of pledged sales tax 
revenues.  The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2015 is 
$25,842,025.  Principal and interest paid for the current year and total pledged sales tax revenues were 
$4,380,000 and $29,512,000, respectively. 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 181Packet Page 253



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE X – PLEDGED REVENUES (CONTINUED) 
 
Downtown Commercial District Revenues Pledged 
 
The City has pledged a portion of future sales tax revenues to repay $5,890,000 in outstanding bonds 
issued by the City of Boulder Central Area General Improvement District (CAGID), now known as the 
Downtown Commercial District, to finance an underground parking garage located at 9th Street and 
Canyon Boulevard (TIF bonds).  These TIF bonds are payable from the Parking Garage Net Revenues, 
incremental property tax revenues of the tax increment area and incremental sales and accommodations 
tax revenues.   
 
In addition, the City has pledged future net revenue derived by CAGID from the operation of its 
properties to repay $2,885,000 in other general obligation bonds outstanding.  These bonds are payable 
from the net operating revenues generated by operations of the District’s parking structures.   
 
Both the TIF bonds and the other general obligation bonds are backed with a pledge of the full faith and 
credit of CAGID.  These bonds mature through 2023.  Annual principal and interest payments on the 
outstanding bonds are expected to require less than 39% of pledged revenues.  The total principal and 
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds at December 31, 2015 is $9,789,800.  Principal and interest 
paid for the current year and total pledged revenues were $1,773,000 and $4,215,000, respectively. 
 
Boulder Municipal Property Authority Revenues Pledged 
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) pledged as security for certificates of participation 
and lease purchase notes (debt) the base rental revenues received from the City’s various funds and 
operations.  As of December 31, 2015, BMPA currently has $46,727,000 in outstanding debt used 
primarily to provide funding for acquisition of property,  land for Parks and Open Space purposes.  The 
City appropriates each year, from various revenue sources, base rental expenses in amounts sufficient to 
cover the principal and interest requirements on BMPA’s debt.  In accordance with state statutes, the 
appropriation by the City is subject to annual renewal at discretion of the City Council.  BMPA has 
pledged, as the sole security for the bonds, the annual base rental revenues received from the City.  Total 
principal and interest remaining on the debt is $65,657,000 with annual requirements ranging from 
$4,316,000 in 2016 to $2,823,000 in 2036.  The base rental revenues received each year equal the debt 
service requirements on BMPA’s debt, averaging $3,804,987 over the last 15 years.  For the current year, 
principal and interest incurred by BMPA and the total base rental revenues pledged were $1,701,000 and 
$1,701,000, respectively. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 182Packet Page 254



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE X – PLEDGED REVENUES (CONTINUED) 
 
Trash Tax Revenues 
 
On August 16, 1994, the City passed the 1994 Ordinance approving the 1994 Election Question which 
authorized the City to raise its trash tax to a rate not to exceed a maximum per month of $3.50 for 
residential customers and a maximum of $0.85 per cubic yard per month for commercial customers.  At a 
special municipal election held on November 8, 1994, the voters of the City approved the 1994 Election 
Question authorizing the maximum trash tax rates and authorizing the City under TABOR to issue not to 
exceed $6,000,000 of bonds payable from the City’s trash tax revenues and additionally secured by the  
full faith and credit of the City, for the purpose acquisition of interests in land and constructing, operating 
and maintenance of municipal solid waste recycling and composting facilities. On December 15, 2009, 
$6,000,000 in General Obligation Waste Reduction Bonds were issued. As of December 31, 2015, there 
are currently $4,500,000 in outstanding Waste Reduction Bonds.  Total principal and interest remaining 
as of December 31, 2015 is $5,913,163.  The bond ordinance requires quarterly transfers of trash haulers 
tax to cover the current year’s debt service.  For the current year, principal and interest paid and total 
pledged revenues were $422,663 and $422,663, respectively. 
 
General Fund Bonds (Capital Improvement Projects) 
 
The City has pledged any and all legally available funds and revenues of the General Fund of the City, up 
to the full amount of principal of, interest on and premium, if any, due in each year, for the punctual 
payment of the principal of, interest on and premium, if any, due in connection with the maturity of or 
redemption of the Series 2012 Bonds as the same respectively became due and payable.  These bonds 
were issued March 22, 2012 in the amount of $49,000,000 with a net premium of $5,829,997.  As of 
December 31, 2015, $40,200,000 in bonds remain outstanding.  The principal and interest remaining to be 
paid on the bonds at December 31, 2015 is $54,636,900.  Principal and interest paid for the current year 
and total General Fund pledged revenues were $3,995,250 and $3,995,250, respectively.  
 
NOTE Y –  SECURITY FOR CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION 
 
The Boulder Municipal Property Authority (BMPA) Taxable Certificates of Participation, Series 2015 
evidence a proportionate interest in the base rentals and other revenues under a Lease Purchase 
Agreement dated November 1st, 2015 (the “lease”), entered into between BMPA, as lessor (the 
“Corporation”), and the City of Boulder, Colorado as lesse between the Corporation. In accordance with 
State law, the City has determined to sell the Leased property to the Corporation and lease the Leased 
Property back from the Corporation pursuant to the terms of the lease. The Leased Property consists of 
the following City facilities: 
 
Public Safety Building  - The Public Safety Building is a 71,000 square foot building constructed in 1968 
and renovated in 1989 located on a 4.09 acre site with 228 surface parking spaces. It serves as the primary 
facility for the Boulder Police Department as well as the administrative offices of the Fire Department. 
The property is presently zoned for public use and is located within a 500 year flood plain. The internal 
City appraised value for the Public Safety Building is $18,177,000. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 183Packet Page 255



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE Y –  SECURITY FOR CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION (Continued) 
 
East Boulder Community Center – The East Boulder Community Center is a 52,960 square-foot building 
constructed in 1991 located on an approximately 7.25 acre site. The East Boulder Community Center is a 
recreation and senior citizen center containing an indoor leisure pool, lap pool, locker rooms, fitness 
center and a gymnasium. In addition, the land upon which the East Boulder Community Center is located 
is adjacent to the existing East Boulder Community Park. Neither the East Boulder Community Park nor 
its facilities are part of the leased property. The property is presently zoned for public use and is located 
with a 100 year flood plain. The internal City appraised value for the East Boulder Community Center is 
$17,746,000. 
 
Park Central Building – The Park Central Building is a 20,910 square-foot building constructed in 1973 
located on an approximately 0.35 acre site. The Park Central Building consists primarily of City offices, 
including the City’s building permit office. The building presently holds 93 employees and the property 
includes 17 covered parking spaces. In addition, 1,307 square feet of the building is presently leased to 
the operator of a small restaurant. The property is presently zoned for public use and is located within a 
100 year flood plain. The internal City appraised value for the Park Central Building is $5,030,000.  
 
In the event of termination of the City’s obligations under the Lease upon the occurance of an Event of 
Nonappropriation or an Event of Default, the City is required to vacate and surrender the leased property. 
Whenever any Event of Default has happened and is continuing, the Trustee, acting for the Corporation, 
may take one or any combination of remedial steps as outlined in the 2015 Certificate of Participation 
Official Statement dated October 27, 2015. 
 
 
NOTE Z – CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions (GASB No. 68), and the related GASB Statement No. 
71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date , an amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 68, which are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 
2014. GASB No. 68 revises and establishes new financial reporting requirements for most governments 
that provide their employees with pension benefits.  GASB No. 68 requires cost-sharing employers 
participating in the PERA program to record their proportionate share, as defined in GASB No. 68, of 
PERA's unfunded pension liability. GASB Statement No. 68 and GASB Statement No. 71 also applies to 
the City’s “Old Hire” Police Benefit Plan and the City’s “Old Hire” Fire Defined Benefit Plan. For the 
City, the effect of implementing this standard was to change how it accounts and reports the net pension 
liability. Implementation of the standard resulted in a restatement of the prior period net position as 
detailed in Note A – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,  Number 15. 
12 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 184Packet Page 256



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE AA – DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES  
 
Deferred inflows and outflows of resources are discussed in Note A 12.  As of December 31, 
2015, deferred inflows and outflows of resources consisted of the following (in 000’s): 
 

Governmental Business-type
Government Wide Activities Activities Total

Deferred Outflows - Related to PERA 12,156$          2,500$             14,656$           
Deferred Outflows - Old Hire Police Pension 978                 -                   978                  
Deferred Outflows - Old Hire Fire Pension 779                 -                   779                  
Deferred Outflows - Grants and Other 171                 2,594               2,765               

Total Deferred Outflows 14,084$         5,094$            19,178$           

 
 
 
 

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

Deferred Inflows - Related to PERA 37,590$          1,325$             38,915$           
Total Deferred Inflows 37,590$         1,325$            38,915$           

 
 
 

Open Space
& Mountain Trans-

General Parks portation
Governmental Funds Fund Fund Fund

Deferred Inflows - Property Taxes 34,671$          -$                 -$                
Deferred Inflows - Grants 646                 104                  4,161               
Deferred Inflows - Accounts Receivable 132                 27                    1,837               

Total Deferred Inflows 35,449$          131$                5,998$             

Other 
BMPA Governmental
Fund Funds Total

Deferred Inflows - Property Taxes -$                2,901$             37,572$           
Deferred Inflows - Grants -                  100                  5,011               
Deferred Inflows - Accounts Receivable 153                 46                    2,195$             

Total Deferred Inflows 153$               3,047$             44,778$           

 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 185Packet Page 257



City of Boulder, Colorado 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

December 31, 2015 
 

 
NOTE AA – DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES (Continued) 
 
 
 

Stormwater
Water Wastewater and Flood Downtown Nonmajor Total Total
Utility Utility Management Commercial Enterprise Enterprise Internal Service

Proprietary Funds Fund Fund Fund District Funds Funds Funds

Deferred Outflows - Related to PERA 1,105$          734$              380$             238$              43$           2,500$      357$                 
Deferred Outflows - Grants and Other 385               2,040             7                   162                -            2,594        103                   

Total Deferred Outflows 1,490$          2,774$           387$             400$              43$           5,094$      460$                 

Deferred Inflows - Property Taxes -$              -$              -$              1,152$           169$         1,321$      -$                  
Deferred Inflows - Related to PERA 2                   1                    1                   -                -            4$             -                    

Total Deferred Inflows 2$                 1$                  1$                 1,152$           169$         1,325$      -$                  

      
NOTE AB – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
On June 7th, 2016 the City acting through its Water Utility Enterprise and its Wastewater Utility 
Enterprise issued Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 for a par amount of 
$34,145,000. Proceeds of the 2016 bonds will be used to finance future water projects and pay 
for the costs of issuing the 2016 bonds, including the cost of a reserve fund surety bond. The 
2016 bonds will be payable solely from and secured by the net income of the City’s water and 
sewer systems. The 2016 Bonds will not constitute an indebtedness or a debt of the City within 
the meanings of any constitutional, charter or statute provision or limitation, will not be payable 
from the proceeds of general property taxes, and will not be considered or help to be general 
obligations of the City, but will be its special obligations.  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 186Packet Page 258



 
 
 
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 187Packet Page 259



Total
Unfunded

Actuarial (Overfunded)
Actuarial Accrued Actuarial UAAL as a 

Actuarial Value of Liability Accrued Funded Covered Percentage of
Fiscal Valuation Assets Entry Age Liability Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll
Year Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

2011 1/1/2011 -$            6,747,489$    6,747,489$  -            82,956,844$   8.1%

2013 1/1/2013 -$            8,280,910$    8,280,910$  -            78,172,630$   10.6%

2015 1/1/2015 -$            4,939,361$    4,939,361$  -            74,056,002$   6.7%

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Funding Progress

Boulder Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 188Packet Page 260



2015 2014
Total Pension Liability

Interest on total pension liability 1,068,529$         1,097,208$        
Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses 9,185                  7,180                 
Benefit payments (1,443,000)          (1,529,000)         

Net change in total pension liability (365,286)             (424,612)            

Total pension liability, beginning 14,955,507         15,380,119        
Total pension liability, ending (a) 14,590,221$      14,955,507$     

Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 304,000$            305,000$           
Member contributions -                      1,000                 
Investment income net of investment expenses (228,000)             635,000             
Benefit payments (1,443,000)          (1,529,000)         
Administrative expenses (13,000)               (14,000)              

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (1,380,000)          (602,000)            

Fiduciary net position, beginning 13,830,000         14,432,000        
Fiduciary net position, ending (b) 12,450,000$      13,830,000$     

Net pension liability, ending (a) - (b) 2,140,221$        1,125,507$       

Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability 85.33% 92.47%

Covered payroll N/A N/A

Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll N/A N/A

Note to Schedule:
No active members are covered by this plan; therefore, payroll information is not applicable.
Information prior to 2014 was not available.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios

Police Pension Fund

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 189Packet Page 261



Fiscal Year Actuarially Actual Contribution Contribution
Ending Determined Employer Deficiency Covered as a % of

December 31 Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2006 302,812$           370,000$           (67,188)$               172,409$           214.61%
2007 302,812             473,000             (170,188)               172,409             274.35%
2008 403,366             472,000             (68,634)                 184,130             256.34%
2009 403,366             471,000             (67,634)                 184,130             255.80%
2010 661,414             5,985,000          (5,323,586)            124,228             4817.75%
2011 188,544             152,000             36,544                  129,818             117.09%
2012 219,204             222,000             (2,796)                   130,326             170.34%
2013 237,055             222,000             15,055                  35,965               617.27%
2014 181,916             305,000             (123,084)               N/A N/A
2015 181,916             304,000             (122,084)               N/A N/A

Note to Schedule:

Full actuarial valuations are performed biannually on even years.  Covered payroll data shown for 2005, 2007, and 2009 
are based on the respective prior year's amounts.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information for other significant methods and assumptions.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Police Pension Fund

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 190Packet Page 262



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Returns

Police Pension Fund

Fiscal Year Net Annual
Ending Money-Weighted

December 31, Rate of Return

2014 4.59%
2015 -1.72%

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 191Packet Page 263



2015 2014
Total Pension Liability

Interest on total pension liability 789,618$            831,605$           
Effect of economic/demographic (gains) or losses (69,656)               (48,180)             
Benefit payments (1,108,000)          (1,542,000)        

Net change in total pension liability (388,038)             (758,575)           

Total pension liability, beginning 11,072,222         11,831,797        
Total pension liability, ending (a) 10,684,184$      11,073,222$     

Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 64,000$              64,000$             
Member contributions -                      1,000                 
Investment income net of investment expenses (183,000)             334,000             
Benefit payments (1,108,000)          (1,542,000)        
Administrative expenses (15,000)               (11,000)             

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (1,242,000)          (1,154,000)        

Fiduciary net position, beginning 11,064,000         12,218,000        
Fiduciary net position, ending (b) 9,822,000$        11,064,000$     

Net pension liability, ending (a) - (b) 862,184$            9,222$              

Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability 91.93% 99.92%

Covered payroll N/A N/A

Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll N/A N/A

Note to Schedule:
No active members are covered by this plan; therefore, payroll information is not applicable.
Information prior to 2014 was not available.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
and Related Ratios

Fire Pension Fund

Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 192Packet Page 264



Fiscal Year Actuarially Actual Contribution Contribution
Ending Determined Employer Deficiency Covered as a % of

December 31 Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

2006 133,792$           141,000$           (7,208)$                 236,830$           59.54%
2007 133,792             314,000             (180,208)               236,830             132.58%
2008 197,099             314,000             (116,901)               161,644             194.25%
2009 197,099             315,000             (117,901)               161,644             194.87%
2010 497,098             3,874,000          (3,376,902)            N/A N/A
2011 60,510               104,000             (43,490)                 N/A N/A
2012 156,888             162,000             (5,112)                   N/A N/A
2013 97,999               159,000             (61,001)                 N/A N/A
2014 -                     64,000               (64,000)                 N/A N/A
2015 -                     64,000               (64,000)                 N/A N/A

Note to Schedule:

Full actuarial valuations are performed biannually on even years.  Covered payroll data shown for 2005, 2007, and 2009 
are based on the respective prior year's amounts.

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information for other significant methods and assumptions.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Employer Contributions

Fire Pension Fund

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 193Packet Page 265



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Returns

Fire Pension Fund

Fiscal Year Net Annual
Ending Money-Weighted

December 31, Rate of Return

2014 2.90%
2015 -1.74%

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 194Packet Page 266



"Old Hire" Police Defined 
Benefit Plan

"Old Hire" Fire Defined 
Benefit Plan Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan

(See Note U) (See Note U) (See Note W)

Actuarial valuation date 1/1/2014 1/1/2014 1/1/2013
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal Entry age normal Projected unit credit
Amortization method Closed level dollar Closed level dollar Open level percent of pay
Remaining amortization period 16 years 12 years 30 years
Asset valuation method 3-year smoothing  market value of assets NA - nonfunded plan
Investment rate of return 7.5% 7.5% NA - nonfunded plan
Inflation rate 2.75% 2.75% 2.5%
Salary increases None assumed None assumed 3.0%

Administrative Expense NA NA

Claims expense is included in the 
premiums charged by the city's health 

insurance carrier.  

Retirement age NA - no actives NA - no actives

Age and service eligibility requirements for 
PERA (Management and BMEA 

employees) and city provided pensions 
(Fire and Police)

Retiree mortality

Sex-distinct RP-2000 
mortality for annuitants by 

Scale AA to 2017

Sex-distinct RP-2000 
mortality for annuitants by 

Scale AA to 2017

Healthy lives use RP2000 Combined 
Healthy Mortality Tabe proejct to 2021 

using Scale AA.  Disabled Lives use 
RP2000 Disabled Mortality Table 
projected to 2021 using Scale AA.

Election of retirement coverage NA NA

All current retired participants are assumed 
to continue health care coverage.  25% of 

future eligible retired participants are 
ssumed to participate upon retirement.

Probability of spouse coverage NA NA

50% of future retirees who elect coverage 
are assumed to elect spousal coverage upon 

retirement
Minimum death benefit $515 per payperiod $515 per payperiod NA
First class firefighter salary $2,886 per payperiod $2,886 per payperiod NA
Marriage rates Actual for retirees Actual for retirees NA

Health care cost trend NA NA

Using the Getzen Model, the trend rate 
starts at 10.8% for 2013 and trends 

downward to a rate of 4.5% in 2083.
Form of payment Normal payment method Normal payment method NA

First class firefighter salary
Increased from $2,802 to 

$2,886 per pay period
Increased from $2,802 to 

$2,886 per pay period NA

Claims and premiums NA NA
Updated claims and premiums to 

expericence and plan changes

Trend assumptions NA NA
Trend assumptions were updated using the 

Getzen Trend Model

Lapse assumption NA NA
Lapse assumption was added at age 65 to 

reflect anticipated plan experience.

Withdrawal and retirement rates NA NA

Withdrawal and retirement decrement rates 
were updated to better reflect anticipated 

plan experience.

Changes in Assumptions:  There were no changes to actuarial assumptions of methods in the valuation reports referenced above during the year or as a result of 
implemention of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 67 except as disclosed below.  This includes changes of benefit terms, changes in the 
size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms or the use of different assumptions.  The few significant changes include:

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Required Supplementary Information

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Actuarial Assumptions

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 195Packet Page 267



2015* 2014*

City's proportion (percentage) of the
  collective net pension liability 11.9715197388% 11.9276751932%

City's proportionate share of the
  collective net pension liability 107,299,000$               98,155,000$             

Covered-employee payroll 66,045,335$                 64,077,750$             

City's proportionate share of the net
  pension liability as a percentage of 
  its covered payroll 162.46% 153.18%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
  of the total pension liability 80.70% 77.70%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of December 31  
    based on the measurement date of the Plan.   Information earlier than 2014
   was not available.

                     CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

                     Required Supplementary Information

                     Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the
                     Colorado Public Employees' Retirement Association Net Pension Liability

                 Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 196Packet Page 268



2015 * 2014 *

Statutorily required contributions 8,635,000$              8,317,900$           

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required contributions 8,635,000                8,317,900             

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                      -$                   

Covered-employee payroll 66,169,949              66,045,334           

Contribution as a percentage of of covered payroll 13.05% 12.59%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of
    December 31. Information earlier than 2014 was not available. 

                      CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

                   Required Supplementary Information

                 Schedule of the Contributions and Ratios
                     Colorado Public Employees' Retirement Association Net Pension Liability

                Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 197Packet Page 269



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 198Packet Page 270



GENERAL FUND DETAILS 
 
 
In 2011, the City of Boulder implemented GASB Statement No. 54 which refined what qualifies for inclusion 
as a Special Revenue Fund.  Two former Special Revenue Funds did not meet the new requirements and have 
been combined with other general governmental operations into the General Fund.  As a result, beginning in 
2011 the General Fund is comprised of the following three separate sub-funds: 
 
Core General Fund – to account for all financial resources of the general government except those accounted 
for in another fund. 
 
Library Fund - to account for the operations of the City-owned library and branches.  Financing is provided 
by general property taxes and General Fund contributions. 
 
Community Housing Assistance Program (CHAP) Fund - to account for property tax, a housing excise tax 
and fees to be used to increase the supply of affordable housing in Boulder. 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 199Packet Page 271



Community
Core Hsg Asst Total

General Library Prgm General
Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources Fund Fund Fund Fund

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 477              $ 639            $ 216            $ 1,332             
Investments 43,694         1,754         4,634         50,082           
Receivables:
    General property taxes 31,126         1,042         2,503         34,671           
    Sales and use taxes 7,587           -                 -                 7,587             
    Accounts 1,498           -                 1                1,499             
    Accrued interest 97                5                10              112                
    Intergovernmental 1,443           25              -                 1,468             
    Other 9                  -                 -                 9                    
        Total receivables 41,760         1,072         2,514         45,346           
Advances to other funds 210              -                 -                 210                
Inventory of materials and supplies 15                -                 -                 15                  
Restricted assets:
    Investments for special purposes 1,232           -                 -                 1,232             
        Total restricted assets 1,232           -                 -                 1,232             
        Total assets 87,388         3,465         7,364         98,217           

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

General Fund

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Deferred outflows of resources -                   -                 -                 -                     

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 87,388         $ 3,465         $ 7,364         $ 98,217           

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 200Packet Page 272



Community
Core Hsg Asst Total

General Library Prgm General
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 2,509           $ 183            $ 15              $ 2,707             
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
            withheld from employees 2,659           189            14              2,862             
    Intergovernmental 668              -                 -                 668                
    Advances from other funds 1,442           -                 -                 1,442             
    Other liabilities 154              -                 -                 154                
    Unearned revenue 381              -                 -                 381                
            Total liabilities 7,813           372            29              8,214             
  
Deferred inflows of resources 31,903         1,043         2,503         35,449           

Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
        Inventory 15                -                 -                 15                  
        Endowment 100              -                 -                 100                
    Restricted:
        Legally restricted 992              -                 -                 992                
        Capital projects 1,186           -                 -                 1,186             
        Donor restrictions 137              -                 -                 137                
    Assigned:
        Special purposes 2,356           2,050         4,832         9,238             
       Contractual obligations 212            -               -               212                

 Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund 
Balance 

Co t actua ob gat o s
    Unassigned 42,674         -                 -                 42,674           
                Total fund balances 47,672         2,050         4,832         54,554           

$ 87,388         $ 3,465         $ 7,364         $ 98,217           
 Total liabilities, deferred inflows of  

 resources and fund balances 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 201Packet Page 273



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 202Packet Page 274



Community
Core Hsg Asst Total

General Library Prgm General
Fund Fund Fund Eliminations Fund

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 58,108          $ -                    $ -                    $ -                    $ 58,108          
General property taxes 25,493          853               2,048            -                    28,394          
Accomodations taxes 7,019            -                    -                    -                    7,019            
Franchise taxes 10,959          -                    -                    -                    10,959          
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 2,109            -                    -                    -                    2,109            
Excise taxes 969               -                    413               -                    1,382            

Charges for services 4,584            155               4                   -                    4,743            
 Sale of goods 61                 22                 -                    -                    83                 

Licenses, permits and fines 6,002            -                    -                    -                    6,002            
Intergovernmental 2,925            26                 -                    -                    2,951            
Leases, rents and royalties 288               2                   -                    -                    290               
Interest and investment earnings 252               11                 25                 -                    288               
Other 948               333               3                   -                    1,284            

    Total revenues 119,717        1,402            2,493            -                    123,612        
Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 12,265          -                    -                    -                    12,265          
Administrative Services 8,480            -                    -                    -                    8,480            
Public Safety 52,789          -                    -                    -                    52,789          
Public Works 5,901            -                    -                    -                    5,901            
Planning & Development Services 2,701            -                    -                    -                    2,701            
Culture and Recreation 5,463            7,999            -                    -                    13,462          
Open Space and Mountain Parks 189               -                    -                    -                    189               
Housing and Human Services 6,905            -                    2,612            -                    9,517            

Debt service payments:
Principal 2,995            -                    -                    -                    2,995            
Interest 2,171            -                    -                    -                    2,171            
        Total expenditures 99,859          7,999            2,612            -                    110,470        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 19,858          (6,597)           (119)              -                    13,142          

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 152               6,586            -                    (6,586)           152               
Transfers out (16,392)         -                    (6)                  6,586            (9,812)           

Total other financing sources (uses) (16,240)         6,586            (6)                  -                    (9,660)           

Net change in fund balances 3,618            (11)                (125)              -                    3,482            

Fund balances, beginning of year 44,054          2,061            4,957            -                    51,072          

Fund balances, end of year $ 47,672          $ 2,050            $ 4,832            $ -                    $ 54,554          

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
 and Changes in Fund Balances 

General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2015
(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 203Packet Page 275



    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 54,634        $ 56,134        $ 58,108       $ 1,974         
General property taxes 26,216        26,216        25,493       (723)          
Accomodations taxes 6,355          6,355          7,019         664            
Franchise taxes 10,915        10,988        10,959       (29)            
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1,734          1,734          2,109         375            
Excise taxes -                 -                  969            969            

Charges for services 4,734          4,906          4,584         (322)          
 Sale of goods 92               92               61              (31)            

Licenses, permits and fines 6,106          6,106          6,002         (104)          
Intergovernmental 1,129          1,964          2,925         961            
Leases, rents and royalties 169             250             288            38              
Interest and investment earnings 255             255             367            112            
Other 47               153             948            795            

    Total revenues 112,386      115,153      119,832     4,679         
Expenditures:

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Core General Fund

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

pe d tu es:
 Current:

General Government 23,253        27,218        9,587         17,631       
Administrative Services 12,216        14,124        12,618       1,506         
Public Safety 52,106        54,318        51,828       2,490         
Public Works 5,836          6,706          6,128         578            
Planning & Development Services 2,341          4,263          2,757         1,506         
Culture and Recreation 5,221          5,541          5,417         124            
Open Space and Mountain Parks 149             149             149            -                
Housing and Human Services 6,806          8,281          6,793         1,488         

Debt service payments:
Principal 2,995          2,995          2,995         -                
Interest 2,110          2,284          2,110         174            
        Total expenditures 113,033      125,879      100,382     25,497       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (647)           (10,726)       19,450       30,176       

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 204Packet Page 276



Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 8,189          8,143          177            (7,966)       
Transfers out (15,450)      (15,663)       (15,687)     (24)            

Total other financing sources (uses) (7,261)        (7,520)         (15,510)     (7,990)       

Net change in fund balance $ (7,908)      $ (18,246)     3,940        $ 22,186     

Encumbrances, end of year 1,398         

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 46,320       
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 51,658       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (62)           
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (2,691)       
Advances to other funds 210            
Advances from other funds (1,443)       

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 47,672      

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 205Packet Page 277



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Library Fund

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 866             $ 866              $ 853            $ (13)             
Charges for services 120             123              155            32              

 Sale of goods -                  16                22              6                
Intergovernmental -                  26                26              -                 
Leases, rents and royalties 8                 8                  2                (6)               
Interest and investment earnings 7                 7                  15              8                
Other 61               348              333            (15)             

    Total revenues 1,062          1,394           1,406         12              
Expenditures:
 Current:

Culture and Recreation 7,648          8,952           8,056         896            
        Total expenditures 7,648          8,952           8,056         896            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (6,586)         (7,558)         (6,650)        908            

Other financing sources:
Transfers in 6 586 6 586 6 586 -Transfers in 6,586        6,586         6,586                       

Total other financing sources (uses) 6,586          6,586           6,586         -                 

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ (972)          (64)            $ 908          

Encumbrances, end of year 97             
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 2,207         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 2,240         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (1)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts withheld

from employees (189)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 2,050        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 206Packet Page 278



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

CHAP Fund

Year ended December 31, 2015

(A i 000' )

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
Taxes:

(Amounts in 000's)

 Taxes:
General property taxes $ 2,080          $ 2,080           $ 2,048         $ (32)             
Excise taxes 150             150              413            263            

Charges for services -                  -                   4                4                
Interest and investment earnings 136             136              36              (100)           
Other -                  -                   407            407            

    Total revenues 2,366          2,366           2,908         542            

Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 2,323          5,771           2,200         3,571         
    Total expenditures 2,323          5,771           2,200         3,571         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 43               (3,405)         708            4,113         

Other financing uses:
Transfers out (63)              (63)               (6)               57              

Total other financing sources (uses) (63)              (63)               (6)               57              

Net change in fund balance $ (20)            $ (3,468)       702           $ 4,170        

Encumbrances, end of year -                 
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 4,149        
Prior year correction of budgetary Fund balance -                 
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 4,851         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (5)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (14)             

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 4,832        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 207Packet Page 279



NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
 
 
Special Revenue Funds are established to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than 
pension trusts, proprietary fund operations and revenues received for major capital projects) that are legally 
restricted for specified purposes.  The City of Boulder has the following nonmajor special revenue funds: 
 
Capital Development Fund - to account for development excise tax proceeds to be utilized for the acquisition, 
construction and improvement of facilities necessary to maintain the current level of public amenities such as 
police, fire, library, human services, municipal offices, streets, and parks and recreation. 
 
Lottery Fund - to account for State Conservation Trust Fund proceeds to be utilized for the refurbishment, 
capital improvement and debt service on park acquisitions. 
 
Planning & Development Services Fund – to account for revenues and expenditures related to development 
and building services functions. 
 
Affordable Housing Fund - to account for cash in lieu financial contributions from developers and General 
Fund contributions committed to be used to construct, purchase and maintain permanently affordable housing 
units in Boulder. 
 
.25 Cent Sales Tax Fund - to account for earmarked sales tax authorized by the voters in 1995 for parks and 
recreation operating and capital needs. 
 
Recreation Activity Fund – to account for revenues and expenditures related to the provision of recreation, 
reservoir and golf course services/programs. 
 
Climate Action Plan Tax Fund – to account for revenues and expenditures related to programs implemented to 
increase energy efficiency, increase renewable energy use, reduce emissions from motor vehicles and take 
other steps toward the goal of meeting the Kyoto Protocol. 
 
Airport Fund - to account for the operations of the City-owned municipal airport.  Financing is provided by 
grants, rents and leases which are required to be used for airport operations. 
 
Transportation Development Fund - to account for development excise taxes to be utilized for the 
construction of transportation capital improvements related to new development and growth. 
 
Transit Pass General Improvement District – to account for earmarked property tax authorized by the voters in 
2000 to fund bus transit passes for participating neighborhoods. 
 
BJAGID – TDM – to account for revenues and expenditures related to programs implemented by the Boulder 
Junction Authority General Improvement District to meet its Transportation Demand Management goals.  
 
Gifts and Contributions Fund - to account for funds received from the Boulder Library Foundation for 
programs benefiting the city-owned library. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 208Packet Page 280



Community Development Fund - to account for funds granted by the Community Development Block Grant 
program administered by the Department of Housing and Urban Development. 
 
HOME Fund - to account for funds granted by the HOME program administered by the Department of 
Housing and Urban Development. 

 
 

NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECT FUNDS 
 
 

The Capital Project Funds are established to account for financial resources to be utilized for acquisition, 
construction and improvement of capital assets (other than those financed by Proprietary Funds).  The City of 
Boulder has the following nonmajor capital project funds: 
 
Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund - to account for the construction of improvements to the City park 
systems and the maintenance thereof.  Financing is provided by general property taxes, development excise 
taxes and park fees. 
 
Fire Training Center Construction Fund – to account for the construction of a new fire training facility 
financed by a .15 cent sales tax approved by the voters in 2006 and funding provided by Boulder County.  
 
Boulder Junction Improvement – to account for the development of a new “Boulder Junction” 160-acre site 
located around 30th and Pearl streets.  It will be a regional transit-oriented, mixed-use neighborhood including 
a new regional bus and light rail terminal developed by Regional Transportation District (RTD). Funding is 
provided from a portion of the use taxes collected from development in the area.  
 
2011 Capital Improvement – to account for the projects and improvements throughout the city approved by 
the voters in 2011.  These improvements are funded by General Fund Bonds (Capital Improvement Projects) 
Series 2012.  Only the budget-to-actual statement for this fund appears here.  The other statements for this 
fund are included under the Financial Section tab. 
 
Capital Improvement CCS Fund – to account for the construction and improvement of capital assets for the 
Community, Culture and Safety sales and use tax increase.  The sales and use tax revenues will be used to 
improve community spaces, bolster cultural projects and organizations, and enhance safety. 
 
 
 

 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 209Packet Page 281



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 210Packet Page 282



Special Capital
Revenue Project Total

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 4,779            $ 2,118          $ 6,897            
Investments 36,524          11,588        48,112          
Receivables:
    General property taxes 85                 2,816          2,901            
    Sales and use taxes 853               1,024          1,877            
    Accounts 145               -                  145               
    Notes -                    -                  -                    
    Accrued interest 103               18               121               
    Intergovernmental 129               28               157               
       Total receivables 1,315            3,886          5,201            
Inventory of materials and supplies 51                 -                  51                 
Restricted assets:
    Investments for special purposes 851               -                  851               
    Investments for capital  projects -                    2,002          2,002            
        Total restricted assets 851               2,002          2,853            
Other assets 11                 -                  11                 

        Total assets 43,531          19,594        63,125          

Deferred outflows of resources -                    -                  -                    

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 43,531        $ 19,594      $ 63,125          

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 1,029            $ 1,280          $ 2,309            
        Contracts and retainage payable 74                 606             680               
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
            withheld from employees 629               42               671               
    Advances from other funds 210               -                  210               
    Other liabilities 501               -                  501               
    Unearned revenue 32                 -                  32                 
            Total liabilities 2,475            1,928          4,403            
 
Deferred inflow of resources 210               2,837          3,047            

Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
            Prepaid/receivable 11                 -                  11                 
        Inventory 51                 -                  51                 
    Restricted:
        Legally restricted 4,294            -                  4,294            
        Capital projects -                    12,490        12,490          
        Development fees 7,305            -                  7,305            
        Lottery funds 2,497            -                  2,497            
        Donor restrictions 539               -                  539               
    Committed:
        Affordable housing 7,468            -                  7,468            
        Transportation projects 2,884            -                  2,884            
    Assigned:
        Special purposes 15,797          2,339          18,136          
            Total fund balances 40,846          14,829        55,675          
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
   and fund balances $ 43,531        $ 19,594      $ 63,125          

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31, 2015

 Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund 
Balances 

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 211Packet Page 283



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 212Packet Page 284



  
Special Capital 

Revenue Project Total
Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 8,384          $ 10,172    $ 18,556          
General property taxes 146             2,306      2,452            
Franchise taxes 1,813          -              1,813            
Excise taxes 2,134          937         3,071            

Charges for services 15,985        -              15,985          
 Sale of goods 1,152          -              1,152            

License, permits and fines 6,817          -              6,817            
Intergovernmental 2,016          29           2,045            
Leases, rents and royalties 1,834          10           1,844            
Interest and investment earnings 218             45           263               
Other 525             58           583               

    Total revenues 41,024        13,557    54,581          

Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 102             -              102               
Public Works 3,896          1,092      4,988            
Planning & Development Services 11,562        -              11,562          
Culture and Recreation 16,544        2,959      19,503          
Open Space and Mountain Parks 165             -              165               
Housing and Human Services 13,762        -              13,762          

Capital outlay -                 9,750      9,750            
Debt service payments:  

Principal 2,166          -              2,166            
Interest 65               -              65                 
        Total expenditures 48,262        13,801    62,063          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (7,238)        (244)        (7,482)           

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 5,575          -              5,575            
Transfers out (26)             (6)            (32)                

Total other financing  
sources (uses) 5,549          (6)            5,543            

Net change in fund balances (1,689)        (250)        (1,939)           

Fund balances, beginning of year, as restated 42,535        15,079    57,614          

Fund balances, end of year $ 40,846      $ 14,829  $ 55,675          

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 213Packet Page 285



 
Planning &

Capital Development Affordable .25 Cent Recreation
Development Lottery Services Housing Sales Tax Activity

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 1,767          $ 583        $ 289         $ -                $ 105         $ 7               

    
Investments 8,921          1,916     8,873      7,488        2,344      2,070        

Receivables:
  General property taxes -                  -             -              -                -              -                
  Sales and use taxes -                  -             -              -                853         -                
  Accounts -                  -             68           -                5             9               
  Notes -                  -             -              -                -              -                
  Accrued interest 15               4            21           38             7             5               
  Intergovernmental -                  -             3             -                96           -                
     Total receivables 15               4            92           38             961         14             

Inventory of materials and supplies -                  -             -              -                -              51             
Restricted assets:

  Investments for special purposes -                  -             12           -                304         60             
  Investments for capital projects -                  -             -              -                -              -                

        Total restricted assets -                  -             12           -                304         60             
Other assets -                  -             -              -                -              -                

            Total assets 10,703        2,503     9,266      7,526        3,714      2,202        

Deferred outflows of resources -                  -             -              -                -              -                

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 10,703        $ 2,503     $ 9,266      $ 7,526        $ 3,714      $ 2,202        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

 December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities:
  Accounts and accrued liabilities:
      Vouchers and accounts payable $ 40               $ 5            $ 89           $ 35             $ 117         $ 62             
      Contracts and retainage payable -                  -             -              -                5             -                
      Accrued salaries, wages and 
          amounts withheld from employees -                  1            274         16             117         188           
  Advances from other funds -                  -             -              -                -              -                
  Other liabilities -                  -             464         7               24           -                
  Unearned revenue -                  -             -              -                -              32             
          Total liabilities 40               6            827         58             263         282           

Deferred inflows of resources -                  -             28           -                81           -                

Fund balances:
    Nonspendable:
            Prepaid/Receivable -                  -             -              -                -              -                
        Inventory -                  -             -              -                -              51             
    Restricted:
        Legally restricted -                  -             11           -                3,118      -                
        Development fees 7,305          -             -              -                -              -                
        Lottery funds -                  2,497     -              -                -              -                
        Donor restrictions -                  -             -              -                252         62             
    Committed:
        Affordable housing -                  -             -              7,468        -              -                
        Transportation projects -                  -             -              -                -              -                
    Assigned:
            Special purposes 3,358          -             8,400      -                -              1,807        
    Unassigned -                  -             -              -                -              -                

              Total fund balances 10,663        2,497     8,411      7,468        3,370      1,920        

$ 10,703        $ 2,503     $ 9,266      $ 7,526        $ 3,714      $ 2,202        

(continued)

Total liabilities, deferred inflows from resources and fund 
balances

 Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 214Packet Page 286



Boulder
Climate Trans- Transit Pass Junction
Action portation General Access Gifts and Community

Plan Tax Airport Development Improvement GID - Contributions Development HOME
Fund Fund Fund District TDM Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 264        $ 144      $ 1,546      $ -              $ 69            $ 5            $ -             $ -             $ 4,779       
      

1,075     281      3,550      16            14            (1)          (23)         -             36,524     

-             -           -              10            75            -             -             -             85            
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             853          
-             40        -              -              -               -             23           -             145          
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             -               
3            1          7             -              -               2            -             -             103          
1            -           -              -              -               -             5             24          129          
4            41        7             10            75            2            28           24          1,315       
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             51            

-             -           -              -              -               475        -             -             851          
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             -               
-             -           -              -              -               475        -             -             851          
-             -           -              11            -               -             -             -             11            

1,343     466      5,103      37            158          481        5             24          43,531     

-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             -               

$ 1,343     $ 466      $ 5,103      $ 37            $ 158          $ 481        $ 5             $ 24          $ 43,531     

$ 319        $ 14        $ 299         $ 11            $ -               $ 16          $ -             $ 22          $ 1,029       
-             54        15           -              -               -             -             -             74            

19          6          1             -              -               -             5             2            629          
-             210      -              -              -               -             -             -             210          
-             6          -              -              -               -             -             -             501          
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             32            

338        290      315         11            -               16          5             24          2,475       

1            15        -              10            75            -             -             -             210          

-             -           -              11            -               -             -             -             11            
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             51            

1,004     161      -              -              -               -             -             -             4,294       
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             7,305       
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             2,497       
-             -           -              -              -               225        -             -             539          

-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             7,468       
-             -           2,884      -              -               -             -             -             2,884       

-             -           1,904      5              83            240        -             -             15,797     
-             -           -              -              -               -             -             -             -               

1,004     161      4,788      16            83            465        -             -             40,846     

$ 1,343     $ 466      $ 5,103      $ 37            $ 158          $ 481        $ 5             $ 24          $ 43,531     

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 215Packet Page 287



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 216Packet Page 288



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Planning &
Capital Development Affordable

Development Lottery Services Housing
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Revenues:
    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes $ -              $ -              $ -              $ -              
        General property taxes -              -              -              -              
        Franchise taxes -              -              -              -              
        Excise taxes -              -              -              -              
    Charges for services 3,607       -              1,861       4,364       
    Sale of goods -              -              -              -              
    Licenses, permits and fines -              -              6,766       -              
    Intergovernmental -              1,030       1              -              
    Leases, rents and royalties -              -              -              -              
    Interest and investment earnings 31            10            52            69            
    Other -              -              152          35            
        Total revenues 3,638       1,040       8,832       4,468       
Expenditures:
    Current:
        General Government -              -              -              -              
        Public Works 111          176          -              -              
        Planning & Development Services -              -              11,562     -              
        Culture and Recreation -              2              -              -              
        Open Space and Mountain Parks -              165          -              -              
        Housing and Human Services -              -              -              13,108     
    Debt service payments:
        Principal -              -              -              -              
        Interest -              -              -              -              
                Total expenditures 111          343          11,562     13,108     
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
    over (under) expenditures 3,527       697          (2,730)     (8,640)     
Other financing sources (uses):
    Premium on bonds issued -              -              -              -              
    Long-term loans issued -              -              -              -              
    Transfers in 811          12            3,022       240          
    Transfers out (6)            -              -              -              
        Total other financing sources (uses) 805          12            3,022       240          

Net change in fund balances 4,332       709          292          (8,400)     

Fund balances, beginning of year, as restated 6,331       1,788       8,119       15,868     

Fund balances, end of year $ 10,663     $ 2,497       $ 8,411       $ 7,468       

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 217Packet Page 289



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances,
continued

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Climate Trans-
.25 Cent Recreation Action portation

Sales Tax Activity Plan Tax Airport Development
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund

Revenues:
    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes $ 8,384       $ -              $ -              $ -                 $ -                    
        General property taxes -              -              -              -                 -                    
        Franchise taxes -              -              1,813      -                 -                    
        Excise taxes -              -              -              -                 2,134            
    Charges for services 9              6,132       -              12              -                    
    Sale of goods -              1,152       -              -                 -                    
    Licenses, permits and fines 2              49            -              -                 -                    
    Intergovernmental 99            27            16           182             -                    
    Leases, rents and royalties 69            1,251       -              514             -                    
    Interest and investment earnings 12            11            7             1                21                 
    Other 138          79            -              -                 100               
        Total revenues 8,713       8,701       1,836      709             2,255            
Expenditures:
    Current:
        General Government -              -              -              -                 -                    
        Public Works 445          -              2,048      535             571               
        Planning & Development Services -              -              -              -                 -                    
        Culture and Recreation 6,275       10,019     -              -                 -                    
        Open Space and Mountain Parks -              -              -              -                 -                    
        Housing and Human Services -              -              -              -                 -                    
    Debt service payments:
        Principal 2,166       -              -              -                 -                    
        Interest 65            -              -              -                 -                    
                Total expenditures 8,951       10,019     2,048      535             571               
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
    over (under) expenditures (238)        (1,318)     (212)        174             1,684            
Other financing sources (uses):
    Premium on bonds issued -              -              -              -                 -                    
    Long-term loans issued -              -              -              -                 -                    
    Transfers in -              1,485       -              -                 -                    
    Transfers out -              -              -              -                 (6)                  
        Total other financing sources (uses) -              1,485       -              -                 (6)                  

Net change in fund balances (238)        167          (212)        174             1,678            

Fund balances, beginning of year, as restated 3,608       1,753       1,216      (13)             3,110            

Fund balances, end of year $ 3,370       $ 1,920       $ 1,004      $ 161             $ 4,788            

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 218Packet Page 290



Boulder
Transit Pass Junction

General Access Gifts and Community
Improvement GID- Contributions Development HOME

District TDM Fund Fund Fund Total

$ -              $ -              $ -                 $ -              $ -              $ 8,384            
9             137         -                 -              -              146               
-              -              -                 -              -              1,813            
-              -              -                 -              -              2,134            
-              -              -                 -              -              15,985          
-              -              -                 -              -              1,152            
-              -              -                 -              -              6,817            
-              -              -                 361         300         2,016            
-              -              -                 -              -              1,834            
-              -              4                 -              -              218               
-              -              21               -              -              525               
9             137         25               361         300         41,024          

-              102         -                 -              -              102               
10           -              -                 -              -              3,896            

-              -              -                 -              -              11,562          
-              -              248             -              -              16,544          
-              -              -                 -              -              165               
-              -              -                 356         298         13,762          

-              -              -                 -              -              2,166            
-              -              -                 -              -              65                 

10           102         248             356         298         48,262          

(1)            35           (223)            5             2             (7,238)           

-              -              -                 -              -              -                    
-              -              -                 -              -              -                    
5             -              -                 -              -              5,575            

(14)          -              -                 -              -              (26)                
(9)            -              -                 -              -              5,549            

(10)          35           (223)            5             2             (1,689)           

26           48           688             (5)            (2)            42,535          

$ 16           $ 83           $ 465             $ -              $ -              $ 40,846          

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 219Packet Page 291



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Capital Development Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Excise taxes $ 126             $ 126              $ -                 $ (126)           
Charges for services 486             486              3,607         3,121         
Interest and investment earnings 30               30                47              17              

    Total revenues 642             642              3,654         3,012         
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 170           261            155            106          
        Total expenditures 170             261              155            106            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 472             381              3,499         3,118         

Other financing uses:
Transfers in 811             811              811            -                 
Transfers out (10)              (10)              (6)               4                

Total other financing sources (uses) 801             801              805            4                

N t h i f d b l $ 1 273 $ 1 182 4 304 $ 3 122Net change in fund balance $ 1,273        $ 1,182         4,304         $ 3,122       

Encumbrances, end of year 44              
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 6,322         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 10,670       

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (7)               

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 10,663       

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 220Packet Page 292



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Lottery Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 836             $ 836              $ 1,030         $ 194            
Interest and investment earnings 3                 3                  15              12              

    Total revenues 839             839              1,045         206            
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 125             857              2                855            
Culture and Recreation 355             454              176            278            
Open Space and Mountain Parks 355             886              183            703            
        Total expenditures 835           2,197         361           1,836       

Excess (deficiency) of
revenues over expenditures 4                 (1,358)         684            2,042         

Other financing uses -
Transfers in -                  12                12              -                 

Total other financing sources (uses) -                  12                12              -                 

Net change in fund balance $ 4               $ (1,346)       696           $ 2,042       

Encumbrances, end of year 18             
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 1,787         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 2,501         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (5)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees 1                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 2,497        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 221Packet Page 293



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Planning & Development Services Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

   
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 1,756          $ 1,756           $ 1,861         $ 105            

 Sale of goods 3                 3                  -                 (3)               
Licenses, permits and fines 5,003          5,003           6,766         1,763         
Intergovernmental -                  12                1                (11)             
Interest and investment earnings 31               31                74              43              
Other -                  76                152            76              

    Total revenues 6,793          6,881           8,854         1,973         
Expenditures:

C Current:
Planning & Development Services 9,977          12,633         11,804       829            
        Total expenditures 9,977          12,633         11,804       829            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (3,184)         (5,752)         (2,950)        2,802         

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 3,022          3,022           3,022         -                 
Transfers out (1,232)         (1,161)         -                 1,161         

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,790        1,861         3,022        1,161       g ( )

Net change in fund balance $ (1,394)       $ (3,891)       72             $ 3,963       

Encumbrances, end of year 305            
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 8,319         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 8,696         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (11)             
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (274)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 8,411        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 222Packet Page 294



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Affordable Housing Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 1,004          $ 3,638           $ 4,364         $ 726            
Interest and investment earnings 20               20                99              79              
Other -                  -                  80              80              

    Total revenues 1,024          3,658           4,543         885            
Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 1,092          19,326         13,116       6,210         
        Total expenditures 1,092          19,326         13,116       6,210         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (68)              (15,668)       (8,573)        7,095         

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 240             240              240            -                 
Transfers out (129)            (129)            -                 129            

Total other financing sources (uses) 111             111              240            129            

Net change in fund balance $ 43             $ (15,557)     (8,333)       $ 7,224       Net c a ge u d ba a ce $ 3 $ ( 5,557) (8,333) $ 7,

Encumbrances, end of year 59              
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 15,769       
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 7,495         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (11)             
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

i hh ld f l (16)withheld from employees (16)            

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 7,468        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 223Packet Page 295



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

.25 Cent Sales Tax Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Sales and use taxes $ 8,059          $ 8,059           $ 8,384         $ 325            
Charges for services -                  -                  9                9                
Licenses, permits and fines -                  -                  2                2                
Intergovernmental -                  100              99              (1)               
Leases, rents and royalties -                  -                  69              69              
Interest and investment earnings 20               20                24              4                
Other 150             161              138            (23)             

    Total revenues 8,229        8,340         8,725        385          
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 450             460              446            14              
Culture and Recreation 7,531          9,752           6,565         3,187         

Debt service payments:
Principal -                  -                  2,166         (2,166)        
Interest -                  -                  65              (65)             
        Total expenditures 7,981        10,212       9,242        970          p , , ,

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 248             (1,872)         (517)           1,355         

Other financing uses -
Transfers out (427)            (427)            -                 427            

Total other financing sources (uses) (427)            (427)            -                 427            

Net change in fund balance $ (179)          $ (2,299)       (517)          $ 1,782       

Encumbrances, end of year 349           
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 3,665         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 3,497         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (10)             
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (117)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 3,370        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 224Packet Page 296



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Recreation Activity Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 6,813          $ 6,813           $ 6,132         $ (681)           

 Sale of goods 181             181              1,152         971            
Licenses, permits and fines 185             185              49              (136)           
Intergovernmental -                  35                27              (8)               
Leases, rents and royalties 1,092          1,092           1,251         159            
Interest and investment earnings 11               11                16              5                
Other 34               105              79              (26)             

    Total revenues 8,316          8,422           8,706         284            
Expenditures:
 Current:

Culture and Recreation 10,180        10,292         10,081       211            
        Total expenditures 10,180        10,292         10,081       211            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (1,864)         (1,870)         (1,375)        495            

Other financing sources (uses):
Transfers in 1,486          1,486           1,485         (1)               

Total other financing sources (uses) 1,486 1,486 1,485 (1)Total other financing sources (uses) 1,486        1,486         1,485        (1)             

Net change in fund balance $ (378)          $ (384)          110           $ 494          

Encumbrances, end of year 42              
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 1,960         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 2,112         

B i f b d i GAAP b i ili iBasis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (4)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (188)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,920        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 225Packet Page 297



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Climate Action Plan Tax Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

Franchise taxes $ 1,853          $ 1,853           $ 1,813         $ (40)             
Intergovernmental -                  -                  16              16              
Interest and investment earnings 6                 6                  10              4                
Other -                  200              -                 (200)           

    Total revenues 1,859          2,059           1,839         (220)           
Expenditures:
 Current:

Planning & Development Services 1,802        3,003         2,324        679          
        Total expenditures 1,802          3,003           2,324         679            

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 57               (944)            (485)           459            

Other financing sources -
Transfers out (98)              (98)              -                 98              

Total other financing sources (uses) (98)              (98)              -                 98              

Net change in fund balance $ (41)            $ (1,042)       (485)          $ 557          

Encumbrances, end of year 279           
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 1,231         
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,025         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (2)               
A d l i d tAccrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (19)             

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,004        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 226Packet Page 298



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Airport Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Charges for services $ 11               $ 11                $ 12              $ 1                
Intergovernmental -                  45                182            137            
Leases, rents and royalties 549             550              514            (36)             
Interest and investment earnings 2                 2                  2                -                 
Other 500             500              -                 (500)           

    Total revenues 1,062          1,108           710            (398)           
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 371           674            652           22            
        Total expenditures 371             674              652            22              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 691             434              58              (376)           

Other financing uses:
Transfers out (61)              (61)              (25)             36              

Total other financing sources (uses) (61)              (61)              (25)             36              

Net change in fund balance $ 630           $ 373            33             $ (340)         

Encumbrances, end of year 118           
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 226            
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 377            

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments -                 
A d l i d tAccrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (6)               
Advances from other funds (210)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 161           

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 227Packet Page 299



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Transportation Development Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

 Excise taxes $ 572         $ 572          $ 2,134      $ 1,562         
Interest and investment earnings 2             2              25           23              
Other 100         200          100         (100)           

    Total revenues 674         774          2,259      1,485         
Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 702         2,842       1,261      1,581         
        Total expenditures 702         2,842       1,261      1,581         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (28)          (2,068)      998         3,066         

Other financing uses:
Transfers out (9)            (9)             (6)           3                

Total other financing sources (uses) (9)            (9)             (6)           3                

Net change in fund balance $ (37)          $ (2,077)      992         $ 3,069         

Encumbrances, end of year 691         
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 3,107      
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 4,790      

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (1)           
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (1)           

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 4,788      

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 228Packet Page 300



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Transit Pass General Improvement District

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 10               $ 10                $ 9                $ (1)               
    Total revenues 10               10                9                (1)               

Expenditures:
 Current:

Public Works 15               15                10              5                
        Total expenditures 15               15                10              5                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (5)              (5)              (1)              4              

Other financing sources -
Transfers in 5                 5                  5                -                 
Transfers out -                  -                  (14)             (14)             

Total other financing sources (uses) 5                 5                  (9)               (14)             

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                (10)            $ (10)           

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 26              
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 16              

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation -                 

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 16             

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 229Packet Page 301



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Boulder Junction Access GID - TDM

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 81               $ 123              $ 136            $ 13              
Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 1                 1                  1                -                 
    Total revenues 82               124              137            13              

Expenditures:
 Current:

General Government 145             145              102            43              
        Total expenditures 145             145              102            43              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (63)              (21)              35              56              

Other financing sources -
Transfers out (3)                (3)                -                 3                

Total other financing sources (uses) (3)                (3)                -                 3                

Net change in fund balance $ (66)            $ (24)            35             $ 59            

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 48              

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 83             

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 230Packet Page 302



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Community Development Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 649             $ 1,436           $ 361            $ (1,075)        

    Total revenues 649             1,436           361            (1,075)        
Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 634             1,421           356            1,065         
        Total expenditures 634             1,421           356            1,065         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 15               15                5                (10)             

Other financing uses:
Transfers out (15)              (15)              -                 15              

Total other financing sources (uses) (15)              (15)              -                 15              

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                5               $ 5              

Encumbrances, end of year -                 
Fund balance beginning of year basis of budgeting (5)Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting (5)              
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting -                 
Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation

Accrued salaries, wages and amounts witheld from employees (5)               
Grant receivable 5                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis
$ -                

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 231Packet Page 303



(Budgetary Basis)

Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

HOME Fund

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

R

(Amounts in 000's)

Revenues:
Intergovernmental $ 846             $ 2,165           $ 300            $ (1,865)        

    Total revenues 846             2,165           300            (1,865)        
Expenditures:
 Current:

Housing and Human Services 829             2,148           298            1,850         
        Total expenditures 829             2,148           298            1,850         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 17               17                2                (15)             
Transfers out (17)            (17)            -                17            

Total other financing sources (uses) (17)              (17)              -                 17              

Net change in fund balance $ -                $ -                2               $ 2              

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting (2)               
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting -                 
Accrued salaries wages (2)Accrued salaries, wages (2)              
Grant receivable 2                

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ -                

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 232Packet Page 304



(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Balance Sheet

Nonmajor Capital Project Funds

December 31, 2015

  
Permanent Fire Training Boulder 2011
Parks and Center Junction Capital Capital
Recreation Construction Improvement Improvement Improvement

Fund Fund Fund Fund CCS Fund Total

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 31                   $ -                     $ 735                 $ -                     $ 1,352              $ 2,118              
Investments 1,243              4                     1,643              2,538              6,160              11,588            
Receivables:
    General property taxes 2,816             -                   -                   -                    -                    2,816            

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources

p p y , ,
    Sales and use taxes -                     -                     -                     -                     1,024              1,024              
    Accrued interest 3                     -                     7                     8                     -                     18                   
    Intergovernmental 28                   -                     -                     -                     -                     28                   
Total receivables 2,847              -                     7                     8                     1,024              3,886              
    Investments for capital  projects -                     -                     -                     2,002              -                     2,002              
        Total restricted assets -                     -                     -                     2,002              -                     2,002              

        Total assets 4,121             4                   2,385            4,548            8,536              19,594          

Deferred outflows of resources -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 4,121             $ 4                   $ 2,385            $ 4,548            $ 8,536              $ 19,594          

Liabilities:
    Accounts and accrued liabilities:
        Vouchers and accounts payable $ 11                   $ -                     $ 31                   $ 775                 $ 463                 $ 1,280              
        Contracts and retainage payable 29                   -                     18                   555                 4                     606                 
        Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
            withheld from employees 32                   -                     1                     6                     3                     42                   

Total liabilities 72 50 1 336 470 1 928

 Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund 
Balance 

            Total liabilities 72                  -                   50                 1,336            470                 1,928            
   
Deferred inflows of resources 2,837              -                     -                     -                     -                     2,837              

Fund balances:
        Capital projects 1,212              -                     -                     3,212              8,066              12,490            
     Assigned:
         Special purposes -                     4                     2,335              -                     -                     2,339              
            Total fund balances 1,212              4                     2,335              3,212              8,066              14,829            
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
    resources and fund balances $ 4,121             $ 4                   $ 2,385            $ 4,548            $ 8,536              $ 19,594          

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 233Packet Page 305



Permanent Fire Training Boulder 2011
Parks and Center Junction Capital Capital
Recreation Construction Improvement Improvement Improvement

Fund Fund Fund Fund CCS Fund Total

Revenues:
    Taxes:
        Sales and use taxes $ -                  $ -                      $ 7                     $ -                    $ 10,165         $ 10,172         
        General property taxes 2,306           -                      -                      -                    -                  2,306           
        Excise taxes -                  -                      937                 -                    -                  937              
    Intergovernmental 29                -                      -                      -                    -                  29                
    Leases, rents and royalties 10                -                      -                      -                    -                  10                
    Interest and investment earnings 7                  -                      15                   31                  (8)                45                
    Other 53                -                      -                      -                    5                  58                
        Total revenues 2,405           -                      959                 31                  10,162         13,557         

Expenditures:
    Current:
       Capital Outlay -                  -                      -                      7,654             2,096           9,750           
       Culture and Recreation 2,458           -                      501                 -                    -                  2,959           
       Public Works -                  -                      1,092              -                    -                  1,092           
        Total expenditures 2,458           -                      1,593              7,654             2,096           13,801         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
    over (under) expenditures (53)              -                      (634)                (7,623)            8,066           (244)            

Other financing sources (uses)
    Transfers out (6)                -                      -                      -                    -                  (6)                
        Total other financing
            sources (uses) (6)                -                      -                      -                    -                  (6)                

Net change in fund balances (59)              -                      (634)                (7,623)            8,066           (250)            

Fund balances, beginning of year 1,271           4                     2,969              10,835           -                  15,079         

Fund balances, end of year $ 1,212           $ 4                     $ 2,335              $ 3,212             $ 8,066           $ 14,829         

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Capital Project Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 234Packet Page 306



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Permanent Parks and Recreation Fund

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:
 Taxes:

General property taxes $ 2 340 $ 2 340 $ 2 306 $ (34)

( )

General property taxes $ 2,340        $ 2,340         $ 2,306              $ (34)            
Intergovernmental -                  -                  29                    29              
Leases, rents and royalties -                  -                  10                    10              
Interest and investment earnings 15               15                11                    (4)               
Other 13               56                53                    (3)               

    Total revenues 2,368          2,411           2,409               (2)               
Expenditures:
 Culture and Recreation 2,242          3,125           2,575               550            

        Total expenditures 2,242          3,125           2,575               550            
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures 126 (714) (166) 548over (under) expenditures 126           (714)          (166)                548           
Other financing sources (uses)

Transfers out (87)              (87)              (6)                     81              
Total other financing sources (uses) (87)              (87)              (6)                     81              

Net change in fund balance $ 39             $ (801)          (172)                $ 629           

Encumbrances, end of year 125                 

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 1,293               
Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 1,246               

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (2)                      
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (32)                   

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 1,212              

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 235Packet Page 307



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
(Budgetary Basis)

Boulder Junction Improvement Fund

Year ended December 31, 2015

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:

(Amounts in 000's)

 Taxes:
Sales and use taxes 301$           301$            7$              (294)$         
Excise taxes 529             529              937            408            

Charges for services 208             208              -                 (208)           
Interest and investment earnings -                  -                  20              20              

    Total revenues 1,038          1,038           964            (74)             
Expenditures:
 Culture and Recreation -                  1,288           501            787            

Public Works 652 2,086 1,106 980Public Works 652           2,086         1,106        980          
        Total expenditures 652             3,374           1,607         1,767         

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 386             (2,336)         (643)           1,693         

Net change in fund balance $ 386             $ (2,336)         (643)           $ 1,693         

Encumbrances, end of year 15              
Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 2,966         
F d b l d f b i f b d ti 2 338Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 2,338        

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (2)               
Transfer for budgetary basis only
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (1)               

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 2,335         

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 236Packet Page 308



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

2011 Capital Improvement Fund

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:

(Amounts in 000's)

 Taxes:
Interest and investment earnings 8$               8$                39$            31$            

    Total revenues 8                 8                  39              31              
Expenditures:
 Capital outlay -                  11,186         9,618         1,568         

        Total expenditures -                  11,186         9,618         1,568         
Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures 8                 (11,178)       (9,579)        1,599         
Other financing uses -Other financing uses 

Net change in fund balance $ 8                 $ (11,178)       (9,579)        $ 1,599         

Encumbrances, end of year 1,942         

Fund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting 10,856       

F d b l d f b i f b d ti 3 219Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 3,219        

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (1)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (6)               

Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 3,212         

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 237Packet Page 309



Year ended December 31, 2015

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Capital Improvement CCS

(Budgetary Basis)

    
Variance with
final budget -

Budgeted amounts Actual Positive
Original Final amounts (Negative)

Revenues:

(Amounts in 000's)

 Taxes:
Sales and use taxes -$                8,899$         10,165$     1,266$       

Interest and investment earnings -                  -                  (7)               (7)               
Other -                  5                  5                -                 

    Total revenues -                  8,904           10,163       1,259         
Expenditures:
 Capital outlay -                  8,904           3,632         5,272         

        Total expenditures -                  8,904           3,632         5,272         
Excess (deficiency) of revenuesExcess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures -                  -                  6,531         6,531         
Other financing uses -

Net change in fund balance $ -                  $ -                  6,531         $ 6,531         

Encumbrances, end of year 1,539         

F d b l b i i f b i f b d tiFund balance, beginning of year, basis of budgeting -                

Fund balance, end of year, basis of budgeting 8,070         

Basis of budgeting to GAAP basis reconciliation:
Fair market value adjustment to investments (1)               
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts

withheld from employees (3)               

F d b l d f GAAP b i $ 8 066Fund balance, end of year, GAAP basis $ 8,066        

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 238Packet Page 310



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 239Packet Page 311



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 240Packet Page 312



NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
 
 

Enterprise Funds are established to account for operations that are primarily funded through user charges to 
customers outside of the organization.  The City of Boulder has the following Nonmajor Enterprise Funds: 
 
 
University Hill Commercial District Fund – this district provides parking facilities and services to the 
commercial district adjacent to the University of Colorado (CU) campus.  It is predominately self-supported 
by user charges but also receives general property and other tax revenues.  
 
Boulder Junction Access GID - Parking Fund - to account for revenues and expenditures related to programs 
implemented by the Boulder Junction Authority General Improvement District to meet its parking facility and 
service goals.  It is predominately self-supported through property tax revenue approved by the voters. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 241Packet Page 313



Boulder
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds
Assets:

Current assets:
Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 601                $ 306          $ 907            
Investments 249                106          355            
Receivables:
    General property taxes 33                  136          169            
    Accrued interest 2                    -              2                
       Total receivables 35                  136          171            

Total current assets 885                548          1,433         

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:
    Land and easements 444                -              444            
    Improvements other than buildings 58                  -              58              
    Vehicles 90                -            90             

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Net Position

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

    Vehicles 90                            90             
    Machinery and equipment 247                -              247            

839                -              839            
        Less accumulated depreciation (292)               -              (292)           

547                -              547            
Total noncurrent assets 547                -              547            

Total assets 1,432             548          1,980         

Deferred outflows of resources 43                  -              43              

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 1,475             $ 548          $ 2,023         

 Total capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 242Packet Page 314



Boulder
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

Liabilities: District Parking Funds
Current liabilities:

Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable $ 13                  $ -              $ 13              
    Accrued salaries, wages and amounts  
        withheld from employees 13                  -              13              
Advances from other funds -                     2              2                
Other liabilities 10                  -              10              

Total current liabilities 36                  2              38              

Non-current liabilities:  
Advances from other funds -                     10            10              
Compensated absences payable 7                    -              7                
Net Pension Liability 311                -              311            
Retiree health care benefit 6                  -            6               

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Net Position
continued

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Retiree health care benefit 6                              6               
Total non-current liabilities 324                10            334            

Total liabilities 360                12            372            
  

Deferred inflows of resources:
    Property tax 33                  136          169            

 
Net position:  

Net investment in capital assets 546                -              546            
Restricted for:
    Legally restricted 6                    -              6                
Unrestricted 530                400          930            

Total net position $ 1,082             $ 400          $ 1,482         

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 243Packet Page 315



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 244Packet Page 316



Boulder  
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds

Operating revenues:
    Charges for services $ 157           $ -               $ 157           
        Total operating revenues 157           -               157           

Operating expenses:
    Personnel 257           -               257           
    Non-personnel 323           8               331           
    Depreciation 30             -               30             
        Total operating expenses 610           8               618           

            Operating income (loss) (453)         (8)             (461)         

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):  
    Interest and investment earnings 4               -               4               
    General property taxes 30             48             78             
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 2               2               4               
        Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 36             50             86             

        Income (loss) before capital contributions
            and transfers (417)         42             (375)         

Transfers in 425           324           749           

        Changes in net position 8               366           374           

1,074        34             1,108        

Total net position, end of year $ 1,082      $ 400         $ 1,482        

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

 Total net position, beginning of year, as 
restated 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 245Packet Page 317



Boulder
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds

Cash flows from operating activities:
    Receipts from customers and users $ 157             $ -                   $ 157              
    Other payments 2                 -                   2                  
    Payments to suppliers (318)            -                   (318)             
    Payments to employees (269)            (8)                 (277)             
Net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities (428)            (8)                 (436)             

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
    Payments to other funds on advances -                  (3)                 (3)                 
    General property taxes 31               48                79                
    Specific ownership & tobacco taxes 2                 2                  4                  
    Transfers in 425             324              749              
Net cash provided (used) by
    noncapital financing activities 458             371              829              

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
    Acquisition and construction of capital assets (7)                -                   (7)                 
Net cash provided (used) for capital
    related financing activities (7)                -                   (7)                 

Cash flows from investing activities:
    Purchase of investment securities (92)              (59)               (151)             
    Proceeds from sale and maturities of

investment securities 626             -                   626              
    Interest on investments 4                 -                   4                  
Net cash provided (used) in
   investing activities 538             (59)               479              

Net (decrease) in cash
    and cash equivalents 561             304              865              

Cash and cash equivalents,
    January 1 40               2                  42                

Cash and cash equivalents, 
    December 31 $ 601             $ 306              $ 907              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Cash Flows

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 246Packet Page 318



Boulder
Junction Total

University Hill Access Nonmajor
Commercial GID - Enterprise

District Parking Funds

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
    provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ (453)            $ (8)                 $ (461)             
Adjustments to reconcile net operating
    income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities:

Depreciation 30               -                   30                
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) 2                 -                   2                  
Change in assets and liabilities:
    Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

Vouchers and accounts payable 5                 -                   5                  
Accrued salaries, wages and amounts
    withheld from employees 6                 -                   6                  
Pension Liability 8                 -                   8                  

Compensated absences (27)              -                   (27)               
Retiree health care benefit 1                 -                   1                  
        Total adjustments 25               -                   25                

Net cash provided (used) by 
    operating activities $ (428)            $ (8)                 $ (436)             

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities:
    Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments $ (1)                $ -                   $ (1)                 

$ (1)                $ -                   $ (1)                 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Cash Flows,
continued

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 247Packet Page 319



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 248Packet Page 320



INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS 
 
 

The Internal Service Funds are established to finance and account for services and/or commodities required 
by other funds.  The City of Boulder has the following Internal Service Funds: 
 
Telecommunications Fund - to account for the costs of operating, acquiring and maintaining 
telecommunications equipment used by all City departments.  
 
Property and Casualty Insurance Fund - to account for property and casualty insurance expenditures and 
reserves funded through cost allocation to all City departments. 
 
Workers Compensation Insurance Fund - to account for and facilitate the monitoring of the City's self-insured 
workers compensation plan. 
 
Compensated Absences Fund - to account for payments of compensated absences to employees of the General 
and Library Funds.  Funding is received primarily from the General Fund. 
 
Fleet Fund - to account for the costs of operating, acquiring and maintaining automotive equipment used by 
other City departments.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 
 
Computer Replacement Fund - to account for the costs of acquiring and maintaining computer equipment 
used by other City departments.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 
 
Equipment Replacement Fund - to account for the costs of acquiring equipment used by other City 
departments.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 
 
Facility Renovation and Replacement Fund - to account for the costs of maintaining, renovating and replacing 
facilities within the City.  Such costs are billed to the other departments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 249Packet Page 321



Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Assets:
Current assets:

Equity in pooled cash and
    cash equivalents $ 693              $ 1,575       $ 18                $ 484              
Investments 941              4,241       2,841           1,398           
Receivables, net:
    Accounts -                   -              -                   -                   
    Accrued interest 3                  15            7                  4                  
    Intergovernmental -                   -              -                   -                   
Total receivables 3                  15            7                  4                  
Advances to other funds -                   -              -                   -                   
Other assets - prepaid expenses -                   304          -                   -                   

Total current assets 1,637           6,135       2,866           1,886           

Noncurrent assets:
Advances to other funds, less current -                   -              -                   -                   
Capital assets:
    Land and easements -                   -              -                   -                   
    Buildings 207              -              -                   -                   
    Improvements other than buildings -                   -              -                   -                   
    Infrastructure -                   -              -                   -                   
    Vehicles -                   -              -                   -                   
    Machinery and equipment 3,106           13            -                   -                   

3,313           13            -                   -                   
        Less accumulated depreciation (2,297)          (9)            -                   -                   

1,016           4              -                   -                   
    Construction in progress -                   -              -                   -                   
Total capital assets, net of
    accumulated depreciation 1,016           4              -                   -                   

Total noncurrent assets 1,016           4              -                   -                   

Total assets 2,653           6,139       2,866           1,886           

Deferred outflows of resources:
        Total deferred outflow of resources 24                66            11                84                

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 2,677           6,205       2,877           1,970           

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Net Position

Internal Service Funds

December 31, 2015

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 250Packet Page 322



Facility
Renovation

 Computer Equipment and
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 1,430           $ 2,235         $ 679               $ 144            $ 7,258         
14,783         5,835         5,020            10,191       45,250       

16                -                 -                    48              64              
30                18              11                 25              113            

3                  -                 -                    124            127            
49                18              11                 197            304            

149              -                 -                    -                149            
-                  -                 -                    -                304            

16,411         8,088         5,710            10,532       53,265       

699              -                 -                    -                699            

-                  -                 -                    117            117            
2,381           -                 108               86,554       89,250       
1,437           -                 -                    7,184         8,621         

-                  -                 -                    468            468            
31,830         -                 -                    -                31,830       

47                4,122         3,281            314            10,883       
35,695         4,122         3,389            94,637       141,169     

(18,802)       (3,281)        (2,729)           (56,841)     (83,959)      
16,893         841            660               37,796       57,210       

974              -                 -                    192            1,166         

17,867         841            660               37,988       58,376       
18,566         841            660               37,988       59,075       

34,977         8,929         6,370            48,520       112,340     

156              1                4                   114            460            

35,133         8,930         6,374            48,634       112,800     

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 251Packet Page 323



continued

Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:

Accounts and accrued liabilities:
    Vouchers and accounts payable 47                13            132              -                   
    Contracts and retainage payable -                   -              -                   -                   
    Accrued salaries, wages and
        amounts withheld from employees -                   11            5                  34                
Accrued claims liability (current portion) -                   202          845              -                   
Other liabilities -                   -              -                   -                   
Compensated absences payable (current portion) -                   -              -                   -                   
Capitalized lease obligations (current portion) -                   -              -                   -                   

Total current liabilities 47                226          982              34                

Non-current liabilities:
Capitalized lease obligations -                   -              -                   -                   
Compensated absences payable 13                7              11                -                   
Accrued claims liability -                   372          762              -                   
Net Pension Liability 173              488          82                616              
Retiree health care benefit 2                  4              3                  -                   

Total non-current liabilities 188              871          858              616              

Total liabilities 235              1,097       1,840           650              

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 1,016           4              -                   -                   
Unrestricted 1,426           5,104       1,037           1,320           

Total net position $ 2,442           $ 5,108       $ 1,037           $ 1,320           

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Net Position

Internal Service Funds

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 252Packet Page 324



Facility
Renovation

 Computer Equipment and
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

607              29              4                   255            1,087         
-                  -                 -                    75              75              

 
33                2                1                   5                91              

-                  -                 -                    -                1,047         
-                  -                 -                    245            245            

31                -                 -                    -                31              
-                  -                 -                    585            585            

671              31              5                   1,165         3,161         

 
-                  -                 -                    8,242         8,242         

16                -                 -                    13              60              
-                  -                 -                    -                1,134         

1,141           10              29                 78              2,617         
22                -                 1                   2                34              

1,179           10              30                 8,335         12,087       

1,850           41              35                 9,500         15,248       

 
17,867         841            660               29,162       49,550       
15,416         8,048         5,679            9,972         48,002       

$ 33,283         $ 8,889         $ 6,339            $ 39,134       $ 97,552       

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 253Packet Page 325



Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Operating revenues:
    Charges for services $ 671                 $ 1,658         $ 1,606            $ 764               
    Sales of goods -                     -                 -                    -                    
        Total operating revenues 671                 1,658         1,606            764               

Operating expenses:
    Personnel 156                 433            99                 474               
    Non-personnel 635                 1,411         2,180            8                   
    Depreciation 267                 3                -                    -                    
        Total operating expenses 1,058              1,847         2,279            482               

            Operating income (loss) (387)               (189)           (673)              282               

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
    Interest and investment earnings 8                     29              17                 8                   
    Leases, rents and royalties -                     -                 -                    -                    
    Intergovernmental revenue -                     -                 -                    -                    
    Interest expense -                     -                 -                    -                    
    Gain (loss) on sale of     
        capital assets -                     -                 -                    -                    
    Other (net) -                     10              134               -                    
        Total nonoperating revenues     
            (expenses) 8                     39              151               8                   

            Income (loss) before
               capital contributions,
               extraordinary items,
               and transfers (379)               (150)           (522)              290               

Capital contributions -                     -                 -                    -                    
Transfers in 97                   -                 -                    -                    
Transfers out -                     -                 (95)                -                    

           Changes in net position (282)               (150)           (617)              290               

2,724              5,258         1,654            1,030            

Total net position, end of year $ 2,442              $ 5,108         $ 1,037            $ 1,320            

(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Internal Service Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

 Total net position, beginning of year, 
as restated 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 254Packet Page 326



Facility
Renovation

 Computer Equipment and
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 8,006          $ 1,983            $ 882             $ 2,966            $ 18,536       
113             -                    -                  -                   113            

8,119          1,983            882             2,966            18,649       

1,066          10                 36               87                 2,361         
1,905          1,448            173             1,342            9,102         
2,432          431               200             2,927            6,260         
5,403          1,889            409             4,356            17,723       

2,716          94                 473             (1,390)          926            

103             17                 27               61                 270            
-                  -                    -                  140               140            
-                  -                    -                  35                 35              
-                  -                    -                  (276)             (276)           

     
324             18                 1                 -                   343            

37               -                    -                  93                 274            
    

464             35                 28               53                 786            

3,180          129               501             (1,337)          1,712         

-                  -                    -                  124               124            
-                  -                    275             -                   372            
-                  -                    -                  (24)               (119)           

3,180          129               776             (1,237)          2,089         

30,103        8,760            5,563          40,371          95,463       

$ 33,283        $ 8,889            $ 6,339          $ 39,134          $ 97,552       

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 255Packet Page 327



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Cash Flows

Internal Service Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amount in 000's)

Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Cash flows from operating activities:
    Receipts from customers and users $ 671           $ -                     $ -                $ -                     
    Receipts from interfund services provided -               1,658             1,606        764                
    Other receipts -               -                     134           -                     
    Refundable deposits receipts (payments) -               -                     -                -                     
    Payments to suppliers (626)         (1,667)            (1,710)       (423)               
    Payments to employees (142)         (411)               (86)            (8)                   
    Payments for interfund services used -               (1)                   -                -                     
Net cash provided (used) by
    operating activities (97)           (421)               (56)            333                

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
    Payments from other funds 

on due from (due to) balances -               -                     -                -                     
    Payments to other funds 

on due from (due to) balances -               (41)                 -                -                     
    Payments from other funds on advances -               -                     -                -                     
    Leases, rents and royalties -               -                     -                -                     
    Intergovernmental revenue -               -                     -                -                     
    Transfers in 97            -                     -                -                     
    Transfers out -               -                     (95)            -                     
Net cash provided (used) by

noncapital financing activities 97            (41)                 (95)            -                     

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
    Acquisition and construction of capital assets -               -                     -                -                     
    Proceeds from sale of capital assets -               -                     -                -                     
    Proceeds from insurance claims -               -                     -                -                     
    Principal paid on capitalized lease obligation -               -                     -                -                     
    Interest paid on capitalized lease obligation -               -                     -                -                     
    Capital contributions -               -                     -                -                     
    Other -               10                  -                -                     

Net cash provided (used) for capital
and related financing activities -               10                  -                -                     

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investment securities (346)         (1,559)            (1,044)       (514)               
Proceeds from sale and maturities of

investment securities 951           3,254             1,050        582                
Interest on investments 8              26                  16             7                    

Net cash provided in
investing activities 613           1,721             22             75                  

Net (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 613           1,269             (129)          408                

Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents,
January 1 80            306                147           76                  

Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents,
December 31 $ 693           $ 1,575             $ 18             $ 484                

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 256Packet Page 328



Facility
Renovation

Computer Equipment and 
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 8,009        $ -               $ -               $ 2,919       $ 11,599         
1,983        882           -               6,893           

150           -               -               93            377              
-                -               -               (3)             (3)                

(1,887)       (1,461)      (172)         (1,715)      (9,661)          
(1,054)       (6)             (34)           (52)           (1,793)          

-               -               (1)                

5,218        516           676           1,242       7,411           

(360)          -               -               (24)           (384)             

-                -               -               22            (19)              
293           -               -               -               293              

-                -               -               140          140              
-                -               -               (66)           (66)              
-                -               275           -               372              
-                -               -               -               (95)              

(67)            -               275           72            241              

(2,460)       (32)           (143)         (844)         (3,479)          
584           18            1              46            649              

-                -               -               -               -                  
-                -               -               (547)         (547)             
-                -               -               (330)         (330)             
-                -               124          124              
-                -               -               -               10                

(1,876)       (14)           (142)         (1,551)      (3,573)          
 

(5,433)       (2,145)      (1,845)      (3,746)      (16,632)        

2,861        3,494        1,452        3,556       17,200         
98             14            25            56            250              

(2,474)       1,363        (368)         (134)         818              

801           1,865        441           (371)         4,897           

629           370           238           515          2,361           

$ 1,430        $ 2,235        $ 679           $ 144          $ 7,258           

(continued)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 257Packet Page 329



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Combining Statement of Cash Flows,
continued

Internal Service Funds

Year ended December 31, 2015

(Amount in 000's)

Property and Workers'
Telecom- Casualty Compensation Compensated

munications Insurance Insurance Absences
Fund Fund Fund Fund

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ (387)         $ (189)               $ (673)          $ 282                
Adjustments to reconcile net operating

income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by
operating activities:

Depreciation 267           3                    -                -                     
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses) -                     134           -                     
Change in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts receivable -               -                     -                -                     
Intergovernmental receivables -               -                     -                -                     
Other assets - prepaid expenses (24)           (73)                 (11)            (84)                 

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Vouchers and accounts payable 9              10                  112           -                     
Accrued salaries, wages and
    amounts withheld from employees -                     (1)              34                  
Pension Liablity 29            80                  14             101                
Other liabilities - refundable deposits -               -                     -                     
Accrued claims liability (4)             (259)               358           -                     
Compensated absences 13            7                    11             -                     
Retiree health care benefit -                -                     

Total adjustments 290           (232)               617           51                  
Net cash provided (used) by

operating activities $ (97)           $ (421)               $ (56)            $ 333                

Noncash investing, capital and financing activities:
Assets acquired through:
Capital contributions:

From governmental funds $ -               $ -                     $ -                $ -                     
Financed through accounts, contracts and

 retainage payable -               -                     -                -                     
Increase (decrease) in fair value of investments (3)             (13)                 (7)              (3)                   

$ (3)             $ (13)                 $ (7)              $ (3)                   

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 258Packet Page 330



Facility
Renovation

Computer Equipment and 
Fleet Replacement Replacement Replacement
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 2,716        $ 94            $ 473           $ (1,390)      $ 926              

2,432        431           200           2,927       6,260           
37             -               -               -               171              

(12)            -               -               (47)           (59)              
15             -               -               -               15                

(156)          (1)             (4)             93            (260)             

18             (13)           1              (373)         (236)             

5               2              1              3              44                
185           3              5              13            430              

-                -               -               (3)             (3)                
-                -               -               -               95                

(22)            -               -               13            22                
-                -               -               6              6                  

2,502        422           203           2,632       6,485           

$ 5,218        $ 516           $ 676           $ 1,242       $ 7,411           

$ -                $ -               $ -               $ 124          $ 124              

510           -               -               59            569              
(32)            (14)           (12)           (25)           (109)             

$ 478           $ (14)           $ (12)           $ 158          $ 584              

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 259Packet Page 331



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 260Packet Page 332



 
 
 
 

 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 261Packet Page 333



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Supplementary Schedule

Combined Schedule of Long-Term Debt Payable

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Interest Dates Authorized Current
rates % Issued Maturity and issued Outstanding portion

Governmental Activities:

Supported by sales tax revenues and
other financing sources:

General Obligation Bonds:
Open Space Acquisition 4.00 - 5.50 6/20/06 8/15/19 $ 20,115       $ 7,320          $ 1,720         

Premium on Bonds -                 36               -                 
Open Space Acquisition Refunding 3.50 - 4.00 6/26/07 8/15/18 12,345       4,930          1,575         

Premium on Refunding Bonds -                 6                 -                 
Open Space Acquisition Bonds 2.00 - 3.00 10/9/14 8/15/34 10,000       9,630          435            

Premium on Bonds -                 111             -                 
Parks, Recreation, Muni.,Cap., Imp., Ref. 2.00 - 3.00 9/16/09 12/15/15 11,895       -                  -                 

Premium on Refunding Bonds -                 -                  -                 
Waste Reduction Bonds 2.00 - 4.00 12/15/09 12/01/29 6,000         4,500          255            

Premium on Waste Reduction Bonds -                 40               -                 
General Fund Cap. Imp. Projects Bonds 2.00 - 4.00 3/22/12 10/01/31 49,000       40,200        2,455         

Premium on Cap. Imp. Projects Bonds -                 4,020          -                 
109,355     70,793        6,440         

Supported by base rentals:

Certificates Of Participation Series 2015 2.00 - 3.80 11/17/2015 10/01/32 41,000       41,000        1,340         
Premium on COPS -                 561             -                 

41,000       41,561        1,340         
     Lease Purchase Revenue Notes:

  Boulder Municipal Property Authority:
Open space acquisition:

Foothills Note 1997G 7.00 7/16/97 7/16/17 1,095         187             90              
Gisle Note 2005A 4.75 2/18/05 2/18/17 1,180         245             120            
Hill Note 2005B 4.75 4/05/05 4/05/15 910            -                  -                 
Luchetta Note 2005C 5.00 8/05/05 8/05/20 720            300             54              
Boulder Valley Note 2006A 5.00 6/16/06 6/16/16 3,550         438             438            
Eisenberg Note 2006B 5.00 6/07/06 6/07/16 1,206         148             149            
Kolb, Edward H. Note 2008AR-1 5.00 4/22/08 4/22/18 404            143             45              
Vigil Note 2008AR-2 5.00 4/22/08 4/22/18 404            143             45              
E.R.T.L. Note 2013A 3.25 10/31/13 10/31/23 5,000         4,123          460            

14,469       5,727          1,401         

Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds 2.00 - 5.00 10/26/10 10/01/30 9,070         7,360          370            
Premium on Pension Obligation Bonds -                 83               -                 

9,070         7,443          370            

Capital Lease Purchase Agreements
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC 4.93 9/27/10 11/27/23 1,500         1,041          109            
Suntrust Equipment Finance & Leasing Corp. 2.65 1/25/12 7/25/27 9,250         7,786          476            
Bank of the West Equipment Lease 3.25 2/05/13 3/15/16 107            10               9                

10,857       8,837          594            

Compensated Absences -                 12,477        -                 
Retiree Health Care Benefit (OPEB) -                 1,855          -                 
Estimated Claims Payable -                2,082         -               

Total Governmental Activities and total supported by
    sales tax revenues and other financing sources $ 184,751    $ 150,775      $ 10,145     

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 262Packet Page 334



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Supplementary Schedule

Combined Schedule of Long-Term Debt Payable,
(continued)

December 31, 2015

(Amounts in 000's)

Interest Dates Authorized Current
rates Issued Maturity and issued Outstanding portion

Business-type Activities:

Supported by utility revenues:

Revenue Bonds:
Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 2.00 - 4.00 2/22/11 12/01/21 18,335       10,910        1,635         

Premium on Bonds -                 316             -                 
Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 3.00 - 3.75 5/01/05 12/01/16 7,900         830             830            
Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 4.00 - 4.125 7/10/07 12/01/19 25,935       8,180          2,190         
Water and Sewer 3.50 - 5.00 11/15/05 12/01/15 45,245       -                  -                 

Premium on Bonds -                 -                  -                 
Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds 4.00 - 5.00 11/20/12 12/01/25 24,325       24,325        2,010         

Premium on Bonds -                 4,303          -                 
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 2.00 - 3.00 10/12/10 12/01/30 9,980         7,960          430            

Premium on Bonds -                 138             -                 
Storm Water & Flood Mgmt Rev. Rfdg. 2.00 - 3.00 6/08/10 12/01/18 3,165         1,085          350            

Premium on Bonds -                 14               -                 
Storm Water & Flood Mgmt Revenue Bond 2.00 - 3.50 7/20/2015 12/01/34 22,845       22,520        895            

Premium on Bonds -                 458             -                 
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 2.00 - 3.25 10/1/2015 12/01/35 10,075       10,075        395            

Premium on Bonds -                 180             -                 
167,805     91,294        8,735         

Compensated Absences (estimated) -                 1,127          -                 
Retiree Health Care Benefit (OPEB) (estimated) -                 220             -                 

Total supported by utility revenues 167,805     92,641        8,735         

Supported by parking revenues:

General Obligation General Improvement District Bonds:
Downtown Commercial District:

Parking Facilities 2.00 - 3.00 11/28/12 8/15/23 7,275         5,890          920            
         Premium on Bonds -                 310             -                 

Parking Facilities 3.00 - 4.00 5/14/09 8/15/18 7,730         2,885          670            
         Premium on Bonds -                 48               -                 

15,005       9,133          1,590         

Compensated Absences -                 181             -                 
Retiree Health Care Benefit (OPEB) -                 57               -                 

Total supported by parking revenues 15,005       9,371          1,590         

    Total Business-type Activities $ 182,810    $ 102,012      $ 10,325     

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 263Packet Page 335



(This page intentionally left blank.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 264Packet Page 336



 
 
 

 
 
 

STATISTICAL TABLES 
 
 

Statistical tables are presented to provide an historical financial review of and additional information about 
the City of Boulder.  The various tables provide information useful in analyzing the existing financial position 
of the City as well as in identifying trends. 
 
The source of the statistical information in the following tables is taken from the City's records unless 
otherwise noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 265Packet Page 337



(This page intentionally left blank)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 266Packet Page 338



The statistical section of the City's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information
as a context for understanding what the information presented in the financial statements, note disclosures
and required supplementary information say about the City's overall financial health.

Contents Page

Financial Trends
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the
City's financial performance and well being have changed over time.

Net Position by Component 238
Changes in Net Position 240
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 244
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 246

Revenue Capacity
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City's
most significant local revenue sources, the property tax (or sales tax).

Taxable Sales by Market Sector 248
Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates 250
Largest Sales Tax Remitters by Market Sector 253

Debt Capacity
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City's
current level of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Ratios of Net Outstanding Debt by Type 254
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 256
Direct and Overlapping Debt 257
Legal Debt Margin Information 258
Pledged Revenue Coverage 260

Demographic and Economic Information
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand
the environment within which the City's financial activities take place.

Demographic and Economic Statistics 262
Principal Employers 263

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand
how the information in the City's financial report relates to the services the City provides 
and the activities it performs.

Full Time Equivalent City Employees by Functions/Programs 264
Operating Indicators by Function/Program 266
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program 268

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive annual
report for the relevant year.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Section
Index

December 31, 2015
(Unaudited)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 267Packet Page 339



2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Governmental activities:

Net Investment in capital assets 343,319  $  350,644  $  363,896  $  379,461  $   395,174  $  
Restricted 63,452      56,833      59,456       58,197        51,815       
Unrestricted 20,955      45,771      51,761       51,266        69,024       

Total governmental activities 
                 net position 427,726  $  453,248  $  475,113  $  488,924  $   516,013  $  

Business-type activities:
Net Investment in capital assets 269,527  $  283,633  $  295,936  $  313,583  $   310,791  $  
Restricted 220           228           234            242             249            
Unrestricted 53,147      57,233      65,263       59,917        65,547       

Total business-type activities 
                 net position 322,894  $  341,094  $  361,433  $  373,742  $   376,587  $  

Primary government:
Net Investment in capital assets 612,846  $  634,277  $  659,832  $  693,044  $   705,965  $  
Restricted 63,672      57,061      59,690       58,439        52,064       
Unrestricted 74,102      103,004    117,024     111,183      134,571     

Total primary government 
                 net position 750,620  $  794,342  $  836,546  $  862,666  $   892,600  $  

Note:  Fiscal year 2012 has not been restated for the effect of the adoption of GASB 65.

Fiscal Year

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Net Position By Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 268Packet Page 340



2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

418,691  $   458,372  $   480,321  $    494,209  $     521,402  $      
 30,256          35,096        33,822        61,410         65,690           
 86,439          102,519      113,701      112,637       45,565           

535,386  $   595,987  $   627,844  $    668,256  $     632,657  $      

325,861  $   325,883  $   331,096  $    345,149  $     343,555  $      
254              257             265             269               273                 

 67,166          61,583        67,747        72,770         68,100           

393,281  $   387,723  $   399,108  $    418,188  $     411,928  $      

744,552  $   727,155  $   811,417  $    839,358  $     864,957  $      
 30,510          81,581        34,087        61,679         65,963           

 153,605        174,974      181,448      185,407       113,665         

928,667  $   983,710  $   1,026,952  $ 1,086,444  $  1,044,585  $   

Fiscal Year

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 269Packet Page 341



2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Expenses:

Governmental activities:
General Government 8,429  $      9,846  $      10,227  $    9,945  $      12,431  $    
Administrative Services 3,337          3,182          2,951          2,139          1,678          
Public Safety 37,942        42,221        44,479        45,506        45,819        
Public Works 32,657        36,030        30,966        32,634        30,542        
Planning & Development Services 7,476          7,657          8,966          8,619          8,248          
Culture and Recreation 25,901        26,573        27,961        27,478        27,200        
Open Space and Mountain Parks 12,299        13,156        13,360        13,043        13,548        
Housing and Human Services 14,720        10,420        13,983        14,745        16,580        
Interest on long-term debt 4,137          3,872          3,530          2,820          2,285          

              Total governmental activities expenses 146,898      152,957      156,423      156,929      158,331      

Business-type activities:
Water utility 21,711        20,767        21,713        21,051        20,921        
Wastewater utility 10,362        10,849        11,693        13,458        12,885        
Stormwater and flood management 3,963          4,197          4,407          4,011          4,454          
Parking facilities and services 5,374          5,549          6,228          7,385          7,602          
Property and facility acquisition 1,411          1,316          1,150          1,009          860             

              Total business-type activities expenses 42,821        42,678        45,191        46,914        46,722        
              Total primary government expenses 189,719      195,635      201,614      203,843      205,053      

Program revenue:
Governmental activities:

Charges for services:
General Government  1,783           2,009           2,832           2,819           3,512          
Administrative Services  98                112              268              205              191             
Public Safety  990              1,426           1,640           1,706           1,874          
Public works  719              890              909              803              1,122          
Planning & Development Services 6,289          6,803          6,327          4,587          5,421          
Culture and Recreation 8,057          8,589          9,069          8,448          8,121          
Open Space and Mountain Parks 405             374             367             384             425             
Housing and Human Services 1,527          1,328          3,671          2,608          5,775          

Operating grants and contributions: 7,039          7,522          8,500          6,607          7,338          
Capital grants and contributions 6,514          13,521        6,886          11,950        8,381          

             Total governmental activities program revenue 33,421        42,574        40,469        40,117        42,160        

Business-type activities:
Charges for services:

Water utility 23,570        21,175        21,123        20,201        21,633        
Wastewater utility 12,126        12,596        12,606        12,748        12,688        
Stormwater and flood management 4,607          4,796          4,959          5,084          5,080          
Parking facilities and services 3,808          4,231          4,319          3,939          4,162          
Property and facility acquisition 4,444          4,540          4,042          3,455          3,447          

Operating grants and contributions: 140             210             168             136             169             
Capital grants and contributions: 6,618          4,812          10,703        8,408          5,610          

            Total business-type activities program revenues 55,313        52,360        57,920        53,971        52,789        
            Total primary government program revenues 88,734        94,934        98,389        94,088        94,949        

Net (expense) revenue:
Governmental activities (113,477)     (110,383)     (115,954)     (116,812)     (116,171)     
Business-type activities 12,492        9,682          12,729        7,057          6,067          

            Total primary government net expense (100,985)  $ (100,701)  $ (103,225)  $ (109,755)  $ (110,104)  $ 

Fiscal Year

Statistical Data

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Changes In Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 270Packet Page 342



2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

19,509  $    16,625  $    22,857$      22,406$      13,436$      
1,892          2,627          4,387          7,655          6,742          

47,391        49,693        50,468        50,662        50,190        
30,844        33,110        27,558        37,406        39,117        

5,665          5,555          6,087          6,041          14,033        
28,140        28,112        30,749        30,819        32,247        
14,863        13,040        16,023        16,774        20,922        
13,060        14,431        17,937        19,795        23,400        

2,290          2,984          3,532          2,679          9,750          
163,654      166,177      179,598      194,237      209,837      

21,223        21,925        22,599        22,644        22,546        
13,948        13,776        13,916        14,703        13,550        

4,790          4,523          4,461          6,812          6,873          
6,570          7,303          6,853          6,892          6,583          

724             479             1,118          463             618             
47,255        48,006        48,947        51,514        50,170        

210,909      214,183      228,545      245,751      260,007      

 2,941           7,593          7,546          7,262          9,563          
 142              548              1,163          676             1,039          

 1,748           1,629          1,652          2,273          675             
 2,095           1,730          2,070          4,474          1,658          
5,862          7,473          7,710          8,640          8,654          
8,386          9,041          9,015          9,358          11,576        

479             506             423             475             798             
1,401          13,303        7,859          6,458          4,825          
6,154          6,911          5,824          12,213        11,400        
7,679          9,260          7,630          8,906          6,175          

36,887        57,994        50,892        60,735        56,363        

22,940        24,592        23,269        22,950        28,813        
12,955        13,013        14,267        13,979        19,583        

4,896          5,167          5,537          5,637          10,530        
4,324          4,483          4,905          5,475          6,216          
5,178          2,336          1,625          2,091          -                  

151             181             138             -              1,931          
8,411          5,175          6,498          17,983        5,665          

58,855        54,947        56,239        68,115        72,738        
95,742        112,941      107,131      128,850      129,101      

(126,767)     (108,183)     (128,706)     (133,502)     (153,474)     
11,600        6,941          7,292          16,601        22,568        

(115,167)  $ (101,242)  $ (121,414)  $ (116,901)  $ (130,906)  $ 

Fiscal Year

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 271Packet Page 343



2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
General revenues and other changes in net position:

Governmental activities:
Taxes:

Sales and use taxes (a) 80,057  $    88,403  $    84,867  $    85,457$       87,802$      
Property taxes (a) 19,854       20,475       21,865       23,526         26,022        
Other taxes (b) 14,053       14,791       -             -               -              
Accomodation taxes -             -             3,389         3,049           3,199          
Franchise Taxes -             -             9,131         9,121           10,868        
Specific Ownership & Tobacco taxes -             -             1,705         1,587           1,587          
Excise Taxes -             -             2,748         1,847           837             

Interest and investment earnings 4,869         6,594         7,875         2,088           2,060          
Miscellaneous (c) 5,002         6,752         5,025         5,286           5,633          
Gain on Sale of Capital Assets -             -             627            130              805             
Transfers 663            (1,110)        587            (1,468)          5,982          
Extraordinary Item -             -             -             -               (1,535)         

            Total governmental activities 124,498     135,905     137,819     130,623       143,260      

Business-type activities:
Taxes:

Sales and use tax increment (a) 85              99              94              83                87               
Property taxes (a) 874            912            1,578         1,627           1,704          
Property tax increment (a) 500            563            -             -               -              
Other taxes (b) 664            766            -             -               -              
Accomodation taxes -             -             714            604              635             
Specific Ownership & Tobacco taxes -             -             63              55                51               
Excess tax increment (245)           (703)           -             -               -              

Interest and investment earnings 5,215         5,796         5,583         1,257           1,226          
Miscellaneous (c) (159)           (25)             165            78                81               
Gain on Sale of Capital Assets -             -             -             80                -              
Transfers (663)           1,110         (587)           1,468           (5,982)         
Extraordinary item 3,754         -             -             -               (1,024)         

            Total business-type activities 10,025       8,518         7,610         5,252           (3,222)         
            Total primary government 134,523     144,423     145,429     135,875       140,038      

Changes in net position:
Governmental activities 14,115       25,522       21,865       13,811         27,089        
Business-type activities 19,707       18,200       20,339       12,309         2,845          

            Total primary government 33,822  $    43,722  $    42,204  $    26,120  $     29,934  $    

       The same applies to Property tax and Property tax increment.

       from Governmental Activities Miscellaneous
(c) Starting in 2008, Gain on Sale of Capital Assets is reported separately 

(a) Starting in 2008, Sales and use tax is combined with Sales and use tax 

(b) Starting in 2008, Other Taxes is reported separately as follows: 

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

Fiscal Year

       Accomodation taxes, Franchise Taxes, Specific Ownership & Tobaco Taxes and Excise Taxes

Statistical Data

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Changes In Net Position (Continued)

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 272Packet Page 344



2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

92,627$       97,397$      104,136$    116,316$    131,323$    
27,462         29,474        29,434       30,353       30,846       

-               -              -             -             -              
4,668           4,890          5,192         6,443         7,019         

10,282         12,310        12,815       12,226       12,777       
1,578           1,789          1,839         1,954         2,109         
1,927           1,290          1,338         3,235         4,453         
1,895           1,052          755            906            1,097         
6,418           1,645          1,678         1,437         1,008         

456              2,173          3,878         99              2,313         
(1,208)          16,764        (1,630)        (11)             (2,711)        

35                -              1,888         956            -              
146,140       168,784      161,323     173,914     190,234     

94                119             118            -             -              
1,782           1,952          1,976         2,013         1,178         

-               -              -             -             -              
-               -              -             -             -              

715              781             844            -             -              
51                55               60              66              69               
-               -              -             -             -              

1,156           384             301            324            486            
64                974             91              65              45               
-               -              -             -             562            

1,208           (16,764)        1,630         11              2,711         
24                -              -             -             -              

5,094           (12,499)        5,020         2,479         5,051         
151,234       156,285       166,343     176,393     195,285     

19,373         60,601        27,821       173,914     36,760       
16,694         (5,558)         21,621       2,479         27,619       
36,067  $     55,043  $    49,442  $    176,393  $  64,379  $    

Fiscal Year

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 273Packet Page 345



2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
General Fund:

Reserved 2,784  $      2,953  $      2,928  $      3,934  $       4,179  $      
Unreserved 18,466       17,600      18,524       19,399        22,103       
Nonspendable -              -             -             -              -              
Restricted -              -             -             -              -              
Committed -              -             -             -              -              
Assigned -              -             -             -              -              
Unassigned -              -             -             -              -              

Total General Fund 21,250  $    20,553  $    21,452  $    23,333  $     26,282  $    

All Other Governmental Funds:
Reserved 32,671  $    10,662  $    9,857  $      17,774  $     11,338  $    
Unreserved, reported in:

Special revenue funds  29,772          38,995          57,409          38,605          45,123         
Debt service funds  303               334               356               418               446              
Capital projects funds  4,675            13,112          14,449          4,568            1,125           

Nonspendable -              -             -             -              -              
Restricted -               -               -               -               -               
Committed -               -               -               -               -               
Assigned -               -               -               -               -               
Unassigned -               -               -               -               -               

Total all other government funds 67,421  $    63,103  $    82,071  $    61,365  $     58,032  $    

(a) In 2011, reporting of fund balances was changed to meet the requirements of GASB 54

Fiscal Year

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 274Packet Page 346



2011 (a) 2012 2013 2014 2015

-$             -$            -$            -$            -$             
-               -              -             -             -              

 297              276             1,646         260            115             
 3,468           2,492          1,694         1,481         2,315          

-               -              -             -             -              
 7,711           10,016         10,886       10,202       9,450          

 20,209         25,471         28,216       39,129       42,674        
31,685  $     38,255$       42,442$      51,072$      54,554$       

-$             -$            -$            -$            -$             

-               -               -               -               -               
-               -               -               -               -               
-               -               -               -               -               

 63                47              50             46              63               
 26,688          78,732          63,649          59,829          68,445         

 4,174            15,399          19,376          17,195          10,352         
 21,949          21,964          23,754          26,996          29,020         

-               -               -               (20)               -               
52,874  $     116,142  $   106,829  $  104,046  $  107,880  $  

Fiscal Year

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 275Packet Page 347



2006 2007 2008 2009
Revenues:

Taxes:
Sales and use taxes 80,057  $    88,403  $    84,867  $    85,457$       
General property taxes 19,854       20,475      21,865       23,526          
Other taxes (a) 14,053       14,791      -                  -                    
Accomodation taxes -                  -                 3,389         3,049            
Franchise taxes -                  -                 9,131         9,121            
Specific Ownership & Tobacco taxes -                  -                 1,705         1,587            
Excise taxes -                  -                 2,748         1,847            

Charges for services 11,375       12,080      16,115       13,982          
Sale of goods 738            2,993        329            318               
License, permits and fines 9,830         10,259      9,910         8,716            
Intergovernmental 14,252       19,842      15,192       15,589          
Leases, rents and royalties 1,976         329           2,278         2,148            
Interest and investment earnings 3,760         9,910        5,698         1,392            
Other 1,335         15,192      1,567         1,914            

Total revenues 157,230    194,274    174,794    168,646       

Expenditures:
General Government 9,722         11,705      11,838       11,294          
Administrative Services 8,473         8,599        8,773         8,749            
Public Safety 36,738       40,327      42,882       43,273          
Public Works 27,950       34,479      29,204       32,276          
Planning & Development Services 6,352         6,796        7,849         7,460            
Culture and Recreation 23,412       24,179      26,195       27,029          
Open Space and Mountain Parks 17,616       29,919      13,579       10,396          
Housing and Human Services 13,602       10,431      12,736       13,443          
Capital outlay 1,729         1,254        1,840         12,417          
Debt service payments:  

Principal 8,439         8,899        10,331       11,561          
Interest 4,102         3,817        2,552         2,930            
Base rentals to Boulder Municipal

         Property Authority Debt Service Fund 4,444         4,540        4,042         3,454            
Cost of issuance - refunding bonds -                  -                 -                  -                    

Total expenditures 162,579    184,945    171,821    184,282       

Excess of revenues (under) 
expenditures (5,349)        9,329        2,973         (15,636)        

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital assets -                  -                 -                  84                 
Capital lease financing -                  -                 -                  -                    
Notes / loans payable issued -                  -                 -                  5,441            
Bonds issued (including refunding bonds) 20,482       12,416      -                  30,685          
Premium on bonds issued -                  -                 -                  1,016            
Transfers in 18,540       20,259      20,795       20,745          
Transfers out (16,354)      (17,948)      (18,706)      (18,410)        
Payment to refunding bond escrow agent -                  (12,311)      -                  (27,945)        

Total other financing sources 
(uses) 22,668       2,416        2,089         11,616          

Extraordinary Item
    Flood insurance recoveries -                  -                 -                  -                    

Net changes in fund balance 17,319  $    11,745  $    5,062  $       (4,020)$        

Debt service as a percentage of noncapital 
expenditures (b)   8.8% 8.5% 8.3% 8.7%

(a) Starting in 2008, Other Taxes is reported separately as follows:
     Accomodation taxes, Franchise Taxes, Specific Ownership & Tobaco Taxes and Excise Taxe
(b) These percentages have been changed from prior year reports to more accurately reflect the Debt Servic
       percentage of noncapital expenditures

Fiscal Year

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)
(Amounts in 000's)

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Changes In Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 276Packet Page 348



2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

87,802$       92,627$       97,397$      104,136$    116,316$    131,323$    
26,022          27,462          29,474        29,434        30,353        30,846         

-                    -                    -                  -                  -                  -                   
3,199            4,668            4,890          5,192          6,443          7,019           

10,858          10,295          12,310        12,815        12,218        12,772         
1,587            1,578            1,788          1,839          1,954          2,109           

837               1,927            1,290          1,338          3,235          4,453           
17,239          14,015          27,030        22,670        22,946        20,880         

812               368               628             863             593             1,269           
10,956          10,518          11,918        12,156        12,813        13,005         
17,043          13,647          16,420        13,348        18,188        12,347         

2,240            2,346            2,433          2,365          2,651          4,140           
1,445            1,416            879             563             686             827              
1,208            2,869            1,792          1,556          2,069          2,596           

181,248       183,736       208,249     208,275     230,465     243,586     

13,852          18,122          18,568        20,161        16,556        53,077         
8,597            8,504            9,149          10,024        6,773          8,480           

53,972          45,123          47,825        48,202        50,280        52,915         
31,970          29,558          22,178        27,896        38,322        46,114         

7,118            7,551            4,370          4,659          6,014          14,263         
26,352          26,839          25,677        28,089        30,423        32,965         
11,199          15,978          12,055        22,521        20,433        20,999         
15,308          12,022          13,384        20,226        24,564        23,279         

9,785            4,077            29,111        19,218        27,130        9,750           
 
9,895            9,715            10,549        11,201        9,425          10,142         
2,406            2,398            3,025          3,549          3,205          3,266           

3,452            5,178            3,452          1,625          2,091          1,701           
28                 104               28               -                  -                  -                   

193,934       185,169       193,934     217,371     235,216     276,951     

(12,686)        (1,433)          (12,686)      (9,096)        (4,751)        (33,365)      

24                 17                 24               257             7                 1,970           
-                    -                    -                  -                  -                  -                   
-                    -                    -                  -                  -                  -                   

9,203            -                    9,203          -                  10,000        41,000         
-                    -                    -                  -                  123             561              

21,638          22,576          21,638        20,371        8,334          7,333           
(18,563)        (19,415)        (18,563)      (18,653)      (8,822)        -                   

-                    -                    -                  -                  -                  (10,296)      

12,302          3,178            12,302        2,082          9,642          40,568         

-                    (1,500)          -                  1,888          956             -                   

(384)$           245$             (384)$          (5,126)$       5,847$         7,203$          

7.8% 8.6% 9.2% 8.1% 6.6% 6.5%

Fiscal Year

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 277Packet Page 349



Market Sector 2006 2007 2008 2009

Food Stores 305,797$     315,876$       329,727$      328,338$        
Eating Places 281,966      306,927        321,062       311,060          
Apparel Stores 71,349         79,051          82,966         77,259            
Home Furnishings 80,872         85,709          80,115         75,883            
General Retail 453,235      508,536        532,688       515,305          
Transportation/Utilities 211,510      208,719        231,463       215,137          
Automotive Trade 161,209      173,982        151,612       145,333          
Building Material-Retail 87,678         91,274          90,428         82,342            
Construction Use Tax 133,395      136,291        103,986       142,739          
Construction Sales Tax 8,602           11,751          11,960         11,263            
Constructions Firms Sales/Use Tax -              -                -               -                 
Consumer Electronics 54,812         69,954          61,953         50,755            
Computer Related Business Sector 145,538      153,321        158,410       168,124          
All Other 354,847      344,405        335,698       390,880          
Refunds (3,098)         (2,565)           (3,300)          (8,349)             
Total Sales and Use Tax 2,347,712$  2,483,231$    2,488,768$   2,506,069$     

Direct city sales tax rate 3.41% 3.56% 3.41% 3.41%
Food service sales tax 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
Total direct city sales tax 3.56% 3.71% 3.56% 3.56%

Source:  Annual Sales and Use Tax Revenue Reports prepared by the City of Boulder Sales Tax D

Note:  The City has an additional .15% sales tax on food service establishment collections.  The f
service sales tax is deposited into the General Fund and then the total is distributed to the Boulde
for Conference Services and Cultural 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Taxable Sales by Market Sector

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 278Packet Page 350



2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

327,796$      359,707$       388,154$      397,482$    418,373$    440,661$         
321,904        347,871         384,485       389,207     411,710     437,428           

79,232           100,696         110,467       111,504     119,125     122,977           
76,487           81,304           81,243         80,077        88,116        89,689             

567,786        586,189         606,359       613,769     630,457     658,659           
220,981        215,462         208,713       227,916     244,471     229,281           
157,930        174,631         187,675       206,196     224,224     235,029           

87,238           85,319           94,886         109,136     111,777     114,560           
173,534        153,438         171,106       254,550     240,872     -                  

14,922           16,147           12,006         12,695        11,617        -                  
-                -                 -               -             -             276,746           

54,843           73,237           62,924         58,542        67,918        66,687             
146,311        167,503         188,876       209,218     201,225     205,890           
351,272        359,612         359,324       383,549     497,419     524,543           

(5,396)           (4,781)            -               -             -             -                  
2,574,840$   2,716,335$    2,856,218$   3,053,841$ 3,267,304$ 3,402,150$      

3.41% 3.41% 3.41% 3.41% 3.56% 3.86%
0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15%
3.56% 3.56% 3.56% 3.56% 3.71% 4.01%

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 279Packet Page 351



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Parks & Rec

Tax General Fund General Fund General Fund Open Space Open Space Open Space Transportation Transportation & General Muni

Year Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax
Levied No Expiration No Expiration Expires 12/31/24 No Expiration No Expiration Expires 12/31/39 No Expiration Expires 12/31/19 Expires 12/31/39

2006 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2007 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2008 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2009 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2010 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2011 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2012 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2013 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% - 0.15%
2014 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15% 0.15%
2015 1.00% 0.38% 0.15% 0.40% 0.33% 0.15% 0.60% 0.15% 0.15%

Source:  City Sales Tax Division and the Colorado Department of Revenue

Notes:    Food services establishments collections are deposited into the General Fund and a check written for the total to 
               the Boulder Center for Conference Services and Cultural Affairs.

Overlapping rates are those of local, county, regional and state governments that apply to sales within the City.

City Direct Rates

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 280Packet Page 352



Parks Acquisition Food Service Fire Training Capital Projects for 

& Recreation Establishments Center Community, 
Safety, and Culture Regional Ball Total

Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Sales Tax Total State of Transportation Cultural Stadium Boulder Total Direct and 
Expires 12/31/35 No Expiration 2007 only Expires 2017 Direct Colorado District District District County Overlapping Overlapping

0.25% 0.15% - - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.31%
0.25% 0.15% 0.15% - 3.71% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.46%
0.25% 0.15% - - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.31%
0.25% 0.15% - - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.65% 4.75% 8.31%
0.25% 0.15% - - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.80% 4.90% 8.46%
0.25% 0.15% - - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% 0.10% 0.80% 4.90% 8.46%
0.25% 0.15% - - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% - 0.80% 4.80% 8.36%
0.25% 0.15% - - 3.56% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% - 0.80% 4.80% 8.36%
0.25% 0.15% - - 3.71% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% - 0.80% 4.80% 8.51%
0.25% 0.15% - 0.30% 4.01% 2.90% 1.00% 0.10% - 0.985% 4.99% 9.00%

Overlapping Rates

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 281Packet Page 353



(This page intentionally left blank)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 282Packet Page 354



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Largest Sales Tax Remitters by Market Sector

Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Number Percentage Number Percentage
Of Tax Of Of Tax Of

Market Sector Filers Liability Total Filers Liability Total

Food Stores 4 5,948$     7.43% 4 8,494$            6.47%
Automotive Trade 1 1,919      2.40% 1 3,802              2.90%
Computer Related Business Sector 2 3,270      4.08% 1 2,385              1.82%
General Retail, Utilities, & Other 3 6,870      8.58% 4 11,224            8.55%

Total 10 18,007$   22.49% 10 25,905$          19.74%

Source: City of Boulder Sales Tax Division

Note:  Individual sales tax payer information is confidential under Boulder Revised Code. Due to this, the names
of the ten largest revenue payers are not available.  Taxpayer information by industry  for the ten largest payers
is provided to present alternative information regarding the concentration of the city's sales tax revenue sources
by industry.

20152006

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 283Packet Page 355



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Ratios of Net Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Governmental
Activities

General Taxable Pension Revenue Lease Capitalized General
Fiscal Obligation Obligation Revenue Notes Purchase Lease Loans Obligation Revenue 
Year Bonds Bonds Bonds Payable Revenue Notes Obligations Payable Bonds Bonds

2006 75,082       -                    9,855         -           -                -           1,920       23,143       111,120    
2007 67,755       -                    8,810         -           -                -           1,536       20,431       101,792    
2008 60,120       -                    7,720         -           -                -           -           19,259       95,393      
2009 58,410       -                    6,614         -           -                -           500          18,071       88,780      
2010 49,683       9,201                5,350         -           -                7,957       500          16,753       91,429      
2011 41,746       8,881                4,054         -           -                7,763       250          15,350       84,861      

     2012 (b) 87,577       8,531                2,739         -           -                10,391     250          14,046       82,204      
2013 77,717       8,176                1,378         -           -                9,969       -           12,390       74,385      
2014 79,610       7,812                -            -           -                9,420       -           10,778       66,341      
2015 70,793       7,443                -            41,561     5,727            8,837       -           9,133         91,294      

(a) Population information is presented in the Demographic and Economic Statistics schedule.

(b) 2012 amounts restated due to the implementation of GASB 65  (Items previously reported as assets and liabilities)

Note:  Details regarding the City's outstanding debt may be found in the notes to the basic financial statements.

Business-Type
Activities     

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 284Packet Page 356



Revenue Certificates Lease Total Market Value Percentage of
Notes Of Purchase Primary of Taxable Property Per 

Payable Participation Revenue Notes Government Property Values Capita (a)

-              3,055          19,787             243,962    15,963,605 1.53% 2,391.78     
-              2,605          16,869             219,798    16,088,279 1.37% 2,133.96     
-              2,130          15,118             199,740    18,494,895 1.08% 1,920.58     
-              1,635          13,024             187,034    18,685,545 1.00% 1,798.40     
-              1,120          10,809             192,802    19,851,162 0.97% 1,987.65     
-              575             6,739               170,219    19,992,416 0.85% 1,736.93     
-              -              5,313               211,051    19,602,390 1.08% 2,089.61     
-              -              8,949               192,964    19,676,353 0.98% 1,891.80     
-              -              7,178               181,139    20,278,600 0.89% 1,725.13     
-              -              -                   234,788    20,434,242 1.15% 2,236.08     

Activities     
Business-Type

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 285Packet Page 357



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities
General General Percentage of

Fiscal Obligation Obligation Taxable Taxable Per 
Year Bonds Bonds Total Sales Sales (a) Capita (b)

2005 60,375           25,643           86,018           2,247,037      3.83% 843.31        
2006 75,082           23,143           98,225           2,347,712      4.18% 962.99        
2007 67,755           20,431           88,186           2,483,231      3.55% 856.17        
2008 60,120           19,259           79,379           2,488,768      3.19% 763.26        
2009 58,410           18,071           76,481           2,506,069      3.05% 735.39        
2010 58,884           16,753           75,637           2,574,840      2.94% 779.76        
2011 50,627           15,350           65,977           2,716,335      2.43% 673.23        

     2012 (c) 95,773           14,046           109,819         2,856,218      3.84% 1,087.32     
2013 85,893           12,390           98,283           3,053,841      3.22% 963.56        
2014 87,422           10,778           98,200           3,267,304      3.01% 935.24        
2015 78,236           9,133             87,369           3,402,150      2.57% 832.09        

(a) General bonded debt is repaid with sales tax revenues instead of property taxes.  Taxable  sales is used as a relevant
basis for comparison.

(b) Personal income is not available at the City level; therefore, the Per Capita is used for this calculation as allowed.

(c) 2012 amounts restated due to the implementation of GASB 65  (Items previously reported as assets and liabilities)

Note:  Details regarding the City's outstanding debt may be found in the notes to the basic financial statements.

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 286Packet Page 358



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Direct and Overlapping Debt

December 31, 2015
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Percentage Amount
Par value of net applicable applicable

General Obligation to City of to City of
Jurisdiction debt outstanding (a) Boulder (b) Boulder (c)

Boulder Valley School
    District RE-2 560,290$            62.08 % 347,819$         

Boulder Central Area General
    Improvement  District 9,133                  100.00 9,133               

Northern Colorado Water
    Conservancy District (NCWCD) 4,124                  20.98 865                  

Boulder County -                          46.08 -                       

Urban Drainage and Flood Control 
    District -                          7.02 -                       

Total Overlapping Debt 357,817           

City Direct Governmental Activity Debt 96,842             

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 454,659$         

(a)  Source for net General Obligation debt outstanding:    Boulder Valley School District, NCWCD, 
       Boulder County, and Urban Drainage and Flood Control District

(b)  Source for percentage applicable to City of Boulder:   2013 Abstract of Assessment
       and Summary of Levies (Boulder County Assessor's Office), NCWCD, UDFC and
       Boulder Valley School District RE-2.

(c)  The City of Boulder's valuation is divided by each jurisdiction's valuation, with the exception of 
       the Boulder Central Area General Improvement District, which is wholly within the City limits.

       For 2014, each jurisdiction had the following valuations (in 000's):

 The City of Boulder $ 3,160,450
Boulder Valley School District 5,091,057
NCWCD 15,066,440
Boulder County 6,858,961
Urban Drainage & Flood Control 44,997,077

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 287Packet Page 359



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Legal Debt Margin Information

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

2006 2007 2008

Debt limit 62,759  $    62,838  $    72,496  $   

Total net debt applicable to limit -             -             -            

Legal debt margin 62,759  $    62,838  $    72,496  $   

Total net debt applicable to the limit
as a percentage of debt limit 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

(a) 2012 amounts adjusted due to the implementation of GASB 65 
     (Items previously reported as assets and liabilities)

Note: The total indebtedness of the City, payable solely from the proceeds of
ad valorem taxes, shall not exceed 3% of assessed value of taxable property in
the municipality.  Indebtedness payable in whole or in part from other revenue
sources, or is subject to annual appropriations therefrom by the Boulder City
Council, is not included in this limitation. (Charter of the City of Boulder, Sec. 97.)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 288Packet Page 360



Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2015

Assessed value 3,160,450  $   

Debt limit - 3% of assessed value 94,814           
Debt applicable to limit:

Total bonded debt 87,369           
Deductions allowed by law:

Self-supporting General Obligation bonds (87,369)         

Total net debt applicable to limit -                

Legal debt margin 94,814  $        

2009 2010 2011   2012  (a) 2013 2014 2015

76,882  $  76,981  $   74,943  $    75,021  $      77,024  $        77,981  $   94,814  $      

-            -             -              -               -                -             -               

76,882  $  76,981  $   74,943  $    75,021  $      77,024  $        77,981  $   94,814  $      

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 289Packet Page 361



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Pledged Revenue Coverage

Last Ten Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Pledged Water and Sewer Bonds

Net revenue Maximum
Direct available annual

Fiscal Gross operating for debt service
year revenue (a) expense (b) debt service requirement Coverage (c)

2006 43,761 20,657 23,104 10,325 2.24
2007 42,081 21,205 20,876 10,037 2.08
2008 43,394 23,340 20,054 10,029 2.00
2009 39,151 21,633 17,518 10,029 1.75
2010 38,626 20,199 18,427 10,704 1.72
2011 41,412 23,026 18,386 10,615 1.73
2012 41,390 23,503 17,887 12,550 1.43
2013 42,526 24,347 18,179 12,379 1.47
2014 46,519 27,657 18,862 12,379 1.52
2015 58,216 28,220 29,996 11,741 2.55

(a) Gross revenue as defined by applicable bond ordinances includes gross operating and nonoperating
revenues, plant investment fees and special assessments in the Water Utility and Wastewater
Utility Funds.

(b) Direct operating expense equals total operating expenses less depreciation and amortization expense.
In 2004, all prior year direct operating expense totals were restated to include the portion of the annual
payment to the Municipal Subdistrict, Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District, that reduces the
deferred credit for future water rights in the Water Utility Fund.

(c) Prior to issuing additional parity bonds, the City must meet the following "facilities earnings test":

The annual gross revenue derived from the operation of the facilities for the fiscal year immediately
preceding the date of the issuance of additional parity bonds must be sufficient to pay the annual
operation and maintenance expenses of the facilities for that fiscal year, and, in addition, sufficient
to pay an amount representing 125% of the combined maximum annual principal and interest
requirements of the outstanding bonds, and any other bonds payable from and constituting a lien
upon net income of the facilities, and the bonds proposed to be issued.  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 290Packet Page 362



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Pledged Revenue Coverage

Last Ten Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Stormwater and Flood Management Bonds

Net revenue Average
Operating available annual

Fiscal Gross and Maintenance for debt service
year income (d) expense (e) debt service requirement Coverage (f)

2006 5,215 2,751 2,464 625 3.94
2007 5,537 2,969 2,568 625 4.11
2008 5,988 3,237 2,751 608 4.52
2009 5,362 2,945 2,417 563 4.29
2010 6,590 3,261 3,329 386 8.62
2011 5,185 3,341 1,844 386 4.78
2012 5,386 3,161 2,225 386 5.76
2013 5,708 3,279 2,429 386 6.29
2014 5,642 3,737 1,905 385 4.95
2015 12,232 6,044 6,188 385 16.07

(d) Gross income as defined by applicable bond ordinances means all income and revenues
derived directly or indirectly by the City from the Fees, including interest earnings on
moneys in any fund or account created by the bond ordinance and includes all revenues
earned by the City therefrom.

(e) Operating and Maintenance Expenses means all reasonable and necessary current 
expenses of the City paid or accrued, of operating, maintaining and repairing the Flood
 Control System.  It does not include depreciation, capital replacements, or operating,
 maintenance or repair reserves.

(f) Prior to issuing additional parity bonds, the City must meet the following "fee test":

The annual gross income for the fiscal year immediately preceding the date of the
issuance of additional parity bonds shall have been sufficient to pay the annual 
operation and maintenance expenses of the Flood Control System for said fiscal year,
and, in addition, sufficient to pay an amount representing 125% of the combined
average annual principal and interest requirements of the Outstanding Series 1998 
Bonds of the City payable from and constituting a lien upon net income from the Fees 
and the bonds proposed to be issued. 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 291Packet Page 363



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in 000's)

Fiscal
Year City of Total

Ended Boulder Population Personal Per Capita Unemployment
April 30 Population (a) (b) Income (c) Income (d) Rate (e)(f)

2006 102 291 14,267 48.954 4.3%
2007 103 296 14,784 49.999 3.9%
2008 104 300 15,237 50.714 4.6%
2009 104 303 14,334 48.891 5.3%
2010 97 296 14,768 50.031 6.5%
2011 98 300 15,536 51.893 5.9%
2012 101 305 16,639 54.502 5.6%
2013 102 310 17,042 54.968 4.7%
2014 105 314 18,370 58,627 3.2%
2015 105 * * * 2.8%

(a)  Source: City of Boulder Department of Community Planning & Sustainability.  Estimates are based on
January 1.

(b) Source: Colorado Department of Local Affairs, State Demography Office.  Estimates are based on July 1.

(c) Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Table CA1-3

(d) Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Table CA1-3

(e) Source: Colorado Department of Labor and Employment (average annual rate for the
City of Boulder).

(f) Source: Starting in 2008, amounts were based on Boulder Economic Council estimates.  Annual 2013 rate not
yet available so October 2013 rate was used.

* 2015 Boulder, Colorado Metropolitan Statistic Area not available

Note:  Personal income information is not available for the City of Boulder.  Boulder, Colorado Metropolitan 
Statistical Area population and personal income information was used.

Boulder, Colorado Metropolitan Statistical Area

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 292Packet Page 364



2006 2015
Percentage Percentage

of Total County of Total County
Employer Employees Rank Employment (a) Employees Rank Employment (a)

University of Colorado at Boulder 7,050       1 4.32% 7,964       1 3.77%
St. Vrain Valley School District 1,463       10 0.90% 4,661       2 2.20%
Boulder Valley School District 3,600       4 2.21% 4,381       3 2.07%
IBM Corporation 4,200       2 2.58% 2,800       4 1.32%
Boulder County 1,600       9 0.98% 1,957       5 0.93%
SCL Health System - - - 1,900       6 0.90%
Ball Corporation 3,000       5 1.84% 1,865       7 0.88%
Covidien - - 1,800       8 0.85%
Boulder Community Hospital 1,907       8 1.17% 1,796       9 0.85%
City of Boulder - - - 1,359       10 0.64%
Level 3 Communications Inc. 2,000       7 1.23% - - -
State of Colorado 2,820       6 1.73% - - -
Sun Microsystems Inc 3,800       3 2.33% - - -

31,440     19.29% 30,483       14.41%

Source: The Boulder County Business Report Book of Lists and Colorado Department of Labor and Employment

(a) This list is the 10 largest employers in Boulder and Broomfield counties.  Employment information specifi
     to the City of Boulder is not available for the years presented

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Principal Employers

Current Year and Nine Years Ago
(Unaudited)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 293Packet Page 365



2006 2007 2008 2009
Functions/Program

General Government:
City Council 1.00          1.00          1.00            1.00            
Municipal Court 17.00        18.50        18.50          18.00          
City Attorney 18.75        19.70        18.65          18.65          
City Manager- Administration 10.00        10.00        16.50          16.50          
City Manager- Downtown & University Hill Mgt 40.50        42.25        42.25          42.25          
City Manager- Communications 11.50        11.50        6.00            6.00            

Administrative Services:
Human Resources 14.25        14.63        16.38          16.63          
Finance 27.25        28.87        29.37          28.37          
Information Technology 32.75        32.75        35.25          35.25          

Public Safety:
Police 263.25      269.25      273.25        273.25        
Fire 111.33      111.33      111.33        112.33        

Planning & Development Services: 64.74        69.36        72.56          76.56          
Environmental Affairs: 6.00          5.50          9.50            10.50          
Public Works:

Administration -             -             -              -               
Fleet 16.90        16.87        16.87          16.87          
Transportation 62.97        65.99        68.24          68.69          
Utilities 150.44      154.93      155.18        156.23        
Facility / Asset Management 13.51        13.58        14.58          14.58          

Culture and Recreation:
Parks and Recreation 145.25      144.62      145.82        146.99        
Library 78.95        79.45        80.20          79.95          
Arts 1.50          1.50          1.50            1.50            

Open Space / Mountain Parks: 77.58        83.25        92.00          91.00          
Housing and Human Services: 53.42        56.51        56.24          57.42          

Total 1,218.84   1,251.34   1,281.17     1,288.52     

Source:  City of Boulder Summary of Standard FTE's per the annual budget document.

Note:  Number of FTE's budgeted and approved for each fiscal year

Full-Time Equivalent Employees

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Full-Time Equivalent City Employees By Functions/Programs

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 294Packet Page 366



2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

-               -               -             -             -                 -              
 16.25            16.25           16.25        18.16        18.13             21.13           
 18.65            18.65           20.15        20.20        21.20             19.20           
 14.30            11.80           12.68        12.00        12.00             19.50           
 42.25            42.25           42.25        42.25        42.25             44.50           

 4.00              5.50             6.50          6.50          6.50               6.50             

 14.88            14.88           15.38        15.63        18.63             24.63           
 26.37            33.50           34.00        34.00        36.00             38.67           
 33.50            34.50           34.50        34.00        36.85             37.18           

 269.50          276.50         279.50      279.50      282.50           288.00        
 112.33          112.33         115.33      118.33      120.33           121.33        

 79.47            78.66           82.97        88.74        93.87             105.92        
-               -               -             -             -                 -              

-               -               -             2.74          2.74               3.74             
 14.87            14.82           14.82        14.77        14.77             14.77           
 67.10            59.28           59.52        59.78        60.09             70.34           

 155.90          154.84         154.84      153.59      154.17           166.92        
 14.58            14.68           14.68        14.73        14.84             14.84           

 139.24          126.12         126.37      128.37      127.37           130.35        
 76.95            75.45           75.13        74.14        76.26             76.26           

 1.50              1.50             2.00          3.25          3.25               2.25             
 90.50            85.60           89.60        91.60        95.35             102.35        
 56.10            53.39           46.73        48.34        48.91             50.39           

 1,248.24       1,230.50      1,243.20   1,260.62   1,286.01       1,358.77     

Full-Time Equivalent Employees

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 295Packet Page 367



Function/Program 2006 2007 2008 2009

General Government:
Municipal Court

Traffic tickets processed  12,554             11,204               13,782         13,260          
General summons processed  4,249               3,760                 4,099           4,510            
Animal summons processed  1,459               1,366                 986              1,055            
Arraignments  5,030               3,974                 4,716           5,543            
Court trials  150                  114                    93                98                 
Jury trials  4                      6                        9                  8                   

Public Safety:
Police

Number of police officers  171                  171                    171              171
DUI arrests  1,163               989                    1,089           781
Traffic summons  17,914             19,554               21,205         15,304
Total traffic accidents  3,552               3,641                 3,242           3,405
Total calls for service 84,747         87,320            78,204        77,745

Fire
Number of firefighters  95                    95                      95                96             
Total annual responses  8,679               8,943                 8,943           9,730            
Percentage of responses within 6 minutes 69% 80% 80% 72%

Planning & Development Services:
Number of applications received  5,642               5,920                 5,781           5,532            

Number of zoning and environmental code enforcement cases  3,260               4,515                 3,000           2,821            
Public Works

Transportation
Daily vehicle miles of travel in Boulder Valley 2.61 million 2.57 million 2.49 million 2.46 million

Culture and Recreation:
Parks and Recreation

Recreation center attendance  432,901           464,432             453,248       428,682        
Outdoor pool attendance  41,558             58,954               58,643         83,335          
Adult athletics participation  201,040           216,550             234,567       237,292        
Recreation class enrollment  25,818             27,791               26,583         26,671          
Reservoir attendance  91,207             57,408               48,713         36,582          
Rounds of golf  47,966             48,384               49,360         43,348          

Library
Circulation of books, videos, tapes  1,109,619        1,183,717          1,274,299    1,354,742
Remote use of library resources online  1,630,945        2,028,526          1,792,633    669,217
Adults participating in cultural and educational programs 62,211         65,455            66,994        37,319
Attendance at outreach program activities 8,647           7,554              14,569        5,796

Arts
Participants in Boulder Arts Resource 523              555                 625             677

Housing Division:
Number of permanently affordable housing units added on an 
annual basis

 117                  147                    163              84

Source:  City of Boulder departmental records.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Operating Indicators By Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 296Packet Page 368



2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

17,433          17,181          15,681          12,464          10,998          8,273       
4,351            6,028            6,498            5,871            4,466            4,886       

870               1,318            1,635            1,340            1,074            2,016       
5,218            5,437            5,810            5,049            4,341            4,459       

87                 69                 63                 84                 61                 54            
8                   20                 12                 16                 23                 12            

171 173 173 173 176 179
767 674 706 592 583 568

18,394 17,530 16,547 18,438 12,530 13,106
3,222 3,328 3,183 3,598 3,449 3,593

76,383 81,218 91,675 107,519 108,279 105,315

96             96             96             96             96             96
9,535            10,111          10,293          11,203          9,910            10,669

77% 76% 74% 78% 47% 66%

6,309            5,888            6,488            7,727            6,115            6,170       
1,995            2,145            706               809               821               1,178       

2.49 million 2.34 million 2.34 million 2.40 million 2.89 million2.46 million

422,200        628,639        725,000        736,138        727,531        488,707   
88,303          83,707          77,441          74,175          75,597          64,638     

236,950        250,372        175,543        181,752        161,652        176,404   
22,201          21,794          23,092          23,417          29,451          31,223     
42,688          330,205        238,265        227,935        156,034        139,396   
38,293          39,440          43,974          36,872          41,494          37,174     

1,363,545 1,384,900 1,446,816 1,449,679 1,305,894 1,350,156
806,770 804,998 748,917 752,629 840,954 757,918   

33,175 33,298 31,063 23,999 25,737 36,203
4,525 4,185 5,312 4,429 4,650 3,282

678 718 737 NA NA NA

100 24 18 236 141 205

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 297Packet Page 369



Function/Program 2006 2007 2008

Public Safety:
Police

Number of stations and annexes 3               3                3                 
Fire

Number of stations 7               7                7                 
Public Works:

Fleet Services
Cars, Pickups, Vans, and Motorcycles 281           297            311             
Fire Apparatus 11             11              11               
Other Heavy Trucks and Equipment 490           477            658             
Total Vehicles/Equipment in Fleet 782           785            980             

Transportation
Miles of streets 287           288            289             
Number of street lights 4,562        4,567         4,608          

Utilities - Water
Number of water accounts  28,555          28,578          28,359         
Average daily water production (000's) 18,187      16,458       16,900        
Miles of water mains  449               451               451              

Utilities - Sewer
Miles of sanitary sewer mains  349               349               351              
Miles of storm sewers 138           138            150             

Culture and Recreation:
Parks and Recreation

Acres of urban parks 1,880        1,880         1,880          
Library

Number of libraries 4               4                4                 
Number of library items in collection  419,339        389,805        389,805       

Open Space / Mountain Parks:
Acres of mountain parks and open space 43,497      44,921       45,090        

Source:  City of Boulder departmental records.

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

Statistical Data

Capital Asset Statistics By Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Unaudited)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 298Packet Page 370



2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

 4                   3                 4                4               5               5               5                  

 7                   7                 7                7               7               7               7                  

 343               355              347            312           328           377           377              
 22                 15               14              14             14             14             14                

 594               585              607            677           720           704           713              
 959               955              968            1,003        1,062        1,095        1,104           

 292               293             293            295           295           295           300              
 4,638            4,678          4,689         4,742        4,766        4,811        4,822           

 28,458          28,519          28,619          28,759         28,747         28,829        28,944         
 15,400          17,300        17,000        17,600      15,737       15,692      15,800         

 458               461               463               463              462              463             463              

 350               375               355               355              355              356             356              
 124               183             186            153           152            153           144              

 1,880            1,880           1,800         1,800        1,800        1,800        1,800           

 4                   4                 4                4               4               5               5                  
 403,960        405,034        392,506        390,427        413,740        412,824       473,716       

 45,091          45,130          45,405          45,591          46,632          45,518         45,606         

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 299Packet Page 371



(This page intentionally left blank)

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 300Packet Page 372



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended December 31, 2015 

 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Pass thru  
 Federal Entity Amount Federal 
Federal Grantor, Program Title,  CFDA Identifying Provided to Expenditures 
Project/Grant Number, and Program Year Number Number Subrecipient 1/1/15-12/31/15 
   
   
Department of Housing and Urban Development:   
     Direct Programs:   
          Community Development Block Grants/Entitlement Grants 14.218 N/A $            159,714  $       327,342
          Home Investment Partnerships Program 14.239 N/A 236,146  195,235
          CDBG – Disaster Recovery 14.269 N/A -   70,377
               Total Department of Housing and Urban Development 395,860  592,954
   
Department of Justice:   
     Direct Programs:   
          Missing Children’s Assistance 16.543 N/A -     8,044
          Public Safety Partnership and Community Policing Grants 16.710 N/A -   89,588
          Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program 16.738 N/A 31,705 51,344
               Total Department of Justice 31,705  148,976
   
Department of Transportation:   
     Passed through Colorado Department of Transportation:   
          Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 None provided -   6,605,100
     Passed through Regional Air Quality Council:   
          Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 None provided -   32,471
               Total Department of Transportation -   6,637,571
   
Department of Veterans Affairs:   
     Direct Programs:   
          United States Olympic Committee 64.034 N/A -   8,807
   
Environmental Protection Agency:   

Passed through Colorado Department of Public Health and 
Environment: 

  

          Nonpoint Source Implementation Grants 66.460 13 FAA 56804 -   39,478
   
Department of Education:   
     Passed through Boulder Valley School District:   
          Twenty-First Century Community Learning Centers 84.287 None provided -   20,723
   
Department of Health and Human Services:   
     Passed through Qualistar Colorado:   
          Child Care and Development Block Grant 93.575 None provided -   56,507
               Total Department of Health and Human Services   
   
Department of Public Safety:   
     Passed through Colorado Department of Public Safety:   
          Disaster Grants - Public Assistance 97.036 See Note 3 -   1,407,106
     Passed through Colorado Department of Public Works:   
          Flood Mitigation Assistance 97.039 N/A -   39,987
                Total Department of Public Safety -   1,447,093
   
                    Total Federal Expenditures $            427,565  $   8,952,109
   
See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards   
 
 

  

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 301Packet Page 373



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Year Ended December 31, 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 1. Basis of Presentation 

 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant activity 
of the City of Boulder, Colorado for the year ended December 31, 2015. All federal financial 
assistance received directly from federal agencies, as well as federal financial assistance passed 
through other governmental agencies, is included in the schedule.  The information in this schedule 
is presented in accordance with requirements of the Code of Federal Regulations, 2 CFR Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ from 
amounts presented in, or used in the presentation of, the basic financial statements. 

 
 

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Revenue from federal awards is recognized when the City has done everything necessary to establish 
its right to revenue.  For governmental funds, revenue from federal grants is recognized when it 
becomes both measurable and available.  Expenditures of federal awards are recognized in the 
accounting period when the liability is incurred. The City has elected to not use the 10 percent de 
minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.  

 
 
Note 3. Pass Through Entity Identifying Numbers 
 

The pass through award numbers for the Disaster Grants - Public Assistance program were PW-00564, 
PW-00590, PW-00827, PW-00840, PW-00889, PW-00915, PW-00918, PW-00939, PW-00949, PW-
00963, PW-01019, PW-01032, PW-01034, PW-01041, PW-01068, PW-01070, PW-01073, PW-01093, 
PW-01136, PW-01139, PW-01140, PW-01141, PW-01142, PW-01155, PW-01168, PW-01171, PW-
01175, PW-01176, PW-01180, PW-01211 PW-00065, PW-00092, PW-00118, PW-00126, PW-00141, 
PW-00147, DR1P14-003, DR2P15-058. 

 
 
 

 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 302Packet Page 374



GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Government Auditing Standards 

deficiency in internal

material weakness

significant deficiency

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

An independent member of Nexia International

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 303Packet Page 375



Government Auditing Standards

Government Auditing Standards

a 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 304Packet Page 376



OMB Compliance Supplement

Management’s Responsibility 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Government 
Auditing Standards

Code of Federal Regulations Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

An independent member of Nexia International

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 305Packet Page 377



deficiency in internal control over compliance

material weakness in internal control over 
compliance

significant
deficiency in internal control over compliance

a 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 306Packet Page 378



Section I – Summary of Auditors’ Results 

Financial Statements 

•

•

Federal Awards

•

•

Identification of Major Federal Programs 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 307Packet Page 379



Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

•

•

•

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 308Packet Page 380



•

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 309Packet Page 381



Section III – Findings and Questioned Costs – Major Federal Programs 

Section IV – Prior Year Findings 

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 310Packet Page 382



Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 311Packet Page 383



Financial Planning 02/01
The public report burden for this information collection is estimated to average 380 hours annually.  Form # 350-050-36

City or County:
City of Boulder
YEAR ENDING :
December 2015

This Information From The Records Of: Prepared By: Jenna Pratt, Budget & Finance Analyst
City of Boulder Phone: 303-441-3001

A.     Local         B.       Local           C.  Receipts from    D.  Receipts from  
Motor-Fuel Motor-Vehicle State Highway- Federal Highway

Taxes Taxes User Taxes Administration
1.  Total receipts available
2.  Minus amount used for collection expenses
3.  Minus amount used for nonhighway purposes
4.  Minus amount used for mass transit
5.  Remainder used for highway purposes 

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.  Receipts from local sources: A.  Local highway disbursements:
     1.  Local highway-user taxes     1.  Capital outlay (from page 2) 12,906,429
          a.  Motor Fuel  (from Item I.A.5.)     2.  Maintenance: 2,074,999
          b.  Motor Vehicle (from Item I.B.5.)     3.  Road and street services:
          c.  Total (a.+b.)          a.  Traffic control operations 2,542,877
     2.  General fund appropriations 3,974,799          b.  Snow and ice removal 1,646,485
     3.  Other local imposts (from page 2) 18,997,226          c.  Other 2,741,722
     4.  Miscellaneous local receipts (from page 2) 1,638,605          d.  Total  (a. through c.) 6,931,084
     5.  Transfers from toll facilities 0     4.  General administration & miscellaneous 4,064,969
     6.  Proceeds of sale of bonds and notes:     5.  Highway law enforcement and safety 3,378,798
          a.  Bonds - Original Issues 0     6.  Total  (1 through 5) 29,356,279
          b.  Bonds - Refunding Issues 0 B.  Debt service on local obligations:
          c.  Notes 0     1.  Bonds:
          d.  Total (a. + b. + c.) 0          a.  Interest 751,231
     7.  Total (1 through 6) 24,610,629          b.  Redemption 1,080,018
B.  Private Contributions 0          c.  Total (a. + b.) 1,831,249
C.  Receipts from State government     2.  Notes:
       (from page 2) 3,275,670          a.  Interest 0
D.  Receipts from Federal Government          b.  Redemption 0
       (from page 2) 1,467,404          c.  Total (a. + b.) 0
E.  Total receipts (A.7 + B + C + D) 29,353,703     3.  Total  (1.c + 2.c) 1,831,249

C.  Payments to State for highways 0
D.  Payments to toll facilities 0
E.  Total disbursements (A.6 + B.3 + C + D) 31,187,528

Opening Debt Amount Issued Redemptions Closing Debt
A.  Bonds (Total) 20,947,224 0 1,080,018 19,867,206
        1.  Bonds (Refunding Portion) 0 0
B.  Notes (Total) 0

A. Beginning Balance B. Total Receipts C. Total Disbursements D. Ending Balance E. Reconciliation
Transportation Funds 22,643,869 24,298,886 24,641,592 22,301,163 0
Capital Improvement Bond 
Fund  (Street & Road) 1,491,120 0 1,491,120 0 0
General Fund  (Street & Road) 0 5,054,817 5,054,817 0 0

Totals 24,134,989 29,353,703 31,187,528 22,301,164 0
Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev. 1-05)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE (Next Page)
1

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

I.  DISPOSITION OF HIGHWAY-USER REVENUES AVAILABLE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE

ITEM

III.  DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD

Transportation Funds include the Transportation, Transportation Development  and Boulder Junction Improvement Funds.  Balances for 
Transportation Funds reflected in Section V include balances not restricted for road and street purposes as transportation funding within the City of 
Boulder supports multi-modal transportation.  In contrast, receipt and disbursement financial data only reflect road and street-related activity.  

V.  LOCAL ROAD AND STREET FUND BALANCE

ITEM

II.  RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES

IV.   LOCAL HIGHWAY DEBT STATUS
(Show all entries at par)

ITEM
 AND STREET PURPOSES

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 312Packet Page 384



STATE:
Colorado
YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
December 2015

AMOUNT AMOUNT
A.3.  Other local imposts: A.4.  Miscellaneous local receipts:
    a.  Property Taxes and Assessments 49,991          a.  Interest on investments 188,907
    b.  Other local imposts:          b.  Traffic Fines & Penalities 135,719
        1.  Sales Taxes 16,271,100          c. Parking Garage Fees 0
        2.  Infrastructure & Impact Fees 2,432,840          d.  Parking Meter Fees 0
        3.  Liens 0          e.  Sale of Surplus Property 1,213,979
        4. Licenses 0          f.  Charges for Services 0
        5. Specific Ownership &/or Other 243,295          g.  Other Misc. Receipts 100,000
        6.  Total (1. through 5.) 18,947,235          h.  Other 0
    c.  Total (a. + b.) 18,997,226          i.  Total (a. through h.) 1,638,605

(Carry forward to page 1) (Carry forward to page 1) 

AMOUNT AMOUNT
C.   Receipts from State Government D.  Receipts from Federal Government
    1.  Highway-user taxes 2,535,993    1.  FHWA (from Item I.D.5.)
    2.  State general funds    2.  Other Federal agencies:
    3.  Other State funds:        a.  Forest Service 0
        a.  State bond proceeds        b.  FEMA 0
        b.  Project Match        c.  HUD 0
        c.  Motor Vehicle Registrations 273,581        d.  Federal Transit Admin 0
        d. Other  - Hwy/Signal Maint Contract 153,240        e.  U.S. Corps of Engineers 0
        e.  Other - CDOT 312,856        f.  Other Federal (FHWA) 1,467,404
         f.  Total (a. through e.) 739,677        g.  Total (a. through f.) 1,467,404
   4.  Total (1. + 2. + 3.f) 3,275,670    3.  Total (1. + 2.g)

(Carry forward to page 1) 

ON NATIONAL OFF NATIONAL
HIGHWAY HIGHWAY TOTAL
SYSTEM SYSTEM

(a) (b) (c)
A.1.  Capital outlay:
          a.  Right-Of-Way Costs 0 0 0
          b.  Engineering Costs 5,204,549 2,566,557 7,771,106
          c.  Construction:
               (1). New Facilities 0 0 0
               (2).  Capacity Improvements 0 340,669 340,669
               (3).  System Preservation 113,558 3,076,896 3,190,454
               (4).  System Enhancement & Operation 571,113 1,033,087 1,604,200
               (5).  Total Construction  (1) + (2) + (3) + (4) 684,671 4,450,652 5,135,323
         d.  Total Capital Outlay (Lines 1.a. + 1.b. + 1.c.5) 5,889,220 7,017,209 12,906,429

(Carry forward to page 1) 
Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.1-05)           PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE
2

III.  DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

II.  RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

ITEM ITEM

ITEM ITEM

Attachment C: CAFR

Agenda Item 3F     Page 313Packet Page 385



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Consideration of motion to accept the recommendation of the 
City Manager and City Attorney to use an administrative process informed by Council 
direction to resolve claims arising from water main breaks or in the alternative, second 
reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8116 amending Chapter 
11-1, “Water Utility,” by adding a new Subsection to Section 11-1-44 ,“Water User 
Charges,” amending the title of the section, authorizing the city manager to pay claims 
for damage from water main breaks and setting forth related details. 

PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director Public Works 
Jeff Arthur, Director Public Works for Utilities 
Cheryl Pattelli, Finance Director  
Jessica Pault-Atiase, Senior Assistant City Attorney

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At the March 15, 2016 council meeting, the city council directed staff to study the 
possibility of paying claims for damages caused by water main breaks, in situations 
where the city would not be legally obligated to pay for such damages.  Council’s interest 
in making these payments was the result of an incident on February 15, 2016, which 
resulted in the flooding of several homes in North Boulder.  A second incident occurred 
on March 25, 2016 in South Boulder.  Council considered a proposed ordinance at the 
May 3, 2016 council meeting.  Council directed staff to remove the proposed fee from the 
ordinance, to expand the scope beyond single family homes, to not limit compensation to 
damage to basements and to include language clarifying that any payment would be 
supplemental to any insurance payment.  Council further directed that staff submit the 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page 386



proposed ordinance as an emergency measure.  The ordinance was scheduled for the 
council consent calendar at the May 17, 2016 council meeting, because there was a public 
hearing at the May 3, 2016.  A council member requested a second public hearing.  The 
ordinance was pulled from the May 17, 2016 council meeting and rescheduled for 
continued second reading for the July 19, 2016 council meeting.  Adoption of the 
ordinance in the current form would be an amendment of the ordinance approved at first 
reading and therefore will require a third reading.  In the interim, staff has made 
settlement proposals for all of the claims arising from the February 15, 2016 water main 
break, most of which have been accepted and paid.  In light of staff’s ability to address 
the claims with existing authority, staff does not recommend that council adopt the 
proposed ordinance.  To help preserve this policy decision, the city manager will issue a 
directive to the finance director and risk manager setting forth the policy.   

Suggested Motion Language:  
If Council decides to allow for continued administrative handling of claims pursuant to 
existing law and council direction: 

Motion to accept the recommendation of the city manager and city attorney to employ an 
administrative process to address claims arising from water main breaks as presented in 
the draft directive attached to the agenda memorandum. 

If Council decides otherwise, the motion should be changed as follows: 

Second reading and consideration of motion to adopt and order published by title only, an 
ordinance No. 8116 amending Chapter 11-1 “Water Utility” by adding a new Subsection 
to Section 11-1-44 “Water User Charges” amending the title of the section, authorizing 
the city attorney, with the city manager’s approval to pay claims for damage from water 
main breaks and setting forth related details. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  Council decided to consider any additional funding through the
budget process and therefore any economic impact will be considered at that time.

 Environmental:  None.
 Social:  Shared responsibility for losses suffered is an important community social

value.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal:  The liability assumed through this ordinance would be financed through a
funding mechanism to be considered as part of the 2017 budget process.  If
council adopts a funding mechanism there would be no expected fiscal impact
from the proposed ordinance.  If no new funding is adopted, there will be an

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page 387



impact on the water utility.  Accepting liability without a new funding source 
could have significant adverse impacts on the utility’s financial situation.      

 Staff Time:  Implementation will be accomplished with existing staff.  Staff
expects that paying claims for which the city is not legally liable will increase the 
number of claims and require additional staff time.   

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

None. 

BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

At the March 15, 2016 council meeting, council directed staff to consider whether 
the city should adopt a policy of paying for the damage caused by events like the 
February 15, 2016 Norwood Avenue water main break.  The proposed ordinance is the 
product of that work.   

Additional background information for this topic can be found in the April 19, 2016 
agenda memorandum, the May 3, 2016 agenda memorandum and the May 17, 2016 agenda 
memorandum. 

The Proposed Ordinance 

The ordinance approved by council at first reading is attached as Attachment A.  
Attachment B is a revised version based on direction given by council at the May 3, 2016 
council meeting.  Changes from the first reading version are indicated with additions 
shown in bold and deletions in strikeout.  The proposed new second reading version of 
the ordinance includes the following changes: 

 The title of section 11-1-44 would be amended to be “Water User Charges and
Claims.”

 The provision adding a $1 per month fee on single family residential accounts
would be eliminated.

 “City” would be changed to “water utility” to clarify that this section only refers
to claims against the water utility.

 The limitation to “Single Unit Dwelling” would be eliminated.
 The source of any damage would be changed from “facilities” to “a water main

break on a pipeline owned and operated by the water utility” to narrow the type of
damage to be covered.

 A provision for payment for basic remediation would be added.
 The limitation of payment for damages to basements would be eliminated.
 The limitation of payment for things normally found in basements would be

eliminated.

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page 388

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/132309/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/132309/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/132763/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/133622/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/133622/Electronic.aspx


 The limitation of payment for damage to “extraordinary basement finishes” would
be change to “extraordinary finishes.”

 The prohibition on payments for damages to kitchens would be changed to a
limitation on payments for “appliances” or “cabinetry.”

 An additional prohibition would be added precluding payment for damage to
“furniture or other possessions.”

 The provision limiting payment to funds accrued through the $1 per month fee on
single family residents would be eliminated.

 A new provision stating that any payment would be supplemental and not lieu of
insurance would be added.

 A new provision clarifying that this new subsection is not intended to waive any
part of the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act would be added.

 A new section 4 would be added justifying adoption of the ordinance by
emergency.

Status of Claims

Based on council’s direction staff analyzed the February 15, 2016 water main
claims.  Staff offered to pay for basic remediation, but not for finishes.  The following 
chart summarizes the status of the claims to date: 

Claimant Claimed Damages Status 

Emily Baumbach 
1551 Norwood Avenue 

$4,477.94 + personal 
property 

Paid - $2,596.88 

Lisa Brusino 
1620 Oak Avenue 

$20,067 Paid - $15,267.42 

Karen & Malcolm Daly 
1545 Norwood Avenue 

$620 No settlement offered 

Thomas Debus &  
Christine Vanston 
1660 Oak Avenue 

$5,600 Paid - $4,016.54 

Carla Graubard 
1555 Norwood Avenue 

$37,744.44 Offered - $26,734.26 

Meredith & Drew Kurry 
1548 Oak Avenue 

$10,000 Paid – $3,857.53 

Stanley Peterson 
1629 Norwood Avenue 

$2,279.68 Offered  - $2,000 

Dan Spiegler 
1535 Norwood Avenue 

$6,402.08 Paid - $5,023.83 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page 389



Cristina Stoica 
1640 Oak Avenue 

$95,000 Paid - $3,350 

Simon & Diane Terr 
1680 Oak Avenue 

$15,979.83 Paid - $12,265.47 

Claimed - $198,170.97 Offered - $71,095.39 

Staff made the settlement offers in letters dated June 6, 2016.  Two of the offers 
remain outstanding.  Mr. Peterson does not use electronic mail.  Staff is awaiting his 
response via regular mail.  Ms. Graubard has objected to the proposed offer.  She seeks 
compensation for paint, baseboards and other finishes, which staff considered to be 
beyond the scope of council’s direction.  Staff’s understanding of council’s direction was 
that finishes were not to be included, because the cost of finishes, including paint and 
baseboards, can vary greatly based upon an individual’s tastes.  The payments were 
intended to provide assistance, not necessarily to compensate for all losses.  

Some council members have expressed concern that if there is no ordinance, this 
policy change may not survive the tenures of the current city manager and city attorney.  
Accordingly, staff has prepared a draft directive memorializing the policy.  A copy is 
attachment C.  

Council members asked about whether the payment of these claims would have a 
budget impact and whether the city could work toward greater sustainability.  The 
following responds to those questions: 

Funding for Claims: 

The city is funding these claims from the existing budget in the Water Fund.   
Staff will evaluate if an additional appropriation is necessary, as the end of the fiscal year 
approaches.  If an additional appropriation is necessary, council approval would be 
requested as part of the standard budget adjustment process (involving the 2nd 
Adjustment to Base in 2016). 

Flood Recovery & Resilience Grant: 

City council approved utility rates support customer incentives.  City staff is 
looking into how public funds could be used to provide assessments that help people 
protect their structures, rather than focus only on rebuilding without addressing risks, as 
part of a program that would help respond to repetitive loss.  Public Works/Utilities staff 
are examining this idea under an existing flood recovery and resilience grant.  While only 
a concept at this point, this idea could potentially work as:  

1. Something the city could offer in lieu of basement repairs, or

2. Something the city could require as a condition of basement repairs ( i.e. the
city will assist with the basement repair if the grading/protection issues are
addressed), or

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page 390



3. A free standing program with separate eligibility requirements.

The potential application of this concept would be that the Watershed 
Sustainability & Outreach Program, in coordination with the City Attorney’s Office and 
Finance/Risk Management, would handle the administration of the proposed program on 
a case by case basis with funding from Public Works/Utilities.  

ATTACHMENT

Attachment A – Ordinance 8116 as passed on first reading
Attachment B – Proposed amended version of Ordinance 8116 
Attachment C – Draft Directive

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page 391



K:\WAAD\ o – 8116 – 2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8116 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 4-20 “FEES,” BY ADDING A 
NEW SECTION 4-20-69 ADDING A FEE ON WATER USERS IN SINGLE 
FAMILY HOMES AMENDING CHAPTER 11-1 “WATER UTILITY” BY 
ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION TO SECTION 11-1-44 “WATER USER 
FEES” AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO PAY CLAIMS FOR 
DAMAGE FROM WATER MAIN BREAKS AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 4-20-25 is amended as follows: 

4-20-25. - Monthly Water User Charges.  

(a) Treated water monthly service charges: 

Meter Size Inside City Outside City

¾″ $  10.44 $  15.67 
1″ 17.57 26.36 
1½″ 37.84 56.76 
2″ 66.29 99.44 
3″ 147.46 221.19 
4″ 261.10 391.65 
6″ 585.92 878.88 
8″ 1,040.64 1,560.97 

(b) Treated water quantity charges: 

(1) Block Rate Structure: 

Block Rates 

(per thousand 

gallons of water)

Block Size 

(% of monthly water budget)

Block 1 $ 2.76 0—60% 
Block 2 3.68 61—100% 
Block 3 7.36 101—150% 

Attachment A – Ordinance 8116 as Passed on First Reading

Agenda Item 3G     Page 7Packet Page 392



K:\WAAD\ o – 8116 – 2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Block 4 11.04 151—200% 
Block 5 18.40 Greater than 200% 

(2) Definitions: 

(A) Block Rate Structure is the water budget rate structure which includes Blocks 1—
5. These blocks represent an increasing block rate structure such that the price of water increases
as more water is used, particularly when the amount of water used exceeds the customer's water 
budget. This rate structure is intended to:  

• promote water conservation and the efficient use of water;
• support community goals;
• reflect the value of water;
• send a price signal to customers who waste water;
• recover needed revenues for administration, operations, maintenance, capital

projects, debt payments, and reserves for the water utility;
• avoid additional costs of new water development; and
• avoid additional costs of new and expanded water treatment.

The rate structure provides an individualized water budget to each customer that is expected to 
meet the customer's specific water needs. The revenues generated from the block rate structure 
will be used to satisfy the quantity charge portion of the basic revenue requirements of the water 
utility.  

(B) Monthly water budget means the amount of water allocated to the water utility 
customers to meet their anticipated watering needs for the month. The monthly water budget 
shall be the indoor and/or outdoor allocation for each water utility customer. The allocation shall 
be based on reasonable and necessary indoor and/or outdoor use, water conservation, and other 
relevant factors associated with water use in the city. The allocations shall be defined by rules 
and guidelines issued by the city manager.  

(c) Bulk water and metered hydrant rate: $8.00 per thousand gallons of water used. (Service 
charges do not apply.)  

(d) Water leased on an annual basis: Colorado Big Thompson $35 per acre foot; all other 
based on cost of assessment plus ten percent administrative fee or $35 per acre foot, whichever is 
greater.  

(e) Effective June 1, 2016, water utility customers with accounts for Single Unit Dwellings 
shall pay a $1 per month fee. 

Section 2.  Section 11-1-44 is amended as follows: 

11-1-44. - Water User Charges. 

Attachment A – Ordinance 8116 as Passed on First Reading

Agenda Item 3G     Page 8Packet Page 393



K:\WAAD\ o – 8116 – 2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(a)  The water utility shall bill water users once a month. Failure by the water utility to so notify 

a water user shall not constitute a waiver of any fee or charge imposed by this chapter. 

(b) Charges for water service consist of a monthly service charge and a quantity charge as 

prescribed by section 4-20-25, "Monthly Water User Charges," B.R.C. 1981. For those 

customers served by more than one meter, the appropriate service charge shall be applied to each 

meter. Monthly service charges shall be billed to each meter in use regardless of whether any 

quantity charge is made. A meter is considered to be in use as long as it is in place. 

(c)  If water users institute or terminate service or when the ownership of the property is 

transferred on other than established billing dates, the water utility shall prorate the charges for 

water services. When the ownership of the property is transferred, the established customer class 

average winter consumption will be used to calculate water charges until the next average winter 

consumption calculation period. 

(d)  For all water supplied by the city to the Boulder Valley School District No. RE 2 or to any of 

the properties that are located within the boundaries of the former Boulder Valley Water and 

Sanitation District, the inside city water rates apply. 

(e)  For all water supplied by the city outside of the city limits used for firefighting training 

purposes by bona fide and legally constituted firefighting units located in Boulder County, the 

inside city water rates apply. 

(f)  If any meter fails to register in any billing period, the water user shall be charged according 

to the average quantity of water used in a similar period as shown by the meter when in order. 

Attachment A – Ordinance 8116 as Passed on First Reading

Agenda Item 3G     Page 9Packet Page 394



K:\WAAD\ o – 8116 – 2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(g)  Billing for water service and any other notices relating to the water utility are effective on 

the date that they are deposited in the mail addressed to the last known address of the water user 

as shown on the records of the city water utility. 

(h)  All charges for the use of water prescribed by this section are due and payable within ten 

days after the date of the bill. 

(i)   To the extent that appropriated funds are available for the purpose, the city attorney, with the 

city manager's approval, is authorized to settle any claim against the city arising from damage to 

a Single Unit Dwelling caused by water released from facilities operated by the water utility.  

Such payments shall be limited to payments for damage to basements and replacement or repair 

equipment and appurtenances normally found in basements such as common flooring, drywall, 

furnaces, boilers and water heaters.  No funds shall be provided for extraordinary basement 

finishes, including but not limited to kitchens, bathrooms or upgraded tile flooring or carpeting.  

Payments under this section shall be funded through fees collected through Section 4-20-25(e), 

“Water User Charges,” B.R.C. 1981.  Payment of such claims shall be subject to the limitations 

of Section 2-2-14, “Initiation and Settlement of Claims and Suits,” B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 3. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4. The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A – Ordinance 8116 as Passed on First Reading

Agenda Item 3G     Page 10Packet Page 395



K:\WAAD\ o – 8116 – 2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 19th day of April 2016. 

______________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 3rd day of May, 2016. 

______________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk 

Attachment A – Ordinance 8116 as Passed on First Reading

Agenda Item 3G     Page 11Packet Page 396



K:\\WAAD\o-8116-2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8116 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 11-1 “WATER 
UTILITY” BY ADDING A NEW SUBSECTION TO SECTION 11-1-44 
“WATER USER FEES” AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO PAY 
CLAIMS FOR DAMAGE FROM WATER MAIN BREAKS AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS.

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. Section 11-1-44 is amended as follows: 

11-1-44. - Water User Charges and Claims. 

(a)  The water utility shall bill water users once a month. Failure by the water utility to so notify 

a water user shall not constitute a waiver of any fee or charge imposed by this chapter. 

(b)  Charges for water service consist of a monthly service charge and a quantity charge as 

prescribed by section 4-20-25, "Monthly Water User Charges," B.R.C. 1981. For those 

customers served by more than one meter, the appropriate service charge shall be applied to each 

meter. Monthly service charges shall be billed to each meter in use regardless of whether any 

quantity charge is made. A meter is considered to be in use as long as it is in place. 

(c)  If water users institute or terminate service or when the ownership of the property is 

transferred on other than established billing dates, the water utility shall prorate the charges for 

water services. When the ownership of the property is transferred, the established customer class 

average winter consumption will be used to calculate water charges until the next average winter 

consumption calculation period. 

(d)  For all water supplied by the city to the Boulder Valley School District No. RE 2 or to any of 

the properties that are located within the boundaries of the former Boulder Valley Water and 

Sanitation District, the inside city water rates apply. 

Attachment B – Proposed amended version of Ordinance 8116

Agenda Item 3G     Page 12Packet Page 397



K:\\WAAD\o-8116-2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

(e)  For all water supplied by the city outside of the city limits used for firefighting training 

purposes by bona fide and legally constituted firefighting units located in Boulder County, the 

inside city water rates apply. 

(f)  If any meter fails to register in any billing period, the water user shall be charged according 

to the average quantity of water used in a similar period as shown by the meter when in order. 

(g)  Billing for water service and any other notices relating to the water utility are effective on 

the date that they are deposited in the mail addressed to the last known address of the water user 

as shown on the records of the city water utility. 

(h)  All charges for the use of water prescribed by this section are due and payable within ten 

days after the date of the bill. 

(i)  To the extent that appropriated funds are available for the purpose, the city attorney, with the 

city manager's approval, is authorized to settle any claim against the water utility city arising 

from damage to a Single Unit Dwelling caused by water released from facilities a water main

break on a pipeline owned and operated by the water utility. Such payments shall be limited to 

payments for basic remediation of damage to basements and replacement or repair of

equipment and appurtenances normally found in basements, such as common flooring, drywall, 

furnaces, boilers and water heaters. No funds shall be provided for extraordinary basement 

finishes, including but not limited to kitchens appliances, cabinetry, bathrooms or upgraded tile 

flooring or carpeting.  No payment shall be made for damage to furniture or other

possessions.   Payments under this section shall be funded through fees collected through 

Section 4-20-25(e), “Water User Charges,” B.R.C. 1981.  Payment of such claims shall be 

supplemental to and not in lieu of any private insurance obligation and shall be subject to 

the limitations of Section 2-2-14, “Initiation and Settlement of Claims and Suits,” B.R.C. 1981.  

Attachment B – Proposed amended version of Ordinance 8116

Agenda Item 3G     Page 13Packet Page 398



K:\\WAAD\o-8116-2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

Nothing in this section shall be interpreted or construed to create an entitlement to 

payment or as any type of waiver of any of the provisions of the Colorado Governmental 

Immunity Act.

Section 2. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3. The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition.  

Section 4. The city council finds this ordinance is necessary for the immediate 

preservation of public peace, health, safety, and property justifying the adoption of this ordinance 

as an emergency measure.  Passage of this ordinance immediately is necessary because the 

ordinance is intended to address claims that arose as early as February 15, 2016.  Additional 

delay could adversely affect those intended to benefit through this ordinance.   This ordinance 

shall become effective immediately. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY THIS 19TH DAY OF APRIL 2016. 

______________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk 

Attachment B – Proposed amended version of Ordinance 8116

Agenda Item 3G     Page 14Packet Page 399



K:\\WAAD\o-8116-2nd 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY THIS 19 DAY OF JULY, 2016. 

______________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk 

Attachment B – Proposed amended version of Ordinance 8116

Agenda Item 3G     Page 15Packet Page 400



P.O. Box 791 ∙  Boulder, Colorado 80306-0791  ∙  www.bouldercolorado.gov  ∙  (303)441-3002  ∙  Fax (303)441-4478 

CITY OF BOULDER 

OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 

To:   Department of Finance 
Risk Manager 

From: Jane Brautigam, City Manager 
Date:   July __, 2016 
Re:   Settlement of Claims for which the City is Not Legally Liable 

As a general matter the city only pays claims for which the city could be held legally 

liable.  As the result of a water main break on February 15, 2016, the city council directed staff 

to adopt a policy of paying some claims for which there is no legal liability.  The purpose of this 

directive is to document this policy for those directly responsible for handling claims against the 

city.   

In certain circumstances an individual city resident will suffer damages caused by city 

infrastructure.  Notwithstanding any city culpability or negligence, it is city policy that such 

residents will be provided financial assistance. At this time, such payments will be limited to 

damage caused by water main breaks.  If, in the future, other similar situations are identified, I 

will consider extending this directive to cover those situations.  Payment will be limited to 

payments for basic remediation of damage and replacement or repair of common flooring, 

drywall, furnaces, boilers and water heaters. No funds will be provided for extraordinary 

finishes, including but not limited to appliances, cabinetry, bathrooms or upgraded tile flooring 

or carpeting.  No payment will be made for damage to furniture or other possessions.   

Attachment C - Draft Directive

Agenda Item 3G     Page 16Packet Page 401



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 
8122 amending section 12-2-4, “Written Disclosures Required,” B.R.C. 1981 to update the 
required disclosure by landlords, and setting forth related details. 

PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Janet Michels, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Currently, section 12-2-4, “Written Disclosures Required,” B.R.C. 1981 identifies ten 
specific ordinances that landlords must disclose to their residential tenants in writing, the 
majority of which deal with quality of life ordinances.  The most recent amendments to section 
12-2-4 were in 2009.  The proposed amendment designates additional ordinances enacted since 
2009 that must be included in the tenant disclosures.  The proposed amendment also corrects 
typographical errors and an oversight in providing a specific Boulder Revised Code citation for 
the section relating to the responsibility of owners, managers or operators to maintain a valid 
trash hauler contract. 

The proposed ordinance for this item (Attachment A) makes these changes.  In response 
to feedback received from community members at first reading, staff has made proposed changes 
to the ordinance.  These are included in Attachment A.  If council passes this ordinance on 
second reading, a third reading will be required.   

Agenda Item 3H     Page 1Packet Page 402



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8122 amending 
section 12-2-4, “Written Disclosures Required,” B.R.C. 1981 to update the required 
disclosure by landlords, and setting forth related details.. 

FIRST READING QUESTIONS 

At the June 7, 2016 council meeting, council asked the following questions, with 
responses following: 

1. Why were those three marijuana ordinances selected to be included in the landlord
disclosure document?

Staff response: 

A Boulder Police Department officer primarily responsible for marijuana enforcement 
recommended those three ordinances as addressing the issues most frequently raised by both 
landlords and tenants. 

 5-10-2, “Consumption of Marijuana in Public Prohibited,” is included because of
frequent complaints about residents and visitors of apartment complex rentals smoking
marijuana in their vehicles, parked outside of the complexes.

 5-10-6, “Marijuana Odor Emissions,” is included because police receive numerous
complaints about the smell of burning marijuana from and within residential units, such
as marijuana smoke coming wafting across a yard, or through the ventilation system of a
multi-unit residence.

 Paragraphs 6-14-13(a)(6) and 6-16-13(a)(4), prohibiting possession of more than six
marijuana plants without a license is included because police and code enforcement
observe many instances of, regularly respond to complaints of, marijuana cultivation in
excess of the number of plants allowed without a license. In addition, enforcement
continues to get questions from both property owners and tenants regarding how many
plants can legally be grown on a premises.

Since first reading, the proposed amendment was modified to delete the requirement that 
BRC 5-10-2, “Consumption of Marijuana in Public Prohibited,” in response to concerns 
expressed by city council and members of the community. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 2Packet Page 403



2. Have courts addressed the issue of not allowing marijuana in rental properties?

Staff Response: 

Amendment 64 provisions allow for a landlord to restrict the use, cultivation, or 
possession of marijuana on their property. Colo. Const. Art. XVIII, section 16(6)(d) states: 

“Nothing in this section shall prohibit a person, employer, school, hospital, detention facility, 
corporation or any other entity who occupies, owns or controls a property from prohibiting or 

otherwise regulating the possession, consumption, use, display, transfer, distribution, sale, 
transportation, or growing of marijuana on or in that property.” 

There are no reported court decisions that this section of the Colorado constitution is not 
enforceable. 

3. What limitations can landlords place on people in their personal premises?

Staff Response: 

A lease agreement (verbal or written) is a contract between the landlord and the tenant.  The 
parties can mutually agree on any terms.  A term that is illegal, such as one that discriminates 
against a protected class (age, race, religion, gender, gender identification, marital status, 
sexual orientation) or violates the Fair Housing Act, is unenforceable.  

4. Does the Ordinance need the saving clause (a separate section that states any operator
may prohibit conduct that is otherwise permitted by law)?

Staff Response: 

The saving clause was suggested by the Boulder Area Rental Housing Association.  That 
group expressed concern about the section on prohibiting possession of more than six marijuana 
plants without a license.  BARHA indicated most landlords do not allow any growing on the 
property, even for medical purposes.  The group felt the reference to the six-plant limitation may 
be seen as it being permissible to grow since the City will allow it even though the lease states 
differently. 

The saving clause is not necessary.  However, to clarify that section 12-2-4 does not 
change the legal rights of any landlord or tenant other than the written disclosure obligation on 
landlords, a new subsection (a)(1)(e) has been added to the proposed amendment: 

(e) The requirements of this paragraph (a)(1) are not intended to change the legal rights 
of any operator, tenant or lessee other than the obligation of operators to provide the written 
disclosure required by this section. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 3Packet Page 404



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENT AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  The proposed changes are procedural in nature and should not significantly
affect the local economy.

 Environmental:  The ordinances section 12-2-4, B.R.C. 1981 requires landlords to
disclose, in writing, to tenants, primarily address quality of life violations, and not
traditional environmental issues.

 Social:  Residential tenants may not be fully aware of certain city regulations, especially
some that are unique to the City.  By requiring landlords to provide tenants with written
disclosures of certain regulations that impact the quality of life of neighborhoods in the
City, tenants will have the opportunity to comply with these community expectations.

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal:  None anticipated, the proposed changes are procedural in nature.

 Staff time:  Creation of a new model disclosure form that satisfies the requirements of
subsection (a) of section 12-2-4 is within existing staff work plans.

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

In the early 2000s, the city manager established a University Hill Action Group 
(“UHAG”), to recommend specific actions to the city council to improve the quality of life of the 
University Hill neighborhood. As a part of the involved process of adopting a nuisance 
abatement ordinance, in 2001, UHAG proposed a new requirement that certain disclosures be 
made to all tenants in writing by landlords.  One of the concerns expressed during UHAG 
discussions was that some tenants in the University Hill area may not be fully aware of certain 
applicable city regulations. 

In August 2002, city council adopted Ordinance 7158, codified as section 12-2-4, B.R.C. 
1981.  That ordinance identified ten specific city ordinances that landlords must disclose to 
residential tenants, in writing. Section 12-2-4(b) charged the city manager with approving a form 
that, if fully executed, will satisfy the requirements of subsection (a) of section 12-2-4, B.R.C. 
1981. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 4Packet Page 405



The ordinances that landlords are currently required to disclose, in writing, to residential 
tenants are: 

 5-3-11, “Nuisance Party Prohibited,”
 5-6-6, “Fireworks,”
 Chapter 5-9, “Noise,”
 6-2-3, “Growth or Accumulation of Weeds Prohibited,”
 7-6-13(a)(1), concerning parking prohibited on sidewalks.
 8-2-13, “Duty to Keep Sidewalks Clear of Snow,”
 6-3-3(b), relating to the responsibility to maintain a valid contract with a commercial

trash hauler,
 Notification that interest must be paid to tenants upon any security deposit collected

pursuant to the provisions of sections 12-2-2, “Definitions,” and 12-2-7, “Interest Rate on
Security Deposits,” and

 Notification to tenants of the date and nature of law violations for which the owner,
manager or operator has received written notice of violation pursuant to section 10-2.5-6,
“Required Procedures Prior to Commencement of Public Nuisance Action.”

The list of ordinances required to be disclosed has not been expanded since the adoption
of Ordinance 7685 in September 2009.  Several ordinances enacted since that time have been 
identified by community members and law enforcement personnel as so impactful to the 
community that requiring written disclosure, alone, could mitigate the negative impacts of 
noncompliance.  Most people want to comply with the law.  If they are aware of the law, the 
expectation is they will comply. 

The proposed amendment will add the following ordinances to those that section 12-2-4 
already requires be disclosed to residential tenants: 

 5-4-12, “Depositing Trash on Property in Violation of Sign;”
 5-4-16, “Outdoor Furniture Restrictions,”
 6-3-12, “Bear-Resistant Containers Required,”
 5-10-6, “Marijuana Odor Emissions,” and
 Paragraphs 6-14-13(a)(6) and 6-16-13(a)(4), prohibiting possession of more than six

marijuana plants without a license.

The proposed amendment will also provide the specific code section, 6-3-3(b), to the
ordinance paragraph (a)(1)(C), which currently describes the code section relating to the 
responsibility to maintain a valid contract with a commercial trash hauler, but which did not 
provide the specific code section. 

The proposed amendment additionally corrects the language in paragraph (a)(1)(c).  That 
paragraph is an incomplete sentence.  The amendment clarifies the sentence by providing a 
subject. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 5Packet Page 406



K:\PLRN\o -8122 - 2nd-2561.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8122 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 12-2-4, “WRITTEN 
DISCLOSURES REQUIRED,” B.R.C. 1981 TO UPDATE THE 
REQUIRED DISCLOSURES BY LANDLORDS, AND 
SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. Section 12-2-4, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

12-2-4. - Written Disclosures Required. 

(a) No operator shall allow any person to occupy a rental property as a tenant or 
lessee or otherwise for valuable consideration unless and until that operator has satisfied each of 
the following conditions:  

(1) The operator has executed and provided to the tenant a copy of a written lease, 
rental agreement, set of site rules or other written instrument containing the following 
information:  

(A) The maximum occupancy levels permitted in the rental unit; 

(B) Notice of the provisions contained in sections 5-3-11, "Nuisance Party 
Prohibited," 5-6-6, "Fireworks," and chapter 5-9, "Noise," 5-4-12, “Depositing Trash on 
Property in Violation of Sign,” and 5-4-16, “Outdoor Furniture Restrictions,” B.R.C. 
1981; 

(C) Notice of the provisions contained in sections 6-2-3, "Growth or 
Accumulation of Weeds Prohibited," 6-3-3, "Trash Accumulation Prohibited," paragraph 
7-6-13(a)(1), concerning parking prohibited on sidewalks, and section 8-2-13, "Duty to 
Keep Sidewalks Clear of Snow," section 6-3-3(b), B.R.C. 1981, relating to the 
responsibility of every owner, manager or operator of rental property to maintain a valid 
contract with a commercial trash hauler providing for the removal of accumulated trash 
from the property, and section 6-3-12, “Bear-Resistant Containers Required,” B.R.C. 
1981;  

(D) The names of those individuals permitted, pursuant to the tenancy 
agreement, to occupy the rental unit; 

(E) Notification to tenants that violation of the city's noise regulation 
requirements or residency within the rental unit of persons other than those lawfully 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page 6Packet Page 407



K:\PLRN\o -8122 - 2nd-2561.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

occupying the unit pursuant to the tenancy agreement is cause for the termination of the 
tenancy; and  

(F) Notification that interest must be paid to tenants upon any security deposit 
collected pursuant to the provisions of sections 12-2-2, "Definitions," and 12-2-7, 
"Interest Rate On Security Deposits," B.R.C. 1981.;  

(G) Notification to tenants of the date and nature of any violations of law 
during the preceding twenty-four months for which the owner, manager or operator has 
received written notice of violation pursuant to Section 10-2.5-6, "Required Procedures 
Prior to Commencement of Public Nuisance Action,." B.R.C. 1981; and 

(H) Notification of the provisions contained in sections 5-10-6, “Marijuana 
Odor Emissions,” and paragraphs 6-14-13(a)(6) and 6-16-13(a)(4), B.R.C. 1981, 
prohibiting possession of more than six marijuana plants without a license. 

(b) The city manager shall approve a form that, if fully executed, will satisfy the 
requirements of subsection (a) of this section. Use of the approved form shall not be mandatory 
and individual operators may utilize other writings in lieu of such form so long as those writings 
satisfy the requirements of subsection (a) of this section.  

(c) The No operator shall allow any person to occupy a rental property as a tenant or 
lessee or otherwise for valuable consideration unless and until that operator has established and 
maintained an accurate listing of the identities of each of the persons who are authorized to 
reside in the subject rental unit.  

(d) The maximum penalty for any violation or violations of this section that are 
charged as part of a single court proceeding shall be $500.00. 

(e) The requirements of this paragraph (a)(1) are not intended to change the legal 
rights of any operator, tenant or lessee other than the obligation of operators to provide the 
written disclosure required by this section. 

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page 7Packet Page 408



K:\PLRN\o -8122 - 2nd-2561.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26

27

28

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 7th day of June, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this ____ day of ____________, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3H     Page 8Packet Page 409



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  AUGUST 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only Ordinance Nos. 8128 and 8129 related to the annexation and 
initial zoning of the city-owned parcels and rights of way, and Elmer’s Two-Mile 
Park as an enclave.

PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Chris Meschuk, Senior Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

One issue identified by the city staff in examining maps of the city to prepare a separation 
plan for submittal to the Public Utilities Commission is the number of city-owned 
enclaves and city facilities that have not been annexed. One of the Annexation Policies in 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) is to annex enclaves and other areas 
adjacent to the city. The two ordinances that are part of this item are in furtherance of that 
policy. 

The first, Ordinance No. 8128, annexes city-owned parcels and rights-of-way within and 
around the city. Not all open space properties are included. The open space parcels 
included that are not enclaves or surrounded by the city on three sides are at the 
southwest corner of the city and in sunshine canyon. Both areas have a designation in the 
BVCP of Area III-Open Space Acquired. The remaining parcels have a designation of 
Area II. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 1Packet Page 410



The second ordinance, Ordinance No. 8129, annexes Elmer's Two-Mile Park south of Iris 
between 27th and 28th Streets. The park is an enclave, of which the city owns the 
majority. Xcel Energy owns a 20' x 30' corner of the enclave that Xcel uses for a gas 
facility. Both of these ordinances are to unilaterally annex city-owned property, rightsof-
way managed by the city, and enclaves pursuant to the Municipal Annexation Act, C.R.S. 
31-12-101 et seq. The initial zone district for all of the properties is Public. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 
Consideration of a motion to introduce,  first reading and to order published by title 
only, Ordinance No. 8128 related to the annexation and initial zoning of city-owned 
parcels and rights of way; and Ordinance No. 8129, annexing Elmer’s Two-Mile Park 
as an enclave. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic - The city currently manages all of these unincorporated properties, so
no economic impact is anticipated. The annexations comply with the policies of
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.

 Environmental - No change in environmental impacts occur as a result of
annexation of these properties.

 Social - Annexation of these properties will clarify jurisdictional responsibilities
between the county and the city for enforcement of laws on these properties. The
same laws will apply to Elmer's Two-Mile Park as apply to all other parks within
the city.

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal - No change in the city's fiscal responsibility is anticipated.
 Staff time - Upon annexation, all matters related to these properties are in the

normal work plan of the departments managing these properties.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Open Space Board of Trustees reviewed the annexations on July 28, 2016. The 
Planning Board considered the annexations on July 28, 2016. The agenda memoranda for 
the August 2, 2016 council meeting were due on July 27, 2016. Staff will report on the 
feedback provided by OSBT and Planning Board at the August 2, 2016 council meeting. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

Notice has been provided to Xcel Energy as the only private property owner within the 
Elmer's Two-Mile Park enclave.   

Agenda Item 3I     Page 2Packet Page 411



BACKGROUND 
The Public Utilities Commission has ordered that, as part of the effort to create a 
municipal electric utility, the city must construct separate electric facilities to allow Xcel 
to continue serving unincorporated properties while the city serves annexed properties 
with different electrical facilities.  In analyzing the city maps, staff has discovered that 
this requirement will create  expensive additional construction unless the city annexes 
unincorporated properties within the city boundaries.  This agenda item is for annexation 
of city-owned properties with electrical service and enclaves.  This offers many benefits 
to the city, particularly in reducing the costs of the electrical separation plan, eliminating 
the need for duplicate facilities, and to progress on the goals stated in the Comprehensive 
Plan to annex all enclaves, Area II properties and unincorporated properties along the 
western boundary of the city.  Ordinance 8128, which is Attachment  A, is to annex all 
of these properties except for Elmer's Two-Mile Park.  Ordinance 8129, which is 
Attachment B, is to annex Elmer's Two-Mile Park.  

The map in Attachment C shows all of the properties to be annexed that are owned by 
the city, rights-of-way within the city,  Elmer’s Two-Mile Park which is an enclave, and 
two non-city properties also being proposed for annexation.  In the corner of Elmer’s 
Two-Mile Park is a 60 square foot parcel  owned by Xcel for a gas facility.  It would cost 
the city over $360,000 to provide electricity to that 20’ x 30’ parcel if it had to be served 
by Xcel lines because it was not annexed.  Because the park is an enclave, the city can 
annex it unilaterally.  Additionally, a small parcel in the corner of the city’s Burke II 
OSMP property is owned by Boulder County as open space, and is planned to be 
transferred to the city. 

The colors on the attached map depict which department of the city is responsible for 
maintenance of the site.  Dark green indicates OSMP, orange indicates Transportation 
and blue indicates Parks and/or Public Works.  The property descriptions for each 
property are referred to in the ordinance by the Group number shown on the map.   

The parcel map snapshots and text below show the various parcels being annexed and 
identify the city department currently responsible for management of the parcels.  

Open Space and Mountain Parks properties: 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 3Packet Page 412



5893 Baseline. Includes Boulder County parcel to be transferred to city. 
See Table Number 6 for Land Use Designation 

Open Space and Transportation ROW combined for viewing convenience.  
See Table Number 5 for Land Use Designation

Agenda Item 3I     Page 4Packet Page 413



KOA Lake area. Includes KOA Lake. See Table Number 4 for Land Use Designation 

Sunshine Canyon area, including Hydro Facility.  See Table Number 3 for Land Use Designation 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 5Packet Page 414



North of Cemetery. See Table Number 2 for Land Use Designation

Southern Parcels. See Table Number 1 for Land Use Designation 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 6Packet Page 415



 Other City properties: 

See Table Number 8 for Land Use Designation 

See Table Number 9 for Land Use Designation  
This area was purchased for flood control purposes and shows electrical service on the 
site.   

Agenda Item 3I     Page 7Packet Page 416



See Table Number 10 for Land Use Designation 
The map on the top shows the right-of-way for contiguity to the Cherryvale Pump 
Station.  The parcel on the bottom is the Pump Station and does have electric service.  
These parcels are being annexed in a series pursuant to the Municipal Annexation Act 
with the right-of-way annexed first.    

Agenda Item 3I     Page 8Packet Page 417



Agenda Item 3I     Page 9Packet Page 418



See Table Number 11 for Land Use Designation 
This right-of-way along Foothills Parkway between the Diagonal and Arapahoe has not 
been previously annexed and does contain electric facilities. 

See Table Number 12 for Land Use Designation 
ROW that is not annexed at Table Mesa near Tantra.  This parcel shows electrical service 
in the area. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 10Packet Page 419



See Table Number 13 for Land Use Designation 
This is Elmer’s Two-Mile Park.  While the portion owned by the city does not currently 
have electrical service, the Xcel gas facility located in the upper left corner does.  The 
small parcel depicted is a private property included in this annexation. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 11Packet Page 420



The table below details the current and proposed land use designations for the above 
parcels. 

Number Address Current Designation
Proposed 
Designation

1 Southern Parcels  Area III, OS-Acquired Area III Annexed  

2 North of Cemetery  
Area II, OS-Acquired, 
Enclave Area I 

3 501 Sunshine Canyon Area III,OS-Acquired Area III Annexed  

4 
0 Central, 0 57th, 2400 
57th  Area II, OS-Acquired  Area I 

5 55th and Pearl Pkwy. 
Area II, OS-Acquired and 
OS-Other Area I 

6 5893 Baseline Rd. 
Area II, Very Low Density 
Residential Area I 

7 299 Arapahoe 
Area II, Park, Urban and 
Other  Area I 

8 0 Linden Dr. Area II, Public, Enclave Area I 

9 4018 N 26th St. 
Area II, OS-Other and Low 
Density Residential  Area I 

10 
6050 Baseline (Cherryvale 
Pump Station) Area II, Public   Area I 

11 
Baseline @ Cherryvale 
(ROW)  Area II Area I 

11 
0 47th, 3445 47th, 47th 
(ROW) Foothills  Area II, Enclave Area I 

11 
Foothills and Valmont 
(ROW)  Area II, Enclave Area I 

11 
Foothills and Arapahoe 
(ROW) Area II, Enclave Area I 

12 
Table Mesa (ROW) @ S. 
Loop Area II Area I 

13 
2361 Iris - Elmer's Two 
Mile Park  

Area II, Park, Urban and 
Other, Enclave Area I 

ANALYSIS 
The city-owned properties to be annexed are currently managed by the city, either 
through OSMP, Parks, Public Works, or Transportation departments, so there will be no 
additional cost to the city for maintenance.  Having clear boundaries will assist 
emergency responders and police enforcement.  The annexations are consistent with the 
following policy from the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan:   

Agenda Item 3I     Page 12Packet Page 421



1.24 Annexation.   
. . .  
b) The city will actively pursue annexation of county enclaves, Area II
properties along the western boundary, and other fully developed 
Area II properties. County enclave means an unincorporated area of 
land entirely contained within the outer boundary of the city. Terms 
of annexation will be based on the amount of development potential as 
described in (c), (d), and (e) of this policy. 

These properties are either part of an existing county enclave or in fully developed Area 
II neighborhoods, thus annexation of the properties would further this policy.  Annexing 
these properties will eliminate the need to construct duplicate facilities to provide electric 
services to these properties in the event of municipalization.  These annexations will 
eliminate the added cost and construction disruption that would be borne by Boulder 
residents and businesses if the property were not annexed.  

ATTACHMENT A: Ordinance No. 8128 annexing city-owned properties and rights-of-
way 

ATTACHMENT B: Ordinance No. 8129 annexing Elmer's Two-Mile Park as an 
enclave 

ATTACHMENT C: Map of city-owned parcels to be annexed 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 13Packet Page 422



ORDINANCE NO. 8128 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
PROPERTY OWNED BY THE CITY OF BOULDER OR RIGHTS-OF-
WAY, INCLUDING ENCLAVES, WHICH PARCELS ARE SHOWN ON 
THE MAP INCORPORATED INTO THIS ORDINANCE, WITH AN 
INITIAL ZONING DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC (P) AS DESCRIBED IN 
CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 1981; 
AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A PART OF 
SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE SAID PROPERTY IN THE ABOVE-
MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The city council of the city of Boulder, Colorado, finds: 

A. All of the parcels depicted in Exhibit A (the "Property") may be annexed by the city council 
as municipally-owned land or rights-of-way without notice or hearing; however the city has 
noticed and is holding a public hearing on this ordinance. 

B. The parcels within the Property include, all of which are described more particularly on 
Exhibit B: 

1. City-owned properties managed by Open Space at the southwest corner of the city
boundaries which include city facilities that require electricity and create an enclave
of a small privately-owned parcel with facilities requiring electric service;

2. City-owned properties managed by Open Space in Sunshine Canyon that include the
City's Sunshine Hydro plant;

3. City-owned properties managed by Open Space that are enclaves within existing
boundaries of the city or surrounded on three sides by incorporated property;

4. City-owned properties managed by Parks and Recreation that are enclaves within
existing boundaries of the city or surrounded on three sides by incorporated
properties;

5. The City's Cherryvale Pump Station and the portion of Baseline south of Cherryvale
necessary to obtain contiguity to the Pump Station; and

6. Rights-of-way adjacent to city streets, annexation of which neither the Colorado
Department of Transportation or the County of Boulder have objected to;

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ordinance 8128

Agenda Item 3I     Page 14Packet Page 423



C. Upon annexation of the portion of Cherryvale between the existing city boundaries and the 
Cherryvale Pump Station, all of the parcels have more than one-sixth contiguity with city 
boundaries as required by Colorado law. 

D. It is the intent of the city to include in this annexation all of the Property from the abutting 
incorporated property so that there is no gap of unincorporated property between the parcels 
of the Property to be annexed and the boundaries of the adjacent incorporated. 

E. The Open Space Board of Trustees of the City does not object to  annexation of the open 
space portions of the Property 

F. The Planning Board of the City recommended annexation of the Property with an initial 
zoning of Public. 

G. The requirements of the Colorado Constitution and the Colorado Revised Statutes regarding 
annexation have been satisfied.  

H. Except for the Open Space parcels in Sunshine Canyon and at the southwest corner of the 
city, all of the parcels included in the Property are located within Area II as designated in 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). 

I. The Open Space parcels in Sunshine Canyon and at the southwest corner of the city are in 
BVCP designation of Area III-Rural Preservation without current or anticipated full range 
of urban services 

J. Annexation of the parcels of the Property in Area II and Area III-Rural Preservation are 
consistent with the BVCP, and the annexation policies in Section 1.24 of the BVCP. 

K. The city is proposing a land use designation change of the parcel open space on east Baseline 
from VLR to OS-A. 

L. The Planning Board supports the annexation of the Property to the City of Boulder and that 
the Zoning District Map adopted by the City Council be amended to zone Public (P) zoning 
district, as provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981. 

M. The initial zoning of Public is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and 
bears a substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property and of 
the residents of the City of Boulder.  

N. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority provided in C.R.S. § 31-12-106(3) 
to annex and zone the Property as city-owned property and right-of-way by ordinance 
without notice and hearing. 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ordinance 8128

Agenda Item 3I     Page 15Packet Page 424



Section 2. The portion of the Property described in B.5. above the right-of-way of 55th 

street is intended to provide the contiguity to the parcel on which the Cherryvale Pump Station is 

located, also described in B.5. The two properties are intended to be annexed in a series as described 

in CRS 31-12-104(1), with the right-of-way annexed by this ordinance immediately prior to the 

annexation of the parcel with the pump station.   

Section 3.  The Property shown on the map attached as Exhibit A, and more particularly 

described in Exhibit B be, and the same hereby is, annexed to and included within the corporate 

boundaries of the City of Boulder. 

Section 4. Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the Zoning District 

Map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the Property in the 

Public zoning district. 

Section 5. The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the Boulder 

Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 6.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the protection of the 

public health, safety, and welfare. 

Section 7. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and directs the city clerk to make available the text of the within ordinance for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ordinance 8128

Agenda Item 3I     Page 16Packet Page 425



Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ordinance 8128

Agenda Item 3I     Page 17Packet Page 426



Walnut  St.

Pine  St.

Balsam  Ave. Edgewood D

r.

F
o
ls

o
m

  
S

t.

Iris  Ave.

L
e

h
ig

h
  

S
t.

Valmont  Rd.

6
3

rd
  

S
t.

6
3

rd
  S

t.

Violet Ave.

Baseline  Rd.

3
0

th
  
S

t.

Kalmia  Ave. Independence Rd.

Arapahoe  Rd.

Jay Rd.

O
ld

e
S

ta
g

e
R

d
.

Broadway

G
re

enbriar B
lv

d
.

5
5

th
  
S

t.

5
7

th
  
S

t.

Baseline  Rd.

Looko
ut Rd.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe Ave.

2
0
th

  S
t.

2
8

th
S

t.

3
0

th
S

t.

M
oorhead  Ave.

Jay  Rd.

Table  Mesa  Dr.

Valmont  Rd.

5
5

th
  
S

t.

6
3

rd
S

t.

Marshall Dr.

Canyon Blvd.

9
th

  
S

t.
B

ro
a

d
w

a
y

T
a
b
le

M

esa
Dr.

Canyon  Blvd.

Colorado Ave.

S
.  B

roadw
ay

9
th

S
t.

1
7

th
  
S

t.
1
9

th
  
S

t.

N
.

2
6

th
S

t.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe  Rd.

5
1

s
t 

 S
t.

F
o
o
th

ills
P

k
w

y
.

C
h

e
rr

y
v
a

le
  

R
d

.
6
1

s
t

S
t.

South  Boulder  Rd.

LindenDr.

University Ave.

Yarmouth Ave.

28th  St.  Ext.

F
o
ls

o
m

  
S

t.

2
8

th
  
S

t.

S.
Foothills

H
w

y
.

D
ia

go
na

l  
H
w

y.

7
1

s
t

S
t.

Flagstaff Rd.

Mapleton Ave.

Lee
Hill D r.

N
. 

 B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

F
o
o

th
ill

s
  
P

k
w

y
.

4
7

th
  
S

t.

Pearl
Pkw

y.

Cherryvale
Rd.

Baseline  Rd.

Wonderland
 Lake

Boulder Reservoir

Valmont Reservoir

Baseline
Reservoir

Viele
Lake

Sombrero
Marsh

Hayden
 Lake

Reservoir

Leggett-Owen

Hillcrest Reservoir

Sixmile
 Reservoir

Twin     L
akes

City of Boulder - 2016 Annexations

0 1 20.5

Miles
Map date July 27, 2016

Legend
OSMP Properties Annexation

Other City Properties Annexation

Transportation ROW Annexation

City Limits

N

1
2

3

Exhibit A to Proposed Ordinance 8128

Agenda Item 3I     Page 18Packet Page 427



Descriptions of Property to be Annexed 

Additional Information and organization to be provided by 8/2 grouped as displayed on Exhibit A 

OSMP City-owned properties at the southwest corner of the city boundaries (South of NCAR 
and Tippit): 

a. Property described in Deed recorded at Film #1047, Reception #00320793 on Jan. 29,
1979, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

b. To be provided by 8/2 meeting.

OSMP City-owned properties in Sunshine Canyon that include the City's Sunshine Hydro 
plant (Sunshine Canyon):  

Parcel 1 
A parcel of land in the southwest quarter of Section 25, T1N, R71W of the 6th P.M. described as 
follows: That portion of Tract 3258 shown as Assessor’s parcel 146125300034 that is south of the 
right-of-way of Sunshine Road. 

Parcel 2 
Outlot C, Knollwood First Addition subdivision, plat recorded at Reception #90831672 on Nov. 4, 
1966, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder. 

Parcel 3 
That parcel of land described at Reception #150043 being the certain parcel of land designated as 
“park” between Lots 31 and 32 in Knollwood Second Addition subdivision, plat recorded at 
Reception #90888310 on Aug. 22, 1968 in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder. 

Parcel 4 
A parcel of land that is south of the south line of the above described Parcel 1 and north of the right-
of-way lines of Canyon Blvd and Pearl Street, except those parcels of land described at Reception 
#03280966 and 03280965, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder. 

OSMP City-owned properties (KOA Lake and east areas): 

a. Property described in General Warranty Deed recorded at Film #1383, Reception
#00727730 on Nov. 25, 1985, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and
Recorder, identified as Parcels 64A, 64B and 64C (Pages 19-9, 19-10 and 19-11)

b. Property described in Rule and Order recorded at Film #1531, Reception #00923176
on June 8, 1988, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, identified
as Parcels A, B and C.

Exhibit B to Proposed Ordinance 8128

Agenda Item 3I     Page 19Packet Page 428



c. Property described in Deeds recorded at Film #910, Reception #00162567 on Dec. 31,
1975, and Film #833, Reception #00082537 on Oct. 2, 1973, in the records of the
Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

d. Property described in Deeds recorded at Film #687, Reception #90932756 on Dec. 31,
1969; and Film #690, Reception #90935385 on Feb. 4, 1970, in the records of the
Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, less any portion already annexed to the City of
Boulder.

e. Property described in General Warranty Deed recorded at Film #1332, Reception
#00660691 on Dec. 6, 1984, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder,
identified as Parcel D (Page 25-7), less any portion already annexed to the City of
Boulder.

f. Property described in Quit Claim Deed recorded at Film #663, Reception #90908600
on March 26, 1969, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

g. Property described in Deed recorded at Film #887, Reception #00138400 on May 20,
1975, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

Other City-owned properties: 

a. Property described in Deed recorded at Film #869, Reception #00119059 on Oct. 18,
1974, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

b. Property described in Warranty Deed recorded at Reception #02192193 on Aug. 31,
2001, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

c. Property described in Warranty Deed recorded at Film #1324, Reception #00650710
on Oct. 5, 1984, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

d. Property described in Warranty Deed recorded at Reception #02569176 on March 24,
2004, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

The portion of Baseline south of Cherryvale from the existing city boundary to the Cherryvale 
Pump Station and the parcel with the Cherryvale Pump Station as an annexation approved 
as a series: 

a. To be provided by 8/2 meeting.

Rights-of-way adjacent to city streets: 
a. To be provided by 8/2 meeting.

Exhibit B to Proposed Ordinance 8128

Agenda Item 3I     Page 20Packet Page 429



K:\CMEN\o-8129-1st reading-elmer's two-mile park enclave annexation-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8129 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER THE 
ENCLAVE KNOWN AS ELMER'S TWO-MILE PARK OWNED BY 
THE CITY OF BOULDER AND A PARCEL OF 60 SQUARE FEET 
OWNED BY THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF COLORADO 
OPERATING IN COLORADO AS XCEL ENERGY (XCEL) ON THE 
SOUTH SIDE OF IRIS STREET BETWEEN 27TH AND 28TH 
STREETS, WHICH PARCELS ARE SHOWN ON THE MAP 
INCORPORATED INTO THIS ORDINANCE, WITH AN INITIAL 
ZONING DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC (P) AS DESCRIBED IN 
CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 1981; 
AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A PART OF 
SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE SAID PROPERTY IN THE ABOVE-
MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. The city council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds: 

A. Both parcels described in Exhibit A are an enclave within the city, as defined in 
C.R.S. § 31-12-106(1), known as Elmer's Two-Mile Park, (the "Property").   

B. All except a 20 foot by 30 foot parcel of the Property is owned by the city and can 
be annexed as city-owned property pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-12-106(3).   

C. The remainder of the Property consists of a parcel of approximately 60 square feet 
within a corner of the Property owned by Xcel and can be unilaterally annexed by 
the city after published notice as provided in C.R.S. § 31-12-106(1). 

D  Notice of this annexation has been published in the Boulder Daily Camera as 
required in C.R.S. § 31-12-108(2), with the first publication on July 17, more than 
30 days prior to final adoption of this ordinance, and three other publications on July 
24, 31 and August 7. 

E. Although not required for annexation of an enclave, the city has provided notice to 
Xcel of the public hearing to be held on this ordinance. 

F. Evidence has been presented to the City Council that the Property has been entirely 
contained within the boundaries of the City of Boulder and has been so surrounded 
for at least three years.  

G. It is the intent of the city to annex these parcels to the boundaries of the adjacent 
property surrounding Elmer's Two-Mile Park to assure that no city-owned property, 

Attachment B to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ordinance 8129

Agenda Item 3I     Page 21Packet Page 430



K:\CMEN\o-8129-1st reading-elmer's two-mile park enclave annexation-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

as it abuts current city boundaries, leaves any gaps of city-owned property between 
the Property annexed herein and the current city boundaries. 

H. The Planning Board of the City of recommended annexation of the Property with an 
initial zoning of Public. 

I. The requirements of the Colorado Constitution and the Colorado Revised Statutes 
regarding annexation have been satisfied.  

I.  The Property is designated as Area II-Park, Urban and Other in the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan of Public 

J. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the City of 
Boulder with an initial zoning of Public, and that the Zoning District Map adopted 
by the City Council be amended to zone Public (P) zoning district, as provided in 
Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981. 

K. The initial zoning is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and 
bears a substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property 
and of the residents of the City of Boulder.  

L. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority as provided in C.R.S. § 31-
12-106(1) to annex and zone the Property. 

Section 2. The Property be, and the same hereby is, annexed to and included within the 

corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder.  

Section 3. Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the Zoning District 

Map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include Property in the Public 

zone district.  

Section 4. The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the Boulder 

Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 5.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the protection of the 

public health, safety, and welfare.  

Section 6. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and directs the city clerk to make available the text of the within ordinance for public 

inspection and acquisition.  

Attachment B to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ordinance 8129

Agenda Item 3I     Page 22Packet Page 431



K:\CMEN\o-8129-1st reading-elmer's two-mile park enclave annexation-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment B to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ordinance 8129

Agenda Item 3I     Page 23Packet Page 432



EXHIBIT A 

(Legal Description for Elmer's Two-Mile Park, an enclave within the City) 

Legal Description – 0 Iris Avenue owned by Public Service Company: 

Commencing at the West quarter corner of Section Twenty, Township One North, Range 70 West 
of the 6th P.M.; thence East along the North line of the Southwest quarter of said Section 20 a 
distance of 448 feet; thence South and parallel to the West line of said Section 20 a distance of 30 
feet to the true point of beginning; thence South and parallel to the West line of said Section a 
distance of 30 feet; thence East and parallel to the North line of the Southwest quarter of said 
Section a distance of 20 feet; thence North and parallel to the West line of said Section a distance 
of 30 feet; thence West a distance of 20 feet to the true point of beginning. 

Parcel Description – Elmer’s Two-Mile city-owned property: 

A PARCEL OF LAND LOCATED IN THE NW 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 OF SECTION 20, T 1 N, 
R 70 W, OF THE 6TH P.M., CITY OF BOULDER, COUNTY OF BOULDER, STATE OF 
COLORADO. 
BEGINNING AT THE W 1/4 CORNER OF SECTION 20, T 1 N, R 70 W, OF THE 6TH P.M., 
THENCE IN 89°45’30” E, 448.00 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SW 1/4 OF 
SAID SECTION 20 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THAT TRACT OF LAND 
CONVEYED IN THE DEED RECORDED IN BOOK 1052, PAGE 133 OF THE BOULDER 
COUNTY RECORDS, BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO; THENCE S 0°20’00” E, 60.00 
FEET PARALLEL TO THE WEST LINE OF THE SW 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 20 TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO SAID PUBLIC 
SERVICE COMPANY OF COLORADO AND THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING: 
THENCE N 89°45’30” E, 20.00 FEET PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE SW 1/4 
OF SAID SECTION 20; 
THENCE N 0°20’00” W, 30.00 FEET PARALLEL TO THE WEST LINE OF THE SW 1/4 OF 
SAID SECTION 20 TO A POINT WHICH IS 30.00 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF 
THE SW 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 20; 
THENCE N 89°45’30” E, 198.25 FEET PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE SW 1/4 
OF SAID SECTION 20 TO THE EAST LINE OF THE W ½ OF THE NW 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 
OF SAID SECTION 20; 
THENCE S 0°16’50” E, 962.91 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE W ½ OF THE NW 
14 OF THE SW 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 20; SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE EAST LINE OF 
TRACTS DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NUMBERS 960592, 953968, 945902 RECORDED IN 
THE BOULDER COUNTY RECORDS; 
THENCE S 89°45’52” W, 165.00 FEET; 
THENCE N 0°16’50” W, 661.94 FEET, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE WEST LINE OF 
TRACTS DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NUMBERS 960592, AND 953968 RECORDED AT 
BOULDER COUNTY RECORDS; 
THENCE S 89°45’37” W, 52.98 FEET ALONG THE EAST (SIC) LINE OF A TRACT OF 
LAND DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION 945902; 
THENCE N 0°20’00” W, 270.96 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE 
AFOREMENTIONED TRACT TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Exhibit A to Proposed Ordinance 8129

Agenda Item 3I     Page 24Packet Page 433



Walnut  St.

Pine  St.

Balsam  Ave. Edgewood D

r.

F
o
ls

o
m

  
S

t.

Iris  Ave.

L
e

h
ig

h
  

S
t.

Valmont  Rd.

6
3

rd
  

S
t.

6
3

rd
  S

t.

Violet Ave.

Baseline  Rd.

3
0

th
  
S

t.

Kalmia  Ave. Independence Rd.

Arapahoe  Rd.

Jay Rd.

O
ld

e
S

ta
g

e
R

d
.

Broadway

G
re

enbriar B
lv

d
.

5
5

th
  
S

t.

5
7

th
  
S

t.

Baseline  Rd.

Looko
ut Rd.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe Ave.

2
0
th

  S
t.

2
8

th
S

t.

3
0

th
S

t.

M
oorhead  Ave.

Jay  Rd.

Table  Mesa  Dr.

Valmont  Rd.

5
5

th
  
S

t.

6
3

rd
S

t.

Marshall Dr.

Canyon Blvd.

9
th

  
S

t.
B

ro
a

d
w

a
y

T
a
b
le

M

esa
Dr.

Canyon  Blvd.

Colorado Ave.

S
.  B

roadw
ay

9
th

S
t.

1
7

th
  
S

t.
1
9

th
  
S

t.

N
.

2
6

th
S

t.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe  Rd.

5
1

s
t 

 S
t.

F
o
o
th

ills
P

k
w

y
.

C
h

e
rr

y
v
a

le
  

R
d

.
6
1

s
t

S
t.

South  Boulder  Rd.

Linden Dr.

University Ave.

Yarmouth Ave.

28th  St.  Ext.

F
o
ls

o
m

  
S

t.

2
8

th
  
S

t.

S.
Foothills

H
w

y
.

D
ia

go
na

l  
H
w

y.

7
1

s
t

S
t.

Flagstaff Rd.

Mapleton Ave.

Lee
Hill D r.

N
. 

 B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

F
o
o

th
ill

s
  
P

k
w

y
.

4
7

th
  
S

t.

Pearl
Pkw

y.

Cherryvale
Rd.

Baseline  Rd.

Wonderland
 Lake

Boulder Reservoir

Valmont Reservoir

Baseline
Reservoir

Viele
Lake

Sombrero
Marsh

Hayden
 Lake

Reservoir
Leggett-Owen

Hillcrest Reservoir

Sixmile
 Reservoir

Twin     Lakes

City of Boulder - 2016 Annexations

0 1 20.5

Miles
Map date July 27, 2016

Legend
OSMP Properties Annexation

Other City Properties Annexation

Transportation ROW Annexation

City Limits

N

Attachment C to Agenda Memo

Agenda Item 3I     Page 25Packet Page 434



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only two alternative versions of ordinances, numbered 8130 and 
8131, submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special 
municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question 
of authorizing the City Council to impose an excise tax of 2 cents per ounce on the 
distribution of drinks with added sugar, and sweeteners used to produce such drinks, 
one alternative would, if the measure passes, add a new chapter 3-16, “Sugar-
Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax,” B.R.C. 1981, a second alternative 
would place both the question of imposing the tax and the entire regulatory scheme on 
the ballot and setting forth related details.  

PRESENTERS 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On July 19, 2016 a council committee of the whole accepted the certificate of 
sufficiency produced by the city clerk for an initiative to consider placing a sugar-
sweetened beverage tax on the November 8, 2016 ballot.  The council committee voted 
unanimously to proceed with considering an appropriate ordinance.  This agenda item 
proposes for first reading two alternative versions for counsel consideration.  Staff 
recommends that council pass both versions on first reading and consider which one to 
adopt on second reading on August 16, 2016.  Attachment A includes a ballot title 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page 435



compliant with the Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights and an ordinance adding the language1 
circulated by the proponents to the Boulder Revised Code.  The code change would 
become effective only if the tax measure passes.  Attachment B includes a ballot title that 
puts both the tax measure and the associated regulatory scheme before the voters.  The 
Attachment A version avoids the single subject issue identified by staff.   

Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of one of the 
two following motions: 

Motion to introduce, consider on first reading and order published by title only  
ordinance number 8130, as set forth in Attachment A submitting to the electors of the 
City of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, 
November 8, 2016, the question of authorizing the city council to impose an excise tax 
of two cents per ounce on the distribution of drinks with added sugar, and sweeteners 
used to produce such drinks, exempting: (1) sweeteners sold separately to the 
consumer at a grocery store; (2) milk products; (3) baby formula; (4) alcohol; and (5) 
drinks taken for medical reasons, taxing the first distributor on any chain of 
distribution; and requiring the city to publish a report detailing revenue collected and 
the type and amount of expenditures made as a result of the tax; giving approval for 
the collection, retention and expenditure of the full tax proceeds and any related 
earnings, notwithstanding any state revenue or expenditure limitation; and setting forth 
the effective date, ballot title, adding a new chapter 3-16, “Sugar-Sweetened Beverage 
Product Distribution Tax,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related details;  

and 

Motion to introduce, consider on first reading and order published by title only an 
ordinance number 8131, as set forth in Attachment B submitting to the electors of the 
City of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, 
November 8, 2016, the question of authorizing the city council to impose an excise tax 
of two cents per ounce on the distribution of drinks with added sugar, and sweeteners 
used to produce such drinks, and the question of whether to add a new Chapter 3-16, 
“Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product Tax,” taxing the first distributor of such products 
into the City of Boulder, exempting: (1) sweeteners sold separately to the consumer at 
a grocery store; (2) milk products; (3) baby formula; (4) alcohol; and (5) drinks taken 
for medical reasons, taxing the first distributor on any chain of distribution; and 
requiring the city to publish a report detailing revenue collected and the type and 
amount of expenditures made as a result of the tax; giving approval for the collection, 
retention and expenditure of the full tax proceeds and any related earnings, 
notwithstanding any state revenue or expenditure limitation; and setting forth the 
effective date, ballot title and setting forth related details.   

1 A copy of the actual petition language is Attachment C. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page 436



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

Economic – A new excise tax would create an incremental economic impact
equal to the amount of the tax increase approved by the voters. It is expected 
that the tax would be passed on to consumers.  The new revenue collected 
would provide increased funds for various health related activities.  

Environmental – It is possible that the increased cost could reduce the sales of
sugar-sweetened beverages with an associated reduction of cans and bottles 
into the waste and recycling streams.  

Social – Proponents assert that the measure will have significant health and
social impacts.  

OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal – The measure should be revenue neutral to the city.  Any administrative
expenses are to be covered out of the tax revenue.  The tax is dedicated to new
programs.  No funds can be used for programs not described in the proposed
ordinance.

 Staff time – Staff time is limited principally to the city attorney’s office.  Work on
this matter has not affected other work.  If passed, implementation of the tax
measure will require add significantly to the work plan for the Finance
Department and the City Attorney’s Office.

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

A council committee of the whole held a public hearing at the July 19, 2016 city council 
meeting.  Several people participated in the public hearings and provided input on the 
proposed ballot measure.  Staff met with two members of the imitative committee, the 
campaign manager, their attorney and other supporters on Monday, July 25, 2016.     

BACKGROUND 

The petition committee for a new tax on sugar-sweetened beverage products submitted its 
completed petition on June 27, 2016.  On July 7, 2016, the city clerk, after examining 
9,417 signatures, determined that there were sufficient valid signatures to meet the 4,650 
signature requirement.  The city clerk and her staff reviewed all of the petitions.  The city 
clerk found 2,220 signatures not valid.  The city clerk provided the council committee 
with a Certificate of Sufficiency.  Under the Boulder Home Rule Charter, the city clerk 
was required to transmit the Certificate of Sufficiency to the city council at its next 
regular meeting.  The city council is required to form a council committee to hold a 
public hearing within 60 days and make a recommendation to the council.  A public 
hearing on this agenda item was noticed and part of the July 19 agenda.  At the July 19 
meeting, council recessed into a committee of the whole and held the required public 
hearing.  The committee recommended unanimously to place the proposed measure on 
the November 8, 2016 ballot.  The charter requires that council take final action placing 
the measure on the ballot within 60 days after the July 19, 2016 vote.  All matters for the 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page 437



November 8, 2016 ballot must be transmitted to Boulder County on or before September 
9, 2016.2  Council has regularly scheduled meetings on August 2, 2016, August 16, 2016 
and September 6, 2016.  Staff proposes that council adopt two alternative versions of the 
ordinances on first reading at the August 2, 2016 meeting, with second reading on August 
16, 2016 and third reading, if necessary, on September 6, 2016.   

PROPOSED ORDINANCES 

Both proposed ordinances include TABOR-compliant ballot titles seeking voter approval 
of a two cent per ounce tax on distribution of sugar-sweetened beverages.  The proposed 
ordinance in Attachment A seeks only voter approval of the proposed tax.  Attachment A 
would add a new Chapter 3-16 to the Boulder Revised Code if the tax passes.   
Attachment A tracks the city’s normal practice for submitting taxes to the voters.  Staff 
located the Denver ballot measure referenced by the petitioners at the July 19, 2016 
council meeting.  The ballot measure proposed took the form of Attachment A.   

Attachment B would seek voter approval of both the tax and of the new Chapter 3-16.  
The provisions to be added as Chapter 3-16 in both proposed ordinances are identical to 
the language on the signature petitions.  In Attachment A, the code language of Chapter 
3-16 would be a council ordinance.  In Attachment B, Chapter 3-16 would be an initiated 
ordinance.  Staff recommends the version in Attachment A, because it is less vulnerable 
to challenge under the single subject rule.   

As a practical matter there is little difference between the two proposals.  Both would 
adopt a tax and the regulatory scheme proposed by the petition committee.  As a legal 
matter, Attachment B would include the regulatory language as an initiated ordinance 
that could only be repealed by a vote of the people.  Charter § 54 provides as follows: 

No ordinance that has been passed by vote of the people under the 
initiative or has received a favorable vote of the people under the 
referendum shall be repealed except by an ordinance submitted to a vote 
of the people. 

The Charter does not prevent a future council from amending an initiated ordinance.  
Thus, a future council could amend the regulatory language in either proposal, although 
councils historically have been reluctant to amend initiated ordinances such as 
Attachment B.  Reasons for changing the regulatory language could include making it 
more effective, reducing administrative costs or to accommodate changes in state law.  
While council could repeal Chapter 3-16 in Attachment A, but not in Attachment B, this 
would be very unlikely for two reasons.   

2 The sixty day deadline would expire on September 17, 2016 and is therefore irrelevant.  Generally 
elections in Colorado are held on the first Tuesday in November.  2016 is a federal election year.  Federal 
elections are held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November.  Thus, because November 1, 
2016 is a Tuesday, the federal election in 2016 is November 8, 2016.  State and local elections are 
coordinated with the federal election. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page 438



First, councils are historically very respectful of the will of the people.  Staff has included 
reference to the concepts in Chapter 3-16 in both ballot measures, because even without 
direct voter approval, the effect of either measure would be to implement the regulatory 
scheme in Chapter 3-16.  Thus, it is likely that any future council would view those 
provisions as reflecting the will of the people.   

Second, although council could repeal the version of Chapter 3-16 in Attachment A, the 
council could not repeal the tax without a vote of the people.  Thus, some regulatory 
scheme would always be necessary.  Chapter 3-16 is likely to remain as long as the tax is 
in place.  Council could, however, amend the version of Chapter 3-16 in Attachment B to 
change the regulatory scheme if its council members would be comfortable with a change 
to an initiated ordinance.  

SUMMARY SHOWN ON PETITIONS SIGNED BY VOTERS 

At the July 19 meeting there was confusion about what summary was on the petitions 
signed by the voters.  The following is the summary that was available to those who 
signed the petition: 

AN INITIATIVE TO ADOPT A NEW CHAPTER OF THE BOULDER 

REVISED CODE SETTING FORTH THE PROCEDURES FOR 

IMPOSING ON DISTRIBUTORS, AND THE COLLECTING, TRACKING 

AND REPORTING OF, AN EXCISE TAX ON SUGAR-SWEETENED 

BEVERAGES; DEDICATING REVENUES FROM THE TAX FOR THE 

PROMOTION OF HEALTH ISSUES; MAKING THE TAX COEXIST 

WITH ANY SIMILAR TAX IMPOSED BY ANOTHER GOVERNMENTAL 

ENTITY; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS.

BALLOT TITLES 

The petition committee submitted the following proposed ballot title:  

SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED BY $3.8 
MILLION ANNUALLY BY IMPOSITION OF AN EXCISE TAX OF 2 
CENTS PER OUNCE ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS WITH 
ADDED SUGAR, AND SWEETENERS USED TO PRODUCE SUCH 
DRINKS, AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, EXEMPTING: (1) 
SWEETENERS SOLD SEPARATELY TO THE CONSUMER AT THE 
GROCERY STORE; (2) MILK PRODUCTS (3) BABY FORMULA (3) 
ALCOHOL, AND (5) DRINKS TAKEN FOR MEDICAL REASONS, 
TAXING THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR ON ANY CHAIN OF 
DISTRIBUTION; EMPOWERING THE CITY MANAGER TO 
DEVELOP A REGULATORY SYSTEM TO COLLECT AND 
ENFORCE THE TAX, USING REVENUES COLLECTED TO 
ADMINISTER THE TAX AND TO FUND HEALTH, WELLNESS, 
AND CHRONIC DISEASE PREVENTION PROGRAMS, 
ESPECIALLY FOR COMMUNITY MEMBERS WITH LOW INCOME 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page 439



AND THOSE MOST AT RISK FOR CHRONIC DISEASE LINKED TO 
SUGARY DRINK CONSUMPTION, AND REQUIRING THE CITY TO 
PUBLISH A REPORT DETAILING REVENUE COLLECTED AND 
THE TYPE AND AMOUNT OF EXPENDITURES MADE AS A 
RESULT OF THE TAX? 

Staff has made changes in both proposed versions.  The petitioners reviewed the 
proposed ballot titles and made suggested changes, which with one exception,3 staff has 
included in the attached ordinance.  The principal changes are associated with TABOR.  
The committee version does not include the exact language required by TABOR.  In 
addition, it is city policy to include language that exempts city taxes from TABOR 
revenue limits.  If this language is not included the tax could be limited by TABOR 
revenue limits, resulting in new revenue that would need to be offset by reductions in 
other areas.  Staff also attempted to clarify and break out various elements of the tax.  
The staff proposed ballot titles are included in both proposed ordinances.   

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot 
Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on 
the Ballot 
Attachment C: Petition  
Attachment D: Comparison of Proposed Ballot Titles 

3 The exception was the inclusion of the language “making the tax coexist with any similar tax imposed by 
another governmental entity” at the end of the first paragraph in option B.  Staff believes that inclusion of 
this language is important, because this language makes clear that the tax would not be supplanted by a 
similar tax imposed by the state or the county.     

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page 440



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8130 

(Sugar Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax) 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORS OF THE 
CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL MUNICIPAL 
COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, 
NOVEMBER 8, 2016, THE QUESTION OF AUTHORIZING 
THE CITY COUNCIL TO IMPOSE AN EXCISE TAX OF 2 
CENTS PER OUNCE ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS 
WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND SWEETENERS USED TO 
PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, EXEMPTING: (1) SWEETENERS 
SOLD SEPARATELY TO THE CONSUMER AT A GROCERY 
STORE; (2) MILK PRODUCTS (3) BABY FORMULA (4) 
ALCOHOL, AND (5) DRINKS TAKEN FOR MEDICAL 
REASONS, TAXING THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR ON ANY 
CHAIN OF DISTRIBUTION; AND REQUIRING THE CITY TO 
PUBLISH A REPORT DETAILING REVENUE COLLECTED 
AND THE TYPE AND AMOUNT OF EXPENDITURES MADE 
AS A RESULT OF THE TAX; GIVING APPROVAL FOR THE 
COLLECTION, RETENTION AND EXPENDITURE OF THE 
FULL TAX PROCEEDS AND ANY RELATED EARNINGS, 
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY STATE REVENUE OR 
EXPENDITURE LIMITATION; AND SETTING FORTH THE 
EFFECTIVE DATE, BALLOT TITLE, ADDING A NEW  
CHAPTER 3-16, “SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGE 
PRODUCT DISTRIBUTION TAX,” B.R.C. 1981, ALL 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017 AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016. 

Section 2.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the issue of a sales and use tax increase as described in the ballot issue 

title in this ordinance. 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page 441



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the issue: 

ISSUE NO. ___ 

SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCT 
DISTRIBUTION TAX 

SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCT 
DISTRIBUTION TAX 

SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED $3.8 
MILLION (FIRST FULL FISCAL YEAR INCREASE) 
ANNUALLY BY IMPOSING AN EXCISE TAX OF 2 CENTS 
PER OUNCE ON THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR IN ANY CHAIN 
OF DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND 
SWEETENERS USED TO PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, 
EXEMPTING: (1) SWEETENERS SOLD SEPARATELY TO 
THE CONSUMER AT A GROCERY STORE; (2) MILK 
PRODUCTS (3) BABY FORMULA (4) ALCOHOL, AND (5) 
DRINKS TAKEN FOR MEDICAL REASONS;  

AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

SHALL ALL OF THE REVENUES COLLECTED BE USED TO 
FUND: 

 THE ADMINISTRATIVE COST OF THE TAX, AND
THEREAFTER FOR

 HEALTH PROMOTION,

 GENERAL WELLNESS PROGRAMS AND CHRONIC
DISEASE PREVENTION IN THE CITY OF BOULDER
THAT IMPROVE HEALTH EQUITY, SUCH AS
ACCESS TO SAFE AND CLEAN DRINKING WATER,
HEALTHY FOODS, NUTRITION AND FOOD
EDUCATION, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY,

 OTHER HEALTH PROGRAMS ESPECIALLY FOR
RESIDENTS WITH LOW INCOME AND THOSE MOST
AFFECTED BY CHRONIC DISEASE LINKED TO
SUGARY DRINK CONSUMPTION,

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page 442



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ALL EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017, AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

SHALL THE FULL PROCEEDS OF SUCH TAXES AT SUCH 
RATES AND ANY EARNINGS THEREON BE COLLECTED, 
RETAINED, AND SPENT, AS A VOTER-APPROVED 
REVENUE CHANGE WITHOUT LIMITATION OR 
CONDITION, AND WITHOUT LIMITING THE COLLECTION, 
RETENTION, OR SPENDING OF ANY OTHER REVENUES 
OR FUNDS BY THE CITY OF BOULDER UNDER ARTICLE X 
SECTION 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION OR ANY 
OTHER LAW? 

FOR THE ISSUE ____       AGAINST THE ISSUE ____ 

Section 4.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council further amends 

the Boulder Revised Code, effective on July 1, 2017, to add a new Chapter 3-16 as follows: 

Chapter 16 Sugar Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax 

Section 3-16-1 Findings and Purpose 

(a) An excise tax on the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverages is intended to protect the 
health, safety, and well-being of all in the City of Boulder. 

(b) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the risk for childhood 
obesity by 55%. 

(c) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the risk of developing 
type two diabetes by 25%. 

(d) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the likelihood of death 
from cardiovascular disease by 30%. 

Section 3-16-2 Imposition and Rate of Tax 

(a) Excise tax.  There is levied and shall be paid and collected an excise tax of two cents 
($0.02) per fluid ounce of sugar-sweetened beverage products that are distributed in the 
city.  

(b) For purposes of calculating the tax imposed under this chapter, the volume, in fluid 
ounces, of a sugar-sweetened beverage product shall be: 

(1)   For a bottled sugar-sweetened beverage the tax shall be calculated on the volume, in 
fluid ounces, of sugar-sweetened beverages distributed to any person in the course 
of business in the city. 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page 443



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(2)   For a sugar-sweetened beverage made from syrups and powders 'the tax shall be 
calculated on the largest volume of fluid ounces of sugar-sweetened beverages that 
could be produced from syrup or powder upon the initial distribution of syrup or 
powder. 

Section 3-16-3 Distributor Liable for Tax 

Each distributor of sugar-sweetened beverage products shall pay the tax imposed in subsection 3-
16-2 on each non-exempt distribution of a sugar-sweetened beverage product, except that if there 
is a chain of distribution within the City of Boulder involving more than one distributor, the tax 
shall be levied on the first distributor subject to the jurisdiction of the city, unless the tax is not 
paid by the first distributor for any reason, it shall be levied on subsequent distributors, provided 
that the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverage products may not be taxed more than once in 
the chain of commerce. 

Section 3-16-4 Definitions 

For the purposes of this Chapter 16, unless the context otherwise requires: 

"Beverage for Medical Use" means a beverage suitable for human consumption and 
manufactured for use as a: 

(1)  Source of necessary nutrition due to a medical condition, or 

(2)  For use as an oral rehydration electrolyte solution for infants and children 
formulated to prevent or treat dehydration due to illness. 

"Beverage for Medical Use" shall not include drinks commonly referred to as "Sports Drinks" or 
any other common names that are derivations thereof. 

"Bottled Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" means any sugar-sweetened beverage contained in a bottle 
that is ready for consumption without further processing, such as, and without limitation, dilution 
or carbonation. 

"Caloric Sweetener" means a substance or combination of substances suitable for human 
consumption that adds calories to and is perceived as sweet to humans when consumed, 
including, but not limited to sucrose, dextrose, fructose, glucose, other mono and disaccharides; 
corn syrup or high-fructose corn syrup; or any other caloric sweetener designated by the city 
manager. 

"Consumer" means a natural person who purchases a sugar-sweetened beverage product in the 
city for a purpose other than resale in the ordinary course of business. 

"Distribution" or "Distribute" means the transfer of title or possession: 

(1)  From one business entity to another for consideration, or 

(2)  Within a single business entity, such as by a wholesale or warehousing unit to a 
retail outlet or between two or more employees or contractors. 

"Distribution" or "Distribute" shall not mean the retail sale to a consumer. 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page 444



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"Distributor" means any person who distributes sugar-sweetened beverage products in the city. 

"Milk Products" means natural fluid milk, regardless of animal source or butterfat content, 
natural milk concentrate, whether or not reconstituted, regardless of animal source or butterfat 
content, or dehydrated natural milk, whether or not reconstituted and regardless of animal source 
or butterfat content, and plant-based milk substitutes, that are marketed as milk, such as soy 
milk, coconut milk, rice milk and almond milk. 

"Powder" means any solid mixture, containing one or more caloric sweetener as an ingredient, 
intended to be used in making, mixing, or compounding a sugar-sweetened beverage by 
combining the powder with one or more ingredients. 

"Retailer of Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Products" means a person, other than a distributor, 
manufacturer, or wholesaler who receives, stores, mixes, compounds, or manufactures a sugar-
sweetened beverage and sells or otherwise dispenses the sugar-sweetened beverage to the 
ultimate consumer. 

"Simple Syrup" means a mixture of water and one or more natural or common sweeteners 
without any additional ingredients. 

"Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" means any non-alcoholic beverage which contains at least 5 grams 
of caloric sweetener per 12 fluid ounces. 

(l)   "Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" includes all drinks and beverages commonly referred 
to as "soda," " pop," "cola," "soft drinks," "sports drinks," "energy drinks," 
"sweetened ice teas," "sweetened coffees," or any other common names that are 
derivations thereof.  

(2)  "Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" does not include any of the following: 

i. Any beverage in which milk is the primary ingredient, i.e., the ingredient
constituting a greater volume of the product than any other;

ii. Any beverage for medical use;

iii. Any liquid sold for use for weight reduction as a meal replacement;

iv. Any product commonly referred to as "infant formula" or "baby formula;"

v. Any alcoholic beverage;

vi. Any beverage consisting of one hundred (100) percent natural fruit or vegetable
juice with no added caloric sweetener for purposes of this paragraph, "natural
fruit juice" and "natural vegetable juice" mean the original liquid resulting from
the pressing of fruits or vegetables; or

vii. Sweetened medication such as cough syrup, liquid pain relievers, fever
reducers, and similar products.

"Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product" means a bottled sugar-sweetened beverage or a sugar 
sweetened beverage made from the dilution of syrup or powder. 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page 445



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"Syrup" means any liquid mixture, containing one or more caloric sweeteners as an ingredient, 
intended to be used in making, mixing, or compounding a sugar-sweetened beverage by 
combining the syrup with one or more other ingredients. 

Section 3-16-5 Exemptions 

The tax imposed by this chapter shall not apply: 

(a)  To any distribution of syrups and powders sold directly to a consumer and intended for 
personal use by a consumer that are not already pre-mixed into a sugar-sweetened 
beverage product such as granulated sugar, honey, agave and similar products. 

(b)  To any milk product. 

(c)  To infant formula. 

(d) To any alcoholic beverage. 

(e) To any beverage for medical use. 

Section 3-16-6 Duties, Responsibilities and Authority of the City Manager 

(a) The city manager is authorized to collect and receive all taxes imposed by this chapter, 
and to keep an accurate record thereof. 

(b) The city manager shall develop a registration system whereby distributors of sugar-
sweetened beverages must register with the city prior to distributing any sugar-sweetened 
beverages.  

(c) The city manager shall annually verify that the taxes owed under this chapter have been 
properly applied, exempted, collected, and remitted.  

(d)  The city manager is authorized to enforce this chapter and may prescribe, adopt, and 
enforce rules and regulations relating to the administration and enforcement of this 
chapter, including provisions for the reexamination and correction of returns and 
payments, and for reporting.  Such rules and regulations shall include, but are not limited 
to, the following:  

(1)  The determination of the frequency with which a distributor must calculate the tax. 
This determination shall not constitute an increase of the tax.  

(2)   The determination of the frequency with which a distributor must pay the tax.  This 
determination shall not constitute an increase of the tax.  

(3)  The determination of the manner in which a distributor must register with the city. 

(4)  The determination of whether and how a distributor who receives, in the city, sugar-
sweetened beverage products from another distributor must report to the city the 
name of that distributor.  

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page 446



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(5)  The determination of whether and how a distributor who receives, in the city, sugar-
sweetened beverage products from another distributor must report to the city the 
volume of sugar-sweetened beverage products received from that distributor.  

(6)  The determination of what other documentation is required to be created or 
maintained by a distributor of sugar-sweetened beverage products. 

Section 3-16-7 Collection 
(a)  The amount of any tax, penalty, and interest imposed under the provisions of this chapter 

shall be deemed a debt to the city.  Any distributor owing money under the provisions of 
this chapter shall be liable in an action brought in the name of the city for the recovery of 
such amount.  

(b) In order to aid in the city's collection of taxes due under this chapter, any retailer of sugar-
sweetened beverage products that receives sugar-sweetened beverage products from a 
distributor, in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by the city manager 
pursuant to section 3-16-6, shall provide to the city evidence that the distributor from 
whom the sugar-sweetened beverage products were received has registered as a distributor 
with the city and that registration is current.  

Section 3-16-8 Refunds 

Whenever any tax under this chapter has been paid more than once or has been erroneously or 
illegally collected or received by the city, it may be refunded only as provided in Chapter 3-2-23 
of the Boulder Municipal Code. 

Section 3-16-9 Enforcement 

Except as otherwise provided by this chapter or by rule or regulation promulgated by the city 
manager, the tax imposed by this Chapter shall be administered in the same manner as taxes 
imposed pursuant to Chapter 3-2-2 and, without limitation, shall be subject to the same 
delinquency penal ties, appeals processes and other enforcement provisions set forth in chapter 
3-2- 22. 

Section 3-16-10 Not a Sales and Use Tax 

The tax imposed by this Chapter is a tax upon the privilege of conducting business, specifically, 
distributing sugar-sweetened beverage products within the City of Boulder.  It is not a sales, use, 
or other excise tax on the sale, consumption or use of sugar-sweetened beverage products.  The 
tax imposed herein shall be in addition to any license fee or tax imposed or levied under any 
other law, statute or ordinance where imposed or levied by the city, state, or other governmental 
entity or political subdivision. 

Section 3-16-11 Dedicated Revenues 

The revenues from this excise tax shall be designated for the administrative cost of the tax, and 
once that obligation has been fulfilled, used for health promotion, general wellness programs and 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page 447



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

chronic disease prevention in the City of Boulder that improve health equity, such as access to 
safe and clean drinking water, healthy foods, nutrition and food education, physical activity, and 
other health programs especially for residents with low income and those most affected by 
chronic disease linked to sugary drink consumption. In order to ensure that funds are allocated 
appropriately as directed in this Chapter, the city shall accurately track and record all revenues 
collected from the excise tax promulgated in Chapter 3-16-2 and accurately track and record all 
administrative costs as detailed in Chapter 3-16-6. The city council shall annually publish a 
public report on the city's website detailing the amount of revenue collected as a result of the tax 
and the type and amount of expenditures made as a result of the tax levied in Chapter 3-16-2. 

Section 3-16-12 Enactment 

If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the issue submitted shall be for the issue, the 
issue shall be deemed to have passed and shall be effective July 1, 2017. 

Section 3-16-13 Severability 

The people of the City of Boulder hereby declare that they would have adopted each section, 
sentence, clause, phrase, word, or portion of this ordinance, irrespective of the fact that any one 
or more sections, sentences, clauses, phrases, words, or portions of this ordinance, or any 
application thereof, be declared invalid or unenforceable and, to that end, the provisions of this 
ordinance are severable.  If any section, sentence, clause, phrase, word, or portion of this 
ordinance, or any application thereof in any circumstance, is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining sections, sentences, clauses, 
phrases, words, or portions of this ordinance, and applications thereof, shall nonetheless remain 
in full force and effect. 

Section 3-16-14 Municipal Affair 

The people of the City of Boulder hereby declare that the taxation of the privilege of distributing 
sugar-sweetened beverage products and that the public health impact of sugar-sweetened 
beverage products separately and together constitute municipal affairs.  The people of the City of 
Boulder hereby further declare their desire for this measure to coexist with any similar tax 
adopted at the county or state levels. 

Section 5.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council may adopt 

amendments to the Boulder Revised Code to further implement this excise tax and such other 

amendments to the Boulder Revised Code as may be necessary to implement the intent and 

purpose of this ordinance. 

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page 448



K:\ccco\o-8130-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 6.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the issue submitted shall be 

for the issue, the issue shall be deemed to have passed and shall be effective on July 1, 2017. 

Section 7.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare of 

the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 8.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk  

Attachment A: Proposed Ordinance Placing Just the Tax on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page 449



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8131  

(Sugar Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax) 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORS OF THE 
CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL MUNICIPAL 
COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, 
NOVEMBER 8, 2016, THE QUESTION OF AUTHORIZING 
THE CITY COUNCIL TO IMPOSE AN EXCISE TAX OF 2 
CENTS PER OUNCE ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS 
WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND SWEETENERS USED TO 
PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, AND ADDING TO THE 
BOULDER REVISED CODE A NEW CHAPTER 3-16 
ADMINISTERING THE TAX, EXEMPTING: (1) 
SWEETENERS SOLD SEPARATELY TO THE CONSUMER 
AT A GROCERY STORE; (2) MILK PRODUCTS (3) BABY 
FORMULA (4) ALCOHOL, AND (5) DRINKS TAKEN FOR 
MEDICAL REASONS, TAXING THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR 
ON ANY CHAIN OF DISTRIBUTION; AND REQUIRING THE 
CITY TO PUBLISH A REPORT DETAILING REVENUE 
COLLECTED AND THE TYPE AND AMOUNT OF 
EXPENDITURES MADE AS A RESULT OF THE TAX; 
GIVING APPROVAL FOR THE COLLECTION, RETENTION 
AND EXPENDITURE OF THE FULL TAX PROCEEDS AND 
ANY RELATED EARNINGS, NOTWITHSTANDING ANY 
STATE REVENUE OR EXPENDITURE LIMITATION; ALL 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017 AND SETTING FORTH THE 
BALLOT TITLE, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016. 

Section 2.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the issue of a sales and use tax increase as described in the ballot issue 

title in this ordinance. 

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page 450



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the issue: 

ISSUE NO. ___ 

SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCT 
DISTRIBUTION TAX 

SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED $3.8 
MILLION (FIRST FULL FISCAL YEAR INCREASE) 
ANNUALLY BY IMPOSING AN EXCISE TAX OF 2 CENTS 
PER OUNCE ON THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR IN ANY CHAIN 
OF DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND 
SWEETENERS USED TO PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, 
EXEMPTING: (1) SWEETENERS SOLD SEPARATELY TO 
THE CONSUMER AT A GROCERY STORE; (2) MILK 
PRODUCTS (3) BABY FORMULA (4) ALCOHOL, AND (5) 
DRINKS TAKEN FOR MEDICAL REASONS; AND ADDING 
A NEW CHAPTER 3-16 AS SET FORTH IN ORDINANCE 
NUMBER 8131 PRESCRIBING HOW THE TAX IS TO BE 
ADMINISTERED, COLLECTED, REFUNDED, ENFORCED, 
TRACKED AND REPORTED; DEFINING THE CITY 
MANAGER'S AUTHORITY TO ADOPT RULES;  
AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

PROVIDING THAT ALL OF THE REVENUES COLLECTED 
BE USED TO FUND: 

 THE ADMINISTRATIVE COST OF THE TAX, AND
THEREAFTER FOR

 HEALTH PROMOTION,

 GENERAL WELLNESS PROGRAMS AND CHRONIC
DISEASE PREVENTION IN THE CITY OF BOULDER
THAT IMPROVE HEALTH EQUITY, SUCH AS
ACCESS TO SAFE AND CLEAN DRINKING WATER,
HEALTHY FOODS, NUTRITION AND FOOD
EDUCATION, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY,

 OTHER HEALTH PROGRAMS ESPECIALLY FOR
RESIDENTS WITH LOW INCOME AND THOSE MOST
AFFECTED BY CHRONIC DISEASE LINKED TO
SUGARY DRINK CONSUMPTION,

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page 451



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ALL EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017, AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

SHALL THE FULL PROCEEDS OF SUCH TAXES AT SUCH 
RATES AND ANY EARNINGS THEREON BE COLLECTED, 
RETAINED, AND SPENT, AS A VOTER-APPROVED 
REVENUE CHANGE WITHOUT LIMITATION OR 
CONDITION, AND WITHOUT LIMITING THE COLLECTION, 
RETENTION, OR SPENDING OF ANY OTHER REVENUES 
OR FUNDS BY THE CITY OF BOULDER UNDER ARTICLE X 
SECTION 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION OR ANY 
OTHER LAW? 

FOR THE ISSUE ____       AGAINST THE ISSUE ____ 

Section 4.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the Boulder Revised Code, is 

amended effective on July 1, 2017, to add a new Chapter 3-16 as follows: 

Chapter 16 Sugar Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax 

Section 3-16-1 Findings and Purpose 

(a) An excise tax on the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverages is intended to protect the 
health, safety, and well-being of all in the City of Boulder. 

(b) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the risk for childhood 
obesity by 55%. 

(c) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the risk of developing 
type two diabetes by 25%. 

(d) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the likelihood of death 
from cardiovascular disease by 30%. 

Section 3-16-2 Imposition and Rate of Tax 

(a) Excise tax.  There is levied and shall be paid and collected an excise tax of two cents 
($0.02) per fluid ounce of sugar-sweetened beverage products that are distributed in the 
city.  

(b) For purposes of calculating the tax imposed under this chapter, the volume, in fluid 
ounces, of a sugar-sweetened beverage product shall be: 

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18Packet Page 452



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(1)   For a bottled sugar-sweetened beverage the tax shall be calculated on the volume, in 
fluid ounces, of sugar-sweetened beverages distributed to any person in the course 
of business in the city. 

(2)   For a sugar-sweetened beverage made from syrups and powders 'the tax shall be 
calculated on the largest volume of fluid ounces of sugar-sweetened beverages that 
could be produced from syrup or powder upon the initial distribution of syrup or 
powder. 

Section 3-16-3 Distributor Liable for Tax 

Each distributor of sugar-sweetened beverage products shall pay the tax imposed in subsection 3-
16-2 on each non-exempt distribution of a sugar-sweetened beverage product, except that if there 
is a chain of distribution within the City of Boulder involving more than one distributor, the tax 
shall be levied on the first distributor subject to the jurisdiction of the city, unless the tax is not 
paid by the first distributor for any reason, it shall be levied on subsequent distributors, provided 
that the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverage products may not be taxed more than once in 
the chain of commerce. 

Section 3-16-4 Definitions 

For the purposes of this Chapter 16, unless the context otherwise requires: 

"Beverage for Medical Use" means a beverage suitable for human consumption and 
manufactured for use as a: 

(1)  Source of necessary nutrition due to a medical condition, or 

(2)  For use as an oral rehydration electrolyte solution for infants and children 
formulated to prevent or treat dehydration due to illness. 

"Beverage for Medical Use" shall not include drinks commonly referred to as "Sports Drinks" or 
any other common names that are derivations thereof. 

"Bottled Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" means any sugar-sweetened beverage contained in a bottle 
that is ready for consumption without further processing, such as, and without limitation, dilution 
or carbonation. 

"Caloric Sweetener" means a substance or combination of substances suitable for human 
consumption that adds calories to and is perceived as sweet to humans when consumed, 
including, but not limited to sucrose, dextrose, fructose, glucose, other mono and disaccharides; 
corn syrup or high-fructose corn syrup; or any other caloric sweetener designated by the city 
manager. 

"Consumer" means a natural person who purchases a sugar-sweetened beverage product in the 
city for a purpose other than resale in the ordinary course of business. 

"Distribution" or "Distribute" means the transfer of title or possession: 

(1)  From one business entity to another for consideration, or 

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 19Packet Page 453



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(2)  Within a single business entity, such as by a wholesale or warehousing unit to a 
retail outlet or between two or more employees or contractors. 

"Distribution" or "Distribute" shall not mean the retail sale to a consumer. 

"Distributor" means any person who distributes sugar-sweetened beverage products in the city. 

"Milk Products" means natural fluid milk, regardless of animal source or butterfat content, 
natural milk concentrate, whether or not reconstituted, regardless of animal source or butterfat 
content, or dehydrated natural milk, whether or not reconstituted and regardless of animal source 
or butterfat content, and plant-based milk substitutes, that are marketed as milk, such as soy 
milk, coconut milk, rice milk and almond milk. 

"Powder" means any solid mixture, containing one or more caloric sweetener as an ingredient, 
intended to be used in making, mixing, or compounding a sugar-sweetened beverage by 
combining the powder with one or more ingredients. 

"Retailer of Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Products" means a person, other than a distributor, 
manufacturer, or wholesaler who receives, stores, mixes, compounds, or manufactures a sugar-
sweetened beverage and sells or otherwise dispenses the sugar-sweetened beverage to the 
ultimate consumer. 

"Simple Syrup" means a mixture of water and one or more natural or common sweeteners 
without any additional ingredients. 

"Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" means any non-alcoholic beverage which contains at least 5 grams 
of caloric sweetener per 12 fluid ounces. 

(l)   "Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" includes all drinks and beverages commonly referred 
to as "soda," " pop," "cola," "soft drinks," "sports drinks," "energy drinks," 
"sweetened ice teas," "sweetened coffees," or any other common names that are 
derivations thereof.  

(2)  "Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" does not include any of the following: 

i. Any beverage in which milk is the primary ingredient, i.e., the ingredient
constituting a greater volume of the product than any other;

ii. Any beverage for medical use;

iii. Any liquid sold for use for weight reduction as a meal replacement;

iv. Any product commonly referred to as "infant formula" or "baby formula;"

v. Any alcoholic beverage;

vi. Any beverage consisting of one hundred (100) percent natural fruit or vegetable
juice with no added caloric sweetener for purposes of this paragraph, "natural
fruit juice" and "natural vegetable juice" mean the original liquid resulting from
the pressing of fruits or vegetables; or

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 20Packet Page 454



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

vii. Sweetened medication such as cough syrup, liquid pain relievers, fever
reducers, and similar products.

"Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product" means a bottled sugar-sweetened beverage or a sugar 
sweetened beverage made from the dilution of syrup or powder. 

"Syrup" means any liquid mixture, containing one or more caloric sweeteners as an ingredient, 
intended to be used in making, mixing, or compounding a sugar-sweetened beverage by 
combining the syrup with one or more other ingredients. 

Section 3-16-5 Exemptions 

The tax imposed by this chapter shall not apply: 

(a)  To any distribution of syrups and powders sold directly to a consumer and intended for 
personal use by a consumer that are not already pre-mixed into a sugar-sweetened 
beverage product such as granulated sugar, honey, agave and similar products; 

(b)  To any milk product; 

(c)  To infant formula; 

(d) To any alcoholic beverage; 

(e) To any beverage for medical use. 

Section 3-16-6 Duties, Responsibilities and Authority of the City Manager 

(a) The city manager is authorized to collect and receive all taxes imposed by this chapter, 
and to keep an accurate record thereof. 

(b) The city manager shall develop a registration system whereby distributors of sugar-
sweetened beverages must register with the city prior to distributing any sugar-sweetened 
beverages.  

(c) The city manager shall annually verify that the taxes owed under this chapter have been 
properly applied, exempted, collected, and remitted.  

(d)  The city manager is authorized to enforce this chapter and may prescribe, adopt, and 
enforce rules and regulations relating to the administration and enforcement of this 
chapter, including provisions for the reexamination and correction of returns and 
payments, and for reporting.  Such rules and regulations shall include, but are not limited 
to, the following:  

(1)  The determination of the frequency with which a distributor must calculate the tax. 
This determination shall not constitute an increase of the tax.  

(2)   The determination of the frequency with which a distributor must pay the tax.  This 
determination shall not constitute an increase of the tax.  

(3)  The determination of the manner in which a distributor must register with the city. 

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 21Packet Page 455



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(4)  The determination of whether and how a distributor who receives, in the city, sugar-
sweetened beverage products from another distributor must report to the city the 
name of that distributor.  

(5)  The determination of whether and how a distributor who receives, in the city, sugar-
sweetened beverage products from another distributor must report to the city the 
volume of sugar-sweetened beverage products received from that distributor.  

(6)  The determination of what other documentation is required to be created or 
maintained by a distributor of sugar-sweetened beverage products. 

Section 3-16-7 Collection 
(a)  The amount of any tax, penalty, and interest imposed under the provisions of this chapter 

shall be deemed a debt to the city.  Any distributor owing money under the provisions of 
this chapter shall be liable in an action brought in the name of the city for the recovery of 
such amount.  

(b) In order to aid in the city's collection of taxes due under this chapter, any retailer of sugar-
sweetened beverage products that receives sugar-sweetened beverage products from a 
distributor, in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by the city manager 
pursuant to section 3-16-6, shall provide to the city evidence that the distributor from 
whom the sugar-sweetened beverage products were received has registered as a distributor 
with the city and that registration is current.  

Section 3-16-8 Refunds 

Whenever any tax under this chapter has been paid more than once or has been erroneously or 
illegally collected or received by the city, it may be refunded only as provided in Chapter 3-2-23 
of the Boulder Municipal Code. 

Section 3-16-9 Enforcement 

Except as otherwise provided by this chapter or by rule or regulation promulgated by the city 
manager, the tax imposed by this Chapter shall be administered in the same manner as taxes 
imposed pursuant to Chapter 3-2-2 and, without limitation, shall be subject to the same 
delinquency penal ties, appeals processes and other enforcement provisions set forth in chapter 
3-2- 22. 

Section 3-16-10 Not a Sales and Use Tax 

The tax imposed by this Chapter is a tax upon the privilege of conducting business, specifically, 
distributing sugar- sweetened beverage products within the City of Boulder.  It is not a sales, use, 
or other excise tax on the sale, consumption or use of sugar-sweetened beverage products.  The 
tax imposed herein shall be in addition to any license fee or tax imposed or levied under any 
other law, statute or ordinance where imposed or levied by the city, state, or other governmental 
entity or political subdivision. 

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 22Packet Page 456



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3-16-11 Dedicated Revenues 

The revenues from this excise tax shall be designated for the administrative cost of the tax, and 
once that obligation has been fulfilled, used for health promotion, general wellness programs and 
chronic disease prevention in the City of Boulder that improve health equity, such as access to 
safe and clean drinking water, healthy foods, nutrition and food education, physical activity, and 
other health programs especially for residents with low income and those most affected by 
chronic disease linked to sugary drink consumption.  In order to ensure that funds are allocated 
appropriately as directed in this Chapter, the city shall accurately track and record all revenues 
collected from the excise tax promulgated in Chapter 3-16-2 and accurately track and record all 
administrative costs as detailed in Chapter 3-16-6.  The city council shall annually publish a 
public report on the city's website detailing the amount of revenue collected as a result of the tax 
and the type and amount of expenditures made as a result of the tax levied in Chapter 3-16-2. 

Section 3-16-12 Enactment 

If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the issue submitted shall be for the issue, the 
issue shall be deemed to have passed and shall be effective July 1, 2017. 

Section 3-16-13 Severability 

The people of the City of Boulder hereby declare that they would have adopted each section, 
sentence, clause, phrase, word, or portion of this ordinance, irrespective of the fact that any one 
or more sections, sentences, clauses, phrases, words, or portions of this ordinance, or any 
application thereof, be declared invalid or unenforceable and, to that end, the provisions of this 
ordinance are severable.  If any section, sentence, clause, phrase, word, or portion of this 
ordinance, or any application thereof in any circumstance, is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining sections, sentences, clauses, 
phrases, words, or portions of this ordinance, and applications thereof, shall nonetheless remain 
in full force and effect. 

Section 3-16-14 Municipal Affair 

The people of the City of Boulder hereby declare that the taxation of the privilege of distributing 
sugar- sweetened beverage products and that the public health impact of sugar-sweetened 
beverage products separately and together constitute municipal affairs.  The people of the City of 
Boulder hereby further declare their desire for this measure to coexist with any similar tax 
adopted at the county or state levels. 

Section 5.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council may adopt 

amendments to the Boulder Revised Code to further implement this excise tax and such other 

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 23Packet Page 457



K:\ccco\o-8131-1st.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

amendments to the Boulder Revised Code as may be necessary to implement the intent and 

purpose of this ordinance. 

Section 6.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the issue submitted shall be 

for the issue, the issue shall be deemed to have passed and shall be effective July 1, 2017, and it 

shall be lawful for the City Council to provide for the amendment of its tax code in accordance 

with the issue approved. 

Section 7.    This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare of 

the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 8.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk  

Attachment B: Proposed Ordinance Placing Both the
Tax and the Regulatory Scheme on the Ballot

Agenda Item 5A     Page 24Packet Page 458



WARNING: IT IS AGAINST THE LAW: 
For anyone to sign any initiative or referendum petition with any name other than his or her own or to knowingly sign his or her name more than once for the 

same measure or to knowingly sign a petition when not a registered elector who is eligible to vote on the measure. 
00 NOT SIGN THIS PETITION UNLESS YOU ARE A REGISTERED ELECTOR AND ELIGIBLE TO VOTE ON THIS MEASURE. TO BE A REGISTERED 

ELECTOR, YOU MUST BE A CITIZEN OF COLORADO AND REGISTERED TO VOTE. 
Do not sign this petition unless you have read or have had read to you the proposed initiative or referred measure or the summary in its entirety and 

understand its meaning. 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED iVIEASURE: 

AN INlTlATIVE TO ADOPT A NEW CHAPTER OF THE BOULDER REVISED CODE SETTING FORTH THE PROCEDURES FOR IMPOSING 

ON DISTRIBUTORS, AND THE COLLECTING, TRACKING AND REPORTING OF, AN EXCISE TAX ON SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGES; 

DEDICATING REVENUES FROM THE TAX FOR THE PROMOTION OF HEALTH ISSUES; MAKING THE TAX COEXIST WITH ANY 

SIMILAR TAX IMPOSED BY ANOTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

PETITION TO INITIATE 

The full text of the proposed measure is as fo11ows: 

Be it Enacted by the People of the City of Boulder, Colorado: 

SECTION 1. In the Boulder Revised Code, add Chapter 16 to Title 3 as follows: 

Chapter 16 SugaI'~Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax 

Section 3-16 -1 Findings and Purpose. 

(a) AN EXCISE 'L\X ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGES IS INTENDED TO PROTECT THE 

HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELL-BEING OF ALL IN THE CITY OF BOULDER. 

(b) WHEREAS CONSUMING ONE SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE A DAY INCREASES THE RISK FOR CHILDHOOD 

OBESITY BY 55%. 
(c) WHEREAS CONSUMING ONE SUGAR- SWEETE:,\ED BEVERAGE A DAY INCREASES THE RISK OF DEVELOPING TYPE 

TWO DIABETES BY 25%. 
(d) WHEREAS CONSUMING ONE SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE A DAY INCREASES THE LIKELIHOOD OF DEATH 

FROM CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE BY 30%. 

Section 3-16-2 Imposition and Rate of Tax 

(a) EXCISE ·TAX. THERE IS LEVIED AND SHALL BE PAID AND COLLECTED AN EXCISE TAX OF TWO CENTS (~0.02) PER 

FLUID OUNCE OF SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS THAT ARE DiSTRIBUTED IN THE CITY. 

(b) FOR PURPOSES OF CALCULATING THE TAX IMPOSED UNDER THIS CHAPTER, THE VOLUME, IN FLUID OUNCES, OF 

A Sl.JGAR- SWEETEl'.'ED BEVERAGE PRODUCT SHALL BE: 

(1) FOR A BOITLED SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE THE TAX SHALL BE CALCULATED ON THE VOLUME, IN 

FLUID OUNCES, OF SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGES DISTRIBUTED TO ANY PERSON IN THE COURSE OF BUSINESS IN 

THE CITY. 

(2) FOR A SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE MADE FROM SYRUPS AND POWDERS 'THE TAX SHALL BE 

CALCGLATED ON THE LARGEST VOLUME OF FLUID OUNCES OF SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGES THAT COULD BE 

PRODUCED FROM SYRUP OR POWDER UPON THE IXITIAL DISTRIBUTION OF SYRUP OR POWDER. 

Section 3~16-3 Distributor Liable for Tax 

EACH DISTRIBUTOR OF SUGAR-S WEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS SHALL PA Y THE TAX IMPOSED Ii'\)' SUBSECTION 3-
16-2 ON EACH NON-EXEMPT DISTRIBUTION OF A SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCT, EXCEPT THAT IF THERE 

IS A CHAIN OF DISTRIBUTION WITHIN THE CITY OF BOULDER INVOLVING MORE THAN ONE DISTRIBUTOR, THE 'fAX 

SHALL BE LEVIED ON THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE CITY, UNLESS THE TAX IS NOT 

PAID BY THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR FOR ANY REASON, IT SHALL BE LEVIED ON SUBSEQUENT DISTRIBUTORS, PROVIDED 

THAT THE DISTRIBUTION OF SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS MA Y NOT BE 'fAXED MORE THAN ONCE IN 

THE CHAL'\'" OF COMMERCE. 

Section 3-16-4 Definitions 

FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS CHAPTER 16. UNLESS THE CONTEXT OTHERWISE REQUIRES: 

"BEVERAGE FOR MEDICAL USE" MEANS A BEVERAGE SUITABLE FOR lIUMAN CONSUMPTION AND MANUFACTURED 

FOR USE AS A 

(1) SOlJRCE'OF NECESSARY NUTRITION DUE TO A MEDICAL CONDITION, OR 

(2) FOR USE AS AN ORAL REHYDRATION ELECTROLYTE SOLUTION FOR INFANTS AND CHILDREN 

FORMULATED TO PREVENT OR TREAT DEHYDRA'nON DUE TO ILLNESS. 

"BEVERAGE FOR MEDICAL USE" SHALL NOT INCLUDE DRINKS COMMONLY REFERRED TO AS "SPORTS DRINKS" OR 

ANY OTHER COMMONNAIVIES THAT ARE DERIVATIONS THEREOF. 

Attachment C: Petition

Agenda Item 5A     Page 25Packet Page 459



WARNING: IT IS AGAINST THE LAW: 
For anyone to sign any initiative or l'eferendum petition with any name other than his or her own or to knowin~ly silln his or her name more than once for the 

same measure or to knuwin~ly sign a petition when not a registered elector who is elillible to vote on the measure. 
00 NOT SIGN THIS PETITION UN LESS YOU ARE A REGISTERED ELECTOR AND ELIGIBLE TO VOTE ON THIS MEASURE, TO BE A REGISTERED 

ELECTOR. YOU MUST BE A CITIZEN OF COLORADO AND REGISTERED TO VOTE, 
Do not sign this petition unless you have, read or have had read to you the proposed initiative or referred measure or the summary in its entirety and 

undel'stand its meaning. 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED M EASURE: 

AN INITIATIVE TO ADOPT A NEW CHAPTER OF THE BOULDER REVISED CODE SETTING FORTH THE PROCEDURES FOR IMPOSING 

ON DISTRIBUTORS, AND THE COLLECTING, TRACKING AND REPORTING OF, AN EXC1SE TAX ON SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGES; 

DEDICATING REVENUES FROM THE TAX FOR THE PROMOTION OF HEALTH ISSUES; MAKING THE TAX COEXIST WITH ANY 

SIMILAR TAX IMPOSED BY ANOTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

"BOTTLED SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE" MEANS ANY St:GAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE CONTAINED IN A 

BUr'rLE T'HAr IS READY FOR CONSUMPTION WrrHOUT FURTHER PROCESSING, SUCH AS, AND WIT!I()Ur 

LIMlTA'nON,DILUTIONORCARBONATION. 

"CALORIC SWEETENER" MEANS A SUBSTANCE OR COMBINATION OF SUBSTANCES SUITABLE FOR l-lUMAN 

CONSUMPTION THAT ADDS CALORIES TO AND IS PERCEIVED AS SWEET TO HUMANS WHEN CONS UMED, 

INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO SUCROSE, DEXTROSE, FRUCTOSE, GLUCOSE, OTHER MONO AND 

DlSACCHARIDES;CORNSYRUP OR HIGH-FRUCTOSE CORN SYRUP; OR ANY OTHER CALORIC SWEETENER 

DES1GNATED BY THE CITY MANAGER. 

"CONSUMER" MEANS A NATURAL PERSON WHO PURCHASES ASUGAR-S\VEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCT' IN 'THE 

CITY FOR A PURPOSE OTHER THAN RESALE IN THE ORDINARY COURSE OF BUSINESS. 

"DISTRIBUTION" OR "DISTRIBUTE" MEANS THE TRANSFER OF TITLE OR POSSESSION 

(1) FROM Ol\"r; BUSINESS ENTITY TO ANOTHER FOR CONSIDERATION OR 

(2) WITHIN A SINGLE B USlNESS ENTITY, SUCH AS BY A WHOLESALE OR WAREHOUSING UNIT TO A RETAIL 

OUTLET OR BETWEEN TWO OR MORE EMPLOYEES OR CONTRACTORS. "DISTRIBl!TION" OR "DISTRIBUTE" 

SHALL NOT MEAN THE RETAIL SALE TO ACONSUMER. 

"DISTRIBUTOR" MEANS ANY PERSON WHO DISTRiBUTES SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERACiE PRODUCTS IN THE 
CITY. 

"lVl lLKPRODUCTS" MEANS NATURAL FLUID MILK, REGARDLESS OF ANIMAL SOURCE OR BUTTERFAT 

CONTENT, NATURAL MILK CONCENTRATE, WHETHERORNOTRECONSTITUTED, REGARDLESSOF ANIMAL 

SOURCE OR BUTTERFAT CONTENT, OR DEHYDRATED NATURAL MILK, WHETHER OR NOT RECONSTIT UTED AND 

REGARDLESS OF ANIMAL SOURCE OR BUTTERFAT CONTENT, AND PLANT-BASED MILK SUBSTITUTES, THAT ARE 

MARKETED AS MILK, SUCH AS SOY MILK, COCONUT MILK, RICE MILK AND ALMOND MILK. 

"POWDER" MEANS ANY SOUD MIXTURE, CONTAINING ONE OR MORE CALORIC SWEETENER AS AN INGREDIENT, 

INTENDED TO BE USED IN MAKING,MIXING, OR COMPOUNDING A SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE BY 

COMBn~ING THE POWDERWITll 01-':E OR MORE INGREDIENTS, 

" RETAILER OF SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS"MEANS A PERSON, OTHER THAN A DISTRIBUTOR, 

MANUFACTURER, OR WHOLESALER WHO RECEIVES, STORES, MIXES, COMPOUNDS, OR MANUFACTURES A 

SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE AND SELLS OR OTHERWISEDISPENSESTHESUGAR-SWEETENEDBEVERAGETO 

THE ULTlMA'fE CONSUMER. 

"SIMPLE SYRUP" MEANS A MIXTURE OF WATER AND ONE OR MORE NATURAL OR COMMON SWEETENERS 
WITHOUT ANY ADDITIONAL INGREDIENTS. 

"SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE" MEANS ANY NON-ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE WHICH CONTAINS AT LEAST 5 
GRAMS OF CALORIC SWEETENER PER 1 2 FLUID OUNCES. 

(l) "SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE" INCLUDES ALL DRINKS AND BEVERAGES COMMONL Y 

REFERRED TO AS "SODA," " POP," "COLA," "SOFT DRINKS," "SPORTS DRINKS," "ENERGY DRINKS," "SWEETENED 

ICE TEAS," "SWEETENED COFFEES," OR ANY OTHER COMMON NAMES THA TARE DERIV ATIONS THEREOF. 

(2) "SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE" DOES NOT INCLUDE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING: 

l. ANY BEVERAGE IN WHICH MILK IS THE PRIMARY INGREDIENT, I.E., THE INGREDIENT 

CONST11'UT[[\IG A GREATER VOLUME OF THE PRODUCT THAN ANY OTHER; 

u. ANY BEVERAGE FOR MEDICAL USE; 

m. ANY LIQUID SOLD FOR USE FOR WEIGHT REDUCTION AS A MEAL REPLACEMENT; 

IV. ANY PRODUCT COMMONLY REFERRED TO AS "INFANT FORMULA"OR "BABY 

FORMULA;" 

Section #0044 

Attachment C: Petition

Agenda Item 5A     Page 26Packet Page 460



WARNING: IT IS AGAINST THE LAW: 
For anyone to sign any initiaJive or referendum petition with any name other than his or her own or to knowingly si~n his or her name more than once for the 

same measure or to knowingly sign a petition when not a registered elector who is eligible to vote on the measure. 
00 NOT SIGN THIS PETlTlON UNLESS YOU ARE A REGISTERED ELECTOR AND ELIGIBLE TO VOTE ON THIS MEASURE. TO BE A REGISTERED 

ELECTOR, YOU MUST BE A CITIZEN OF COLORADO AND REGISTERED TO VOTE. 
Do not sign this petition unless you have read or have had read to you the proposed initiative or referred measure or the summary in its entirety and 

understand its meaning. 

SUl\1lVIARY ()F PROPOSED MEASURE: 

AN INlTlATIVE TO ADOPT A NEW CHAPTER OF THE BOULDER REVISED CODE SETTING FORTH THE PROCEDURES FOR IMPOSING 

ON DISTRIBUTORS, AND THE COLLECTING, TRACKING AND REPORTING OF, AN EXCISE TAX ON SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGES; 

DEDICATING REVENUES FROM THE TAX FOR THE PROMOTlON OF HEALTH ISSUES; MAKING THE TAX COEXIST WITH ANY 

SIMILAR TAX IMPOSED BY ANOTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

v. ANY ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE; 

vi. ANY BEVERAGE CONSISTING OF ONE HUNDRED (100) PERCENT NATURAL FReTT OR 

VEGf.::rABLE JUICE WITH NO ADDED CALORIC SWEETENER. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS PARAGRAPH, "NAIURAL 

FRUlT JUICE" AND "NATURAL VEGETABLE JUICE" MEAN THE ORIGINAL LIQUID RESULTING FROM THE PRESSING 

OF FRUITS ORVEGETABLES; OR 

Vil. SWEETENED ME DICATIONSUCH AS COUGH SYRUP, LIQUID PAIN RELIEVERS , FEVER 

REDuCERS, AND SIMILAR PRODUCTS. 

"SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCT" MEANS A BOTTLED SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE OR A SUGAR 

SWEETENED BEVERAGE MADE FROM THE DILUTION OF SYRUP OR POWDER. 

"SYRUP" MEANS ANY LIQUID MIXTURE, CONTAINING ONE OR MORE CALORIC SWEETENERS AS AN 

INGREDIENT, INTENDED TO BE USED IN MAKING, MIXING, OR COMPOUNDING A SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE 

BY COMBINING THE S YRUPWITH ONE OR MORE OTHER INGREDIENTS. 

Sedion 3-16-5 Exemptions 

THE TAX IMPOSED BY THIS CHAPTER SHALL NOT APPLY; 

(a) To ANY DISTRIBUTION OF SYRUPS AND POWDERS SOLD DIRECTLY TO A CONSUMER AND INTENDED FOR 

PERSONAL USE BY A CONSUMER THAT ARE NOT ALREADY PRE-MIXED INTO A SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE 

PRODUCT SUCH AS GRANULATED SUGAR, HONEY, AGAVE AND SIMTLARPRODUCTS. 

(b) To ANY MILKPRODUCr 

(C) To INF ANTFORMULA 

(d) To ANY ALCOHOLlCBEVERAGE 

(e) To ANY BEVERAGE FOR MEDICAL lJSE 

Section 3~16·6 Duties9 Responsibilities a.nd Authority of the City Manager 

(a) THE CITY MANAGER IS AUTHORIZED TO COLLECT AND RECEIVE ALL TAXES IMPOSED BY THIS CHAPTER, AND TO 

KEEP AN ACCURATE RECORD TIIEREOF. 

(b) THE CITY MA.'~AGER SHA.LL DEVELOP A REGISTRATION SYSTEM WHEREBY DISTRIBUTORS OF SUGAR

SWEETENED BEVERAGES MUST REGISTER WITH THE CITY PRIOR TO DISTRIBUTING ANY SUGAR -S\VEETENED 

BEVERAGES. 

(c) THE CITY MANAGER SHALL ANNUALLY VERIFY THAT THE TAXES OWED UNDER THIS CHAPTER HAVE BEEN 

PROPERL Y APPLIED, EXEvIPTED, COLLECTED, AND REMITTED. 

(d) THE CITY MANAGER IS AUTHORIZED TO ENFORCE THIS CHAPTER AND MAY PRESCRIBE, ADOPT, AND ENFORCE 

RULES AND REGULATIONS RELATING TO THE ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THIS CHAPTER, INCLUDING 

PROVISIONS FOR THE REEXAMINATION AND CORRECTION OF RETURNS AND PAYMENTS, AND FOR REPORTING . SUCH 

RULES AND REGULATIONS SHALL INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, THE FOLLOWING: 

( 1) THE DETERMINATION OF THE FREQUENCY WITH \VHICH A DISTRIBUTOR MUST CALCULATE THE TAX. 

THIS DETERMINATION SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INCREASE OF THE TAX. 

(2) TIlE DETERMINATION OF THE FREQUENCY wrrH WHICH A DISTRIBUTOR MUST PA Y TIlE TAX. THIS 

DETERMINATION SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE AN h'lCREASE OF THE TAX. 

(3) THE DETER:vtINATION OF THE MANNER IN \VHICH A DISTRIBUTOR MUST REGISTER WITH THE CITY. 

(4) THE DETERMINATION OF WHETHER AND HOW A DISTRIBUTOR WHO RECEIVES, IN THE CITY, SUGAR

SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS FROM ANOTHER DISTRIBUTOR MUST REPORT TO THE CITY THE NAME OF THAT 

DlSTRIBUTOR. 

(5) THE DETERMINATION OF WHETHER AND HOW A DISTRIBUTOR WHO RECEIVES, IN THE CITY, SUGAR

SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS FRO~1 ANOTHER DlSTRIBUTOR MUST REPORT TO THE CITY THE VOLUME OF 

SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS RECEiVED FROM THAT DISTRIBUTOR. 

(6) THE DETERMINATION OF WHAT OTHER DOCUMENTATION IS REQUIRED TO BE CREATED OR MAIN'IAINED 

BY A DISTRIBUTOR OF SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS. 

Section #0044 

Attachment C: Petition

Agenda Item 5A     Page 27Packet Page 461



WARNING: IT IS AGAINST THE LAW: 
For anyone to sign any initiative or referendum petition with any name other than his or her own or to knowingly sign his or her name more than once for the 

same measure or to knowingly sign a petition when not a registered elector who is eligible to vote on the measure. 
DO NOT SIGN THIS PETITION UNLESS YOU ARE A REGISTERED ELECTOR AND ELIGIBLE TO VOTE ON THIS MEASURE. TO BE A REGISTERED 

ELECfOR. YOU MUST BE A CITIZEN OF COLORADO AND REGl<;TERED TO VOTE. 
Do not sign this petition unless you have read or have had read to you the proposed initiative or referred measure or the summary in its entirety and 

understand its meaning. 

SlJ,\-'IMARY OF PROPOSED l\lEASURE: 

AN Il'JlT1ATIVE TO ADOPT A NEW CHAPTER OF THE ilOULDER REViSED CODE SETTING FORTH THE PROCEDURES FOR IMPOSING 

ON DISTRIBUTORS, AND THE COLLECTING, TRACKING AND REPORTING OF, AN EXCISE TAX ON SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGES; 

DEDICATING REVENUES FROM THE TAX FORTHE PROMOTION OF HEALTH ISSUES; MAKING THE TAX COEXIST WITH ANY 

SIMILAR TAX IMPOSED BY ANOTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Section 3<t6~ 7 Collection 

(a) THE AMOU:'-JT OF ANY TAX, PENALTY, AND INTEREST IMPOSED UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THIS CHAPTER SHALL 

BE DEEMED A DEBT TO TI!E CITY. ANY DISTRIBUTOR OWING MONEY UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF THIS CHAPTER 

SHALL BE LIABLE IN AN ACTION BROUGHT IN THE NAME OF THE CITY FOR THE RECOVERY OF SUCH AMOUNT. 

(b) IN ORDER TO AID L'l THE CITY'S COLLECTION OF TAXES DUE UNDER THIS CHAPTER, ANY RETAILER OF SUGAR

SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS THAT RECEIVES SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS FROM A 

DISTRIBUTOR, IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED BY THE CITY MAl\lAGER PURSUANT 

TO SECTION 3-16-6, SHALL PROVIDE TO THE CITY EVIDENCE THAT THE DISTRIBUTOR FROM WHOM TIlE SUGAR

SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS WERE RECEIVED HAS REGISTERED AS A DISTRIBUTOR WITF[ THE CITY AND THAT 

REGISTRATION IS CURRENT. 

Section 3-16-8 Refunds 

VVHENEVER A~Y TAX UNDER TIllS CHAPTER HAS BEEN PAID MORE THAN ONCE OR HAS BEEN ERRO~EOUSLY OR 

lLLEGALL Y COLLECTED OR RECEIVED BY THE CITY, IT MAYBE REFUNDED O~L Y AS PROVIDED IN CHAPTER 3-2-23 
OF THE BOULDER MUNICIPAL CODE. 

Section 3-16-9 Enforcement 

EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED BY THIS CHAPTER OR BY RULE OR REGULATION PROMULGATED BY THE CITY 

MANAGER, THE TAX IMPOSED BY n-IIS CHAPTER SHALL BE ADMINISTERED IN THE SAME MA.i\JNER AS TAXES 

IMPOSED PURSL'A~T TO CHAPTER 3-2-2 AND,WITHOUT LIMITATION, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE SAME 

DELINQUENCY PENAL TIES, APPEALS PROCESSES AND OTHER ENFORCEMENT PROVISIONS SET FORTI! IN CHAPTER 3-
2- 22. 

Section 3-16-10 Not a Sales and Use Tax 

THE TAX IMPOSED BY TIns CHAPTER IS A TAX UPON THE PRIVILEGE OF CONDUCTING BUSI:'-JESS, SPECIFICALLY, 

DISTRIBUTING SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS WITHIN THE CITY OF BOULDER. IT IS NOT A SALES, USE, 

OR OTHER EXCISE TAX ON THE SALE, CONSUMPTION OR USE OF SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS. THE 

TAX IMPOSED HEREIN SHALL BE IN ADDI110N TO ANY LICENSE FEE OR TAX IMPOSED OR LEVIED UNDER ANY OTHER 

LAW, STATUTE OR ORDINANCE WHERE IMPOSED OR LEVIED BY THE CITY, STATE, OR OT11ER GOVERNMENTAL 

ENTITY OR POLITICAL SUBDIVISION. 

Section 3-16-11 Dedicated Revenues 

THE REVENUES FROM THIS EXCISE TAX SHALL BE DESIGNATED FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE COST OF TIlE TAX, AND 

ONCE THAT OBLIGATION HAS BEEN FULFILLED, USED FOR HEALTH PROMOTION, GENERAL WELLNESS PROGRAMS 

AND CHRONIC DISEASE PREVENTION IN THE CITY OF BOULDER THAT liVlPROVE HEALTH EQUITY, SUCH AS ACCESS TO 

SAFE AND CLEAN DRINKING WATER, HEALTHY FOODS, NUTRITION AND FOOD EDUCATION, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, 

AND OTHER HEALTH PROGRAMS ESPECIALLY FOR RESIDENTS WITH LOW INCOME AND THOSE Mos'r AFFECTED BY 

CHRONIC DISEASE LINKED TO SUGARY DRINK CONSUMPTION. IN ORDER TO ENSURE THAT FUNDS ARE ALLOCATED 

APPROPRIATELY AS DIRECTED IN THIS CHAPTER, THE CITY SHALL ACCURA TEL Y TRACK AND RECORD ALL 

REVENUES COLLECTED FROM THE EXCISE TAX PROMULGATED IN CHAPTER 3-16-2 AND ACCURATELY TRACK AND 

RECORD ALL ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS AS DETAILED IN CHAPTER 3-16-6. THE CITY COUNCiL SHALL ANN UALLY 

PUBLISH A PUBLIC REPORT ON THE CITY'S WEBSITE DET'AILING THE AMOUNT OF REVENUE COLLECTED AS A RESUL'r 

OF THE TAX AND THE TYPE AND AMOUNT OF EXPENDlTURESMADE AS A RESULT OF THE TAX LEVIED IN CHAPTER 3-
16-2. 

Section #0044 

Attachment C: Petition

Agenda Item 5A     Page 28Packet Page 462



WARNING: IT IS AGAINST THE LA W: 
For anyone to sign any initiative or referendum petition with any name other than his or her own or to knowin21y si2n his or her name more than once for the 

same measure or to knowingly sign a petition when not a registered elector who is eligible to vote on the measure. 
DO NOT SIGN THIS PETITION UNLESS YOU ARE A REGISTERED ELECTOR AND EUGIBLE TO VOTE ON THIS MEASURE. TO BE A REGISTERED 

ELECTOR, YOU MUST BE A CITIZEN OF COLORADO AND REGISTERED TO VOTE. 
Do not sign this petition unless you have read or have had read to you the proposed initiative or referred measure or the summary in it~ entirety and 

understand its meaning. 

SUMMARY OF P'ROPOSED MEASURE: 

AN INITIATIVE TO ADOPT A NEW CHAPTER OF THE BOULDER REVISED CODE SETTING FORTH THE PROCEDURES FOR IMPOSING 

ON DISTRIBUTORS, AND THE COLLECTING, TRACKING AND REPORTING OF, AN EXCISE TAX ON SUGAR-SWEETENED BEVERAGES; 

DEDICATING REVENUES FROM TH E TAX FOR THE PROMOTION OF HEALTH ISSUES; MAKING THE TAX COEXIST WITH ANY 

SIMILAR TAX IMPOSED BY ANOTHER GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

3~16·12 Enactment 

IF A MAJORITY OF ALL 'rHE VOTES CAST AT THE ELECTION ON THE ISSUE SUBMTrTED SliALL BE FOR THE ISSUE, 'THE 

ISSGE SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE PASSED AND SHALL BE EFFECTIVE JULY 1,2017. 

3a16· 13 Severability 

THE PEOPLE OF THE CITY OF BOULDER HEREBY DECLARE THAT THEY WOULD HAVE ADOPTED EACH SECTION, 

SENTENCE, CLAUSE, PHRASE, WORD, OR PORTION OF THIS ORDINANCE, IRRESPECTIVE OF THE FACT THAT ANY ONE 

OR MORE SECTIONS, SEN'TENCES, CLAUSES, PIIRASES, WORDS, OR PORTIONS OF l'IUS ORDINANCE, OR ANY 

APPLICATION THEREOF, BE DECLARED INVALID OR UNENFORCEABLE A:-\D, TO THAT END, THE PROVISIONS OF THIS 

ORDINANCE ARE SEVERABLE. IF ANY SECTION, SENTENCE, CLAUSE, PHRASE, WORD, OR PORTION OF THIS 

ORDL\'ANCE, OR ANY APPLICATION THEREOF IN ANY CIRCUMSTANCE, IS FOR ANY REASON HELD TO BE INVALID OR 

UNENFORCEABLE BY A COURT OF COMPETENT JURISDICTION, THE REMAINING SECTIONS, SENTENCES, CLAUSES, 

PHRASES , WORDS, OR PORTIONS OF THIS ORDL'JANCE, AND APPLICATIONS THEREOF, SHALL NONETHELESS REMAIN 

IN FULL FORCE AND EFFECT. 

3-16-14 Municipal Affair 

TIlE PEOPLE OF THE CITY OF BOULDER HEREBY DECLARE THAT THE TAXATIO:"\i OF 'fIlE PRIVILEGE OF DIS'fRIBUTING 

SUGAR- SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCTS AND THAT THE PUBLIC HEALTH IMPACT OF SUGAR-SWEETENED 

BEVERAGE PRODUCTS SEPARATELY AND TOGETHER CONSTITUTE MUNICIPAL AFFAIRS. THE PEOPLEOFTHEClTY OF 

BOULDER HEREBY FURTHER DECLARE THEIR DESIRE FOR THIS MEASURE TO COEXIST WITH ANY SL\HLAR TAX 

ADOPTED AT THE COUNTY OR STATE LEVELS. 

Dakota-Rae Westveer 
2600 9th Street 
Boulder, CO 80304 
dakotarae.westveer@ gmail.com 

Lynn Gilbett 
2144 17th Street 
Boulder, CO 80302 
lynn.gilbert@comcast.net 

Brenden Nackerman 
2127 16th Street 
Boulder, CO 80302 
bnack09@ gmail.com 

Nicole Christensen 
2995 Jefferson Street 
Boulder, CO 80304 
nicole@crossfitroots.com 

Manuela Sifuentes 
2530 5th Street 
Boulder, CO 80304 
manuela.sifuentes@gmaiLcom 

Section #0044 

Attachment C: Petition

Agenda Item 5A     Page 29Packet Page 463



Comparison of Petitioners proposal with Attachment A 

SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED BY $($3.8 MILLION,800,000 first 
full fiscal year increase) ANNUALLY BY IMPOSITION OFIMPOSING AN EXCISE TAX OF 
23 CENTS PER OUNCE ON THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR IN ANY CHAIN OF 
DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND SWEETENERS USED TO 
PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, EXEMPTING: (1) 
SWEETENERS SOLD SEPARATELY TO THE CONSUMER AT THEA GROCERY STORE; 
(2) MILK PRODUCTS (3) BABY FORMULA (34) ALCOHOL, AND (5) DRINKS TAKEN 
FOR MEDICAL REASONS;  

AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH,, TAXING THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR ON ANY 
CHAIN OF DISTRIBUTION; EMPOWERING THE CITY MANAGER TO DEVELOP A 
REGULATORY SYSTEM TO COLLECT AND ENFORCE THE TAX, USING 

SHALL ALL OF THE REVENUES COLLECTED TO ADMINISTER THE TAX ANDBE 
USED TO FUND THE FOLLOWING: 

• THE ADMINISTRATIVE COST OF THE TAX, AND THEREAFTER FOR

• HEALTH, PROMOTION,

• GENERAL WELLNESS, PROGRAMS AND CHRONIC DISEASE PREVENTION IN
THE CITY OF BOULDER THAT IMPROVE HEALTH EQUITY, SUCH AS ACCESS TO 
SAFE AND CLEAN DRINKING WATER, HEALTHY FOODS, NUTRITION AND FOOD 
EDUCATION, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, 

• OTHER HEALTH PROGRAMS, ESPECIALLY FOR COMMUNITY
MEMBERSRESIDENTS WITH LOW INCOME AND THOSE MOST AT RISK 
FORAFFECTED BY CHRONIC DISEASE LINKED TO SUGARY DRINK CONSUMPTION, 

ALL EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017, AND REQUIRINGIN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

SHALL THE CITY TO PUBLISHFULL PROCEEDS OF SUCH TAXES AT SUCH RATES 
AND ANY EARNINGS THEREON BE COLLECTED, RETAINED, AND SPENT, AS A 

Attachment D:  Comparison of Proposed Ballot Titles

Agenda Item 5A     Page 30Packet Page 464



REPORT DETAILINGVOTER-APPROVED REVENUE COLLECTED AND CHANGE 
WITHOUT LIMITATION OR CONDITION, AND WITHOUT LIMITING THE TYPE AND 
AMOUNT OF EXPENDITURES MADE AS A RESULT OF THE TAX?COLLECTION, 
RETENTION, OR SPENDING OF ANY OTHER REVENUES OR FUNDS BY THE CITY OF 
BOULDER UNDER ARTICLE X SECTION 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION OR 
ANY OTHER LAW? 

 

  FOR THE ISSUE ____        AGAINST THE ISSUE ____ 

 

 

 

  

Attachment D:  Comparison of Proposed Ballot Titles

Agenda Item 5A     Page 31Packet Page 465



Comparison of Petitioners proposal with Attachment B 

SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED BY $($3.8 MILLION,800,000 first 
full fiscal year increase) ANNUALLY BY IMPOSITION OFIMPOSING AN EXCISE TAX OF 
2 CENTS PER OUNCE ON THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR IN ANY CHAIN OF 
DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND SWEETENERS USED TO 
PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH,ADDING A NEW 
CHAPTER 3-16 AS SET FORTH IN ORDINANCE NUMBER ______ ADMINISTERING 
SUCH TAX, AMONG OTHER THINGS, EXEMPTING: (1) SWEETENERS SOLD 
SEPARATELY TO THE CONSUMER AT THEA GROCERY STORE; (2) MILK PRODUCTS 
(3) BABY FORMULA (34) ALCOHOL, AND (5) DRINKS TAKEN FOR MEDICAL 
REASONS, TAXING THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR ON ANY CHAIN OF DISTRIBUTION; 

EMPOWERING THE CITY MANAGER TO DEVELOP A REGULATORY SYSTEM TO 
COLLECT AND ENFORCE THE TAX, USING ;  

 

AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

 

PROVIDING THAT ALL OF THE REVENUES COLLECTED TO ADMINISTER THE TAX 
AND BE USED TO FUND THE FOLLOWING: 

 

• THE ADMINISTRATIVE COST OF THE TAX, AND THEREAFTER FOR 

 

• HEALTH, PROMOTION, 

 

• GENERAL WELLNESS, PROGRAMS AND CHRONIC DISEASE PREVENTION IN 
THE CITY OF BOULDER THAT IMPROVE HEALTH EQUITY, SUCH AS ACCESS TO 
SAFE AND CLEAN DRINKING WATER, HEALTHY FOODS, NUTRITION AND FOOD 
EDUCATION, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, 

 

• OTHER HEALTH PROGRAMS, ESPECIALLY FOR COMMUNITY 
MEMBERSRESIDENTS WITH LOW INCOME AND THOSE MOST AT RISK 
FORAFFECTED BY CHRONIC DISEASE LINKED TO SUGARY DRINK CONSUMPTION, 

  

ALL EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017, AND REQUIRINGIN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

 

Attachment D:  Comparison of Proposed Ballot Titles

Agenda Item 5A     Page 32Packet Page 466



SHALL THE CITY TO PUBLISH A REPORT DETAILING REVENUEFULL PROCEEDS OF 
SUCH TAXES AT SUCH RATES AND ANY EARNINGS THEREON BE COLLECTED 
AND THE TYPE AND AMOUNT OF EXPENDITURES MADE, RETAINED, AND SPENT, 
AS A RESULT OF THE TAX?VOTER-APPROVED REVENUE CHANGE WITHOUT 
LIMITATION OR CONDITION, AND WITHOUT LIMITING THE COLLECTION, 
RETENTION, OR SPENDING OF ANY OTHER REVENUES OR FUNDS BY THE CITY OF 
BOULDER UNDER ARTICLE X SECTION 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION OR 
ANY OTHER LAW? 

 

  FOR THE ISSUE ____        AGAINST THE ISSUE ___ 

 

Attachment D:  Comparison of Proposed Ballot Titles

Agenda Item 5A     Page 33Packet Page 467



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: AUGUST 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 

Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
two ordinances submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special 
municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question of 
amending Section 7 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter, relating to council compensation, 
by:  

Ordinance No. 8132 Adding option for council members to receive benefits on the same 
terms and conditions as city employees, and setting forth related details; and 

Ordinance No. 8134 Increasing annual council member compensation to $10,000 and 
adding option for council members to receive benefits on the same terms and conditions 
as city employees, and setting forth related details. 

PRESENTER/S 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Joyce Lira, Human Resource Director 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this agenda item is to propose two ballot measures that, if passed would 
amend the city Charter related to council compensation.  The first measure permits 
council members to have access to city benefits on the same terms and conditions as full 
time employees.  The other option, in addition to access to benefits, increases council 
compensation by $10,000 annually in addition to the compensation per meeting.  If 

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 1Packet Page 468



passed, the provision would apply to council members elected in November, 2019 and 
thereafter.  

The objective of this meeting is to hold a public hearing and decide if any of the 
measures will be moved forward to a second reading.  Second reading would be at the 
August 16, 2016 council meeting.  An additional objective is to amend the proposed 
ordinances, or to identify amendments that the council would like to consider at second 
reading. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to introduce and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8134 submitting to 
the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election 
to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question of amending Section 7 of the 
Boulder Home Rule Charter, relating to council compensation, by adding an option for 
council members to receive benefits on the same terms and conditions as city employees, 
and setting forth related details; and/or 

Motion to introduce and order published by title only Ordinance No. 8132 submitting to 
the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election 
to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question of amending Section 7 of the 
Boulder Home Rule Charter, relating to council compensation, by adding an additional 
annual salary in the amount of $10,000, subject to annual escalation in a percentage equal 
to the increase in the consumer price index, providing for council members to receive 
benefits on the same terms and conditions as city employees, and setting forth related 
details. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic –The impact of these potential ballot questions would be the
incremental cost of salary, insurance and other benefits.

• Environmental – Council benefits should not have an impact on environmental
sustainability.

• Social – There is the potential that increasing the salary or benefits available to
council members may attract a broader range of council candidates in future
elections.

OTHER IMPACTS 

• Fiscal – The ballot measures would have fiscal impacts after the November,
2019 elections.  The extent of the fiscal impact will depend upon the number of

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 2Packet Page 469



council members that choose to take advantage of city employee benefit 
offerings.  If council chooses to move forward the measure that proposes 
additional compensation, then there would be a fiscal impact of approximately 
$90,000 per year.  The fiscal impacts are addressed in the analysis section of 
this memorandum.  

• Staff time – The work on these potential ballot items can be absorbed in the
existing work plans.

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

Public feedback will be sought as part of the council’s legislative adoption process. 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

The Council Charter Committee convenes annually to research and provide 
recommendations on potential Charter changes to be considered for placement on the 
November ballot.  The Charter Committee met to discuss items it would propose to bring 
forward to the full City Council to place on the November 2016 ballot.  One of the items 
identified was council member access to city benefits such as insurance on the same 
terms and conditions as city employees. 

The Charter Committee recommended that a ballot measure be considered to amend the 
city charter so that council members and their families, starting with the council elected 
in 2019, could participate in the city’s life and health insurance programs to the same 
extent and with the same contribution as full-time, nonunion, exempt city employees.  
The date 2019 was chosen so that the benefit would not apply to a council member sitting 
on the date of the election.  

At the May 10, 2016 ballot measure study session, council members also expressed an 
interest in considering a ballot measure that was rejected by voters in 2015 (Ordinance 
No 8048) that also included adding additional council salary of $10,000 annually.  An 
ordinance to revisit this is attached to this memorandum as Attachment B.  

Presently, pursuant to § 2-1-3, council members have access to the city’s group health 
and benefit plans if the council member pays the full cost of the coverage.  The changes 
proposed would provide access to these benefits on the same terms and conditions as full-
time city employees. 

The attached ordinances include a charter amendment, an implementing Boulder Revised 
Code amendment, and ballot titles that, if passed, would provide voter approval to the 
city council compensation portion of the City Charter § 7.   

Attachment C is a table of assumptions, based upon existing city benefit packages, the 
costs of which are increased by an inflation rate. 

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 3Packet Page 470



The average monthly city cost for insurance per city council member is $1,090.62.  This 
includes medical, dental, vision and life.  On the medical side, the per participant cost 
may vary greatly based on the choice of plan (3 plan options) and the tier of coverage 
taken (i.e. the lower the deductible and the more family members added, the greater the 
cost).  Assuming all 9 council members elect the insurance, the fiscal impact for 2019 
would be approximately $124,960.  The column entitled “Annual Budget Implication” is 
the total if all 9 council members chose that particular benefit package in the row.  The 
range goes from approximately $42,000 per year up to $186,000 per year.  

If council passes the ordinance in Attachment B, there will also be an additional fiscal 
impact in the amount of $90,000 per year to fund the additional salary.  Both measures 
could be administrated with existing staff. 

OPTIONS 

The council may choose to pass, amend, or not adopt either or both of the attached 
ordinances.  If council wishes to move this ballot item forward to second reading, staff 
will prepare the agenda item, any amendments, and present it at the August 16, 2016 city 
council meeting. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance – Benefits 
Attachment B – Proposed Ordinance – Salary & Benefits 
Attachment C – Insurance Cost Table – Estimated for 2019 

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 4Packet Page 471



K:\CCCO\o-8132-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8132 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL 
MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 8, 2016, THE QUESTION OF 
AMENDING SECTION 7 OF THE BOULDER HOME RULE 
CHARTER, RELATING TO COUNCIL COMPENSATION, BY 
ADDING OPTION FOR COUNCIL MEMBERS TO RECEIVE 
BENEFITS ON THE SAME TERMS AND CONDITIONS AS 
CITY EMPLOYEES AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the city of 

Boulder, county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016.  

Section 2. At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 7 of the city Charter pertaining to compensation for council members. This amendment 

to the Charter shall be effective for any council member elected in November, 2019 and 

thereafter.  The material to be added to the Charter is shown by underlining and material to be 

deleted is shown stricken through with solid lines. 

Sec. 7. - Compensation. 

Council members shall receive as compensation $100.00 per meeting at which a quorum of 
city council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an annual 
escalation each January 1 in a percentage equivalent to any increase over the past year in the 
Consumer Price Index (All Items) for the statistical area which includes the city maintained by 
the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; this amendment shall become 
effective January 1, 1990.  For purposes of this section only, a "meeting" shall mean a gathering 
of a quorum of the council, which gathering is noticed to the public as a regular or special 
meeting as provided in this Charter.  Council members elected in November, 2019 and after may 
elect to receive benefits under the same terms and conditions that are available to full-time city 
employees including without limitation participation in city health, vision, dental, and life 
insurance plans. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance - Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 5Packet Page 472



K:\CCCO\o-8132-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3. The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also 

be the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Ballot Question No. ____ 

Amending Charter Provisions to Provide 
Insurance Benefits for Council Members 

Shall Section 7, “Compensation,” of the Boulder City Charter be 
amended pursuant to Ordinance No. 8132 to allow council 
members elected in November 2019 and after to be eligible to 
receive benefits under the same terms and conditions that are 
available to full-time city employees including without limitation 
participation in city health, vision, dental and life insurance plans? 

For the measure____ Against the measure____ 

Section 4. If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance. 

Section 5. If the measure shall be deemed to have passed, the city council adopts the 

following amendment to the Section 2-3-1 of the Boulder Revised Code. 

2-1-3. - Council Member Benefits. 

(a) The city council finds: 
(1) Section 7 of the charter of the City of Boulder, as amended in 2012, sets the level of 

"compensation" for council members as "$100.00 per meeting at which a quorum of city 
council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an annual 
escalation" specified in the charter; and 

(2) Ambiguities inherent in the term, "compensation," require that the council interpret 
Section 7 in a way that will best fulfill the charter's intent and purposes. 

(b) Under Charter Section 7: 
(1) "Compensation" includes only salaries, as that was the focus of Charter Section 7 before 

1990 and the focus of analysis preceding the 1990 amendment; and 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance - Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 6Packet Page 473



K:\CCCO\o-8132-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(2) Council members must receive at least the salary specified in Section 7 per meeting, but 
may receive other benefits. 

(a) In addition to the salary specified in Charter Section 7, the council members elected in 
November 2019 and after shall receive the following other benefits: 
(1) Coverage under City of Boulder health, vision, dental, and life group benefit plans 

under the same terms and conditions available to full-time city officers and employees; 
and  

(2) Other benefits and amenities, except salary, available to the City of Boulder officers and 
employees, as the council may specify by motion, after considering a city manager's 
report and recommendation on such other benefits and amenities.  

(cb) In addition to the salary specified in Charter Section 7, the council council members elected 
prior to 2019 shall receive the following other benefits: 
(1) Coverage under City of Boulder health and dental group benefit plans, with premiums 

paid entirely by council members electing such coverage; and 
(2) Other benefits and amenities, except salary, available to the City of Boulder officers and 

employees, as the council may specify by motion, after considering a city manager's 
report and recommendation on such other benefits and amenities.  

Section 6. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 7. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance - Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 7Packet Page 474



K:\CCCO\o-8132-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ___day of ____________, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance - Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 8Packet Page 475



K:\o-8134-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8134 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL 
MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 8, 2016, THE QUESTION OF 
AMENDING SECTION 7 OF THE BOULDER HOME RULE 
CHARTER, RELATING TO COUNCIL COMPENSATION, BY 
ADDING AN ADDITIONAL ANNUAL SALARY IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $10,000, SUBJECT TO ANNUAL ESCALATION 
IN A PERCENTAGE EQUAL TO THE INCREASE IN THE 
CONSUMER PRICE INDEX,  PROVIDING FOR COUNCIL 
MEMBERS TO RECEIVE BENEFITS ON THE SAME TERMS 
AND CONDITIONS AS CITY EMPLOYEES AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the city of 

Boulder, county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016.  

Section 2. At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 7 of the city Charter pertaining to compensation for council members.  This amendment 

to the Charter shall be effective for any council member elected in November, 2019 and 

thereafter.  The material to be added to the Charter is shown by underlining and material to be 

deleted is shown stricken through with solid lines. 

Sec. 7. - Compensation. 

Council members shall receive as compensation $100.00225.00 per meeting at which a 
quorum of city council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an 
annual salary of $10,000 per year, paid periodically on the same schedule used for salaried city 
employees with both the per meeting payment and annual salary subject to an annual escalation 
each January 1 in a percentage equivalent to any increase over the past year in the Consumer 
Price Index (All Items) for the statistical area which includes the city maintained by the United 
States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.; this Council members may also elect to 

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance - Salary & Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 9Packet Page 476



 

K:\o-8134-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

receive benefits under the same terms and conditions that are available to full-time city 
employees including without limitation participation in city health, vision, and dental insurance 
plans.  This amendment shall become effective and apply to council members elected in 
November, 2019 and thereafterJanuary 1, 1990.  For purposes of this section only, a "meeting" 
shall mean a gathering of a quorum of the council, which gathering is noticed to the public as a 
regular or special meeting as provided in this Charter. 

 
Section 3. The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also 

be the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Ballot Question No. ____ 
 

Amending Charter Provisions regarding  
Compensation for Council Members 

Shall Section 7 “Compensation” of the Boulder City Charter be 
amended pursuant to Ordinance No. 8134 to allow council 
members elected in November 2019 and after to an additional 
annual salary in the amount of $10,000, with an annual increase 
equal to the percentage increase in the consumer price index and to 
be eligible to receive benefits under the same terms and conditions 
that are available to full-time city employees including without 
limitation participation in city health, vision, dental and life 
insurance plans? 

 
For the measure____ Against the measure____ 

 
Section 4. If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance.  

Section 5. If the measure shall be deemed to have passed, the city council adopts the 

following amendment to the Section 2-3-1 of the Boulder Revised Code.   

2-1-3. - Council Member Compensation and Benefits.  
 
(a) The city council finds: 

(1) Section 7 of the charter of the City of Boulder, as amended in 2012, sets the level of 
"compensation" for council members as "$100.00 per meeting at which a quorum of city 

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance - Salary & Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 10Packet Page 477



 

K:\o-8134-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an annual 
escalation" specified in the charter; and  

(2) Ambiguities inherent in the term, "compensation," require that the council interpret 
Section 7 in a way that will best fulfill the charter's intent and purposes.  

(b) Under Charter Section 7: 
(1) "Compensation" includes only salaries, as that was the focus of Charter Section 7 before 

1990 and the focus of analysis preceding the 1990 amendment; and  
(2) Council members must receive at least the salary specified in Section 7 per meeting, but 

may receive other benefits.  
(a) In addition to the salary specified in Charter Section 7, the council members elected in 

November 2019 and after shall receive the following other benefits:  
(1) Coverage under City of Boulder health, vision, dental, and life group benefit plans 

under the same terms and conditions available to full-time city officers and employees; 
and  

(2) Other benefits and amenities, except salary, available to the City of Boulder officers and 
employees, as the council may specify by motion, after considering a city manager's 
report and recommendation on such other benefits and amenities.  

(cb) In addition to the salary specified in Charter Section 7, the council members elected prior to 
2019 shall receive the following other benefits:  
(1) Coverage under City of Boulder health and dental group benefit plans, with premiums 

paid entirely by council members electing such coverage; and  
(2) Other benefits and amenities, except salary, available to the City of Boulder officers and 

employees, as the council may specify by motion, after considering a city manager's 
report and recommendation on such other benefits and amenities.  

 
Section 6. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 7. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance - Salary & Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 11Packet Page 478



 

K:\o-8134-1st rdg-2463.doc 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this ___ day of ____________, 2016. 

 
____________________________________ 
Mayor 

 
Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk  
 

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance - Salary & Benefits

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 12Packet Page 479



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

A B C D E F G H I J

Monthly 
City  Cost

Total  Annual 
City Cost

* Annual 
Budget 

Implication

Monthly 
Employee  Cost

Single $392.72 $4,712.59 $42,413.33 $96.80
Two Person $842.43 $10,109.18 $90,982.66 $209.11

Family $1,174.97 $14,099.66 $126,896.98 $292.37

Single $438.51 $5,262.10 $47,358.86 $108.25
Two Person $940.80 $11,289.65 $101,606.83 $233.83

Family $1,313.20 $15,758.45 $141,826.03 $326.93

Single $574.88 $6,898.51 $62,086.61 $142.34
Two Person $1,235.39 $14,824.66 $133,421.90 $307.47

Family $1,724.58 $20,694.91 $186,254.21 $429.89

ATTACHMENT A - Insurance Cost Table - Estimated for 2019

$1,542.86
($1,000 family 
deductible) $2,154.47

$1,174.63
($2,000 family 
deductible) $1,640.13

$500 Deductible $717.22

$1,051.54
($3,000 family 
deductible) $1,467.34

$1,000 Deductible $546.76

Medical Full Monthly 
Premium

Full Time Rates
$1,500 Deductible (1) $489.52

ATTACHMENT C - INSURANCE COST TABLE - ESTIMATED FOR 2019

Agenda Item 5A2     Page 13Packet Page 480



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 8133 setting the ballot title for an amendment to 
Section 128A of the Boulder Charter regarding the blue line, and setting forth related 
details.  

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathleen E. Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Chris Meschuk, Senior Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
The Council accepted the Charter Committee’s recommendation to place clarification of the blue 
line, established in Section 128A of the charter, on the November 1, 2016 ballot.  The description 
of the blue line in the charter was a compilation of measurements by metes and bounds, 
elevations, ditches and distances from the center of streets.  All properties in the city boundaries 
or that had water taps in 1959 were allowed to receive water, regardless of where they were 
located in relation to the line.  As a result, while the general location of the blue line is clear, 
when you look at individual properties near the boundaries, it is not clear.  More precisely 
defining the blue line for clarity has been discussed over the years, but has not been pursued, 
because it required significant staff time to do the research.  However, now that city maps are 
being scrutinized more closely for municipalization, and the need to annex properties to avoid 
duplication of electric services to serve out-of-city customers, the precise location needs to be 
defined.  The proposed ordinance and ballot measure sets forth the intent of the blue line and the 
continued desire that the clarification does not allow additional development, but allows water to 
be provided to developed properties that were sometimes interpreted as above the blue line.     

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 1Packet Page 481



STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion: 

Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title only 
Ordinance No. 8133, regarding an amendment to Section 128A of the Boulder Home Rule 
Charter regarding the blue line, setting the ballot title, and related details. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK: 
Notice of this proposal was mailed on July 26, 2016, to each property owner affected by either 
location of the blue line, along with a map, and a website where the GIS layer of the map is 
located so that property owners could zoom in on particular properties.  The notice also included 
direct contact information for Doug Newcomb, the city's Property Agent, to answer any 
questions that a property owner may have.  The notice also provided the information for this 
public hearing. 

BACKGROUND: 
The prohibition against extending city water west of a certain line that was adopted in 1959 was 
an ingenious and very successful way to protect the foothills backdrop of the city.  The 
prohibition was adopted as Section 128A of the charter and is commonly referred to as the “blue 
line.”  As more and more infill development has happened, the precise location of the blue line 
has become an issue.  The description in the charter was a compilation of measurements by 
metes and bounds, elevations, ditches and distances from the center of streets.  All properties in 
the city boundaries or that had water taps in 1959 were allowed to continue to receive water.  As 
a result, while the general location of the blue line is clear, when you look at individual 
properties near the boundaries, it is not always clear.  More precisely defining the blue line for 
clarity has been discussed over the years but has not been pursued because it was a huge 
undertaking requiring significant staff time.  Current city projects make this item a priority.  

Staff researched writings from 1959.  Those documents make clear that the blue line was not 
intended to weave among properties to keep some in and neighbors out, but was intended to 
restrict development in the mountain backdrop.  Since the city’s open space program began in 
the 1960s, the city has actively purchased interests in those properties, in fee or by conservation 
easement, resulting in the properties being protected from development by the city’s property 
interest rather than the blue line.  Several properties are partially below and partially above the 
blue line.  Some properties have water service agreements with the city, but are "above" the blue 
line so have not been annexed because of uncertainty about the precise location of the blue line.  
When considering elevations, separately from the blue line, some properties below the blue line 
are construed as above.   

Staff has taken a more microscopic view of the blue line and recommends starting with the 
eastern boundary of the foothills open space properties as a more defined location of the blue 
line.  Several properties that are mapped as being west of the blue line have out-of-city water 

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 2Packet Page 482



service agreements to connect to the city water system and receive city water.  In preparing the 
recommendation for the revised location of the blue line, at the direction of council, staff 
followed several principles:  (a) do not expand the opportunity for larger building footprints on 
any properties (which means the line still bifurcates properties that have development on the 
lower part of the lot, so the existing development can be served, but expansion of the footprint to 
cover the entire lot cannot occur); (b) include all of the properties that have either water or sewer 
service agreements with the city, which includes the Knollwood and Spring Valley subdivisions; 
(c) bring the line below properties in which the city has an open space property interest and 
where the line includes western portions of Lee Hill and other areas that have not developed; (d) 
include all of the properties for which there was a separate exception to the blue line approved by 
the voters, which includes the Flagstaff House, NCAR, and water to certain fire hydrants for fire 
protection purposes; and (e) do not require expansion of the city water infrastructure.   

ANALYSIS: 
The blue line is a designation on a map, west of which city water may not be provided.  
However, there are several properties west of the currently understood location that are currently 
developed and receiving city water.  Abutting properties may be developed but do not have city 
water.  This proposal is to address that inequity by removing the charter prohibition of developed 
properties being connected to the city water system, but it does not affect a property's status as 
being annexed or not, or change its designation in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP).  As a result, a property that is not clearly below the blue line that does not have city 
water would not be able to obtain such water, because the ballot item is approved.  If the ballot 
question is approved, the property would still need to be annexed or eligible for an out-of-city 
utility agreement before being connected to the city's water system.  To be annexed, the property 
would have to have the proper designations in the BVCP, petition to annex and meet the city's 
requirements for annexation.   

Various city departments have worked on the proper place to recommend the specific description 
of the blue line.  Particularly, OSMP, Planning and Public Works were involved on a parcel-by-
parcel basis, to make sure there were not unintended consequences in the specific location of the 
line.  Various options have been analyzed and the recommendation here meets all of the issues 
identified by the various departments.   

The proposal follows parcel boundaries in most instances.  However, where following the parcel 
boundary might allow a particular property more developable area, the proposal divides the 
property by the blue line.  The proposal is not intended to divide any existing residence.  The 
proposal moves the blue line closer to the city in areas that have not developed or where open 
space purchases have preserved the property for open space purposes.   

The previous description of the blue line extended north and south without an end point.  The 
proposal wraps the blue line at the north end to US 36 and at the south end to US 93.  The blue 
line does not affect any properties east of either highway.  However, by wrapping the blue line 
rather than it extending without end, the proposal clearly indicates the city's intent not to extend 
further north or south than existing subdivisions west of the two highways.   

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 3Packet Page 483



Ordinance No. 8133, attached as Attachment A, includes the ballot question to amend Section 
128A of the charter.  It also defines the intent of council, and includes a written boundary 
description for the clarified location and a map.    The map is attached as Attachment B, and 
includes the URL of an electronic map so that anyone reviewing the map can view it in more 
detail.  The notice sent to property owners is attached as Attachment C. 

A written boundary description of the proposed Blue Line, Exhibit B to the ordinance, is not yet 
complete.  Boulder Land Consultants is reviewing the description prepared by staff to ensure the 
description contains appropriate detail necessary for future surveys. The final boundary 
description will be provided to council no later than the start of the Aug. 2 meeting and Public 
Hearing. 

The proposed boundary description meets the criteria provided in May by council by following 
the parcel boundaries of existing developed subdivisions or open space parcels to the extent 
possible, with straight lines between where there were not appropriate existing parcel or 
subdivision boundaries and terminate the line to state highways around existing subdivisions.  
The exceptions approved by the voters for the Flagstaff House, NCAR, Canon Park and fire 
service are also maintained.  

ATTACHMENTS: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance No. 8133 
Attachment B – Map depicting former and clarified location of blue line 
Attachment C -  July 25, 2016 notice to property owners 

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 4Packet Page 484



 

K:\CCCO\o-1st reading-blue line ballot title-2463.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8133 

 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT A SPECIAL 
MUNICIPAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, THE 8TH 
DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2016, THE QUESTION OF AMENDING 
SECTION 128A OF THE BOULDER CITY CHARTER TO 
CLARIFY THE LINE DESCRIBED IN THAT SECTION, 
KNOWN AS THE "BLUE LINE;" SETTING THE BALLOT 
TITLE; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of 

Boulder, County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016. 

Section 2.   At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 128A of the city Charter pertaining to the boundary established for eligibility for city 

water service.  The material to be added to the Charter is shown by underlining and material to 

be deleted is shown stricken through with solid lines: 

 
Sec. 128A. - Water not to be supplied to certain described areas; exceptions.  

(a) The City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial uses to land 
lying on the westward side of the following described line, except as specifically stated herein. 
This provision shall not deny city water to areas which were a part of the City of Boulder,  
receiving city water through a utility services agreement, on the effective date of this measure, 
July 21, 1959, nor to lawful taps being supplied by said city in other areas at said the effective 
date of this measure, on July 21, 1959 November 8, 2016. 

The remaining paragraphs of Charter Section 128A are repealed.  The map and the boundary  
description in Exhibit A and B of Ordinance No. 8133 are made part of this charter as part of 
this section.  

 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo- 
Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 5Packet Page 485



 

K:\CCCO\o-1st reading-blue line ballot title-2463.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(b) This section is intended to reinforce the protection of the foothill's open space and mountain 
backdrop and properties designated for open space from new development and expansion of 
existing development.   

 

(c) The line described in this section does not apply to properties that were voter-approved 
amendments to this section.  The following properties may continue to receive water under the 
conditions contained in the respective ordinance below: 

 

(1) Water supplied: (i) to the property known as University Corporation for Atmospheric 
Research (UCAR), National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) or National 
Science Foundation, as approved by Ordinance No. 2391, adopted by the electorate on 
January 31, 1961; (ii) to the property known as the “specified tracts of land lying within 
the Canon Park Subdivision,” as approved by Ordinance No. 4452, adopted by the 
electorate on November 6, 1979; (iii) to the property known as the Nuzum’s Nursery, 
The Silver Saddle Motel and the Flagstaff Apartment Property, as approved by 
Ordinance No. 4606, adopted by the electorate on  Nov. 3, 1981, or (iv) to the property 
known as the “Flagstaff House” as approved by Ordinance No. 5402, adopted by the 
electorate on Nov. 5, 1991; and 

(2) Water supplied to fire departments or districts, Boulder County, the state of Colorado, 
or the United States for immediate use for firefighting purposes and for storage in fire 
trucks and in cisterns for such purposes approved by Ordinance No. 7076, adopted by 
the electorate on November 8, 2000. 

(d) The following standards apply to application of the provisions of this section to properties 
affected by the line for water service from the city:  

(1) Except as specifically described in this section the prohibition of water service shall not 
apply to any properties east of State Highway 93 or State Highway 36. 

(2) The city will provide water service to properties divided by the line described by this 
section subject to the following:   

(A) The water service shall be to the entire building that is within the existing 
footprint and square footage on November 8, 2016. 

(B) No additional water service shall be supplied west of the line established by this 
section for such property.  

(C) No portion of the building with water service west of the line established by this 
section shall expanded beyond the existing building foot print or floor area. 

Section 4.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo- 
Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 6Packet Page 486



 

K:\CCCO\o-1st reading-blue line ballot title-2463.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 QUESTION NO. ______ 

WATER NOT TO BE SUPPLIED TO AREAS WEST OF THE "BLUE LINE"  
 

Shall Section 128A “Water not to be supplied to certain described areas; 
exceptions” of the City Charter be amended to provide that the City of Boulder 
shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial uses to land lying 
on the westward side of the line defined in Ordinance No. 8133 including the 
terms, map and boundary description which are part of the ordinance; provided 
however, this section shall not deny city water to areas which were lawfully 
receiving water from the City on November 8, 2016, repealing the existing 
description and establishing criteria for the provision of water to properties 
divided by the line?  

For the measure ______      Against the measure _____ 

 

Section 5 If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the Charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance. If this ballot measure is approved by the voters, the 

Charter shall be so amended, and the City Council may adopt any necessary amendments to the 

Boulder Revised Code to implement this change. 

Section 6. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 7. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo- 
Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 7Packet Page 487



 

K:\CCCO\o-1st reading-blue line ballot title-2463.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of August, 2016. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo- 
Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 8Packet Page 488



Jay Rd Jay Rd

Baseline RdBroadway
Arapahoe Av

Pearl PyPine St

28
th

 St

Baseline Rd

Lookout Rd

Le
hig

h S
t

Arapahoe Av

Butte
Mill Rd

G ree
nbr

iar

Bv

Balsam
Av

7th St

Iris Av
Valmont Rd

Broadway

Walnut St

Baseline Rd

Broadway

Table M esa

Dr

Gillaspie

Dr

55th
St

28th St
Violet Av

75
th

 St

Linden
Av

Linde n D r

76
th

 St

US Hwy 36

28
th

 St

South Boulder Rd

Lookout
Rd

Ch
e r

ry
va

le
Rd

5 5 th
St

SF
oo

th
ills

Hw
y

Valmont
Rd

Foothills
Py

Diag
on

al H
y

Fo
oth

ills
 P

y

Fo
lso

m
St

30
th

 St

Br
oa

dw
ay

9th
St

55
th

 St

S C
he

rry
va

le 
Rd

L ee Hill Dr

28
th

 St

Flags taf f Rd 9th
 S

t

Table Mesa Dr

26
th

 St

63
rd

 S
t

61
st 

St 75
th

 St

Sp
in e

Rd

55
th St

63
rd

 S
t

57
th

 St

Fo
oth

ills
 P

y

63r d

St

Ol
de

St
a g

e
Rd

City of Boulder Vicinity Map

1 inch = 5,000 feet

The information depicted on this map is provided

as graphical representation only. The City of Boulder
provides no warranty, expressed or implied, as to

the accuracy and/or completeness of the information

contained hereon.

N
City of

Boulder

Legend
Proposed Blue Line

Existing Blue Line

City Limits

**Additional details can be seen on the map of the Blue Line at:
   https://gisweb.bouldercolorado.gov/blueline**

 
urrent and Clarified

Blue Line

 to Ordinance 8133Exhibit A
C

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 9Packet Page 489

wallm1
Highlight

wallm1
Highlight

wallm1
Highlight

wallm1
Highlight



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description 

2016 BLUE LINE BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 
 
GENERAL SOUTH TO NORTH DESCRIPTION:  
THE DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED BLUE LINE BEGINS AT THE SOUTHERN END OF THE CITY 
OF BOULDER NEAR HWY 93 AND SHANAHAN RIDGE. THEN PROCEEDS NORTHERLY ALONG THE 
WEST EDGE OF THE CITY TO ITS TERMINUS AT THE NORTH END OF THE CITY NEAR DAKOTA 
RIDGE AND HWY 36. THE PROPOSED BLUE LINE DESCRIPTION HAS A MATCHING MAP SHOWING 
THE LOCATION OF SAID PROPOSED BLUE LINE AS IT IS NARRATIVELY DESCRIBED BELOW. ALL 
INSTRUMENTS DISCUSSED BELOW CAN BE FOUND AT BOULDER COUNTY CLERK AND 
RECORDER’S OFFICE, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.  
 
SAID BLUE LINE IS LOCATED IN SECTIONS 16, 17, 18, 7, AND 6 OF TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 
70 WEST; SECTIONS 1 AND 12, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 71 WEST; AND SECTIONS 36, 35, 
25, 24, 13, AND 12, TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH, RANGE 71 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M. 
 
Highway 93 at the Shanahan Ridge Subdivision, North to NCAR 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT B, SHANAHAN RIDGE TWO, PLAT 
RECORDED ON FILM 859 AT RECEPTION NO. 109000; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT B TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 
OF LOT 9, BLOCK 14, ROLLING HILLS SUBDIVISION FIRST ADDITION REPLAT, RECORDED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 90872199;  
THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE EASTERN LINE OF ROLLING HILLS SUBDIVISION FIRST 
ADDITION REPLAT TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT A‐1, SHANAHAN RIDGE FOUR, PLAT 
RECORDED RECEPTION NO. 144515;  
THENCE CONTINUING SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE EASTERN LINE OF SAID OUTLOT A‐1, 
SHANAHAN RIDGE FOUR; 
THENCE ALONG THE EASTERN LINE OF SHANAHAN RIDGE FIVE, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 939 
AT RECEPTION NO. 193411 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF OUTLOT C2, SHANAHAN RIDGE FIVE TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE CONTINUING WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF OUTLOT D, SHANAHAN RIDGE SIX, 
PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 969 RECEPTION NO. 232114, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER 
OF LOT 5, BLOCK 2, DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 1, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 
90828823;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 1, TO THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 8, BLOCK 2, DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 1;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WESTERN BOUNDARIES OF DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION 
FILING NO. 1, THE DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 2, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 
90853061, AND DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 5, RECORDED ON FILM 802 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 50103, TO THE WESTERNMOST CORNER OF LOT 16, DEVILS THUMB 
SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 5;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO.  6, 
PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 845 AT RECEPTION NO. 94356, TO THE WESTERNMOST CORNER 

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 10Packet Page 490



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description 

THEREOF, ALSO BEING A SOUTHERN CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN BOOK 1290 AT 
PAGE 301 (SEE THAT LAND SURVEY PLAT FILED AS SURVEY NO. LS‐93‐0036 AT THE BOULDER 
COUNTY LAND USE DEPARTMENT); 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN BOOK 1290 
AT PAGE 301 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 808 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 55946; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 808 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 55946 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF, A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF 
SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH, RANGE 71 WEST; 
THENCE EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 
SAID SECTION 1, ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, 
RANGE 70 WEST; 
 
NCAR North to Marine Street  
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON 
FILM 1047 AT RECEPTION NO. 320793;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, SECTION 6, 
TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 70 WEST TO THE WEST QUARTER CORNER OF SECTION 6;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE EAST HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER 
OF SECTION 1 A DISTANCE OF 1800 FEET, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 71 WEST OF THE 6TH 
P.M;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 TO A POINT LOCATED 
1800 FEET FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 1;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 3522626;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3522626 TO THE NORTHERNMOST CORNER;  
THENCE EASTERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 17, FLATIRONS PARK SUBDIVISION, 
PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90500511; 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERN LINES OF SAID FLATIRONS PARK SUBDIVISION TO 
THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE CONTINUING NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1, FLAGSTAFF 
SUBDIVISION, PLAT RECORDED AT 90797939;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1, TO A POINT IN THE SOUTH LINE OF 
KECOUGHTAN HILLS, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90637214; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID KECOUGHTAN HILLS TO THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID KECOUGHTAN HILLS, TO THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID KECOUGHTAN HILLS TO A POINT DUE 
SOUTH OF THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 6, BLOCK 8, VERMONT ADDITION, PLAT RECORDED 
AT 90015837;  

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 11Packet Page 491



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description 

THENCE NORTH TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 6;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 6 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID VERMONT ADDITION TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1, BLOCK 8, VERMONT ADDITION;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 
THEREOF; THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1402 
AT RECEPTION NO. 751339, TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINES OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON 
FILM 1469 AT RECEPTION NO. 842349, TO THE NORTHERNMOST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
2025869, TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
2025869 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT A, HILLSIDE MEADOWS, PLAT RECORDED AT 
1063738; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT A TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERN LINES OF SAID OUTLOT A TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
 
Marine Street north to Pearl Street 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE ARAPAHOE WEST, PLAT RECORDED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 102555, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DISCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3459369, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PUBLIC HIGHWAY DESCRIBED IN FILM 593, 
RECEPTION NO. 837907, TO AN EASTERLY CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 
1788 AT RECEPTION NO. 1252849; 
THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY LINES OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1788 
AT RECEPTION NO. 1252849, TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 2275655; 
THENCE SOUTH 200 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON RECEPTION 
NO. 2275655; 
THENCE WEST TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON RECEPTION 
NO. 2706015, LOCATED 200 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF (SEE THAT 
LAND SURVEY PLAT FILED AS SURVEY NO. LS‐06‐0103 AT THE BOULDER COUNTY LAND USE 
DEPARTMENT);  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
2706015 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1788 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1252849 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1788 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1252849 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT 
RECEPTION NO.  3411974 (SEE THAT LAND SURVEY PLAT FILED AS SURVEY NO. LS‐15‐0032 AT 
THE BOULDER COUNTY LAND USE DEPARTMENT);  

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 12Packet Page 492



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
3411974, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3411974, TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1, CANYONSIDE OFFICE PARK 
SUBDIVISION, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 2049 AT RECEPTION NO. 1513503;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF LOT 3, CANYONSIDE OFFICE PARK SUBDIVISION TO 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3 EXTENDED TO A POINT IN THE 
WESTERLY LINE (CORNER 3 AND CORNER 4) OF THE AARON ROOD PLACER CLAIM, (SEE BLM 
RECORDS FOR SURVEY NO. 86) TO A POINT ON LINE LOCATED 200’ SOUTH OF CORNER NO. 4; 
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID AARON ROOD PLACER CLAIM TO 
CORNER NO. 3 OF CANON PARK SUBDIVISION (BLOCKS 2, 3, 4 AND 5), PLAT RECORDED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 90153107; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID CANON PARK SUBDIVISION TO THE 
WESTERNMOST POINT;  
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINES OF SAID CANON PARK 
SUBDIVISION TO THE INTERSECTION WITH THE NORTHERN RIGHT‐OF‐WAY LINE OF STATE HWY 
119;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY RIGHT‐OF WAY OF SAID HIGHWAY TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 3280966;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3280966 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3280966 NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3280966 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3280965;  
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
3280965 TO THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF HIGHWAY 119; 
THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF HIGHWAY 119 AND CONTINUING 
ALONG THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF PEARL STREET TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
OF LOT 1A, BRIERLEY ORCHARD REPLAT A, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 1399 AT RECEPTION NO. 
748177; 
 
Pearl St to Alpine 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1A TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERN LINES OF KNOLLWOOD SECOND 
ADDITION, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90888310, TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF 
OUTLOT C, KNOLLWOOD FIRST ADDITION, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90831672;  

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 13Packet Page 493



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY LINES OF SAID OUTLOT C, TO A POINT IN THE 
SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1670 AT RECEPTION NO. 1099939;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1670 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1099939 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF ALSO BEING A POINT IN THE 
WEST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 25;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER, TO A POINT ON THE 
SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY FOR SUNSHINE CANYON DRIVE;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH RIGHT‐OF‐WAY LINE OF SUNSHINE CANYON DRIVE TO A 
POINT THAT IS DUE SOUTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MOUNT SANITAS HEIGHTS, PLAT 
RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90591717;  
THENCE NORTH TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID MOUNT SANITAS HEIGHTS;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF LOT 25, MOUNT SANITAS HEIGHTS TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINES OF MOUNT SANITAS HEIGHTS TO THE 
INTERSECTION OF THE WEST LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER OF SECTION 25; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST 
QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER THEREOF; 
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST 
QUARTER TO A POINT DUE SOUTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BLOCK 49, AMENDED PLAT 
OF PART OF THE NEWLAND’S ADDITION, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90093420;  
THENCE NORTH TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID BLOCK 49;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID BLOCK 49 TO A POINT LOCATED 125 FEET 
FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID BLOCK 49;  
 
Alpine to Locust 
THENCE NORTHERLY, PARALLEL TO THE EAST LINE OF BLOCKS 49, 50, 51, AND 53, AMENDED 
PLAT OF PART OF THE NEWLAND’S ADDITION, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90093420, TO A 
POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID BLOCK 53, LOCATED 125 FEET FROM THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF BLOCK 53; 
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF DAKOTA RIDGE, PLAT RECORDED 
ON FILM 894 AT RECEPTION NO. 145880; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF DAKOTA RIDGE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
2343963, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
2343963 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PARCEL TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 1813593;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1813593 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 2, ALVIN NEW SUBDIVISION, 
PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION 90763997; 
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 2, TO THE SOUTHWEST THEREOF;  

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 14Packet Page 494



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF LOT 2 TO THE NORTHERNMOST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN 
RECEPTION NO. 300888;  
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTHERN LINES OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 
300888 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF, ALSO BEING A POINT ON THE WESTERLY RIGHT 
OF WAY LINE OF SILVER LAKE DITCH;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY  RIGHT OF WAY LINE FOR SILVER LAKE DITCH TO A 
SOUTHERLY CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON RECEPTION NO. 3349903; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON RECEPTION 
NO. 3349903 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON RECEPTION NO. 
3349903 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON RECEPTION NO. 
3349903 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF CUNNINGHAM FARM, PLAT RECORDED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 2738188;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID CUNNINGHAM FARM TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF ALSO BEING ON THE SOUTHERN LINE OF SPRING VALLEY 
ESTATES, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION 90792353;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 17 OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 17, A DISTANCE OF ______ FEET; 
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 14 OF SAID SPRING VALLEY 
ESTATES;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO A POINT ON THE LINE OF LOT 7 OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES, TO A 
POINT THAT IS _______ FEET EAST OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 7;  
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES TO THE 
NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE WESTERNMOST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 
1363 AT RECEPTION NO. 701676;  
 
Locust to US 36 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 
1363 AT RECEPTION NO. 701676 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  

THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1363 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 701676 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1296 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 612855, TO A SOUTHERLY CORNER OF OUTLOT D, MARY V. MOORE, PLAT 
RECORDED ON FILM 1771 AT RECEPTION NO. 1233694;  

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 15Packet Page 495



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D, TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG A NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
OF FOUR MILE RANCH SUBDIVISION, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 1799 AT RECEPTION 1265787;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID FOUR MILE RANCH SUBDIVISION TO 
THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF SAID FOUR MILE RANCHSUBDIVISION;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT B, WINEGLASS RANCH 
SUBDIVISION, PLAT RECORDED AT 2695196; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINES OF WINEGLASS RANCH SUBDIVISION TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 3 OF SAID WINE GLASS RANCH 
SUBDIVISION;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE CONTINUING EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERN LINE OF LOT 3 EXTENDED TO THE 
INTERSECTION WITH THE WEST LINE OF OUTLOT B, DAKOTA RIDGE VILLAGE SUBDIVISION 
PHASE 1, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION 2114900;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT B TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF; THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT B TO THE 
WESTERLY RIGHT‐OF‐WAY LINE OF US HIGHWAY 36. 
 

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 16Packet Page 496



Jay Rd Jay Rd

Baseline RdBroadway
Arapahoe Av

Pearl PyPine St

28
th

 St

Baseline Rd

Lookout Rd

Le
hig

h S
t

Arapahoe Av

Butte
Mill Rd

G ree
nbr

iar

Bv

Balsam
Av

7th St

Iris Av
Valmont Rd

Broadway

Walnut St

Baseline Rd

Broadway

Table M esa

Dr

Gillaspie

Dr

55th
St

28th St
Violet Av

75
th

 St

Linden
Av

Linde n D r

76
th

 St

US Hwy 36

28
th

 St

South Boulder Rd

Lookout
Rd

Ch
e r

ry
va

le
Rd

5 5 th
St

SF
oo

th
ills

Hw
y

Valmont
Rd

Foothills
Py

Diag
on

al H
y

Fo
oth

ills
 P

y

Fo
lso

m
St

30
th

 St

Br
oa

dw
ay

9th
St

55
th

 St

S C
he

rry
va

le 
Rd

L ee Hill Dr

28
th

 St

Flags taf f Rd 9th
 S

t

Table Mesa Dr

26
th

 St

63
rd

 S
t

61
st 

St 75
th

 St

Sp
in e

Rd

55
th St

63
rd

 S
t

57
th

 St

Fo
oth

ills
 P

y

63r d

St

Ol
de

St
a g

e
Rd

City of Boulder Vicinity Map

1 inch = 5,000 feet

The information depicted on this map is provided

as graphical representation only. The City of Boulder
provides no warranty, expressed or implied, as to

the accuracy and/or completeness of the information

contained hereon.

N
City of

Boulder

Legend
Proposed Blue Line

Existing Blue Line

City Limits

**Additional details can be seen on the map of the Blue Line at:
   https://gisweb.bouldercolorado.gov/blueline**

Attachment B to Memo
Map of Current and
Clarified Blue Line

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 17Packet Page 497

wallm1
Highlight

wallm1
Highlight

wallm1
Highlight

wallm1
Highlight



Attachment C - 
Notice to Property Owners

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 18Packet Page 498



Attachment C - 
Notice to Property Owners

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 19Packet Page 499



Attachment C - 
Notice to Property Owners

Agenda Item 5A3     Page 20Packet Page 500



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 

Certification to Council of sufficient valid signatures on a petition to place on the 
ballot a question of limiting the terms of Council Members.

PRESENTER/S  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Lynnette Beck, City Clerk 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The petition committee for the charter amendment to limit terms of council members 
submitted its completed petition on July 11, 2016.  On July 28, 2016, the City Clerk, after 
examining 6,654 signatures, determined that there were sufficient valid signatures to 
meet the 4,642 signature requirement.  The City Clerk found 4,683 names were 
sufficient.  All of the petitions were reviewed.  The City Clerk provided the petition 
committee with the attached Certificate of Sufficiency.  That certificate triggers two 
timelines; one for council and one for anyone that may want to protest the petitions.  The 
copy of the Certificate attached is certification to the council as to the validity and 
sufficiency of the petition. 

The options for council are usually to either adopt the initiative or place the measure on 
the ballot.  Because this is a charter amendment, it cannot be adopted by council and must 
be placed on the ballot for the November 2016 election.  The council has to set the ballot 
title.  The charter provides that the petition be referred to a council committee, which 
may be a committee of the whole.  Charter Section 40.  The charter gives the council 
committee 60 days to make a recommendation to the council, and requires the committee 
to hold at least one public hearing.  The council must then take final action on the 
ordinance placing the measure on the ballot within 60 days of the committee 

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 1Packet Page 501



recommendation.  The petition committee must then unanimously certify to the council to 
proceed with the measure for it to be on the ballot. 

Because there is not sufficient time for that process, staff noticed a public hearing on this 
issue for this meeting.  Council could recess into a committee of the whole and hold the 
public hearing, and give direction to staff.  The first reading on the ballot title could be on 
the Agenda for August 16, allowing sufficient time for second reading on September 6 
before the September 9 deadline for certification of the ballot to the county. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Appoint a council committee, which may be a committee of the whole, to hold a public 
hearing and make a recommendation to the full council.  That committee could hold the 
public hearing.  

Suggested Motion Language: 

Motion to convene a council committee of the whole, hold a public hearing, review the 
initiative as provided in the charter, and make a recommendation to the full council on 
August 2nd. 

BACKGROUND 

Initiative Procedure.  For an initiated measure to be on the ballot, the following steps 
occur: 

1. Petition committee (5 registered electors that represent the petition in all matters)
present the form of the initiative petition for approval by the City Clerk. 

2. The City Clerk can require the form to be corrected and make comments on the
content.  The City Clerk also writes the summary that must appear at the top of every 
page of the petition under the warning. 

3. The petition committee is responsible for getting the required number of signatures on
the approved petition form and submitting all sections of the completed petition to the 
City Clerk in the appropriate format. 

4. The City Clerk must then review all of the petition signatures to determine whether a
sufficient number are valid signatures of electors registered to vote in Boulder.  The 
circulator of each section must sign, in the presence of a notary, that the petition attached 
is the petition that circulator watched each signer sign.  The City Clerk verifies all of the 
circulator affidavits before verifying voter signatures.  All signatures on a petition 
without a valid circulator’s affidavit are invalid.  The City Clerk must compare each 
signature with the voter records to determine that the person is registered to vote at the 
address they wrote on the petition at the time they signed, that the entire signature line 

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 2Packet Page 502



was completed by the person signing, and that the person has not signed the petition more 
than once. 

5. If the petitions contain the required number of valid signatures, the City Clerk issues a
Certificate of Sufficiency to the committee and conveys it to council.  If the petition does 
not contain sufficient signatures, the petition committee may withdraw the petition, and 
resubmit it with sufficient valid signatures.  The petition committee here did not have 
sufficient valid signatures on the first filing and withdraw its petitions.  The certification 
with this memo is on the re-submitted petitions.   

6. Upon receipt of the certificate, council must refer the initiative to a council committee,
which may be a committee of the whole, to hold a public hearing and recommend to the 
full council whether the initiative should be adopted as presented, or placed on the ballot.  
If it is placed on the ballot, council must set the ballot title. 

7. When the council receives the committee's recommendation, it must decide whether to
adopt the initiated measure or place it on the ballot with a ballot title determined by 
council and whether to place a competing measure on the ballot if it believes an 
alternative could accomplish the intent in a better manner than the initiative. 

8. Within 40 days of the filing of the petition, opponents to the measure can file a protest
with the city challenging the sufficiency of the petition.  If a protest is filed, Council 
could hold all matters related to the petition (Steps 6 and 7) in abeyance until that protest 
is resolved.  The City Clerk or an appointed hearing officer must conduct a hearing on the 
protest. The goal of a protest is to invalidate additional signatures to put the number of 
valid signatures below the threshold.  This is usually done by bringing matters before the 
City Clerk that are not on the face of the petition.  Reasons for protest usually include 
testimony that circulators did not accurately represent the petition to potential signers, a 
petition section was not always in the custody of the circulator, or other matters that 
could invalidate signatures.   

Status of Initiative Regarding Term Limits.  This petition is at Step 6.  Because it is an 
amendment to the charter, council cannot adopt the language and must place the proposed 
measure on the ballot. The charter allows 60 days for the council committee to make its 
recommendation, then 60 days for council to take final action.  Obviously the two 
sequential 60-day time frames go far beyond the September 9 date by which the City 
Clerk must certify the ballot issues to the county.  Therefore, staff recommends that the 
committee appoint a council committee, which may be a committee of the whole, to hold 
a public hearing and make a recommendation to council at the August 2, 2016 meeting.   

Staff can prepare ordinance(s) for adoption of the code section by council or with ballot 
titles for the meeting on August 16, 2016 and the ballot title ordinance can be adopted by 
emergency or a hearing on second reading on September 6 before the September 9 
deadline to certify ballots. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 3Packet Page 503



Attachment A – Certificate of Sufficiency 

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 4Packet Page 504



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 5

Attachment a to the Memo

Packet Page 505



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 6

Attachment a to the Memo

Packet Page 506



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 7

Attachment a to the Memo

Packet Page 507



PETITION Number _____ 

WARNING 
IT IS AGAINST THE LAW: 
For anyone to sign any initiative or referendum petition with any name other than his or her 
own or to knowingly sign his or her name more than once for the same measure or to 
knowingly sign a petition when not a registered elector who is eligible to vote on the measure.  

DO NOT SIGN THIS PETITION UNLESS YOU ARE A REGISTERED ELECTOR AND 
ELIGIBLE TO VOTE ON THIS MEASURE. TO BE A REGISTERED ELECTOR, YOU MUST 
BE A CITIZEN OF COLORADO AND REGISTERED TO VOTE IN THE CITY OF BOULDER. 

Do not sign this petition unless you have read or have had read to you the proposed initiative 
or referred measure or the summary in its entirety and understand its meaning.  

Summary of Change Desired: Shall the Charter of the City of Boulder be changed so 

that Members of Council are limited to three terms in office. 

Full text:  

Article II, Section 4 is amended by adding the following:  

In order to broaden the opportunities for public service and to assure that elected 
officials of governments are responsive to the citizens of those governments, no person 
shall be eligible to office as Council member if he or she has been elected to office as 
Council member three or more times in his or her lifetime. This limitation on eligibility 
shall apply to any Council member serving a term of office on or after November 8, 
2016, but shall not prevent such Council member from completing a term in effect at 
that time. 

Petitioners:  

1. Andy Schultheiss: 802 Linden Ave, Boulder, CO 80304
2. Michelle Estrella: 2400 Kenwood Dr, Boulder, CO 80305
3. Jessica Yates, 5539 Stonewall Place, Boulder, CO 80303
4. Brady Robinson: 4272 26th St, Boulder, CO 80304
5. Chris Ozeroff: 2425 Bluff St, Boulder, CO 80304

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 8

Exhibit A

Packet Page 508



Page 1 of 4 

Summary of Change Desired: Shall the Charter of the City of Boulder be changed so that Members of Council 

are limited to three terms in office. 

Full text:  

Article II, Section 4 is amended by adding the following:  

In order to broaden the opportunities for public service and to assure that elected officials of governments are 
responsive to the citizens of those governments, no person shall be eligible to office as Council member if he or 
she has been elected to office as Council member three or more times in his or her lifetime. This limitation on 
eligibility shall apply to any Council member serving a term of office on or after November 8, 2016, but shall not 
prevent such Council member from completing a term in effect at that time. 

     Name   Address   City  County Date 

1           

2           

3           

4           

5           

6           

7           

8           

9           

10           

11           

 

   

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 9

Exhibit A

Packet Page 509



Page 2 of 4 

Summary of Change Desired: Shall the Charter of the City of Boulder be changed so that Members of Council 

are limited to three terms in office. 

Full text:  

Article II, Section 4 is amended by adding the following:  

In order to broaden the opportunities for public service and to assure that elected officials of governments are 
responsive to the citizens of those governments, no person shall be eligible to office as Council member if he or 
she has been elected to office as Council member three or more times in his or her lifetime. This limitation on 
eligibility shall apply to any Council member serving a term of office on or after November 8, 2016, but shall not 
prevent such Council member from completing a term in effect at that time. 

     Name   Address   City  County Date 

1           

2           

3           

4           

5           

6           

7           

8           

9           

10           

11           

 

   

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 10

Exhibit A

Packet Page 510



Page 3 of 4 

Summary of Change Desired: Shall the Charter of the City of Boulder be changed so that Members of Council 

are limited to three terms in office. 

Full text:  

Article II, Section 4 is amended by adding the following:  

In order to broaden the opportunities for public service and to assure that elected officials of governments are 
responsive to the citizens of those governments, no person shall be eligible to office as Council member if he or 
she has been elected to office as Council member three or more times in his or her lifetime. This limitation on 
eligibility shall apply to any Council member serving a term of office on or after November 8, 2016, but shall not 
prevent such Council member from completing a term in effect at that time. 

     Name   Address   City  County Date 

1           

2           

3           

4           

5           

6           

7           

8           

9           

10           

11           

 

   

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 11

Exhibit A

Packet Page 511



Page 4 of 4 

Summary of Change Desired: Shall the Charter of the City of Boulder be changed so that Members of Council 

are limited to three terms in office. 

Full text:  

Article II, Section 4 is amended by adding the following:  

In order to broaden the opportunities for public service and to assure that elected officials of governments are 
responsive to the citizens of those governments, no person shall be eligible to office as Council member if he or 
she has been elected to office as Council member three or more times in his or her lifetime. This limitation on 
eligibility shall apply to any Council member serving a term of office on or after November 8, 2016, but shall not 
prevent such Council member from completing a term in effect at that time. 

     Name   Address   City  County Date 

1           

2           

3           

4           

5           

6           

7           

8           

9           

10           

11           

 

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 12

Exhibit A

Packet Page 512



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 13

Exhibit B

Packet Page 513



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 14

Exhibit B

Packet Page 514



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 15

Exhibit C

Packet Page 515



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 16

Exhibit C

Packet Page 516



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 17

Exhibit C

Packet Page 517



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 18

Exhibit C

Packet Page 518



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 19

Exhibit C

Packet Page 519



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 20

Exhibit C

Packet Page 520



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 21

Exhibit C

Packet Page 521



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 22

Exhibit D

Packet Page 522



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 23

Exhibit E

Packet Page 523



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 24

Exhibit E

Packet Page 524



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 25

Exhibit F

Packet Page 525



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 26

Exhibit G

Packet Page 526



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 27

Exhibit G

Packet Page 527



ATTACHMENT A

Agenda Item 5A4     Page 28

Exhibit G

Packet Page 528



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 29

Exhibit G

Packet Page 529



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 30

Exhibit G

Packet Page 530



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 31

Exhibit G

Packet Page 531



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 32

Exhibit G

Packet Page 532



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 33

Exhibit G

Packet Page 533



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 34

Exhibit G

Packet Page 534



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 35

Exhibit G

Packet Page 535



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 36

Exhibit G

Packet Page 536



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 37

Exhibit G

Packet Page 537



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 38

Exhibit G

Packet Page 538



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 39

Exhibit G

Packet Page 539



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 40

Exhibit G

Packet Page 540



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 41

Exhibit G

Packet Page 541



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 42

Exhibit G

Packet Page 542



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 43

Exhibit G

Packet Page 543



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 44

Exhibit G

Packet Page 544



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 45

Exhibit G

Packet Page 545



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 46

Exhibit G

Packet Page 546



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 47

Exhibit G

Packet Page 547



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 48

Exhibit G

Packet Page 548



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 49

Exhibit G

Packet Page 549



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 50

Exhibit G

Packet Page 550



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 51

Exhibit G

Packet Page 551



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 52

Exhibit G

Packet Page 552



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 53

Exhibit G

Packet Page 553



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 54

Exhibit G

Packet Page 554



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 55

Exhibit G

Packet Page 555



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 56

Exhibit G

Packet Page 556



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 57

Exhibit G

Packet Page 557



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 58

Exhibit G

Packet Page 558



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 59

Exhibit G

Packet Page 559



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 60

Exhibit G

Packet Page 560



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 61

Exhibit G

Packet Page 561



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 62

Exhibit G

Packet Page 562



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 63

Exhibit G

Packet Page 563



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 64

Exhibit G

Packet Page 564



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 65

Exhibit G

Packet Page 565



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 66

Exhibit G

Packet Page 566



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 67

Exhibit G

Packet Page 567



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 68

Exhibit G

Packet Page 568



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 69

Exhibit G

Packet Page 569



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 70

Exhibit G

Packet Page 570



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 71

Exhibit G

Packet Page 571



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 72

Exhibit G

Packet Page 572



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 73

Exhibit G

Packet Page 573



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 74

Exhibit G

Packet Page 574



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 75

Exhibit G

Packet Page 575



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 76

Exhibit G

Packet Page 576



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 77

Exhibit G

Packet Page 577



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 78

Exhibit G

Packet Page 578



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 79

Exhibit G

Packet Page 579



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 80

Exhibit G

Packet Page 580



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 81

Exhibit G

Packet Page 581



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 82

Exhibit G

Packet Page 582



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 83

Exhibit G

Packet Page 583



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 84

Exhibit G

Packet Page 584



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 85

Exhibit G

Packet Page 585



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 86

Exhibit G

Packet Page 586



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 87

Exhibit G

Packet Page 587



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 88

Exhibit G

Packet Page 588



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 89

Exhibit G

Packet Page 589



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 90

Exhibit G

Packet Page 590



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 91

Exhibit G

Packet Page 591



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 92

Exhibit G

Packet Page 592



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 93

Exhibit G

Packet Page 593



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 94

Exhibit G

Packet Page 594



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 95

Exhibit G

Packet Page 595



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 96

Exhibit G

Packet Page 596



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 97

Exhibit G

Packet Page 597



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 98

Exhibit G

Packet Page 598



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 99

Exhibit G

Packet Page 599



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 100

Exhibit G

Packet Page 600



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 101

Exhibit G

Packet Page 601



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 102

Exhibit G

Packet Page 602



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 103

Exhibit G

Packet Page 603



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 104

Exhibit G

Packet Page 604



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 105

Exhibit G

Packet Page 605



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 106

Exhibit G

Packet Page 606



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 107

Exhibit G

Packet Page 607



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 108

Exhibit G

Packet Page 608



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 109

Exhibit G

Packet Page 609



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 110

Exhibit G

Packet Page 610



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 111

Exhibit G

Packet Page 611



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 112

Exhibit G

Packet Page 612



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 113

Exhibit G

Packet Page 613



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 114

Exhibit G

Packet Page 614



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 115

Exhibit G

Packet Page 615



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 116

Exhibit G

Packet Page 616



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 117

Exhibit G

Packet Page 617



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 118

Exhibit G

Packet Page 618



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 119

Exhibit G

Packet Page 619



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 120

Exhibit G

Packet Page 620



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 121

Exhibit G

Packet Page 621



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 122

Exhibit H

Packet Page 622



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 123

Exhibit I

Packet Page 623



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 124

Exhibit J

Packet Page 624



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 125

Exhibit K

Packet Page 625



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 126

Exhibit K

Packet Page 626



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 127

Exhibit K

Packet Page 627



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 128

Exhibit K

Packet Page 628



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 129

Exhibit K

Packet Page 629



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 130

Exhibit K

Packet Page 630



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 131

Exhibit K

Packet Page 631



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 132

Exhibit K

Packet Page 632



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 133

Exhibit K

Packet Page 633



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 134

Exhibit K

Packet Page 634



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 135

Exhibit K

Packet Page 635



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 136

Exhibit K

Packet Page 636



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 137

Exhibit K

Packet Page 637



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 138

Exhibit K

Packet Page 638



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 139

Exhibit K

Packet Page 639



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 140

Exhibit K

Packet Page 640



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 141

Exhibit K

Packet Page 641



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 142

Exhibit K

Packet Page 642



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 143

Exhibit K

Packet Page 643



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 144

Exhibit K

Packet Page 644



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 145

Exhibit K

Packet Page 645



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 146

Exhibit K

Packet Page 646



Agenda Item 5A4     Page 147

Exhibit K

Packet Page 647



1 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1190 in support of Indigenous 
Peoples’ Day 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Karen Rahn, Human Services Director 
Tracy Winfree, Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
Mark Davison, Community Connections and Partnerships Manager   
Carmen Atilano, Community Relations and Human Rights Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In response to a query from Indigenous community members, the Human Relations 
Commission, in its annual Answers to City Council Questions, recommended 
consideration of a resolution declaring October 10 of each year to be Indigenous Peoples’ 
Day. Following up on the community initiative, Mayor Pro Tem Mary Young has 
interacted extensively with Indigenous community members in Boulder and has jointly 
prepared a resolution (Attachment A) for City Council consideration. 

Upon review of the resolution, staff noted an existing Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with 13 Indigenous tribes (Attachment B) regarding use of Open Space and 
Mountain Parks land. The MOU was entered into in a spirit of mutual cooperation with 
benefits including improved management of cultural resources and respecting traditional 
practices of the associated tribes. Like many other communities, Boulder is also 
committed to establishing and maintaining an accurate history of the nearby land and 
inhabitants as well as the continued cultural use of the lands. Additionally, staff has noted 
the city Policies, Procedures and Guidelines regarding commemorative naming of city 
facilities (Attachment C). This naming policy creates an inclusive process enabling city 
staff working for the naming committee to consult with the 13 tribes as well as other 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page 648



2 

interested parties. The findings of the naming committee are brought to the city manager 
for consideration and a final recommendation to council for further consideration.   

This process offers an opportunity to work collaboratively with the 13 tribes and 
considers further opportunities for potential partnership opportunities. In addition, by 
following this process the city will be establishing a best practice for the renaming of 
places and sites, and establishing a positive precedent for working with indigenous 
people. 

Staff therefore recommends a revision to the committee’s resolution in Section 5: 

Section 5. That as a first step, in recognition of a Memorandum of Understanding that the 

city entered into with Indigenous tribes concerning open space lands, the city requests 

input from representatives of those tribes regarding a name that commemorates the 

Indigenous presence on the park land known as Settlers Park and second, the city 

manager considers any application submitted to rename the park land based on the input 

of the Indigenous tribes and interested parties (Attachment D). 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to adopt Resolution No. 1190 in support of Indigenous Peoples’ Day. 

ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Committee Resolution 
Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes 
Attachment C: Commemorative Naming Policy signed 
Attachment D: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Resolution No. 1190 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page 649



Attachment A: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Committee Resolution 

INDIGENEOUS PEOPLES’ DAY COMMITTEE  
RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, Indigenous People in Boulder respect the interdependence of all humanity 
and living things and celebrate a vast and rich living tradition through ancestral recognition and 
diversity of knowledge and perspectives, including sustainable practices; and  

WHEREAS, Indigenous People in Boulder have, as in all parts of Americas, endured 
centuries of cruelty, exploitation and genocide; and 

WHEREAS, the Boulder area encompasses ancestral homelands of Indigenous Peoples’ 
Nations; and 

WHEREAS, facing and acknowledging our past, good as well as bad, makes our 
community stronger and more resilient; and 

WHEREAS, Southern Arapaho Chief Left Hand, speaking in English, notified a party of 
Nebraska gold seekers that they could not remain on Indian land at what is now Settlers Park in 
the fall of 1858 and the gold seekers assured him they would leave by spring of 1859i; and 

WHEREAS, after gold was discovered at Gold Run in January of 1859, Boulder City 
Town Company was founded by settlers on February 10 of 1859, thereby not keeping the 
promise to Chief Left Hand, and going against the agreement of the 1851 Treaty of Fort Laramie 
(also known as the Horse Creek Treaty)ii iii; and 

WHEREAS, in August of 1864, nearly 100 Boulder County residents mobilized into 
Company D of the Third Colorado Cavalry of U.S. Volunteers at Fort Chambers (near 63rd and 
Valmont Streets), to become ‘Indian Fighters’iv v vi; and 

WHEREAS, under the command of Colonel John Chivington, on November 29 of 1864 
an estimated 230 peaceful Arapaho and Cheyenne people were killed along the Big Sandy Creek 
in southeastern Colorado by the First and Third Colorado Cavalry of U.S. Volunteersvii; and 

WHEREAS, Captain David Nichols, a former Boulder County Sheriff, led the Company 
D volunteers, including 46 Boulder residents, in what is now known as the Sand Creek Massacre 
from which the Boulder troops enjoyed a heroes welcome upon their returnviii ix x; and 

WHEREAS, Boulder has benefited directly from Indian removal policies that violated 
human rights, broke government treaties and forced Arapaho People from their homeland; and 

WHEREAS, Boulder is honored to be home of several prominent Native organizations 
including the Native American Rights Fund founded in 1970, which is the largest nonprofit law 
firm dedicated to asserting and defending the rights of Indian tribes, organizations and 
individuals nationwide. 

3Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page 650



Attachment A: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Committee Resolution 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER:  

Section 1. That those now living on these ancestral lands recognize that harm was done 
and acknowledge that we have a shared responsibility to forge a path forward to address the past 
and continuing harm to the Indigenous People and the land. 

Section 2. That in the pursuit of shared responsibility and of promoting knowledge about 
Indigenous Peoples, unifying communities, combating prejudice and eliminating discrimination 
against Indigenous Peoples, the City of Boulder does hereby resolve the second Monday in 
October of each year to be Indigenous Peoples’ Day. 

Section 3. That on the second Monday in October of each year the City of Boulder will 
support events that encourage understanding and appreciation of Indigenous Peoples, their 
traditions, culture and our shared history in these ancestral lands known as the Boulder Valley. 

Section 4. That City Council directs its City Manager to work with City departments, 
Native Americans and historians to correct omissions of the Native American presence in public 
places, resources and cultural programming. 

Section 5. That as a first step, the land known as Settlers Park be renamed Arapaho Park 
and include interpretive historical information recognizing Chief Left Hand's efforts and 
relationship with the settlers. 

Section 6. That the City of Boulder, will work together in partnership with Native 
Americans to encourage all educational institutions in the city to implement accurate curricula 
relevant to the traditions, history and current issues of Indigenous People inclusive of and as part 
of our shared history. 

4Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page 651



Attachment A: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Committee Resolution 

i Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981.  Pages 66-67.  
Print. 

ii Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981. Pages 80, 83. 
Print. 

iii Sand Creek Massacre National Historic Site.  National Park Service. Web. 13 July 2016. 

iv Oliver, Arch. Roster of Company D, Third Colorado Cavalry from Boulder, Colorado Territory, 
1943. Carnegie Branch Library for Local History, Boulder Public Library.  (BHS 328-9-34).  
Print. 

v Valentine, Jane Barker. “Chambers Homestead.”  Historic Homes of Boulder County.  Boulder:  
Pruett Publishing, 1979.  Page 143.  Print.  

vi Attention! Indian Fighters.  Poster.  August 1864.  Denver:  History Colorado.  (Military –
Wars-Indian Wars –Sand Creek – posters, Scan #10025731).  Print. 

vii Sand Creek Massacre National Historic Site.  National Park Service. Web. 13 July 2016. 

viii Limerick, Patricia Nelson.  What’s in a Name?  Nichols Hall:  A Report.   Boulder:  
University of Colorado.  September 1987.  Page 55.  Print. 

ix Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981.  Page 280. 
Print. 

x Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981. Page 291. 
Print. 

5Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page 652



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

6Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page 653



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

7Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page 654



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

8Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page 655



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

9Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page 656



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

10Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page 657



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

11Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page 658



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

12Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page 659



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

13Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page 660



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

14Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page 661



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

15Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page 662



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

16Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page 663



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

17Agenda Item 5B     Page 17Packet Page 664



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

18Agenda Item 5B     Page 18Packet Page 665



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

19Agenda Item 5B     Page 19Packet Page 666



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

20Agenda Item 5B     Page 20Packet Page 667



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

21Agenda Item 5B     Page 21Packet Page 668



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

22Agenda Item 5B     Page 22Packet Page 669



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

23Agenda Item 5B     Page 23Packet Page 670



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

24Agenda Item 5B     Page 24Packet Page 671



Attachment B: Memorandum of Understanding with Indigenous Tribes

25Agenda Item 5B     Page 25Packet Page 672



Attachment C: Commemorative Naming Policy signed

26Agenda Item 5B     Page 26Packet Page 673



Attachment C: Commemorative Naming Policy signed

27Agenda Item 5B     Page 27Packet Page 674



Attachment C: Commemorative Naming Policy signed

28Agenda Item 5B     Page 28Packet Page 675



Attachment C: Commemorative Naming Policy signed

29Agenda Item 5B     Page 29Packet Page 676



Attachment D: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Resolution No. 1190 

RESOLUTION NO. 1190 

A RESOLUTION DECLARING OCTOBER 10 OF  
EACH YEAR TO BE INDIGENOUS PEOPLES’ DAY 

WHEREAS, Indigenous People in Boulder respect the interdependence of all humanity 
and living things and celebrate a vast and rich living tradition through ancestral recognition and 
diversity of knowledge and perspectives, including sustainable practices; and  

WHEREAS, Indigenous People in Boulder have, as in all parts of Americas, endured 
centuries of cruelty, exploitation and genocide; and 

WHEREAS, the Boulder area encompasses ancestral homelands of Indigenous Peoples’ 
Nations; and 

WHEREAS, facing and acknowledging our past, good as well as bad, makes our 
community stronger and more resilient; and 

WHEREAS, Southern Arapaho Chief Left Hand, speaking in English, notified a party of 
Nebraska gold seekers that they could not remain on Indian land at what is now Settlers Park in 
the fall of 1858 and the gold seekers assured him they would leave by spring of 1859i; and 

WHEREAS, after gold was discovered at Gold Run in January of 1859, Boulder City 
Town Company was founded by settlers on February 10 of 1859, thereby not keeping the 
promise to Chief Left Hand, and going against the agreement of the 1851 Treaty of Fort Laramie 
(also known as the Horse Creek Treaty)ii iii; and 

WHEREAS, in August of 1864, nearly 100 Boulder County residents mobilized into 
Company D of the Third Colorado Cavalry of U.S. Volunteers at Fort Chambers (near 63rd and 
Valmont Streets), to become ‘Indian Fighters’iv v vi; and 

WHEREAS, under the command of Colonel John Chivington, on November 29 of 1864 
an estimated 230 peaceful Arapaho and Cheyenne people were killed along the Big Sandy Creek 
in southeastern Colorado by the First and Third Colorado Cavalry of U.S. Volunteersvii; and 

WHEREAS, Captain David Nichols, a former Boulder County Sheriff, led the Company 
D volunteers, including 46 Boulder residents, in what is now known as the Sand Creek Massacre 
from which the Boulder troops enjoyed a heroes welcome upon their returnviii ix x; and 

WHEREAS, Boulder has benefited directly from Indian removal policies that violated 
human rights, broke government treaties and forced Arapaho People from their homeland; and 

WHEREAS, Boulder is honored to be home of several prominent Native organizations 
including the Native American Rights Fund founded in 1970, which is the largest nonprofit law 
firm dedicated to asserting and defending the rights of Indian tribes, organizations and 
individuals nationwide. 

30Agenda Item 5B     Page 30Packet Page 677



Attachment D: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Resolution No. 1190 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER:  

Section 1. That those now living on these ancestral lands recognize that harm was done 
and acknowledge that we have a shared responsibility to forge a path forward to address the past 
and continuing harm to the Indigenous People and the land. 

Section 2. That in the pursuit of shared responsibility and of promoting knowledge about 
Indigenous Peoples, unifying communities, combating prejudice and eliminating discrimination 
against Indigenous Peoples, the City of Boulder does hereby resolve the second Monday in 
October of each year to be Indigenous Peoples’ Day. 

Section 3. That on the second Monday in October of each year the City of Boulder will 
support events that encourage understanding and appreciation of Indigenous Peoples, their 
traditions, culture and our shared history in these ancestral lands known as the Boulder Valley. 

Section 4. That City Council directs its City Manager to work with City departments, 
Native Americans and historians to correct omissions of the Native American presence in public 
places, resources and cultural programming. 

Section 5. That as a first step, in recognition of a Memorandum of Understanding that the 
city entered into with Indigenous tribes concerning open space lands, the city requests input from 
representatives of those tribes regarding a name that commemorates the Indigenous presence on 
the park land known as Settlers Park and second, the city manager considers any application 
submitted to rename the park land based on the input of the Indigenous tribes and interested 
parties. 

Section 6. That the City of Boulder, will work together in partnership with Native 
Americans to encourage all educational institutions in the city to implement accurate curricula 
relevant to the traditions, history and current issues of Indigenous People inclusive of and as part 
of our shared history. 

31

APPROVED this _____day of__________________, 2016

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO

____________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

_____________________________
City Clerk

Agenda Item 5B     Page 31Packet Page 678



Attachment D: Indigenous Peoples’ Day Resolution No. 1190 

i Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981.  Pages 66-67.  
Print. 

ii Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981. Pages 80, 83. 
Print. 

iii Sand Creek Massacre National Historic Site.  National Park Service. Web. 13 July 2016. 

iv Oliver, Arch. Roster of Company D, Third Colorado Cavalry from Boulder, Colorado Territory, 
1943. Carnegie Branch Library for Local History, Boulder Public Library.  (BHS 328-9-34).  
Print. 

v Valentine, Jane Barker. “Chambers Homestead.”  Historic Homes of Boulder County.  Boulder:  
Pruett Publishing, 1979.  Page 143.  Print.  

vi Attention! Indian Fighters.  Poster.  August 1864.  Denver:  History Colorado.  (Military –
Wars-Indian Wars –Sand Creek – posters, Scan #10025731).  Print. 

vii Sand Creek Massacre National Historic Site.  National Park Service. Web. 13 July 2016. 

viii Limerick, Patricia Nelson.  What’s in a Name?  Nichols Hall:  A Report.   Boulder:  
University of Colorado.  September 1987.  Page 55.  Print. 

ix Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981.  Page 280. 
Print. 

x Coel, Margaret.  Chief Left Hand.  Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1981. Page 291. 
Print. 

32Agenda Item 5B     Page 32Packet Page 679



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 2, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. 1189 setting forth findings of facts and 
conclusions, on (1) whether annexation of approximately 1.37 acres of land generally located 
at 96 Arapahoe Avenue would meet the applicable annexation provision of section 30 of 
article II of the State constitution and Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.) sections 
31-12-104 and 31-12-105, and (2) whether or not additional terms and conditions are to be 
imposed were said property to be annexed. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The owner of the property located at 96 Arapahoe Avenue filed a petition seeking annexation of 
the property at 96 Arapahoe Avenue, the annexation map is provided in Attachment A.  On  
June 21, 2016, the City Council adopted Resolution 1186 finding that the annexation petition itself 
is in compliance with State law and that set the date for a public hearing and council action for 
Aug. 2, 2016.  When an annexation petition is consistent with the form requirements of State law, 
a municipality is then required to hold a public hearing and, by resolution, set forth findings of 
facts and conclusions on: (1) whether annexation of approximately 1.37 acres of land generally 
located at 96 Arapahoe Avenue would meet the applicable annexation provision of section 30 of 
article II of the State constitution and sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., and (2) whether 
or not additional terms and conditions are to be imposed were said property to be annexed which is 
the purpose of this item consistent with 31-12-110(a)(2).   

Staff recommends that City Council adopt Resolution 1189 with findings in the recitals which 
conclude that the City Council has jurisdiction and legal authority under section 30 of article II of 
the State constitution and sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., to annex and zone the 
Property. Further, staff recommends that City Council require additional terms and conditions be 
imposed on the annexation of the Property within an annexation agreement that the owner of the 
Property shall sign with the city prior to first reading of an annexation ordinance for the Property.  

Agenda Item 5C     Page 1Packet Page 680



As identified in the petition approved through previous Resolution 1186, the 100 percent owner of 
the property is 96 Arapahoe LLC and the petition was signed by the Manager for the LLC, 
Matthew Johnke. The petition was filed with the City Clerk on May 3, 2016 and the applicant for 
the annexation is Jonathon Warner.  The annexation map is provided in Attachment A.  

On May 5, 2016, Planning Board voted unanimously to recommend City Council deny the 
Annexation and Initial Zoning requested by the applicant citing the staff memorandum and the 
board conversations as findings of fact.  Refer to Board and Commission Feedback in the 
following pages for a summary of the boards’ findings.  The staff memorandum to Planning Board 
and the audio of the proceedings related to the Planning Board’s review are available on the city 
website at the following web links: 

Staff Memorandum: https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/133021/Electronic.aspx 
Planning Board Minutes:https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/133698/Electronic.aspx   

In the past when City Council was asked to consider a petition for annexation, the council adopted 
a resolution setting the public hearing required by State law at the same meeting as the first reading 
of an annexation ordinance. The City Council would typically hold the public hearing required by 
State law on the same night as the second reading of the annexation ordinance.  Prior to first 
reading of the annexation ordinance, as required by the Boulder Revised Code, the owner 
petitioning the city for annexation of property enters into an annexation agreement with the city 
stating the terms and conditions imposed on said property.  Staff has found that the current 
proposal for annexation does not fully meet the intent of Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP) Policy 1.24, Annexation. Staff and the applicant have discussed terms and conditions of 
the annexation multiple times over the past several months to meet the intent of the BVCP, but an 
agreement on such terms was not reached and the applicant instead requested a public hearing.  
Since the owner of the property has not signed the annexation agreement that has specific terms 
and conditions, the first and second reading of a proposed annexation ordinance could not, in this 
case, be scheduled concurrently with the resolution and hearing required under State law. 

However, if at the public hearing on August 2, 2016, City Council finds that the annexation is in 
compliance with State annexation requirements and the relevant BVCP annexation policies, a new 
annexation agreement with other terms and conditions would be required to be drafted and a first 
and second reading of a new annexation ordinance would be required to be scheduled, but only if 
the applicant signs the annexation agreement with the city.  

REGULATORY BACKGROUND:  

The site location, characteristics and surroundings are described under “Analysis” which also 
provides a key issue for discussion of the annexation. Note that the site characteristics establish the 
context upon which the city identified appropriate terms for the annexation, and for which the 
applicant has not been willing to sign the annexation agreement.  The following regulatory context 
establishes the required procedures for moving forward with an annexation on this site in lieu of a 
signed annexation agreement. 
 The  Colorado Revised Statutes 31-12-104 and 105 have eligibility standards upon which an 
annexation may be considered by a municipality which essentially require the following: 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 2Packet Page 681

http://tornado.state.co.us/gov_dir/leg_dir/olls/2013TitlePrintouts/CRS Title 31 (2013).pdf


 The property has, at least, one-sixth contiguity with the perimeter of the city of Boulder.
 Landowners of more than 50 percent of the area (i.e., the area proposed for annexation) and more

than 50 percent of landowners of the area have petitioned to annex;
 The petition was filed with the City Clerk;
 There is a community interest between the property proposed for annexation and the City;
 The subject property does not include any area included in another annexation proceeding involving

a city other than the City of Boulder;
 The annexation would not remove the property from one school district and add it to another; and
 No annexation will take place that extends the boundaries of a municipality more than three miles

in less than one year.

The subject property and petition meet these state law requirements.  The city may therefore 
consider annexation of the property.  Further, section 31-12-110 C.R.S. requires that the city, by 
resolution, shall set forth its findings and among them is the following, 

“(2) The governing body shall also determine whether or not additional terms and 
conditions are to be imposed.” 

Additional terms and conditions are imposed pursuant to an annexation agreement.  The City of 
Boulder adopted specific annexation policies within the BVCP which the city considers in 
annexation decisions and the negotiation of the terms of an annexation agreement.  In that regard, 
BVCP Policy 1.24(d) identifies terms upon which the city will consider annexation of land into the 
city: 

“d) In order to reduce the negative impacts of new development in the Boulder Valley, the city will 
annex Area II land with significant development or redevelopment potential only if the annexation 
provides a special opportunity or benefit to the city. For annexation considerations, emphasis will 
be given to the benefits achieved from the creation of permanently affordable housing. Provision of 
the following may also be considered a special opportunity or benefit: receiving sites for 
transferable development rights (TDRs), reduction of future employment projections, land and/or 
facilities for public purposes over and above that required by the city’s land use regulations, 
environmental preservation, or other amenities determined by the city to be a special opportunity 
or benefit. Parcels that are proposed for annexation that are already developed and which are 
seeking no greater density or building size would not be required to assume and provide that same 
level of community benefit as vacant parcels unless and until such time as an application for 
greater development is submitted.” 

As noted from the underlined text, the applicant requesting annexation must provide a special 
opportunity or benefit to the city with emphasis given to permanently affordable housing.  Other 
considerations relevant to this annexation include both “environmental preservation” and 
“community conservation” such as preservation of long lived trees and historic resources. While 
various terms have been discussed with the applicant during the course of the annexation review, 
the proposal for community benefits were determined by staff to fall short of the offset needed for 
the redevelopment potential of the land, currently proposed for large single family homes.   Table 
1 on the following page is provided to compare the final terms presented by the applicant versus 
the terms and conditions considered acceptable by the city. 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 3Packet Page 682



Table 1:   
Comparison of Applicant’s Proposed Community Benefits and City’s Response 

Special Benefit or Opportunity Applicant’s Final Terms City’s Response to Terms 

Permanently Affordable Housing 3 of 9 units or 42.9 percent 5 of 9 units or 50 percent 
(rounding up) 

Environmental Preservation - Trees Preserve Long Lived Oak Preserve Long Lived Oak 

Environmental Preservation -  Land Dedicate a portion of land 
above Blue Line to OSMP 

Dedicate land above Blue 
Line in entirety to OSMP 

Environmental Preservation -  Land No size restriction on Market 
Rate residential units beyond 
the land use code 
requirements.  

Restrict Market Rate homes 
to no greater than  
2,000 square feet including 
garages. 

Environmental Preservation – Historic Buildings Preserve through private 
covenants through HOA 

Landmark the buildings for 
historic preservation and 
require an established and 
public historic preservation 
process for any alterations to 
structures. 

Environmental Preservation – Removal of Septic Applicant lists removal of 
septic is a community benefit

Removal of septic system is 
a requirement upon 
annexation 

Summary of City’s Response to Terms of Annexation Proposed by Applicant: As can be seen 
in Table 1, the city recommends 50 percent of the units planned on the site be permanently 
affordable residential units. This is based upon the requirement that a percentage resulting in a 
decimal, be rounded up to the nearest whole number.   Because the applicant could potentially 
construct nine or ten units, staff recommends a minimum of 50 percent be permanently affordable.  
The practice for the past several years in annexation is to recommend a range of affordability from 
40 to 60 percent permanently affordable units, commensurate with other community benefits.  
Given the terms provided by the applicant to not landmark the existing historic resources on the 
site identified in the Concept Plan review and to not dedicate the land above the Blue Line and 
Planning Area III Rural Preservation in entirety to OSMP, staff concluded that 50 percent of all 
units on the site should be permanently affordable to offset annexation to construct large single 
family homes.  In addition, to help preserve greater area of land surrounding the proposed homes, 
staff recommended a size restriction on the units of no greater than 2,000 square feet including the 
garages.  Because the terms could not be agreed upon between staff and the applicant, the 
applicant requested the annexation be heard as is permitted.   

Agenda Item 5C     Page 4Packet Page 683



Concept Plan Review Comments:  The City Council reviewed a Concept Plan for the site on 
May 19, 2015.   The council provided feedback to the applicant for the subsequent Site Review.   

The following are links to the Concept Plan staff memo and minutes from City Council’s 
discussion of the Concept Plan: 

Staff Memorandum:  https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/128924/Electronic.aspx 
City Council Minutes: https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/130330/Electronic.aspx 

Among the key issues discussed at both the Planning Board and City Council Concept Plan 
hearings was the need for a greater percentage of affordable housing on the site.  A number of 
council members and Planning Board members indicated that the Concept Plan proposal for three 
of the nine planned residential units as permanently affordable units would not meet the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) policies for annexation (BVCP Policy 1.24, Annexation).   In 
addition, several other key issues including landmarking of the existing house, barn and retaining 
walls were discussed at both Planning Board and City Council hearings of the Concept Plan as 
being a critical community benefit to the city through annexation.  The most recent terms 
presented by the applicant are to “preserve” the existing house and barn through private covenants 
rather than pursue landmarking of the house, barn and retaining walls. Staff has recommended 
landmarking these features such that they would be placed into an established historic preservation 
process with city standards and review.   

Further, the area above the Blue Line, coincident with the BVCP Planning Area III Rural Preserve 
designation, is identified in the BVCP and city charter as an area where no density or development 
is anticipated.  Staff recommended the area above the Blue Line be dedicated to the city as Open 
Space, contiguous with other Open Space lands to the east and south, to ensure continuity and 
avoid fragmentation of Open Space above the Blue Line as is recommended in the BVCP policy 
3.04.  For the Planning Board hearing, the applicant proposed preserving approximately half the 
area above the Blue Line as a “Scenic Easement” which would restrict construction or 
development but would not be part of the Open Space and Mountain Parks owned property.  Since 
that time, the applicant has proposed that the area formerly proposed as a Scenic Easement (the 
upper, southern-most half of the area above the Blue Line) could instead be dedicated as Open 
Space.  However, the applicant would still like to use half the area above the Blue Line as a 
landscaped area for use by the residents as shown in Figure 1 below.  The applicant has indicated 
that the area to be used by residents above the Blue Line has been altered by terracing over the 
years, and that the area to be dedicated to Open Space and Mountain Parks would be steep slopes 
that are unusable by residents.   

During the course of discussions with the applicant, staff recommended that the applicant file an 
application for Site Review for simultaneous review of the plans for redevelopment with the 
petition for annexation.  However, the applicant opted to not apply for Site Review until after 
annexation.  At the Planning Board hearing on the proposed annexation, the board also voted 
unanimously to recommend to council that the applicant return with a Site Review to be reviewed 
simultaneous with a new petition for annexation.   

Agenda Item 5C     Page 5Packet Page 684



Without a Site Review application to review redevelopment on the site and without mutually 
acceptable terms for community benefits that would be consistent with BVCP Policies, the 
applicant has requested to move forward with annexation without a staff recommendation of 
approval.   Despite the lack of an agreement between the applicant and staff on the terms for 
annexation, under state law the applicant is entitled to a hearing before the City Council upon 
request to consider the annexation and adoption of a resolution setting forth findings of facts and 
conclusions (1) whether annexation of approximately 1.37 acres of land generally located at 96 
Arapahoe Avenue would meet the applicable annexation provision of section 30 of article II of the 
State constitution and sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., and (2) whether or not additional 
terms and conditions are to be imposed were said property to be annexed and written into an 
annexation agreement. The proposed resolution complies with procedural requirements established 
by state law.  The proposed resolution does not annex the property nor create a requirement or 
right that the city annex the property.  Propery may be annexed to the city only by ordinance and 
the discretion of whether or not to annex the property remains a legislative decision of city council. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion: 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Motion to adopt Resolution 1189 setting forth findings of facts and conclusions, on  
(1) whether annexation of approximately 1.37 acres of land generally located at 96 Arapahoe 
Avenue would meet the applicable annexation provision of section 30 of article II of the State 
constitution and sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., and (2) whether or not additional 
terms and conditions are to be imposed were said property to be annexed and written into an 
annexation agreement. 

Figure 1:   
Applicant’s new proposal to dedicate upper half of land above Blue Line as Open Space 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 6Packet Page 685



Annexations are subject to county referral and city Planning Board recommendation prior to City 
Council action. The county indicated support for the annexation. The Planning Board hearing 
was held on May 5, 2016 and there was no public comment.  Planning Board found the 
annexation was not consistent with State statutes and city policies and the board unanimously 
recommended that the City Council deny the Annexation incorporating the staff memorandum 
and board conversation as findings of fact.  

In addition, the board voted unanimously to recommend that the applicant provide a Site Review 
application simultaneous to application for annexation.  The board indicated that without a Site 
Review application for the site, the terms and merits of the annexation could not be fully 
analyzed or understood.  While the applicant did provide preliminary plans in the Concept Plan 
review, those plans weren’t subject to an approval and therefore, there was no means of 
determining consistency with the BVCP policies.  

The board also reviewed several mapping “errors” pertaining to slight inconsistencies between 
the Planning Area II, the BVCP Land Use, and the Blue Line which do not impact the terms of 
annexation, but which require correction. The board noted that outside of an annexation process, 
the mapping changes could be corrected through the BVCP Update process. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, “Public Notice Requirements,” B.R.C. 1981 have been 
met. Compliance with these requirements included public notice in the form of written notification 
mailed to all property owners within 600 feet of the subject property, and a sign posted on the 
property for at least 10 days prior to the public hearing as required.  

ANALYSIS OF SITE CHARACTERISTICS AND ANNEXATION TERMS 

Site and Surroundings.  As shown in Figures 2 and 3, the 1.37 acres site is located at the western 
periphery of the city limits, both at the northern base of Flagstaff Mountain and in an area that 
demarks transition into the Boulder Canyon.  As such, the upper reaches on the south side of the 
property have steeper slopes, and development on the property has created a series of terraces. 

The upper portion of the site that is located above the Blue Line transitions from terraced 
topography to extremely steep slopes: some at a 1 to1 slope.  Figure 3 illustrates the topography of 
the site.  Further above the Blue Line, the site is densely forested with various conifer tree species 
predominately ponderosa pine with some Douglas fir. At the base of the property, aligning 
Arapahoe Avenue is the Anderson Ditch, one of the oldest ditches in the City that was used to help 
develop the City in the late 1800s. 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK

Agenda Item 5C     Page 7Packet Page 686



Figure 3: 
Site at the northern 

base of Flagstaff 
Mountain 

Figure 2: 
Site Location on 

Western Periphery  

Agenda Item 5C     Page 8Packet Page 687



The site was originally developed in the 1940s and 1950s by Wayne Nuzum who operated a 
nursery and landscaping business at the property for over 50 years and who is considered one of 
Boulder’s most premier gardeners.  

The property includes a one- and one-half story residence built by the Nuzum’s as a residnece in 
the 1950s along with a large warehouse/barn used for Nuzum’s nursery constructed in the mid to 
late 1940s with an addition in 1956. The south wall of the barn is built into the hillside terrace.   
There is also an out building on the upper terrace of the site that is a corrugated metal shed.  The 
house and the barn are shown below in Figures 5 and 6.  

Figure 4:  Varied Site Topography with Terracing Evident 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 9Packet Page 688



Figures 6a,b,c,d: Existing Barn (historic images and today) 

Figures 5a, b, c:  Existing House historic images and today 

Surrounding Context. Located directly west of the site is the roughly 3.2 acre Silver Saddle 
Motel property at 90 West Arapahoe Ave. The motel was built in the mid 1940s with nine log 
cabin style motel units. An application for annexation was also received by the property owner to 
redevelop the Silver Saddle Motel property. 

To the east of the property is Canyonside Office Park, located at 100 Arapahoe. During the 
September 2013 Flood, the easternmost portion of the property was destroyed by a mud flow as 
shown in Figure 8a and 8b. There are two remaining office buildings on the site that remain 
functional today. 

As can be seen in the Google Earth image of Figure 9, the 100 Arapahoe Ave. property that 
suffered destruction in the flooding is at the base of a distinct drainage basin that is incised into the 
hillside.  Similarly, the property at 90 Arapahoe has a distinct drainage swale that is also incised 
into the hillside.  

Figures 7a thru 7d 
Adjacent Silver Saddle Motel (historic to present day) 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 10Packet Page 689



According to the property owners of 90 Arapahoe, the flood flows in 2013, passed down the 
hillside and flowed onto the existing road on that property that is lower in elevation than the 
existing site that was not impacted by flooding during the 2013 flood event.  

Further east, at 210 Arapahoe is a 13-unit, medium density condominium development, Park 
Gables, annexed in 2006 and built in 2007. The density of the site is similar to the density 
proposed for the project site. Refer to Figures 8a and 8b that illustrate the development from  
Arapahoe Avenue as well as in an aerial photo.   

Adjacent Property at 100 
Arapahoe 

96 
Arapahoe 

Figures 8a and 8b: 

Aerial of Adjacent Property and Photo of Building destroyed in 2013 Flood 
Event 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 11Packet Page 690



Approximately 35 percent of the site is located above the Blue Line which is a development 
boundary line created through a city charter amendment approved by voters in 1959. The Blue 
Line defines a specific topographic contour above which extension of the water utility is not 
permitted.  As is apparent in the figure ground plane map shown in Figure 10, the Blue Line is 
continuous throughout most of the western portion of the city.  However, in the area where the site 
is located, the contour wasn’t well established, possibly due to grading that had occurred on the 
site prior to the charter amendment.  In the area adjacent to the site, a 1981 amendment was 
approved that provided a specific legal description that was mapped for that portion.  Shown in 
Figure 11 is the legal mapped description of the Blue Line within the property.   

The Blue Line is defined per the City’s Charter, Article VIII: Franchises and Public Utilities, 
Section 128A, “The City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial 
uses to land lying on the westward side of the following described line, except as specifically 
Stated herein.” 

The portion of the site that is above the Blue Line is also designated under the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan as,  “Planning Area III Rural Preservation” shown in Figure 12 and as 
described on page 27 of the BVCP,  

a) The Area III-Rural Preservation Area is that portion of Area III where rural land uses and character will
be preserved through existing and new rural land use preservation techniques and no new urban
development will be allowed during the planning period. Rural land uses to be preserved to the greatest
possible extent include: rural town sites (Eldorado Springs, Marshall and Valmont); existing county
rural residential subdivisions (primarily along Eldorado Springs Drive, on Davidson Mesa west of
Louisville, adjacent to Gunbarrel, and in proximity to Boulder Reservoir); city and county acquired open
space and parkland; sensitive environmental areas and hazard areas that are unsuitable for urban
development; significant agricultural lands; and lands that are unsuitable for urban development

Figure 9: 
Google Earth Image showing site in relation to adjacent drainage swales 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 12Packet Page 691



because of a high cost of extending urban services or scattered locations, which are not conducive to 
maintaining a compact community. 

Figure 10:  

Portion of the Blue Line on west side of the 
City of Boulder 

Figure 11:   
Blue Line 

1981 Amendment: 

(established a specific legal 
description for Blue Line 

within the Site and adjacent 
property) 

1981 Charter Amendment Legal Description 

Figure 12:   
BVCP Planning Areas 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 13Packet Page 692



Because the intent of the Area III Rural Preserve is to preserve areas such as undevelopable steep 
slopes and the intent of the Blue Line is to limit extension of water utility above the Blue Line, 
density is not intended for that part of the site.  Therefore, density calculations must be limited to 
only the area below the Blue Line.  As shown below, the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP) land use map (Figure 13) identifies the property along West Arapahoe Avenue that 
includes the property and that to the east and west, for Medium Density Residential, which is 
defined as having six to 14 dwelling units per acre.  

Also noted as a part of the BVCP for this area of Boulder is that the site is encompassed in an area 
known as a “Natural Ecosystem Overlay” defined on 68 of the BVCP as follows: 

In order to encourage environmental preservation, a Natural Ecosystem overlay is applied over 
Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designations throughout the Boulder Valley Planning Area. Natural 
ecosystems are defined as areas that support native plants and animals or possess important ecological, 
biological or geological values that represent the rich natural history of the Boulder Valley. The Natural 
Ecosystems overlay also identifies connections and buffers that are important for sustaining biological 
diversity and viable habitats for native species, for protecting the ecological health of certain natural 
systems, and to buffer potential impacts from adjacent land uses. A Natural Ecosystems overlay will not 
necessarily preclude development or human use of a particular area or supersede any other land use 
designation but will serve to identify certain 2010 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan environmental issues 
in the area. The overlay will serve to guide the city and the county in decisions about public acquisition, 
purchase of development rights or conservation easements, promotion of private land conservation practices, 
density transfers, rezonings, development review, annexations and initial zonings, rezonings, service area 
boundary changes, and subcommunity and departmental master planning. A description of the criteria used 
to identify lands suitable for a Natural Ecosystems designation can be found in the environmental resources 
element of the plan on the web at: www.bouldervalleycompplan.net. 

Figure 13: 
BVCP Land Use Map also illustrating 

Natural Ecosystem Overlay Areas 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 14Packet Page 693



Key Issue for Discussion:  Is the proposed annexation consistent with State statutes and City 
of Boulder policy pertaining to the annexation of a property into the City of Boulder? 

State Annexation Policies  

State Annexation Policies 31-12-104 and 31-12-105 reference Colorado Revised Statute 31-12-110 
for annexation. Staff and the Planning Board find that the proposed annexation does not comply, in 
particular, with section (b)(2) as follows. 

(2)  Additional terms and conditions on the annexation. Additional terms or conditions 
may be imposed by the governing body in accordance with section 31-12-112. 

Terms of annexation were enumerated in the Draft Annexation Agreement, found in  
Attachment D, which constitutes memorandum of agreement between the City and the applicant 
consistent with section 31-12-112, C.R.S.; the applicant chose to not sign the agreement. 

City of Boulder Annexation Policy   

Staff found that while the site is eligible for annexation in that a majority of the site is located 
within Planning Area II, the annexation as proposed by the applicant, was found to not be 
consistent with the BVCP Annexation Policy related to the provision of community benefit, BVCP 
Policy 1.24(d) as follows: 

“In order to reduce the negative impacts of new development in the Boulder Valley, the 
city will annex Area II land with significant development or redevelopment potential only 
if the annexation provides a special opportunity or benefit to the city. For annexation 
considerations, emphasis will be given to the benefits achieved from the creation of 
permanently affordable housing. Provision of the following may also be considered a 
special opportunity or benefit: receiving sites for transferable development rights 
(TDRs), reduction of future employment projections, land and/or facilities for public 
purposes over and above that required by the city’s land use regulations, environmental 
preservation, or other amenities determined by the city to be a special opportunity or 
benefit. Parcels that are proposed for annexation that are already developed and which 
are seeking no greater density or building size would not be required to assume and 
provide that same level of community benefit as vacant parcels unless and until such 
time as an application for greater development is submitted.” 

The applicant’s written Statement provided in Attachment C indicates an alternative means to 
preserve the historic buildings on the site.  Rather than seeking individual landmark status for both 
the existing barn and the existing house as previously proposed, the applicant has indicated 
preservation would be through covenants and application for demolition.  Further, there is no 
proposal by the applicant to landmark the Anderson Ditch headwall or the original stone retaining 
walls on the property, as was discussed at Concept Plan. The applicant indicated the benefit of 
preserving the existing long lived oak on the property.  Further, the applicant is proposing 42.9 
percent of the proposed residential units (or three of the nine units) would be provided as 
permanently affordable rather than the 50 percent that staff recommends. The applicant proposes 
that the area of the site above the Blue Line (and within Planning Area III Rural Preserve) would 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 15Packet Page 694

http://web.lexisnexis.com/research/buttonTFLink?_m=2ffcc82f32c112f1ab36ed6852c0da37&_xfercite=%3ccite%20cc%3d%22USA%22%3e%3c%21%5bCDATA%5bC.R.S.%2031-12-106%5d%5d%3e%3c%2fcite%3e&_butType=4&_butStat=0&_butNum=15&_butInline=1&_butinfo=COCODE%2031-12-112&_fmtstr=FULL&docnum=1&_startdoc=1&wchp=dGLzVzt-zSkAA&_md5=b88f3c86f5221376e45dac0381a17a3a


be a Scenic Easement, with the flat (terraced) portion of that area used by the residents as an open 
space amenity. It is staff’s recommendation that the area above the Blue Line be dedicated in fee to 
the City of Boulder’s Open Space and Mountain Parks consistent with the property immediately 
adjacent to the east. 

Comments from the Concept Plan review from both Planning Board and City Council included 
recommendations that the applicant look to a greater number of permanently affordable units on 
the site and that the market rate residential units be smaller than was proposed at Concept Plan.  
For this reason, staff recommends a size restriction for market rate units with the building footprint 
not exceeding 2,000 square feet including the garage space.  Net zero energy efficiency was also 
discussed at Concept Plan review for which a condition of annexation was added by staff in the 
draft agreement. 

It is important to note that the terms of annexation are negotiated and the outcomes vary on a case-
by-case basis. While staff and the applicant have discussed the terms of the community benefit 
over the course of a number of months, the applicant has requested the application proposal be 
heard under the terms that they are currently proposing (refer to Attachment C, Written 
Statement).  Because many of the terms put forth by the applicant varied significantly from 
previous terms from Concept Plan, the city’s response was to forward an annexation agreement 
with terms that could meet BVCP Policy 1.24 (cited above under Key Issue 2).  In an email sent to 
staff dated April 25, 2016, the applicant confirmed that they received the draft Annexation 
Agreement and States, “we decline to sign it in its current form.” The Draft Annexation Agreement 
includes, but is not limited to, the following terms: 

 Site Review application prior to building permit or subdivision

 Pay Plant Investment Fees for existing development

 Conveyance to the City of Anderson Ditch shares

 Fee simple dedication of area above Blue Line to the city’s OSMP for preservation and
management

 For that portion of the property that currently lies within Planning Area III, Rural
Preservation of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, no development shall occur
within that land area and that same land area shall not be considered to determine the
development potential of the Property under Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 1981.

 Net zero energy efficiency for the development

 Application for landmarking of the existing house, barn, retaining walls and Anderson
Ditch head gate and walls.

 Market unit size restriction, no unit greater than 2,200 sq. ft. of floor area including in
attached garages.

 Affordable housing requirement:

o 50% of all units shall be permanently affordable (PAs)

Agenda Item 5C     Page 16Packet Page 695



o 50% of all permanently affordable units (PAs) shall be affordable to middle
income households (households earning the Federal Housing and Urban
Development (“HUD”) low income limit plus twenty-five percent and qualifying
household incomes shall be set at HUD plus thirty-five percent.

o 50% of all permanently affordable units (Pas) shall be affordable to
low/moderate income households; currently low moderate prices are set at the
federal Housing and Urban Development (HUD) low income limit for Boulder
and qualifying household incomes are set at HUD plus ten percent (HUD +
10%) 

o All affordable units shall have no fewer than two bedrooms
o Each affordable unit shall include a useable yard or deck no smaller than 200

square feet
o The floor area of each two bedroom unit excluding garages shall be 1,200

square feet plus/minus fifty percent
o The permanently affordable units shall have parking accommodations and

garages of similar size and design as the market units on the property.
o PAs constructed concurrent with market and integrated throughout.

Consistency of the Initial Zoning with the BVCP Goals/Policies.  Per the Land Use Code 
section 9-2-17 “Zoning of Annexed Land,” B.R.C. 1981, initial zoning “shall be consistent with the 
goals and land use designations of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.”    The following is a 
consistency analysis with the planned initial zoning of RM-3 to several specific BVCP policies: 

2.03 Compact Development Pattern 
The city and county will, by implementing the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, ensure that 
development will take place in an orderly fashion, take advantage of existing urban services, 
and avoid, insofar as possible, patterns of leapfrog, noncontiguous, scattered development 
within the Boulder Valley. The city prefers redevelopment and infill as compared to 
development in an expanded Service Area in order to prevent urban sprawl and create a 
compact community. 

If the terms for annexation were found to meet other criteria and the land were annexed 
with an initial zoning of RM-3, that zoning would be consistent with the Medium Density 
Residential Land use and with these designations the city anticipates urban development as 
part of the compact development pattern for this part of the city.   

2.04 Open Space Preservation 
The city and county will permanently preserve lands with open space values by purchasing or 
accepting donations of fee simple interests, conservation easements or development rights and 
other measures as appropriate and financially feasible. Open space values include use of land 
for urban shaping and preservation of natural areas, environmental and cultural resources, 
critical ecosystems, water resources, agricultural land, scenic vistas and land for passive 
recreational use. 

The initial zoning of RM-3 could only apply to the area of the property that is below the 
Blue Line and within Planning Area II.  Through the terms of annexation as proposed by 
the city, the area above the Blue Line and Planning Area III- Rural Preserve would meet 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 17Packet Page 696



this policy by ensuring preservation of that land in perpetuity.  However, the applicant has 
not agreed to dedicate land above the Blue Line in fee.    

2.16 Mixed Use and Higher Density Development 
The city will encourage well-designed mixed use and higher density development that 
incorporates a substantial amount of affordable housing in appropriate locations, including in 
some commercial centers and industrial areas and in proximity to multimodal corridors and 
transit centers.  

The RM-3 zoning is a comparatively higher density zoning.  While this initial zoning is 
consistent with the BVCP land use where density of up to 14 dwelling units per acre are 
anticipated; on a property within ¼ to ½ mile walking distance of several bus transit lines 
(including:  the N, the Climb, and the 205), there is not a “substantial amount of affordable 
housing” planned as a part of the terms of annexation by the applicant.    

2.33 Environmentally Sensitive Urban Design 
For capital improvements and private development, the city and county will strive to ensure that 
buildings, streets, utilities and other infrastructure are located and designed to protect natural 
systems, minimize energy use, urban heat island effects and air and water pollution, and 
support clean energy generation. 

Located outside of the area designated as Planning Area III Rural Preservation, the area of 
the site planned for RM-3 zoning will ensure preservation of rural land use and a defined 
line for urban development.  This will further ensure that the buildings, streets, utilities and 
other infrastructure are located on the site to protect natural systems, as the policy requires.  
According to page 27 of the BVCP, the intent of the Planning Area III Rural Preservation 
designation is “where rural land uses and character will be preserved through existing and 
new rural land use preservation techniques and no new urban development will be allowed 
during the planning period.” However, this policy consistency applies only to the initial 
zoning of RM-3 in the planned location on the site, as the applicant indicated preference to 
instead utilize a portion of the area above the Blue Line for private open space use for the 
residents of the property.   

3.03 Natural Ecosystems 
The city and county will protect and restore significant native ecosystems on public and private 
lands through land use planning, development review, conservation easements, acquisition and 
public land management practices. The protection and enhancement of biological diversity and 
habitat for federal endangered and threatened species and State, county and local species of 
concern will be emphasized. Degraded habitat may be restored and selected extirpated species 
may be reintroduced as a means of enhancing native flora and fauna in the Boulder Valley. 

And 

3.04 Ecosystem Connections and Buffers 
The city and county recognize the importance of preserving large areas of unfragmented habitat 
in supporting the biodiversity of its natural lands and viable habitat for native species. The city 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 18Packet Page 697



and county will work together to preserve, enhance, restore and maintain undeveloped lands 
critical for providing ecosystem connections and buffers for joining significant ecosystems. 

The initial zoning of RM-3 for the area of the site as identified in Figure 17c, below the 
Blue Line and outside of the area identified as Area III Rural Preservation, would be 
consistent with these policies only if the annexation terms to dedicate in fee the land above 
the Blue Line were agreed to by the applicant. This will ensure contiguous Open Space 
lands to ensure ecosystem connectivity.  

The site also is encompassed within an area mapped as a “Natural Ecosystem Overlay” as 
noted on page 68 of the BVCP  

“In order to encourage environmental preservation, a Natural Ecosystem overlay is 
applied over Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designations throughout the Boulder 
Valley Planning Area. Natural ecosystems are defined as areas that support native 
plants and animals or possess important ecological, biological or geological values 
that represent the rich natural history of the Boulder Valley. The Natural 
Ecosystems overlay also identifies connections and buffers that are important for 
sustaining biological diversity and viable habitats for native species, for protecting 
the ecological health of certain natural systems, and to buffer potential impacts 
from adjacent land uses. A Natural Ecosystems overlay will not necessarily 
preclude development or human use of a particular area or supersede any other 
land use designation but will serve to identify certain 2010 Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan environmental issues in the area. The overlay will serve to 
guide the city and the county in decisions about public acquisition, purchase of 
development rights or conservation easements, promotion of private land 
conservation practices, density transfers, rezonings, development review, 
annexations and initial zonings, rezonings, service area boundary changes, and 
subcommunity and departmental master planning. A description of the criteria used 
to identify lands suitable for a Natural Ecosystems designation can be found in the 
environmental resources element of the plan on the web at: 
www.bouldervalleycompplan.net.” 

Given the location of the site within the Natural Ecosystem Overlay, any development would 
occur below the Blue Line and outside of Planning Area III Rural Preserve. Dedication of land 
above the Blue Line to OSMP will help to establish opportunity for greater ecosystem 
connectivity and less fragmentation of habitat. 

2.31 Design of Newly-Developing Areas 
The city will encourage a neighborhood concept for new development that includes a variety of 
residential densities, housing types, sizes and prices, opportunities for shopping, nearby support 
services and conveniently sited public facilities, including roads and pedestrian connections, 
parks, libraries and schools. 

The planned RM-3 density will permit a variety of residential densities of up to  
12.4 dwelling units per acre.  The density that is planned is consistent with this policy; 
however, the terms of the annexation offered by the applicant would not encourage a 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 19Packet Page 698



significant range of types, sizes or prices particularly given the limited scope of 
affordability offered by the applicant.   

7.01 Local Solutions to Affordable Housing 
The city and county will employ local regulations, policies, and programs to meet the housing 
needs of their low and moderate income households and workforce. Appropriate federal, State 
and local programs and resources will be used locally and in collaboration with other 
jurisdictions. The city recognizes that affordable housing provides a significant community 
benefit and will continually monitor and evaluate its policies, programs and regulations to 
further the city’s affordable housing goals. 

And 

7.02 Permanently Affordable Housing 
The city will increase the proportion of permanently affordable housing units to an overall goal 
of at least ten percent of the total existing housing stock through regulations, financial subsidies 
and other means. City resources will also be directed toward maintaining existing permanently 
affordable housing units and securing replacements for lost low and very low income units.  

While a density of RM-3 permits up to 12.4 dwelling units per acre, the only means for 
establishing permanently affordable housing on the site is through annexation.  While the 
applicant is proposing 42.9 percent permanently affordable housing as a community benefit 
for the site (equivalent to three of the planned nine units on the site per the applicant’s 
written Statement), the policy and practice for the past several years has been that  
40 to 60 percent of the new residential development would be permanently affordable to 
low and middle income households, usually split evenly between the two income groups. 
This percentage is determined based on the other community benefits offered by the 
applicant at the time of annexation.  Because the community benefit that was offered by the 
applicant beyond the three permanently affordable residential units (along with 
preservation of the Oak tree and preservation of the historic buildings only through 
covenants and the demolition permit process) the terms of the annexation would not meet 
this policy. 

CONCLUSION: 
Staff recommends that City Council adopt Resolution 1189 with findings in the recitals which 
conclude that the City Council has jurisdiction and legal authority under section 30 of article II of 
the State constitution and sections 31-12-104 and 31-12-105, C.R.S., to annex and zone the 
Property. Further, staff recommends that City Council require additional terms and conditions be 
imposed on the annexation of the Property within an annexation agreement that the owner of the 
Property shall sign with the city prior to first reading of an annexation ordinance for the Property. 
The additional terms should be reflective of the impacts created by annexation and redevelopment 
of large scale single family residential buildings and impacts to existing environmental and historic 
resources. 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 20Packet Page 699



ATTACHMENTS: 

A: Annexation Map 
B: Resolution No.1189 
C: Applicant’s Written Statement 
D: Draft Annexation Agreement 
E: Annexation Petition 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 21Packet Page 700



Attachment A - Annexation Map 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 22Packet Page 701



Attachment B - Resolution No. 1189

Agenda Item 5C     Page 23Packet Page 702



Attachment B - Resolution No. 1189

Agenda Item 5C     Page 24Packet Page 703



Attachment B - Resolution No. 1189

Agenda Item 5C     Page 25Packet Page 704



Attachment C - Applicant's Written Statement 

LINK TO WRITTEN STATEMENT FOUND 

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/31278 



For Administrative Use Only 
Address:  96 Arapahoe Avenue 
Applicant:  96 Arapahoe Avenue LLC 
Approval No.  LUR2014-00068  

ANNEXATION AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, made this _____ day of ______________, 20___, by and between the City of 
Boulder, a Colorado home rule city, hereinafter referred to as "City," and 96 Arapahoe Avenue, LLC, a Colorado 
limited liability company, hereinafter referred to as "Applicant:" 

WITNESSETH: 

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Applicant is the owner of the real property generally described as 96 Arapahoe Avenue 
and more particularly described on Exhibit A, included by reference and hereby made a part of this Agreement (the 
"Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant is interested in obtaining approval from the City of a request for the annexation 
of the Property with an initial zoning designation of Residential - Medium 3 (RM-3); and 

WHEREAS, the City is interested in insuring that certain terms and conditions of annexation be met by the 
Applicant in order to protect the public health, safety and welfare and prevent the placement of an unreasonable 
burden on the physical, social, economic, or environmental resources of the City. 

COVENANTS 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, promises and covenants herein set forth and other 
good and valuable consideration herein receipted for, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Requirements.  The Applicant shall be required to do the following:

A. Prior to first reading of the annexation ordinance before City Council, the Applicant shall: 

i. Provide an updated title commitment current within 30 days.

ii. Pay a Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee of $29,318.00, in
accordance with Section 11-5-7, B.R.C. 1981, based upon an impervious area of 13,700
square feet.

iii. Pay the Housing Excise Tax of $617.32, in accordance with Section 3-9-2, B.R.C. 1981,
based upon a square footage of 2,684 square feet.

iv. Convey to the City, at no cost to the City, all of the shares of the Anderson Ditch
associated with the Property by quitclaim deed and stock assignment.

v. Sign and file petitions for inclusion in the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District
– Boulder Municipal Sub-District and pay all applicable fees on land and improvements
for inclusion in such districts.

vi. Convey to the City, at no cost to the City, by deed, the southern portion of the Property
that is located above the Blue Line, substantially in the form attached as Exhibit B and
subject to approval of the City Manager.

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 27Packet Page 706



vii. At the time of applying for building permits including an addition or redevelopment of
the existing residence, an automatic fire sprinkler system shall be installed within the
residence.

B. Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for a new dwelling unit or new building on the 
Property, the Applicant shall construct or reconstruct and complete the following public 
improvements, meeting the City of Boulder Design and Construction Standards, and subject to 
review and acceptance by the City Manager: 

i. Construction of a five-foot wide detached sidewalk and landscape strip  along the south
side of Arapahoe Avenue and adjacent to the Property, and

ii. Reconstruction of the entire width of Arapahoe Avenue adjacent to the Property which
shall include the following improvements:

a. Removal and replacement of the existing concrete curb-and-gutter on the north
and the south side of Arapahoe Avenue.

b. Removal and replacement of the existing concrete cross-pan on Arapahoe
Avenue.

c. Removal and replacement of six-inches of the existing pavement section of
Arapahoe Avenue with six-inches of asphalt concrete.

C. Prior to issuance of a building permit for a new dwelling unit on the Property, the Applicant shall 
dedicate to the City, at no cost to the City, the following easements, meeting the City of Boulder 
Design and Construction Standards, as part of Technical Document Review applications, the form 
and final location of which shall be subject to the approval of the City Manager: 

i. A public access easement along the south side of Arapahoe Avenue to accommodate a
detached five-foot wide sidewalk and a minimum eight-foot wide landscape strip
between the back of the roadway curb to one-foot beyond the back of the sidewalk.

ii. An at least twenty-foot wide public access easement through the site to provide public
and emergency access from Arapahoe Avenue through the site and to the property west
of the site.

D. Prior to an application for a building permit on the Property, the Applicant shall submit an 
application to the City for and pursue in good faith a landmark designation for all or part of the 
Property which shall include the existing house, barn, retaining walls, and Anderson Ditch head 
gate and walls.  

E. Prior to an application for a subdivision or a building permit for addition of floor area or 
construction of a new building on the Property, the Applicant shall submit an application for Site 
Review pursuant to the standards of Section 9-2-14, “Site Review,” B.R.C. 1981, for the 
development of the Property.  No proposal to modify a site plan approved for the Property under 
Section 9-2-14, B.R.C. 1981, shall be approved except consistent with the standards for 
modifications and amendments of approved site plans in Section 9-2-14, B.R.C. 1981. 

F. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the Applicant shall provide plans as a part of the building 
permit application that demonstrate that the existing oak tree on the Property, identified within a 
tree inventory to be provided by the applicant, will be preserved both during and after construction 
and maintained for its natural life. 

G. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the Applicant shall submit plans, subject to 

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 28Packet Page 707



review and approval by the city manager, that demonstrate that the total amount 
of energy used by each principal building, excluding any electric vehicle use in 
the buildings, on an annual basis, based on the anticipated users of each building, 
is roughly equal to the amount of renewable energy created on site (Net Zero 
Energy Efficiency). 

2. Affordable Housing.  The parties agree that this Agreement is a voluntary agreement
between the City and the Applicant that may limit prices on dwelling units on the
Property to ensure that they are constructed and maintained as permanently affordable
for-sale housing.  The Applicant agrees that fifty percent (50%) of any dwelling units on
the Property, either new or rehabilitated, shall be permanently affordable and shall meet
the requirements provided below as units that are owned by individual home owners. The
permanently affordable units may not be provided as rentals. If any of the percent
calculation results in a fraction the total number of required permanently affordable units
shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number. Permanently affordable deed restricting
covenants are required to secure the affordability of dwelling units. The covenant(s) shall
be signed and recorded with the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder prior to application
for any residential building permit. The City Manager shall have the authority to modify
the requirements set forth in this Paragraph 2 provided that the specifically proposed
development would provide an affordable housing benefit that is equivalent to the benefit
described herein.

A. Permanently Affordable For-sale Units. All permanent affordable units on the Property shall be 
for-sale units.  Fifty percent (50%) of the affordable units shall be priced to be affordable to low or 
moderate income households and fifty percent (50%) shall be priced to be affordable to middle 
income households consistent with the following: 

i. Permanently Affordable - Low/moderate Income. The Applicant agrees to provide fifty
percent (50%) of any permanently affordable units to be affordable for low/moderate
income households. Low/moderate income prices shall be set consistent with the
requirements of Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 1981, as amended and
applicable at the time of the deed restricting covenant is signed. Currently low moderate
prices are set at the federal Housing and Urban Development (HUD) low income limit for
Boulder and qualifying household incomes are set at HUD plus ten percent (HUD +
10%).  

ii. Permanently Affordable – Middle Income. The Applicant agrees to provide fifty percent
(50%) of any permanently affordable units to be affordable for middle income
households. Middle income prices shall be set to be affordable to households earning the
federal Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) low income limit plus twenty-five
percent (HUD +25%) and qualifying household incomes shall be set at HUD plus  thirty-
five percent (HUD + 35%).

iii. Final Unit Pricing.  In addition to the income limits described above, affordable for-sale
unit pricing shall be adjusted based on the unit’s size and number of bedrooms and
bathrooms.  Final unit pricing shall be determined and established when either an interim
affordable covenant or a final affordable covenant is executed, whichever is first.

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 29Packet Page 708



    

iv. Rounding Rule. If the percent calculations in this section result in a fraction, the total 
number of units affordable to middle income households shall be rounded up to the 
nearest whole number and the total number of units affordable to low/moderate income 
households shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number. 

 
B. Consistency with Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 1981 and related Administrative 

Regulations.  The Applicant agrees that except as specifically modified by this Agreement, 
implementation of the affordable housing requirements under this Agreement will be consistent 
with Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 1981, and related Inclusionary Housing 
Administrative Regulations of the City of Boulder. 

 
C. Affordable Unit Characteristics.   

All affordable units shall be designed consistent with the following standards: 
 

i. All affordable units shall have no fewer than two bedrooms; 
 

ii. Each affordable unit shall include a usable yard or deck no smaller than 
200 square feet;  
 

iii. The floor area of each affordable unit excluding garages shall be no 
smaller than 900 with an average size of 1,200 square feet. 

 
D. Parking and Garage. The permanently affordable units shall have parking 

accommodations and garages of similar size and design as the market units on the 
Property.  

 
E. Concurrency.  The permanently affordable units must be provided concurrently 

with the market units such that for each building permit issued for one market rate 
unit one building permit must have been issued for an affordable unit. 

 
F. Distribution. The affordable units may be provided on the north portion of the site 

however, no more than two affordable units shall be provided in the existing and 
rehabilitated house and shed.  

 
G. Site and Floor Plan Approval.  Prior to signing the affordable covenant and no 

later than a building permit submittal for any permanently affordable units, the 
Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the City Manager for 
documentation, including, but not limited to, a site plan showing the location of 
the affordable units,  floor plans and finish specifications, demonstrating that the 
permanently affordable units meet the requirements of this Agreement and of 
Chapter 9-13, “Inclusionary Housing,” B.R.C. 1981, and are consistent with the 
City’s Livability Standards for Permanently Affordable Housing. No building 
permit or affordable covenant for a permanently affordable unit shall be accepted 
until the location, size, type, fixtures, finishes and building design are accepted by 
the City Manager. 

 
H. Floor Area. The floor area requirements for permanently affordable units in this Section 2 shall be 

determined based on the definition of “floor area attached” or “floor area detached,” as applicable, 
of Section 9-16-1, “General Definitions,  B.R.C. 1981, except that the calculation shall exclude 

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 30Packet Page 709



100% of the floor area in attached garages that are primarily used for personal storage or for the 
parking of automobiles for the occupants of the dwelling unit.  

I. Agreement to Abide by Restrictions.  The Applicant agrees to construct, restrict, 
and sell permanently affordable units as described and required by this 
Agreement.  The Applicant agrees that no dwelling units shall be established 
unless the requirements of this paragraph have been met.  The Applicant further 
agrees that the City may withhold any approval affecting the Property, including, 
without limitation, a building permit, administrative review, use review, site 
review, and subdivision, until the requirements of this paragraph have been 
satisfied. 

J. Market Rate Unit Size.  The Applicant agrees that no market rate unit on the 
Property shall have a floor area that exceeds 2,200 square feet including floor area 
in attached garages that are primarily used for personal storage or for the parking 
of automobiles for the occupants of the dwelling unit.  

K. New Construction.  All new construction commenced on the Property after 
annexation shall comply with all City of Boulder laws, taxes, and fees, except as 
modified by this Agreement.   

3. Zoning.  The Property shall be annexed to the City with a “Medium Density Residential - 3” (RM-3)
zoning classification, and except as set forth herein, shall be subject to all of the rights and restrictions
associated with that zoning.

4. Null and Void.  This Agreement and any document executed pursuant hereto shall be null and void and of
no consequence in the event that the Subject Property is not annexed to the City.

5. Conveyance of Drainage.  The Applicant shall convey drainage from the Property in a historic manner that
does not materially and adversely affect abutting property owners.

6. Waiver of Vested Rights.  The Applicant waives any vested property rights that may have arisen under
Boulder County jurisdiction.  This Agreement shall replace any such rights that may have arisen under
Boulder County jurisdiction.  The Applicant acknowledges that nothing contained herein may be construed
as a waiver of the City’s police powers or the power to zone and regulate land uses for the benefit of the
general public.

7. Breach.  If the Applicant breaches this Agreement in any respect, the City may withhold approval of all
building permits and other development applications required for the Property until the breaches have been
cured.  This remedy is in addition to all other remedies available to the City at law or equity or under this
Agreement.

8. Dedications.  The Applicants acknowledge that any dedications and public improvements required herein
with this annexation are rationally related and reasonably proportionate to the projected impact of the
development of the Property as set forth in this Agreement.

9. Original Instruments.  Prior to the first reading of the annexation ordinance, the Applicants shall provide an
original of this Agreement signed by Applicants, along with any instruments required in this Agreement.
The City agrees to hold such documents until after final legislative action on the annexation of this Property
has occurred.  Final legislative action by the City Council shall constitute acceptance of such documents by
the City.  In the event that the City does not annex the Property, the City agrees that it will return all such
original documents to the Applicants.  The Applicants agree that they will not encumber or in any way take

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 31Packet Page 710



    

any action that compromises the quality of such documents while they are being held by the City. 
 

10. No Encumbrances.  The Applicant agrees that between the time of signing this Agreement and the time 
when final legislative action on the annexation of this Property has occurred, the Applicant shall neither 
convey ownership nor further encumber the Applicant's Property, without the express approval from the 
City.  Prior to the recording of this Agreement with the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, Applicant 
agrees not to execute transactional documents encumbering the Property or otherwise affecting title to the 
Property without first notifying the City and submitting revised title work within five (5) working days of 
any such transaction.  

 
11. Breach of Agreement.  In the event the Applicant breaches or fails to perform any required action, or fails 

to pay any fee specified, under this Agreement or under any document that may also be required to be 
executed pursuant to this Agreement, the Applicant acknowledges that the City may take all reasonable 
actions to cure the breach, including but not limited to the filing of an action for specific performance of the 
obligations herein described.  In the event the Applicant fails to pay any monies due under this Agreement 
or under any document that may also be required to be executed pursuant to this Agreement or fails to 
perform any affirmative obligation hereunder or under any document that may also be required to be 
executed pursuant to this Agreement, the Applicant agrees that the City may collect the monies due in the 
manner provided for in Section 2-2-12, B.R.C. 1981, as amended, as if the said monies were due and owing 
pursuant to a duly adopted ordinance of the City or may perform the obligation on behalf of the Applicant 
and collect its costs in the manner herein provided.  The Applicant agrees to waive any rights they may 
have under Section 31-20-105, C.R.S., based on the City’s lack of an enabling ordinance authorizing 
collection of this specific debt, or acknowledges that the adoption of the annexation ordinance is such 
enabling ordinance. 
 

12. Future Interests.  This Agreement and the covenants set forth herein shall run with the land and be binding 
upon the Applicant, the Applicant’s heirs, successors, and assigns and all persons who may hereafter 
acquire an interest in the Property, or any part thereof.  If it shall be determined that this Agreement 
contains an interest in land, that interest shall vest, if at all, within the lives of the undersigned plus 20 years 
and 364 days. 

 
13. Right to Withdraw.  The Applicant retains the right to withdraw from this Agreement up until the time that 

final legislative action has been taken on the ordinance that will cause the Property to be annexed into the 
City of Boulder.  The final legislative action will be the vote of the City Council after the final reading of 
the annexation ordinance.  The Applicant’s right to withdraw shall terminate upon the City Council’s final 
legislative action approving the annexation.  In the event that the Applicant withdraws from this Agreement 
in the manner described above, this Agreement shall be null and will have no effect. 

 
14. Developable Area of the Property.  A large part of the Property lies currently within Area III of the Boulder 

Valley Comprehensive Plan.  No development shall occur in such areas and no such land area shall be 
considered to determine the development potential of the Property under Title 9, “Land Use Code,” B.R.C. 
1981.  The Applicant agrees that construction of any new building or other structure shall occur on the 
portion of the Property located within Area II. 

 
15. Blue Line.  A large southern portion of the Property lies above the blue line as defined in Section 1-2-1, 

“Definitions,” B.R.C. 1981 as “the line above which the City of Boulder shall not supply water for 
domestic, commercial or industrial uses, as described in section 128A of the charter of the City of 
Boulder.”  The Applicant agrees to abide by all City laws, including not supplying water for domestic, 
commercial or industrial uses above the blue line. 

 
EXECUTED on the day and year first above written.  

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 32Packet Page 711



96 Arapahoe Avenue LLC, 
a Colorado limited liability company 

By:________________________________ 
Name:______________________________ 
Title:_______________________________ 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of ___________, 
20___, by ______________________ as ___________________ of 96 Arapahoe Avenue LLC. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 
My commission expires:________ 

[Seal] ________________________________ 
Notary Public 

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 33Packet Page 712



    

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

 
By: _____________________________ 
  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

 
 
Attest: 

 
________________________________ 
City Clerk  

Approved as to form: 
 
_______________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
Date:   ________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
 
Exhibit A Legal Description for Property 
 

Attachment D - Draft Annexation Agreement

Agenda Item 5C     Page 34Packet Page 713



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 5C     Page 35Packet Page 714



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 5C     Page 36Packet Page 715



    

Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 5C     Page 37Packet Page 716



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 5C     Page 38Packet Page 717



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 5C     Page 39Packet Page 718



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 5C     Page 40Packet Page 719



Attachment E - Annexation Petition

Agenda Item 5C     Page 41Packet Page 720



Packet Page 721



Packet Page 722



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

City Attorney’s Office ‐  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Cooperative Housing
Code Changes

  Council Study Session  Draft Code changes first
reading

 Finalize code changes   

 Marijuana Code Changes   Council approval of charter
and panel

 Possible first reading of
priority items

 Implement Marijuana
Panel Recommendations

   

 Open Space Land
Transfer Ordinance

  OSBT Hearing

 Introduction and first
reading

 Second reading and
adopting

    

 Election Code Revisions   Introduction and first
reading

 Second reading and
adopting

    

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 1Packet Page 723



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

City Manager’s Office Resilient Boulder Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 City Resilience Strategy
draft, completion, and roll
out. The City Resilience
Strategy provides a
roadmap for building
resilience in the city. The
strategy should trigger
action, investment, and
support within city
government and from
outside groups. It will be
published in print and
online.

 Contract Graphic
Design

 Contract Printing
Services

 Contract Web design
services

 Community event
support

 Impacts to other
departments include
content
contributions, review
and revisions, and
implementation
activities as
appropriate

 Drafts 1‐3 – content,
graphics, layout,
web design

 Council Study Session
– Big Sort interactive
exercise

 2 large public
workshops in
cooperation with CU

 Resilience metric,
valuation and
scenario planning
methodology
development

Council Study Session  Final strategy approval
and release

 

 Resilience Americorps
community preparedness
volunteer program
development

 Time and
management impacts
primarily to the
Neighborhood
Liaison, Fire/Rescue,
OEM, and climate
commitment



 Project initiation,
foundational
research, project
scoping

 On‐going program
design

 On‐going program
design

 Present project
proposal  to Council

 Recruit year 2
Americorps
volunteers



 Implementation
activities per
proposed program
design

 Implementation
activities per
proposed program
design

 CityLinks – Shimla,
India Climate
Adaptation Exchange
Program

 Project design
alignment with
Climate Commitment
and scenario activity
development

 Draft and finalize
climate impacts on
water sector public
participation
workshop and
supporting science
materials

 Exchange trip

    

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 2Packet Page 724

BurnT1
Highlight



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

 100 Resilient Cities
programmatic elements,
network contributions, and
partner management

 Multiple resource
contributions via
technical partners to
various departments
including IR, Climate
Commitment, BVCP,
OSMP, Economic
Vitality

 Economic resilience
analysis draft

 BVCP resilience
assessment and
recommended
integration actions

 Community ‘Safe
Haven’ network
design draft

 Urban Forest Canopy
analysis

 Foundational
research on
resilience metric,
valuation, and
scenario planning
methodology

 100RC Network peer
exchange

 100RC technical
partner platform
local showcase and
recruitment event

 Presentation on
resilience metric,
valuation, and
scenario planning
methodology

 Partner alignment
with strategy
initiatives

 Development of
resilience metrics

 Development of
community scenario
planning activities
and exercises

 Partner alignment
with strategy
initiatives

  

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 3Packet Page 725



Communication Department Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Community Newsletter –

The City of Boulder
community newsletter
would be an 8 to 24-page
bimonthly product mailed
to postal route residences
within the city and
additional copies available
in public buildings

 Contract Graphic
Design

 Contract Printing
Services

 Contract Mailing
Services

 Impacts to other
departments include
content contributions
and artwork

 Hire a Communication
Specialist 2 to
implement newsletter

 Hire a contract
graphic designer

 Solicit print bids and
secure printer

 Secure mail house
services

 Design newsletter
templates

 Develop Volume 1‐
issue 1 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 1
 Develop Volume 1‐

issue 2 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 2

 Develop Volume 1‐
issue 3 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐ issue
3 

 Develop Volume 1‐
issue 4 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 4
 Develop Volume 1‐

issue 5 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 5

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 1
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 1

 Develop Volume
2‐Issue 2
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 2

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 3
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Assess
Newsletter for
2018 budget
consideration

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 3

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 4
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 4

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 5
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 5

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 6
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 6

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 4Packet Page 726



Community Vitality Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

University Hill Reinvestment Strategy  Planning, Housing & 
Sustainability; Boulder Police 
Department; Library Arts; 
Finance; City Attorney’s Office; 
Public Works 

 RSD evaluation

 Draft transients policy
handout for businesses

 2A‐funded tree irrigation
improvements
implementation

 Coordination of
Hillanthropy cleanup
program

 Engage consultant to
prepare National Register
Historic District Application

 Initiate Hill Employee
EcoPass Program

 Coordinate design of 2A‐ 
funded event street

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding

 Prepare funding options for
public improvements

 Draft 2017 HRS Work Plan

 Coordinate with CU to
determine overall
process and schedule

 Compile data & analyze
preliminary options  to
address city goals re: CU
conference center/hotel

 RSD recommendation

 Start enforcement of
commercial bear‐proof can
requirements

 Hillanthropy cleanup of Hill
Commercial Area

 Submit National Register
Historic District application

 Initiate planning process
for Hill Commercial Area
(HCA) façade improvement
program

 Implementation of Hill
Employee EcoPass
Program, cont.

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding, cont.

 Present funding options for
public improvements to
Council

 Draft 2017 HRS Budget

 Provide input to CU’s
conference center/hotel
design development
process & explore
possible city investments

 Enforcement of
commercial bear‐proof can
requirements, cont.

 Hillanthropy cleanup of
Residential Service District

 Revise HCA façade
improvement program

 Implementation of Hill
Employee EcoPass
Program, cont.

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding, cont.

 Pursue funding options for
public improvements

 Refine & analyze city
investment options
relative to CU
conference center/hotel

 Seek Council direction on
city investment options
relative to CU conference
center/hotel

 Enforcement of
commercial bear‐proof can
requirements, cont.

 Hillanthropy cleanup with
Parks Department

 Implementation of Hill
Employee EcoPass
Program, cont.

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding, cont.

 Pursue funding options
for public improvements,
cont.

 Draft Phase Two HRS
Work Plan, 2017‐2019

 Implementation of CU
conference center/hotel
tasks TBD depending on
Council direction and CU’s
issues and schedule

 Work Plan to be
determined in 2016

 Work plan to be
determined  in 2016

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 5Packet Page 727



Access Management and Parking 
Strategy (AMPS) 

Public Works, 
Transportation; Planning, 
Housing + Sustainability; City 
Manager’s Office 

• CAMP: Planning, process
and research on the
Chautauqua Access
Management Plan (CAMP)

• Parking Code: next steps;
data collection

• Civic Area Access/Parking
implementation

• TDM plans for new
development, draft refined
options

• Update downtown (CAGID)
development and
accessprojections including
parking supply/demand and
TDM  strategies

• CAMP: Data collection

• Parking Code: data
collection; analysis;
research coordination with
other initiatives

• Satellite Parking evaluation
of options, including BCH,
outreach

• Civic Area Access/Parking
evaluation

• Pricing (including
fines0: goals, research,
outreach

• TDM plans for new
development, review
options

• Downtown  development
and  access  projections  –
outreach to boards

• AMPS Strategy
Document  outline

• CAMP:  Data
c o l l e c t i o n
a n d
e v a l u a t i o n ,
o u t r e a c h

• NPP: Scope and analysis,
outreach

• Parking Code: Analysis,
data collection, best
practice research, ,
memos; coordination

• Hill Alleys Master Plan
scope and consultant
selection

• Satellite Parking –
develop
recommendations,
outreach

• Civic Area Access/Parking
evaluation

• Pricing: practitioners
panel,  outreach

• TDM plans for new
development: draft
recommendations

• Downtown
development and
access projections
– program
recommendations 

• Car Share: develop
options and draft
recommendations
for pilot  program

• AMPS Strategy
Document
development

• CAMP: Develop scenarios,

outreach

• NPP:  Options
development,
outreach

• Parking Code: study off
street parking regulations;
coordinate with TDM plan
recommendations ,memo
prep, research  new NPP’s;
analysis

• Hill Alleys Master
Plan  – plan
development,
recommendations
, outreach

• Satellite Parking
pilot
implementation

• Pricing: identification
of options, outreach

• Market downtown
parking cash‐out pilot
in conjunction with
EcoPass renewal

• Car Share proposal for 2017
pilot program

• AMPS Strategy Document
draft

• CAMP: evaluate and
select pilot scenario 

• NPP: program
recommendations

• Draft/finalize Parking
Code  and TDM
standards  ordinance,
Strategy Document
evaluation  criteria;
memo prep

• Pricing: Memo prep,
outreach

• Market
downtown
parking cash‐out
pilot in
conjunction with
EcoPass renewal

• Car share pilot
program (if approved)

• Finalize AMPS
Strategy Document

• CAMP: Pilot
implementation 

 Code/TDM: prepare
for 
implementation 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 6Packet Page 728



Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Key 2016 and 2017 Work Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 

to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Legal and regulatory filings  City Attorney’s Office
in lead, support from
Energy Strategy and
Electric Utility
Development

 Prepare for filing of
transfer of assets
supplemental
application, including
negotiations with Xcel
Energy to provide the
city data (the model)

 Preliminary discovery
(Xcel) for Colorado
Public Utilities
Commission  (PUC)
filing of transfer of
assets supplemental
application

 File transfer of assets
supplemental
application with the
Colorado PUC

 Colorado PUC discovery
process, prepare for
PUC hearing and
rebuttal

 Hearing on transfer
of assets application
 PUC decision on the
transfer of assets
 Based on PUC
outcome, update
appraisals and
negotiate with Xcel to
acquire the assets; if
negotiations are not
successful, prepare to
re‐file condemnation
with the Boulder
District Court
 Continue acquisition
process by agreement  or
re‐file condemnation
petition with the Boulder
District Court
 File transition plan with
the PUC

 Condemnation
court  (if necessary)

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 7Packet Page 729



Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Key 2016 and 2017 Work  Transition work plan 
implementation ‐
including analysis of
information provided
through discovery and
PUC decisions. Key areas
of focus: Information
Technology systems,
Operations and
Maintenance, Customer
Service, Power Supply,
Energy Services, Finance
and Accounting, and
other  support functions

 Energy Strategy and 
Electric Utility 
Development 
Department 

 IT Department

 PW Department

 Utility Billing

 Development
Review

 Planning, Housing +
Sustainability
Department

 Finance Department

 Budget

 Finance

 Accounting

 Purchasing

 Risk Management
 HR Department
 Legal

 Develop 2017 budget 
and financial forecast
 Develop agreement with
Xcel  Energy for discovery
information provided for
PUC filing and to inform
system capital
investment and
operations planning
 Information Technology
Systems: Define scope
and budget of
Information Technology
systems needed for Day
1 operations
 Customer Service:  Initiate
a work plan for  system
modifications to  the
city’s existing customer
billing and  information
system, continued work
on the key account
program, and develop
policies and procedures
to support a  customer
focused  organization
 Operations and
Maintenance: Select
potential vendors for
operations and
maintenance of the
electric system
 Power Supply: Continue
to work with Xcel to
develop terms and
conditions that could
support power supply for
the city
 Energy Services: Continue
development of energy
services for a new utility,
work with  the Energy
Services Working Group
to  assist in this process,
Energy  Services with
existing  Planning,
Housing +  Sustainability
work

 Develop 2017 budget
and financial forecast
 Begin analysis of Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
for PUC filing and to
inform system capital
investment and
operations planning
 Information Technology
Systems: Refine scope
and budget, evaluate
Information Technology
systems  needed for Day
1 
 Customer Service:
Continued work on the 
key account program, 
and refine policies and 
procedures to support 
a customer focused 
organization 
 Operations and
Maintenance: In 
discussions with 
selected vendors for 
operations and 
maintenance of the 
electric system, 
evaluate options and 
refine operations, 
maintenance, 
construction, reliability 
and safety policies, 
procedures, standards 
and requirements   
 Power Supply:
Continue to work with 
Xcel to develop terms 
and conditions that 
could support power 
supply for the city  
 Energy Services:
Continue 
development  and 
implementation of 
interim energy 
services,  coordinated 
with  Planning, 
Housing + 
Sustainability work 

 Continue analysis of Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process
 Information Technology
Systems: Refine scope
and budget, evaluate
Information Technology
systems  needed for Day
1 operations based on
Xcel Energy discovery
information provided
for PUC filing
 Customer Service:  Refine
the work plan  for system
modifications to the
city’s existing  customer
billing and  information
system based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information  provided for
PUC filing,  continued
work on the key account
program, and refine
policies and procedures
to support a  customer
focused  organization
 Operations and
Maintenance: Further
refine scope for vendors
and policies/ procedure
for the utility
 Power Supply: Continue
to work with Xcel to
develop terms and
conditions that could
support power supply  for
the city, evaluate Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process, work
with the Resource
Working Group to
monitor market
conditions, explore
resource opportunities
and review potential
agreements with power
producers

 Continue analysis of  Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

 Information Technology
Systems: Implement
Information Technology
systems needed for Day 1
operations based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

 Customer Service:
Implement the work  plan
for system modifications to
the  city’s existing customer
billing and information
system based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process, continued
work on the key account
program, and refine
policies and procedures to
support  a customer
focused organization

 Operations and
Maintenance: Further
refine scope for vendors
and policies/procedure for
the utility

 Power Supply: Continue  to
work with Xcel to  finalize
terms and  conditions that
could  support power
supply  for the city, evaluate
Xcel Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process, work with
the Resource Working
Group to monitor market
conditions, explore
resource opportunities  and
review potential
agreements with power
producers, develop a
resource modeling tool to
evaluate power supply
options

 Work with Xcel to
negotiate a smooth
transition of  operations
and file  plan with the PUC
 Develop 2018 budget and
financial forecast
 Information Technology
Systems: Continue
implementation of
Information Technology
systems needed for Day 1
operations based on PUC
decision regarding  transfer
of assets,  additional IT
support  staff on‐board to
assist with implementation
 Customer Service:
Implement the work  plan
for system modifications to
the  city’s existing customer
billing and information
system based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process,  continued
work on the key account
program, and refine
policies and procedures to
support  a customer
focused organization
 Operations and
Maintenance: Finalize
contract negotiations with
selected vendors and work
with vendors  to define
operations of  the electric
system, evaluate options
and refine operations,
maintenance,  construction,
reliability  and safety
policies,  procedures,
standards  and
requirements based on
based on PUC decision
regarding  transfer of assets
 Power Supply: Finalize
terms and conditions  for
power supply for  the city
based on PUC decision
regarding  transfer of assets

 Information
Technology
Systems: Continue
implementation of
Information
Technology systems
needed for Day 1
operations
 Customer Service:
Implement the work
plan for system
modifications to the
city’s existing
customer billing and
information  system
based on PUC
decision regarding
transfer of assets,
Operations and
Maintenance:
Continue to work with
selected vendors to
define operations of
the electric system,
evaluate options and
refine operations,
maintenance,
construction,
reliability  and safety
policies,  procedures,
standards  and
requirements
 Power Supply:
Continue to work
with  Xcel to support
power supply for the
city and  coordinate a
power delivery
schedule and
ancillary services,
work with the
Resource Working
Group to monitor
market conditions,
explore resource
opportunities and
review potential
agreements with
power producers

8Packet Page 730



 Finance and Accounting:
Continue development
of the cash flow and
budget model, explore
methodologies for
designing rates for a new
utility with the Rates
Working Group
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting, and
human resources to
identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures

 Finance and
Accounting:
Refinement of the cash
flow and budget
model,  continue to
explore methodologies
for designing rates for
a new utility with the
Rates Working Group,
begin to develop utility
chart of accounts for
tracking and reporting
 Ongoing work with  risk
management,  safety,
finance,  accounting,
and human resources
to  identify needs and
resources to support  an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies  and procedures

 Energy Services:
Continue development
of energy services for a
new utility, work with
the Energy Services
Working Group to assist
in this process,
coordinate Energy
Services with existing
Planning, Housing +
Sustainability work
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to  refine
cost estimates  based
on Xcel Energy
discovery information
provided through PUC
transfer of assets
process, continue to
explore methodologies
for designing rates for a
new utility with the
Rates Working Group,
continue to develop
utility chart of accounts
for tracking and
reporting
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting, and
human resources to
identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures
as informed by Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

incorporating 
renewable resources 
and carbon reduction 
 Energy Services:
Continue development
of energy services for a
new utility, work with
the Energy Services
Working Group to assist
in this process,
coordinate Energy
Services with existing
Planning, Housing +
Sustainability work
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to  refine
cost estimates  based
on Xcel Energy
discovery information
provided through PUC
transfer of  assets
process, continue to
explore methodologies
for designing rates for a
new utility with the
Rates Working Group,
continue to develop
utility chart of accounts
for tracking and
reporting
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting,
and human resources
to identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures
as informed by Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

 Energy Services:
Finalize energy services
including costs,
implementation plans,
rate structures, and
measurement and
verification guidelines,
continue work with
working group and
coordinate efforts with
the Rate Working
Group
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to refine
cost estimates based on
PUC decision regarding
transfer of assets,
finalize rates for a new
utility with the Rates
Working Group
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting,
and human resources
to identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures
based on PUC decision
regarding transfer of
assets, hire key
positions  including
chief  engineer and
energy financial and
regulatory analyst

 Energy Services:
Finalize energy
services including
costs, implementation
plans, rate structures,
and measurement and
verification guidelines.
Continue work with
working group and
coordinate efforts
with rate working
group
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to refine
cost estimates, work
on financing of
transition efforts and
acquisition, potential
debt issue to finance
utility
 Ongoing work with
risk management,
safety,  finance,
accounting, and
human resources  to
identify needs and
resources to support
an electric utility,
development of
safety and risk
management policies
and procedures, hire
key positions
including customer
service manager, and
energy resource
specialist
 Governance: potential
appointment of utility
advisory board

9Packet Page 731



 Resilient Energy –
Resilient Electricity
Delivery  Infrastructure
(REDI) DOE Grant

 Energy Policy
Reform Coalition

 Solar Development

 City Manager’s
Office

 Planning, Housing +
Sustainability

 Public Works

 Utilities

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE Grant:
Refine scope

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Focus on
recruiting coalition
members to Colorado
Communities for Climate
Action (CC4CA), begin
formulating policy
agenda for regulatory
and  legislative changes
that  support reducing
emissions and climate
initiatives

 Solar Development:
Begin development of a
comprehensive solar
strategy, evaluation of
potential solar garden
opportunities, other
recommendations from
the Solar Working Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Continue to
refine scope, issue
an RFP and hire
contractor

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Develop RFP
and hire lobbying firm
to represent CC4CA at
state capital, continue
development of policy
agenda

 Solar Development:
Continue
development of solar
strategy, evaluation
of potential  solar
garden
opportunities,
evaluate other
recommendations
from the Solar
Working Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Develop RFP
for firm to represent
CC4CA at PUC and other
regulatory bodies, work
with legislators between
sessions to develop
name recognition

 Solar Development:
Continue development
of solar strategy,
evaluation of potential
solar garden
opportunities, evaluate
other
recommendations from
the Solar Working
Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Engage in key
legislative and
regulatory proceedings
concurrent with mission

 Solar Development:
Finalize solar strategy,
align targets with
Climate Commitment
Goals, implement
recommendations from
the Solar Working
Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Ongoing work
at the local and state
level for regulatory and
legislative changes that
support reducing
emissions, local
decision making and a
new energy future

 Solar Development:
Work with the Solar
Working Group to
develop solar projects
and generation
strategies to further
expand solar in the city

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Ongoing
work at the local and
state level for
regulatory and
legislative changes
that support reducing
emissions, local
decision making and a
new energy future

 Solar Development:
Work with the Solar
Working Group to
develop solar
projects  and
generation
strategies to
further expand
solar in the city

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 10Packet Page 732



Finance Key  2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts to 
other 

depts.

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Annual  Budget Process  Finance in collaboration with all city 
departments update Council regarding 
how previous year finished; serves as 
early warning if there are economic red 
flags or new concerns 

 Supplementary
Appropriations
(Adjustments to Base)

 Strategic Planning for
financial operations and
capital

 Supplementary
Appropriations
(Adjustments to Base)

 Strategic Planning

 Budget Development

 CIP Development,
Preparation and Review

 Strategic Planning

 Budget Development,
Preparation and Review

 CIP Review

 Study Session on the
budget

 Budget Review and
Adoption

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

 Budget Development

 CIP Development,
Preparation and
Review

 Strategic Planning

 Budget
Development,
Preparation and
Review

 CIP Review

 Budget Review and
Adoption

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

Ballot Items  CMO/CAO/Finance/Communications/City 
Clerk’s office, and Departments gather 
ballot items 

 Gathering information
and background on
potential ballot items for
the city and what other
governmental entities
may bring forward in
November

 May study session and
council meeting on
potential ballot items.

 Final ballot items have to
be passed by council by
last meeting in August to
meet County deadlines

 Ballot questions are
voted on first Tuesday in
November.

 Gathering
information on
potential ballot items

 May study session
and council meeting
on potential ballot
items.

 Final ballot items
have to be passed by
council by last
meeting in August to
meet County
deadlines

 Ballot questions are
voted on first
Tuesday in
November

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 11Packet Page 733



Fire Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department Resource 
needs and impacts  to other 

depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Fire Station
Relocation  Project

 Fire
 FAM
 Purchasing
 Finance
 Public Works

 Legal
 CMO

 Property Search  Property

search

 Develop

funding

strategy

 Property

search

 Develop funding

strategy

 Property search

 Develop funding strategy

 Confidential memo to

council

 Emergency Medical Services  Fire
 Police
 Purchasing
 Legal
 CMO
 Information Resources

 EMS service
delivery  report
preparation

 EMS service delivery
report preparation

 EMS service delivery
report preparation

 Bid evaluations and
award for medical
direction and
ambulance services

 Solicitations for
medical direction and
ambulance service

 Presentation to
council

 Draft plan for EMS
delivery

 Complete
Ambulance
specifications

 Negotiations
with  Local 900

 EMS delivery IP to
city manager and
city  council

 RFP development
for box   t ype
ambulance

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 12Packet Page 734



 

 

 

Human Services Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Human Services Strategy 
Update  and Adoption 

 Communications, Police, 
Parks and Recreation, 
Library, Planning, Housing, 
Transportation, FAM/PW, 
Budget/Finance 

 Library Commission, 
Human Relations 
Commission, Parks and 
Recreation  Advisory Board, 
Immigrant Advisory 
Committee, Youth 
Opportunity Advisory 
Board,  Human Services 
Fund Advisory Committee 

 Civic Area Plan staff 
coordination 

 Resilience Strategy 
coordination 

 Community Engagement 
 Community Funding 

Options Development 
 Assess partnerships 

 Community engagement 
 Development of 

community funding and 
direct services options 

 Internal and external 
partnerships assessments 
and projects 

 Community engagement 
 Budget, Capital Program 
 Development of 

community funding and 
direct services options 

 Internal and external 
partnerships assessments
and projects  

 Draft strategy 
 Strategy adoption 
 Organizational Strategy 
 Implementation Plan 

 

 Implementation 
 Metrics and evaluation 

plan 

 Implementation  
 Metrics and evaluation 

Homelessness Strategy 
and Action Plan Adoption 

 Communications, Police, 
Municipal Court, Parks and 
Recreation, Library 

 Library Commission, 
Human Relations 
Commission,  Immigrant 
Advisory Committee 

 Community Engagement 
 Homelessness Action 

Plan Project 
Implementation 

 Community Engagement 
 Portland/Eugene Trip 
 New projects ‐ TBD 

 Community 
Engagement 

 Draft Strategy 

 Strategy adoption 
(PH) 

 Continued 
implementation of 
Action Plan 

 Homelessness Action 
Plan Projects 
Implementation 

 Homelessness Action 
Plan Projects 
Implementation 

Options to Expand Living 
Wage Resolution 926 
Council  Consideration 

 HR, CAO, Finance, FAM 
 Human Relations 

Commission 

 Analysis of 
recommendations 

 City Council: Feb. – 
Options  to  Expand 
Resolution 926 

 Analysis of Council 
direction 

 Development of 
options 

 City Council: June 
update on analysis 
and direction 

 TBD‐ Analysis of  Council 
recommendations  as 
part of 2017 budget 

 Final adoption of Living 

Wage changes 

   

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 13Packet Page 735



Human Services Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items (page 2) 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Safe + Welcoming Community   City Manager ‘s Office,
Police Dept, Human
Relations Commission,
CAO

 HRC Meetings (3)
 Report to City Council on

Independent Analysis of
Police Data and Review
of Professional Police
Complaint Processes

 Community Perceptions
Survey contract
development

 Survey implementation

 Report to City Council on
results of Community
Perceptions Survey

 HRC Work Plan
Recommendations to
Council

 HS Work Plan and
Strategy
recommendations

 Adoption of strategy
 Implementation of work

plan

 Implementation of work
plan

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 14Packet Page 736



 

 

 

Information Technology  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Community Broadband 
and Wi‐Fi Initiatives 

  Continue consultant‐ 
assisted needs assessment 

 Wrap up needs 
assessment 

 Present findings and 
recommendations 

 TBD – dependent on 
outcome of council review 
of findings and 
recommendations 

 TBD – dependent on 
outcome of council 
review of findings and 
recommendations 

 TBD – dependent on 
outcome of council 
review of findings and 
recommendations 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 15Packet Page 737



 

 

 

Library Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Library Master Plan Update – 
This  includes: 
 A needs assessment 
 A robust community 

engagement process 
 Update of the library’s 

mission, vision, and guiding 
principles for decision 
making 

 Development and financial 
analysis of service delivery 
model options 

 Development of 
performance measures and 
service standards 

 An action plan and 
implementation strategy 

 Consultants and a 
professional 
facilitator will be 
engaged for parts of 
the project 

 The project manager 
will consult colleagues 
in Parks and Rec, 
Human Services, 
Planning and Public 
Works on project 
process development. 

 Members of the City 
Managers and Budget 
Teams will serve on 
the staff Technical 
Advisory Group 

 The Library’s 
Communications 
Specialist III will assist 
with public 
information & 
document review 

 The Library’s Budget 
Analyst will assist 
with the financial 
analysis & budget 
planning 

 Selected M‐Team 
members will be 
asked to review the 
final draft plan & 
offer constructive 
feedback on 
presentations to 
Planning Board and 
City Council 

 Facilities and Asset 
Management will be 
consulted on the 
aspects of the plan 
that address capital 
and facilities 
maintenance. 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   
 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   
Communications 
support for 
outreach, education, 
& promotion kick off 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   

 Communications 
support for public 
information for 
community 
engagement process 
including surveys 

 December City 
Council Study Session 
– Communications & 
M‐Team support 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee 
meetings (up to 24) 

 Communications 
support for public 
information for 
community 
engagement process 

 Budget Analyst 
support for financial 
analysis 

 Consult with 
Facilities and Asset 
Management on the 
aspects of the plan 
that address capital 
and facilities 
maintenance. 

 Technical
Advisory 
Committee 
meetings  

 July Planning 
Board 
Presentation ‐ 
Communications 
& M‐Team 
support 

 October City 
Council Final 
Presentation & 
Plan adoption – 
Communications 
& M‐Team 
support 

 Budget Analyst 
support for 2018 
budget and 
Capital 
Development 
Program 
planning 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 16Packet Page 738



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

Library Arts Key 2016 and 2017 Work 

 

 

 
Work Plan Item 

and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Public Art Policy 
Drafting and operation of a new 
policy to govern municipal 
commissioning, maintenance and 
legacy of public art. 

 Consultation with Boards 
& Commissions including 
the BAC, BDAB, Boulder 
Junction, Downtown, 
Landmarks, Library, PRAB, 
Planning, Transportation, 
and Univ. Hill Boards and 
Commissions. 

 Consultation on legal and 
budget matters. 

 Consultation with staff 
across city agencies. 

 Once adopted, the 
program will require the 
investment of staff from 
the P&R, Planning, 
Transportation, 
Community Vitality, Public 
Works, FAM, and other 
agencies as a team to 
support Office of Arts + 
Culture staff on all steps in 
the public art process. 

 Drafting, vetting, and 
adopting the Public Art 
Policy 

 Installations for 
Experiments in Public Art 
begin. 

 Other commissioning and 
maintenance projects 
continue. 

 Inquiry for the Public Art 
Policy drafting. 

 Drafting, vetting, and 
adopting the Public Art 
Implementation Plans. 

 Commissioning begins for 
new projects. 

 New maintenance 
projects begin. 

 Events to launch the 
Public Art program. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions begins. 

 Commissioning continues 
for new projects. 

 Continuing events to 
launch the public art 
program. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions continues. 

 Investigation of sustainable 
funding for Public Art 
begins. 

 Commissioning continues 
for new projects. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions continues. 

 Annual Report. 

 Options for 
sustainable public art 
funding developed 
and vetted. 

 Commissioning 
continues for new 
projects. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Proposal for 
sustainable funding 
finalized. 

 Language for new 
rules, policies, 
procedures or 
ordinances finalized. 

 Community 
engagement on 
sustainable funding. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Adoption of new 
rules, policies, 
procedures or 
ordinances. 

 Budget integration. 
 Commissioning 

continues for new 
projects. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Preparations for 
implementation of 
sustainable funding in 
Q1 2018. 

 Commissioning 
continues for new 
projects. 

 A public vote may be 
required in the Nov 
election. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Annual Report. 

 Policy on Murals and Art in 
Public Places 
A guidance document to align 
city staff for the encouragement 
of the commissioning of artworks 
for the public by private 
individuals, businesses, 
developers, and others. 

 Consultation with Boards 
& Commissions including 
the BAC, BDAB, 
Landmarks, PRAB, 
Planning, and 
Transportation Boards and 
Commissions. 

 Consultation on legal and 
budget matters. 

 Consultation with staff 
across city agencies. 

 Once adopted, the 
program will require the 
investment of staff from 
the Planning and Public 
Works departments. 

   Drafting and vetting of the
Murals and Art in Public 
Places Policy. 

 Inquiry for the draft policy. 

 Policy Adoption   Public communication. 
 Annual Report. 

   

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 17Packet Page 739



 

 

 

 New Cultural Grants Program 
A new series of grants for cultural 
organizations, arts education,  
and creative professionals. 

 Facilitation of the process 
with the Boulder Arts 
Commission is required. 

 Consultation with staff in 
the Economic Vitality 
office will enhance the 
program. 

 Deadline for Operational 
Grants. 

 Deadline for Community 
Projects and Arts Ed. 
Grants. 

 Launch of Professional 
Development Scholarships. 

 Launch of Macky Rental 
Grants. 

 Launch of Innovation Fund. 
 Second 2016 Grants 

Workshop. 

 Deadline for Innovation 
Fund. 

 Ongoing evaluation and 
inquiry with grant 
recipients. 

 Design of 2017 Grants 
Program begins. 

 Ongoing evaluation and 
inquiry with grant 
recipients. 

 Design of 2017 Grants 
Program continues. 

 Ongoing evaluation and 
inquiry with grant 
recipients. 

 Operational Grant 
Reporting. 

 Launch of 2017 All Grants. 

 2017 Grants Workshop. 
 Annual Report. 

 Recertification of 
Operational Grants. 

 Deadline for 
Community Projects 
Grants. 

 Deadline for Art 
Education Grants. 

 Ongoing evaluation 
and inquiry with grant 
recipients. 

 Deadline for 
Innovation Fund. 

 Operational Grant 
Reporting. 

 Ongoing evaluation 
and inquiry with grant 
recipients. 

 Design of 2018 Grants 
Program begins. 

 Design of 2018 
Grants Program 
continues. 

 Ongoing evaluation 
and inquiry with 
grant recipients. 

 Operational Grant 
Reporting. 

 Launch of All 2018 
Grants. 

 2018 Grants 
Workshop. 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 18Packet Page 740



 

 

 

Open Space and Mountain Parks:  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

 

1st quarter 2016 

 

2nd quarter 2016 

 

3rd quarter 2016 

 

4th quarter 2016 

 

1st  half 2017 

 

2nd  half 2017 

 North TSA Plan 
The North TSA plan sets the 
community vision for 7,700 acres of 
OSMP‐managed lands north of 
Linden Avenue and the Diagonal 
Highway. The plan seeks to improve 
visitor experiences and increase the 
sustainability of trails and trailheads 
while conserving and restoring the      
area’s natural, cultural and 
agricultural resources. 

 OSMP 
 Operating 

Costs: 2016: 
$25,000 2017: 
$10,000 

 Capital Costs: 
2016: 
$100,000 
2017: 
$200,000 

 CAO 

 Draft plan document 

 Recommendation that 
Open Space Board of 
Trustees approve and 
recommend City Council 
acceptance 

 City Council review of 
and acceptance of North 
TSA plan. 

 Integration with 2016 
work plan (early 
implementation actions) 

 Integration with 2017 
operating budget 

 Integration with 2017‐ 
2022 CIP and 

 Integration with 2016 
work plan (early 
implementation actions) 

 Integration with 2017 
operating budget 

 Integration with 2017‐ 
2022 CIP 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon 
timing of plan 
acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon 
timing of plan 
acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

 Agricultural 
Resources 
Management Plan 

 

The OSMP “Ag Plan” provides the 
framework for OSMP actions to 
ensure  the long‐term sustainability 
of  agricultural operations, the 
ecological health of OSMP lands, 
and for fostering community 
connections with  local agriculture 
systems. 

 OSMP 
 Operating 

Costs: 2016: 
$5,000 2017: 
$5,000 

 Capital Costs: 
2016: $  
60,000 2017: 
$170,000 

 Plan element 
development 

o Evaluate alternative 
lease rate polices & 
financing structures 

o Develop monitoring 
protocols 

o ID and prioritize 
infrastructure 
improvements 

o Evaluation of 
community 
farming 
  

 Develop Draft Plan 
  Create Plan 
Outline and 
internal review of 
chapters 

 Create content 
including overview 
and strategies 

 Draft Internal 
Review Plan 
Document 

 Internal review 
 Draft Public 
Review Plan 
Document 

 Public Review 
Develop OSBT draft Plan 
Document for July or Aug 
meeting 

 Staff recommendation to 
OSBT to approve plan 
and recommend 
acceptance by  City 
Council 

 Oct:  2hrs 
Recommendation to City 
Council to accept plan 
Nov: 1 hr 

 Integration with 2017 
operating budget 

 Integration with 2017‐ 
2022 CIP 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon timing 
of plan acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon timing 
of plan acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 19Packet Page 741



 

 

 Visitor Master Plan 
Update /  OSMP 
Master Plan 
 

The Open Space and Mountain 
Parks (OSMP) Visitor Master Plan 
(VMP) was accepted by City Council 
in 2005 with a 10‐year planning 
horizon. The new Master Plan will 
include updating/refreshing the 
Visitor Master Plan component and 
also will take a comprehensive look 
at delivering on all chartered 
purposes for the OSMP system 
including inventory and analysis, 
evaluation of options and the 
development of policy and 
strategic direction to guide the 
department for the next ten years. 
The planning process will also 
consider City Council identified 
priorities from previous retreats,  
including incorporating overarching 
issues (carrying capacity, night‐time 
use, temporal use, etc) and climate 
change/adaptation. 

 OSMP 
 Operating Costs: 

2016: none 
2017: none 

 Capital Costs: 
2016: $252,000 
2017: $200,000 

 2018: $100,000 
 2019: $100,000 

OSMP Leadership team will 
work across department 
divisions and with 
representation from across 
the city to discuss plan at 
periodic meetings.  
Additional  consultation likely 
with Parks  and Recreation, 
Transportation, Greenways 
and Housing. 

 Background Information 
Gathering  

 

 Begin inventory and 

analysis 

 Identify inventory 

gaps and needs 

 Continue inventory, 

surveying and analysis 

 Compile inventory 

information into 

dataset with prioritized 

critical needs 

 Continue Inventory, 

Compilation and Analysis 

 Begin 

development of 

MP scope, budget 

and schedule for 

plan  

 Begin 

development of 

community 

engagement plan 

  Develop initial 

staff and partner 

project team 

formation 

 Release initial findings 

from inventory and 

analysis in terms of 

portfolio document for 

OBST, Council and 

Public 

 Finalize MP 

scope, budget 

and schedule for 

plan  

 Finalize 

community 

engagement 

plan 

  Finalize staff 

and partner 

project team 

formation 

 OSBT Study Session 

on  scope 

 City Council 

study  session on 

scope   

 Develop 
community 
outreach 
schedule 
beginning 3rd Qtr 
17. 

 Prepare for community 
listening sessions 
beginning in 3rd Qtr 17, 
send out notifications 

 Seek review/feedback 

 Ask for partner input on 
engagement with city 
department, other 
government originations, 
non‐profits, and CBO’s 

 Develop initial 
needs, 
opportunities and 
benefits analysis 
in geographic 
focus areas 

 Public hearing with 
OSBT. 

 Study session with or IP 
for City Council. 

 Develop project 
management plan for 
MP and community 
engagement 
 

Project   continues 
into 2018 
 Complete plan during 
2019

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 20Packet Page 742



 

 

 

Parks and Recreation Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts to 
other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Boulder Urban Forestry Master 
Plan ‐ In 2015, the Parks and 
Recreation Department (Forestry 
Group) presented to Council a 
proposed strategy to address the 
on‐going Emerald Ash Borer 
infestation anticipated to affect 
roughly 11% of Boulder’s urban 
tree canopy over the next 
decade.  As supported by Council 
(September 8, 2015), the strategy 
called for a series of efforts aiding 
in long‐term tree care, directed 
treatment standards for public 
trees, community education 
initiatives, aggressive tree 
planting and the development of 
a comprehensive Urban Forestry 
Master Plan which would aid in 
the sustainability of Boulder’s the 
urban tree canopy.  The 
development of that Master Plan 
is the addressed in this project 
scope. 
 

Comprehensive Master Plan 
document contributing to the 
sustainability of Boulder’s urban 
tree canopy.  Plan will include 
and address: 

 Establishment of a 
baseline figure for urban 
tree canopy and long 
term canopy goals; 

 Tree diversification goals; 

 Urban heat island 
mitigation; 

 Prioritization of tree 
planting activities; 

 Pesticide use guidelines 
for public trees; 

 Appropriate pesticide use 
guidelines for private 
property owners treating 
public street trees; 

 Placement and selection 
of tree species that are 

Key work items include Plan Scope 
Definition, RFP for related Plan 
Development and Outreach, Contract 
for Services, Facilitated Community 
Outreach Sessions and Mechanisms 
including but not limited web and print 
materials, PRAB presentation and 
Council update.  Project can launch and 
continue within the approved 2016 
budget and should be concluded within 
the year.  Launch of contract cannot 
proceed without purchasing approval. 
Contract for services will be vetted by 
CAO.  Other Parks & Recreation work 
(including that of the Forestry group) 
will not largely be affected by the 
launch of this project except that the 
Forestry Manager must devote time to 
development of the scope and 
monitoring of the consulting services 
throughout the year. 

 Scope 
proposal/definition 

 Development of 
potential 
contractor’s list 

 Prep of RFP (with 
Purchasing) 

 RFP Issuance and 
selection of 
consultant 

 Update website  to 
announce scope of 
project 

 Submit 
application for 
grant to 
supplement 
outreach/engage
ment and 
planning efforts. 

 Coordination with 
Community Building 
Plan (tree plantings) 

 PRAB presentation 
(public meeting) 

 PRAB Update 
Presentation (45 
minutes) 

 Preparation for 
Council Memo 

 Website Update with 
potential social 
media feedback 
option 

 Consulting services 
and development of 
the plan 

 Documenting 
recommendations 
and strategies 

 Development of 
summary (primary 
findings and plans) 

 Community updates, 
input sessions 

 CU or other entity 
involvement 

 

 Communications 
update 

 Regular updates via 
social media and web 

 Exploration of 
discount program 

 n/a   n/a 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 21Packet Page 743



 

 

 

compatible with 
optimizing rooftop solar 
capture capacity; 

 Coordination with 
vegetation management 
for potential 
municipalization of the 
electric utility; 

 Public outreach and 
education regarding the 
benefits of the urban 
canopy; and 

 Reforestation of creek 
corridors with native 
species. 

             

Capital Project Activity ‐ The 
department master plan and 
community input identified the 
need to keep existing assets at a 
high quality while also providing 
for enhanced and new recreation 
facilities and parks to meet the 
growing needs of the community. 
With the adoption of Asset 
Management best practices the 
department is working to develop 
a capital investment strategy plan 
that will reinvest in existing 
critical assets while developing 
new facilities and services within 
a sustainable framework. 

 
The Capital Investment Strategy 
will provide a development 
framework plan with specific, 
implementable urban park design 
and development 
recommendations for the 
enhancement of Boulder’s urban 
park system. The strategy will 
address the need to investment 
up to 40 million in existing assets 
as well as $24 million in critical 
aging infrastructure as well as the 
desire to invest up to $50 million 
in enhanced and new facilities as 
identified in the department’s 
Master Plan over the next ten 
years. The plan identifies three 
investment scenarios that follow 
the master plan framework of 
fiscally constrained, action plan 

The development of a data driven 
capital investment strategy requires 
that the asset management best 
practices are implemented on existing 
assets to allow for accurate and data 
driven decisions on what assets are 
most critical to the system and which 
assets may be removed from the 
inventory to address limited financial 
resources. In addition the investment 
strategy relies on a variety of site plans 
and studies that identify upgrades and 
new facilities including the master plan, 
Valmont City Park, Reservoir Master 
Plan, urban forest management plan, 
the aquatics facility study as well as 
plans for Scott Carpenter, Mapleton, 
Tom Watson and the recreation facility 
condition report. Finally to be 
successful the department’s capital 
investment plan must align with overall 
city goals for enhanced capital spending 
to allocate limited resources to those 
city wide services that are most critical 
to the community. This process should 
be coordinated with the larger CIP 
effort. 

 Draft CIS report 
 Internal staff review 
 PRAB meetings – 4 

hours 
 PRAB review and 

recommendations 
on the CIP 

 Final CIS report 
 manager position 
 Planning Board 

meeting 2 hours 
 Planning Board 

review and 
recommendation of 
CIP 

 BVSD Joint Use 
Agreement 

  

 Implementation 
strategy 

 Council meetings  4 
hours as part of CIP 
budget 

 Council acceptance 
of CIP through the 
budget process 

 Council study session 
and budget meetings 

 Hire capital 
investment planning 
support  as part of 
asset 

 Review and revisions 
as required to CIS 
report 

 Meetings with 
stakeholders and 
potential donors 

 Develop Funding 
Strategy 

 Implement 
funding strategy 
for key projects 

 Community 
Survey  and 
outreach 

 Continued 
partnership 
development 

 PRAB 
 Planning Board 
 Council Study 

Session 

 Implement 
 Implement – 

possible  city 
wide bond 

 Partnership 
development 

 Partnership 
development 

 Council CIP 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 22Packet Page 744



 

 

 

and vision plan.               

Commercial Use of Public Space ‐ 
Consistent with examination of 
the Civic Area’s potential and the 
City’s continuing evolution of 
Special Events policies, the 
department will explore policies 
and practices related to 
commercial use of public spaces, 
including those efforts that 
support the local economy and 
the vibrancy of our communities. 
This will include examination of 
policies, practices, permitting and 
pricing related to in‐park 
concessions, ticketed‐gated 
activity, facility rental and the 
appropriate balance of protected 
general public use and city park 
infrastructure. 

 
By the end of the Q3 (2016), 
develop policies and practices 
that clearly establish the 
department’s approach to the 
commercial use of public spaces. 

 In response to the evolution of 
the Civic Area and in 
anticipation of changes 
necessary to sustainably and 
responsibly operate the City’s 
Parks and Recreation venues, 
the department will evaluate 
practices concerning: 

 
o Commercial vending 
o Ticketed‐gated activity 
o Public private 

partnerships 

 Review and analysis of 
existing policies and 
industry best practices 

 Community 
engagement and 
outreach to 
stakeholders 

 Hold meeting, round 
tables, focus groups 
with stakeholders 
including DBI, 
Farmers Market, 
concessionaires, and 
existing commercial 
use permit holder 
(15‐20 hours) 

    Present policies and 
practices to Parks 
and Recreation 
Advisory Board 
(PRAB) 

 Public hearing at 
September 26, 2016 
PRAB meeting 

 n/a   n/a 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 23Packet Page 745



 

 

Community Building and 
Partnerships ‐ The parks and 
recreation department will 
continue to foster community 
building and pursue/enhance 
partnerships critical to our 
sustainable provision of quality 
spaces and programming meeting 
the community’s needs for 
recreation and respite.  Included 
in this work will be successful 
conclusion of our department’s 
negotiations with the Boulder 
Valley School District defining the 
joint use of facilities/amenities 

This work is interrelated to almost all 
projects in the department in order to 
identify scope of need and areas of 
opportunity.  Internal sponsor and 
donor recognition guidelines need to 
first be established to ensure consistent 
and appropriate action. 

 
Through the implementation of the 
departments Service Design and 
Delivery Model, partnership building 
will focus on mutually beneficial, 
mission focused and connection of 
guiding principles as demonstrated in 
parks, facilities, and programs.  By 

 Review/recommend 
changes to 
sponsorship/donor 
recognition 
policy/practice 

 Review, renew, 
discontinue 2015 
program partnerships 
through evaluation and 
service delivery initiatives 

 Grant and sponsorship 
solicitation 

 Activate ongoing 
community program 
volunteers 

 Pursue partnership 
opportunities for 
identified capital projects 
and programming needs 

 Identify and evaluate 
2016 program 
partnership contractual 
scope of works 

 Implementation of 
service partnership 

 Grant and sponsorship 
solicitation 

 RFP Issuance (concessions 
@ Golf and Res) 

 Pursue partnership 
opportunities for 
identified capital projects 
and programming needs 

 Evaluate JUA between 
COB and BVSD 

 10‐15 pre‐planned 
community volunteer 
events (tree plantings, 
clean ups, park 
constructions); 3hr/event 

 Grant and sponsorship 
solicitation 

 Pursue partnership 
opportunities for 
identified capital projects 
and programming needs 

 Final evaluation of 
program partnerships 
from 2016 performance 

 Finalize program 
partnership agreements 
for 2017 

 Evaluate JUA between COB 
and BVSD 

 Issue calendar of 
2017 BPR Community 
Building Events 

 Capital Project 
opportunities list 
finalized 

 Develop 2017 pre‐ 
planned volunteer 
events and ongoing 
programs 

 2‐3 outreach 
meetings re. park 
renovations; 2‐3 hrs 

 Volunteer 
Appreciation event; 

 Grant and 
sponsorship 
solicitation 

 Pursue partnership 
opportunities for 
identified capital 
projects and 
programming needs 

 5 pre‐planned 
community volunteer 
events (tree 
plantings, clean ups, 
park openings); 
3hr/event 

 3 department hosted 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 24Packet Page 746



 

 

 

owned by each organization.  We 
will also explore the impact of 
existing programming 
partnerships (dance, tennis, 
biking instruction and community 
gardening, for example) and 
evaluate the viability of 
partnerships to support expanded 
service reach to the underserved 
and contributions to parks and 
recreation capital improvements. 
OUTCOMES: Through strategic 
development of public‐public or 
public‐private partnerships, the 
parks and recreation department 
will be able to leverage its 
resources to increase the service 
reach, programming impact and 
sustainability of public amenities. 
The creation of more strategic 
and meaningful volunteer 
opportunities and events will 
encourage a culture of 
stewardship and leadership in the 
Boulder community. 

 
The department is 
focused on Master Plan 
recommendations to shift 
the practices that 
facilitates the delivery of 
high‐quality programs 
with community partners 
where most effective and 
limits the direct delivery 
of programs to those that 
align with the highest 
community values. 

considering each individual service’s 
alignment with mission; financial 
viability; market position; and the 
competitors that provide a similar 
service, the department will begin to 
identify those services that organization 
should be in the business of providing 
and how best to provide those services 
effectively and efficiently. 
Collaborative partnerships are 
opportunities to eliminate unnecessary 
duplication of service while providing 
for efficient and effective utilization of 
recourses. 

 Volunteer team 
restructure and new hire 

 Grant and sponsorship 
solicitation 

 Solidify urban forest 
outreach strategy for 
2016 

 Issue calendar of 2016 
BPR Community Building 
Events 

 Capital Project 
opportunities list finalized 

 2‐3 outreach meetings re. 
park renovations; 2‐3 hrs 
Volunteer Appreciation 
event; 3‐4 hrs 

orientations 

 Issue calendar of 
partnership milestone 
dates 

 Identify 2017 partnership 
RFP processes 

 Evaluate JUA between 
COB and BVSD 

 3 department hosted 
community events; 3‐ 
5hr/event (Creek Fest – 
multiday) 

 Donor/sponsor 
recognition policy to 
PRAB; April, 5 hrs 

 Public private partnership 
opportunity listening 
sessions re. concessions 
at Golf Course, Res., Civic 
Area 

 Host 2 PPP listening 
session; 4 hrs total 

 




 Roll out urban forest 
outreach program; 
ongoing 

 5 pre‐planned community 
volunteer events (tree 
plantings, clean ups, park 
openings); 3hr/event 

 3  department  hosted 
community events; 3‐ 
5hr/event 

 Ongoing volunteer 
projects 

 PPP PRAB review and 
liaison selection 



  Implementation of 
JUA  between COB 
and BVSD 

 

3‐4 hrs 

 Grant and 
sponsorship 
solicitation 

 Activate ongoing 
community program 
volunteers 

 Pursue partnership 
opportunities for 
identified capital 
projects and 
programming needs 

 3  department  hosted 
community events; 3‐ 
5hr/event 
10‐15 pre‐planned 
community volunteer 
events (tree 
plantings, clean ups, 
park constructions); 
3hr/event 

community events; 3‐ 
5hr/event 

 Ongoing volunteer 
projects 

 5 pre‐planned 
community volunteer 
events (tree 
plantings, clean ups, 
park openings); 
3hr/event 

 3  department  hosted 
community events; 3‐ 
5hr/event 

 Ongoing volunteer 
projects 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 25Packet Page 747



Planning, Housing and Sustainability Key 2016 Work 

 

 

Planning, Housing and Sustainability Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 
Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 
Comprehensive Plan – This 
includes four major work tracks, 
plus renewal of the city/county 
Intergovernmental Agreement 
(IGA). Tracks include: 

 Areas of Focus (i.e., core 
values, resilience/climate, 
jobs/housing balance, 
affordable housing including 
middle income, built 
environment, subcommunity/ 
neighborhood issues, BCH 
coordination, CU South 
suitability analysis). 

 Plan Policy Integration 

 Plan “clean up” and 
organization 

 Public change request analysis 

 PH+S comprehensive  planning 
team  leads 

 Major citywide 
Interdepartmental effort, 
including necessary 
communications support and 
CAO from time to time. 

 Will need consultants for 
technical analysis, survey work 
and community engagement 
support 

 Significant coordination with 
Housing Boulder and BCH Site 
Planning efforts 

 Jan. 5 – Council action on 
public requests in Area I 
and Area II enclaves and 
policy changes 

 Feb. 2 – Joint Council and 
Planning Board public 
hearing for public 
requests in Area II and III 

 Coordinate with 
Resilience Study Session 
(Feb. 9) and Middle 
Income Housing Study 
Session (Mar. 29) 

 Begin analysis of land use 
change requests 

 Start analysis of areas of 
focus; develop options 
(See Middle Income 
housing below). 

 Community engagement: 
Continued discussion of 
survey results 

 Study Session (May 24) 

 Areas of focus – 
options/scenarios 
analysis (including land 
use analysis related to 
housing and jobs, and 3d 
modeling and 
visualization) 
 

 Review further analysis 
for  focused topics ‐ 
continue – 
options/scenarios 
analysis  

 Complete plan 
organization and “clean 
up” (e.g., non substantive 
updates and graphic 
improvements) 

 Community engagement: 
Possible focus groups 
regarding focused topics; 
local listening sessions; 
possible survey #2 

 Prepare draft plan  including the 
areas of  focus topic policy 
updates; map changes; and 
actions,  strategies, and metrics 

 Community  engagement:  draft 
plan workshops and open house 

 Council Study Session  
 

 Approve draft plan 
 Begin 
implementation of 
BVCP  including 
possible area 
planning 

 IGA renewal 
Implementation of 
BVCP, including 
possible area 
planning 

 Implementation of 
BVCP, including 
possible area planning 

Development‐Related Impact Fees 
& Excise Taxes Studies ‐    
four  components: 

 Update current capital 
facilities impact fee/excise tax 
studies 

 Multi‐modal Transportation 
fee analysis for capital and on‐ 
going operating costs 

 Commercial linkage fee for 
affordable housing 
 

 PH+S in lead. 

 Interdepartmental staff team 
of all departments with capital 
assets; includes significant 
staff resources needed in: 

 Finance 

 CAO 

 PW: Transportation, 
FAM, and Development 
Review 

 Planning 

 Consultant team 
preparing studies 

 Technical Working 
Group Meetings (2) 

 Public outreach ‐ 101 
seminar 

 Technical Analysis 

 Policy options 
development 
 

 City Council Study 
Session (April 12) 

 Technical Working 
Group meeting 

 Technical Analysis 
 Policy options 
development 

 Public outreach 
 Draft reports on fees and 
programs 

 City Council Study 
Session (June 14) 

 City Council Public 
Hearing (July 19) 
(decision) 

 Implementation and 
phase in preparation for 
2017 budget 

 Implementation and phase in 
preparation for 2017 budget 

 Scoping next steps with 
Transportation Operations & 
Maintenance 

 Implementation and 
phase in 

 Implementation 
and phase in 

Form‐Based Code (FBC) for 
Boulder  Junction Phase I pilot 
project 

 Development and adoption 

of a new form‐based code as 

an appendix in the Land Use 

Code including new process 

and review criteria. 

 PH+S in lead with support 
from: 

 CAO 

 Public Works 

 Work on final draft of 
FBC 

  Prepare final draft of 
FBC  and staff memos 
for adoption hearings 

 Public outreach, 

meetings and online 

materials 

 Planning Board and City 
Council adoption 

hearings 

  Prepare  for 
implementation with 
new worksheet 
materials 

 FBC training sessions 
with staff, review boards 
and local design 
professionals 

 TBD based on evaluation of pilot 
and Council  direction 

   

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 26Packet Page 748



 

 

 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 
Site Review Criteria ‐ update Site 
Review criteria to: 

 Include new minimum design 

standards 

 Be more prescriptive, specific 
and clear 

 Address when/ if additional 

community benefit should be 

required (e.g. for height 

modifications) 

 PH+S in lead with support 

from CAO 

 Receive 

recommendations from 

DoverKohl 

 Develop work 
plan including 

outreach plan 

 Review DoverKohl 
recommendations 

 Develop goals and 
objectives 

 Research and analysis 
 Solicit input from 

Planning Board and DAB 

 Create & convene 
stakeholder group 

 Develop options 

 Meet with stakeholder group 

 Planning Board and DAB 

check in 

 Begin drafting code 

changes 

 Planning Board 

and DAB check in 

 City Council 
check in (matters 
or Study Session) 

 Meet with the 

stakeholder 

group 

 Public 

outreach 

 Finalize proposed 

code changes 

 Host open house 

 Planning Board and 
City Council 

consideration of 

changes 

 Prepare for 
implementation 

Update to the Downtown 
Urban Design Guidelines 

 Revisions to the guidelines for 
better usability and clarity 

 PH+S in lead with support from: 

 CAO 

 Communications 

 Finalize draft document 
and prepare ordinance 

 Planning Board, 
Landmarks Board and 
City Council adoption 

 Amend height ordinance 
map to exempt 
downtown 

         

Civic Area Implementation 

 Final design and construction 
of Phase I – Park at the Core 

 Long‐Term Studies of East & 
West Bookends to determine 
future improvements: 

 Comprehensive Flood 
Analysis 

 Market Hall Feasibility 
Study 

 Urban Design Plan/ 
Guidelines 

 Coordination with Canyon 
Complete Streets (includes 
Bandshell) and Municipal 
Facilities Study & BCH 

Civic Use Pad ‐  Discussions with 
St.  Julien to construct 

 Interdepartmental Team with 
leads from Parks, Public Works 
and PH+S 

 Consultant support. 

 Final design Phase I park 
improvements 

 Flood Analysis 
 Market Hall Preliminary 
Feasibility Analysis 
(Phase I) & Working 
Group Meeting 

 Market Hall 
Preliminary Space Test 
Fit (Phase II) 

 Collect data on parking 
changes 

 
Civic Use Pad 
 Preliminary design work 

 Financial analysis 
 

 Permitting & bidding for 
park construction 

 Public Open House (4/4) 
 Council Meeting 
Matters  (4/5) 

 Coordinate w/ Canyon 
Complete Streets – 
Design Alternatives – 
May Open House; 
Joint Board / 
Commission Mtg; 
Council Study Session 
5/31 

 Continued analysis of 
capital projects 
Civic Use Pad 

 Preliminary design work 

 Negotiation of 
management 
agreement 

 Financial analysis 

 Public outreach to 
potential users 

 Park construction begins 

 Coordinate w/ Canyon 
Complete Streets – 
Design Options Analysis 

 Continued analysis of 
capital projects 

 
 
 
 

 
Civic Use Pad 
 Design work 

 Negotiation of 
management 
agreement 

 Financial analysis 

 Public outreach to 
potential users 

 Continued park construction 

 Coordinate w/ Canyon 
Complete Streets – Design 
Recommendation 

 Coordinate w/ Municipal 
Facilities Study & BCH 

 Continued analysis of capital 
projects 

 
 
 

Civic Use Pad 
 Council consideration of 

management agreement 

 Design work 

 Continued park 
construction 

 Tasks related to 
Civic Area 
bookends are 
dependent on 
outcomes in 2016 
& 2017 

• Begin Urban Design 
Plan for East 
Bookend & 
Outreach to Boards 

 
Civic Use Pad 

 Construction 
activities begin (St. 
Julien lead) 

 Park construction 
complete in 2017 

 East Bookend 
Urban Design 
Plan/ 
Guidelines – 
Present to Boards & 
Council 

 West Bookend 
Urban Design Plan – 
Begins in 2018 

 
 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 27Packet Page 749



 

 

 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 
BCH Site & Municipal 
Facilities  Planning 

 Establish land use and urban 
form characteristics taking into 
consideration the site’s 
interrelation with the larger 
Broadway corridor, Downtown, 
Civic Area and University Hill 

 Develop  short  and  long‐term 
municipal facilities needs and 
locations 

 Develop site specific goals and 
redevelopment options 

 Implementation Plan 

 PH+S and Public Works in lead. 
Multi‐departmental effort: 

 Community Vitality 

 Parks and Recreation 

 City Attorney 

 Finance 

 Consultant support 

 Develop 2016 Project 
Scope & Schedule 

 Coordination  with 
BVCP Update 

 Begin  development  of 
Performance  &  Design 
Guidelines for Facilities 

 Conduct BCH Rehab 
analysis 

 Consultant RFP 
& Selection for city 
facilities study & 
urban design 
framework 

 Context Analysis – past 
history  and current 
conditions of BCH & its 
larger context including 
Downtown, Civic Area, 
and Uni‐Hill 

 Begin “storytelling” 
campaign to share 
memories of BCH 

 Conduct city space 
needs & analysis 

 Begin visioning of 
Future Municipal 
Facilities  

 Continue work on Context 
Analysis 

 Define boundary for 
specific BCH Site/Area 
Planning work 

 Synthesize city space 
needs in coordination 
w/Civic Area 

 Develop Planning & Design 
Framework to illustrate the 
desired future for BCH and larger 
context, relationship/ roles 
relative to other areas. 

 Adopt Guiding Principles for 
area wide goals and objectives 
to inform the future of BCH site 
(land use, urban form, 
connections, cultural and other 
facilities, etc.) 

 Oct. 25 Study Session  

 Begin Municipal Facilities 
Master Plan 

 Adopt Guiding Principles for 
City Facilities 
 

 Site/Area Planning 

 Space planning 
program for city 
departments and 
facilities 

 Final determination 
of facilities & 
locations 

 Continue 
Municipal 
Facilities 
Masterplan 

 Begin site/area 
planning 
(w/consultant 
support) 

 Continue 
Municipal 
Facilities Master 
Plan  

 Develop 
Performance & 
Design 
Guidelines for 
Facilities 

 Continue work on 
Site/Area Planning 
including evaluation 
of  options & 
selection of 
preferred plan 

  Complete Land Use 
Change & Zoning 
Designation   

 Continue with 
Municipal Facilities 
Masterplan 

30th and Pearl 

 Analyze options for moving 
forward with redevelopment of 
the site 

 Select and refine preferred 
option 

 PH+S in lead. 
Multidepartment effort 
including: 

 Public Works: 
Transportation, Utilities 

 Parks 

   Procure  consultant 
services for options 
analysis. 

 Begin building 
scenarios.. 

 Refine scenarios and 
options analysis. 

 Develop draft success 
criteria for redevelopment.

 Refine preferred option 

 Potential RFP for sale, 
redevelopment, or partnership. 

   

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 28Packet Page 750



 

 

Middle  Income Housing  Strategy 
‐  To include: 

 BBC study of  what market is 
currently producing to serve 
the middle; how unit size and 
location affect pricing over 
time 

 Identification of potential land 
use and other market 
interventions to produce 
desired housing types 

 Identification of effective 
mechanisms to support middle 
income affordability 

 Methodology to monitor key 
indicators to measure progress 

 PH+S in lead. 

 Citywide Interdepartmental 
effort. 

 Need communications support 

 Will need CMO and CAO 
support from time to time. 

 Consultant support for analysis 
and facilitation. 

 Finalized consultant study

 Identified key 
policy  questions 

 Analyzed projected 
housing – what do we 
expect based on current 
trends (feeds into BVCP) 

 Identified range of 
potential interventions 

 Feb. 18 Planning Board 
Feb. 23 CC Study Session 
 

 BVCP: analysis of 
potential land use 
changes to produce 
desired middle income 
housing types (e.g., 
duplexes and triplexes, 
townhomes, courtyard 
apartments, bungalows) 

 Form Council and 
Planning Board working 
group to identify goals, 
analyze key policy 
questions, and 
recommend 
interventions 
(programmatic, funding, 
and regulatory) 

 Draft potential policy 
changes for community 
conversation 

 Draft potential 
interventions 
(programmatic, funding, 
and regulatory) for 
community engagement 
with associated work plan 
for each. 

 Full Board and Council 
check‐  in 

 Identify and monitor key market 
indicators to measure progress 
on Middle Market housing 
provision 

 Refine potential interventions 

 Draft strategy 

 Adoption of policy 
changes 

 Adoption of 
interventions 

 

Other  Housing  Boulder  priorities 
–  Potential  work  efforts  to 
prioritize  include: 

 Housing Strategy Governance 
(Housing Board) 

 Neighborhood Pilot 

 Co‐operative Housing 

 Mobile Home Parks 

 PH+S in lead. Multi‐ 
departmental  effort 

 Need communications support 

 Will need CMO and CAO 
support from time to time. 

 Consultant support for analysis 
and/ or facilitation 

 Jan. 26 CC Study Session 
on Co‐ops 

 Jan. 5 Palo Park Annex 
and Concept Plan 

 Ongoing MHP work, 
including Ponderosa 

 TBD based on Council 

direction 

 TBD based on Council 

direction 

 TBD based on Council 

direction 

 TBD based on 

Council direction 

 TBD based on 

Council direction 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 29Packet Page 751



 

 

 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 
Climate Commitment 

 Coordination of community 
efforts to achieve 80% 
emissions reduction by 2050. 

 Coordination of city 
organization efforts to achieve 
80% or more emissions 
reduction by 2050 

 Coordination of city 
organization efforts to prepare 
for climate change‐resilience 
capacity building 

 PH+S (Climate and 
Sustainability) in lead. 

 Multi‐departmental effort: 
 CMO (CRO) 
 Public Works (Water 

Resources, Utilities, 
Transportation) 

 PH+S (Comprehensive 
Planning, P+DS) 

 Energy Future 
 Parks and Recreation 
 OSMP 
 Finance 
 Communications 

 Coordinate community 
engagement 

 Facilitate city 
organization staff 
training 

 Begin planning for 
community  action 
campaigns 

 Launch “whole system 
energy transformation” 
and “thermal strategy” 
work 

 Coordinate  April  “Earth 
Futures Week” focus on 
climate action 

 Coordinate staff training 
on local climate change 
impacts 

 Finish revisions of 
Climate Commitment 
document and present 
for approval by City 
Council 

 Launch community 
action campaigns 

 Conduct climate 
extremes staff training 
exercise 

 Coordinate 
departmental level 
assessments of emission 
reduction/clean energy 
transition options 

 Complete “whole 
energy system 
transformation” and 
“thermal strategy” work 

 Coordinate community climate 
action campaigns 

 Lead city organization scenario 
planning on multi‐factor change 
scenarios 

 Continue 
community action 
campaigns 

 Coordinate 
implementation of 
city organization 
energy transition 
implementations 

 Launch second 
round of staff 
climate change 
training 

 Continue 
community climate 
action campaigns 

 Continue 
implementation of 
city org emissions 
reduction/clean 
energy 
development 
projects 

 Continue staff 
climate 
mitigation/climate 
adaptation trainings 

Energy Codes: Short Term 
Updates  and Long Term Strategy 

 Improving compliance of 
current commercial and 
residential energy codes; 

 Integrate with new Building 
Performance Ordinance (BPO); 

 Updating the residential and 
commercial energy codes for 
adoption in 2016 and 
implementation in 2017; and 

 Long term strategic planning 
for energy codes updates to 
reach net zero by 2031. 

 Public Works (Building Code 
Compliance) in lead, support 
from PH+S (Climate + 
Sustainability) 

 Staff resources needed in: 

 CAO 

 Development Review 
Engineering 

 Zoning 

 Select consultant thru 
RFP process 

 Develop special 
lighting permit 
application for BPO 

 Develop options for 
short term code 
updates 

 Draft 
recommendations for 
long term plans 

 (4) Public Meetings for 
community 
engagement 

 EAB Feedback 

 CAO Review Needed 

 Revise short term 
options and make final 
recommendations 

 Finalize long term strategic 
plan recommendations 

 City Council meeting for short 
term code updates 

 Evaluate ways to improve 
compliance in the field 

 Update website 
and provide 
education 
materials for new 
code changes 

 Implement 
changes to 
improve 
compliance 

 Stakeholder 
working group – 
long term strategic 
plan 

 Develop proposal 
for long term 
strategic plan out 
to 2031 

 City Council Study 
session 

 Begin 
implementation of 
long term strategic 
plans 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 30Packet Page 752



 

 

 

Police  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Professional Standards Review Panel     Feb 9th Council Study 
Session on HH report 

 Feb 23rd Council 
Study Session, HH 
presented their 
report and PD staff 
discussed 
recommendations 
and moving forward. 

 PD staff working with 
CMO, Human Services and 
other stakeholders on HH 
recommendations. 
 
 

 PD staff working on 
recommendations and 
providing an update to 
council. 

    

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 31Packet Page 753



 

 

 

Public Works Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

  Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 2A Implementation – a 
temporary 0.3% tax increase 
to fund key community, 
culture and safety 
infrastructure projects as 
approved by voters in the 
2014 ballot measure. 

 
 

  2A is a multi‐departmental 
effort that requires close‐ 
interdepartmental 
coordination to  create 
opportunities and 
efficiencies and reduce 
impacts to the community. 

 
Project  
Coordinators:  Joanna 
Crean & Joel Wagner 

 
 
Note: Civic Area project hours 
are included in the separate 
Civic Area section. 

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open 

houses 
 Project design 
 Project construction 
 Civic Area Open House 
 Landmarks Board 

Presentation 
(Chautauqua) 
 

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open 

houses 
 Project design 
 Project construction 

 Project completion (Hill 
Irrigation, Eben G. Fine) 

 Open house to present 
final design (Chautauqua) 

 CEAP Committee Review 
 Board/Commission 

meetings: 
TAB/OSTB/PRAB 

 Landmarks Board Notice 
of Disposition to City 
Council for Potential call‐ 
up (Chautauqua) 

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open 

houses 
 Project design 
 Project construction 
 CEAP w/TAB & PRAB 

recommendation to City 
Council for potential call‐ 
up (Boulder Creek 
Arapahoe Underpass) 

 Board/Commission brief 
presentation & review & 
recommendation joint 
meetings: TAB/ PRAB 
(Boulder Creek Arapahoe 
Underpass) 
 

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open 

houses 
 Project design 
 Project construction 
 Project completion (Dairy 

Center for the Arts) 
 Public Open House 

(Boulder Creek Arapahoe 
Underpass) 

Key Tasks: 
 Project construction 
 Project completion 

(Chautauqua) 

Key Tasks: 
 Project construction 
 Project completion 

(Boulder Creek 
Path & Lighting, 
Hill Event Street, 
Civic Area, Public 
Art) 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 32Packet Page 754



 

 

TMP Implementation: 

 Complete Streets: 
On‐going O&M, Safety 
Corridor Plans 
Capital Projects 
Renewed Vision for Transit 

 Regional 

 TDM 

 Funding 

 Integrated Planning 
 
 
*This Section is now combined 
with : 
Capital Improvement Projects 
for PW  ‐Transportation 
 

   PW‐Transportation 
Division plus 
Communications, 
Comprehensive Planning, 
Community Vitality, 
Finance, 
City Attorney’s Office 

 Transportation Report on 
Progress 

 Corridor Plans – East 
Arapahoe, Canyon, 30th & 
Colorado 

 Capital projects – 
construction on  Diagonal, 
28th, and Baseline 

 Pavement/Asset 
Management Program 

 Bikeways Enhancements, 
Maintenance 

 North Broadway 
reconstruction project – 
planning/design phase 

 US36 BRT and FLEX transit 
service begins 

 Local transit: HOP Study; 
mobility hub plans; first & 
final mile connections, 
analysis of transit service 
delivery models with 
agency partners 

 Regional transit: SH7 & 
SH119 BRT studies; joint 
maintenance facility 
planning with agency 
partners 

 Safe Streets Boulder 
Report 

 Corridor plans 
 Capital projects 

 Pavement/Asset 
Management Program 

 Bikeways Enhancements, 
Maintenance 

 Living Lab program report 
 Local & regional transit 

planning 
 Community‐wide Eco Pass 

analysis 
 Analysis/review options for 

updating TDM plans for 
new development with 
stakeholders (coord with 
AMPS) 

 DRCOG funding for railroad 
quiet zones, comments to 
Federal Railroad 
Administration on 
national train horn rule 

 Transportation impact fee 
analysis, coordinate 
milestones with city’s 
broader impact fee study 

 Board/Commission/Council 
updates on Civic Area 
access/parking/TDM 
programs 

 Community event with 
national panel of Complete 
Streets practitioners 

 Corridor Plans 

 Capital projects 

 Pavement/Asset 
Management Program 

 Bikeways Enhancements, 
Maintenance 

 Local & regional transit 
planning, including 
eastside circulator study 
with CU 

 Community‐wide Eco Pass 
analysis 

 Refine options for 
updating TDM plans for 
new development with 
stakeholders/boards 
(coord with AMPS) 

 Transportation impact fee 
analysis, coordinate 
milestones with city’s 
broader impact fee study 

 Outreach,  agency/BNSF 
coordination for quiet 
zones 

 ADA transition plan 

 Monthly TAB updates 

 Corridor Plans 

 Capital projects 

 Pavement/Asset 
Management Program 

 Bikeways Enhancements, 
Maintenance 

 Local & regional transit 
planning 

 Community‐wide Eco Pass 
study complete 

 Present revised/refined 
options for updating TDM 
plans for new 
development with 
boards/Council (coord 
with AMPS) 

 Transportation impact fee 
analysis, coordinate 
milestones with city’s 
broader impact fee study 

 Outreach, agency/BNSF 
coordination for quiet 
zones 

 ADA transition plan 

 Monthly TAB updates 
 City Council Study Session 

– TMP Implementation 
Overview: Highlight 
Complete Streets, 
Funding, and Integrated 

 Corridor plans 
 Capital projects 

 Pavement/Asset 
Management 
Program 

 Bikeways 
Enhancements, 
Maintenance 

 Local and regional 
transit planning 

 Community‐wide 
Eco Pass next steps 
based on outcomes 
of 2016 study 

 TDM plans for new 
development based 
on outcomes from 
2016 

 Transportation 
impact fees – next 
steps based on 2016 

 Develop plans for 
quiet zones based on 
outcomes from 2016 

 Report on 
completion of TMP 
action plan items 
from  2014‐2016 

 Monthly TAB updates 
 City Council Study 

Session – TMP 

 Continuation and
completion of 
existing projects, 
plans, and programs 
from 2016‐17 

 Pavement/Asset 
Management 
Program 

 Bikeways 
Enhancements, 
Maintenance 

 Begin work plan 
items based upon 
TMP “near term” 
Action Plan (2017‐ 
2020) based on work 
program capacity 
and available 
funding. 

 Prepare next edition 
of  Transportation 
Report on Progress 
(draft Dec 2017, final 
document Feb 2018) 

 Monthly TAB updates 
 City Council Study 

Session – TMP 
Implementation 
Overview: Highlights 
include status report 
on TMP “near‐term” 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 33Packet Page 755



 

 

 

     Community‐wide Eco Pass 
analysis with County/RTD 

 Update TDM plans for new 
development (coord with 
AMPS) 

 Transportation Impact Fee 
analysis (coord with city‐ 
wide broader impact fee 
study) 

 Civic Area access, 
parking/TDM program 
monitoring 

 Monthly TAB updates 

(Spring) 
 Monthly TAB updates 
 City Council Study Session 

– TMP Implementation 
Overview: Highlight on 
Complete Streets, 
including Canyon 
Corridor study, Living 
Lab Phase II – Folsom 
St. pilot project, and 
check‐in on 2016‐17 
Renewed Vision for 
Transit work program  

 City Council Study Session 
– TMP Implementation 
Overview: Highlight on 
Renewed Vision for Transit, 
including Community‐wide 
Eco Pass update 

Planning Focus Areas  Implementation 
Overview: Highlights 
include status report 
on TMP ”immediate” 
action items (2014‐ 
2016) 

action items (2017‐ 
2020) 

Valmont Butte 
o Annexation 
o BVCP Land Use Change 

 PH&S Annexation 

Process 

 PH&S BVCP Land Use 

Change Consideration 

 Outreach to 

stakeholders support 

 Stakeholder outreach 
 Joint hearings on 

BVCP requests 
 Historical and Open 

Space Analysis 


 Historical and Open 
Space Analysis 

 Meets and Bounds 
Survey 

 Stakeholder outreach 



 Historical and Open 
Space Analysis 



 Landmark Submission 
& potential call‐up 



 

 Water, Wastewater, 
Stormwater and Flood 
Utility Rate Study 

 A project manager has 
been dedicated, key 
SMEs are engaged, 
and funds are 
available. 

 No impact to other 
departments. 

 Consultant contracting. 

 Data analysis and WRAB 
consultation. 

 Data analysis and WRAB 
consultation. 

 Data analysis and WRAB 
consultation. 

 Possible implementation of 
certain recommendations 
through 2017 budget 
process. 

 Refine 
recommendations 
and WRAB 
consultation. 

 Implementation 
through 2018 
budget process. 

 Citywide Special Events  ▪ Project Manager and 

Staff Time for event 
policy, review and 
operations 

▪ Project Manager and 

Staff  Time  for 
meetings  and 
collaborations 

▪ IT Staff Time for 

SharePoint and 
Software 
development 

 Purchase of Software, 
Memberships and 
Operational Tools 

▪ Complete criteria and 

standards for all 
events including rest 
periods, capacity, etc. 

▪ Strengthen CU / City 

Collaboration  with 
regular event mtgs 
(ongoing) 

 City Council Events 
Update and review of 
the 2017‐2018 
Ironman Agreement 
renewal; Policy 
update under Matters 
from CMO  with 
Council. 

▪ Complete Interim 
Special Event Policy 

▪ Suggest Code and 

Policy changes for 
2017 

 Develop short and long 
term resource needs 
for 2017 budget 

▪ Develop cost 

recovery, cost and 
data collection 
methods 

▪ Clarify city 
sponsorship policy 

▪ Finalize 2017 budget 

 City Council Events 
Update 

 Review special events 
policy, applications, 
event documents and 
websites for changes 
and updates 

▪ Complete 

updates to 2017 
Special Event 
Policy 

▪ Update criteria 

and standards 
for all events 
including rest 
periods, 
capacity, etc. 

 City Council 
Events Update 

▪ Finalize Special 

Event web‐based 
application and 
payment system 

 City Council 
Events Update 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 34Packet Page 756



 Capital Improvement
Projects for PW  ‐
Utilities

 Bear Canyon Creek
Flood Mitigation Study
‐ Multi‐year process.

 Stormwater Collection
System Master Plan
Update  ‐ Multi‐year
process

 Wastewater
Collection System
Master Plan Update ‐
Multi‐year process,

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell
Canyon Creek, and
King’s Gulch
Floodplain Mapping
Study ‐ Multi‐year
process

 Fourmile Canyon
Creek  Mitigation
CEAP‐ Multi‐year
process

  Four mile Canyon Creek
Mitigation CEAP Call Up 
Opportunity

  Bear Canyon Creek 
Flood Mitigation 
Study  ‐ Public 
Hearing/Action to 
Accept Study 

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell
Canyon Creek, and
King’s Gulch
Floodplain Mapping
Study ‐ Public
Hearing/Action Item

 Stormwater Collection
System Master Plan
Update ‐ Public
Hearing/Action  Item
to Accept Study

 Wastewater
Collection System
Master Plan Update ‐
Public Hearing/Action
Item

 

 Capital
Improvement
Projects for PW  ‐
Transportation

 Asset/Pavement
Management Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maintenance
and Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado

 Transportation Capital
Projects ‐ Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program
Bikeways
Maintenance and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado

 Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maintenance
and Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado

 Transportation Capital
Projects ‐ Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways
Maintenance and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management Program
Sidewalk Repair
Program
Bikeways
Maintenance and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation Capital
Projects ‐ Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maint
and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies
for Canyon

Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maint
and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies
for Canyon

Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 35Packet Page 757



COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Suzanne Jones Mayor 
Mary Young Mayor Pro Tem 

Matthew Appelbaum 
Aaron Brockett 

Council Member 
Council Member 

Jan Burton Council Member 
Lisa Morzel Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker Council Member 
Sam Weaver Council Member 

Bob Yates Council Member 

COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 

Thomas A. Carr City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke Municipal Judge 

KEY STAFF 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Lynnette Beck City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell Executive Director for the Department of Planning, Housing 
Sustainability 

Molly Winter  Director of Community Vitality 
Heather Bailey  Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development 
Michael Calderazzo  Fire Chief 

Joyce Lira Human Resources Director 
Karen Rahn Human Services Director 

Don Ingle Information Technology Director 
David Farnan Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Municipal Court Administrator 
Tracy Winfree Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Yvette Bowden Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa Police Chief 

Maureen Rait Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli Director of Fiscal Services 
Mike Sweeney  Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 

Packet Page 758



Approved 1/19/16 

2016 City Council Committee Assignments 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 

Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel (Castillo – staff alternate) 

Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Burton (alternate) 

Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 

Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Brockett, Appelbaum (alternate) 

Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 

Metro Mayors Caucus Jones 

National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum 

Resource Conservation Advisory Board (RCAB) Morzel 

Rocky Flats Stewardship Council Morzel, Weaver (alternate) (Castillo – 2nd staff 
alternate) 

University of Colorado (CU)/City Oversight Committee Weaver, Yates, Burton 

US 36 Mayors/Commissioners Coalition (MCC) Jones 

US 36 Commuting Solutions Burton, Morzel (alternate) 

Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Young 

LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 

Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Shoemaker 

Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Burton, Yates (alternate) 

Colorado Chautauqua Board of Directors Morzel 

Dairy Center for the Arts Brockett 

Downtown Business Improvement District Board Weaver, Yates 

INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 

Audit Committee Shoemaker, Yates, Weaver 

Boards and Commissions Committee Appelbaum, Burton 

Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) Yates 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Process Sub-Committee Brockett, Weaver 

Charter Committee Morzel, Weaver, Young 

Civic Use Pad/9th and Canyon Morzel, Young 

Council Retreat Committee Morzel, Yates 

Council Employee Evaluation Committee Morzel, Shoemaker 

Housing Strategy Process Sub-Committee Morzel, Young, Burton 

Legislative Committee Jones, Weaver, Appelbaum 

School Issues Committee Morzel, Shoemaker, Young 

SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 

Jalapa, Nicaragua Brockett 

Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 

Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 

Dushanbe, Tajikistan Yates 

Yamagata, Japan Burton 

Mante, Mexico Young 

Yateras, Cuba Weaver 

Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Burton, Young 

Packet Page 759



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

Date Topic Time Location Contacts Materials Due
08/09/16 SPECIAL MEETING???- BMEA Arbitration item 6:00-7:00

08/09/16 Draft 2017 to 2021 Capital Improvement Program 7:00-9:00 Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Devin Billingsley 07/28/16

8/23/2016 Update from Marijuana Advisory Panel 6:00 - 9:00 Chambers Sandra Llanes 08/11/16

Homelessness Strategy Draft and Homeless Action Plan 

Update 6:00-8:00 Chambers Karen Rahn/Corina Marin 08/18/16
Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Tax 8:00-9:00 Chambers Chris Meschuk

09/13/16 2017 COB Recommended Budget 6:00-9:00 Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Devin Billingsley 09/01/16

30th and Pearl Redevelopment Options 6:00-7:30 Chambers Eric Ameigh/Emily Richardson 09/15/16
Middle Income Housing Strategy Subcommittee Report 7:30-9:00 Chambers David Driskell/Melinda Melton 09/15/16

Thurs,10/13/2016
This study session has been moved to a Special Meeting for 

the BVCP 09/29/16

10/25/2016 Renewed Vision for Transit Update 6:00-9 Chambers 10/13/16

Thurs 11/10/2016 Joint Study Session with Planning Board BVCP update 6:00-9 Chambers Lesli Ellis/Emily Richardson 10/27/16

11/29/16 Human Services Strategy Draft 6:00-9 Chambers Patrick Mulcrone/Corina Marin 11/17/16

12/13/16 Community Perception Assessment Report
6:00-9 Chambers

Tammye Burnette/Dianne 

Marshall 12/01/16

12/22/16
12/29/16

Update Regarding Community Survey 6:00 - 6:15 Chambers Patrick von Keyserling IP   7/19/16
Residential and Commercial Energy Codes: Long Term Strate7:45 - 9:15 Chambers Kendra Tupper/M Melton IP   7/19/16
Check in for 100 Resilient Cities 7:30-9:00 Chambers Greg Guibert/Dianne Marshall IP   8/2/16
Briefing - Community Dashboard 5:30-6:00 Chambers TBD
Middle Income Housing Strategy Subcommittee Report 8-9:00 Chambers David Driskell/M Melton SS 9/27/16
Community Perception Assessment Report? 6:00-7:30 Chambers Tammye Burnette/D Marshall SS  12/13/16
Human Services Strategy Draft 7:30-9:00 Chambers Karen Rahn, Corina Marin SS 11/29/16
Framework for Lease Negotiations (BMoCA and the Dairy Arts 6:00-7:30 Chambers Joe Castro/Celia Seaton CC   11/15/16
AMPS and CAGID Development Projections 7:30-9:00 Chambers Jay Sugnet/Ruth Weiss IP - TBD

Added Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Tax 7:30-9 Chambers Chris Meschuk SS 8/30/16

Moved/Changed 

Items

9/27/2016

8/30/2016

No Meeting
No Meeting

Packet Page 760



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, August 16, 2016

8/4/2016
8/10/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:15 PM 10 min 0:10 Declaration Honoring Boulder's Companies to Watch N Molly Winter/Ruth Weiss

6:15 PM 7:00 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

7:00 PM 7:15 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA
Third Reading (if needed) Ballot Measures Y Kathy Haddock
Study Session Summary  for June 14th for Development Impact Fees and Excise 
Tax N N Chris Meschuk/ E Richardson

First Reading and Emergency Adoption of Quarterly Supplement to BRC N Y Mary Wallace

Third reading of Ordinance 8123 regarding False Alarms N Y Carey Weinheimer/Laurie 
Ogden

Council consideration for payment of settement claims in excess of 10K arising 
from the 3/25/16 Hartford Drive water main break. Tom Carr/Mary Bisset

Emergency Ord to Maintain Council approved voice and sight regulations on 
OSMP properties being considered for annexation Y Mark Bershman/Cecil Fenio

7:15 PM 7:20 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:20 PM 8:20 PM 60 min 1:00 Second Reading Ballot measures and/or First reading for Term Limits Kathy Haddock

8:20 PM 8:40 PM 20 min 0:20 Second Reading Annexations Kathy Haddock

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

8:40 PM 10:10 PM 90 min 1:30 Prairie Dog Relocation at the Armory Site  Heather Swanson
10:10 PM 10:55 PM 45 min 0:45 Information and feedback about BVCP survey questions Y N Lesli Ellis

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
10:55 PM 11:10 PM 15 Min 0:15 Discussion of Second Reading Public Hearing Items 

CALL-UPS

4500 Brookfield Drive - Vacation of a Public Utility Easement Caeli Hill/Emily Richardson

Total 5:10

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings 
be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 
1981.-- NO NEW ITEMS

approx 5:15

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 761



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, September 6, 2016

8/25/2016
8/31/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:10 PM 5 min 0:05 Boulder Pollinator Appreciation Month Declaration Rella Abernathy

6:10 PM 6:55 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

6:55 PM 7:10 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA
Third Reading Amendment to BRC 12-2-4, Landlord Disclosures Janet Michels/Mary Bisset

First Reading Ordinance regarding disposal of Open Space lands when 
management is transferred form OSMP to another city department Janet Michels/Mary Bisset

7:10 PM 7:15 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:25 PM 7:35 PM 10 min 0:10 Second modification to mobile food vehicle ordinance to include pedal-
powered vehicles Y Y Lane Landrith/Ruth Weiss

7:35 PM 10:35 PM 180 min 3:00 Cooperative Housing Ordinance Tom Carr/M Bissett

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

10:35 PM 11:35 PM 60 min 1:00 Hill Hotel Letter of Intent and Update Y N Sarah Wiebenson/Ruth Weiss

ADD 60 min Non-Economic BMEA Arbitration

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

ADD 5 min Consideration of a motion to approve the order of the ballot measures 
in the 2016 Special Municipal Coordinated Election Lynnette Beck/H Leatherwood

ADD 45 min Council Evaluation Committee - Council Employee Evaluations N N Aimee Kane

ADD 15 min B & C Appointments for Arts and WRAB vacancies Y N Heidi Leatherwood

ADD ? Min Discussion of Action IP feedback and process
CALL-UPS

Total 5:25

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 
hours, please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is 
that all meetings be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, 
Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.- NO NEW ITEMS

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 762



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, September 20, 2016

9/8/2016
9/14/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

Study Session Summary for 30th and Pearl Redevelopment Options Eric Ameigh/E. 
Richardson

1st Rdg disposal of Open Space lands when mgmt is transferred from OSMP to another 
city department N Y

Janet 
Michels/Mary 
Bisset

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 8:10 PM 60 min 1:00 Motion for Final Direction on the Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes Y N Chris Meschuk/E. 
Richardson

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

ADD 30 min Update and request for Council direction regarding implementation of Ord No. 8050 
regulating short term rentals Y N Tom Carr/M 

Bissett
ADD 20 min Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Annual Report to Council Y N Molly Winter

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 2:10
If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, please 
choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings be adjourned 
by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 763



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, October 4, 2016

9/22/2016
9/28/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:20 PM 15 min 0:15 Quarterly Update with Municipal Court Judge James Cho
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 9:10 PM 120 min 2:00 First Reading 2017 COB Budget Ordinances: Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations, Fees Y N Peggy Bunzli/Devin 

Billingsley

Second Reading Ordinance regarding disposal of Open Space lands when 
management is transferred form OSMP to another city department Janet Michels/M Bissett

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 3:25

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 
hours, please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that 
all meetings be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council 
Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 764



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council/PLANNING BOARD SPECIAL Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Thursday, October 13, 2016

10/3/2016
10/7/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council/PLANNING BOARD SPECIAL Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN

PUBLIC HEARINGS - SPECIAL MEETING WITH PLANNING BOARD

7:10 PM 10:10 PM 180 min 3:00 Public Hearing to consider public requets for map changes as part of the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan Y N Lesli Ellis

Council will adjourn after public hearing
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER (if any, place prior to PH)

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY (if any, place prior to PH)

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL (if any, 
place prior to PH)

CALL-UPS

Total 4:10

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings 
be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 
1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 765



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, October 18, 2016

10/6/2016
10/12/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

1st Rdg Boulder Community Hospital Riverbend facility at 4801 Riverbend-
Rezoning and Height ord N Y Karl Guiler/ E. Richardson

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 8:40 PM 90 min 1:30 2nd Reading of 2017 COB Budget Ordinances: Budget, Mill Levy, Appropriations, 
Fees Y N Peggy Bunzli/Devin 

Billingsley

UHGID2 2017 Budget Hearing and Resolution: Budget, Mill Levy, appropriations Same

CAGID 2017 Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, Appropriations Same

Forest Glen GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations Same

BJAD- Parking GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations Same

BJAD TDM GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations Same

BMPA Budget Resolution Same

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 2:40
If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings be 
adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 766



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

Date Topic Time Location Contacts Materials Due
08/09/16 SPECIAL MEETING???- BMEA Arbitration item 6:00-7:00

08/09/16 Draft 2017 to 2021 Capital Improvement Program 7:00-9:00 Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Devin Billingsley 07/28/16

8/23/2016 Update from Marijuana Advisory Panel 6:00 - 9:00 Chambers Sandra Llanes 08/11/16

Homelessness Strategy Draft and Homeless Action Plan 

Update 6:00-8:00 Chambers Karen Rahn/Corina Marin 08/18/16
Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Tax 8:00-9:00 Chambers Chris Meschuk

09/13/16 2017 COB Recommended Budget 6:00-9:00 Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Devin Billingsley 09/01/16

30th and Pearl Redevelopment Options 6:00-7:30 Chambers Eric Ameigh/Emily Richardson 09/15/16
Middle Income Housing Strategy Subcommittee Report 7:30-9:00 Chambers David Driskell/Melinda Melton 09/15/16

Thurs,10/13/2016
This study session has been moved to a Special Meeting for 

the BVCP 09/29/16

10/25/2016 Renewed Vision for Transit Update 6:00-9 Chambers 10/13/16

Thurs 11/10/2016 Joint Study Session with Planning Board BVCP update 6:00-9 Chambers Lesli Ellis/Emily Richardson 10/27/16

11/29/16 Human Services Strategy Draft 6:00-9 Chambers Patrick Mulcrone/Corina Marin 11/17/16

12/13/16 Community Perception Assessment Report
6:00-9 Chambers

Tammye Burnette/Dianne 

Marshall 12/01/16

12/22/16
12/29/16

Update Regarding Community Survey 6:00 - 6:15 Chambers Patrick von Keyserling IP   7/19/16
Residential and Commercial Energy Codes: Long Term Strate7:45 - 9:15 Chambers Kendra Tupper/M Melton IP   7/19/16
Check in for 100 Resilient Cities 7:30-9:00 Chambers Greg Guibert/Dianne Marshall IP   8/2/16
Briefing - Community Dashboard 5:30-6:00 Chambers TBD
Middle Income Housing Strategy Subcommittee Report 8-9:00 Chambers David Driskell/M Melton SS 9/27/16
Community Perception Assessment Report? 6:00-7:30 Chambers Tammye Burnette/D Marshall SS  12/13/16
Human Services Strategy Draft 7:30-9:00 Chambers Karen Rahn, Corina Marin SS 11/29/16
Framework for Lease Negotiations (BMoCA and the Dairy Arts 6:00-7:30 Chambers Joe Castro/Celia Seaton CC   11/15/16
AMPS and CAGID Development Projections 7:30-9:00 Chambers Jay Sugnet/Ruth Weiss IP - TBD

Added Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Tax 7:30-9 Chambers Chris Meschuk SS 8/30/16

Moved/Changed 

Items

9/27/2016

8/30/2016

No Meeting
No Meeting

Packet Page 767



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, August 16, 2016

8/4/2016
8/10/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:15 PM 10 min 0:10 Declaration Honoring Boulder's Companies to Watch N Molly Winter/Ruth Weiss

6:15 PM 7:00 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

7:00 PM 7:15 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA
Third Reading (if needed) Ballot Measures Y Kathy Haddock
Study Session Summary  for June 14th for Development Impact Fees and Excise 
Tax N N Chris Meschuk/ E Richardson

First Reading and Emergency Adoption of Quarterly Supplement to BRC N Y Mary Wallace

Third reading of Ordinance 8123 regarding False Alarms N Y Carey Weinheimer/Laurie 
Ogden

Council consideration for payment of settement claims in excess of 10K arising 
from the 3/25/16 Hartford Drive water main break. Tom Carr/Mary Bisset

Emergency Ord to Maintain Council approved voice and sight regulations on 
OSMP properties being considered for annexation Y Mark Bershman/Cecil Fenio

7:15 PM 7:20 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:20 PM 8:20 PM 60 min 1:00 Second Reading Ballot measures and/or First reading for Term Limits Kathy Haddock

8:20 PM 8:40 PM 20 min 0:20 Second Reading Annexations Kathy Haddock

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

8:40 PM 10:10 PM 90 min 1:30 Prairie Dog Relocation at the Armory Site  Heather Swanson
10:10 PM 10:55 PM 45 min 0:45 Information and feedback about BVCP survey questions Y N Lesli Ellis

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
10:55 PM 11:10 PM 15 Min 0:15 Discussion of Second Reading Public Hearing Items 

CALL-UPS

4500 Brookfield Drive - Vacation of a Public Utility Easement Caeli Hill/Emily Richardson

Total 5:10

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings 
be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 
1981.-- NO NEW ITEMS

approx 5:15

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 768



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, September 6, 2016

8/25/2016
8/31/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:10 PM 5 min 0:05 Boulder Pollinator Appreciation Month Declaration Rella Abernathy

6:10 PM 6:55 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

6:55 PM 7:10 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA
Third Reading Amendment to BRC 12-2-4, Landlord Disclosures Janet Michels/Mary Bisset

First Reading Ordinance regarding disposal of Open Space lands when 
management is transferred form OSMP to another city department Janet Michels/Mary Bisset

7:10 PM 7:15 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:25 PM 7:35 PM 10 min 0:10 Second modification to mobile food vehicle ordinance to include pedal-
powered vehicles Y Y Lane Landrith/Ruth Weiss

7:35 PM 10:35 PM 180 min 3:00 Cooperative Housing Ordinance Tom Carr/M Bissett

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

10:35 PM 11:35 PM 60 min 1:00 Hill Hotel Letter of Intent and Update Y N Sarah Wiebenson/Ruth Weiss

ADD 60 min Non-Economic BMEA Arbitration

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

ADD 5 min Consideration of a motion to approve the order of the ballot measures 
in the 2016 Special Municipal Coordinated Election Lynnette Beck/H Leatherwood

ADD 45 min Council Evaluation Committee - Council Employee Evaluations N N Aimee Kane

ADD 15 min B & C Appointments for Arts and WRAB vacancies Y N Heidi Leatherwood

ADD ? Min Discussion of Action IP feedback and process
CALL-UPS

Total 5:25

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 
hours, please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is 
that all meetings be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, 
Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.- NO NEW ITEMS

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 769



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, September 20, 2016

9/8/2016
9/14/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

Study Session Summary for 30th and Pearl Redevelopment Options Eric Ameigh/E. 
Richardson

1st Rdg disposal of Open Space lands when mgmt is transferred from OSMP to another 
city department N Y

Janet 
Michels/Mary 
Bisset

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 8:10 PM 60 min 1:00 Motion for Final Direction on the Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes Y N Chris Meschuk/E. 
Richardson

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

ADD 30 min Update and request for Council direction regarding implementation of Ord No. 8050 
regulating short term rentals Y N Tom Carr/M 

Bissett
ADD 20 min Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Annual Report to Council Y N Molly Winter

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 2:10
If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, please 
choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings be adjourned 
by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 770



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, October 4, 2016

9/22/2016
9/28/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:20 PM 15 min 0:15 Quarterly Update with Municipal Court Judge James Cho
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 9:10 PM 120 min 2:00 First Reading 2017 COB Budget Ordinances: Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations, Fees Y N Peggy Bunzli/Devin 

Billingsley

Second Reading Ordinance regarding disposal of Open Space lands when 
management is transferred form OSMP to another city department Janet Michels/M Bissett

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 3:25

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 
hours, please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that 
all meetings be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council 
Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 771



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council/PLANNING BOARD SPECIAL Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Thursday, October 13, 2016

10/3/2016
10/7/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council/PLANNING BOARD SPECIAL Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN

PUBLIC HEARINGS - SPECIAL MEETING WITH PLANNING BOARD

7:10 PM 10:10 PM 180 min 3:00 Public Hearing to consider public requets for map changes as part of the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan Y N Lesli Ellis

Council will adjourn after public hearing
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER (if any, place prior to PH)

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY (if any, place prior to PH)

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL (if any, 
place prior to PH)

CALL-UPS

Total 4:10

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings 
be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 
1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 772



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, October 18, 2016

10/6/2016
10/12/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact
6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

1st Rdg Boulder Community Hospital Riverbend facility at 4801 Riverbend-
Rezoning and Height ord N Y Karl Guiler/ E. Richardson

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN
PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 8:40 PM 90 min 1:30 2nd Reading of 2017 COB Budget Ordinances: Budget, Mill Levy, Appropriations, 
Fees Y N Peggy Bunzli/Devin 

Billingsley

UHGID2 2017 Budget Hearing and Resolution: Budget, Mill Levy, appropriations Same

CAGID 2017 Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, Appropriations Same

Forest Glen GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations Same

BJAD- Parking GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations Same

BJAD TDM GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations Same

BMPA Budget Resolution Same

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 2:40
If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings be 
adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 773



 

 

           TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council 

     FROM:  Jordan Matthews, City Clerk’s Office 

      DATE:  August 2, 2016 

SUBJECT:  Information Packet 
 

 

1. CALL UPS 
 A. SUBJECT -CONCEPT PLAN CALL UP:  Concept Plan proposal (LUR2016-

00033) to develop an existing parking lot on the corner of Pine Street and 15th 

Street on the First United Methodist Church site (including the following 
properties within RH-2 [Residential High – 2] zoning district: 1440 Pine, 1424 
Pine, 1414 Pine, 1406 Pine, 2132 14th, 2124 14th, 1421 Spruce, and 1443 Spruce) 
with a three-story 30,000 square foot building containing 40 rental units, 
associated common area and office space and 95 total parking spaces. The 
applicant has anticipated a parking reduction at time of Site Review. The 
residential units and associated uses would be managed by Attention Homes, a 
non-profit agency, and are intended of homeless young adults between the ages 
of 18 and 24 years old who are in need for supportive services in order to address 
underlying issues associated with their homelessness. 

   
2. BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 

 A. Board of Zoning Adjustment – June 9, 2016 
 B. Planning Board – April 21, 2016 
 C. Planning Board – April 28, 2016 
 D. Planning Board – June 2, 2016 
 E. Transportation Advisory Board – June 13, 2016 
   

3. DECLARATIONS 
 A. Aya Medrud Appreciation Day – August 13, 2016 
   

 

Packet Page 774



 

 

 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To:  Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
  David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
  Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
  Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
  Karl Guiler, Senior Planner 
 
Date:   July 25, 2016 
 
SUBJECT -CONCEPT PLAN CALL UP 
Concept Plan proposal (LUR2016-00033) to develop an existing parking lot on the corner of Pine 
Street and 15th Street on the First United Methodist Church site (including the following properties 
within RH-2 [Residential High – 2] zoning district: 1440 Pine, 1424 Pine, 1414 Pine, 1406 Pine, 
2132 14th, 2124 14th, 1421 Spruce, and 1443 Spruce) with a three-story 30,000 square foot building 
containing 40 rental units, associated common area and office space and 95 total parking spaces. The 
applicant has anticipated a parking reduction at time of Site Review. The residential units and 
associated uses would be managed by Attention Homes, a non-profit agency, and are intended of 
homeless young adults between the ages of 18 and 24 years old who are in need for supportive 
services in order to address underlying issues associated with their homelessness. 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
On July 14, 2016 the Planning Board reviewed and commented on the above-referenced application.  
City Council may vote to call-up the Concept Plan to review and discuss within 30 days of the 
Planning Board hearing. City Council call-up consideration expires on August 15, 2016.  The staff 
memorandum to Planning Board, minutes, meeting audio, and the applicant’s submittal materials 
along with related background materials are available on the city website for Planning Board here (or 
follow the links: www.bouldercolorado.gov  A to Z Planning Boardsearch for past meeting 
materials planning board20167.14.2016 PB Packet).  The draft minutes from the Planning 
Board hearing are provided in Attachment A. 
 
At the Planning Board hearing, there was a significant amount of public testimony both in opposition 
and in support of the project. The Planning Board generally found the proposed use consistent with 
most Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) goals and policies. However, there was concern 
over permanent affordability and whether the proposal sufficiently met BVCP criteria regarding 
height, building scale and neighborhood integration. A number of board members mentioned that the 
proposed design is not reflective of the existing neighborhood character. The board suggested better 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 1

Packet Page 775

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/136137/Electronic.aspx
https://bouldercolorado.gov/bvcp


 

 

integration with the existing church architecture and that of the immediate neighborhood, and that a 
height modification could potentially be supported if some of the mass were removed from the more 
prominent street facing facades. With respect to the proposed parking, the board suggested the 
applicant investigate a surface parking reduction and to look at sharing or leasing parking when not in 
use. The board requested additional information about the parking needs of all uses on the block 
owned by the church at time of Site Review to assist in evaluating a parking reduction. Finally, it was 
suggested that the applicant consider landmarking all eligible buildings on the site. 
 
Consistent with land use code Section 9-2-13(a)(2), B.R.C. 1981 City Council may vote to call up the 
application to review and comment on the concept plan within a 30-day call up period which expires 
on August 15, 2016. 
 
ATTACHMENT 
A.  Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 2

Packet Page 776



 

 

CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 

July 14, 2016 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers 

  
A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven years) 
are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). Minutes and streaming audio are also 
available on the web at: http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 
  
PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
John Gerstle, Chair 
Liz Payton, Vice Chair 
Bryan Bowen 
John Putnam 
Leonard May 
Crystal Gray 
Harmon Zuckerman 
 
PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: 
N/A 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney 
Cindy Spence, Administrative Specialist III 
Karl Guiler, Senior Planner/Code Amendment Specialist 
Kurt Firnhaber, Deputy Director of Housing 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chair, J. Gerstle, declared a quorum at 6:05 p.m. and the following business was conducted. 
  

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
On a motion by J. Putnam and seconded by H. Zuckerman the Planning Board voted 6-0 
(C. Gray abstained) to approve the June 2, 2016 minutes as amended, 

  
3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

1. Bridget Gordon (pooling time with Donna George) spoke in support of more open 
space available in Gunbarrel and explained how the current metrics are calculated.  

 
4. DISCUSSION OF DISPOSITIONS, PLANNING BOARD CALL-UPS / 

CONTINUATIONS 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 3

Packet Page 777



 

 

5.   PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 
A. AGENDA TITLE: Public hearing for consideration of a Concept Plan proposal 

(LUR2016-00033) to develop an existing parking lot on the corner of Pine Street and 
15th Street on the First United Methodist Church site (including the following properties 
within RH-2 [Residential High – 2] zoning district: 1440 Pine, 1424 Pine, 1414 Pine, 
1406 Pine, 2132 14th, 2124 14th, 1421 Spruce, and 1443 Spruce) with a three-story 
building of roughly 30,000 square feet with 90 underground parking spaces containing 
40 affordable rental units and associated office and resident spaces. The units associated 
uses would be managed by Attention Homes, a non-profit agency, and are intended for 
homeless young adults between the ages of 18 and 24 years old who are in need for 
supportive services in order to address underlying issues associated with their 
homelessness. 

 
  Applicant:      Jeff Dawson, Studio Architecture         

Property Owner:   First United Methodist Church 
 
Board members were asked to reveal any ex-parte contacts they may have had on this item. 

 C. Gray stated that she currently lives in the Whitter neighborhood, however her home is 
located outside the 600-foot buffer. She declared that John Spitzer is currently her 
partner, but that they are not married and that J. Spitzer has his own home in the Whittier 
neighborhood which is also outside the 600-foot notification buffer. She has not 
personally participated in any outreach meetings. In addition, she has not received any 
information that the rest of the Planning Board has not received as well. She stated that 
she has read the “Letters to the Editor” which have appeared in the Daily Camera.  Also, 
the founder of Attention Homes, Judge Holmes, was a friend of hers and colleague 
regarding historic issues, neighborhood issues and had discussions with J. Holmes 
regarding Attention Homes when they are located on 1527 Pine Street. Finally, she 
disclosed that she had an email conversation and one phone call with Shannon Cox 
Baker, representing Gardner Development, in January 2016, regarding who to contact for 
the Whittier neighborhood. After a few emails, C. Gray informed S. Baker that this item 
may come to Planning Board and asked to be deleted from the email chain, which she 
did. 

 L. May sought the City Attorney’s advice regarding an outreach presentation by the 
applicant and a concerned Whittier neighbor which had been given at Historic Boulder 
Preservation Committee in which L. May is a member. He stated that the information 
which was given at the Historic Boulder meeting had been shared with rest of the 
Planning Board members.  

 L. Payton revealed that her children participated in a fundraiser and that she, herself, has 
donated to Attention Homes. 

 H. Zuckerman mentioned that two members of the public called him personally and left 
messages which reflected emails letters sent to the entire Planning Board. 

 J. Putnam stated that he had received on telephone message similar to H. Zuckerman 
and that he had done a site visit, reviewed all emails and links received. 

 B. Bowen declared that he had not spoken to anyone regarding this item. 
 J. Gerstle declared that he had had several brief telephone messages and four telephone 

conversations which he ended quickly. In addition, his parents were familiar with Judge 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 4

Packet Page 778



 

 

Holmes, who was the founder of Attention Homes, and assisted in the establishment of 
Attention Homes.  

 
Staff Presentation: 
C. Ferro introduced the item. 
K. Guiler presented the item to the board. 
 
Board Questions: 
K. Guiler, H. Pannewig and K. Firnhaber answered questions from the board. 
 
Applicant Presentation:  
Shannon Cox Baker, with SBC Consulting, and Claire Clurman with Attention Homes, 
representing the applicant, presented the item to the board. 
 
Board Questions: 
Shannon Cox Baker with SBC Consulting, Claire Clurman with Attention Homes, Jeff 
Dawson with Studio Architecture, Chris Nelson with Attention Homes, and Jameson Brown 
with JB FieldWorks answered questions from the board. 
 
Public Hearing: 

1. Bonnie Gossman spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
2. Lawrence Gossman spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
3. John Driver (pooling time with Mark Ely) spoke in opposition to the project due to 

size and scope. 
4. Christine Klein spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
5. Carole Driver spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
6. Danny San Filippo spoke in support of the project. 
7. Elizabeth Helgans (pooling time with Kathy Keener) spoke in opposition to the project 

due to size and scope. 
8. Vaida Daukantas (pooling time with Raimonda Daukantas) spoke in opposition to the 

project due to size and scope. 
9. Jeffrey Joe Hinton spoke in support of the project. 
10. Jim Downton spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
11. Lauren Schevets spoke in support of the project. 
12. Kit Hollingshead spoke in support of the project. 
13. Lee Scriggins (pooling time with Deb Roberts) spoke in support of the project. 
14. Marty Moore (pooling time with James Hoppe) spoke in support of the project. 
15. Ken R. Fowler spoke in support of the project. 
16. Jane Theodore (pooling time with Michael Theodore) spoke in support of the project. 
17. Tug Levy spoke in support of the project. 
18. Kimberly Rouland (pooling time with Alison Shetter) spoke in support of the project. 
19. Mary Coonce spoke in support of the project. 
20. Nia Wassink spoke in support of the project. 
21. Jan Hittelman (pooling time with Neta Hittelman) spoke in opposition to the project 

due to size and scope. 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 5

Packet Page 779



 

 

22. Dr. G. Thomas Manzione (pooling time with Clair Callahan and Jaqueline 
Manzione) spoke in support of the project. 

23. Patricio Illanes spoke in support of the project. 
24. Megan Bruce (pooling time with Shawna Shirazi & Ashley Fauliu) spoke in support 

of the project. 
25. Fern O’Brien spoke in support of the project. 
26. Jill Grano (pooling time with Regina Cowles) spoke in support of the project. 
27. Autumn Marler spoke in support of the project. 
28. Michael McCue spoke in support of / opposition to the project. 
29. Herb Kroehl spoke in support of the project. 
30. Kerri Schorfenberg (pooling time with Jacob Sorum) spoke in support of the project. 
31. Ellen Bossert spoke in support of the project but encouraged reaching out to other 

communities that have done similar projects for more information and benefit from their 
successes. 

32. Savanna Brown (pooling time with Marley Brown) spoke in support of the project. 
33. Heather Bowler spoke in support of the project. 
34. Beth Robbins spoke in support of the project. 
35. Daphne McCabe spoke in support of the project. 
36. Molly Malone (pooling time with Nathan Pieplow) spoke in support of the project. 
37. Elaine Dannemiller spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
38. Mike Craychee spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
39. Sean Collins spoke in support of the project. 
40. Jana Milford spoke in support of the project. 
41. Kim Weins spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
42. Hudson Lindenberger spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
43. Mimi Ward spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
44. Kate Ricklin spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
45. Ira Barron spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
46. Rebecca Shoag spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
47. Melody Lyle spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
48. Mike Megrdichian spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
49. Michaela Megrdichian spoke in opposition to the project due to size and scope. 
50. J. C. Alvarez spoke in support of the project. 
51. Benjamin R. Jaros spoke concerning the homeless problem in general. 
52. John Spitzer spoke in support of the project. 
53. Ed Byrne spoke in support of the project. 
54. Michael Fitzgerald spoke in support of the project. 

 
Board Comments: 

 C. Gray appreciated all the public comments. Hopefully we can have a project that the 
entire neighborhood can be supportive of. 

 L. May observed that the public comments were more directed at the size and scale of 
the project and the impact which it would have on the neighborhood and surrounding 
community. The proposed number of units, height, parking reduction, setback reduction 
and temporary nature of affordable housing are real challenges to aligning with the intent 
of the RH-2 zoning and the Site Review and Comp Plan criteria. 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 6

Packet Page 780



 

 

 J. Putnam rebutted by stating that the current zoning code contains flexibility regarding 
a number of these issues. While the proposal would be putting a lot of things in a small 
site, he believes that the number of units and density would not be major issues as they 
are within the range of permissible units for a block. The use is within what would be 
allowed by zoning and aligns with the BVCP. 

 H. Zuckerman agreed with J. Putnam and added the RH-2 zoning district includes a 
large number of non-residential uses and is meant to be a high density downtown zone. In 
addition, the proposal is not asking for anything that the code does not provide for. The 
applicant is not asking for any variances. They are asking for modifications and they are 
allowed to do so under Site Review. 

 L. Payton agree with L. May’s comments. She too would like to see an affordable 
housing project come before the board and have the community join in support. She 
brought up an example of a project involving the Trinity Church in which she recalls that 
there were no variances asked for and no public opposition was received. Perhaps there 
could be lessons to be learned from that project. 

 B. Bowen stated that he found the emotional side compelling. No issue with the use or 
location of the project. He stated that two and three story buildings in a high density 
residential zone boarding a neighborhood seems like a reasonable transition.  Scale and 
mass do not feel like a concern. In addition, the applicant’s request for modifications 
seem true to the nature of project. 

 J. Gerstle finds that the location, use and intentions are reasonable. He expressed 
concern regarding the massing and the setback issues. 

 C. Gray added that RH-2 is a residential zone therefore Attention Homes would be 
appropriate and residential in nature. However, some of the proposed uses are of concern.  

 L. May added that Attention Homes would be appropriate in that location. The issue is 
scale and level of variances or modifications. 

 L. Payton agreed. 
 
Discussion Topics: 
 BVCP Compliance 

 J. Putnam agreed with staff’s assessment of the applicable provisions and 
compliance. The proposal successfully addresses housing for sensitive populations 
and social needs of the city within the Comp Plan and the way in which it was 
intended.  

 L. May disagreed and stated that the proposal has issues generally with the Site 
Review Criteria and consistencies with the Comp Plan.  Specifically enhancing the 
communities unique sense of space. Regarding the Comp Plan Compatibility (2.15), 
the proposal as has visual and disruption conflicts with the adjacent RMX-1 zone. In 
addition, he stated scale issues in contrast to the Comp Plan Scale (2.37). He stated 
that the proposed project did not appear to be a clear coherent part of the 
neighborhood. Comp Plan Local Solutions to Affordable Housing (7.01), he stated 
that the temporary nature of the proposal seems unclear meets the goal of housing 
needs of low income. Comp Plan Populations with Special Needs (7.03), in his 
opinion there is conflict in regards to the proposed number or units. Comp Plan 
Equitable Distribution of Resourced (8.03), he thought that this would put burden by 
the concentration of the number of units in the Whitter neighborhood. 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 7

Packet Page 781



 

 

 H. Zuckerman agreed that the project as proposed is compliant with 7.03 
Populations with Special Needs, 8.01 Providing for a Broad Spectrum of Human 
Needs, and 8.04 Addressing Community Deficiencies. In addition, he believes that 
2.03 Compact Development Pattern and 2.37 Enhanced Design for Private Sector 
Projects, it can be argued the project is compliant. In terms of 2.10 Preservation and 
Support for Residential Neighborhoods, there can be areas of disagreement. One 
needs to consider what this residential neighborhood is composed of. He stated this 
project would be in compliance when you look at what is allowable. In the RH-2 
zoning district, he listed a number of things that would be allowable including 
congregate care, studios, fraternities, sororities, etc. Lots of non-residential uses are 
allowable in the Whittier neighborhood. 

 C. Gray stated that the RH-2 zoning has been used for residential in the downtown 
area. Transitional housing is allowed in every zone except mobile homes and 
agricultural zones. Therefore, it can be allowed in the very lowest density and 
business zones. She agreed that the project meets 7.03, 8.01 and 8.04 of the Comp 
Plan. She stated that the project needs to work on meeting 2.10 Preservation and 
Support for Residential Neighborhoods. Whatever use is implemented, it should be 
supportive of the neighborhood and the way in which it is designed.  

 B. Bowen stated that the project does meet the intended spirit of Comp Plan as it fits 
under affordability. The project gives the city an inclusionary housing contribution 
and on-site sixty years of affordable housing. 

 L. Payton agreed. She added that if there were more certainty regarding the long term 
affordability then it would be more compliant with policies within the Comp Plan. 
She agreed with L. May and C. Gray’s comments regarding neighborhood policies 
2.37, 2.10, 2.15, and 2.30 that with some modifications the project could be better. 

 J. Putnam agreed with L. Payton that if there were more certainty regarding the long 
term nature and explanation of the rolling over of terms, then that would be helpful 
during Site Review. He disagreed that this project would cause an over concentration 
in this neighborhood. Compared to other locations in the city, he stated that he does 
not believe it would be a concentration in the Whittier neighborhood.   

 J. Gerstle shared concern of the certainty of long term affordability. The 
concentration would not be out of place.  Density and size of the project are 
reasonable. Shares concerns regarding the proposed uses for the first floor and not 
convinced that they are fully necessary.  

 L. May added that perhaps the BCH would be a more appropriate site for a project of 
this scale. 

 
 
 Downtown Urban Design Guideline Compliance, Building & Site Design 

 L. Payton disagreed that the current proposed design respects the integrity, scale and 
massing of historic buildings in surrounding areas. Do not see elements of the 
surrounding historical neighborhood within the design itself. The proposed design 
does not reflect the Whittier neighborhood. Would like to see a design that is an asset 
to the neighborhood and respects the existing historical buildings and possibly 
elements of the existing Methodist church. In the area, the existing buildings have a 
craftsmanship and durable materials which should be reflected in this project as well. 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 8

Packet Page 782



 

 

 B. Bowen stated that he does not agree with the Trinity church comparison. He likes 
the proposed simplicity and the reduced number of materials proposed for the 
building. He suggested the applicants present their proposal to the Design Advisory 
Board (DAB) to refine the design. He thought the northeast corner could be more 
welcoming. The east elevation works but could be simpler. The alley elevations, in 
particular the north elevation, could be more creative and interesting (ex. street art, 
sculpture, railing design, etc.). Regarding the site design, there could be more 
opportunity for exterior space on the second floor plaza such as separation of spaces 
and by creating decks on the west side. Regarding site configuration, he suggested 
making the setbacks tight to the street and heavily vegetated to soften the connections 
to the houses in the neighborhood.  

 C. Gray agreed with B. Bowen regarding the heavily landscaped setbacks. She 
suggested to break up the mass of the building. Look to the neighborhood for ideas in 
the contrast of small vs. large buildings. Porches would be an added value to the 
design and give the residents an opportunity to be connected to the neighborhood and 
vice versa. She would not push the units on Pine Street close to the street, but likes 
the idea of heavy vegetation to create a front yard appearance. Regarding the 
building, would like to see something that is more reflective of the neighborhood. 

 H. Zuckerman, in terms of encouraging the sensitive design edge, the Pine Street 
façade and the gables are positive. Regarding an emphasis between a residential and 
commercial distinction, he stated he could only see one commercial part of the façade 
and that is at the northeast corner. If there are others, he suggested making them more 
distinct. The proposed alley elevations currently are basic and should be fenestrated 
more as the process moves along. The visual impact of building was well done. In 
terms of quality of open space, he is not sure what constraints the applicant may be 
dealing with. He agreed with staff’s assessment that the alley should be explored as 
an area to be designed to create public interest. Regarding the design, the southern 
half of the western elevation appears monolithic and he would like to see that 
elevation more thoroughly explored. The alley elevation proposal is currently sterile 
at grade. Paving is important. The primary corner is an interesting architectural 
concept.  He agreed with L. Payton that the 15th Street elevation, should play off of 
the neighborhood and history for design. Finally, he suggested making the northeast 
corner more welcoming.  

 L. May spoke to the massing of the buildings.  He stated that the proposed design 
seems “lumpy”. He defined this by saying it appears busy and suggested the applicant 
strive for more simplicity. The facades need more articulation. Transitions to the 
adjacent neighborhoods to the north and east would be better met if the third-floor on 
east side were removed, so that the apartments lining the street were two stories. This 
would place the higher mass away from the street and this would address the scale 
concerns expressed. In addition, the non-residential space on the ground floor, if it 
were made residential, it would be a better integration into the neighborhood.  

 J. Putnam agreed with most of the previous comments. Given the population, they 
should have safe spaces and not be too transparent, therefore having residential on the 
ground floor may not be a good idea as it would in other facilities. In regards to the 
tower element, the concept is a good one, but perhaps something more could be done 
with it and some height would be justifiable. Regarding some site plan issues, he 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 9

Packet Page 783



 

 

agrees with the garden and greenhouse located on the southeast corner. He mentioned 
that Lot #1 seems to be a missed opportunity with regards to having parking next to 
the sidewalk along 15th Street. He suggested it could be better served with landscape 
architecture in which the residents, church and community could come together. In 
broader terms of landscaping, there needs to be a sense of safety with heavy 
vegetation and some degree of transparency. A lighting plan that is not disruptive to 
the neighborhood but also bright enough to not provoke elicit activities will need to 
be presented. 

 J. Gerstle stated that it is not clear to him why there is hesitation of placing residents 
on the first floor. If the intention is to have the residents to feel integrated into the 
neighborhood, then he does not see the reason why this proposal should be different. 
He would like to see more porch space on the first floor designs. He supports L. 
May’s suggestion of setting back the third floor along 15th Street to diminish the 
massing.  

 L. Payton, in regards to Lot #1, hoped something could be done. She suggested the 
residences moving to the first floor, then perhaps offices or support staff could move 
into a building where Lot #1 is located. She does not like the proposed asphalt 
adjacent to the sidewalk.  

 C. Gray stated that currently there are three original buildings along Pine Street. 
Continuity needs to remain along Pine Street. She expressed concern regarding the 
façade on the corner of 15th and Pine Street and the proposed retail building. She 
proposed moving the retail to the alley elevation and keep residential character along 
Pine Street. 
 

o Shannon Cox Baker clarified what would be happening inside the proposed 
buildings and parking spaces to the board and encouraged the public to submit 
ideas regarding art and materials for the buildings. 

 
 Proposed Uses 

 J. Putnam agreed with the concept that clinical uses and site specific uses to support 
the residents are appropriate. The small amount of commercial space to assist with 
training residents would be helpful. He is more concerned with the pure 
administrative offices for Attention Homes as it uses a lot of space. As this seems to 
be a driver for the size and mass of the project, perhaps it should be reviewed. 

 L. May agreed. 
 H. Zuckerman stated that all the ancillary uses that support the residential use make 

sense. He approves of mixing in small neighborhood retail uses into existing 
neighborhoods. Perhaps reinforce the commercial corner on the alley side of the 
project. 

 L. May agreed with H. Zuckerman, however regarding the issues of scale and 
transitioning to the adjacent residential area, there would have to be a sacrifice. The 
applicant informed the board that they would not be willing to give on the mass of the 
project, the number of units or the non-residential space on the ground floor.  In order 
to be compliant with the Comp Plan or Site Review Criteria, there is going to have to 
be some space that is sacrificed. 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 10

Packet Page 784



 

 

 C. Gray agreed with the comments of J. Putnam and L. May. The Whittier 
neighborhood is one block from the Pearl Street Mall where lots of retail 
opportunities are currently available. She suggested building relationships with the 
retailers of downtown. She stated that she sees the retail portion of the project as 
being a driver of the mass and bulk. She added that perhaps neighborhood acceptance 
would have been more positive if they had incorporated more counseling areas within 
the design. 

 B. Bowen stated that the mix of uses is desirable. He approves of the retail 
component. With the retail included, the public will be able to visit this site and it 
could become meaningful. He does not feel strongly that the retail needs to be located 
on the proposed site of 15th and Pine Street. If it makes sense to relocate the retail to 
the alley elevation, and then attempt to activate the alley all the way through as a 
pedestrian walkway, then that could work well.  That could perhaps regulate the 
corner of 15th and Pine Street to be more residential and act as the front porch. The 
carriage houses on Lot #2 could make sense to move some of the administrative uses 
to that location. He disagreed that the proposed uses are driving the size.  

 L. Payton agreed with the comments of J. Putnam. In regards to L. May’s 
comments regarding making sacrifices, she stated that she does not know where those 
need to happen to reduce the scale. She approves of moving the retail from the corner 
of 15th and Pine Street as that leads into the neighborhood homes.  

 J. Gerstle agreed that it may be necessary to sacrifice some of the non-direct uses on 
the ground floor.  Retail and spaces on ground floor that are not being used for the 
counselors and staff perhaps should go. It is not obvious that retail is necessary when 
the project will be located one block from the Pearl Street Mall. 

 
 Height 

 L. Payton stated she would not support a height modification. The applicant should 
respect the historical landmarks height and make efforts to work within the existing 
height limits.  

 B. Bowen added that he is glad to see the incorporation of height elements on this 
project. He would support the 37 or 38-foot height modification. In addition, if there 
was a good reason to go taller than a three story gable roof element, then he would 
support it.  

 C. Gray agreed with L. Payton. In regards to the tower element, there are currently 
“authentic” towers due to the churches in the area.  She is not clear what a tower 
would add. However, if some of the uses that were discussed earlier were removed 
and the project were scaled down, then the 35-foot height might fit better in the 
neighborhood. 

 H. Zuckerman mentioned that this project may have trouble maintaining 35-feet 
with the existing slope based on the necessary calculations for height. He stated that 
he does not have an issue with exceeding the 35-feet if it is what is required to obtain 
the three floors. The necessity of the tower should be assessed. In addition, look at 
ways to mitigate the appearance of height such as the setback of the third floor as 
discussed earlier.  

 L. May stated that he is ambivalent regarding the tower.  In his opinion, he does not 
think the tower adds anything to the building. He reiterated that the third floor on 15th 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 11

Packet Page 785



 

 

Street along the east side should be addressed. Many height issues dissolve if third 
floor units are removed. In addition, the relationship to the historic structures around 
the project should be addressed. 

 J. Putnam stated that the apparent height is critical along the 15th Street elevation of 
the project by pushing things back to give the appearance of a two story building. The 
concept of the tower is appropriate, but not sure the proposal does it. If it is 
compelling then it should be kept, otherwise, it should be removed. 

 J. Gerstle added that it is the apparent height along 15th Street is of concern. A 
greater setback than is currently proposed from the third floor would remove that. He 
added that there is no need for tower, nor does it add any value.  

 L. May clarified that for the third floor setback would be the removal of the eastern 
units. Essentially, the building would become two stories on the street side.  
Regarding the height modification, if it were addressed on the east side, then he may 
be able to support a height modification. 

 L. Payton questioned if the fact that they are not yet permanently affordable bothers 
him; the board would be granting the height modification without being permanently 
affordable and if it would affect his position. This would be part of the height 
ordinance. 

 L. May continued by saying that his understanding of the current discussion 
regarding the height is that permanent affordability has not yet been determined. His 
presumption is that if a height modification is being discussed, then permanent 
affordability is also being discussed. 

 J. Putnam added that in regards to compliance, the City Manager grants the 
alternative method for compliance for permanent affordable housing. 

 B. Bowen added that if the City Manager determines that this project complies with 
the inclusionary housing by doing cash-in-lieu offsite or the equivalent of having it 
provided 100% for 60 years, the height is acceptable either way. 

 L. May clarified that the issue of height and supporting a modification predominantly 
is linked to what happens on the third floor on the east side along 15th Street. The 
height ordinance component is somewhat up in the air and out of the board’s hands 
currently. 

 L. Payton agreed and added that if the project does return as permanently affordable, 
then it would be eligible to ask for a height modification. Therefore, she would 
support L. May’s suggestion to push back the third floor on the east side along 15th 
Street. 

 The board was in agreement. 
 

 Parking 
 J. Putnam began by saying he is not sure all the proposed parking would be 

necessary. Surface Lot #1 is not an attractive element of the overall block design. He 
mentioned that there are methods to trim it down with a good TDM plan. A reduction 
in parking will provide comfort as a transitional use project. He suggested the 
applicant look for ways to keep parking modest. 

 L. May agreed.  

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 12

Packet Page 786



 

 

 H. Zuckerman agreed. Potentially, if the parking area were covered with a one story 
building to house administrative functions that may not need to be in the main 
structure, then the height of the main building may be able to be reduced.  

 J. Gerstle agreed 
 C. Gray agreed. 
 B. Bowen supported any logical parking reductions. He explained that the goal 

should be to create and focus on an elegant site design. In regards to Lot #2, he 
suggested rotating it and making it alley loaded which would free-up green space, and 
then recapture the five units which may be removed from the third floor along 15th 
Street. 

 L. Payton agreed. She added that she would like to see some bike storage.  
 

 Historic Preservation 
 L. Payton stated that the board supports the staff recommendation to landmark the 

five identified properties. It should include 1443 Spruce Street and 2118 14th Street to 
be landmarked as well. In short, all eligible properties should be landmarked.   All 
board members were in support of this recommendation. 

 
Board Summary: 
J. Gerstle gave a summary of the board’s recommendations. Since this is a Concept Review, no 
action is required on behalf of the Planning Board. With respect to Comprehensive Plan issues, 
the board felt the plan was compatible as outlined by staff in the submitted memo and general 
agreement with staff’s assessment. Most board members supported the general program in 
terms of BVCP compliance, however there was concern whether the proposal sufficiently met 
BVCP criteria with regard to issues around height and scale and neighborhood integration.  
Many of the uses discussed would only be allowable by Use Review, especially with the regard 
to certainty with long term affordability. In regards to compliance to the Downtown Urban 
Design Guidelines, a number of board members mentioned that the proposed design is not 
reflective of the existing neighborhood character. The board suggested better integration with 
the existing church architecture on one side and neighborhood architecture on the other. The 
board suggested a consultation with the Design Advisory Board (DAB). There were mixed 
opinions from the board regarding the proposed tower and the board did not unanimously 
approve of the design. The east side of the site, along 15th Street, in terms of the massing and 
design characteristics faced the most scrutiny of the board’s opinions. There were some height 
and setback concerns expressed along this elevation. Some board members felt the setbacks 
should be small and highly vegetated. While other board members preferred larger setbacks and 
asked the applicant to be sensitive regarding too much vegetation for safety. There was general 
agreement that along the alley, Lot 1, and the west side of the site, missed opportunities in the 
design exist. With respect to the proposed uses, the board had mixed opinions, but overall felt 
that sacrifice of some of the proposed administrative and office space on the first floor may 
need to be done to keep the living space that is being requested.  It was suggested to relocate the 
proposed retail space to a point along the alley on the west side. In regards to the height, if 
sufficient setback from the street exists, perhaps removing the third floor from the 15th Street 
side of the double level corridor, then the height modification could be acceptable. The board is 
not asking the applicant to decrease the proposed unit count to 36 by doing this. With respect to 
the proposed parking, the board suggested the applicant investigate a reduction on Lot 1, to look 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 13

Packet Page 787



 

 

at leasing to offsite people and to add bike storage. Finally, it was suggested that the applicant 
consider the landmarking all eligible buildings on the site.  
 
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE PLANNING BOARD, PLANNING DIRECTOR, AND CITY 

ATTORNEY 
A. Barriers to Development  

 
Board Comments: 

 L. Payton asked the board to send any images of project or ideas relating to projects, 
residential or commercial, that could not be built in Boulder and would pertain to the 
upcoming topic of “Barriers to Development” for the next Planning Board meeting 
scheduled for July 21, 2016. 

 
 
7. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The Planning Board adjourned the meeting at 1:26 a.m. 
  
APPROVED BY 
  
___________________  
Board Chair 
 
___________________ 
DATE 
  
 

Attachment A - Draft July 14, 2016 Planning Board Minutes 

Call Up 
1440 Pine Street

 
1A     Page 14

Packet Page 788



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 1

Packet Page 789



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 2

Packet Page 790



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 3

Packet Page 791



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 4

Packet Page 792



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 5

Packet Page 793



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 6

Packet Page 794



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 7

Packet Page 795



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 8

Packet Page 796



Boards and Commissions 
BOZA   06-09-2016

 
2A     Page 9

Packet Page 797



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 1

Packet Page 798



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 2

Packet Page 799



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 3

Packet Page 800



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 4

Packet Page 801



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 5

Packet Page 802



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 6

Packet Page 803



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 7

Packet Page 804



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 8

Packet Page 805



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 9

Packet Page 806



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 10

Packet Page 807



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 11

Packet Page 808



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-21-2016

 
2B     Page 12

Packet Page 809



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-28-2016

 
2C     Page 1

Packet Page 810



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-28-2016

 
2C     Page 2

Packet Page 811



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-28-2016

 
2C     Page 3

Packet Page 812



Boards and Commissions 
PB   04-28-2016

 
2C     Page 4

Packet Page 813



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 1

Packet Page 814



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 2

Packet Page 815



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 3

Packet Page 816



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 4

Packet Page 817



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 5

Packet Page 818



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 6

Packet Page 819



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 7

Packet Page 820



Boards and Commissions 
PB   06-02-2016

 
2D     Page 8

Packet Page 821



Boards and Commissions 
TAB   06-13-20106

 
2E     Page 1

Packet Page 822



Boards and Commissions 
TAB   06-13-20106

 
2E     Page 2

Packet Page 823



Boards and Commissions 
TAB   06-13-20106

 
2E     Page 3

Packet Page 824



Packet Page 825


	00_ agenda public final
	1A_2016 Summer Olympics
	3A_June 21 Minutes
	Call to order, Roll Call, Open Comment
	Consent Agenda, Potential Call-Ups
	Public Hearing- Co-Op
	2nd Rdg Campaign Finance Amendments
	2nd Rdg Form Based Code, Matters from CM, CA, Council
	Public Comment, Final Decisions, Debrief, Adjournment

	3B_SS Summary June 14-Work Plan
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation, Background
	Attachment A- Summary

	3C_JAG Agreement
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Agreement

	3D_BVSD Agreement
	Executive Summary
	Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Next Steps, Staff Recommendation
	Attachment A- Agreement

	3E_Auditor appt
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Res No. 1184

	3F_CAFR Acceptance
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Assessments,  Impacts, Feedback
	Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Res No. 1188
	Attachment B - Updated
	Attachment C City of Boulder 2015 CAFR
	Table of Contents
	Transmittal Letter
	Independent Auditors' Report
	Management's Discussion and Analysis
	Basic Financial Statements
	Notes to Financial Statements
	Required Supplementary Information
	Combining and Individual Statements
	Statistical Tables
	Compliance Section


	3G_2nd rdg Water Utility
	Executive Summary
	Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8116 as passed
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8116 Amended
	Attachment C- Draft Directive

	3H_2nd Rdg Landlord Disclosures
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Questions
	Assessment, Impacts, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A-Ord No. 8122

	3I_City-Owned Parcels  Elmer's Two-Mile Park
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback
	Background
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8128
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8129

	5A1_Ballot Item- Sugar Bev Tax 1st rdg
	Executive Summary
	Suggested Motion Language
	Assessments, Impacts, Feedback, Background
	Proposed Ordinances
	Summary shown on Petitions, Ballot Titles
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8130
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8131
	Attachment C- Petition
	Attachment D- Comparison of Ballot Titles

	5A2_Ballot Item Council Comp-1st rdg
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Options
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8132 Benefits
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8134 Salary and Benefits

	5A3_Ballot Item Blue Line 1st Rdg
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8133
	Attachment B- Map of Blue Line

	5A4_Ballot Item for term limits
	Sufficiency of term limits- petition
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Background

	Attachment A -Certificate of Sufficiency
	Exhibit A -  Open Boulder Term Limits Petition Draft 1
	Exhibit B- 05_04_2016 City Clerk Comment Letter for Petition Draft 1 SIGNED
	Exhibit C - 05_05_2016 Open Boulder Term Limits Petition Draft 2
	Exhibit D - 05_06_2016 City Clerk Comment Letter for Petition Draft 2 SIGNED
	Exhibit E - Circulated Petition
	Exhibit F - 06_28_2016 City Clerk Petition Receipt SIGNED
	Exhibit G - 06_30_2016 City Clerk Certificate of Insufficiency
	Certificate
	Attachment  A

	Exhibit H - 06_30_2016 Letter from Open Boulder Withdrawing Petition
	Exhibit I - 07_01_2016 City Clerk Petition Return Receipt SIGNED
	Exhibit J - 07_11_2016 City Clerk Petition Receipt SIGNED
	Exhibit K - City Clerk Initiative Petition Verification Forms


	5B_Indigenous Peoples' Day Resolution_Revised
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation
	Attachment A- Res 
	Attachment B- Memo of Understanding
	Attachment C- Naming Policy
	Attachment D- Indigenous Peoples' Day Resolution

	5C_96 Arapahoe Annexation
	Executive Summary
	Background
	Staff Recommendation
	Feedback, Analysis
	Key Issues
	Conclusion
	Attachment A- Map
	Attachment B- Res No. 1189
	Attachment C- Applicant's Written Statement Link
	Attachment D- Draft Annexation Agr
	Attachment E- Annexation Petition

	88_Reference Materials
	88_Reference Materials
	88_Reference Materials
	Working Agreements
	2016_Work_Plan_Update
	Council and Key Staff 
	2016 City Council Committee Assignments

	Council Master Calendar 2016
	Study Sessions
	August 16, 2016
	September 6, 2016
	September 20, 2016
	October 4, 2016
	Special Meeting October 13
	October 18, 2016


	Council Master Calendar 2016
	Study Sessions
	August 16, 2016
	September 6, 2016
	September 20, 2016
	October 4, 2016
	Special Meeting October 13
	October 18, 2016


	99__IP
	2016.08.02_IP Cover
	1A - 1440 Pine St Call-Up
	Executive Summary
	Attachment A - Draft 7-14-16 PB Minutes

	2A - BOZA - 06-09-16 Minutes
	2B - PB - 04-21-16 Minutes
	2C - PB - 04-28-16 Minutes
	2D - PB - 06-02-16 Minutes
	2E - TAB - 06-13-16 Minutes
	3A - Aya Medrud Appreciation Day 08-13-2016




